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PREFACE
James Phelan, a legendary reporter, gave me the idea for a book about the pharmaceutical industry over twenty years ago. In the 1990s, Phelan, an old-fashioned shoe-leather reporter, and I shared the same book editor, Robert Loomis. Phelan had a deserved reputation for cracking big cases. The New York Times had dubbed him one of the country’s finest investigative journalists. Unmasking Clifford Irving’s “autobiography” of Howard Hughes as a hoax was his biggest scoop.
I had met Phelan while researching Case Closed, my reinvestigation of the JFK assassination. In the late 1960s his groundbreaking reporting exposed that New Orleans district attorney Jim Garrison had falsified evidence in his criminal probe of whether there was a Big Easy conspiracy link to the assassination.
In the summer of 1997, I called him for some advice on my examination of the Martin Luther King Jr. assassination. We also talked about the state of investigative journalism. Phelan, not someone I knew to indulge in nostalgia, reminisced that he thought it had changed mostly for the worse. The trend toward ever-shorter deadlines made it tougher, he thought, to undertake long-term investigations. Even good reporters might return after a few months without a breakthrough. He cited examples from his own reporting, including one when military investigators had coerced a fake murder confession from an Air Force officer and another in which a California chiropractor had fleeced millions from patients with a bogus “cure.” There was no certainty when he got those assignments that he would crack the story. The tips and strands of evidence that initially caught his attention might have turned into dead ends.
“That’s a risk that most magazine and newspaper editors no longer want to take,” he said. “You can at least still do it in books, there you have the time and space to get to the bottom of a good story.”
He did not hesitate when I asked what subject he still considered challenging for a book.
“The pharmaceutical business. It’s like throwing a dart at a storyboard.”
Phelan said he was too old at eighty-five to undertake such a large project. He did not tell me he was also too sick. A few months later I learned he had died of lung cancer. Our last conversation planted in me the idea of one day looking into a book about the drug industry. In publishing, however, even good ideas can take years before they come to fruition.
It was January 2016 when I sent my editor, Ben Loehnen, a proposal with the no-frills working title “A History of the American Pharmaceutical Industry.” I had read by then several dozen good books, each about some part of the story I hoped to cover in its entirety. There were histories of epidemics and pandemics, inspiring accounts of groundbreaking lab discoveries, biographies of storied scientists and pharma executives, even business histories of some companies. There was, however, no single volume that started with the wild anything-goes nineteenth-century era of homegrown “wonder remedies” to today’s sprawling pharma conglomerates that sell a trillion dollars of drugs annually.
When I sent that proposal to Ben, I had not started my research in earnest. A proposal is sometimes not much more than selecting the book’s topic. The finished manuscript might be radically different. Pharma proved to be a classic investigative story. Few will be surprised that a significant obstacle was the drug industry’s zealous protection of its secrets. That forced me to find drug executives, scientists, and government regulators who were willing to talk, some of whom had never spoken on the record. Others, fearing retribution from their employers or the industry itself, agreed to help only on the condition of anonymity. Besides those interviews, uncovering the information at the heart of this book required sifting through tens of thousands of pages of overlooked government regulatory documents, hunting for evidence buried in the exhibits of massive pharmaceutical litigation, and examining remote and seldom accessed private archives.
I did not expect to find one person or a single family who provided a narrative thread through which to examine the industry’s explosive growth after World War II. It was in those seventy postwar years that pharma transformed into a mega-industry.
The Lilly family, as well as the Mercks, Squibbs, and Johnsons, had left the industry as their companies became massive conglomerates. The term “Big Pharma” appeared first in news articles during the 1960s to describe a handful of dominant firms.1 New titans arrived, but much later during the biotechnology revolution. I had always intended to write a chapter about three brothers, Arthur, Mortimer, and Raymond Sackler. They are best known today for buying in 1952 a small drug company, Purdue, that started manufacturing the opioid painkiller OxyContin in 1996.
During my research I discovered they played a much more extensive role in the drug business, often at critical junctures, starting in the 1940s. A largely unknown backstory of the Sacklers came alive in interviews and never-before-seen documents. In response to my Freedom of Information requests, FBI declassified files revealed the extent of the Sackler family’s radical left-wing politics and the Bureau’s suspicions about their loyalty to America. Notes and memos from a 1962 Senate committee had the details of what the investigative staff had uncovered about a hidden “Sackler empire.” And, in late 2018, a small treasure trove of documents arrived at my office. They were in a sealed, plain manila envelope postmarked from New York and without a return address. Inside were copies of FDA and DEA documents with answers to some long-standing questions about how the Sacklers rose to such tremendous power and wealth.
Pharma opens a rare insider’s window on the internecine battles between scientists and executives over drugs and money. It is about the secret world inside companies that are household names and how the quest for blockbuster drugs has at times crippled and distorted the industry’s original mission to develop medications that treat the sick and save lives.
Pharma has plenty of heroes and villains. There are brilliant scientists, conniving business executives, compliant government regulators, and brave whistleblowers. Serendipitous lifesaving drug discoveries by scientists contrast with disturbing tales of criminal price-fixing, conspiracies to cover up tainted drugs, and a rigged regulatory system that too often serves as a compliant rubber stamp for drug companies.
Pharma is an industry like no other.
1
PATIENT ZERO
“Get the patient into isolation now,” the doctor ordered. The patient was a woman in her mid-seventies from nearby Reno, Nevada. A few days earlier, she had arrived at the ER disoriented and running a fever. Temperatures that day had topped out at a stifling 100 degrees. The 2016 summer had been brutal even by the standards of a county that included a torrid stretch of Black Rock Desert.
When doctors learned she had recently returned from a trip to India they suspected that the rigors of a twenty-hour flight, coupled with the heat, had left her severely dehydrated.1 A couple of days of intravenous fluids should make her as good as new.
They became increasingly alarmed, however, the following day. Her temperature spiked to 102, pulse raced at nearly 100 beats a minute, and breathing became labored. Blood tests revealed an abnormally high white blood cell count. That prompted a new diagnosis: systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Although her physicians could not identify an underlying infection, they thought it likely that her body’s extreme immune response had somehow poisoned her own blood. They administered intravenous antibiotics to prevent irreversible organ damage.
There was no improvement. After another thirty-six hours, the doctors ordered more testing to hunt for the culprit they had missed in their initial blood and fluid screens. That test result startled her physicians. The infection was carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE), a typically benign intestinal bacterium that becomes a treacherous supergerm after it enters a patient’s bloodstream or lungs. It then overwhelms the body’s immune system.2
This CRE diagnosis was particularly alarming. Discovered only in 2008 in New Delhi, it had established itself in under a decade as the most lethal supergerm, killing half of the patients it infects.3 The head of the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) described it as a “nightmarish bacteria.” CRE has mutated into newer strains, some of which have enhanced resistance to the class of antibiotics that were traditionally the last line of defense.4
Doctors knew about superbugs for several decades but before the CRE variant most had dismissed their potential threat. No longer does anyone in medicine or pharmaceuticals underestimate supergerms. A series of sobering reports in medical journals laid bare the extent to which they have spread and wreaked havoc.5 In 2010, the first year of reliable U.S. statistics, supergerms infected more than two million Americans and killed 23,000. Three years later the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) issued an alert that the infection rate was accelerating much faster than epidemiologists had forecast. The president of the Infectious Diseases Society of America labeled CRE “an urgent threat” to America’s health care system.6 As bad as the crisis was in the United States, it was far grimmer in many poor countries where superbugs thrive in unsanitary conditions.7
The Nevada doctors understood that hospitals and nursing homes are ground zero for rapacious germs such as CRE. They are the ideal breeding environment for superbugs to infect patients at high risk, those with immune systems weakened by other illnesses or drug therapies. The supergerms also spread easily through breathing machines, IV needles, catheters, even blood pressure cuffs. CRE thrives on everything from light switches, doorknobs, and toilets, as well as the unwashed hands of health care workers.8
The typical five-to-seven-day dose of oral antibiotics usually prescribed for bacterial infections has no effect on CRE. Instead, doctors must overwhelm and eliminate all traces of it with a small class of ultra-powerful antibiotics dispensed through an intravenous drip. The Nevada treating physicians went from concern to alarm when additional tests showed the strain of CRE ravaging her body was resistant to all fourteen antibiotics the hospital stocked.
The state’s senior epidemiologists dispatched a sample of the bug to CDC headquarters in Atlanta. There, scientists watched with dread as further testing demonstrated the Nevada strain was resistant to an additional twelve antibiotics, including some that had never before failed to stop a superbug.9 The Nevada doctors were helpless as their patient deteriorated, went into septic shock, and died two weeks to the day after her ER admission.
Public health officials delayed reporting the death of Patient Zero until January 2017. The news of a superbug resistant to every available antibiotic kicked off sensational tabloid coverage with “end of the world” headlines. The resistant superbug overshadowed another pharma-related story that broke that same month. In January, states had begun reporting their drug overdose statistics for the previous year. They confirmed that America’s multiyear opioid addiction crisis had worsened. Over 63,000 had died in 2016, a 20 percent spike from the previous year, which itself had been a record. More people died of drugs in 2016 than had in car accidents, gun violence, or AIDS during their peak years.10 The state of emergency that two dozen governors had declared seemed to make little difference. Their overdose rates were up by double digits.11 Opioid-based prescription painkillers were involved in two thirds of the deaths.
Addiction did not discriminate between rich and poor, black and white, men and women. It affected big cities—Philadelphia’s medical examiner reported a grim record of thirty-five dead in three days—as well as some of the poorest stretches of Appalachia.
Just before the media was transfixed by Patient Zero and the invincible superbug, The Washington Post had run the final installment of a series on the opioid crisis. It was about Chillicothe, a historic Ohio town of 21,000 nestled along the Scioto River.12 Residents used to call it “Mayberry,” boasting that it was a postcard for the best of small-town American life. Easy access to prescription opioids changed it. A doctor who had run a local pill mill—where painkillers are dispensed for cash without any questions or exams—had been sentenced to four consecutive life sentences for those “patients” who had died from his reckless overprescribing. Chillicothe’s forty drug deaths in 2016 were a record and triple the number of a couple of years earlier.
The city coroner said he dreaded talking “to one more parent who’s lost a child.” Firefighters, EMS workers, doctors, police, hospital workers, victims’ families, all were succumbing to “opiate fatigue.” The coroner had almost quit on a day he described as “the Zombie Apocalypse.” Chillicothe’s police and paramedics had responded to thirteen overdoses. A 911 call from a gas station attendant reported a woman passed out in the driver’s seat of an idling car. When the police arrived, they found an infant girl in the backseat. That child was one of seven under the age of ten handed over that day to Child Welfare.
Chillicothe is part of the collateral damage for an industry that not only created the nation’s most lethal drug crisis but allowed it to flourish mostly unchecked for twenty years. Its origins are in the addictive drugs that 150 years earlier were the core DNA of the pharmaceutical industry. Some of today’s largest drug companies got their start selling then-legal heroin, morphine, cannabis, and cocaine-based medications that returned staggering profits.
Money, however, is only part of the answer. The pharmaceutical industry’s relationship with its federal regulators at the FDA alternates between contentious and too cozy. And for sixty years it has prevailed in a bitter battle over whether laboratory discoveries should be rewarded with exclusive patents and long monopolies. Most important, the drug business has turned America into a medicated society. Successive waves over the decades of so-called wonder drugs, some real and some hyped, have resulted in huge profits while also creating tens of millions of dependent patients waiting for the next pill to solve an ever-expanding range of illnesses and disorders.
Big Pharma likes to portray itself as a quasi-public trust focused on curing illnesses and saving lives. Its profits, while large, come at great cost for research and development. Its critics cast pharma as a veritable evil empire in which money trumps health. Wild conspiracy theories have flourished, that the industry has developed and hidden a cancer cure or pushes autism-causing vaccines, all to make more money.
The truth about today’s pharmaceutical companies and what truly motivates them is found in part through the history of their origins and growth. Understanding how today’s dominant mega-companies developed explains why the creative science that was the industry’s early hallmark is under assault.13 Big Pharma resides at the intersection of public health and free enterprise. Only by knowing its history is it possible to fully appreciate how the battle between noble ambitions and greed is a permanent conflict.
2
THE POISON SQUAD
The American pharmaceutical industry emerged in the mid-nineteenth century in response to an unprecedented surge in demand for antiseptics and painkillers for combat troops. The Mexican-American War that ended in 1848 had taught the United States a painful lesson. Adulterated medications meant that frontline soldiers died needlessly; the failure to treat dysentery, yellow fever, infections, and cholera resulted in 87 percent of the fatalities.1 Many who survived also suffered unnecessarily since the painkillers sent to treat battlefield wounds were often defective. No American company was then capable of large-scale manufacturing of morphine, the era’s most powerful painkiller.
It had only been forty years since a twenty-one-year-old German pharmacist’s apprentice had isolated the morphine alkaloid from the opium poppy. He called it Morpheus, after the Greek god of dreams, but his findings were mostly ignored after he published them in a little-read medical journal.2 It was a decade before a French chemist realized its importance and not until the Roaring Twenties that Heinrich Emanuel Merck sold a standardized dose of morphine at his Engel-Apotheke (Angel Pharmacy) in Darmstadt, Germany. Morphine was inexpensive to produce and it became a key product at several new family-run German companies, including Ernst Christian Friedrich Schering’s eponymously named Berlin company and Friedrich Bayer’s chemical factory in Wuppertal.3
A year after the Mexican-American War, two German American cousins used $2,500 in savings and a $1,000 mortgage to launch Charles Pfizer and Company. It was a chemicals business in a two-story brick building on Brooklyn’s Bartlett Street.4 Their timing was good. Once the Civil War began, Pfizer had trouble keeping up with the demand for morphine.
Pfizer’s competition came from Edward Robinson Squibb, who had opened E. R. Squibb & Sons, a pharmaceutical manufacturing plant, also in Brooklyn. Squibb was personally aware of the importance of quality and consistency in drug production. As a wartime naval surgeon he had personally tossed overboard crates of substandard medications sent to the front.5 A year into the Civil War, pharmacist brothers John and Frank Wyeth opened a Philadelphia pharmacy and drug distributorship. The contract they got to supply medicine to the Union Army was so lucrative that after the war they sold their pharmacy and focused on mass-manufacturing drugs.6
Morphine was the most effective painkiller but not the only one. Dr. Samuel Pearce Duffield, chief of Detroit’s health department, sold an ether and alcohol solution to Union troops. When he retired in 1871, an ex–copper miner turned investor, Hervey Coke Parke, and the company’s twenty-six-year-old salesman, George Solomon Davis, incorporated Parke-Davis.
Eli Lilly, a chemist, missed the opportunity to cash in on the Civil War demand for morphine, but as a Union Army colonel he learned how critical medications were to the war effort. He left the military convinced that his future lay in the eponymously named laboratory that started manufacturing drugs in 1876.7 Two other American pharmacists, Silas Mainville Burroughs and Henry Solomon Wellcome, also saw opportunity in the drug business. Deciding there was less competition in Britain than the U.S., they launched Burroughs Wellcome in London in 1880. It manufactured everything from cod liver oil to malt preparations to face creams to opiate-based pain compounds.8
Those pioneers entered a drug industry in its infancy. The highly addictive nature of their products, coupled with no government oversight and regulation, was good for sales. And they benefited also from the ignorance about what caused illnesses and chronic diseases or how to treat them. It had been only a few decades since French chemist Louis Pasteur had proven with a series of experiments on spoiled meat and sour milk the existence of microbes too small for the human eye to see. The emergence of “germ theory,” that invisible microbes might cause disease, was greeted with considerable skepticism in the nineteenth century. Even if true, scientists did not know how to go about countering bacterial pathogens.
It took until 1882 before a German bacteriologist discovered that microorganisms caused tuberculosis; until then it was considered an inheritable illness.9 In the U.S., cholera was thought to be a disease brought by immigrants, particularly the Irish. (The Immigration Act of 1891 addressed this by requiring a physical exam for all arriving migrants to exclude “all idiots, insane persons, paupers or persons likely to become public charges, [and] persons suffering from a loathsome or dangerous contagious disease.”)10 Before 1900, when an American Army surgeon, Walter Reed, demonstrated that mosquitoes spread yellow fever, it was thought to be passed only by contact with someone infected.11
Until 1900 there was no national medical licensing law; in most states anyone could call themselves a “doctor,” open a practice, and treat patients.12 The lack of basic medical knowledge meant there were few boundaries for promoting a drug. That was the case with the first inexpensive but powerful central nervous system stimulant, cocaine. It had been discovered by a German doctoral student whose chemistry dissertation was about how he had isolated the pure alkaloid from coca leaves. He named the alkaloid cocaine—from the Latin ina, from; it simply means from coca. (That student later went on to develop World War I’s deadliest chemical warfare agent, mustard gas.)13
Merck, one of the first firms to concentrate on cocaine, touted it in products for everything from a numbing anesthetic to a cure for indigestion and hemorrhoids, even as an aid in eye surgery (it reduced bleeding by tightening blood vessels).14 I 15 Cocaine was the officially sanctioned remedy of the United States Hay Fever Association.16 The U.S. surgeon general said cocaine was effective for treating depression. Tobacconists sold cigars laced with 225 mg of cocaine for “soothing nerves,” while dentists peddled cocaine-infused lozenges for toothaches. Asthma sufferers bought inhalants that were pure cocaine and instructed to “use them as needed.”17 A gram of pure cocaine cost on average 25 cents at any druggist.18 The largest mail order catalog of the era, Sears & Roebuck, sold a hypodermic syringe—a Scottish doctor had invented it only a few decades earlier—and a small amount of cocaine for $1.50.19
The boom in cocaine-based remedies meant that over a two-year span Merck went from producing less than a pound of cocaine annually to more than 180,000 pounds a year.20 Parke-Davis chemists patented a refined process that increased the drug’s purity and extended its shelf life. It introduced coca cheroots, coca-leaf cigarettes, and an alcohol-and-cocaine-mixed syrup, all under the motto Medicamenta Vera (True Medicine).21 Squibb manufactured and sold one of the strongest cocaine concentrations dissolved in a clear liquid base and used as a tincture. In less than a decade, cocaine became one of America’s five top selling drugs.
Simply because cocaine had become popular did not mean U.S. pharma companies had lost their enthusiasm for opiates. Merck boasted of the purity of its powdered morphine and one of its most popular drugs was opium-laced cough lozenges.22 Squibb and Pfizer sold nearly a dozen variations of opium tinctures.23
Drug firms such as Merck, Squibb, Pfizer, and others competed against each other. However, their stiffest competition came from so-called patent medicines, some fifty thousand homemade remedies marketed as miracle cures.24 They were not actually patented (the U.S. did not start issuing chemical patents until 1925).25
Since there was no legal requirement that drugs substantiate any purported benefit—like today’s supplement industry or legal cannabis markets, in which claims are unchecked—shameless pitches played on people’s worst fears and ignorance. Compounding the problem was that there were no controls over ingredients, purity, or consistent dosing. While the nostrum makers used American copyright laws to protect their names, shapes of their bottles, and even the label designs, each kept their formulas secret. There was no requirement in the United States for a prescription for any medication. Nor was it necessary to see a doctor to get a drug.26
The best-selling nostrum companies bombarded consumers with a deluge of salacious ads in newspapers and magazines touting phenomenal healing powers.27 Manufacturers secretly paid for breathless testimonials and advertised their “miracle elixirs” and tonics on tens of thousands of roadside billboards, posters strung along country fences, even makeshift yard signs.28
The owners of the most popular patent medicines earned huge personal fortunes. German immigrant William Radam became rich from his proprietary blend dubbed “Microbe Killer,” which he claimed to “Cure ALL Diseases.” The pink liquid was sulfuric acid diluted with red wine and returned a profit of 6,000 percent on each bottle.29 Equally successful was a Quaker abolitionist, Lydia Pinkham, whose remedy of ground herbs and alcohol was made in her cellar kitchen in Lynn, Massachusetts, and marketed as a wonder remedy for women.”30 Dr. Jacob Hostetter’s best-selling home-brewed remedy, “Hostetter’s Celebrated Stomach Bitters,” took advantage of the false but widespread belief that whiskey killed bacteria.31 It was a market vegetable extract in 94-proof whiskey that promised a thorough detox as well as protection or cure against dozens of illnesses.32 A Connecticut street peddler and former Texas farm hand used fire eaters and sharpshooter contests at traveling road shows to sell tens of thousands of “Indian Sagwa” to “purify the blood.” It was moonshine mixed with common garden herbs for flavoring.33
Parents were particularly susceptible to nostrum pitches since 20 percent of all children did not survive to age five.34 The company behind the top selling “Kopp’s Baby Friend—the King of Baby Soothers”—checked daily newspapers for birth announcements and sent free samples to new mothers. Its secret formula was a solution of one-third pure opium, and over time it was responsible for dozens of lethal infant overdoses.35
Most pharmacists and doctors denigrated patent elixirs as the province of snake oil salesmen and traveling medicine shows. Trade publications such as Druggists’ Circular exposed some of the most dangerous remedies. However, with a tiny circulation to medical professionals, those publications did nothing to slow the demand of enthusiastic lay consumers.36 And despite the widespread scorn of many physicians and druggists, the money to be made was too tempting to a few who stocked top selling nostrums and marked up the price.37 Crowded and filthy slums that were by-products of fast-growing cities in the late nineteenth century had become breeding grounds for a succession of epidemics, from smallpox, tuberculosis, typhus, and yellow fever to cholera. Each resulted in a deluge of profitable new nostrums, all promising instant cures.
In 1890, members of the American Pharmaceutical Association published the first United States Pharmacopeia and the National Formulary (USP/NF). Advances in chemical testing and machine manufacturing had made it possible for American pharmaceutical firms to produce drugs of improved purity and generally reliable quality.38 The USP/NF was a somewhat rudimentary list of about two hundred “ethical pharmaceuticals” intended to be the gold standard for doctors and pharmacists.39 II 40 The list was an easy guide for those wanting to avoid useless nostrums.41
Traditional pharmaceutical companies looked with disdain on their patent competitors. Still, the general lack of knowledge about the medicines they sold meant that ethical drugs could also sometimes be disasters. There was no better example than Heroin, a trademarked drug developed by Germany’s Bayer. In 1898, the same Bayer research team credited with isolating salicylic acid (trademarked as Aspirin) added two acetyl groups to the morphine molecule and produced an opiate ten times as powerful. Bayer’s director of pharmacology insisted the company not select “too complicated a name” so it chose the German heroisch, or “heroic.”42 Heroin went on sale in America in 1900 and was immediately listed on the USP/NF. Anyone over the age of eighteen could buy it. Bayer claimed it was much better at alleviating pain than morphine. It was ten times more effective for the relief of coughs and colds than codeine, contended Bayer, with only a tenth of codeine’s toxic side effects.43 The company also promoted it for treating epilepsy, stomach cancer, multiple sclerosis, asthma, and schizophrenia. Bayer’s advertisements claimed it safe for children. It even sold it as a fast cure for morphine addiction, which by then was becoming a problem.44
Some states that had passed laws to cover adulterated foods also addressed drugs, but only with generic provisions that barred nostrum makers from selling lethal poisons.45 The result was a hodgepodge of rules that were confusing, sometimes contradictory, and seldom enforced. It was impossible to address the booming interstate traffic without a federal law. Through the 1890s, Congress failed to pass a series of regulatory bills to empower federal oversight of both food and drugs.46 The driving force behind the movement for a national law was a chemist and physician, Harvey Washington Wiley. He was the head of the Department of Agriculture’s Division of Chemistry (a predecessor agency to the Food and Drug Administration).47 Politicians and industry lobbyists mostly ignored his zealous appeals to address the unreported dangers of adulterated food. They dismissed him as an inexperienced idealist and felt he was a powerless bureaucrat in an obscure government agency.
Wiley had, however, often been underestimated by others and repeatedly defied expectations. He was the deeply religious son of a self-educated Indiana farmer, Preston Wiley, who was also an evangelical preacher for a revivalist nineteenth-century Christian sect. The senior Wiley was the headmaster at the tiny town’s single-room school.48 His mother, Lucinda, worked the farm and tended to her seven children, all of whom she had given birth to on the dirt floor of the family’s two-room log cabin (they had no running water, heater, or working toilet).49 Second-generation Americans of Irish and Scottish ancestry, his parents worked long days on farmland outside Kent, a town of several hundred poor whites along the Kentucky border. It was a bare-bones, tough existence that had pushed many of Wiley’s neighbors to the edge of desperation.50
Wiley grew up in a household where corporal punishment was meted out with a wooden rod for indulging in “devices of the devil,” such as playing with other kids, singing, dancing, or celebrating holidays.51 His parents expected him to take over the family farm when he turned eighteen. Instead, he surprised them by passing his college exams and even earning a scholarship. At twenty-six he received his medical degree and graduated near the top of his class at Indiana Medical College. When he moved east to study chemistry at Harvard he was captivated by the emerging science about diet and nutrition and a related study of safety concerns regarding food additives and preservatives.52 In an era before refrigeration, as more food was shipped long distances from processing plants, producers constantly tested new preservatives. The food industry hired chemists to extend the transport and shelf life of perishable goods and to find chemicals that removed unpleasant odors and enhanced the color of food (red lead for beef, lead chromate for mustard, arsenic for green vegetables). Few scientists were studying the possible dangers in the new methods.53
Wiley had a reputation as a smart advocate for pure food. In a series of articles for Popular Science Monthly he highlighted potential risks in the U.S. food chain.54 When he became the chief at the Division of Chemistry in 1883, the department had only six employees and a paltry budget of $40,000.55 It seemed an unlikely place from which to launch a successful campaign for a pure food law or to wield influence to tame the unregulated pharma industry.
What the Division of Chemistry lacked in manpower and money, Wiley made up for with a talent for generating public attention for his campaign. He promoted his agenda in articles and testimony before congressional committees. Wiley traveled the country to dozens of women’s clubs and social organizations delivering fiery speeches warning about the dangers of adulterated food.56 At those events, Wiley seemed more an itinerant preacher than a scientist. The politicians and lobbyists who had dismissed him when he arrived in D.C. realized that his dramatic flair was a good complement to the quest of what he called “extensive and exhaustive investigations of adulterations and misbranding of foods.”57
It was four years before Wiley and the Division of Chemistry published the first volume of a series of reports titled “Foods and Food Adulterants.” The initial one focused on health risks to the nation’s dairy products.58 Half the milk samples tested had been thinned with water and chalk and were swarming with bacteria. Much of the butter sold contained no dairy at all. Over the next five years, Wiley and his small team of chemists issued nine more reports.59 Among their findings was that nearly 90 percent of all ground coffee was adulterated, usually cut with sawdust and even dirt. “Embalmed beef” was sold in tin cans, made in part from lead, and infused with so many powerful preservative chemicals that it smelled like formaldehyde. There was a fury when children died in Nebraska and Indiana of contaminated milk. Some dairies used formaldehyde to mask the odor of sour milk and had sold it to orphanages.60
Wiley’s reports—the first intensive federal investigation into potential health risks in the food supply—were a milestone. Flattering press coverage added to his reputation as an incorruptible champion for the common good.61 The Washington Times was typical: “When he took up the gauntlet thrown down by a crowd of greedy parasites who were making huge fortunes by selling to the public foods not what they seemed, he determined to quash their nefarious practices.”62 The media attention cemented Wiley’s public persona as “the pure food man,” a lone government crusader arrayed against vast and powerful special interests intent on putting profits above safety.63 He realized his popularity presented an opportunity to expand his influence. During his tenure, the secretary of agriculture upgraded his division to a bureau, a designation that imbued it with more autonomy. It grew from six to more than six hundred employees and its budget increased twenty-fold. The newly christened Bureau of Chemistry had its own building by 1902, and Wiley ran it as his personal fiefdom.64
That same year he convinced Congress to appropriate $5,000 to study potential health risks in common food preservatives and dyes.65 Determined that the results would not get buried into some little-read official report that gathered dust on the back shelves of his Bureau of Chemistry, he planned a showstopper of a study. Relying on what he cited as inspiration from the biblical book of Daniel, Wiley decided to experiment not on animals but on humans.66 He created a twelve-man “Hygienic Table Trial.” Its volunteers, including a scientist, a former high school captain of a cadet regiment, and a Yale sprinter, were either employees from the Bureau of Chemistry or Georgetown Medical College students attracted by free room and board.67 Before Wiley approved each, staffers screened them for good moral character, little or no alcohol use, and abstinence from medicines. “I wanted young, robust fellows, with maximum resistance to deleterious effects of adulterated food,” he later noted.68 The recruits promised to stay at least a year and waived all rights to sue the government if the trial proved harmful or deadly.
Wiley built a kitchen and dining room in the Bureau of Chemistry’s basement. He bought all the food and drinks and served three meals daily for the twelve volunteers, all of whom dressed in formal attire for dinner. A chef, who boasted he had been the personal cook for the queen of Bavaria, prepared meals that included steadily increasing doses of preservatives and coloring agents that Wiley suspected as toxic.69
Wiley recorded the temperature and pulse of every man before each meal. He regularly checked their weight and collected urine and stool samples. He allowed some journalists from popular newspapers and magazines to observe the experiment. The ensuing coverage was sensational: “Young men of perfect physique and health” who were “martyrs of science,” willingly ate potentially deadly food served by “a bespectacled scientist.” The volunteers adopted the motto, “Only the Brave Dare Eat This Fare.” A Washington Post reporter gave the project a name that stuck: The Poison Squad.70 The element of danger totally captivated the public. Wiley worried that the popular frenzy might predispose the scientific community to dismiss the seriousness of his tests.
The Poison Squad, however, was far more than a hit turn-of-the-century reality show. The startling results over several years confirmed Wiley’s worst fears about hidden dangers in America’s food supply. Intensifying ailments afflicted his volunteers.71 Preservatives such as borax and salicylic acid caused headaches and digestive problems. Formaldehyde that prolonged the life of dairy products caused weight loss, insomnia, and scarred kidneys. Benzoate caused severe heartburn and damaged blood vessels. Copper sulfate that enhanced the color of canned vegetables caused vomiting and liver damage.72 Sulfites, the by-products of many preservatives used in wine, molasses, and cured meats, made the volunteers sick with dizziness and splitting headaches. Starting in 1904, Wiley released the first of five reports titled “Influence of Food Preservatives and Artificial Colors on Digestion and Health.” In total, it was a damning one-thousand-page indictment.73
Wiley began winding down his audacious public spectacle in 1905 following the death of a weakened volunteer from tuberculosis. By then, however, the Poison Squad had earned an almost mythic place in American medical history. And Wiley knew it had reenergized his quest for a federal pure food law.
I. Many prominent public figures—Sigmund Freud, Pope Leo XIII, Robert Louis Stevenson, Queen Victoria, to name a few—waxed enthusiastic about the energy and fleeting euphoria cocaine produced. Its recreational use surged in the second half of the nineteenth century.
II. The term “ethical pharmaceuticals” made them sound as if they were more trustworthy medications than nostrums. The term later came to mean those not advertised to the public, a concept the American Medical Association pushed since it considered that ads directed to the public encouraged self-treatment and threatened the authority of doctors. Although there was no requirement yet for drug prescriptions, the AMA hoped that patients might seek the advice of physicians for selecting the right ethical drug.
3
ENTER THE FEDS
Entrenched and well-connected food industry lobbyists did not sit idly while Wiley built his case for federal intervention. The most powerful ones represented canners, who relied on preservatives, and the profitable so-called rectified whiskey trade, in which distillers added coloring and flavor agents to cheap, impure alcohol and sold it as whiskey. Wiley had made rectifiers his number one target, charging that 90 percent of the country’s whiskey was fake. Lobbyists argued that everything they added to liquor was harmless and that any federal regulation would be anti-American, decimate business, and force thousands out of work. Wiley, they argued, had no real-world experience in administering food laws and had cherry-picked evidence to draw inflammatory and misleading conclusions.1 They also contended that Congress did not intend drinks and liquor to be covered by a law addressing food.
Wiley realized that Congress was unlikely to embrace any proposal that was too hard on the rectifiers. Between half to two thirds of all federal income came from a tax on alcohol; even fake whiskey makers paid it.2
Some consumer advocates were disappointed that the federal oversight and regulatory law Wiley envisioned was almost entirely about food and failed to address the dangers of pharmaceuticals. In fact, while he had assigned a small number of researchers in his Bureau of Chemistry to collect evidence of “advertising of fraudulent [patent] remedies,” he favored excluding all patent drugs from any statute.3 The one proposal he supported was more symbolic than substantive, an ambiguous provision to more efficiently inspect the two hundred or so USP/NF drugs.4
His reluctance surprised colleagues, some of whom knew that Wiley privately condemned patent medications as “the most vicious of the whole circus of medical frauds… which preyed on incurables.”5 A few friends knew about a childhood incident that helped form Wiley’s opinion of nostrums. He fell ill with malaria when he was eleven, the result of a mosquito infestation in the southern Indiana lowlands. The Wileys were too poor to afford Abram’s Pill, a proprietary “miracle cure” that promised “instant remedy” for malaria’s high fever and bone-rattling chills. It turned out the Wileys were fortunate. Some neighbors died not from malaria but instead from Abram’s Pill. Years later Wiley discovered the cure’s main ingredient was arsenic.6
Why was he unwilling to take the lead when it came to a public health issue that matched so well with his expertise and interest in medicine and chemistry? The answer is in Wiley’s personal letters and papers: his cold political calculus was that championing drug regulation reduced the chances of convincing Congress to pass a straightforward pure food law. Wiley thought he lacked the political capital to tackle two powerful lobbies simultaneously. He feared that adding drug oversight into the mix would be too complicated and doom any proposed legislation.7
However, in 1905, the year he started dismantling the Poison Squad, Wiley abruptly reversed himself. Collier’s had begun publishing a blistering ten-part exposé of the dangers of bogus patent medications hawked as cure-all elixirs.8 The opening paragraph of the first article set the tone: “Gullible America will spend this year some seventy-five million dollars in purchasing patent medicines. In consideration of this sum it will swallow huge quantities of alcohol, an appalling amount of opiates and narcotics, a wide assortment of varied drugs ranging from powerful and dangerous heart depressants to insidious liver stimulants; and far in excess of all other ingredients, undiluted fraud.”9
The Collier’s series sparked a fury over patent drugs. It shamed the American Medical Association to stop accepting nostrum advertisements in its journal, JAMA. It had been running lucrative patent drug ads while ostensibly debating the ethics of doing so.10 In the wake of the Collier’s publication it tried playing catch-up by reprinting the investigative series as an inexpensive booklet and distributing half a million copies.11
Wiley saw an unexpected opportunity in the great hue and cry. More than a dozen pure food bills had stalled in five previous Congresses. Maybe, he calculated, if he included drugs as part of any proposed law, the outrage over nostrums might help break the political stalemate. Politicians knew the Collier’s series had struck a public nerve. Failure to act might provoke a voter backlash.12
To the distress of the nostrum makers, Wiley soon suggested the name of the proposed statute be changed from the Pure Food Act to the Pure Food and Drug Act.13
That proposal thrilled health advocates. By 1905, as Wiley drafted the bill that would be submitted to Congress, a plentiful and cheap supply of unregulated Heroin and cocaine had resulted in what he called the “tragic numbers”: an estimated addiction rate as high as 2 percent of the population, upward of 1.5 million addicts.14
In one draft of the law, Wiley defined drugs as “any substance intended to be used for the cure, mitigation, or prevention of disease.”15 That was broad enough to encompass both USP/NF and patent drugs. He also proposed that patent remedies disclose all ingredients on their labels. As for any that included cocaine or alcohol—both of which he personally thought more dangerous than Heroin or opium—they should be dispensed only with a doctor’s prescription.16
Those revisions sent a chill through the drug industry. At the turn of the century it was not a business dominated by a handful of mega-companies. Instead, there were hundreds of firms, ranging from established ones to many questionable operations that thrived selling nostrums. All disliked the idea of federal oversight. Conventional pharma firms hoped any statute might only go so far as to eliminate patent quackery. The influential Proprietary Medicine Manufacturers and Dealers Association of America, a consortium mostly of wealthy patent medicine businessmen, feared the law would target them.17 Many of them had never made a nostrum but were naturally gifted promoters who wanted no restrictions on how they marketed their products to consumers.18
One strategy to fight the proposed law was to make Wiley himself the issue, casting him as a well-intentioned chemist who had exceeded his expertise and knowledge. There was a little-known counter-narrative to Wiley’s selfless do-gooder image. The same considerable ambition that made it possible for him to attract a wide public following had spawned many bitter enemies.19 Would Congress reject his statute if he was marked as someone who had cunningly manipulated his interests in food purity only to satisfy a lust for personal fame? The Proprietary Association knew Wiley had hired press agents to bolster his reputation for tirelessly battling corrupt businessmen to expose fraudulent labeling and fake products.20 It also had uncovered evidence that he might have sometimes used his bureau’s growing influence to benefit a handful of companies he favored.21
After a heated debate, however, the Proprietary Association decided Wiley was personally off limits. There was not enough evidence to make the case against him as a power-obsessed chameleon. The consensus was that going after him was too risky.
The Proprietary Association’s final strategy was simple but inspired. Under the guise of public safety, it focused on deflecting the spotlight away from all patent drugs to only a handful of the most dangerous homemade nostrums.22 Industries that had become dependent on patent remedies for revenue liked the idea that only a few outlier drugs were the problem. Dispensing physicians and pharmacists as well as wholesale suppliers of the ingredients joined the effort. Both the National Associations of Wholesale and Retail Druggists soon came aboard.23
The biggest indirect beneficiaries were the newspapers in which patent drugmakers advertised.24 At the turn of the century, patent remedies brought in $50 million annually to more than four thousand papers.25 It was half of all the income for newspapers, money that Wiley dubbed “blood money.”26 The newspapers dispatched a small army of lobbyists with the same message to Washington: don’t damage a good industry because of the bad actions of a few. All the while, the Proprietary Association reminded congressional leaders of the federal 4 percent tax on the retail price of all patent drugs; any legislation that led to a reduction in the number of drugs sold would also reduce what had become a steady source of government revenue.27
The lobbying effort was relentless. Wiley rewrote the draft repeatedly to drum up congressional support. At times, he confided to a friend, he was so worried that lobbyists might kill the bill that he often knelt inside the closet of his office and prayed.28
Once the bill got to congressional committees, drug lobbyists redoubled their efforts. It was not long before most of the key revisions benefited the pharma industry. One amendment eliminated the requirement for prescriptions for cocaine and alcohol-based drugs.29 Another diluted the language to punish drugmakers by freeing them of any responsibility so long as they could demonstrate their promotional claims were “made in good faith.” Wiley had wanted a listing of all ingredients on every label but another change required they only had to show any of sixty “poisons.” That was weakened further to require revealing just eleven ingredients deemed addictive or dangerous, including cocaine, opiates such as morphine, opium, and Heroin, alcohol, chloroform, and cannabis.30 Even those judged “poisonous” were required only if they exceeded an arbitrary legal minimum.31 Wiley fretted that allowing those drugs to be used without notice and at any dosage threatened to “simply make the bill a joke.”32
The acrimonious debate continued for months. In early June, on the heels of the Collier’s series, Wiley got some unexpected help in persuading last-minute holdouts in Congress. A socialist weekly ran a serialization of Upton Sinclair’s novel The Jungle.33 Sinclair wrote about the plight of poor immigrant workers in the U.S. He hoped his book might spark a revolt against capitalism. “The ‘Uncle Tom’s Cabin’ of wage slavery!” wrote his friend and fellow socialist Jack London. “What ‘Uncle Tom’s Cabin’ did for black slaves, ‘The Jungle’ has a large chance to do for the wage slaves of today.”34 Sinclair’s political message was overshadowed, however, by the novel’s fifteen stomach-wrenching pages about filthy conditions in Chicago’s stockyards and meatpacking industry.35 A revolted public read of putrefied meat deliberately mislabeled and sold. Worse was the disclosure that ground meat sometimes contained poisoned rats or dismembered body parts from accidents among the assembly line workers.36 The outrage that followed that serialization compelled Congress to cobble together and approve the Meat Inspection Act. The Pure Food and Drug Act, informally known as the “Wiley Act,” passed with it.37 President Theodore Roosevelt signed both into law on June 30, 1906.38
The thrust of the new law, hailed as a milestone in consumer safety legislation, was “truth in labeling.” That seemed straightforward since food and drug companies were not previously required to list any ingredients. And the landmark legislation put in place some long-overdue and commonsense regulations against misbranded and adulterated foods and drugs.39
The widespread enthusiasm might have been tempered if it had been known how the pharma lobby had weakened the provisions that applied to the drug industry. While the Pure Food and Drug Act appeared to deliver radical reform, it lacked the substance to enforce its hyperbolic promise. There were critical exceptions to universal truth in labeling. “The bill is not as good as we should like it,” Wiley privately admitted to one colleague.40 A last-minute amendment even permitted the sales of USP/NF medications that failed to meet the quality, strength, and purity claims on their labels.41 Patent drug makers did not have to disclose any ingredients they did not tout in their marketing. The law’s most devastating omission was its failure to address the fantastic but improbable therapeutic claims of nostrums. Wiley and other consumer advocates hoped the courts might liberally interpret the law’s ban on “false labeling” to apply to unproven healing and curative claims. In United States v. Johnson in 1911, the Supreme Court dashed that by ruling that the bar on dishonest labeling did not cover therapeutic claims (the court upheld the right of a physician to sell six alcohol and herbal remedies as a cure for cancer).42 I 43
America’s most popular patented medicines made minor changes to their labels and then trumpeted their compliance with the new law. Vin Mariani, a top selling nostrum marketed for maintaining “overall good health, energy and vitality,” was typical. It was a French Bordeaux with 7.2 mg of pure cocaine per ounce. Vin Mariani, a favorite of Pope Leo XIII, claimed to have “over 7,000 written endorsements from prominent physicians in Europe and America.” In the wake of the Pure Food and Drug Act it listed cocaine on its label but made no changes about the remedy’s unproven curative powers.44 Hundreds of other nostrum makers who featured cocaine or opium as primary ingredients did the same. Some even boasted that they reduced the concentration of opiates or alcohol in their nostrums, but those cuts were mostly negligible.45 A few narrowed the breadth of what they promised. Hazeltine & Co. changed the tagline for its popular Piso’s syrup—a solution of alcohol, cannabis, and chloroform—from “Cure for Consumption” to the more generic “Remedy for Coughs and Colds.”46
Within a year of the law’s passage, most nostrum makers included on their label, “Guaranteed under the Pure Food and Drug Act.”47 They hoped the public would conclude that tagline meant the drugs were not dangerous.48
Although both the nostrum industry and traditional pharma had won many concessions in the law, it still empowered the Bureau of Chemistry with exclusive enforcement powers. Some wondered whether Wiley would push the limits of the law and tie up pharma firms in litigation. They did not know that Wiley had decided to concentrate on “battles attracting the attention of the whole nation.” He wanted to target companies with which every American was familiar. Fortunately for pharma firms, none were that prominent. Although Bayer was a household name in Germany, it had not achieved that status yet in America. As a result, Wiley showed no interest in tackling its Heroin brand. A popular drug manual published by Squibb noted in 1903 that “Heroin has lost none of its prominence” and cited a small study in which it had demonstrated “decided advantages” in treating bronchial infections and without a “tendency to form a Heroin habit.”49 (It took sixteen years before the government required a prescription for Heroin and another decade before it placed restrictions on its sale. By then the country had added an additional quarter million addicts.) Wiley did not even open an investigation when Bayer announced its discovery of a new class of drugs, barbiturates. Potent and addictive sedatives, its first product, phenobarbital, went on sale under the brand name Luminal in 1908 without prescription.50
Moody’s, the financial rating firm, reaffirmed to Wiley that he was right in judging the drug business too insignificant to generate daily headlines. When Moody’s started publishing industry analyses in the U.S. in 1909, pharmaceuticals was so small it was not listed as a separate category. It took another twenty years before Moody’s created one, ranking drug firms as the sixteenth most profitable American industry. There were hundreds of small companies vying for a piece of the nascent trade, none with more than 3 percent of the market.
Only 135 of the first 1,000 enforcement actions under the Pure Food and Drug Act were against drugmakers.51 Most involved technical labeling infractions resulting in fines of less than $50.52
Wiley did bring some landmark actions. They involved corn syrup, saccharin, benzoate of soda, aluminum baking powders, and a multiyear battle over rectified versus pure whiskey53 II 54 He declared caffeine public enemy #1 and made Coca-Cola his highest-profile target. As Wiley correctly forecast, his campaign demonizing caffeine—which he claimed was more dangerous than strychnine—galvanized public attention. It was front-page news when he charged that Coca-Cola was a public health hazard that violated the law since it did not list caffeine as an ingredient. Wiley’s “literal-mindedness about labels” was evident when he contended the company duped consumers by calling itself Coca-Cola despite having no cocaine—it had been removed entirely in 1904—and only a trace of cola.55
Wiley’s animus against caffeine was sincere. His fundamentalist Christian parents had raised him to believe it was “a devil’s stimulant.”III56 He was convinced caffeine caused mental defects and motor deficits as serious as alcohol and that it was “habit-forming and nerve-racking.” Damning caffeine as “the most common drug in the country,” he warned that “coffee drunkenness is a commoner failing than the whiskey habit.… This country is full of tea and coffee drunkards.” He warned Congress that caffeine was toxic and in public speeches sounded the alarm: “I would not give my child coffee or tea any more than I would give him poison.”57
With Wiley focused an caffeine, Congress acted on its own regard in 1909. It passed the first ever federal drug prohibition statute, the Opium Exclusion Act.58 That targeted a smokable variety of opium favored by Chinese immigrants, whom Senate majority leader Henry Cabot Lodge had described as “uncivilized elements in America.” The law did not address the opium used in patent medicines or traditional pharma drugs.59 Its unintended consequence was that Chinese criminal gangs took control of the opium trade in San Francisco’s and Los Angeles’s Chinatowns, resulting in higher prices and a jump in crime.60 Meanwhile, the American public interpreted the passivity of Harvey Wiley, who was admired for his zealous crusading, as evidence that drugs for sale had somehow passed safety and efficacy criteria under the Pure Food and Drug Act.
The Coca-Cola trial, United States v. Forty Barrels and Twenty Kegs of Coca Cola, in 1911, was the culmination of Wiley’s career.61 Prosecutors held the trial in Chattanooga, where Coca-Cola had a large bottling plant. The government’s case cast Coca-Cola as a dangerous, addictive drink. Its caffeine stimulation was so well known, testified a Department of Agriculture chemist, that many consumers called it by the nicknames “coke” or “dope.”62 (Coca-Cola did not take a trademark on Coke until 1942.) In its defense, Coca-Cola called a series of leading chemists and research scientists who contended that the government had overstated the danger of caffeine, and in any case, the amount of caffeine in the soda was only a third of what was in an equivalent cup of coffee or tea.
Three weeks into the trial, Coca-Cola made a motion to dismiss the case. It argued that since caffeine had replaced coca-leaf extract in the soda recipe a year before the enactment of the Pure Food and Drug Act, it was not an added ingredient that qualified as an “adulterant or additive.” Therefore the law did not apply. The trial judge stunned Wiley and the Justice Department by agreeing with Coca-Cola and dismissed the government’s case.63 It was a body blow the Supreme Court ultimately upheld.
Wiley’s Bureau of Chemistry had committed enormous resources to the prosecution. By casting himself as the public face of the government’s case he had put his reputation at risk. An internal federal investigation revealed that Wiley had so badly wanted to win that he had engineered an annual consulting arrangement for $1,600 with a Columbia professor who was the government’s star trial expert about the evils of caffeine. Without that deal, the professor had been reluctant to agree to testify since the government paid its experts only $9 a day. Although Wiley had broken no laws with the consulting work-around, and his bosses had approved it, it looked bad after the case had imploded.64
After twenty-nine years at the Bureau of Chemistry, the combative and toxic environment had worn Wiley down. He resigned in 1912 and accepted a job at Good Housekeeping magazine for $10,000, double his government salary. As their director of foods, sanitation, and health, he still wielded influence with his monthly column about nutrition and food safety that reached 400,000 subscribers. The magazine built a modern testing lab for Wiley and initiated the Good Housekeeping Seal of Approval for products.65
Although Wiley had justifiably earned a place in history as the father of the Pure Food and Drug Act, he had little to boast about when it came to drugs. Business boomed for the traditional USP/NF medications. Worse was that sales of nostrums soared by 60 percent in a decade, for the first time crossing $100 million annually.66 When Wiley later wrote his memoir, his failures were evident by his omissions. In 325 pages he attacked private lobbyists and government bureaucrats for diluting his landmark statute. He regaled his readers with insider details about his battles against saccharin manufacturers and whiskey rectifiers. He even re-litigated the Coca-Cola case. In Wiley’s recounting of history, he was always right but somehow the government had repeatedly failed to do what was right.67 But he never mentioned cocaine or heroin and only referred to patent drugs a single time—to claim that internal power struggles at the Bureau of Agriculture had “made it impossible to bring any cases.”68
As Wiley stepped off the national stage, there was no doubt that pharma had emerged intact from the country’s first landmark legislative effort at drug oversight. Its successful lobbying campaign had eviscerated much of the Pure Food and Drug Act. It would serve as a template for pharma battles with the government in the decades ahead.
I. Dr. A. O. Johnson of Kansas City marketed Dr. Johnson’s Mild Combination Treatment for Cancer. Every sale included a 125-page book of questionable testimonials from “cured patients.” Congress addressed this statutory shortcoming in 1912, but the drug lobby weakened the final language to ban therapeutic claims that were “false and fraudulent.” That meant enforcement actions had to establish “intent to defraud,” a standard that proved nearly impossible as drug companies claimed they believed the claims to be accurate.
II. Wiley’s Boy Scout image was sullied years later when it was disclosed that he had not only accepted favors and gifts from some food industry giants, but that they influenced his decisions about whether to bring enforcement actions. A sugar industry lobbying group employed his nephew in a sweetheart deal. He only moved against benzoate of soda after his benefactors at H. J. Heinz stopped using it; critics said he had conspired with Heinz to allow them to capture the catsup market. In one instance, he even testified in an adulterated coffee case on behalf of a businessman who had doled out favors to him and some of his family.
III. Prohibition of caffeine remains a tenet for some Christian denominations. The Mormon-owned Brigham University finally yielded in September 2017 to appeals by non-Mormon students and permitted the sale of caffeinated soda.
4
THE WONDER DRUG
The federal government did put an end to patent medicines. It was not, however, the result of new laws or enforcement directed at nostrums. Instead the patent industry was decimated as the indirect result of historic legislation that outlawed its core ingredients, narcotics and alcohol. The first blow was the 1914 Harrison Narcotics Tax Act. The second was the Eighteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution five years later that kicked off thirteen years of alcohol prohibition.1
The Harrison Act was Congress’s response to worldwide fears about skyrocketing demand for opiate-based painkillers. World War I had caused a seismic shift inside the pharmaceutical industry. The outbreak of hostilities in Europe in July 1914 led to the suspension of the International Opium Convention treaty, a sweeping anti-narcotics agreement signed a couple of years earlier by a dozen countries at The Hague.2 Knowing that war was good for business and free of government regulation, drug firms ratcheted morphine production to record levels. Some, like Britain’s Whiffen & Sons, doubled their annual output to twenty tons, much of it leaking to the black market. Overproduction in Swiss, Dutch, and German pharmaceutical companies also fed illegal syndicates.
Congress passed the Harrison Act only six months after the war started. It prohibited most distribution and use of cocaine as well as much of the importation of opiates. Bayer’s lobbying, however, earned Heroin an exemption. The law created a national registry to track every person and company that dealt in opiate- or cocaine-based drugs. The AMA and other medical groups successfully petitioned to exclude physicians and hospitals that dispensed narcotic painkillers, so long as the drugs were not given to addicts (before the Supreme Court struck down that provision a decade later, 25,000 doctors were charged with violating the narcotics ban and 3,000 went to jail).3
The law sanctioned one class of opiate manufacturer and distributor: pharmaceutical companies. The only authorized purveyors were the manufacturers of drugs listed on the USP/NF. It was criminal for anyone else to import, make, or sell the same drugs.4 The drafters of the Harrison Act mistakenly thought that making narcotics legal under the exclusive control of the medical/pharma industries would reduce the country’s huge hunger for narcotics.
The underlying problem was the appetite pharmaceutical firms had developed for the staggering profits from their highly addictive products. It was an international malaise. When opiate production declined after World War I, drug companies turned to cocaine. French pharma firms conspired to divert their cocaine overproduction to drug traffickers for enormous profits. In Switzerland, one of the few countries to have opposed all drug treaties, a postwar report concluded the country’s pharmaceutical industry had produced “100 times more [cocaine] than was required for [domestic] medical and scientific purposes.” Anyone who simply attested to being a physician could buy ten kilos of cocaine from Swiss drug firms. Compounding the problem was that Switzerland was the only nation without any drug export controls. In Germany, Bayer, Merck, and competitors such as Hoechst AG had trouble keeping up with demand for cheap kilos of 99 percent pure cocaine.5
The situation was little different in the United States where narcotics provided upward of half all pharmaceutical profits. Barred by the Harrison Act from competing with the sanctioned pharma companies, and forbidden by Prohibition to use alcohol, most nostrum makers had finally given up. Philadelphia-based Smith, Kline and French, one of the most successful mail order companies, abandoned 5,800 of its 6,000 medications. It had enough left in its Eskay line of baby nutrition and food products to survive.6 Meanwhile, for traditional drug companies, sales had increased since the demise of the patent remedy industry.
Press reports of addiction and overdoses with Heroin had spurred some companies to search for a less addictive substitute. In 1916, two German chemists had discovered Oxycodone, a synthetic opioid that was chemically similar to Heroin. They thought it was a “gentler codeine.”7 Four years later, two different German researchers developed hydrocodone, a semisynthetic opiate derived from codeine. The scientists believed both drugs matched Heroin’s therapeutic benefits without the downside of addiction.
It was difficult, though, to wean the industry off its narcotics reliance since there were few other types of drugs to drive the market. “You could count the basic medications on the fingers of your two hands,” noted a later president of Merck.8 Most pharma companies were simply manufacturers who depended on research and discoveries in academic labs to find and license products.9
The pharma companies knew the drugs they sold cured virtually no disease. Although the public bought them for everything from smallpox to typhoid to diphtheria, the medications at best reduced symptoms and eased pain. Sales mattered more than cures to most pharma companies.10 The most promising new drug category measured by revenues was barbiturates. Discovered in 1903 by Bayer, it had nothing to do with treating an illness but was marketed as “a new class of hypnotics” to provide relief for insomnia, anxiety, nerves, and depression. Overnight barbiturates replaced bromides, a cruder and more primitive class of patent drug sedatives.11 Bayer released its most powerful version, phenobarbital, in 1912 (the press nicknamed it a “downer” because it made people drowsy).12 Millions of patients flocked to barbiturates, all sold without prescription.
American companies that did not have their own branded barbiturate concentrated on getting their other medications listed on the USP/NF. Consumers believed the USP/NF drugs had the best quality control.13 That allowed Merck, Lilly, Squibb, Pfizer, and others to charge several times more than the identical formula from small, family-run compounding pharmacies. When Bayer’s copyright on Aspirin expired, the company’s legal effort failed to stop others from manufacturing and selling it. So, Bayer’s slogan became “Genuine Bayer Aspirin,” and it sold for double the price of generic aspirin.14 The same was true with Parke-Davis’s Adrenalin, a compound of pure adrenaline it had patented. The company won a lawsuit in which a federal appeals court ruled that because of the similarity between the name of Parke-Davis’s drug and the body’s natural hormone, all other U.S. drug companies could only market their adrenaline medications as epinephrine. That ruling allowed Parke-Davis to charge triple the price of its competitors.15
A grim example of the downside of pharma’s overall lack of innovation came during the deadly influenza epidemic of 1918. Called the Spanish Flu since Spanish newspapers were the only ones in Europe that ran stories about it, it infected half a billion people, about a third of the world’s population. By some estimates it killed 100 million over a brutal sixteen weeks. In comparison, the fourteenth-century bubonic plague had wiped out a quarter of the planet over ten years.16 Pharma companies had nothing to slow or treat the pandemic. It stopped only after the lethal microbe had run its course.
The Spanish Flu spurred academic and private researchers to redouble their efforts to find treatments for contagious infections and illnesses. By this time, bacteriologists realized that the trillions of self-sufficient, single cell microbes, including those that make up about 70 percent of every human, are friendly. Or at the very least they had evolved to coexist with people.
What researchers did not yet know was that microbes, especially the predatory ones that cause disease, are the ultimate examples of Charles Darwin’s survival of the fittest theory. Bacteria metamorphose incredibly fast to better replicate, sometimes in ways that rival science fiction. The germ responsible for tuberculosis, for instance, dies in about twenty-one days unless it can infect a new host. In many early cases, the TB germ attacked a patient’s kidneys, lymph nodes, and sometimes even the skin. Over time that pathogen mutated so as to target the lungs. That resulted in a persistent cough and converted TB into an airborne pathogen that was easily spread in crowded cities. The same is true of other deadly bacteria. Rabies germs evolved to attack the part of the brain that controlled aggressive biting, making it more likely than an infected animal would try to pass it to other animals or humans by biting them. The microbes behind the Black Plague, Yersinia pestis, originally infected only rats but transformed over time so that fleas on those rats became the carriers to humans. It later morphed again so that humans who developed plague pneumonia spread the infection. When Lyme disease passed slowly from rats and deer, the infectious microbe evolved to infect ticks that fed on those animals. The ticks passed it much faster to people.17
Some pathogens lay dormant after an infection and then much later reappear as a different illness. Children infected by the chicken pox germ recover usually in a couple of weeks. The virus, however, hides in nerve cells along the spine and brain and often remerges decades later as shingles.18
The researchers made little headway on fighting infectious diseases. The hit drugs that came from the labs had nothing to do with eliminating pathogenic bacteria. A Los Angeles pharmacologist and chemist, Gordon Alles, was searching for an improved decongestant when he isolated the stimulant amphetamine sulfate.19 He teamed with Smith Kline, who already marketed a cotton strip soaked in a slightly unstable liquid and sold it as a decongestant inhaler.20 Smith Kline bought Alles’s patent rights in exchange for a 5 percent royalty. The company’s inhaler was wildly popular; 10 million sold in the first five years. And it was the first to market pure amphetamine pills, branded as Benzedrine Sulfate (bennies in street slang).
The most significant medical breakthrough was a treatment for diabetes, a deadly physiological condition. A team of University of Toronto researchers announced their discovery of insulin in 1922. The Indianapolis-based family who owned Eli Lilly won the exclusive right to develop and market insulin to diabetics in North and South America. The following year Lilly got a patent on its process to collect and extract large quantities pure enough for clinical distribution. The insulin market grew exponentially over a couple of decades.21
It was a second revolutionary drug discovery, however, that upended the pharmaceutical business. Penicillin might have remained undiscovered had it not been for some good luck in a science lab in 1928. A Scottish microbiologist, Alexander Fleming, returned from his summer vacation and noticed something unusual. His research involved growing bacteria and observing its behavior under different conditions. Along the edges of a stack of petri dishes he had left to be washed were colonies of staph bacteria. During his absence, a blue-green mold had grown on the plates. What caught his attention, though, was that staph bacteria near the mold on the plates had disappeared.22 As a doctor at a British Army Hospital in northern France during World War I, Fleming had learned firsthand that bacteria were often as deadly as enemy shelling. He wondered whether some of the discharge from the mold had stopped the bacteria from growing.
Tests on his “mold juice” isolated it to a rare strain of the penicillium family.23 Further tests were promising, demonstrating the mold killed a wide range of common microorganisms.24 Fleming and his assistants could not, however, isolate a pure alkaloid from the chemically unstable mold juice. When Fleming wrote about his discovery in a 1929 scientific paper, he anglicized the Latin penicillium to penicillin, and he downplayed hope for possible therapeutic benefits. Penicillin went mostly unnoticed.25
A few other researchers also tried and failed to extract a pure alkaloid.26 It took seven years before a team from Oxford’s School of Pathology in 1936 chanced on Fleming’s paper and restarted experiments. The previous year a German chemist had discovered Prontosil, a brick-red dye whose active ingredient was sulfonamide. That sulfa drug, and others that followed, were the first capable of combating streptococcal infections.I27 Sulfa medications piqued the interest of the Oxford team to investigate the mold that Fleming had described as being lethal to dangerous microorganisms.28
Howard Florey, a Rhodes Scholar and Australian pathology professor, ran the Oxford lab. He assigned to the penicillin project a brilliant twenty-nine-year-old chemist, Ernst Chain, who had emigrated from Berlin in 1933. Chain’s family were devout Jews and he had left Germany “because I felt disgusted with the Nazi gang.… I did not believe that the system would last more than six months at the most.”29 Initially, Chain, a self-described “temperamental Continental,” seemed an odd fit with the small lab’s more reserved Oxford- and Cambridge-trained researchers.30 With his bushy black hair, thick mustache, and rumpled clothes, he seemed at times to relish his outsider status. Although his colleagues thought he was argumentative and brusque, they came to respect his considerable biomedical skills. In less than a year, Chain singlehandedly developed a process for extracting and purifying tiny amounts of penicillin.31 It was twenty times more powerful in destroying colonies of bacteria than anything they had previously tested.
It took another four years, until 1940, before trials demonstrated penicillin shielded mice from deadly streptococci bacteria.32 Still, the Oxford researchers worried that anything capable of so thoroughly obliterating bacteria might harm humans though it had not proven toxic to mice. The following January, Florey invited Charles Fletcher, a young doctor from Oxford’s Radcliffe Infirmary, to meet his team. Florey asked Fletcher to “find a patient with some inevitably fatal disorder who might be willing to help.”33
Fletcher recalled there “were no ethical committees in those days that had to be consulted, so I looked around the wards and found a pleasant 50-year-old woman with disseminated breast cancer who had not long to live.”34 She agreed to the experiment after Fletcher told her it was for a “new medication that could be of value to many people.” That unnamed woman was the first of several terminally ill patients who volunteered over several weeks. Oral and rectal administration proved useless since tests revealed those procedures did not get enough penicillin into the blood. A stomach tube tried on another patient showed some promise. But doctors found the greatest concentration of the drug after an intravenous injection.
Fletcher hoped to next test penicillin’s curative powers on a person seriously ill, but not at death’s door as were the first group of patients. Fletcher found a forty-three-year-old British policeman in the hospital’s septic ward. He had scratched his face while pruning roses and the scratches had become infected. His face and arms were covered with abscesses. He had excruciating infections in his bones and was coughing up pus from lung cavities. Doctors had already removed his infected left eye. “There was all to gain for him in a trial of penicillin,” recalled Fletcher, “and nothing to lose.”35
On February 12, 1941, Fletcher started the treatment, 300 mg every three hours through an IV drip. In just a day the policeman felt better. By the fourth day “there was a striking improvement,” and by the fifth he had made a miraculous recovery. His temperature was normal, he was eating regular meals, and the abscesses on his face, scalp, and arms were almost gone.36 The problem was that the lab—still struggling with developing an efficient means of extracting purified penicillin—ran out of the drug. Florey watched in frustration as the bacteria roared back. The policeman died a few weeks later.
“We then decided to avoid using large amounts of the precious penicillin by concentrating on children and localized infections,” recalled Fletcher. Five more patients, four of them children, were treated over the next few months. The serious bacterial infections cleared from each. There were few side effects and it did not have the toxicity associated with sulfa drugs.37 Florey and his team realized by then that the drug might be one of the most important medical discoveries ever.38
By the time the Oxford team realized that penicillin was a momentous breakthrough, England had been at war with Nazi Germany for nearly two years. The constraints of a wartime budget left little money for an ambitious rollout of what many politicians considered an experimental drug. Even if Florey roused political support, war had consumed Britain’s chemical industry. It had no spare capacity to produce the new drug. Florey’s Oxford team continued its research on a tiny budget and with improvised equipment. Against the backdrop of what many expected to be an imminent Nazi land invasion of Britain, they prepared to destroy their lab and research files if the Germans arrived. Each of them rubbed some of the brown penicillin spores into their clothing; if one managed to evade capture by the Nazis, those spores would remain untraceable yet could be recovered years later.39
Chain tried to convince Florey to patent penicillin; at least it might bring in royalties to pay for more research. Florey asked the advice of two of Britain’s leading authorities, Sir Edward Mellanby, director of the Medical Research Council, and Sir Henry Dale, a Nobel Laureate. Both were aghast at the idea of a patent, although their German, French, Swiss, and American counterparts did so regularly. Chain knew there had been little advancement on Prontosil, the sulfa drug discovered by Bayer. A German patent court had ruled its active ingredient—sulfanilamide—was in the public domain since it had been discovered and used in the dye industry in 1908. Some firms had figured out molecular modification to produce sulfanilamide derivatives, so-called me-too drugs.40 Those chemical cousins qualified for patent protection.41
When Sirs Mellanby and Dale met with Chain, they were not moved by his impassioned argument. It was unseemly commercialization, they told him. If he persisted, they warned, it might not only scuttle his career but reflect badly on his fellow Jewish refugees.42
Forced to look for money abroad, Florey successfully lobbied for funding from the American-based Rockefeller Foundation, where he had had a fellowship a decade earlier.43 Florey and one of his key researchers, Norman Heatley, planned a trip to the U.S. hoping the government and American pharmaceutical firms might help figure how to increase the yields of pure penicillin.
The day before departing for the States, Florey told Chain he was not included. Chain, shocked, thought it was an “underhand trick and act of bad faith.”44 He argued that the penicillin project had always been a “joint venture” only between him and Florey, and he cited reasons why he believed that Heatley had played a “very minor part.” Florey refused to change his mind.
In the summer of 1941, Florey and Heatley were in Peoria, Illinois, where the Department of Agriculture had its Northern Regional Lab specializing in fermentation.45 Heatley opted to stay there and work on increasing the yields while Florey lobbied U.S. pharma companies to commit resources to the project.
Over several weeks, the Peoria lab made progress. Substituting lactose for the sucrose used by the Oxford team produced significantly better yields. The Peoria lab next found that adding corn steep liquor during fermentation increased the results tenfold. Enhancements made to penicillin precursors again upped the yield. Still, it was a fraction of what was needed for the war. In late summer the Peoria researchers tried growing penicillin submerged in huge tanks. The Oxford strain still produced only small traces of the drug. So the Peoria lab launched an international search for a penicillium strain that might produce better yields. Soon, soil samples and produce with mold from around the world arrived at the small government lab. To the surprise of the researchers, the most productive strain came from the mold of an overripe cantaloupe a local housewife found at a Peoria fruit stand less than a mile from the lab. The Carnegie Institution used X-rays to create a modified and more powerful version of the cantaloupe strain. A team at the University of Wisconsin used ultraviolet radiation to boost its productivity even further.46
While Heatley and the American researchers in Peoria worked to mass-produce the drug, Florey was making little headway in his efforts to interest American pharmaceutical companies in the penicillin project. He knew that independent of the Oxford experiments, Merck, Eli Lilly, and Squibb had shown sporadic interest in the drug.47 Florey’s expectations were particularly high since he had enlisted the help of an old acquaintance, Alfred Newton Richards, a respected University of Pennsylvania pharmacology professor. Richards was chairman of the Committee on Medical Research, an influential branch of the Office of Scientific Research and Development (OSRD). Franklin Roosevelt had created the OSRD only a couple of months earlier (June 1941), and tasked it with prioritizing scientific and medical efforts needed to bolster national defense. If the OSRD deemed a project critical to the war effort—as it did with the atomic bomb—it could provide massive research and development funding. Civilian scientists served as key OSRD directors and Roosevelt cited national security to empower it to bypass most of the bureaucratic obstacles and contract directly with both universities and private industry.48 Once Florey had persuaded Richards that penicillin was a breakthrough, Richards personally lobbied the drug firms.
Getting involved in penicillin would serve the national interest, Richards told senior management at each company. They were hesitant though to make any commitment. They had heard widespread tales of the difficulty in achieving significant yields with the existing fermentation methods. And they were concerned about whether the penicillin project would be subject to the regulations of the federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act that had passed three years earlier, the first significant legislation about the drug industry since Harvey Wiley’s 1906 Pure Food and Drug Act.49 II 50 In fact, variations of the final law had been stuck in Congress for five years before a lethal drug disaster shamed Congress into acting (just as it had taken Upton Sinclair’s stomach-wrenching The Jungle to get the 1906 law passed).51 One hundred and seven people, mostly children, had died from Elixir Sulfanilamide, a sulfa-based cough syrup mixed with a chemical used in antifreeze and brake fluids to give it a sweetish flavor.52 There was fury when the Tennessee-based patent drug maker maintained “we violated no law” since there was no legal requirement to test drugs for safety before selling them. The company was found guilty only on a minor violation: it marketed its lethal syrup as an elixir and by law elixirs had to contain alcohol; its did not.53
The new law was Congress’s reactive effort to put a premium on safety regulations in medicine (medical devices and cosmetics joined drugs now under FDA oversight). New drugs had to be submitted to the FDA and demonstrated as safe before they could be sold to the public. Another key provision was that the burden of proof to demonstrate safety shifted from the government to the drug company. It established the first ever rudimentary animal and human clinical testing for toxicity. Package inserts with dosing information and warnings about possible dangers had to be sent to pharmacists. The new law required all drug manufacturers to register with the FDA, which was now empowered to inspect factories and to recall medicines judged dangerous at the pharma company’s expense.54 That same year Congress also passed the Wheeler-Lea Act. It gave limited power to curb deceptive and false drug advertisements to the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), the government’s agency created in 1914 for consumer protection and civil antitrust enforcement.55
American pharma companies detested any regulation. They had always operated in an industry built on the inviolable right of consumers to self-medicate.56 What had them in a fury, though, was when the FDA issued operating regulations that proposed that some drugs deemed too dangerous should be prescription only since no warning label would be adequate.57 It was the FDA’s feeble attempt to rein in the explosive growth of barbiturates and amphetamines. There was ample evidence by the time of the 1938 law that both drugs were addictive and deadly in large doses. The law did not cover them since they were on sale before it was enacted. The FDA’s effort failed. It managed to only mandate prescriptions for narcotic-based medication and powerful sulfa drugs.58
What about penicillin? The American pharma firms asked to help develop the drug worried what might happen if they were successful. Would penicillin be subject to a warning label by the FDA? Would it demonstrate some toxicity if developed and distributed widely, thereby becoming prescription only? The companies were particularly concerned because the FDA had managed to require prescriptions for sulfa meds. Those were antibacterials and marketed for some of the same infections that penicillin might target.59 No drug company wanted to commit major resources to an experimental medication when the FDA might later try limiting its commercial use. Alfred Newton Richards tried inducing pharma to join the project by agreeing to put penicillin and all the related research for it outside the reach of the 1938 law.60
At an October 1941 meeting in Washington organized by Richards, although the drug chiefs were no longer worried about obstacles from the FDA, they were still ambivalent about making any commitment. Most looked to George Wilhelm Merck to take the lead.61 Merck wielded great influence, even with his bitterest competitors. He had a widespread reputation as a pioneer who put research and drug innovation ahead of short-term profits.62 When he opened the Merck Institute for Therapeutic Research in 1933, in the middle of the Great Depression, it was the industry’s first research lab. It attracted some of the country’s top academic chemists and pharmacologists.63 They produced breakthroughs in antibiotics, hormones, sulfas, and vitamins (the discovery of B12 as an effective therapy for pernicious anemia accounted for 10 percent of Merck’s sales in the mid-1930s).64 Other companies followed; Lilly opened a research lab in 1934 and Abbott and Squibb christened theirs in 1938.
Given Merck’s emphasis on drug innovation, Florey and his Oxford colleagues expected him to be their ally when it came to penicillin. They made the case that penicillin held the promise of fighting often lethal bacterial infections, including chicken pox, mumps, meningitis, rheumatic fever, pneumonia, and syphilis. The greatest cause of death for mothers was from infections following childbirth. Complications from simple contagions like tonsillitis were particularly deadly for children younger than ten. Fatalities from blood poisoning and gangrene, resulting often from a minor wound, accounted for about half of the 10 million soldiers who died in World War I.
Richards had warned Florey that Merck was “pessimistic” about penicillin.65 He thought that was because Merck had little financial incentive to chase an experimental antibacterial. It was one of the first U.S. firms to obtain a license from Bayer to sell Prontosil, a sulfa drug targeted to fight pneumonia. Sales were strong.66 What Florey and his team did not know was that Merck’s company had little proficiency in fermentation, the part of the penicillin process that had stymied researchers. No one outside the company knew Merck’s efforts to synthesize penicillin had gone poorly.67
At the October 1941 meeting, Merck surprised Florey. “We won’t do it,” he insisted.68
Everything changed two months later on December 7, when the Japanese launched a surprise attack on the American naval fleet at Pearl Harbor. Richards organized another meeting between Florey and a cross section of U.S. government scientists and pharma chiefs. They met in Manhattan ten days after Pearl Harbor. America had by then declared war on Japan and Germany. How many lives on the battlefield might be saved by penicillin was no longer a matter of idle speculation for the American drug executives. George Merck had overcome his reluctance. He surprised those at the meeting by announcing that if the yields reported by the Peoria lab could be replicated consistently, the American pharmaceutical industry would commit to a crash program.69 One government official there thought that Merck’s reversal marked the moment “a new pharmaceutical industry was born.”70
To encourage their collaboration the government announced that the penicillin project was exempt from antitrust laws.71 Merck and Squibb agreed to share all their research and to own equal shares in any patents and inventions from the work. Pfizer joined the following year after it resolved concerns that penicillin spores might contaminate the citric acid that was the backbone of its business.72 Lilly, Abbott, Upjohn, and Parke-Davis soon entered their own information-sharing agreements.73 The War Production Board enlisted the help of the U.S. Department of Agriculture and a broad cross section of government scientists.74 The Office of Scientific Research and Development used public funds to sign fifty-six contracts with universities and research hospitals for penicillin-related studies.75 Florey returned to Oxford while Heatley joined the team at Merck and worked with a noted chemist, Max Tishler (Tishler was also directing research on a synthetic hormone derived from the adrenal gland, cortisone).76 The American drug firms discovered that the low yields that had frustrated the British researchers was a problem not easily solved.
It took until March 1942 to manufacture enough penicillin to treat the first American patient. Anne Miller, the thirty-three-year-old wife of Yale’s athletic director, was in a New Haven hospital in critical condition from blood poisoning after a miscarriage. Such bacterial infections were especially lethal for young mothers. Every treatment her doctors tried—powerful sulfa drugs, blood transfusions, rattlesnake venom, even surgery—had failed.77 A hospital physician was friends with Howard Florey, who had told him about the secret experimental antibiotic. Florey put him in touch with Max Tishler. Merck’s team crashed around the clock for three days to purify 5.5 grams—a teaspoonful—of pure penicillin powder. It was half the entire stock in the U.S.78 They rushed it by plane to Miller.79 By the time the drug arrived, Miller was slipping in and out of consciousness. Her fever had spiked to 107. No one had any idea of what the correct dosage might be, so the physicians diluted a gram into her intravenous solution. Her astounding turnaround is recorded in her hospital chart (now a permanent part of the Smithsonian Museum). Miller’s temperature was normal the following morning for the first time in a month, she was no longer delirious, and in less than a day she ate her first meal in a month. Her blood tested negative for bacteria only twenty-four hours after the first injection.80 Miller’s miraculous recovery was not only big news inside Merck, but it encouraged other U.S. pharmaceutical firms to redouble their efforts to find the best industrial process for mass-producing penicillin.81
Because of its potential military value, the penicillin work under way at the pharma companies was a national secret. That changed inadvertently that November following the deadliest nightclub fire in American history. Nearly five hundred died at Boston’s Cocoanut Grove and hundreds were terribly burned. The federal government covertly asked for Merck’s help. Tishler’s lab worked around the clock. The best they could produce on such short notice was a diluted liquid containing some concentrated penicillin. What Merck sent to Massachusetts General was not of the clinical purity used to treat Anne Miller. Still its anti-infective qualities helped dozens of victims successfully fight the infections from their burns.82
By the time of the Cocoanut Grove fire, both the American and British governments had declared penicillin production a national security priority. In 1943, the War Production Board had two all-consuming priorities, developing an atomic bomb and mass producing penicillin.83 The government knew that making it on an industrial scale required enormous federal resources and a collaboration of pharma firms with agricultural and chemical companies that specialized in fermentation. One hundred and seventy-five companies were evaluated. Seventeen made the final cut, including Merck, Squibb, Pfizer, Abbott, Eli Lilly, Lederle, Parke-Davis, and Upjohn. Once on board they learned that while making penicillin was their top mission, the government wanted them also to focus on developing antimalarials to slash the death rate for American troops fighting the Japanese in the Far East.84 III 85 There was also ongoing research for a new group of corticosteroids, originally fueled by false reports that the Nazis were using them to enable “super pilots” to fly at altitudes over forty thousand feet. When that research did not pan out, the Air Force bought millions of Smith Kline’s Benzedrine pills and distributed them to bomber and fighter pilots. The Army stocked up on barbiturates, which were widely dispensed to sedate wounded soldiers, alleviate pain, and offset shock and anxiety in the battlefield.86 (All the frenetic projects on corticosteroids and developing antimalarials led to unintended advances in immune globulins to fight infections and blood substitutes.)87
The government recruited researchers from thirty-six universities and hospitals.88 It also approved and paid for six huge new penicillin manufacturing plants. The pharma firms, meanwhile, got tax incentives on all investments to retrofit their factories to maximize penicillin production. Lilly, for instance, reconfigured a plant used to produce two-quart milk bottles into penicillin manufacturing, complete with a three-thousand-gallon fermentation tank. Pfizer turned a former ice factory into a fermentation plant. Sensing the potential in penicillin, the previous year Pfizer had reincorporated in Delaware and went public with 240,000 shares of common stock.89
The results were dramatic. In the first five months of 1943, the government project produced 400 million units of penicillin, only enough to treat 180 severely sick soldiers. In the last seven months of the year, as the pharma firms got far more proficient, production increased 500 percent to more than 20 billion units. By D-Day, June 6, 1944, the joint effort churned out 100 billion units monthly, enough to treat 40,000 troops. By the end of the war in Europe, May 1945, American companies were producing a stunning 650 billion units monthly.90
I. Sulfa drugs stop bacterial infections by interfering with their metabolism. Antibiotics such as penicillin are more effective as they destroy the bacteria. The chemist who isolated the first sulfa drug, Gerhard Domagk, worked for the Bayer pharmaceutical subdivision of Germany’s I. G. Farben conglomerate. When Domagk was awarded in 1939 the Nobel Prize in Medicine, Hitler—angry that a previous Nobel Peace Prize had gone to a German pacifist—barred Domagk from accepting the award. The Gestapo arrested Domagk and briefly jailed him because he had been “too polite” in the letter he had sent refusing the award.
II. The 1938 statute also created limited powers for the FDA to certify food colorings as “harmless.” Foods would be considered adulterated if they contained a coloring agent not approved by the government. While the 1938 law was the most sweeping legislation about drugs since the turn of the century, there had been a series of limited-scope laws during the 1930s that did reduce some of the remaining patent medicine abuse of opiates, cocaine, and marijuana. In 1937, marijuana was put under federal control with the Marihuana Tax Act.
III. As part of the frenzied research effort to perfect a drug to combat malaria, the Army-controlled Malaria Research Project conducted human experiments at four prisons, with the largest at Stateville Penitentiary outside Chicago. Prisoners were offered reduced sentences, cash stipends, and extra amenities for agreeing to be infected with malaria and then treated with experimental drugs. The prisoners were encouraged to keep meticulous notes. University of Chicago researchers selected 200 men, from 487 volunteers, for two years of testing at the prison hospital. The trial drugs had toxic side effects that sickened many and resulted in one death. In 1947, defense attorneys for Nazi doctors charged with war crimes for human experimentation at concentration camps cited the malaria experiments in a failed effort for an acquittal.
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“COULD YOU PATENT THE SUN?”
Three months after the end of the war in the Pacific, in December 1945, Alexander Fleming, Howard Florey, and Ernst Chain won the Nobel Prize in Medicine for their roles in the discovery of penicillin. Few outside the British medical research community knew that by then the three men had fallen out over mutual recriminations about which of them deserved most of the acclaim. By the time the Nobel was awarded, King George VI had knighted Fleming and the Australian Florey had been given a Knight’s Batchelor. Chain recalled that during the frenzied wartime research at Oxford, he felt as if “Florey’s behavior to me… was unpardonably bad.”1 Except for exchanging a few letters, Florey and Chain never spoke after the Nobel. Meanwhile, Florey stopped talking to Fleming after the British press had lavished the lion’s share of credit for the drug on the Scottish researcher. Florey thought Fleming, who alone received honorary doctorates and medical association awards for penicillin, had not tried to correct the record.2 As for Norman Heatley, who had been a key member of the Oxford team, being left out of the Nobel was the ultimate slight (it took fifty years before Oxford acknowledged his role by bestowing the first honorary Doctor of Medicine degree in its eight-hundred-year history, and today the penicillin researchers’ original lab is the Heatley Laboratory).3 I 4
Many in the Oxford team had expected that since the British and American governments had provided the funding, most of the revenue that came from sales would go to public research for other significant drugs.5 Some money, it was expected, might even find its way to the financially strapped academic research departments that had done the critical work when drug companies were uninterested. But pharma had no intention to share the spoils. The government had not insisted on any conditions to the tsunami of money it had doled out during the war. George Merck’s view was typical of other CEOs: they might not have discovered penicillin, but without the ingenuity and capability of American pharmaceutical firms, the Oxford team would have still been conducting failed lab experiments to increase the yield. The companies deserved every dollar of profit, he contended. There was so much money to be made in penicillin with a surging worldwide demand that none of the pharma chiefs complained at the end of the war when Congress passed a law transferring quality control for the drug’s production from the military to the FDA.6
The ways in which American pharma firms exploited penicillin after the war were the envy of foreign competitors. The British medical luminaries who had scolded Chain as “money-grubbing” when he had raised the patent question were incensed after the war when a U.S. government microbiologist, Andrew Moyer, acquired a U.K. patent for his method of manufacturing penicillin. Moyer was an anti-British isolationist who had worked with Oxford’s Heatley at the Peoria lab and made his time there hellish. Chain’s wartime prediction—without a patent that Britain would have to pay royalties to use the drug—came true.II7 Sir Henry Harris, who had worked with Florey, said: “It is often said in the press here that they got the penicillin out at Oxford and the Americans pinched it.”8 In the U.S., Merck, Pfizer, Squibb, and others aggressively pursued “process patents” that protected unique methods for synthesizing, extracting, purifying, or manufacturing a drug. Eleven American pharma firms that manufactured penicillin after the war owned a remarkable 250 such patents.9
British pharmaceutical firms, meanwhile, were infuriated that the American government sponsorship of a British invention had given a handful of U.S. firms a critical several years’ head start on a blockbuster drug. Pfizer had concentrated on penicillin to the exclusion of other drugs in its pipeline. That paid off handsomely after the war since it was responsible for nearly half of the world’s production. Squibb had doubled in size by becoming the only firm that manufactured, packaged, and sold penicillin directly to hospitals and pharmacists.
At the start of World War II, German pharmaceutical firms accounted for 43 percent of all drug sales.10 After the war, as German industry struggled to recover, American pharma firms, fueled by their dominance in antibiotics, took the top spot, with nearly half the world market. In the U.S., fifteen firms selected by the War Production Board had 80 percent of all drug sales and a stunning 90 percent of profits.11 Even sixty years later (2005), the top ten American pharmaceutical companies traced their rise to their selection for the wartime penicillin program.
The unprecedented federal role in penicillin also had an unintentional consequence for a handful of companies. The U.S. Department of Agriculture had acquired thirty-two key patents on fermentation methods.12 The government’s priority was producing a lot of penicillin, not making money. So, the USDA licensed those patents free of charge to companies interested in making the drug. The pharma firms had been granted a national security exemption from antitrust laws to encourage sharing their research with one another. When they developed mass fermentation for penicillin, it was a departure from the low-yield, synthetic chemistry that had defined the industry. Before World War II, no drug firm had imagined there could have been such a tremendous worldwide demand for any single medicine, much less that it could be mass-produced on an unprecedented scale. The influx of millions in direct federal subsidies changed everything. Drug companies expanded and retrofitted their plants with the large costly equipment required for commercial-scale production. Thirty-foot-tall steel tanks held penicillin mold, while submerged fermenters sterilized it, and enormous vats aerated the cultures at volumes exceeding ten thousand gallons to ready the drug for clinical use. In total, the pharma firms spent $23 million to build sixteen state-of-the-art antibiotics plants. Due to a special accelerated amortization provision, they recovered half their investments with savings on federal income tax. The government also sold to the drug companies—at less than half their investments—the six state-of-the-art penicillin production plants it had built at taxpayer expense during the war.13
Although penicillin had remade the industry, pharma companies were already looking for new and better drugs. That is because penicillin is a narrow-spectrum antibiotic, meaning that it is effective only against a limited range of bacteria (so-called Gram-positive).14 While it was successful against many deadly illnesses, it failed to work against a long list of often lethal Gram-negative bacterial infections, such as tuberculosis, typhoid, cholera, meningitis, gonorrhea, salmonella, and certain pneumonias. The postwar Holy Grail for American pharma was to find a broad-spectrum drug, one that treated illnesses caused both by Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria.
That turned out to be streptomycin.15 It was discovered as a microbe in a farmyard soil sample in 1943 by Selman Waksman, a Rutgers University soil microbiologist, and a PhD graduate student, Albert Schatz.16 Waksman, who coined “antibiotic” the previous year to refer to chemicals taken from microorganisms that destroyed bacteria, was searching for a tuberculosis cure.17 The lethal airborne pathogen dubbed the “Great White Plague” had killed an estimated two billion people in the preceding two centuries. Neither Waksman nor Schatz was medically qualified or licensed to do animal experiments. Waksman figured that since dangerous bacteria do not survive in soil, there were undoubtedly countless undiscovered microbes in dirt that killed bacteria. Since many of those antibiotic-producing organisms might also be toxic to humans, Waksman needed to conduct clinical tests. He used Merck’s much better equipped laboratory only fourteen miles from Rutgers to extract enough of his drug to study at the Mayo Clinic. Those tests demonstrated that streptomycin might be the long-awaited first broad-spectrum antibiotic.18
The Office of Scientific Research and Development used its extraordinary wartime powers to classify it along with penicillin as a national security medication. That opened the federal money pipeline, fueling a crash research and development program. Three quarters of the drug’s production in 1945 and 1946 went to the armed forces, and the remainder was set aside for drug trials at the National Research Council, which coordinated technological and scientific research between the military, private research laboratories, and universities.
Merck’s contract with Waksman gave the company exclusive rights to any drug produced from his research. That meant Merck would have monopoly control of streptomycin once the government freed the drug for commercial sales.
As the war progressed, streptomycin was the only medication under development that had a chance of combating biological weapons—anthrax, yellow fever, or bubonic plague—that many feared the Japanese and Germans were developing. Besides his role on the National Research Council, George Merck was the chief of a secret civilian agency, the War Research Service. It was responsible for developing the American stockpile of bioweapons (Merck was later given the nation’s highest civilian award, the Medal for Merit, for his wartime service).19 Waksman appealed to George Merck, contending that no single company should have sole control of streptomycin as it was too important a public health discovery (The New York Times listed the streptomycin patent as “one of ten that shaped the world”).20 Merck agreed. In August 1944, he canceled the exclusive arrangement. The drug’s rights returned to Rutgers.21
When the government lifted its controls on streptomycin at the end of 1946, eleven American pharma companies, including Merck, Squibb, Lilly, and Pfizer, began manufacturing and selling it. The early enthusiasm that it might eliminate tuberculosis had ebbed as it had proven capable only of controlling, not eradicating, the disease. However, clinical trials had demonstrated it was effective against meningitis, typhoid, and lung and bloodstream infections.22 Streptomycin also tested as far less toxic than the sulfa drugs.23
Merck’s attorneys, meanwhile, in early 1945, had filed an application for a patent in the names of the two Rutgers scientists, Waksman and Schatz. Until then, courts and the Patent Office had ruled that “products of nature” were in the public domain. The Patent Office had raised that prohibition when the streptomycin application arrived.24 And while the application was pending, the Supreme Court issued a 7–2 decision denying the request of a company to patent a bacterial inoculant. The majority’s decision seemed conclusive: “[P]atents cannot issue for the discovery of the phenomena of nature. The qualities of these bacteria, like the heat of the sun, electricity, or the qualities of metals, are part of the storehouse of knowledge of all men. They are manifestations of the laws of nature, free to all men and reserved exclusively to none.”25
There was a small but vocal minority of American medical researchers who thought it was immoral for any firm to profit from a drug developed from nature. They contended that medications needed to stop fatal infections or crippling diseases should be royalty free. The best example of this noble view was the polio vaccine that stopped a disease that had previously left tens of thousands of children paralyzed annually. Edward R. Murrow asked the vaccine’s inventor, Jonas Salk, who owned the patent. “Well, the people, I would say. There is no patent. Could you patent the sun?”26
It was true, admitted Merck’s attorneys, that if all that was before the Patent Office was a microbe found in farm soil, then the patent should be denied. However, scientists and chemists had reworked that single microbe and had made “streptomycin available in a form which not only has valuable therapeutic properties but also can be produced, distributed, and administered in a therapeutic way.” The unwavering conclusion of the Rutgers scientists? “This antibiotic is not a product of nature.”27
Every pharma company knew that the issuance of a patent would change their industry. Earth is a microbial planet. For several billion years before humans appeared, trillions of microbes too small to see existed in everything from hot springs to Arctic snow, soil, rocks, oceans, air, plants, even on and inside animals. As with streptomycin, many of those microbes might turn into a new wonder drug. It meant that the industry, long mired in manufacturing a mishmash of ointments, plant extracts, and biologicals, all of which only occasionally alleviated symptoms, would have an opportunity to produce a range of drugs that delivered cures for the deadliest diseases. All drug companies embraced this theory.
It took three and half years, until September 21, 1948, for the Patent Office to grant Waksman and Schatz the first ever antibiotic patent, No. 2,449,866, for “streptomycin and process of preparation.”28 Since the two scientists had already assigned their commercial rights to Rutgers, the school was free to license it to drug companies in return for a royalty.29 III 30
At the close of 1948, penicillin and streptomycin accounted for 99.7 percent of all U.S. antibiotic production.31 Furious research had been under way for several years as pharma firms hunted for new broad-spectrum antibiotics they could patent. The industry was about to enter a new era in which a flood of “wonder drugs” would transform the way pharma did business.
I. A similar dispute over credit for insulin plagued the 1923 Nobel Prize in Medicine. It went to only two of the three researchers listed on the original Canadian patent as inventors.
II. Moyer could not profit from the patent developed in Peoria since he was a government employee. However, he sold his foreign rights in the patent to Merck, Squibb, and Commercial Solvent. Because of the outcry, the British government created the National Research Development Corporation to make certain that discoveries and inventions by U.K. academics received patent protection.
III. The Nobel Prize in Medicine in 1952 went to Waksman for the discovery of streptomycin. It highlighted the tremendous rift between its creators about who deserved credit. The U.S. Patent Office listed Waksman and Schatz as equal co-owners. The patent affidavit they had submitted in 1945 listed both as joint discoverers. After the Nobel, however, Waksman dismissed Schatz as a disgruntled former graduate student. Schatz contended that not only was he the one who found the microbe in the throat of a chicken but that Waksman had ignored the discovery for months. Schatz eventually sued Rutgers and Waksman for fraud. It turned out that while Waksman had gotten $350,000 in royalties from the drug’s sales, he had sent a paltry $1,500 to Schatz. The parties settled. Rutgers’s president issued a public statement confirming Schatz was the drug’s co-discoverer, and paid Schatz $125,000 for his foreign patent rights. He got a 3 percent royalty on U.S. streptomycin sales in return for dropping the charges of fraud and duress against Waksman and Rutgers. The Nobel Committee, however, rejected Schatz’s appeal to add his name to the 1952 award. Forty-two years later, Schatz received the Rutgers Medal for his role in discovering streptomycin.
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AN UNLIKELY TRIO
Post–World War II America was a country with a newfound self-assurance. The Great Depression that ended in 1939 was a distant memory as total victory over Germany and Japan and a booming domestic economy resulted in what Rutgers historian William L. O’Neill dubbed the “American High.” The fifteen-year span that began in 1945 was “our time of greatest confidence.”1 The pharma industry also emerged from war with a renewed sense of self-assurance. Its turn-of-the-century peddling of addictive drugs was long forgotten in the glow of its collaborative wartime penicillin program. The drug business also benefited from a widespread perception that technology and science were on the verge of a historic golden age. Physicist Alvin M. Weinberg later coined “Big Science” to describe the belief that everything from routine space travel to eradicating all disease was possible.2
Inventions and new products would come in a steady stream after the war. Some of the innovations included the microchip, videotape recorder, musical synthesizer, bar code, black box flight recorder, solar cells, optic fiber, supercomputers, and hard disks. A few of the least important inventions had the greatest impact on daily lives. People raved about the household revolution wrought by Teflon-coated cookware and super glue and halogen lamps. Power steering and radial tires added safety to cars while making it easier to drive. Transistor radios meant that broadcast programs and music no longer had to be listened to at home in a radio the size of a piece of furniture. And technology also introduced a way for people to buy the new devices, even if they did not have enough money to afford them: the first ever credit card (1950, Diners Club). And buy they did; in just five years after the war, Americans purchased 22 million cars, 20 million refrigerators, and 6 million stoves.
Medicine also flourished. Within ten years there would be a series of major breakthroughs: the first heart and lung machine; mechanical heart valve; discovery of DNA; open-heart surgery; introduction of a cobalt-ray machine to treat cancerous lung tumors; electric shock to revive a patient; kidney transplant and kidney dialysis equipment; microscopic brain surgery for seizures; ultrasound and coronary angiography; and the cardiac pacemaker.3
All the historic innovation created high expectations for the pharmaceutical industry. Antibiotics had reversed the public’s pre–World War II opinion that drug companies profited with mediocre-at-best medications. A growing number of Americans had survived heart valve and bone infections, meningitis, scarlet fever, and other previously fatal diseases. Combined with plenty of press coverage over the many new in-house drug research departments, many hoped pharma would use science to conquer intractable diseases such as cancer.
C. Everett Koop, decades later Ronald Reagan’s surgeon general, had been the custodian for the distribution of penicillin in Philadelphia when he was a surgical resident at the University of Pennsylvania in the late 1940s. He witnessed how penicillin saved lives: “I never lost the sense of wonder when I saw a youngster’s fever and infection controlled by the antibiotic.”4 In his role as a surgeon he learned that almost all his patients thought that pharmaceutical breakthroughs “appeared to arise from nowhere,” that they were accomplished “with ease.” Although he knew that not to be true, it made Koop keenly aware that the industry’s wartime achievements had created unrealistic public expectations that the pace of drug innovations would continue unabated.
Harry Truman and Dwight Eisenhower did their best to ensure the federal government helped make the pharma narrative a reality. They directed large federal investments into biomedical and drug research, much of it into the National Institutes of Health (NIH).5 When Eisenhower created the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare in 1953 it was the first new cabinet level department in forty years.6 HEW helped consolidate the NIH’s various research agencies.
Although penicillin and streptomycin had made the pharma industry popular with the public, the two drugs were not having a good postwar effect on the firms’ bottom lines. Production of penicillin and streptomycin outpaced demand. Prices had gone into a free fall.7 A penicillin dose that cost $20 in 1944 had plummeted to only 30 cents three years later. Without any patent protection, the companies making and selling penicillin could only differentiate themselves by price. Each undercut the other to land orders. Streptomycin soon followed suit, dropping seventy-fold in price between 1946 and 1950.8
Despite the intense competition, Squibb’s penicillin profit margins were 10 percent better than the average of its four top rivals. That was because it was the only vertically integrated firm, not only manufacturing the drug, but packaging it before selling it to hospitals, clinics, and physicians. Competitors only made it and then relied on packagers and wholesale distributors. Starting in the late 1940s, Pfizer, Merck, Lilly, and Parke-Davis created internal divisions to eliminate the middlemen.
Savvy CEOs knew, however, that changing their corporate structure would not alone boost their bottom line. What was needed were new patentable drugs that fueled big sales at higher prices. That required a two-pronged campaign. First, the firms cooperated in influencing Congress to pass laws that made it easier to obtain patent protection for laboratory discoveries. Next, they invested heavily in research and development as part of the frenzied race to find the next broad-spectrum antibiotic.
Merck hired some of the country’s leading biochemists.9 Pfizer and Lilly battled one another for recruiting noted scientists.10 Pharma analysts predicted that one of the firms that had been at the forefront with penicillin and streptomycin—Merck, Squibb, Pfizer, Eli Lilly, Abbott, Upjohn, and Parke-Davis—would be the first with the next great antibiotic.
Scientists knew, however, that as penicillin had demonstrated, drug discovery sometimes required a bit of luck. History was about to be made at a place to which no one was paying attention. New Jersey–based Lederle was a small company that had been founded in 1906 by a former New York City health commissioner. Incorporated as Lederle Antitoxin Laboratories, it specialized in vaccines and antitoxins.11 Chemical conglomerate American Cyanamid bought Lederle in 1930 and gave it an unusual degree of independence. Lederle had played a small role in the wartime penicillin project, never having made the manufacturing changes required to produce large quantities. Its antitoxin background, however, allowed it to provide the armed forces a quarter of all its blood plasma, a third of the flu vaccine, half of the tetanus inoculations, and half the gas gangrene antitoxin.
Lederle had one of the industry’s smallest and least celebrated research departments. No one there was a Nobel Laureate or distinguished scientist. The company’s researchers did not publish many articles in leading medical and pharma journals. Nor did Lederle have a formal relationship with the National Institutes of Health or any medical facility, such as the Mayo Clinic, by which promising lab discoveries could be tested clinically.
The three men who were ultimately responsible for the next drug breakthrough were quasi-outcasts; one a foreigner barred by U.S. immigration from becoming an American citizen, another judged too old by colleagues, and the third an African American surgeon at a time when the medical profession was nearly all white.
Lederle’s chief of research was an Indian-born physiologist and physician, Yellapragada SubbaRow.12 He was one of seven children from a poor family in Bhimavaram, an eastern Indian city best known as a major Hindu pilgrimage site. At thirteen, SubbaRow ran off to become a banana trader to the visiting pilgrims. His father, a tax collector, brought him home.13 When his father died when SubbaRow was eighteen, he ran away again, this time to become a monk. His mother ordered him back to school, and local charities helped him afford Madras Medical College. But lack of money was always a problem. When he was twenty-four, he wed the fifteen-year-old granddaughter of a respectable merchant as part of an arranged marriage. His father-in-law paid for the last two years of tuition.14
SubbaRow was at school when the movement for Indian independence from Great Britain gained momentum inspired by Gandhi. He refused the British surgical gown given him at school and instead donned one made of a traditional and simple cotton khadi. That act of defiance cost him the college degree necessary to enter the State Medical College. Instead, he joined a local Ayurvedic college as an anatomy lecturer. It was there that an American doctor on a Rockefeller scholarship working on an anti-hookworm campaign encouraged SubbaRow to apply to Harvard’s School of Tropical Medicine.
Harvard considered his Ayurvedic work disqualifying and rejected him. In 1922, he tried again, but then withdrew his application to help his mother and siblings after two brothers died from Tropical Sprue, a rare infectious digestive disease. Not dissuaded, he applied again the following year, emphasizing his anatomy training. Harvard accepted him.15
SubbaRow was twenty-eight when he left behind his wife, pregnant with their first child, and emigrated to the U.S. (his child, a son, died of a bacterial infection before he was one; not only did SubbaRow never see his child, he never again saw his wife).16 He was ineligible for a scholarship because his Indian degree did not meet Harvard’s standards. The same was true when he applied for an internship at Boston hospitals. He finally landed some odd jobs at one.17 Industrious and hardworking, he earned his diploma in Tropical Medicine in 1924 and started on his PhD in biochemistry at Harvard Medical School.
In 1929, he coauthored his first scientific paper about his development of a simple color test to determine the amount of phosphorus in biological tissue.18 The following year he was the first Indian in Harvard history to earn a biochemistry PhD and began working as a teaching fellow at Harvard Medical School. Although it was common for a scientist of his talent to use research assistants and collaborate with peers in the lab, Harvard directed he work alone. Although he made advances in phosphorus compounds connected to RNA synthesis, he was not allowed to publish his results.19 In 1935, he had to disown the extent of his role in the discovery of the color test related to phosphorus, instead giving the credit to his coauthor, who was being considered for promotion to a full Harvard professorship.20
Denied tenure and tired of his second-class status, in May 1940 he accepted an offer to become Lederle’s associate director of research at their lab in Pearl River, New York. When the previous director retired at the end of that year, SubbaRow became the chief.
SubbaRow had joined Lederle just in time to be part of the penicillin project. He was the company’s representative when dealing with the government or other pharma firms. Although the penicillin work left little time in the laboratory, he was the first researcher to synthesize amethopterin, a chemical analog of folic acid. That research was prompted by a study that showed children with leukemia got significantly worse when fed a diet rich in folic acid. Scientists like SubbaRow wondered if an analog that was hostile to folic acid might have the opposite effect. Sidney Farber, a pathologist at Boston’s Children’s Hospital, made a breakthrough with SubbaRow’s analog, developing in a few years the first effective chemotherapy agent.21
In 1942, SubbaRow hired seventy-year-old Benjamin Duggar, a plant physiologist, who had been forced to “retire” by the University of Wisconsin as he was “too old to teach.”22 Other pharma firms had politely turned Duggar away, saying there were no positions or that his specialty was not what they needed. SubbaRow saw experience in what others judged “too old” and he thought that in Duggar he might have found a valuable “antibiotic hunter.”
At Lederle, coworkers came to know the Alabama native as amiable and eccentric. Every day at the lab Duggar slowly but methodically sifted through soil samples looking for antibiotic-producing fungi. At his suggestion, Lederle requested the Army have soldiers returning home bring a small amount of soil from wherever they had served. By 1944, a small shack outside the lab held thousands of samples from more than twenty countries on three continents. Duggar sometimes isolated antibiotic organisms from them. He and SubbaRow carried out tests to see if they had any effect in petri dishes on a broad range of bacterial pathogens.
Some days Duggar stayed away from the soil and instead reverted to the professor he had been for many years. He stopped by the lab but only to give a lecture to his younger colleagues.23 Most evenings Duggar left no later than 5:30 so he could play golf at a country club before it got dark. A chain-smoker, he also spent free time tending to a makeshift garden he created near an abandoned stable. He shared little about his personal life with coworkers.
The fourth of five sons born near the end of Reconstruction, Duggar was raised in a devout Episcopalian household. His father, Reuben Henry Duggar, was a prominent physician.24 No one in the Duggar family talked about the days before the “War of Northern Aggression.” Union troops had seized their large plantation, Frederickton, outside of Macon. His father had served on the state medical board that passed on the fitness of volunteer doctors to serve as Confederate medical officers.
A savant at school, Duggar entered the University of Alabama at fourteen.25 After he graduated from Cornell with a PhD, his father shared with him the only story he ever told about the Civil War. During the last year of fighting, he had served as a surgeon at a field hospital in Talladega, Alabama. Malaria was rampant. Thousands of mosquitoes from adjacent marshlands plagued the camp. Duggar ordered that all fires be built on the camp’s windward side and then be extinguished at dusk. That caused the smoke to blow over the camp, clearing the mosquitoes. That was a couple of decades before science confirmed that mosquitoes were malaria carriers. The lesson, his father told him, was that even as a doctor, it was sometimes important to go with your intuition. Duggar recalled that lesson at Lederle.
One day in 1945, while extracting molds from soil samples from a dormant hayfield on the University of Missouri campus, he noticed one was an unusual gold color. Duggar had isolated hundreds of what he called “ultra-molds” during his three years at Lederle.26 Somehow, he had a hunch this one was special. With SubbaRow overseeing his work, Duggar tested the mold he labeled A-377. To their elation, A-377 proved effective in halting the growth of both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, including the microbes responsible for bubonic plague, tuberculosis, typhus, and Rocky Mountain spotted fever.27 They had discovered the first broad-spectrum antibiotic since streptomycin.
Although SubbaRow and Duggar put it on a fast track, that did not translate into much speed given Lederle’s small staff and limited resources. It took three years of additional testing, until 1948, before Duggar was confident enough to publish a paper about his finding.28 There, he dubbed the antibiotic organism he discovered Streptomyces aureofaciens, the “gold maker.” Lederle executives liked that so much they gave the drug its brand name, Aureomycin (áureo is Latin for “gold”).
Before there could be certainty that Aureomycin was a wonder drug, Duggar had to produce enough of a purified version for human testing. SubbaRow and Duggar picked New York’s Louis Tompkins Wright to run clinical tests on the most important drug in the company’s history. A decade earlier Life had dubbed Wright the “most eminent Negro doctor in the U.S.… [the] surgical director of Harlem Hospital, [and] only colored Fellow of American College of Surgeons.”29 A lower-caste Indian rejected for tenure at Harvard had selected the son of a Confederate officer and doctor, and together they picked the most famous black doctor in America—the son of a slave who had himself become a physician—to conduct the clinical trials.
The fifty-seven-year-old Wright grew up in rural Georgia where his family set the example that nothing was impossible because of the color of his skin. Although both his grandfathers were white, his father was born a slave. When his father died not long after Louis’s birth, his mother met and married William Fletcher Penn, the first black graduate of Yale Medical School. Penn was one of only sixty-five black doctors in Georgia at the turn of the twentieth century.30 Doctors nationwide had to be members of the American Medical Association to practice at most hospitals, but the AMA left membership decisions to local chapters. Those in the Deep South refused to admit black doctors (the AMA did not change its national policy until 1950). The result was that many black doctors began operating rudimentary clinics to serve local patients, sometimes even running them from their homes.31
After graduating as the valedictorian at nearby Clark University, Wright took a train to Cambridge. He had sent his college transcript and a cover letter to the admissions department at Harvard Medical School. An interview with the Medical School dean was set. The dean mistakenly thought the Clark University on the transcript was the exclusive whites-only university in Worcester, Massachusetts. Upon meeting Wright and realizing his mistake he sent him to the chair of the chemistry department. That professor was a tough, no-nonsense academic who, the dean thought, would disabuse Wright of any thought he had of attending Harvard Medical. The chemistry chair tried to get rid of him by giving him an oral exam on the spot. Wright secured his admission, however, by correctly answering every question.32
During his second year, he could not do his obstetrics clerkship at the traditional Boston hospital for Harvard medical students but instead had to complete it with a black physician. “That is the way all the colored men get their obstetrics,” he was told.33 Instead of going along quietly, he protested and rallied the support of classmates. Harvard reversed itself. It was only one of many racial barriers he encountered. Despite graduating fourth in his 1915 class, he failed to get an internship at the city’s top hospitals.34 Wright did not want to intern at one of Boston’s black hospitals because he knew they had antiquated equipment and there was no opportunity to pursue clinical research, one of his passions.35 Ultimately, he had no choice. When no white hospital allowed him to complete his internship, he left Boston and started at Washington, D.C.’s, blacks-only Freedmen’s Hospital.36
Wright returned to Atlanta to work with his stepfather after his D.C. internship. Walter Penn had recently cofounded the Atlanta chapter of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People. Maybe the NAACP could help change things, he told Wright, who joined (for Wright it was the start of thirty-six years of storied activism with the NAACP).37 Frustrated, though, in Georgia, Wright joined the Army Medical Corps and was dispatched to France for the remainder of World War I.I38
After two years of frontline surgical experience, he left the Army and opened his own practice in Harlem. In New York Wright discovered that there were layers of segregation that were more subtle than the South’s, but no less ingrained and rigid. Jewish and black doctors had their own hospitals and were mostly barred from integrated ones.39 On January 1, 1920, Wright was the first African American to join the staff of Harlem Hospital. Although his job was the lowest possible for a physician—“clinical assistant in the Outpatient Department”—four white doctors resigned in protest. The person responsible for Wright’s appointment was demoted to the information booth at Bellevue Hospital.40
Determined to demonstrate how good he was, Wright excelled. And soon it seemed “he was the first” had become part of his name. He was the first African American police surgeon in New York (1928); first admitted to the American College of Surgeons (1934); first director of surgery at Harlem Hospital (1943); and first president of the Hospital Board (1948).41
Lederle Laboratory’s SubbaRow and Duggar probably cared little about Wright’s trailblazing when it came to race and medicine. They chose him to conduct Aureomycin’s clinical trials because they considered him eminently qualified. He had by then published nearly ninety papers in leading scientific journals, thirty-five of them about antibiotics.42 And Wright, who had just returned to work after a three-year leave of absence to recuperate from a severe bout of tuberculosis, was enthusiastic about doing the testing. He had long been interested in LGV, a sexually transmitted infection of the lymphatic system. Aureomycin was his chance to discover whether a drug could help patients with the painful, chronic condition. Over two months in the spring and early summer of 1948 Wright conducted the first human experiments. Lederle’s drug destroyed the chlamydia bacteria responsible for the disease. It was also effective on a nasty viral variant of pneumonia. Wright uncovered few side effects and certainly nothing toxic. His report to Lederle was that their drug was ready for public release.43
By the time Aureomycin was ready to go on sale in December 1948, Lederle’s chief of research, Yellapragada SubbaRow, was not alive to savor it. He had died the previous August of a heart attack at the age of fifty-three.II SubbaRow would have liked Lederle’s strong launch, advertising the drug as “the most versatile antibiotic yet discovered, with a wider range of activity than any other known remedy.”44 The company spent a record $2.4 million in promotion, including a first, 142,000 free samples to doctors nationwide.45 It took until September of the following year before the U.S. issued Aureomycin patent number 2,482,055. That was what every pharma competitor had been waiting for. Lederle had proven that it was possible to obtain a patented monopoly on a broad-spectrum antibiotic. Its competitors were determined that Aureomycin would not have the market to itself for very long.
As for the three men responsible for discovering and testing Aureomycin, the public recognition they received for the accomplishment was imbalanced at best. After SubbaRow’s death, Lederle named a library block on its campus for him, as well as a fungus (Subbaromyces splendens). The Indian government issued a commemorative stamp in 1995 on his birthday centennial. When Louis Wright was nominated in 1952 for a Distinguished Service Medal, he got only one vote from the National Medical Association. A few months later when he died unexpectedly at the age of sixty-one, his death went mostly unnoticed except in the African American press and some medical journals. The New York Times did not even run a stand-alone obituary, instead listing him with other deaths for that day.
In contrast, when Benjamin Duggar died in 1956, his passing was covered widely for his breakthrough drug discovery. This time the Times did a story in its national section, titled “Dr. Benjamin Duggar Dies at 84; Led in Discovery of Aureomycin; Conducted Antibiotic Research After Being Retired from a Teaching as Too Old.”46
I. Wright watched in frustration as the federal government established the Veterans’ Bureau in 1921 and opened a Veterans’ Hospital for blacks only in Tuskegee, Alabama (a decision protested by the KKK in large street demonstrations). It was impossible, Wright knew, that a single hospital could meet the medical needs of the 385,000 black soldiers, overwhelmingly from the South. Eleven years later, that Veterans’ hospital became one of three local clinics involved in the Public Health Service’s notorious “Tuskegee Study of Untreated Syphilis in the Negro Male.” It turned into a forty-year experiment on hundreds of black men about the ravaging effects of untreated syphilis. The men, many poor sharecroppers from Macon County, were never treated with any medications.
II. Few doctors then believed there was any connection between lifestyle and heart disease. If it had been a more prevalent theory, someone might have taken notice that SubbaRow had arrived in America as a practicing Hindu, a nonsmoking vegetarian. In the U.S., he adopted an American diet, high in saturated fat and lots of red meat. He had also become a heavy smoker.
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A ONE-ATOM DIFFERENCE
The 1948 launch of Aureomycin was the first in a rush of new antibiotics. Lederle’s rivals marveled at how a single drug produced huge profits. In its first year it captured more than a quarter of all American antibiotic sales. Aureomycin’s profit margin was an impressive 35 percent; that compared to a measly 3 percent on Lederle’s nonantibiotic drugs.1 Competitors were pushing as fast as possible the development of their own “wonder drugs.”
Many doctors and patients thought of the drugs as a frontline defense not simply for serious bacterial contagions but also for sinus, urinary tract, and dental infections, acne, even prophylactically at the first signs of a fever, earache, scratchy throat, or runny nose. One microbiologist estimated that overenthusiasm about the new drugs meant they were prescribed unnecessarily more than 90 percent of the time.2 The FDA did not seem overly bothered by the unrestrained dosing since there were few reported side effects.3 Accounts of itching, nausea, upset stomach, and hives were dismissed as the inevitable sensitivity of a few patients. A handful of reports identified far more serious consequences, including fungal and bacterial superinfections as the drugs also killed off the body’s good bacteria, antibiotic poisoning, and the beginning of drug resistance. That news was lost in the public’s enthusiasm for antibiotics.4 I
One reason for the FDA silence was that Walter Dunbar, the chemist who had become the FDA’s commissioner in 1944, did not want the agency to be perceived as a bureaucratic obstacle to the rapid deployment of lifesaving antibacterials. Even if Dunbar had wanted to sound a cautionary note about the overuse of antibiotics, the FDA had few tools at its disposal. It was short on staff and Congress had cut its budget to $5 million. On average, the FDA managed to thoroughly review only one in every dozen new drug applications.5 It was largely a bystander as the antibiotic gold rush became the most lucrative period in pharmaceutical history and upended the industry’s sales and marketing practices.
Parke-Davis, whose previous hits had been the hormone Adrenalin, the anticonvulsant Dilantin, and the antihistamine Benadryl, was the first to release an Aureomycin competitor. In 1949, it announced the sale of Chloromycetin, a broad-spectrum antibiotic it had tested in its labs for two years. Parke-Davis set its largest advertising budget and doubled its sales force for a drug that Collier’s praised “as the greatest antibiotic since penicillin.”6 In under a year, Parke-Davis bragged that with revenues of $138 million it had claimed the title of the world’s largest drug company. Forty percent of that came from Chloromycetin (Parke-Davis continued marketing it despite occasional reports it sometimes induced a rare blood disorder).7
The success of Lederle and Parke-Davis only whet the appetite of John McKeen, Pfizer’s hard-charging chairman. Born in Manhattan and raised in Brooklyn’s Flatbush neighborhood, the no-nonsense forty-eight-year-old McKeen had joined Pfizer in 1926. A former star college quarterback, he had come to the attention of management when he developed a paint that solved the company’s costly corrosion problem on its stainless-steel manufacturing equipment. Because he demonstrated a talent for cutting costs while increasing production yields, by 1937 he was in charge of quality control and plant construction.8 By the time he became president in 1949, he was anxious to remake the small Brooklyn chemical and mining company into a fully integrated pharmaceutical firm. Before the wartime penicillin project, Pfizer was best known as a manufacturer of citric acid. It never marketed any medication under its own name but instead the few it produced were for other drug firms. Without its own broad-spectrum antibiotic, the company derived most of its revenue as the largest manufacturer of penicillin and streptomycin, which it sold under the brand names of rivals.9 Both drugs were still popular, but their tumbling prices had put the company under tremendous pressure, cutting deeply into Pfizer’s profit margins. There was no further room for discounting.
McKeen was impatient for a new product and wanted what one industry analyst dubbed “a speed record among antibiotics.”10 He assembled a team of virologists, biochemists, bacteriologists, chemical engineers, pharmacologists, and microbiologists, challenging them to accomplish in a year what had taken fifteen with penicillin.11 Pfizer had been gathering and testing soil samples since 1945 at a state-of-the-art lab in Terre Haute, Indiana. There it had amassed more than 135,000 samples, some sent by foreign correspondents, pilots, even missionaries.12 A Pfizer chemist later recalled that they collected “soil samples from cemeteries; we had balloons up in the air [to] collect soil that was windborne; we got soil from the bottom of mine shafts… [even] the bottom of the ocean.”13 Despite more than 20 million tests, the lab’s microbiologists had not found a new and effective antibiotic culture.
By 1950, pharmaceuticals for the first time became the country’s most profitable industry.14 McKeen felt, however, as if Pfizer had missed the party. In a speech that March to the New York Society of Security Analysts, he was blunt: “If you want to lose your shirt in a hurry, start making penicillin and streptomycin.… From a profit point of view, the only realistic solution to this problem lies in the development of new and exclusive antibiotic specialties.”15 McKeen often referred to streptomycin as “distress-merchandise.”16
Pharma’s old guard, such as George Merck, did not believe that drug firms should put profits first. Merck thought it was possible to invest in research to produce drugs for the common good while also delivering the solid financial results demanded by investors. That philosophy was one of the reasons that Fortune cited Merck as the “most admired” company in America for a record seven consecutive years. In 1950, while McKeen was complaining about the poor returns on penicillin and streptomycin, Merck-associated scientists won the Nobel in Medicine for their synthesis of cortisone, the first of nearly two dozen subsequent Nobel awards.17
When George Merck addressed the graduating class of the Medical College of Virginia later that year, he set a high bar for the industry. “We try to remember that medicine is for the patient. We try never to forget that medicine is for the people. It is not for the profits. The profits follow, and if we have remembered that, they have never failed to appear. The better we have remembered it, the larger they have been.”18
Those who knew Merck did not doubt his sincerity. He often spoke privately about his company as if it were a quasi-public trust. Many at that graduation ceremony accepted what Merck said in good faith. That was evidence of how much goodwill the industry had at the start of the second half of the twentieth century.
Not everyone was enamored, however, with Merck’s “medicine is for the patient” philosophy. When McKeen heard it, he dismissed the words as a clever public relations ploy.19 Executives in the McKeen mold believed that no drug was worthwhile if it did not return a hefty profit. One obstacle, thought McKeen, was that almost all the industry’s scientists collected the same salary whether they made a Nobel Prize–winning discovery or found nothing in their testing. They very rarely got a bonus if a drug became a blockbuster, nor did they get their pay docked if something they invented failed in clinical tests. Their interests were pretty much the same as if they had worked for a university. McKeen believed that giving the researchers so much independence was a mistake. He wanted to empower the sales and marketing division with the authority to guide the scientists toward the medicines that might sell best. In McKeen’s judgment, good marketing could sell even a mediocre drug.
Everything at Pfizer seemed to hinge on a yellow gold-colored powder its scientists had extracted from soil taken not far from the company’s Terre Haute lab. It was labeled PA-76 (PA stands for Pfizer Antibiotic). Further testing demonstrated its effectiveness against more than a hundred Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria as well as even some fungi. The scientific tradition was that the discoverer named the drug. In the case of PA-76, McKeen took charge. From a list of several dozen names he chose Terramycin (Latin for “high land”). “I wanted a name connected with the earth,” he later said, “and one that could easily be recalled by doctors, scientists and people in general.”20
There was a small problem, however. Pfizer’s scientists reported that the chemical structure of its drug appeared identical to Lederle’s Aureomycin. It was as if each company had found and invented the same medication. Lederle had been a few steps ahead and had a patent on its drug. McKeen was not concerned whether they were the same. He needed someone to figure out how to make Terramycin different in a patent application. Differentiating the molecular structure of the two drugs had stymied Pfizer’s chemists. McKeen hired Robert Burns Woodward, the world’s best-known chemist. He had written hundreds of highly cited, peer-reviewed papers and earned every prestigious award except for a Nobel in his more than four decades at Harvard (he added a Nobel in Chemistry to his résumé in 1965).21
Woodward found Aureomycin was missing a single oxygen atom present in Terramycin.22 It was a trifling difference, even for a chemist. It did not affect, Woodward said, the way the drugs worked in patients. But it was all McKeen needed. The extra oxygen atom allowed Pfizer’s attorneys to file an application with the Patent Office.23
Pfizer pressed for expedited processing. In an affidavit included in its submission, McKeen noted that Pfizer had “spent large sums of money in the research and development” of Terramycin and said it “must decide in the near future” whether to “invest heavily” to manufacture and sell the drug.
He had made no effort to characterize his company’s antibiotic research as motivated by a desire to better serve public health. He instead made it clear that Pfizer was looking for a solid return on its investment.24 The Terramycin patent was issued in just seven months, a record. (The average drug patent at the time took three and a half years.)25
Pfizer had started clinical trials while the patent application had been pending. McKeen selected Gladys Hobby, a Columbia University microbiologist, to collate the results from over one hundred physicians nationwide. Hobby had led some of the early penicillin testing and she conducted her own trials on Terramycin that December at Harlem Hospital. It was the same place where Louis Wright had run the clinical trials the previous year for Aureomycin. By the time the patent was issued, Hobby had sent the stellar clinical results to McKeen.26
In preparation for Terramycin’s sale, Pfizer’s directors unanimously approved changes to the company’s bylaws so it could bypass traditional drug distribution companies and instead itself sell directly “to retailers, wholesalers, and hospitals.”27
FDA approval was the last hurdle before the eight newly hired “detail men” could start work in earnest.28 Some of Pfizer’s rivals had detail departments for more than a decade. The job entailed personal visits to doctors’ offices for promoting the company’s drugs. Good detail men boosted sales for a drug even though they did not take orders for them. All they did was persuade physicians—the indispensable middle person in the pharmaceutical-to-consumer model—to write prescriptions for the company’s brands.
In late February 1950, Pfizer submitted the drug to the FDA for approval. All eyes turned to Henry Welch, who had recently become the chief of the FDA’s powerful Division of Antibiotics. Welch—who had a doctorate in bacteriology from Western Reserve—had joined the FDA in 1938 after the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act had expanded the agency’s powers. During World War II he had overseen the division responsible for certifying the quality of penicillin manufactured by pharma companies.29 In 1950, he had cemented his status as a prominent figure in the emerging world of antibiotics as the editor of a new publication, The Journal of Antibiotics. His editorial board had five Nobel Prize winners in medicine, including Alexander Fleming, Selman Waksman, and Howard Florey. In his new role as chief of the Division of Antibiotics, Welch single-handedly wielded influence to fast-track or delay an antibiotic application. A postponement could complicate any firm’s well-planned drug launch, adding months to the rollout and costing millions in lost sales.
Welch recommended to the FDA commissioners that they accept Pfizer’s clinical studies at face value and on March 23, 1951, the FDA approved Terramycin.30 It was the first drug under the Pfizer label that the company had developed on its own, from discovery in the lab to sales to the public.31
Jack McKeen had his broad-spectrum antibiotic. But he knew that his company lacked the sales and marketing know-how to sell it. Some rivals thought that shortcoming would cause Pfizer to stumble. McKeen, however, had not invested so much time and money to let the drug fizzle. He turned for help to New York’s Madison Avenue. No traditional ad agency, however, wanted the pharma business because the marketing was restricted by what drug companies considered respectable ways to promote their products. “Respectable” translated into boring by Madison Avenue standards. The ads that ran in specialized medical journals were often reproductions of the drug’s packaging insert. The industry that had gotten its start with outrageous claims for dubious patent medicines, plastered in newspapers and on billboards across America, had morphed into the dullest business sector.
McKeen wanted someone capable of devising an unorthodox campaign that not only worked for Terramycin but could be the template for future Pfizer drugs. It took McKeen little time to settle on the right man, Arthur Sackler, an ad executive who was also a physician. Sackler was at the forefront of the embryonic medical advertising industry. There were only a handful of agencies staking out the fledgling market. McKeen had made a good choice. Sackler’s aggressive and brilliant marketing would not only make Terramycin a blockbuster. In the process, he would forever transform how the pharmaceutical industry sold its drugs.
I. No organized medical group existed to serve as a central repository for collecting and disseminating the risks and side effects as they were reported. The Infectious Diseases Society of America, the professional organization that is a critical resource for physicians and scientists, was not created until 1963.
8
A “JEWISH KID FROM BROOKLYN”
As a self-described “Jewish kid from Brooklyn,” Arthur Sackler did not advertise his Jewish roots in the WASP world of Madison Avenue.1 One of Sackler’s attorneys recalled how many times Sackler endured the ingrained anti-Semitism that was a hallmark of the 1950s New York ad business: “You would sit at meetings where they would tell Jewish jokes, anti-Jewish jokes, and you had to sit there and swallow it, and laugh along with the boys.”2 Sackler did not like it. He did not protest, however. Arthur instead decided his best revenge would be to beat his rival Mad Men, most of whom came from privileged families and boasted of Ivy League degrees, exclusive country club memberships, and listings in the society pages.
Arthur was born in Brooklyn in 1913 to Sophie and Isaac Sackler, Orthodox Jewish immigrants from Eastern Europe, who ran a small grocery store. They named him Abraham, after his grandfather (he later used that only on legal papers and opted instead for the less Jewish-sounding Arthur). When he was five, an influenza epidemic killed more than thirty thousand New Yorkers. The family’s Flatbush neighborhood was hard hit. It was then, he later said, that he first thought of becoming a doctor.
After Sackler tested well on an IQ test, he joined a small class for gifted students at Brooklyn’s Erasmus Hall High School. There were few Jews; and one of the teachers was overtly anti-Semitic.3 Sackler kept a quiet profile, outperforming others while dividing his free time visiting the Brooklyn Museum or taking the subway to Manhattan to study with noted sculptor Chaim Gross at the Lower East Side’s Educational Alliance Art School.4
After graduating from Erasmus, he enrolled in New York University’s College of Arts and Sciences, then situated on top of a hill in the Bronx.5 His major was English drama and at night he took classes on art history at tuition-free Cooper Union.6
His parents were hardworking. The savage downturn of the Great Depression, however, cost them their business and wiped out their savings, as it did for many of their neighbors and friends.7 They had two more sons by then, Mortimer and Raymond. Unless Arthur found a job with a decent wage, he could not afford his NYU tuition, much less indulge his art interests. Ever practical, he added premed courses to his curriculum. “Unfortunately, early in life,” he later recalled, “I realized my limitations.”8
Given his financial pressures, art could not long compete with medicine as a career choice. The widespread belief among many recently arrived immigrants was that unrestrained capitalism had led to the economic collapse. That kindled Sackler’s early attraction to left-wing politics.9 Socialism was dominant in New York’s Jewish neighborhoods. Sackler’s parents had been part of the enormous wave of two million Jews from the Russian and Austro-Hungarian empires that arrived in America during a four-decade span ending in 1920. Living in overcrowded tenements and working long hours at factories in unsafe and harsh conditions, New York Jews became the force behind trade unions. Integral to the message about workers’ rights were underlying socialist themes about developing a cooperative, classless society. Sackler’s parents subscribed to Forverts (Forward), a socialist daily that, with a quarter million readers, was also the world’s largest Yiddish newspaper. Many of their Brooklyn neighbors belonged to the United Hebrew Trades, an umbrella socialist organization designed to mobilize the Jewish workers who dominated the garment industry.10 Jews accounted for 40 percent of New York’s Socialist Party (not as shocking a figure as it might at first glance seem since Jews made up one third of the city’s population).11 The year before Arthur’s birth, the Socialist candidate for president, Eugene V. Debs, garnered nearly a million votes (6 percent of the popular vote). Sixty percent of New York’s Jewish voters voted for him.12
Arthur was one of a small group of committed Marxists at NYU. He had little opportunity, however, as an editor for the Journal of the Medical Students Association to indulge his politics. For protests over undergraduate rights, Sackler produced a “very crude strike bulletin.”13 He also handled demands and negotiations with the college administration on behalf of his striking fellow students.14 Mostly, however, to pay his bills he took a series of part-time jobs at Drake Business Schools, the Medical Bulletin of Bellevue Hospital, and even a few months at William Douglas McAdams, a four-person firm that specialized in the just emerging field of medical advertising. It sounded dull but germane to his studies. There Sackler learned he had a talent for writing ad copy.15
During his last year of medical school, he met Else Finnich Jorgensen, the daughter of a Danish family that had recently emigrated to America. After a short courtship he proposed. Sophie Sackler was crushed that her eldest son would marry a non-Jew. It was such a source of contention that Else converted to Judaism.16 Sackler was only twenty-four when he graduated in 1937 from the NYU School of Medicine with specialties in psychiatry and neuroendocrinology. He began a rotating internship at Lincoln Hospital in the South Bronx, run by New York City’s Department of Public Welfare.17
Arthur’s younger brothers, Mortimer and Raymond, decided to follow him into medicine. Just a couple of months after Arthur’s graduation, Mortimer got the bad news that he had failed to get one of the spots then allotted for Jews in New York’s medical schools. So Mortimer instead sailed steerage to the U.K.18 In Glasgow, the Jewish community helped him get admitted to the well-respected Anderson College of Medicine. Two years later the same happened to Raymond.19
During the spare time of his hospital internship, Arthur raised money to support Norman Bethune, a Canadian physician Sackler called his “moral exemplar.”20 Bethune was a committed communist who had volunteered as a battlefield surgeon for anti-fascist fighters in Spain before moving to China in 1938 to join the communist insurrection. Mao Zedong commissioned him to lead a mobile operating unit at the front. Arthur thought Bethune was a model for what a politically committed doctor might achieve.
By the time Arthur completed his residency in December 1939, however, Bethune was dead at forty-nine. He had cut himself during a battlefield operation and the resulting blood infection proved fatal. Years later everyone would know as much about Bethune as Sackler did; Chairman Mao made him a hero of the Communist Revolution by dedicating an essay to him.21 And Arthur, when he visited China much later to sponsor medical conferences, told his Chinese hosts that nothing would be a greater honor for him than to be “a present-day Bethune.”22
Bethune’s death put Sackler into a funk. His parents were distressed to learn he had skipped the state medical exam, the final requirement before he could practice as a physician. Instead, the twenty-seven-year-old learned about a job at Schering, the American subsidiary of the German pharma company. Schering hired Sackler as the deputy to the director of its four-person Medical Information Division, the company’s bare-bones ad department.23 One of his jobs while working through school had been selling ads for Drake Business Schools and the Medical Bulletin of Bellevue Hospital.24 He had told friends he thought many advertisers wasted their money since they did not know how to put a good sales pitch into a few columns of newsprint. The Schering post gave him a chance to prove he knew better. He tried jump-starting Schering’s stagnant product line by creating the first graphic ads in medical journals. Before long he was pestering management in vain for a larger budget for a direct mail campaign.
World War II had been under way a few months by the time Arthur began working at Schering. He was one of the few in the forty-person executive suite who was not a native-born German.25 Some recent arrivals, he learned, were German Jews, although none advertised that. Dr. Julius Weltzien, the CEO, was the son of a Christian schoolteacher father and a nonpracticing Jewish mother.26 By Nazi race laws he was Jewish. Weltzien was one of seven “Jewish” managers and senior executives the German parent had transferred to America in 1938. By the end of that year, Schering in Germany had purged all Jewish directors in order to get a Certificate in Good Standing as an Aryan Company (the Nazi Ministry of Economics complained the following year that the U.S. branch was merely a subterfuge that kept Jews in management).27
America did not prove much of a safe haven for men like Weltzien.28 Declassified FBI files obtained by the author reveal that the Bureau investigated German and Swiss pharmaceutical firms in America even before the U.S. formally entered the war after the attack on Pearl Harbor. It suspected that Schering, Hoffmann-La Roche, and Ciba Chemical were conduits for money to blacklisted countries. Schering, in particular, had obtained from several German conglomerates the exclusive patent rights for drugs the FBI considered “of great importance from the standpoint of national defense.”29 The U.S. military had concluded that its “adrenalin hormone which is used in the treatment of shock, especially shock resulting from severe burns and wounds, is of direct and immediate importance to our war efforts [and could]… have saved the lives of thousands of English soldiers after Dunkirk.”30
The FBI suspected that Schering sold those drugs through “Panamanian dummy corporations” and then funneled the profits to “a Swiss Holding company.” The FBI concluded the conspiracy had resulted in $2.5 million ($23 million in 2018) making its way to “Nazi controlled banks.”31 The British Ministry of Economic Warfare urged the U.S. to freeze Schering’s accounts. The British charged that the company bankrolled a network of Nazi agents in foreign countries and its trade with South America was a sophisticated scheme to circumvent the British blockade of Europe.32 As a result, the FBI pressured Weltzien and other executives, demanding they cooperate or be investigated for espionage.
FBI files reveal the Bureau had developed six confidential informants at Schering. One reported that during the previous year “a Jewish influence had been growing in the company… the management was Jewish.” That unidentified source reported that Weltzien “denies the fact that he is a Jew” although the informant “feels sure he is.”33 To another, Weltzien admitted his mother was Jewish but insisted he was not, and that he was first and foremost a German.34
Hiding a Jewish family background was not unusual in Hitler’s Germany. The Bureau had mistakenly thought that that fear would disappear for Germans who had recently emigrated to America. Yet they did not feel safe simply because they were several thousand miles away from Germany. They worried about the safety of relatives left behind. (Weltzien’s mother later killed herself instead of being deported to a concentration camp.)35
If Weltzien was Jewish, the FBI wondered if that made it less likely that the New Jersey subsidiary played a key role in an elaborate scheme to funnel money to the Third Reich. According to the Bureau’s chief informant, Weltzien and the other emigrant executives were “international Jews who would pour oil on both fires [Allied and Axis powers] if a profit was in sight.”36 Still, the FBI obtained information from Schering’s few American Jewish employees, including Sackler. Declassified FBI files reveal that Arthur secretly helped the government agents: “Dr. Sackler is considered to be completely reliable and was of considerable assistance to the investigation.”37
American socialists and communists were justifiably suspicious of the FBI; the Bureau treated membership in many left-wing organizations and political groups as proof of seditious intent. Sackler’s cooperation is strong evidence that his distaste for Hitler’s Third Reich trumped whatever apprehensions he had about helping the Bureau. (Arthur later told his family that he had volunteered to be drafted when the war broke out but had been rejected because of nearsightedness. The author was unable to verify whether he ever applied for military service.)38
During this period Arthur met Ludwig Wolfgang Fröhlich, a German who had emigrated to the U.S. in 1936 after a brief stopover in Bermuda.39 Fröhlich, who applied the following year for American citizenship, would play a critical role in Sackler’s life.40 The same age as Arthur, he worked at the American subsidiary of a German typesetting firm. He Americanized his name to Bill and dropped the umlaut. If someone later asked what the W stood for, he said William. Frohlich was formal and charming. Colleagues and friends took notice of his tailored suits and talked about his refined sense of style.41
The no-nonsense Sackler with his sharp Brooklyn accent and the suave, softly spoken Frohlich would seem to have little in common. They shared a love of fine art, however, and were hugely ambitious in an era where such an admission was considered gauche. They became close friends.42
In the social watering holes on Manhattan’s Upper East Side to which Frohlich gravitated, he focused on cultivating the right connections to gain entrée to New York’s old-money crowd. He never talked about his past and steered away from conversations about the tumultuous events wracking Europe and his native Germany. An aura of mystery allowed plenty of rumors about him. At first, many thought he was a Jew who had fled Hitler. But that seemed less likely the more they got to know him. The friends he sought were from influential WASP families, many listed in the Social Register.
If Frohlich was not Jewish, then the gossipers wondered if he might be a Nazi. That rumor reached the FBI. The Bureau conducted a brief but intensive background check and failed to uncover any link to the Third Reich.43
Arthur Sackler was one of the very few who knew Frohlich was Jewish. Arthur understood the reasons why his new friend wanted it a secret. A surprisingly small number of colleagues knew that Sackler was Jewish.44
Hiding one’s religion had not been easy in Nazi Germany. When applying in 1934 to Frankfurt’s Goethe University, for instance, Frohlich filled an admissions form for “non-Aryans.” On it, he noted that his family had lived in Germany since the fifteenth century and that his father fought for Germany in World War I. He also had to admit, however, that neither his parents nor grandparents were “of Aryan origin” (Nazis race laws considered anyone with one Jewish grandparent to be Jewish themselves).45 The answer was also no as to whether his family had “renounced their Jewish faith.”46
Frohlich had made a wide circle of well-placed friends before his younger sister, Ingrid, and their mother arrived in New York in 1938. His connections helped land the five-foot-eight Ingrid a coveted job as a couture model for Sophie Gimbel, the noted American designer who ran Saks Fifth Avenue’s fabled Salon Moderne custom dress shop. Sophie was the first female clothing designer to make the cover of Time.47 Only a wealthy clientele—including the Woolworths, du Ponts, Huttons, Dukes, and Loebs—could afford her steep prices, ranging from popular day dresses at $300 to $1,500 for hand-stitched evening gowns ($5,463 to $27,315 in 2019 dollars).48
Since working at Sophie’s put Ingrid in touch with a rarefied crowd, the Frohlichs decided it was important to their new lives in America not only to deny their Judaism but to go out of their way to do so.49 The author discovered that the last time either admitted to being Jewish was on their U.S. immigration papers, in which “German/Hebrew” is listed for both as nationality.50 Ingrid, in particular, was insistent she was not Jewish.51 “Christian” was her answer if asked about religion (later changed to “Lutheran” before finally becoming “Catholic”). A distant relative recalled years later that Ingrid often said, “Those Jewish people, I can’t stand them.”52
It worked. Ingrid became one of Sophie’s top models. She was the personal favorite of Wallis Simpson, the American divorcée for whom the King of England, Edward VIII, had abdicated his throne. British intelligence was so concerned about Edward and Simpson’s pro-German sympathies that the government exiled the couple to the Bahamas for five years. There, Edward served as the island’s governor. Simpson battled boredom with regular shopping sprees to the U.S. Her carefree lifestyle angered many in Britain who endured constant German bombs, rockets, blackouts, and strict food rationing.
Sometimes Ingrid flew to Miami to model some of Sophie’s designs for the duchess. During one trip she met her future husband, a wealthy Florida accountant, Thomas Burns. After they wed she became Kathleen Ingrid Burns and made an easy transition from the insular world of Sophie’s salon to social seasons in New York and Palm Beach.53 She joined the two most exclusive and prominent Palm Beach country clubs, the Bath and Tennis Club and Everglades Club, both of which enforced a “no Jews” admission policy.54 In Manhattan, she became a member of the Colony Club, an all-women’s club most famous for Eleanor Roosevelt’s resignation after it rejected the membership application of Elinor Morgenthau, the wife of FDR’s secretary of the treasury, Henry (the Morgenthaus were Jewish). The club was not apologetic about its exclusionary policy.55
Meanwhile, Ludwig joined Manhattan’s University Club, which also barred Jews (that policy ended in 1962).56 It was not long before he collected an eclectic and creative group of friends, including composer Aaron Copland and soprano Birgit Nilsson. When he later bought an East 63rd Street townhouse, he hosted parties that were coveted invites.57 And with Ingrid, he purchased a small retreat in East Hampton. There he became a member of the Devon Yacht Club and both joined the exclusive Maidstone Club.58
Judaism was not L. W. Frohlich’s only secret. Only a couple of his closest friends knew he was gay. For the rest of the world, he was one of New York’s most eligible bachelors, often in the company of beautiful women.59 “He will never settle down,” was the common refrain from the gossipy dowagers who saw him with different dates at social events.
Two years after meeting Sackler, Frohlich left his job at the typesetting firm to launch his own art studio. Sackler tried helping him in his new venture by sending a lot of Schering’s typesetting and graphics work.60 Sackler was not only enjoying his work inside the ad department, but his medical degree gave him a role in drafting booklets that Schering sent to doctors from its Medical Research Division.61
That work at Schering was short lived. Not long after the December 1941 attack at Pearl Harbor, newspapers reported the Roosevelt administration was preparing to select an Alien Property Custodian. That had last happened during World War I, when the federal government seized assets of all significant German-owned properties in America. Arthur Sackler recognized that the only way Schering might avoid that same fate was if an American owned it.
Arthur had become familiar with Schering’s strengths and weaknesses and was confident the right owner could turn it into a far more powerful pharmaceutical company than the one the government might seize. He arranged a meeting with Alfred Stern, the heir to a wealthy banking family, who had himself earned a small fortune in Chicago real estate. Stern’s first marriage had been to one of the daughters of Julius Rosenwald, the part owner of Sears and Roebuck and one of the country’s most progressive philanthropists. He had assumed control of the family’s charitable foundation after Rosenwald’s 1932 death. One of Stern’s first endeavors was to fund the Institute for Psychoanalysis in Chicago, dedicated to research about the causes and treatment of mental illness. That intrigued Sackler, who had decided that if he ever became a practicing physician, it would be as a psychiatrist.62
By the time Sackler reached out to him, Stern had divorced Rosenwald’s daughter and remarried. His new wife was Martha Dodd, the daughter of an American historian and diplomat. She had a secret. Soviet intelligence had recruited her as an agent while she was living with her father, the U.S. ambassador to Germany before World War II.63 Martha soon converted Stern into an enthusiastic backer of left-wing causes, including Modern Age Books, an experimental paperback publisher of radical literature.64 Stern had moved to New York, bought an East Side townhouse, and worked from an expansive office in Rockefeller Center. He became a director of New York’s Citizens Housing and Planning Council, a haven for many left-wing intellectuals and militants fighting under the broad banner of “tenants’ rights.”
Sackler liked Stern’s politics, activism, and his bank account. And Stern liked that someone who held only the number two spot in an underutilized part of Schering had the gumption to want to buy the company. But they could not act quickly enough. Beginning in January 1942, federal agents entered Schering and took physical control of its New Jersey headquarters.65 The Alien Property Custodian was formally appointed the following month and straightaway seized all German-owned corporate assets in the U.S. (It took ten years before Schering was sold at public auction for $29 million—$281 million in 2019 dollars—to the Plough family and renamed Schering-Plough).66
Frohlich sold his design studio in early 1943 and launched L. W. Frohlich Inc., a medical advertising agency, at a nine-story brick townhouse at 34 East 51st Street. Parke-Davis became his first client. Sackler had introduced Frohlich to a senior vice president there. He knew they both shared a passion for opera and had season tickets to the Metropolitan.67 Sackler correctly figured that would open the door to business.68
Arthur was uncharacteristically undecided about what to do next. It was an unplanned opportunity for him to spend more time with Else and their first child, Carol, born the previous August. He vacillated about taking the state medical exam. Although he had little desire to begin private practice, it would give an option of working one day with his brothers, Mortimer and Raymond. They were only several years away from getting their own MD degrees. While Arthur had worked at Schering toying with new marketing concepts, Mortimer had switched schools and finished his studies at Middlesex University School of Medicine in Waltham, Massachusetts (on land occupied now by Brandeis). Raymond, who had volunteered during the Battle of Britain serving as a plane spotter for the British Home Guard, followed his brother back to Middlesex. Their timing was auspicious. They got their degrees just before the school lost its accreditation, disqualifying some graduates from taking the state boards.69
On January 29, 1944, twenty-three-year-old Raymond married nineteen-year-old Beverly Feldman, a premed student at New York University. She was from a working-class Jewish family in the same Brooklyn neighborhood as the Sacklers.70 Raymond and Beverly shared Arthur’s hard-line leftist politics. A confidential informant had secretly taken photos of the 1944 membership list of the Communist Party of America (CPA) Kensington Club on Church Avenue in Brooklyn. Among the names were Raymond Sackler and Beverly Feldman, both of whom the FBI discovered were card-carrying party members. When the newlyweds moved temporarily to Boston that April so Raymond could finish his Middlesex studies, they transferred their membership to the party’s Boston chapter.71 On Raymond’s graduation that September, the couple returned to Brooklyn. Beverly began studies at NYU Medical School while Raymond started as an intern at Harlem Hospital. Again, they requested their party memberships be returned to the local New York chapter.72
The couple had joined the Communist Party during its peak in the years following the Great Depression and World War II. The party had only 6,000 members before the 1929 stock market crash. A decade later it was 66,000.73 In the 1930s and 1940s, half the members were Jewish, mostly Eastern European immigrant families like the Sacklers and Feldmans.74 According to A. B. Magil, a card-carrying member of the American Communist Party who later worked for Arthur, “a reliable source” told him that “all three Sacklers had been party members early on, but not for long.”75 I
Raymond and Beverly remained steadfast communists through a period that tested the faith of some party loyalists. Joseph Stalin’s show trials of the old Bolshevik party leaders began in the mid-1930s. It was the start of Stalin’s bloody and brutal “Great Purge.” Germany’s communists had helped the Nazis bring down the Weimar Republic. Stalin signed a nonaggression pact with Hitler and then joined the Nazis in conquering and dividing Poland in September 1939.
The file the FBI opened on Raymond and Beverly in 1944 remained active at least until 1968. The Bureau occasionally assigned agents to call or visit the Sacklers, always under some concocted story, to discover if their Communist Party affiliation made them security risks.76 The family always refused to discuss any political allegiances with the FBI.77
While Raymond and Mortimer were in their first-year residencies at Harlem Hospital in 1944, Arthur took a career detour. Frohlich told him there was an opening at William Douglas McAdams. Arthur had a part-time job there eight years earlier while working his way through New York University. William Douglas McAdams, a Chicago journalist, had started his agency in 1926 with consumer accounts that included Van Camp Beans and Mother’s Oats. He later convinced Squibb it could sell more of its cod liver oil if it advertised to doctors in medical journals. That campaign doubled Squibb’s cod liver oil sales in under a year.78 McAdams boasted to Sackler that his agency was the nation’s largest medical advertiser. He hired Arthur and gave him the impressive title of “medical and creative director.”79 It did not take Sackler very long to realize that being the country’s biggest medical ad firm was not much to boast about given that the market was tiny.
In addition to his new McAdams job, Arthur also started a part-time residency that same year at Creedmoor Psychiatric Hospital in Queens, a seven-thousand-bed state mental institution.80 The little free time he had vanished once he was promoted in record time to become vice president of McAdams.81
Mortimer and Raymond followed Arthur to Creedmoor. All three shared a belief that mental illness likely had biochemical roots that could be treated, or at least controlled, with medication.82 That concept countered the prevailing Freudian theory that mental disorders were the result of people’s experiences. The problem wasn’t Freud, Arthur wrote years later in an essay about the future of psychiatry, but rather that the search for “an organic foundation” of mental illness “was obscured, if not lost, in the brilliance of his psychodynamics.”83 There was little funding for research into organic causes or pharmaceutical treatments.
The Sacklers saw little hope in earlier and cruder treatments, including electroshock and lobotomies. Instead, they hoped at Creedmoor to establish a research institute, supported by state funding, that concentrated on nascent drug therapies, primarily hormones.
American psychiatry, which was in its heyday in the 1950s, accommodated their left-wing politics. The FBI had placed an undercover informant inside the American Communist Party during the 1940s. In congressional testimony and public interviews the following decade, the informant disclosed that the party had a secret “professional unit” composed of “psychiatrists, psychologists, medical doctors and social, health and welfare workers.”84 “A huge percentage of young psychiatrists in the 1930s and 1940s considered themselves to be Marxists,” history and psychology professor Ben Harris told the author.85
Arthur wanted to find work that would allow him to merge his medical knowledge and political zeal. During World War II, he got angry about the Red Cross’s policy of refusing all blood donations from blacks, and later accepting them but segregating both the collection and dispensing of white and black blood. Although the Army’s surgeon general realized there was no convincing medical reason for separating blood by race, he advised the assistant secretary of war that it was “psychologically important in America.” Labor unions, some activist black newspapers, militant left-wing newsletters, and the American Communist Party were at the forefront demanding change. The communists condemned the blood drive segregation as “Barbarian Hitlerism.” Sackler was outspoken, calling it ridiculous, and he might even have helped some students at Harlem’s P.S. 43 with posters they distributed protesting the Red Cross policy. (The Red Cross ended its blood segregation policy in 1949. Arkansas required it until 1969 and Louisiana until 1972.)86
Sackler’s activism brought him to the attention of the FBI in 1945. In a forty-nine-page memo sent to J. Edgar Hoover, the New York field office provided details about a February fundraising dinner at Times Square’s Hotel Astor for the Joint Anti-Fascist Refugee Committee (it was soon placed on the attorney general’s List of Subversive Organizations).87 The ostensible purpose was to honor playwright Lillian Hellman, and to kick off a $750,000 fundraising drive to fight Spanish fascists (Pablo Picasso was an honorary chairman). Poet Dorothy Parker introduced Hellman, who had just returned from the Soviet Union. Hellman was one of the first Americans allowed to visit the Red Army at the front, and she regaled the audience with stories of how Russians fought for Soviet-style communism. There were several dozen banquet tables, each with ten paying guests; all proceeds went to the money drive. The FBI obtained a list of attendees. Table 72 was “Arthur and Else Sackler and Bill Frohlich.”88 Three months later, the FBI noted the Sacklers attended another Refugee Committee fundraiser, this time a “Doctor’s Dinner” at the Hotel Commodore.89
The FBI understood that not everyone at left-wing fundraisers was a communist, much less a security threat. However, it also realized that while the American Communist Party had about 70,000 card-carrying members by 1945, there were many more supporters who were not formal members. When the Cold War got under way after World War II ended, the Bureau focused on Soviet espionage. At the top of the FBI’s suspect list were committed communists and those sympathetic to the Red cause.
In 1947, Arthur pushed politics into the background to concentrate on his career. He took the state medical exam and received his license to practice as Abraham Sackler. Mortimer got his medical license a few months later, and Raymond got his the following year.90 The author uncovered that just a couple of years before the trio got their professional licenses, they had incorporated Pharmaceutical Research Associates, their first joint business.91 It was one of the earliest companies dedicated to conducting safety trials for new drugs. As the requirements for drug approval tightened in the coming decades, it designed and managed trials and prepared and submitted regulatory filings. Pharmaceutical Research Associates also bore a feature that would be a Sackler trademark in many future ventures: their ownership was secret.92 Dr. Alfred Halpern, a Sackler family friend, was the only publicly listed name associated with the firm through the 1950s. Its address was 17 East 62nd Street, a five-story limestone townhouse that figured prominently in future Sackler ventures.93
It was not long after Arthur got his medical license that he told Mortie and Ray, as he called them, that he needed to reduce his Creedmoor workload.94 He and his wife, Else, had saved enough to buy a one third share of William Douglas McAdams. It was one of the few companies in which the Sacklers could not remain anonymous. It was a prescient move; just as the breakthrough with antibiotics was revolutionizing the drug business, it would soon foster a competitive market tailor-made for modern advertising.II95
I. The FBI file for Beverly Sackler, née Feldman, is thus far only declassified in part. The FBI informed the author that at least one file on Raymond Sackler, created by the New York Field Office (100-NY-75887) was destroyed by the Bureau on November 12, 1970. That was, according to the FBI, done as a “periodic destruction of records pursuant to a legal schedule.” The author consulted with an attorney specializing in the Freedom of Information Act. Pending the release of additional information now withheld by the FBI, it is not possible to verify if that purge of the New York field office file on Raymond Sackler was in accordance with the statutory requirements. The FBI identified to the author four additional, still-classified files, as potentially relevant to Raymond Sackler and/or Arthur Sackler. The author filed a public access records request for those files to the National Archives Special Access division. The Archives deemed that two, both from the Boston FBI—100-BS-15 and 100-BS-589—were “unresponsive to your request.” Although they were about Americans who were Communist Party members in the Boston area, they had “no mention of any of the Sacklers.” Two other files—100-HQ-340415 and 100-NY-75702—were responsive. They contain a total of approximately 350 pages about Arthur Sackler; the headquarters files (HQ) are an investigation into Arthur from March 1945 to July 1968, and the New York office file (NY) covers an FBI probe into him from November 1944 to July 1968. Although both files are in the Archives’ first-tier processing queue, the Archives estimates that it is unlikely that a review and release of information shall take place before April 2020. The author became aware of another FBI file focused solely on Arthur Sackler—100-NY-75887—not in the possession of the National Archives but likely still in the Bureau’s custody. A formal request for declassification of that file was made in April 2018 and it is pending with the Bureau’s Freedom of Information Office. Finally, University of New Hampshire professor Ben Harris provided the author a copy of eighty-nine pages released by the FBI in 1999 subject to his request about Arthur Sackler (FOIPA No. 442908).
II. The author discovered that one third remained with William McAdams, and one third was owned by Helen Haberman, the company’s executive vice president. By 1953, McAdams’s share was reduced to 10 percent and Arthur and Else had 46 percent with Haberman holding 44 percent.
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MEDICINE AVENUE
By 1950, McAdams was the most successful agency of the handful that focused on medical advertising, a specialty that a John Hopkins professor later dubbed Medicine Avenue.1 McAdams held that top spot for more than fifteen years until the big agencies played catch-up, after having mistakenly assumed the field would never take off.2 Sackler and Frohlich—whose agencies dominated early on—had a friendship that superseded any business rivalry.3 The duo, often joined by Arthur’s wife, Else, attended art auctions and spent weekends trolling through flea markets and small antique shops. One day, Arthur later recalled, “I came upon some Chinese ceramics and Ming furniture. My life has not been the same since.”4 Sackler’s awakening came at Transorient, a tiny Manhattan antique shop owned by a noted British art dealer, William Drummond.5 That chance visit sparked in Sackler what became a lifelong passion.
The same year he told his brothers he was pulling back from Creedmoor, he created a not-for-profit corporation in New York called the Arthur M. Sackler Foundation.6 It was the type of legal entity used by America’s wealthiest families to shelter their art holdings and to make bequests to museums and public trusts.7 I 8
It was far more, however, than their shared interest in fine art that tied Frohlich and Sackler. They pooled information about clients, cooperated on drug launch strategies, and divided the market between them when firms released virtually identical drugs.9 What no one then knew was that Arthur had secretly invested in Frohlich’s agency and had a controlling interest.10 When confronted years later, Sackler denied to The New York Times that he had any ownership stake in the Frohlich agency.11 “That’s because of conflicts of interest,” Michael Sonnenreich, later Arthur’s attorney and confidant, disclosed. “You couldn’t represent two firms with competing products, so Frohlich’s firm would handle a second product.”12 (Frohlich would later have his own secret ownership in a biweekly newspaper Sackler launched in 1960.)13
Although Arthur’s secret link with Frohlich’s agency gave him a step up on his other competitors, his rivals did not concern him. He was fully confident in his unorthodox vision for upending how pharma marketed its drugs. He pitched his novel ideas to one firm after another. No longer, he told them, should drug companies sell their products as if they were in a church and they could only whisper about it to the person in the adjoining pew. It was time, he contended, to develop sales departments capable of personally visiting thousands of doctors. Most physicians were so busy running their practices, he suggested, they did not have time to research which one of many drugs was the best to treat a patient’s condition. Sackler believed a drug company had to win the doctor’s loyalty for its entire product line. He brimmed with ideas. Promotions, drug conferences, advertisements in their favorite journals, exhibits at medical conventions, and saturating physicians with free samples. Although the FDA banned all direct drug advertising to the public, Arthur had a clever strategy for disguising product promotion as “news” covered in the consumer press.14 It was possible in America’s consumer culture to stoke a drug’s popularity by getting patients to ask for it by its brand name. It turned out to be an inspired idea, although as Frohlich noted, “no physician relished the prospect of hearing about new drugs from his patients.”15
Sackler had endless energy. His McAdams employees had no doubt he was a workaholic and perfectionist; one of his executives described him as “controversial, unsettling, [and] difficult.”16 Sackler was most demanding, however, on himself. Many who worked for him initially liked the highly charged atmosphere in which they competed to earn his approval.17 Over time, some burned out and left unhappy, not only about the long hours but also the withering criticism to which Sackler sometimes subjected employees.18
Sackler thought his workers needed “a thicker skin.”19 And he was so preoccupied with work that there was little time for his family. His relationship with his wife, Else, and his daughter, Carol, suffered. They were often asleep by the time he got home late from the office. When not working, he was scouring antique stores and auction houses. Else had stopped joining him on those expeditions; their five-year-old daughter had little patience for a full day of hunting for Chinese collectibles and Else did not like leaving her with a baby-sitter.
One night in February 1947, Arthur went to a costume party at a hospital in Far Rockway, Queens, where Mortimer and Raymond were completing internships. Early that evening, a curvaceous woman dressed as a cabaret singer transfixed him. Who is that? he asked Mortimer. It was Marietta Lutze, herself a doctor, and one of the heirs to Dr. Kade, a privately owned 120-year-old German pharmaceutical firm.20 Marietta had arrived in America only five months after the end of the war and began her medical internship at the same hospital as Sackler’s younger brothers.21
Arthur struck up a conversation. He learned she was twenty-nine, six years younger than he. She came from a liberal Protestant and Catholic family and got her medical degree at the University of Berlin during the war. Arthur knew that school was the one the Nazi propaganda machine had selected for the great spectacle of burning twenty thousand “degenerate” books. By the time Marietta began her studies in 1939, 250 Jewish professors and administrators had been expelled and replaced with Nazi Party members who promoted racial eugenics.22
Marietta’s first impressions of Sackler were his “professional air” and “his voice was very soft and persuasive, even comforting. I liked his blue eyes.… I don’t know what we talked about but, whatever it was, it was intense, I can say that.”23 He asked her for a date, never once mentioning he was married. She liked him but was so “overwhelmed” at work that she said no.
Shortly after meeting Marietta, Arthur found time that March to attend the three-day Scientific and Cultural Conference for World Peace in New York. The sponsoring organization was the National Council of the Arts, Sciences, and Professions, a Communist Party front group. Sackler’s connection to the event was Alfred Stern, the businessman he had tried to interest seven years earlier in buying Schering. The two had become friends. Arthur mixed at cocktail parties hosted by the Sterns at their sprawling Central Park West co-op and at intimate dinners at the couple’s waterfront summer home in Connecticut.24
Arthur had an endless list of business ventures to pitch. In 1948 he again approached Stern, this time to see if he might be interested in helping Arthur buy Purdue Frederick, a small patent medicine company on New York’s Lower East Side. Named after its nineteenth-century founders, Drs. John Purdue Gray and George Frederick Bingham, its annual revenues were only $20,000, less than Arthur had spent the previous year on Asian art.25 It offered only a few “ethical over-the-counter” products; its top seller was Gray’s Glycerine Tonic Compound, an alcohol-based “metabolic cerebral tonic.”26 Arthur thought an established drug company, even a tiny one like Purdue Frederick, could play a role in their future business projects. Stern was not convinced, and as he had when Sackler approached him about purchasing Schering during World War II, he passed.27
Less than a week after Stern turned him down, Arthur accepted an appointment as the deputy director of research at Creedmoor Psychiatric Center.28 It was only part-time, he assured Mortimer and Raymond, who had wondered how he could manage all his responsibilities. Arthur assured them it was not a problem. In January 1949, Sackler created the Medical & Pharmaceutical Information Bureau (MPIB), the first company specializing in placing articles in the nonmedical lay press. It was part of his strategy designed to hype new drugs, sometimes before they even had FDA approval.29 Sackler referred his McAdams drug clients to MPIB; most did not know he was its founder. Every week MPIB sent draft articles to editors and reporters with whom Sackler had developed good relationships. A Senate investigation would later find that MPIB planted stories in many publications, including The Saturday Evening Post and Reader’s Digest. They were ostensibly about “new developments in medicine.” Somewhere in each article, however, a “wonder drug” was invariably introduced. That generalized media coverage helped Sackler in creating public demand for a drug. Every time patients asked for “that marvelous drug I read about in the paper the other day” it buttressed the efforts of the pharmaceutical company’s detail men and ads. Wall Street traders soon realized that MPIB’s “news” sometimes provided an advance peek at a new blockbuster drug. A good MPIB article could cause a stock price to spike. (The same Senate probe later determined that Arthur Sackler traded stocks, including a large ownership position in Pfizer. Arthur sometimes made his buy and sell decisions on advance knowledge he had about what was in the MPIB publication pipeline. The SEC did not enforce “insider trading” cases against private individuals until 1965.)30
Marietta came back into Arthur’s life a few months after the birth of the Sacklers’ second daughter, Elizabeth Anne. When her hospital internship ended, she had asked Raymond and Mortimer if they knew where she might find the second internship she needed before she could take the exams for her American medical license. They suggested she talk to Arthur as he was then directing a large research project on schizophrenia at Creedmoor.31 After a brief stint at Queens General City Hospital, Marietta started working at Creedmoor with the Sacklers. Despite having discovered from his brothers that “he was married and had two children, [and] he’d had other relationships with women,” when Arthur again asked for a date, Marietta agreed.32
She was about to learn one of Arthur’s hardwired traits, a relentless focus on getting whatever he wanted. Daily flowers, gifts, surprise visits at all hours, “the intensity of the pursuit was overwhelming.” In a few months, she told him over dinner that “you’re the kind of man I could marry.” What followed were angst-ridden discussions in which they each acknowledged their passionate fling was destructive for Arthur’s wife and daughters. They decided to end their relationship. Their separation lasted only two weeks before the affair restarted.
In June 1949, Marietta returned to Germany to tend to her terminally ill grandmother. She had not felt well before her trip, battling fatigue and daily waves of nausea. “Even though I was a physician, I didn’t think to diagnose my own pregnancy.”33 When her grandmother died that July, Marietta was the sole heir to Dr. Kade, her family’s thriving pharmaceutical firm. It had emerged mostly unscathed from the devastation of World War II. Arthur sent her daily letters about how much he loved and missed her. In his note of June 30, he wrote: “When you come home, we will start a new life—it will be full of hope, joy and of passion.”34
On Marietta’s return to New York that fall, Arthur went to Mexico and got a fast divorce. Else retained custody of their daughters. To the surprise of many friends who expected Else to be furious with her husband’s betrayal, she remained a distant part of Arthur’s social circle. She was, as friends discovered, still attracted to his “maddening magnetism.” Else also knew that remaining on good terms was best for their daughters. Arthur loved her, not as a wife, but as someone he trusted. He let her retain her ownership stake in William Douglas McAdams.35
Arthur and Marietta married hastily that December. Sophie Sackler gave her new German daughter-in-law a cool reception. The Orthodox Jewish matriarch of the Sackler family was distressed not only because she saw Marietta as a homewrecker, but also because of her German heritage. How could she have been unaware of what the Nazis were doing to German Jews when she was studying for her medical degree in wartime Berlin? “It was best to protect myself as others did,” Marietta said, “much in the way the ‘wise monkeys’ hear no evil.”36 She tried to win over Sophie, but was not willing to convert to Judaism as had Else. Arthur was satisfied so long as his mother and new wife remained civil to each other, which they mostly did.
All the personal upheaval did not cause Arthur to lose any focus in his businesses. He had too many financial obligations to slow up. Just after they married, Marietta saw that he was under a “great financial burden.” Arthur was subsidizing his own medical research and ad agency, supporting his mother and mother-in-law, his ex-wife and two children, and even aiding his brothers and their families. Everyone looked to him for money.
“I compared him to the Atlas in front of Rockefeller Center who carries the world,” Marietta concluded. “To Arthur, that role may have felt natural.”37 What she did not realize then but soon saw was that Arthur envisioned himself as the sun in his own solar system; everyone else was merely “a planet… [who] could not step out of their separate non-intersecting orbits.”
On February 9, 1950, he rushed Marietta to New York Hospital for the birth of their first child. While she was in labor, he apologized to the delivering doctor because he was scheduled to make the dedication at the Creedmoor Institute. He left the hospital before the birth of his first son, Arthur Jr.38
Missing his son’s birth “marked the beginning of a pattern in our marriage,” Marietta later observed. It rankled her that “Arthur continued seeing his former wife (without consulting me) and he allowed her needs to take precedence over mine and the children.”39 Marietta soon discovered that, for Arthur, family was less important than his career. In the late summer of 1950, just after he turned thirty-seven, Arthur was appointed chairman of the First International Congress of Psychiatry. While many people would have found all the disparate obligations overwhelming, he thrived on an ever more demanding schedule. He sold his interest in his two-year-old medical article placement firm, MPIB. With that money he opened a small competitor to MPIB, Medimetrics. He even encouraged his friend and sometimes business partner, Bill Frohlich, to establish his own MPIB competitor (Science Information Bureau).40 This all happened while Arthur was preparing for the dedication of the Institute of Psychobiological Studies at Creedmoor.41 Although it was eighteen years after his friend Alfred Stern had funded Chicago’s Institute for Psychoanalysis, Arthur was proud that Creedmoor’s center was the first American facility devoted to biological psychiatry.42 The Sackler brothers saw it as an opportunity to further their research into possible connections between the endocrine system and mental illness.43 The trio, alone and with collaborators, would eventually publish more than 150 scientific papers about human behavior, pharmaceuticals, biological psychiatry, and experimental medicine.44 The Sacklers would be among the earliest to find a link between instances of psychosis and cortisone.
Complementing his work at Creedmoor, Arthur soon added to his responsibilities the editor-in-chief’s role at The Journal of Clinical and Experimental Psychopathology; its board of directors included some prominent international researchers as well as his brothers.45 Later he added the director’s role at the College of Pharmacy in Long Island University as well as becoming a professor of therapeutic research there.46
Most people with the demanding professional responsibilities Arthur had assumed would have had little opportunity or desire to indulge personal pursuits. Sackler not only found the spare time but delved into it with the same intensity with which he approached his businesses. What begun innocently enough as an interest in Chinese antiquities had become a self-admitted “passion.”47 “When some people are frustrated, they go out and buy a new hat, or tie,” he later said, “[so] my collections are in a sense the measure of my frustrations.”48 Marietta thought the compulsive collecting had less to do with his frustrations than with his overriding “necessity for prestige and recognition.”49 To his medical and advertising colleagues and fellow art collectors, Arthur Sackler was the epitome of a self-confident man who accomplished a great deal through discipline and organization. “A man of promethean intellect and energy,” was the judgment of Harvard art historian John Rosenfield.50
“His public side, of course, was charming,” noted Marietta. “A gifted intellectual, he could match anyone in debate. An engaging speaker and conversationalist, he moved people with his passion and intellectual power.”51
Marietta, however, was witness to another side, “the fine line between fascination and obsession.”52 She saw the restlessness caused by his deep “need to achieve… that his name not be forgotten by the world.” She was just beginning to understand how “his tremendous intellectual gifts were also his greatest demons, whipping him to produce ever more.”53
“At night, he’d come home from the office,” she recalled, “he would consume volumes on Chinese art and archaeology. I tried keeping up with him at first, but, soon, he outdistanced me. His speed of comprehension, his ability to integrate masses of material and his talent for turning all that knowledge into informed purchasing decisions were quite astonishing.”54 At an early moment of introspection, Arthur feared his collecting was “not always controllable.”55
The dealers knew he was a serious and compulsive collector. They often enticed him to buy pieces he could not afford by financing his costlier acquisitions. Some of those arrangements, Marietta recalled, “extended over many years.”56 It created new obligations that kept him running ever harder in his professional life. Meanwhile, boxes of “ritual bronzes and weapons, mirrors and ceramics, inscribed bones and archaic jades” filled their home and spilled over to storage warehouses. “There was too much to open, too much to appreciate; some objects known only by a packing list.”57
Arthur was in the early days of acquiring works of art that would become over time a stunning collection of Chinese and Asian antiquities, pre-Columbian and Iranian ceramics, Indian sculpture, Baroque terra-cottas, Postimpressionist paintings, Renaissance majolicas, and Piranesi drawings. A museum curator later dubbed him “a modern Medici.”58
“I contracted the disease,” he acknowledged later. “I was never able to develop an immunity to works of art.”59
“As his knowledge grew, he became more and more passionate about it,” said Marietta. “His fascination then turned in on itself and came to rule him.”60
Marietta was not just Arthur’s wife, she had become a psychiatrist after their marriage. She could not help but sometimes see him through her professional lens. “Addiction is a curse, be it drugs, women, or collecting.”61
I. Mortimer and Raymond were then working on the medical staff at Creedmoor Psychiatric Hospital. They also incorporated their own charitable foundations in the 1960s. Much later they created parallel foundations and trusts in the United Kingdom. As of 2019, the author located twelve Sackler-named charitable foundations active in New York alone.
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THE HARD SELL BLITZ
In 1951, the Sacklers published one of their most provocative theories, that schizophrenia might be identified by changes in blood as it clotted, and that ultrasonometry (the predecessor to ultrasound) could track physiological changes in schizophrenics.1 They proposed the controversial thesis that histamines might effectively treat schizophrenics. Marietta worked with them extensively on that paper, but she was disappointed not to be listed as one of the authors. It took several years before she shared credit with the brothers, an overview of “psychiatric research perspectives at the Creedmoor Institute.” It marked the one time four Sacklers were listed on a scientific publication.2
Marietta felt like an outsider to the family club. It was the same for Muriel Lazarus, Mortimer’s wife, who was a researcher in biochemical genetics as well as a practicing psychoanalyst.3 Another physician, however, who joined the brothers on scholarly collaborations, did become a trusted insider. Félix Martí-Ibáñez was a sociable and urbane Spanish psychiatrist. He and the Sackler brothers would go on to edit a remarkably ambitious book, The Great Physiodynamic Therapies in Psychiatry: An Historical Reappraisal. It was filled with contributions from some of the era’s leading researchers opining about treatments for mental illness, from electroshock to insulin shock to lobotomies. The Sacklers and Martí-Ibáñez predicted that the treatment of choice would soon be “narcobiotics” (their vision of some yet-to-be-invented hybrid of tranquilizers as readily dispensed as antibiotics).4 The four doctors considered themselves pioneers in the biological underpinnings of treating mental disorders. When they later discussed an ambitious book on “The Geography and the World Patterns of Schizophrenia and Other Mental Illnesses,” Martí-Ibáñez wrote a letter to the Sacklers concluding, “The research and sociologic value of this project would be portentous. This might be Nobel Prize stuff. What do you say, boys?”5
Just as Arthur Sackler was more than a mere psychiatrist, Martí-Ibáñez was a self-described anarchist, historian, novelist, and entrepreneur. His résumé impressed even the Sacklers. He grew up in Cartagena, Spain; his mother was a noted pianist, his father a scholar and prolific author of dozens of books about education.6 Martí-Ibáñez was a gifted student. He teased Arthur that he was only nineteen when he got his medical degree at the University of Madrid, five years faster than Sackler.7 In another year he earned his doctorate in philosophy with a thesis about the history of the physiology and psychology of Indian mystics. After graduation, he traveled throughout Spain, lecturing at schools and social halls. As word spread about his ever-changing topics—rotating between medicine, art, graphic design, mythology, and even urban planning—he attracted ever-larger audiences. At twenty-one he published a scandalous short essay about “homosexuality throughout the history of the West.”8 He then set off a firestorm by condemning both the “dogmatic moralists” of the Catholic Church and Spain’s growing fascist movement. Before long he championed other progressive and then unpopular campaigns, from the suffragist movement to proposing that a Marxist economy might be best for Spain. A government minister who attended one of his impassioned talks was so impressed that he named Martí-Ibáñez, then twenty-six, as the general director of public health and social service for Catalonia.9 Two years later he became Spain’s undersecretary of public health. By then, civil war wracked Spain. Neo-fascists led by General Francisco Franco battled the leftist government of the Second Republic. Martí-Ibáñez represented the Republic in the 1938 Universal Peace Congresses in Geneva, New York, and Mexico City. On returning to Spain he joined the air force’s medical corps.10 He suffered a shrapnel wound after only a few weeks and had barely recovered when the fascists captured Barcelona in January 1939. On Franco’s wanted list, Martí-Ibáñez fled with the last contingent of Loyalist troops to the French Pyrenees. Some friends there helped him escape to America.11
The sociable polymath reinvented himself in New York. Six months after arriving in the U.S., Swiss-based Hoffmann-La Roche hired him as a consultant. In his free time, he assumed editorial roles at half a dozen medical, psychological, and psychopathological journals, as well as presenting his own papers at scientific conferences.12 After three years he left La Roche to become the medical director responsible for Latin American sales for U.S.-based Winthrop-Stearns. The Journal of the American Medical Association offered him the editor-in-chief’s role for a proposed Spanish-language edition. He accepted instead an offer from Squibb for a post that put him in the middle of both drug development and marketing.13 It was in that role that Martí-Ibáñez met Arthur Sackler and Ludwig (Bill) Frohlich in the embryonic world of medical advertisement.14
It is little wonder that the man who later wrote in his autobiography, “There is only one way to defeat death—to live fast,” attracted the attention of Sackler and Frohlich.15 Martí-Ibáñez admired Sackler’s endless energy and willingness to take risks. In Sackler he had found a kindred soul for turning the medical status quo upside down. With Bill Frohlich, Martí-Ibáñez shared a genteel sophistication and love for arts and culture. At Frohlich’s East Side townhouse parties, Martí-Ibáñez regaled the guests with tales of his offbeat travels to Africa and Asia or his musings about everything from medical philosophy in the Renaissance or the Spain of Don Quixote to the lost science of alchemy. He even presented his unorthodox theory that stress might cause disease. He used Frohlich’s parties as an informal test market for his ideas. Those that provoked the best responses he turned into articles.16
Sackler wanted Martí-Ibáñez as a partner in his own ambitious plans to remake how the pharmaceutical world sold its products. The two spoke about it frequently but no early idea seemed quite right. When Martí-Ibáñez left Squibb, he opened a private psychiatric practice in Manhattan. He also became a regular lecturer at New York Medical College and Flower and Fifth Hospital.17 Arthur hired him as a special consultant at the McAdams agency, and later made him a director of a wholly owned subsidiary, McAdams International.18 In the spring of 1951, they formed MD Publications Inc., a shell company they agreed to keep inactive until the right opportunity arose. No one was aware that the Sacklers had put up most of the seed money and held a controlling stake. MD Publications shared office space with the McAdams agency.19 I 20
Neither Martí-Ibáñez nor Arthur Sackler hid their considerable ambition. That sparked strong reactions from people who either admired their naked drive or considered it crass and overbearing. A series of seemingly unconnected events would soon put the duo into medical publishing, a venture that made them rich and presented an opportunity to wield unseemly power with the FDA.
In the marketing pitches Arthur had made to middle management at pharma firms, many thought his ideas too risky and him overconfident. He was, they concluded, trying to turn drugs into another lucrative ad business, like the ones that flourished for cars, tobacco, and consumer goods. Sackler did not endear himself to those midlevel managers when he tried going over their heads to top executives.21
When Sackler met Thomas Winn, Pfizer’s sales director, he said that he would make Charles Pfizer a household name if the company gave him a big enough budget.22 That decision could only be made by the company’s CEO, John McKeen. It took another outsized personality like McKeen to embrace Sackler and trust him with something as critical as Pfizer’s rollout of its much anticipated broad-spectrum antibiotic, Terramycin. McKeen set aside $7.5 million—then a record—for ads and promotion. The company even agreed to install a specially built telephone switchboard to handle what Sackler promised would be a record volume of calls.
On March 15, 1951, Pfizer sent over eight hundred telegrams to every drug wholesaler in the country alerting them to imminent FDA approval. It offered a deep discount for early buyers.23 It was the start of what Business Week called “the Terramycin blitz.”24
The eight-man “details team” group McKeen had hired stood at pay phones across the country, waiting for a call from headquarters to begin visiting doctors. Over several weeks, crisscrossing the country, they pitched Terramycin to several thousand physicians. Pfizer drafted seventy third-year medical students to assist the detail men.25
Sackler knew no matter how hard they worked, the Pfizer field force was too small to reach every doctor. So he unleashed a blitzkrieg of direct mailers to clinicians and physicians, as well as pharmacists, including those at hospitals (about 85 percent of all hospitals had in-house pharmacies then).26 Physicians known as heavy prescribers received two to three direct mail pitches daily for nearly a year.27 Sackler employed a team of copywriters who worked on multiple campaigns, from letters to glossy brochures to Rolodex–ready file cards. One mailing was thousands of handwritten postcards that looked as if they were sent from exotic locations, such as India’s Taj Mahal, Egypt’s pyramids, and the Great Barrier Reef. Everyone had a brief story of how Terramycin was eradicating diseases in each country. Signed “Sincerely Pfizer,” those cards quickly became collectibles.28
Pfizer soon introduced its in-house magazine, Spectrum, and had reprinted it as an eight-page glossy color insert in the prestigious Journal of the American Medical Association. Before Sackler released his advertising onslaught, JAMA’s pages were virtually free of branded drugs and featured mostly medical supplies. In the early 1950s, even tobacco companies placed cigarette ads.29 Sackler saturated JAMA with his Pfizer campaign. Its ad pages jumped more than 500 percent over a couple of years, more ads than Life, and 75 percent of its antibiotic ads were for Terramycin.30 At rates of more than $1,000 a page, and thousands of pages annually, JAMA and other premier medical journals grew dependent over time to pharma’s promotion money. By the late 1960s, JAMA’s $15 million in ad revenues was 40 percent of the AMA’s income.31
Pfizer agreed with Sackler’s recommendation to concentrate the bulk of Terramycin’s print campaign in JAMA. To advertise in a handful of other leading journals might have seemed a commonsense strategy. It was, instead, as with much connected to Arthur Sackler, more complicated and calculating. Arthur knew that Congress’s legislative effort to curb false and misleading advertisements, the 1938 Wheeler Lea Act, bypassed the FDA by empowering the Federal Trade Commission with oversight of accuracy in drug ads. But there was a loophole: since doctors were judged capable of assessing the accuracy of drug promotion, ads in medical journals were free from oversight.32 Sackler had focused on the medium in which the government was powerless to constrain his copy. Ads that boasted that Terramycin was “one of the most complex structures to ever be found in nature” were Sackler’s way of making the drug appear to be far more innovative than it was.33 II 34
It was not long before Sackler was the first to experiment with radio ads. Some of his tactics became standard for the industry, including twenty-four-hour sales marathons and rich bonuses for sales reps. He helped persuade the American Medical Association that drug advertising would benefit if the companies had information about the prescribing habits of doctors. The AMA’s Business Division started sending rudimentary monthly reports measuring the impact of ads on a cross-section of five hundred physicians nationwide.
Pfizer’s McKeen told the New York Security Analysts Society that the company’s great success was the result of “using vigorous promotional techniques.”35 That was an understatement. One of Sackler’s Madison Avenue competitors, William Castagnoli, said it “is hard to quantify his influence on medical advertising, his impact was so great.… As head of McAdams, he took a chemical company new to the prescription drug market, Pfizer, and made it a force in the industry.”36 The Medical Advertising Hall of Fame later noted, “No single individual did more to shape the character of medical advertising.… His seminal contribution was bringing the full power of advertising and promotion to pharmaceutical marketing.… [His] campaign for Terramycin forever changed the industry’s marketing model.”37
Terramycin sales exceeded even McKeen’s lofty expectations. Pfizer bought a surplus submarine shipyard in Groton, Connecticut, and converted it into the world’s largest fermentation plant.38 It operated at capacity to produce Terramycin around the clock. In under a year, Pfizer’s detail team had ballooned from eight to three hundred (on its way to two thousand in five years).39 Those most sought after were college graduates with chemistry, biology, or pharmacology degrees.40 Still, they went through twelve months of training. They were taught that while technical knowledge was key, it was also important to cultivate a personal connection with the doctors they visited. Sales representatives asked for and remembered the details about families, outside hobbies, and favorite sports. Half of physicians surveyed later said that the best of them were more like a friend than a salesman.41 Each sales rep would be responsible for about three hundred doctors.42
McKeen made certain Pfizer’s researchers and attorneys were relentless in getting FDA approvals for Terramycin in other formats, from pills to powders to eye drops, while expanding the conditions for which it could be prescribed to nearly forty. Americans were spending $100 million on broad-spectrum antibiotics like Terramycin, more than on penicillin, sulfanilamides, vitamins, nostrums, hormones, and botanicals combined.43 Pfizer’s profit margin was 50 percent, Lederle and Parke-Davis 40 percent and 35 percent, respectively. To handle the booming international demand for Terramycin, Pfizer opened offices in thirteen countries (some European countries had import duties that were incentives for American firms to open foreign subsidiaries).44 Terramycin’s success meant Pfizer accounted for a quarter of worldwide antibiotic sales, making it the number one firm in revenues in the pharmaceutical industry.45
Pfizer’s aggressive marketing and sales tactics not only recast the company but transformed the industry. Traditionalists bitterly complained that Sackler’s “hard sell” was unseemly and disturbing.46 However, as competitors saw sales and profits set records for Pfizer, they did their best to copy the playbook. Rivals expanded sales departments and beefed-up marketing to doctors. Merck, playing catch-up, merged with Sharp & Dohme, a small firm well known for its experienced sales team.47
While Pfizer’s Terramycin was a marketing wonder, it also benefited from the elevated regard with which the public still held the industry. Expectations for the latest drugs were high. Besides antibiotics, there were new medications to treat glaucoma, arthritis, and schizophrenia; a second generation of tranquilizers; oral contraceptives; and even a first to reverse an opioid overdose. Research was under way on an antianxiety that would kick off a revolution for meds marketed as “emotional aspirin.” There was hope a polio vaccine might wipe out the disease made infamous in a country where most people had personal memories of how it had put Franklin Roosevelt into a wheelchair.
The public seemed unfazed when the first studies appeared indicating that lifestyle choices, not simply bacterial pathogens, might affect health and longevity. Smoking was tied to lung cancer for the first time in 1950 and later, when Pfizer released Terramycin, a report concluded diet might contribute to heart disease.48 Arthur Sackler was in a tiny minority; he was so against smoking that he did not allow it inside the McAdams offices.49 But most people, even many physicians, refused to believe that smoking and food could lead to chronic or fatal diseases. Even if true, however, the overriding faith in science and pharma was strong. Many shrugged it off; there would be a pill one day to take care of it, much as there was an antibiotic to treat infectious diseases.50
Pfizer and its rivals did not simply want to rely on a combination of public goodwill and a marketing blitz to keep antibiotic sales at record levels. They began a unified lobbying effort to get a major modification to the U.S Patent Law. The language they wanted would set a lower innovation threshold for granting a drug patent. It would give legal protection to antibiotics discovered through mass, routine screening of microbial soil samples.51 When Congress modified the statute the following year (1952), it opened the door to a larger number of drugs on an ever-quicker pipeline from the lab to the marketplace.
That was the same year a Pfizer biologist got permission for “Project Piglet,” in which he tested sub-therapeutic doses of antibiotics on pigs. The result? It accelerated their growth. Pfizer used those findings to market antibiotics to farmers who began using them in feed for cattle, pigs, and chickens.52 CEO John McKeen liked that sales for farm animals were consistent and did not depend as they did with humans on epidemics or outbreaks of disease. Pfizer created the first separate sales and marketing team for agricultural products and other pharmaceutical firms followed. In a few years, bulk sales of antibiotics for agricultural uses accounted for a quarter of all production.53 III 54 No one worried that daily exposures to antibiotics might kill only the weakest bacteria in animals and that the surviving organisms would become stronger and far more robust pathogens.55
The Terramycin launch was barely over when Arthur was again restless. It would be good, he thought, to have something on which he and his two brothers could work together. Arthur decided to buy the small New York drugmaker Purdue Frederick Company, the company he had pitched unsuccessfully in 1948 to his friend Alfred Stern. Not much had changed in four years. Purdue’s annual revenues were still anemic and its best-selling product remained its “cerebral tonic,” Gray’s Glycerine Tonic Compound.56 Operating out of a small office at 135 Christopher Street, the company was struggling to adapt to the rapid changes of the postwar pharmaceutical industry.57
Although Arthur had put up most of the money to buy Purdue Frederick in June 1952, the Sackler brothers agreed they owned it equally. None of their names, however, appeared on the New York State incorporation papers.
Mortimer asked what they would do with Purdue.
“We will sell what they have better than they did,” Arthur said. “And then we will find our own products as we go along.”
I. In a New York Times profile thirty years later, Arthur Sackler denied any ownership in MD Publications, claiming instead he had been a consultant and had started a “well-known medical news magazine” for the company. Martí-Ibáñez was dead by the time of that interview. However, a Senate investigative staff later uncovered evidence that Arthur Sackler had funded the MD Publications start-up through his McAdams ad agency. Also, documents from Arthur’s estate after his 1987 death confirmed that the Sackler brothers had indeed owned a majority interest in MD Publications.
The author discovered that the year before Arthur Sackler founded MD Publications, he had created the Angiology Research Foundation for the clinical testing of drugs for vascular diseases. The year after creating MD Publications, he incorporated the Inter America Medical Press and International Medical Press, both designed to help foreign drug companies promote their products in the U.S. The Sackler ownership interests remained secret.
II. When Pfizer released chlorpropamide in a few years, it targeted pre-diabetic patients who needed to stabilize their insulin levels. Sackler’s promotion claimed an “almost complete absence of unfavorable side effects.” In fact, Pfizer had commissioned a pre-release study that revealed “serious side effects” in 27 percent of test patients.
III. Research was even conducted for three years in New York on mentally deficient spastic children to determine whether low-dose antibiotics might boost childhood growth rates. It did, but pharma companies never sold their products to add quick bulk to children. In 1954, when penicillin discoverer Alexander Fleming visited the U.S., he was skeptical when he learned about that research. “I can’t predict that feeding penicillin to babies will do society much good. Making people larger might do more harm than good.” Although pharma did not market antibiotics to children for accelerated growth, children in the U.S. and Western Europe inadvertently ingested the drugs. Estimates are that through the 1950s, about 10 percent of every container of milk had penicillin residue from treated cows. At that time, farmers used the same penicillin developed for humans on cows.
11
A HAVEN FOR COMMUNISTS
In the middle of Arthur Sackler’s Terramycin campaign, Martí-Ibáñez had stumbled across what he thought was a terrific business opportunity. He had learned that the Washington Institute of Medicine, the publisher of the prestigious Journal of Antibiotics, was near bankruptcy. The FDA’s chief of the Division of Antibiotics, Henry Welch, was the journal’s editor. Because Welch only received a small honorarium, the FDA had given him its permission to act as editor in his spare time. They decided there was no conflict of interest since the amount of money was so small: $3,270 over three years.1
When Martí-Ibáñez called Arthur and told him about the Washington Institute’s money problems, Sackler offered to pay its debts. MD Publications, the company they formed the previous spring, would become the new owner and publisher. It was worth doing, both agreed, only if Welch agreed to stay on as editor.
Martí-Ibáñez spoke to Welch. To entice him to remain, he and Sackler devised a generous offer. Welch would get 7.5 percent of all advertising income for any journal he edited, and 50 percent of net income from any reprints sold to pharmaceutical companies.2
Welch was so enthusiastic with the new terms that he even assigned his rights to a book, Antibiotic Therapy, on which he had been working.3 Martí-Ibáñez and Welch agreed to introduce the first of a series of new journals; the initial one was a quarterly, Antibiotics and Chemotherapy. Sackler advanced $50,000 in start-up funding, enough to pay off the Washington Institute’s debts and for a few operating months ($484,000 in 2019). Welch did not disclose the new financial arrangements with his FDA superiors.4
As with MD Publications, Martí-Ibáñez acted as if he owned the resurrected Washington Institute. Soon after the bailout he executed a contract entitling the Washington Institute to a flat “consulting fee” of $3,500 every time it published an MD Publication–branded journal. In a couple of years there were ten journals, translating into a fixed annual fee of $420,000 ($4.4 million in 2019).
The author uncovered that the Sacklers had a secret controlling stake in MD Publications. As with most businesses connected to the brothers, it was complicated. Arthur had become the editor-in-chief in 1950 of one of four quarterly publications then owned by the Washington Institute, The Journal of Clinical and Experimental Psychopathology. After Sackler’s colleague, Joseph Borkin, became a part owner of the Washington Institute, responsibility for the psychiatric journal transferred to the Ophuijsen Center. That was the name of a research unit at Creedmoor Psychiatric Center, named after Johan van Ophuijsen, the Dutch director of the state hospital’s medical trials.
The address listed for the Ophuijsen Center, however, was not its correct one in Queens, but 15 East 62nd Street, New York. The telephone number was (212) 832-7900. That is where Arthur moved the William Douglas McAdams Agency in 1954; it had the same phone number. The address was also listed in the Manhattan phone book for Mortimer and Raymond.5 The author discovered that in later years 15 East 62nd Street, and that phone number, were used by a series of medical companies and charitable foundations controlled by the Sacklers.
Arthur stocked The Journal of Clinical and Experimental Psychopathology with his most trusted associates. Martí-Ibáñez was its international editor, and Mortimer and Raymond, along with the Washington Institute’s Joseph Borkin, were directors. A series of stock transfers and option assignments resulted in Martí-Ibáñez, Borkin, and his partner Dr. Henry Klaunberg each owning 10 percent. The owner of the remaining 70 percent is not identified in any recorded legal document. However, the accountants for the anonymous buyer were Brooklyn-born brother and sister Louis Goldburt and Mary Siegel. The duo, operating from an office at 1440 Broadway, did tax withholding, payroll forms, and general accounting for other Sackler companies.6 Louis was one of the three listed “owners” in New York State filings for Purdue Frederick. That covert 70 percent share returned a guaranteed minimum of $294,000 a year to the Sacklers, based only on the fixed reprint fees Martí-Ibáñez had created.
When the small Medicine Avenue partners speculated about what might be the next big development in the pharmaceutical industry, all agreed that it was certain to be tied to antibiotics. That market was in its early stages. Natural antibiotics and the first wave of broad-spectrum drugs had upended the industry.7
A problem they identified was that finding effective therapeutic organisms in millions of samples of soil or on decaying fruit was like playing the lottery. There had been, no doubt, major discoveries in some unexpected places. Cephalosporin was extracted from sewage waste, streptomycin located in a throat of a chicken, and fusidic acid, a topical antibiotic, found in Japanese monkey dung.8 A few companies might get lucky and develop a blockbuster antibiotic, but it was unpredictable. That uncertainty might be acceptable for academic and scientific researchers. But it frustrated those responsible for bottom-line profits.
Sackler and Martí-Ibáñez saw those business issues through the prism of their medical backgrounds. The dream solution, both thought, was to find a way to synthesize improved antibiotics. That ran counter to accepted scientific wisdom that natural antibiotics were the best available because they had evolved over thousands of years by surviving countless strains of bacterium. Drug researchers believed it was not possible to create a synthetic drug more potent than what Mother Nature provided. A few efforts at modification had only decreased the drugs’ benefits, producing weaker knock-offs of little value.9
Arthur Sackler knew that Pfizer was trying to change that. CEO John McKeen’s hard-driving attitude had given the lab researchers an opportunity to pursue some long-shot theories.10
Lloyd Conover was a twenty-eight-year-old organic chemist who had been at Pfizer for two years. One of Conover’s “scientific hunches” was that it was possible to modify natural antibiotics to enhance their therapeutic benefits. At Pfizer’s Brooklyn lab, Conover worked with only a single assistant. He did not share any progress with his colleagues. “I didn’t want an audience if we failed.”11
Conover focused on the chemical structure of Pfizer’s Terramycin and Lederle’s Aureomycin. He was intrigued by what would happen if he manipulated two misaligned atoms. His experiments paid off in 1952 when he swapped a chlorine atom with an oxygen one. The result was a drug that was virtually the chemical twin of both Terramycin and Aureomycin but had more stability and potency as well as superior solubility. Pfizer’s chemists named it tetracycline. Conover had invented the world’s first semisynthetic antibiotic (he was ultimately inducted into the National Inventors Hall of Fame, joining five hundred other iconic American inventors including Henry Ford, Thomas Edison, and the Wright brothers).
Martí-Ibáñez and the Sacklers had predicted that synthetic antibiotics would herald a new age. Now they planned on how to profit. Exploiting the prestige and power of Welch’s FDA position through their growing basket of journals gave them an unmatched advantage over competitors.
The Washington Institute, Welch’s previous publisher, had run into financial difficulties because it refused ads it considered potential conflicts of interest with any of its scholarly content. The appearance of impropriety did not worry Martí-Ibáñez, Arthur Sackler, and Bill Frohlich. Sackler and Frohlich packed The Journal of Antibiotics with pharmaceutical ads.12
Martí-Ibáñez and Welch established an annual antibiotics conference that brought together more than six hundred clinicians and scientists. Welch convinced the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare to permit the FDA to co-sponsor it.13 Pharma companies tried outdoing each other with lavish reception parties. President Eisenhower paid tribute to the event that “honored all those who, through their work in antibiotics, have made profound changes in the practice of medicine.”14 Welch and Martí-Ibáñez meanwhile skewed the papers selected for presentation to be those that favorably reviewed drugs from the biggest pharma firms, resulting in increased reprint sales. Sackler promoted those reprints as ideal for direct mail campaigns to physicians.15 Every year the symposium proceedings were packaged and sold as a book titled Antibiotics Annual. Martí-Ibáñez and Welch established MD Encyclopedia, which became a widely accepted reference source about diseases, drugs, medical tests, and surgical procedures.16
No one at the FDA seemed concerned that the chief of the all-important Division of Antibiotics was so deeply involved in a commercial enterprise about the same drugs he regulated. Welch’s superiors believed he was still only receiving a small honorarium. Martí-Ibáñez had assured him there was no way anyone could find out how much he earned from their private partnership.17
With Welch enmeshed as a partner in their publishing ventures, Sackler turned next to expanding Bill Frohlich’s role. All Sackler’s friends and business colleagues had heard him frequently complain that ad agencies such as his and Frohlich’s were operating in the dark ages. Arthur contended that what was missing was prescribing data from physicians, pharmacies, and hospitals. That would be invaluable for pharma firms to target more accurately their drug ads. Frohlich and Sackler had already taken the first step. In 1950, Frohlich incorporated Intercontinental Medical Information Service in New York.18 Now, based on renewed talks with Sackler, he was the owner on paper for two related companies and changed the name of the original business to International Marketing Services (IMS).19
In its early days, even though Frohlich promised that all patient data would be anonymized, most doctors resisted sharing information about which drugs they prescribed and for what ailments. Sackler suggested doctors and pharmacists might be more cooperative if Frohlich couched the requests under the guise that sharing information would help pharmaceutical companies develop better drugs. That helped. Still, however, IMS had to make small payments, between $25 and $150 monthly, to get the information it wanted.20
Although Frohlich was IMS’s legal founder and owner according to the incorporation filings, the Sacklers had a hidden stake. Sackler wanted distance from IMS so his rivals could not complain that the collected market data gave him an unfair advantage in winning business for his McAdams agency. Arthur talked to Frohlich about the appearance of impropriety and that prompted Frohlich to open a separate office for IMS. At the beginning, it had shared the McAdams office. Although IMS had been Arthur’s brainchild, he suggested it would be better if Mortimer and Raymond represented the Sackler family interest.21
Arthur’s two younger brothers had the free time because in May 1953 they had been dismissed from Creedmoor. The FBI had shared some of its information about Raymond and Beverly Sackler’s Communist Party membership.22 It was during the height of the decade-long Red Scare, in which a series of congressional investigations whipped up a public frenzy over fears of communist influence and infiltration of the government and American businesses. The New York State commissioner of mental hygiene had the authority to fire the brothers since they were salaried employees at a state institution. Arthur, who still consulted there, was indignant and resigned. Psychiatric researcher Donald Klein, who arrived after the Sacklers were gone, recalled Arthur “had been thrown out by the Creedmoor Director on entirely political grounds.”23 An anonymous FBI source inside William Douglas McAdams later gave the FBI background on the Sacklers; Mortimer and Raymond had problems because of their “alleged involvement in subversive activity” reported by the FBI.24
The Creedmoor Psychiatric Institute’s director, Johan van Ophuijsen, did not want it tarnished by news of the Sacklers’ left-wing politics. The story that made its way to print in The New York Times was that while working on a research project for the Atomic Energy Commission on skin reactions to burns, Mortimer and Raymond had refused to sign an Army loyalty oath that would have required them to report any subversive conversations they overheard at work.25 That was the public reason for their dismissal. The Bureau’s McAdams informant said that privately Arthur had defended his brothers by claiming “it was contrary to a tenet of the Jewish faith to inform on anyone.”26
Mortimer and Raymond wanted to devote all their efforts to building up Purdue Frederick. Arthur, however, convinced them there was much more than Purdue that needed their attention. Hiring the right professionals to run Purdue would give them freedom to take on other ventures. It would also allow them to stay in the background, something they all preferred.
Schneider recommended thirty-two-year-old Seymour Lubman, a pharmacist with corporate experience. He joined Purdue as a “sales administration assistant.” It took only eight months for him to become the company’s national sales manager.27 The first key hire was sixty-year-old Benjamin Schneider, a pharmacist and sales manager at Harrower Laboratory, a California-based drug company founded by a pioneering endocrinologist, Henry Harrower.28 Schneider was a Brooklyn native who grew up not far from the Sacklers. And Arthur admired the internal advertising department run by Harrower’s parent, Lambert. The company had made its Listerine mouthwash a blockbuster by marketing it for halitosis, the medical term for bad breath. Lambert was one of the largest buyers of newspaper and magazine space and had elevated Listerine from $115,000 in sales in 1930 to nearly $20 million by the mid-1950s.29 Schneider joined Purdue in June 1953 as an executive vice president, general manager, and board director.30 The Sacklers made Schneider Purdue’s president in under a year.31
The brothers were content to allow Schneider to be the company’s public face. When The New York Times later did a story about four Lower East Side women who had worked at Purdue for nearly sixty years, the paper called Schneider “a master pharmacist” who “three years ago… took over Purdue and Frederick.”32 The double-column article did not mention the Sacklers. When Purdue announced the creation of an award “to encourage the international exchange of medical ideas on a physician-to-physician basis,” Schneider was the only executive quoted in press coverage.33 When the company sold its twenty-six- by ninety-foot parcel of land at 135 Christopher Street a few years later, Schneider was the one listed on the transfer papers.34 I 35
At IMS, Frohlich’s medical data collection company, few knew that Mortimer and Raymond were helping or that Arthur had developed the business concept. A McAdams employee, David Dubow, who had also grown up in the same Brooklyn neighborhood as the Sacklers, left Arthur’s ad agency to become IMS’s president.36 (Some histories of IMS mistakenly list Dubow as its founder.)
Arthur, more than his friends and siblings, relished the complicated business arrangements. For every new idea he created another company. Sometimes he was the owner, other times it was in the name of one of his wives, brothers, friends, or a trust for one of his children. When The New York Times later announced, for instance, that Purdue Frederick had retained Pharmaceutical Advertising Associates for all its brands, it seemed as if the Sackler-owned drug firm had deliberately avoided retaining the McAdams agency.37 That was the simplest way of avoiding any potential conflict of interest between the products Purdue offered and those marketed by McAdams’s powerful clients. But as the author uncovered, Pharmaceutical Advertising Associates was another Sackler-controlled entity they had founded in 1947 (it was separate from a company they created in 1945 with a similar name, Pharmaceutical Research Associates).38
Marietta did not know all the details of Arthur’s corporate shell game, but she later wrote in her memoir that he was “entering into increasing numbers of business ventures that involved increasingly complex working arrangements with staff and associates. He’d come home exhausted from work. The slightest provocation would infuriate him.” She observed that the “non-stop days and late-night meetings” were “more and more time consuming.”39
The “complex working arrangements with staff and associates” that Marietta observed had attracted the attention of the FBI. Declassified documents obtained by the author through a Freedom of Information request reveal the Bureau investigated Sackler’s web of companies. It was concerned Arthur’s firms “may have become a haven for past or present members of the Communist Party.”40 Many left-wing journalists had been fired after they were subpoenaed before the House Un-American Activities Committee (HUAC) and refused to answer questions about their political affiliations by invoking their Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination.41 In a national frenzy started by Senator Joe McCarthy’s congressional witch hunt for communists in the government and media, mainstream newspaper and magazine correspondents found little support from their employers. The New York Times, the San Francisco Chronicle, and United Press International were among the media outlets that terminated reporters for refusing to answer whether they were or had been Communist Party members.42 Most of those sacked never again worked in journalism.43 The FBI had zeroed in on Arthur Sackler because he had subsequently hired many of them.
In 1956, FBI agents met at New York’s St. Regis Hotel with an unidentified informant who was a William Douglas McAdams employee. He warned the agents that Sackler himself had “pink sympathies.”44 The informant told them that in far-left political circles the word had spread that Sackler’s companies were a safe place to earn a living while trying to rebuild shattered careers.
There were limits to how many Sackler could help. Walter Bernstein, for instance, was a screenwriter who had been blacklisted in Hollywood in 1950 after he was named as one of 151 actors, writers, and on-air journalists in Red Channels: The Report of Communist Influence in Radio and Television, a booklet that purported to unmask the “communist domination of the entertainment industry.”45 In September 1952, Bernstein showed up at 11 East 26th Street in New York, the location for four Sackler companies.46 Bernstein met with Leo Davis, a film editor who got a job at Medigraphics after it was disclosed that he had signed the Communist Party petition for putting candidates on the New York ballot.47 Bernstein was low on money and needed a loan and steady work. Davis knew that Bernstein, a talented screenwriter, would be an ideal fit for the promotional and instructional films Medigraphics developed for Sackler’s pharmaceutical clients. The next month, Davis told Bernstein that Medigraphics wanted to hire him. The FBI needed to first clear him.
Bernstein looked startled. “What would they want that for?”
“Medigraphics makes medical films for the U.S. Government.”
Bernstein skipped the job.II
Bernstein was the exception; in most cases Sackler had no problem in hiring blacklisted journalists. The FBI informant told the Bureau that he suspected many of his McAdams coworkers had a Red connection. He pointed to a recent hire, David Gordon, a newspaper reporter. Gordon had been fired from New York’s Daily News the day after he appeared before the Senate Internal Security Subcommittee and refused to answer if he had run the communist “shop paper” when he worked at the Brooklyn Eagle.48
The FBI confirmed that Gordon, going then by the name Alex Gordon, was a copywriter at Sackler’s Medical Press.49 The Bureau quickly discovered that many of the activists and writers it listed as communist sympathizers or former party members had gone unnoticed since Sackler gave them non-byline jobs at his newsletters and promotional publications.50
The New York Times had dismissed Jack Shafer, a foreign desk copy editor, after he invoked the Fifth Amendment before Congress when asked if he was a communist. He took a job at Medical Tribune, Sackler’s biweekly free newspaper that went to 168,000 American doctors.51 Medical Tribune was also where Max Gordon, a former city editor of the New York Daily Worker, found a job. The same was true for Melvin Barnet, a Times copy editor who had testified he was not a communist after 1942 but took the Fifth for the period before that. Although Barnet had an English and classics degree from Harvard and his thesis about Shakespeare won honors, his journalism career was finished. After the Times let him go, he ended up picking oranges in Florida and editing vanity books to pay his bills. Then a friend told him that Arthur Sackler at William Douglas McAdams “had hired others who had lost their job during the McCarthy era.”52 III 53
The Bureau’s probe gathered some momentum when it learned Peter Rhodes, who it had investigated for possible espionage, worked as a McAdams copywriter and editor. Rhodes had been a UPI reporter who had covered World War II for the Office of War Information. He lost his job after a special investigating unit of the House Un-American Activities Committee revealed he had signed petitions for the Communist Party for state and local elections in 1940 and had also listed fake addresses on the forms. During the war, an FBI surveillance team had tracked Jacob Golos, a Ukrainian-born Bolshevik revolutionary and Soviet intelligence operative who was a founding member of the American Communist Party, to Rhodes’s Washington Heights apartment on West 173rd Street. Golos was in charge of recruiting foreign agents. Rhodes was never charged with espionage and after the war denied he was a Soviet asset.54 The agents who worked his case thought he was lying.
The FBI learned from their McAdams informant that Rhodes had recently traveled to Europe and not returned; it was believed he was working there for McAdams International, which Sackler had opened to handle the promotion needs of his foreign pharma clients. Moreover, the informant said that Rhodes was responsible for Sackler hiring Jack Ryan, the former executive vice president of the New York local of the American Newspaper Guild. Ryan had resigned after witnesses publicly identified him as a Communist Party member (he never flatly denied it).55 During his testimony before the House Un-American Activities Committee, when asked about work, Ryan said he was a self-employed horticulturist. At the time, he was on the payroll of Communications Associates, a McAdams subsidiary.56
The FBI informant warned the Bureau that he had become “increasingly suspicious this summer [1956] when Dr. Arthur Sackler, Fritz Silber, two partners—Dr. De Forrest Ely [sic] and Dr. Felix-Ibanez [sic]—and the company accountant, Louis Goldburt, all visited Europe at the same time, ostensibly for pleasure trips.” That was the first time Martí-Ibáñez’s name came up. The Bureau knew that American leftists respected Martí-Ibáñez because he had fought the fascists in the Spanish Civil War.
Martí-Ibáñez traveled often to Switzerland to visit Dr. Henry Sigerist, a pro-Soviet physician who had left America after the FBI declared him a security risk.57 Arthur Sackler, said the informant, “sees Rhodes while visiting there.”58 Some of Sackler’s recent new hires—Fritz Silber and Heinz Norden—were “close associates of Ryan and Rhodes.” That raised the specter of espionage. The memo sent to FBI headquarters noted: “The files of the NYO [New York Office] reflect that Dr. Arthur Sackler to have been an apparently close business contact of Alfred Kaufman Stern, a suspected Soviet agent.”59
The FBI thought it odd that some of Sackler’s companies shared the same address and telephone numbers.60 The top executives overlapped.61 The agents wondered whether the complexity was designed to hide the real owners and sources of funding.62
Relying on original incorporation, legal, and tax papers, the author cross-matched directors, attorneys, accountants, and shared office addresses and telephone numbers to unmask many of the previously secret Sackler enterprises. With some of their earliest ventures, the brothers were not hiding anything from the FBI but rather believed their odds for getting research grants were better if each company seemed independent when it applied to government and private foundations.
No Sackler was listed on the paperwork for the 1945 incorporation of Pharmaceutical Research Associates.IV63 It was formed to pursue drug research grants. Arthur Sackler did not appear as a director on a corporate filing until 1957, the Laboratories for Therapeutic Research. It also pursued private and public research grants.64
The Sacklers’s strategy worked. Time and again, both Pharmaceutical Research Associates and Laboratories for Therapeutic Research landed private and government funding without anyone realizing the Sacklers controlled both.
Even in instances in which the brothers used their names, they worked an angle. Arthur, for instance, was listed as the “Director of the von [sic] Ophuijsen Center [Creedmoor],” though he had not been formally with that research facility for years. Letterhead for the Ophuijsen Center discovered by the author listed its address as “130 East 50th Street, New York,” the same as the McAdams agency. On another occasion, the electrochemicals department of DuPont de Nemours Company awarded Arthur a generous grant for a clinical trial about amino acids and gastric secretions. For his twenty-one-subject study he was aided by Dr. Lawrence Sophian, listed as the Ophuijsen Center’s “Consultant Pathologist and Director of Research.” There was no such position, although Sophian was real and employed as one of two doctors at the McAdams agency. Dr. Sophian was also one of the directors on the incorporation papers for the Laboratories for Therapeutic Research.65
Landing research grants was only one reason for the corporate maze the brothers created. Another was disseminating pharma-friendly information disguised as unbiased research.66 Their new ventures mimicked the enormous success of Arthur’s Medical Tribune newsletter. Arthur admitted to being the chairman of the board for Medical Press Inc., and president of the Medical Radio and TV Institute and the Physicians News Service (both of which shared with McAdams and other businesses three floors at 130 East 59th Street).67 The author uncovered that Arthur, often with his brothers, had either a significant stake or full ownership in Brooklyn Medical Press (1942), Angiology Research Foundation (1950), Inter America Medical Press (1952), and International Medical Press (1952).68
Purdue Frederick, the patent drug company they bought in 1952, was at the center of most of their grand plans. Yet their Purdue ownership was not transparent, instead initially in the names of two of their lawyers and an accountant.69 The same was true for a 1955 New York corporation, Bard Pharmaceuticals.70 The trio opened their first foreign subsidiaries only three years after buying Purdue.71 Mundipharma Limited (Latin for “world medicine”) and Dagrapharm Limited (Urdu for “people’s drugs”) opened in August 1955 in London.72 Those U.K. companies were followed soon by Mundipharma AG in Basel, Switzerland.73 The author discovered that as was typical of their American operations, the two London companies shared the same address.74 As for the Swiss firm, its address would be the same for fifteen future Sackler-connected Mundipharma-branded companies that opened in Switzerland through 2019 (twelve of which are still active).75
Despite its suspicions, the FBI never got the chance to probe the Sacklers’ businesses. The Bureau was overwhelmed by a deluge of pending investigations about communist domestic infiltration and possible espionage. It had to do constant triage for prioritizing cases. Without any new evidence, the investigation into Arthur Sackler, his companies, and his employees, stalled. The case agents dutifully noted Arthur’s left-wing leanings and his assistance to Communist Party members. The file on him and his brothers remained open.76
I. The first time the Sacklers decided to be the public face of Purdue was in 1960. The brothers had convinced the AMA to join them in launching the “Purdue Frederick–American Medical Association Presidential Award.” It was for “contributions to science and the total welfare of the nation.” The first one went to Dr. Louis Orr, the AMA’s retiring president, and Mortimer Sackler presented it at the annual AMA convention.
II. Director Sidney Lumet helped Bernstein emerge from the blacklist three years later. Lumet hired him to write the screenplay in 1959 for the Sophia Loren film That Kind of Woman. He worked on The Magnificent Seven the following year but did not get credit. Then in 1964 he demonstrated his Red Scare past was truly behind him with the hit screenplay for Fail Safe.
III. The author discovered that when Sackler did not have an opening for one of the blacklisted journalists, he sometimes asked Bill Frohlich for help. William Marx “Bill” Mandel, a reporter who was most famous for his heated exchanges with Senator McCarthy during the House Un-American Activities Committee hearings, got a job at L. W. Frohlich after Sackler made a personal request. The same was true for Carol Greitzer, a feminist activist who later became president of the National Abortion Rights Action League and in 1969 got elected to New York City Council. Once elected, she reduced her work at L. W. Frohlich to three days a week. Mandel’s father, Hyman Robert Mandel, had served on New York’s Citizen’s Housing Council with Sackler’s friend Alfred Stern.
IV. Pharmaceutical Research Associates initially listed its address as the law office of Brooklyn-born brothers Myron and Martin Greene. Martin incorporated the Sacklers’ first charitable foundation in 1947. Both Greenes, and their office secretary, were listed as the sole shareholders for the February 1955 incorporation of Vard Pharmaceuticals (changed a month later to Bard Pharmaceuticals). Vard’s address was also the Greenes’ lower Broadway law office. After it became Bard, the address changed to 259 Broadway, the office of Louis Goldburt, Arthur Sackler’s accountant.
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THE PUPPET MASTER
What the FBI did not know was that no matter who was listed as the owners on corporate registrations, Arthur was always in control. He was a natural puppet master for his tight circle of family, friends, and business associates.1 It meant he gave far-flung advice on every aspect of their budding businesses. He encouraged Frohlich to create a string of new corporations with sometimes similar names, all of which might come in handy as they expanded.I2 Arthur convinced his brothers to add two successful products to the Purdue Frederick line, Cerumenex, a prescription earwax remover, and Senokot, a natural laxative. He also set goals for Mortimer and Raymond to continue clinical research into the organic causes of mental illness.
They occasionally bristled at his overbearing way. Help from Arthur was sometimes a euphemism for micromanagement. The wearying family dynamic was that after Arthur helped them—as he did by paying for their medical educations or funding Purdue Frederick—he made them feel as if they were bit players in his grand play.
In the meantime, everyone agreed Arthur had a knack for making money. He told Martí-Ibáñez and Frohlich that the 1955 launch of Pfizer’s tetracycline was not only an opportunity for a redux to his smashing success with Terramycin but a chance to test the synergy in their parallel businesses.3 II 4
Sackler and his McAdams agency pushed the limits of pharma advertising for tetracycline (Pfizer’s brand name was Tetracyn). Frohlich furtively fed him prescribing data collected by IMS. It helped target those doctors who were big prescribers and most likely to be early adopters of new drugs. It also revealed that physicians were receptive to new Pfizer products because of “the reputation and image [the company] has created with the physician for quality and service.”5
Martí-Ibáñez, who was so busy that he suffered from “headaches and insomnia,” helped interpret the IMS data as a sub-rosa consultant for a McAdams subdivision. He was also publishing scholarly articles in Medical Encyclopedia that hyped tetracycline. Some researchers who published in Martí-Ibáñez’s journals complained their work had been edited to include “repeated reference to Pfizer products” and it “gave the impression it was written for Pfizer rather than for physicians.”7
Sackler’s campaign, aided by Frohlich’s prescribing data and the coverage in Martí-Ibáñez’s journals, helped tetracycline sales far exceed Pfizer’s already high expectations. In just over two years it became the most prescribed broad-spectrum antibiotic in America.8
When Lederle realized that tetracycline was a single atom modification of its Aureomycin, it sued Pfizer and simultaneously filed its own patent for tetracycline under the brand name Achromycin.9 That encouraged other drug firms to reexamine their earlier lab research to determine whether their scientists had also isolated tetracycline but failed to recognize it as a stand-alone drug.10 In what one industry analyst described as “an amazing coincidental discovery of the same substance,” Bristol-Myers, Squibb, and Hayden Chemical filed lawsuits seeking to invalidate Pfizer’s patent.11 Each also filed for separate patents contending they were the rightful owners of their branded version of tetracycline.12
The firms prepared for a protracted legal battle. American Cyanamid, Lederle’s parent, bought Hayden’s patent for $600,000 more than its book value.13 Squibb and Upjohn, two that did not have a scientific claim to a tetracycline patent, agreed to pay Bristol’s litigation costs in return for a sizable discount on their bulk purchases of the drug should Bristol prevail.14
As the industry approached the $2 billion milestone in annual sales by mid-decade, the legal battle over who owned the right to tetracycline attracted the attention of Congress.15 III 16 The House Committee on Government Operations began a two-year probe into whether the FTC and FDA were doing enough to regulate the therapeutic claims made by pharma firms.17 New York congressman Victor Anfuso called on the Federal Trade Commission to “conduct a full-scale investigation” to determine if the companies were putting profits ahead of patients and also to determine if there was genuine price competition.
The FTC had good credentials for such an investigation. Earlier in the decade it had conducted highly praised probes into the oil and steel industries. In fact, four years earlier the FTC had opened a preliminary probe into pharma. It had been sparked by a Yale law school professor who noticed, when he had filled a prescription for antibiotics at his local pharmacy, that three brands of the identical drug were priced the same. That puzzled him since the drugs were made by different companies with different manufacturing and development costs. That professor was married to an industrial economist at the FTC. She opened an official inquiry after he told her what he saw.18 But the FTC did not give it the money and personnel to convert it into a serious probe. Anfuso and many of his fellow Democrats intended to change that. They authorized the budget the agency requested—$4.3 million—and by the end of 1955 the FTC had launched a vigorous new inquiry, in which it subpoenaed tens of thousands of company documents.19 Those provided a rare look at how pharma rivals divided markets and blocked new companies’ access to the market.
That FTC investigation was one of several public relations headwinds that pharma faced that year. It was proving difficult to maintain its postwar image of a selfless industry in which companies shared scientific research in pursuit of drugs that saved millions of lives. While there had been more laboratory breakthroughs—the antibiotic erythromycin (1952), synthetic cortisone (1954), the antipsychotics Thorazine (1954) and Serpasil (1955), and oral anti-diabetic medications Orinase and Diabinese—none matched the excitement penicillin had generated.20
Another problem was that the importance of some 1950s innovations would not be immediately evident. It took more than forty years, for instance, before biotechnology firms turned Judah Folkman’s research on the circulatory system into angiogenesis inhibitor therapies, drugs that prevent cancer tumors from using the body’s blood vessels to grow.21 At the University of Washington in 1953, an Italian physician, Rita Levi-Montalcini, isolated nerve growth factor (NGF) from cultures. Scientists at Stanford and Cornell used genetic engineering on NGF a quarter century later to develop drugs that treated cancer and eye conditions that led to blindness. It took until 1986 for Levi-Montalcini to get a Nobel for her discovery of NGF.22 The same happened with two Burroughs Wellcome biochemists who had little success in blocking enzymes to develop an effective leukemia drug in 1953. Thirty-five years later the pair won the Nobel for their research, which led to immune-suppressive drugs that made organ transplants a reality and provided treatment for a broad range of severe autoimmune disorders.23 And finally, a British researcher discovered interferon in 1957, but it took thirty years before gene-cloning technology allowed it to be converted into an effective drug against some cancers.24
Any laboratory advances were overshadowed in April 1955 when Cutter Laboratories, one of four pharma firms the government had selected to produce the polio vaccine, shipped vaccine lots contaminated with the live virus. More than forty thousand schoolchildren in five Western states fell ill, two hundred were permanently paralyzed, and ten died.25
Cutter—today best known for its insect repellants—had failed to follow Jonas Salk’s protocol for deactivating the virus with formaldehyde. A National Institutes of Health epidemiologist responsible for testing the vaccines had found live virus in Cutter’s version and warned the NIH director. He disregarded her findings.26 Wyeth—which had been acquired by American Home Products, whose successful products included the over-the-counter analgesic Anacin, the hemorrhoid cream Preparation H, Black Flag insecticide, and Chef Boyardee canned ravioli—also produced vaccine with traces of live virus, but only the Cutter lots made people sick.27IV
The fatal mistakes prompted the surgeon general’s call for stricter testing and safety protocols for vaccine production. The NIH’s division for regulating vaccines expanded in a year from 10 employees to 150.28 In Congress, for the first time, pharma became a target. Repeatedly in debates over what safeguards should be implemented to prevent a repeat disaster, regulators rebuked drug firms for worrying that stricter safety regulations would be too costly.29
Following the lead of the FTC, the House Subcommittee on Intergovernmental Relations began a wide-ranging investigation of the firms that produced vaccines. The probe targeted not only whether they had cut safety to save money but also if they had fixed vaccine prices. The industry was justifiably concerned about the reputational damage that would be an inevitable by-product of two major government inquiries.
More bad news came in December 1955 in a scandalous New York criminal trial.30 A jury found John G. Broady, an attorney and private investigator, guilty as the “prime mover” in a conspiracy that tapped the phones of prominent politicians and businessmen.31 A subplot in the front-page coverage of City Hall dirty tricks involved corporate espionage at the highest levels of the pharmaceutical business.
One of Broady’s clients was Robert Porter, Pfizer’s general counsel. Porter had paid Broady $60,000 ($572,000 in 2018) to spy on dozens of Pfizer executives as well as tap phones at Squibb and Bristol-Myers headquarters.32 Bristol seized on that testimony and tried to leverage it against Pfizer in the ongoing tetracycline litigation.33 Pfizer’s chief counsel denied under oath that he ordered any spying but Bristol threatened to sue claiming that Pfizer’s tetracycline patent was the result of confidential data illegally obtained by the wiretaps.
Pfizer’s CEO, John McKeen, held a summit with Bristol’s vice president, Frederick Schwartz (in another eighteen months, Schwartz would be the company’s first non-Bristol-family-member president). McKeen convinced Bristol to pause its legal action while the five companies fighting over the rights to tetracycline redoubled their efforts to reach a negotiated settlement. Several months of intensive talks resulted in a sweeping March 1956 agreement that ended the litigation before the Patent Office and federal courts. Lederle, Squibb, Bristol, and Upjohn acknowledged the validity of Pfizer’s patent. Pfizer and Lederle had secretly agreed that whichever of them prevailed on the patent claim, the other would withdraw its action in return for a favorable licensing agreement.34 Pfizer executed a series of complex cross-licensing, assignment, and distribution agreements that allowed those firms to sell their own brands of tetracycline; Lederle got better terms than the others.35 Industry analysts wondered whether the five rivals would soon be engaged in the same cutthroat price discounting that had decimated profits in the penicillin and streptomycin markets.36 Tetracycline would only fulfill its bottom-line promise if its price remained stable.
In the wake of the settlement, all five firms offered a standard pack of tetracycline (sixteen capsules of 250 milligrams each) at $5.10. That was the price set by Pfizer and Lederle. It did not seem to matter that all had different production costs.37 Upjohn and Squibb did not manufacture the raw material needed for the drug, instead buying it in bulk from Bristol, making manufacturing expenses for Upjohn and Squibb three times costlier than its competitors. Still, neither charged more for their tetracycline. No firm offered a discount.38 All submitted the same prices when making sealed bids for federal and state government contracts. Nor did the prices vary in thirteen other countries where they sold the drug.39 The five firms controlled the market and reaped hundreds of millions in earnings. That prices did not budge for the rest of the decade, concluded John Braithwaite, an Australian professor of business regulation and white-collar crime, was “either the result of price fixing or coincidence that defies belief.”40
Confirmation that something was not right on the unmovable tetracycline pricing was what happened with the industry’s second-biggest market, corticosteroids. Schering got a patent in 1955 on prednisone, which it claimed was several times more potent than previous patented versions of cortisone. Merck, Pfizer, Upjohn, and Parke-Davis filed for their own patents and contested the one granted to Schering. Just as had happened with tetracycline, the companies resolved the matter with a series of complex cross-licensing and royalty agreements. And the five supposed rivals kept their prices uniform at $17.90 per one hundred 5-milligram pills. It took a Mexican drug company, Syntex, to spark a price war by selling bulk prednisone at one fifth the price of the U.S. firms.41
There was no equivalent of Syntex for tetracycline. As a result, the gross profit margins for those firms topped 75 percent. Pfizer and Lederle between them boasted half of the broad-spectrum market.42 Lederle antibiotics profits offset losses in the rest of its poorly performing drug division. Pfizer’s revenues had increased 600 percent since the end of the war and tetracycline was responsible for more than 80 percent of its profits.43 The companies used some of those gigantic returns to begin the expansion that in the next decade would transform them into powerful multinational conglomerates.44
I. In addition to L. W. Frohlich, there was soon Intercon Inc., Intercon International Inc., Intercon International Marketing Co. Inc., Shelfco Trading Co., IMI Liquidating, and IMTD Corp., most with their offices listed at 34 East 51st Street, New York, the same as Frohlich’s advertising agency.
II. While Pfizer and Sackler prepared for the tetracycline release, pharma competitors joined forces to wage a campaign against the discretion of pharmacists to substitute a similar drug for a prescribed one. What good was a drug patent that protected a firm’s exclusive rights to sell it if pharmacists substituted a competitor’s version? The pharma industry’s intensive lobbying campaign succeeded in a few years to convince forty-four state legislatures to outlaw drug substitution by pharmacists.
III. When the industry sales passed $2 billion, prescription drugs accounted for all but $3 million. The pharmaceutical companies had destroyed any vestige of patent drugs. They had not yet begun concentrating on the over-the-counter market for medications that would in coming decades be a significant part of revenues and profits.
IV. Fears over the safety of Salk’s vaccine led to its replacement in 1963 with a live-virus vaccine developed by Dr. Albert Sabin. It had the benefit of oral administration, although it also was more dangerous since it occasionally produced polio in a small number of patients. Prior to its nationwide rollout in the U.S., human trials for that vaccine were given to about a million people in what was then the Belgian Congo.
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FAKE DOCTORS
By the mid-1950s, Arthur Sackler and his Medicine Avenue partners were looking beyond promoting competing brands of tetracycline. As part of their hunt they focused on so-called fixed-dose combination antibiotics. The theory had both strong proponents and skeptical critics. Its advocates believed that when antibiotics were combined with other drugs, the resulting medications might have fewer side effects and more potency than either drug on its own. Some experts, like infectious disease researcher Hobart Reimann, thought fixed combinations could be more revolutionary than penicillin (his proposed name was multimycetin).1 The naysayers believed the underlying science was flawed. The skeptics thought it was unlikely that any fixed combination would ever have better efficacy than the antibiotic on its own. Some voiced concerns that it was possible over time the combined drugs could become antagonistic to each other, resulting in serious long-term side effects.
It was not a new theory. In the late 1940s, a sulfa and penicillin mix had tested better in the lab at fighting some common infections. It never went on sale, however, since the sulfa component spiked adverse effects. Pharma researchers at half a dozen companies had tried hundreds of combinations since then and failed to get one from the lab to the marketplace.
Still, Medicine Avenue was enthusiastic. Martí-Ibáñez wrote to Sackler early in 1956, contending that fixed-dose combo antibiotics “are a defense against the current [downward] price trend in penicillin and streptomycin.”2 The reason for their confidence was that Pfizer was close to FDA approval of the industry’s first fixed-dose combination antibiotic, Sigmamycin. It was a mixture of two parts tetracycline and one part oleandomycin, a weak relative of erythromycin.
Martí-Ibáñez held his annual Symposium on Antibiotics in New York in June 1956. Henry Welch, chief of the FDA’s antibiotic division, gave the introductory remarks to the gathering of leading researchers, academicians, and clinicians.3 He surprised many by enthusiastically endorsing fixed-dose combinations.4 “It is quite possible that we are now in a third era of antibiotic therapy,” he said.5
After he returned to Washington, Welch assigned a team inside his division to gather data that buttressed his bold conclusion.
No one outside a handful of friends knew that Welch’s endorsement had been carefully orchestrated by Sackler on behalf of his client Pfizer. Arthur had convinced Martí-Ibáñez they would all benefit if Pfizer’s advertising staff, and a few of his best McAdams copywriters, edited Welch’s talk. Pfizer, Sackler said, would buy many reprints of a good speech since Sygmamycin was only months away from going on sale. Sackler himself coined the “third era of antibiotic therapy” to herald the drug’s arrival, and it became the tagline in Pfizer’s upcoming campaign (when it became a public scandal a few years later, a twenty-six-year-old medical student who paid his tuition by working as a copywriter in Pfizer’s tiny marketing department took the blame for “jazzing up” Welch’s address).6
Sackler delivered on his promise. Pfizer bought 238,000 reprints of Welch’s opening remarks.7 Medical Encyclopedia, launched by Martí-Ibáñez and Welch, was the publisher. The duo announced their paid-subscription Antibiotic Medicine would become a free-circulation journal. Its financing? “Who better than the pharmaceutical industry,” asked Martí-Ibáñez in disclosing it would be supported by drug ads.8 More than 160,000 copies of the first issue went to physicians and a select list of influential lay people.
Martí-Ibáñez and Welch also launched a new monthly, The Medical Newsmagazine MD. It was a glossy journal that promised the latest medical and pharmaceutical news.9 Mortimer Sackler was appointed an editorial board director. The McAdams agency sold the ads.10 Welch wrote to Sackler imploring him to give an “extra push” to all his pharma clients to make it a financial success.11
Welch’s public endorsement of the science behind fixed-dose combination antibiotics excited Pfizer. It was perfectly timed for its November rollout of Sigmamycin. In lab tests the drug was particularly effective against the deadly Streptococcus pneumoniae bacterium. Arthur Sackler utilized the same aggressive tactics that had been so successful with Terramycin and tetracycline. In a massive nationwide direct-to-doctors mailing campaign, Pfizer eschewed randomized clinical trials to boast about its drug, instead relying on personal experiences by physicians. “Every day… everywhere… more and more physicians find Sigmamycin the antibiotic therapy of choice,” was the headline on a flashy brochure that accompanied free samples.12
Pfizer ran a bold four-page ad in the November issue of Antibiotic Medicine. In an accompanying editorial, Welch praised the “stand out… synergism” of Sygmamycin’s component drugs.13 It was hard not to see his words as a product endorsement by the chief of the FDA’s Division of Antibiotics.
That editorial sparked criticism of Welch’s dual roles. Many scientists believed that no government watchdog agency should sponsor a private, for-profit symposium. Although the FDA would end its role in Martí-Ibáñez and Welch’s annual Antibiotics Symposium the following year, it did not rein in Welch. It accepted his assurances that he still received only a small honorarium.
Sackler let Frohlich and Martí-Ibáñez assume responsibility for Welch successfully fending off any inquiries from his FDA supervisors. Arthur was not as involved since he was under tremendous personal stress, something he did not share with his business partners. Just a couple of months earlier a Hollywood producer had stunned the House Un-American Activities Committee with testimony that Alfred Stern and his wife, Martha Dodd, were Soviet spies. The couple had fled to Prague by that time (they never returned to the U.S.).14 Sackler worried the FBI might pick up the trail of his friendship with Stern. He had reason to worry. The Ridgefield, Connecticut, summer house where Arthur sometimes visited them was where they also met with Soviet agents.15 The FBI would come calling, but not for another four years.
In the meantime, as he fretted about the consequences of his friendship with the fugitive couple, Arthur relied on what one colleague called his “unwavering discipline” to refocus on business. In 1955, Mortimer and Raymond bought rights to L-Glutavite, four trademarked “therapeutical preparations,” and eight product-related patents, from Boston’s Gray Pharmaceutical Company.16 L-Glutavite was a proprietary mixture that Gray touted as “optimal amounts of mono-sodium L-glutamate plus a therapeutic amount of the vasodilator niacin and co-enzymes and other essential elements.”
“Broken down into ordinary layman’s English,” wrote John Lear, the no-nonsense science editor for The Saturday Review, “this means simply the familiar meat flavoring (MSG) plus vitamin B.” With Arthur providing strategic advice, Mortimer and Raymond formed the Glutavite Corporation and approached the FDA about getting it approved as a drug.17 The FDA said no approval was necessary since glutamate, its main chemical, was harmless, and vitamin B was sold over the counter. The agency warned the Sacklers not to make any therapeutic claims on advertisments to the public.18
Arthur figured out how to circumvent that. Although L-Glutavite required no prescription, the McAdams agency ran a promotional campaign directed only to doctors. Some industry observers thought it a waste of time and money to advertise an over-the-counter product to physicians who could not write a prescription for it. “That is a big misconception,” says Richard Sperber, who later directed Schering-Plough’s ethical OTC products, which included nasal spray Afrin and cold remedy Coricidin. “You need to build demand based on word of mouth. We promoted our OTC line widely, even to clinics, pharmacists, and nursing associations. There is a placebo effect that takes place for many consumers when a medical professional tells them about a pill.”19
The first Sackler advertisements for L-Glutavite were illustrated with charcoal sketches of senile men and women. Arthur believed many physicians might be willing to dispense it for their patients who complained about conditions—a glum mood, faulty memory, or a general mental fogginess—that might not be serious enough for more powerful tranquilizers. The ads promised that a “rounded teaspoonful of powder in tomato or other vegetable juice” daily would “improve cerebral metabolism.” Saturday Review’s John Lear noted, “The spectacle of three psychiatrists, members of a profession looked to with almost awesome respect for guidance in mental illness, concertedly pushing a flavoring extract mixed with vitamins as a means of arresting the pitiable deterioration of aging minds, is a painful experience.”20
The American Medical Association’s journal refused to carry the L-Glutavite ads. That was not a problem for the Sacklers. They formed a separate company that appeared to be an independent marketing firm (Medical Promotion Production Inc.).21 It placed ads in Arthur’s Medical Tribune, distributed free to the nation’s doctors. L-Glutavite also featured in Arthur’s recently launched Medical News, a weekly newsletter to another 35,000 physicians who were teachers at medical schools, held staff positions at hospitals, or served in the military.22 Ads ultimately ran in fifteen medical journals to which the Sacklers had some business connection.23
L-Glutavite was a success from the moment the Sacklers began selling it. Inexpensive to manufacture and sold at a several hundred percent markup, it returned huge profits.
The Sacklers arranged for a clinical study of L-Glutavite at the Bedford, Massachusetts, Veterans Affairs Medical Center. Built in 1928 as a psychiatric asylum, Bedford had a large population of elderly patients diagnosed as schizophrenics. Mortimer and Raymond were friends with Dr. Louis Fincle, Bedford’s chief psychiatrist.24 The study involved several dozen patients averaging sixty-three years of age and twenty years of institutionalization. All were given a daily glass of tomato juice; L-Glutavite was mixed into half the drinks. No one, including Fincle, supposedly knew which patients got the spiked juice.
The results were dramatic. Fincle, joined by a Boston professor of psychology, Leo Reyna, reported “marked improvements” in 73 percent of the L-Glutavite patients. They had “improved behavior and outlook,” some stopped quarreling, and others for the first time in years started dressing and feeding themselves. The progress was so marked for some patients that they were discharged to regular nursing homes. The researchers concluded that for “poor risk elderly patients” L-Glutavite was “safe and free of detrimental side effects.”25
The Journal of Clinical and Experimental Psychopathology published the results in its March 1958 issue. A press release put it on the radar of newspapers and magazines across the nation: “Chemical in Juice Aids Mentally Ill” (New York Times), “Important New Drug for the Mentally Ill” (UPI), “A Boon to the Nation’s Overcrowded Mental Hospitals” (AP).26
No one was aware of the many underlying conflicts of interest. The Sacklers owned The Journal of Clinical and Experimental Psychopathology. Arthur was its editor-in-chief and Felix Martí-Ibáñez its international editor. Mortimer and Raymond were listed on its letterhead as two directors.
On March 21, 1958, the same month that the Sacklers’ psychiatric journal reported the results of the clinical trial, a stock listing was filed at the New York Stock Exchange. Application No. A-17508 listed seventy thousand additional shares of common stock of Chemway Corp., a home products manufacturer, for the purchase of Glutavite Corporation.27 When the shares were issued that day at Chemway’s market price of 75/8, the Sacklers pocketed half a million dollars for their one-product company.28 That was in addition to $1.5 million in sales over the three previous years.29 Chemway placed L-Glutavite under its drug division, Crookes-Barnes. A Senate investigating committee later determined that Crookes-Barnes had been a “company partially owned by Sacklers.” Chemway had bought it from Mortimer and Raymond Sackler in July 1955. Arthur Sackler was one of its directors.30
The clinical trial that showed such promise for L-Glutavite in treating or even reversing schizophrenia in elderly patients was the first of its kind and sealed the Chemway deal. That result, however, was never again duplicated. In recent years, researchers have concluded the opposite, that excess glutamate might be a trigger for schizophrenia.31 Why was the L-Glutavite study conducted for the Sacklers, and published in a journal they controlled, such an outlier? No one can be certain so many years later. The author learned, however, that John “Jack” Brennan, one of the country’s leading pharmacological experts, and the president of Gray Pharmaceutical at the time the Sacklers bought its products, had an opinion. He later told a colleague at Boston’s Kendall Company that “someone had cooked the numbers.”32
The inability to reproduce the success of the L-Glutavite trial did not concern the Sacklers. What mattered to the brothers was that L-Glutavite had returned over $2 million in under three years ($18.3 million in 2019).
Government regulatory agencies that might have taken notice were instead focused on investigating much larger companies and broader themes of competitiveness and pricing. While the Sacklers were orchestrating their Glutavite bonanza, the FTC was putting the finishing touches on a three-year investigation into the drug industry. Its highly critical 361-page “Economic Report on Antibiotics Manufacture” was released only a couple of months after the Sacklers sold Glutavite to Chemway.33 The FTC’s damning conclusion was that the years of uniform prices for all the tetracycline brands were not by chance but rather illegal collusion.
Bill Frohlich had boasted there was “a competitive zeal in the pharmaceutical industry which would have warmed Adam Smith’s heart.” That was put to the test the following month, when the FTC filed a sweeping antitrust complaint charging Pfizer, Lederle, Bristol-Myers, Squibb, and Upjohn with conspiracy to fix tetracycline prices and using their cross-licensing agreements to exclude others from entering the market.34 The FTC also accused Pfizer of fraudulently obtaining its patent monopoly by withholding critical information from the Patent Office. When its four competitors learned about that omission, instead of reporting it to regulators, the complaint contended they blackmailed Pfizer into partitioning the tetracycline market.35
On the heels of the FTC price-fixing charges, the Securities and Exchange Commission released a report that revealed the profits of pharmaceutical companies were, on average, more than double that of other manufacturing industries.36
Pharma firms deserved larger profit margins, argued Bill Frohlich, since drug sales had been flat through World War II before “increasing almost three times as much as the increase in the Gross National Product” during the 1950s. Half the biggest-selling medications were less than five years old, which according to Arthur Sackler meant that innovation drove profits.37 While Sackler, Frohlich, and many of their colleagues shrugged at the SEC report, the part about pharma’s immense profits was a lead story in the national press. It added to a growing perception that drug prices were too high.
Even a few prominent medical voices warned about the consequences of pharma’s fixation on profits. Max Finland, an esteemed Harvard researcher who had led penicillin research on treating pneumonia, cautioned that the companies had lost sense of their original mission. At some point, Finland suggested, they should refocus on finding cures and stop judging success only by sales.38 Finland correctly predicted that the failure to focus on what was best for the patient meant it was only a matter of time until pharma would cross a line that infuriated the public and result in more government regulation.39
Drug firms were on the defensive. The idea they were obsessed with profits was wrong, they countered. Finland’s call to put public service ahead of profits was misplaced since they had spent $600 million on research and development since the end of World War II. They had also collectively introduced four hundred new medications in just three years.40
Those proclamations seemed hollow in light of an article by John Lear in Saturday Review. “Taking the Miracle Out of the Miracle Drugs” was published the same month the SEC reported about the industry’s immense profits. Lear exposed that pharma firms were anything but noble. He presented a damning indictment of how “unduly enthusiastic and sometimes misleading… massive advertising pressure” had encouraged doctors to overprescribe antibiotics.41 That widespread overuse had turned some ordinary microbes pathogenic. Lear revealed that between 1954 and the autumn of 1958, there had been five hundred hospital epidemics of resistant strains of staph infections. The deadliest outbreak killed twenty-two patients in a Texas hospital. Many doctors Lear interviewed acknowledged antibiotic resistance was a national problem. Yet he was the first to cover it in a national publication because “medical authorities discouraged writers from disseminating the fact on the grounds that people who needed hospital care would be frightened away.”42
Lear was most critical of the advertisers and marketing companies who had encouraged overprescribing of antibiotics. He noted that while some drug companies were “traditionally cautious in advancing claims for their medicines,” the industry had been “jostled and jolted… by the Madison Avenue ‘hard sell’ ” which relied on “a great deal of money” and no “restraint in promotion.”43 The problem had been made worse since penicillin had not required a prescription during its first decade on the market.44
The marketing excesses, he charged, had reached a fever pitch with the introduction of fixed-dose antibiotics. Pfizer’s Sigmamycin had been on sale for three years by the time of Lear’s exposé. Rival companies had responded with their own brands, sixty-nine fixed-dose antibiotics.45 Lear contended that studies showed that not a single compound offered therapeutic advantage over the underlying antibiotic on its own, and that the combinations were “sometimes dangerous.”46
As for Sigmamycin, he was suspicious that all the clinical studies cited in the advertisements referred to reports published in Martí-Ibáñez’s medical journals and edited by the FDA’s Henry Welch. Arthur Sackler served as an advisor on those editorial boards.47
Lear met one evening with an unidentified “eminent research physician” at his laboratory. (Physician-historian Scott Podolsky believes the anonymous tipster was Harvard’s Max Finland, whom Podolsky calls “the de facto Strep Throat.”)48
“He pulled open several drawers that were full of drug samples and advertisements,” Lear recalled. “ ‘Just take a look at that stuff!’ he told me, and then went on to say that a good part of the advertising was misleading—in fact, that some of it was downright fraudulent.”
“Look, you’re walking around a big story. Why don’t you step into it?” the physician said to Lear.
“I might if I had enough information.”49
The physician pulled from the drawer a folder with a banner of bold type that said, “Every day, everywhere, more and more physicians find Sigmamycin the antibiotic therapy of choice.”
Lear said, “Below that were reproductions of what appeared to be the professional cards of eight doctors around the country, with addresses, telephone numbers, and office hours. The doctor said he had himself conducted some experiments with Sigmamycin, and at one point he had written to the eight doctors to ask the outcome of their use of the drug in clinical tests. As he told me this, he reached into one of the drawers and brought out eight envelopes, all stamped Return to Writer—Unclaimed. I asked him if I might report his experience, and he said that he couldn’t get involved in any kind of exposé. He pointed out, however, that there was nothing to prevent me from writing to the doctors myself.”50
When Lear wrote to them asking why they were enthusiastic about Sigmamycin, he encountered the same roadblock as his friend. The telephone numbers on the cards were false, the addresses made up. The “doctors” were fakes, none of them existed.51
Lear’s discovery put Sackler and Pfizer’s CEO, John McKeen, in an uncomfortable spotlight. McKeen visited Lear at the magazine’s office and claimed he belatedly understood how the ad might be misleading. Pfizer had taken steps to avoid doing it again, he assured Lear. As for Sackler, Arthur blamed the fake doctors on an overly enthusiastic copywriter.52 Lear interviewed Welch the following month and pressed him on whether his financial arrangements with Martí-Ibáñez was a conflict of interest given his role as the chief federal regulatory cop for antibiotics. Once again, as he did with his bosses at the FDA, Welch swore he only received a token honorarium for all his nongovernment work.53
The controversy kicked off by Lear’s article forced the FDA to act. Welch’s bosses decided that October that although he was an “outstanding scientist” who had “no conflict of interest,” it would be better if he resigned from his outside editorial roles.54 It was too little too late. Lear’s searing exposé about the fake doctors prompted the FTC to bring its first ever unfair practice complaint against a drug company (the FTC trial examiner found Pfizer guilty, but refused to issue any penalty since Pfizer promised not to do it again).55
More bad news came in December 1959. The FDA announced three over-the-counter earwax removal products were “voluntarily withdrawn from the market.” That decision had been forced by months of press accounts of patients who had developed alarming side effects. The recall included Cerumenex, the country’s top selling eardrop solution. It was one of Purdue Frederick’s most successful products. The Sacklers set about slightly reformulating the eardrops to get Cerumenex back on shelves (a “new and improved” version went on sale in a year and still topped the market).
The worst news for pharma that month was not, however, the recall of a few over-the-counter meds. It was instead that the entire industry had come into the crosshairs of the crusading and ambitious Tennessee senator Estes Kefauver. He wanted to find out if drug firms were more concerned with profits than in finding medications to cure illnesses. What followed was a watershed moment for the modern pharmaceutical industry.
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A “SACKLER EMPIRE”
A 1950 investigation into organized crime made Senator Estes Kefauver famous.1 Informally called the Kefauver Hearings, they had coincided with the introduction of television in the U.S. Networks were so new that they had little daytime programming. Providing live coverage of Kefauver’s probe was a last-minute decision. It was a big gamble for the young industry. The six-foot-three, 220-pound Kefauver, his face partially hidden by his oversized eyeglasses, did not look like the prototype of a television hero. His strong Southern drawl combined with a tendency to mumble often made him difficult to understand.2 Yet the daily soap opera about the Italian mafia, with a parade of colorful mobsters squirming and blustering before the subcommittee, became a national obsession. When Kefauver took his show to New York City for eight days of gripping testimony from top gangsters, Time noted it “will occupy a special place in history.… People had suddenly gone indoors into living rooms, taverns, and clubrooms, auditoriums and back-offices. There, in eerie half-light, looking at millions of small frosty screens, people sat as if charmed.… Dishes stood in sinks, babies went unfed, business sagged and department stores emptied while the hearings were on.… Never before had the attention of the nation been riveted so completely on a single matter.”3 Thirty million Americans tuned in to the hearings, about 90 percent of those with TVs. Kefauver became a public champion.4 I
Kefauver tried parlaying his fame into becoming president. He ran in 1952 and 1956, barely losing the Democratic nomination both times to Illinois governor Adlai Stevenson. In 1956, Kefauver ran as Stevenson’s vice president, but Eisenhower trounced them. The following year he was appointed the chairman of the Senate’s Antitrust and Monopoly Subcommittee. He used that platform to cultivate an appeal to “the little fellow” by launching high-profile investigations into the steel, auto, and bread industries (Time coined “In Kefauver we anti-trust” for his new role).5
Kefauver’s drug probe got under way in December 1959. From the start he made it clear he was bothered by an industry where only a few firms dominated sales and had unfettered discretion to set prices.6 Pharmaceuticals accounted for thirteen of the top fifty firms in America.7 He intended to find out, he said, if they abused the patent system to control the pricing and the market for a few incredibly profitable medications.
Kefauver had assembled a small but experienced investigative team, led by two FTC veterans. John Blair was an economist who had proven on large FTC probes his talent for navigating through voluminous company files to compile evidence of wrongdoing. The general counsel was Paul Rand Dixon, a decorated World War II Navy pilot (he would be appointed the head of the FTC before the hearings finished). Both realized their staff of six economists and attorneys would be hard pressed to keep up with the drug industry’s small army of publicists and lobbyists as well as teams of lawyers and seasoned expert witnesses.8 The pharma firms had some powerful allies, including the American Medical Association, many chambers of commerce, and the nation’s pharmaceutical associations. All feared that “politically inspired” hearings would result in more federal regulation, maybe even price controls. That had happened in Europe after World War II when many nations implemented national health care programs. Putting the governments into the role of buying drugs from the pharma industry led to the creation of panels of physicians and bureaucrats empowered to either get price concessions or block the sales of drugs judged too expensive. The United States, meanwhile, remained the only industrialized country that allowed pharmaceutical companies to set prices.9
The subcommittee’s focus was on competition and pricing in different drug categories: antibiotics, hormones, tranquilizers, and diabetic medications. Subpoenas were served on nineteen companies. They ordered the testimony of key executives and the production of tens of thousands of internal files, including patent licensing contracts and purchase and sales agreements.
The hearings got under way with a string of top executives who all resented testifying.10 Schering’s president, Francis Brown, was first. He had served as general counsel to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation before his appointment to run Schering after the government seized it as a German asset during World War II. When the Plough family later bought Schering at public auction in 1952 for $29 million—$281 million in 2019 dollars—and renamed it Schering-Plough, it kept Brown at the helm.
Visibly irritated by the sharp questioning, Brown accused the senators of trying to exercise “thought control” and scolded them for “misconstruing” information to generate “headlines.”11 Schering’s drug prices were “pretty reasonable,” he contended. John Blair challenged that, since the company’s brand of a hormone drug (prednisone) was marked up 1,118 percent of its production cost.12
Merck’s president, John Connor, arrived flanked by two Nobel Prize–winning scientists and lectured the committee that its investigation would “slow the forward march” for better drugs.13 Parke-Davis’s CEO Harry Loynd did not hide his disdain for the “ridiculous proceedings.”14 Loynd, a trained pharmacist, had worked as a detail man for twenty years at Parke-Davis before rising to the top spot. He believed that good sales trumped poor drugs. “If we put horse manure in a capsule, we could sell it to 95 percent of these doctors,” he once told his sales team.15
All the CEOs cited said their enormous research and development costs could only be recouped by the drug prices they charged. That excuse for the big markups would serve as the template for pharma’s deflection in all future price investigations.
Dr. Austin Smith, president of the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association, complained that the senators had made the drug industry a “whipping boy” so they might open “the back door… to socialized medicine.” Smith set a new low when he argued that the focus on pricing was misplaced: “All of us feel compassion for elderly people who find it difficult to pay for medication.… If the pharmaceutical industry is at fault here, it is because it has helped to create a pool of millions too old to work by prolonging their lives.”16 Even Smith’s allies shook their heads in disbelief when he told the subcommittee that the costs of drugs were lower than funeral costs.17
Kefauver thought such arrogance would spark a backlash against the pharma bosses. Not many Americans, however, were paying attention. The nuances of patent and antitrust law, licensing deals, royalty arrangements, drug chemistry, and testimony from well-coached economists proved far less interesting than the colorful and often profane mobsters from whom Kefauver earned his fame.18
This time, no television network broadcast the hearings live. John Blair, the investigative staff’s chief economist, noted that Kefauver himself “became increasingly concerned with getting to a wider audience” and that “a formidable problem” was that much of the investigation “had gone largely unreported by the press.”19 Kefauver was frustrated that not even a disclosure about Upjohn’s 10,000 percent profit margin on one of its drugs got much press.20 He could not understand why there was not more anger after Squibb’s former medical director Dr. A. Dale Console testified that “more than half” of the drugs on the market, or “on the drawing board,” were “useless.” The only reason they were sold was because “they promise sales.”21 The number of reporters covering the hearings had dwindled by the time it got to the intricacies of the patent battle over tetracycline.
Kefauver knew that a quirk of World War II labor policies meant his drug hearings faced a hurdle in captivating public interest. Most Americans had health insurance coverage through their employers and few were affected directly by rising drug prices. Before the war, there had been only two nonprofit insurers, Blue Cross, created by a group of Texas hospitals in 1929, and Blue Shield, founded by doctors in 1939 in California. They provided catastrophic care insurance designed to lessen the financial impact of a major illness or prolonged hospitalization. Fewer than 10 percent of Americans had signed up by the time the U.S. entered the war. In 1942, Franklin Roosevelt invoked extraordinary wartime powers to freeze all private enterprise “salaries and wages, as well as bonuses, additional compensation, gifts, commissions, and fees.”22 With so many workers suddenly in the military there was a severe labor shortage. Businesses had competed for workers by raising salaries and offering incentive bonuses. FDR’s order stopped that, but it had an exception. It allowed companies to grow “insurance and pension benefits… in a reasonable amount.”23
That might not have seemed a big deal until later that same year, the Revenue Act put into effect a punitive tax rate of 90 percent on “excess profits,” defined as anything greater than what the company had earned the year before the war. The Revenue Act’s silver lining was that it gave domestic companies a financial incentive to provide health insurance for their employees. The costs of such insurance became deductible to employers.24 An IRS ruling the following year exempted employees from paying taxes on the value of their employer-provided health insurance. The perfect alignment of the different events meant that by mid-1943, corporate America addressed its labor crunch by luring workers with generous health insurance benefits. The number of Americans covered by health insurance jumped from the prewar 10 percent to 30 percent a year after the war (1946). The arrival in 1951 of the first for-profit insurers, Aetna and Cigna, kicked off the next wave of public enrollments.25 By the time Kefauver started his hearings, 70 percent of all Americans had health insurance plans that also covered the most widely prescribed drugs, including antibiotics, tranquilizers, psychotropics, and sulfa meds.26
Kefauver’s instincts about what the public wanted to hear were normally impeccable. While he was determined to push forward on his drug industry probe, he also directed his investigative staff to double their efforts to dig up more than price markups and possible collusion. Proof of how wide a net they cast is in an extraordinary March 16, 1960, memo in which John Blair wrote to the subcommittee’s chief counsel, Paul Rand Dixon.27 The subject was “Sackler Brothers.”28
During the course of the drug investigation I have from time to time heard the rumors of the “Sackler Brothers” or “Sackler Empire.” At first I had been under the impression that this is something of a “fringe” operation, of passing interest because of its unique character but of little substantive importance. As I have gathered further information, however, I have been forced to modify this earlier impression.
The Sackler brothers, among others, are both of the medical journals formerly edited by Dr. Welch, head of the Antibiotics Division of the F.D.A. Any outfit which has been able to establish such close ties with the most powerful man in government with respect to antibiotics is hardly a fringe operation. However, the clandestine manner in which they carry on their multitudinous activities also suggests there may be more here than meets the eye. Finally, the very number of organizations in every facet of the drug industry which are under their ownership, control or influence, is such that they must be regarded as constituting a relatively large-scale operation.
Blair identified Dr. Marietta Lutze, Arthur’s second wife, as the group’s “fourth member.” Over two months the investigative staff drew the startling conclusion that “The Sackler empire is a completely integrated operation,” including creating “new drugs in its drug development enterprise”; insuring that “various hospitals with which they have connections” do the clinical testing and produce “favorable reports”; “conceive the advertising approach and prepare the actual advertising copy”; make certain the ad campaign is “published in their own medical journals”; and to “prepare and plant articles in newspapers and magazines through their public relations organizations.”29
Attached to the memo was a list of twenty companies his investigators believed “the Sackler brothers own or control” through proxies. That was no easy task, Blair acknowledged, “since the whole operation is cloaked in secrecy.”30 One of the earliest ventures, Pharmaceutical Research Center, was “a known ‘cover’ for Sacklers.”31 The web of interconnected firms with hidden interests and financiers, warned Blair, had become proficient at making money from many different parts of the pharmaceutical trade. Some Sackler-controlled companies tested, promoted, and sold new drugs; others cashed in on government grants from the National Institutes of Health; and a diverse group had carved out a lucrative niche with medical publications.32 (The NIH funding for private industry drug and medical research reached $100 million annually in 1956 and would more than double to $250 million by the end of the decade.)33 II 34
As comprehensive as the list was—they had found Sackler’s ownership stakes in the journals edited by the FDA’s Henry Welch—they also missed some key connections. Sackler’s equity in Bill Frohlich’s ad firm and his IMS medical data collection company remained a well-guarded secret. And the investigators did not find any of the huge private company grants the Sacklers had obtained using outdated Creedmoor credentials.
Blair identified people who could help build a case against the Sacklers. They included the FDA’s Welch; an unidentified New York college professor who doubled as a clinical writer at Pfizer; a “disenchanted” former McAdams executive; an investor known only by the last name “Collier” who had been cut out of his rightful share on an antibiotic; and a “well-known and respected” Mexican doctor who was furious that the Sacklers had used their influence to force the cancellation of his competing antibiotic symposium in Mexico. Blair also noted “that the Sackler brothers, perhaps through some dummy, are said to be large owners of the stock of Pfizer as well as other leading companies.”35
A week later, Blair zeroed in on how Sackler and Martí-Ibáñez might have compromised the FDA’s Division of Antibiotics.36 Henry Welch had a heart attack shortly after the subcommittee asked for copies of the last decade of his tax returns. The reason for his fright became evident once the investigators got the records. Welch reported $287,142 in “honoraria” in six years of editing two journals for MD Publications ($3.2 million in 2019). His annual FDA salary was $17,500.37 Welch had once told some FDA coworkers that his government salary barely covered his income tax. They did not report it since they thought he was joking.38 A third of Welch’s payments had come from what Arthur Sackler had promised, Pfizer’s purchases of reprints of articles from the journals he edited.39
Welch and Martí-Ibáñez were scheduled for public testimony on May 17. Both canceled. Welch’s doctor claimed he was too ill to be put under “any emotional or physical strain” and two physicians for Martí-Ibáñez said he had glaucoma and that “severe emotional stress and tension are known to aggravate glaucoma and may cause blindness.”40
At a public hearing on May 18, Kefauver finally had a subject that got national attention. The subcommittee presented the evidence about how Welch had cashed in. The HEW secretary held a press conference the next day and demanded Welch resign. In a resignation letter he submitted later that same day, Welch was defiant and blamed “politics” for his predicament. He claimed no one could find “any article, paragraph or sentence, which reflects a lack of editorial or scientific integrity.”41 Adding to the fury was the disclosure that the federal Civil Service Commission had approved Welch’s request for a disability pension after his March heart attack. It was now not possible to deny him his full benefits.42 The Welch debacle forced the HEW secretary to appoint an internal Special Investigative Unit to probe whether there were more widespread conflicts of interest inside the FDA. It concluded that Welch was an isolated case.43 (The FDA’s official historical timeline omits any reference to Welch.)44
The Sackler brothers were fortunate they did not get pulled into the Welch scandal. Arthur and his McAdams agency had edited Welch’s big fixed-dose antibiotic speech, and most of Welch’s money came from reprint purchases by Sackler’s client, Pfizer. Moreover, Welch had told the Saturday Review’s John Lear that Martí-Ibáñez had shared with him that he had two secret investors. Welch insisted, however, that he did not know who they were. Lear’s hunch was that it was Arthur Sackler and one of his brothers, but he could never prove it.45 The Senate investigators also suspected the Sacklers owned a controlling stake in MD Publications but did not have the resources to investigate that.
Arthur Sackler did not appear worried about Kefauver’s probe. Instead of following each twist and turn of the hearings, he spent more time on his growing art collection. He lobbied for and got an appointment to Columbia’s prestigious Advisory Council of the Department of Art, History, and Archaeology, a position he kept for thirteen years.46 Arthur had wanted that Columbia appointment so badly that he created Medimetrics International, a “scientific research and development” firm. He and his first wife, Else, owned a majority; but he gave Columbia a 39.1 percent bequest of the company about six weeks before he got picked for the Advisory Council.47 Meanwhile, Sackler continued adding to a growing roster of pharma clients. When he had too much work, he sent the client to one of his “competitors.” That happened with Parke-Davis, which ended up at Bill Frohlich’s agency.
Sackler had founded Medical Tribune just before Welch’s public meltdown. It promised a concise summary of important developments affecting their profession, everything from pharmaceuticals to politics. It was supported solely by drug ads. Arthur had pitched his idea for Medical Tribune to Georges Doriot, a legendary entrepreneur and Harvard business school professor who is credited as the “father of venture capitalism.”48
Arthur invited Doriot to make an investment in Medical Tribune. Doriot was one of the most respected names in the business world. One of Doriot’s most quoted remarks was that “Someone, somewhere, is making a product that will make your product obsolete.” Arthur pressed the idea that Medical Tribune was unlike anything else. Doriot not only invested but lent his name to it publicly. He praised Medical Tribune and announced it was one of only thirty ventures in which he had put his own money.49 His backing for what he called “the first independent paper for doctors” attracted considerable attention in the financial press.50
Medical Tribune’s masthead listed it as a wholly owned subsidiary of Medical and Science Communications Development Corporation. Only a handful knew that Arthur’s first wife, Else, secretly controlled that company. It had been incorporated in Delaware, where shareholder secrecy is sacrosanct, in February 1960, only three months before Welch’s humiliating denouement. The following month it was incorporated in New York and Nevada.51 On its masthead, Sackler listed Doriot as the president, and Medical and Science Communications Development was “an affiliate” of Doriot’s much admired venture capital firm, American Research and Development Corporation.
By the end of the decade, Medical Tribune would become one of Sackler’s most successful businesses. In every issue, Arthur wrote a column, “One Man… and Medicine.” It was his soapbox. He used it as a provocative forum for a wide range of topics. Sackler often attacked government regulators, ranted about the dangers of smoking and the need for mandatory car seat belts, and sometimes triggered a furious discussion in one of the medical disciplines, such as his “Does Schizophrenia Protect Against Cancer?” column, citing research at Creedmoor Psychiatric Center that he and his brothers had published in 1951 in a Sackler-controlled journal.52 III 53
Most of Medical Tribune’s success, however, came after Georges Doriot had sold his investment back to Arthur at a small profit.54 Although Doriot thought Sackler was “fascinating, brilliant and likeable,” he and his advisors were uncomfortable with Sackler’s shuffling of ownership interests between family and friends. “We had a funny feeling about it,” Doriot years later told The Boston Globe. “There was always something we didn’t understand.”55
What Doriot did not fully appreciate was that Arthur could have financed Medical Tribune on his own. Instead, Arthur knew that Medical Tribune got a priceless public relations boost if Doriot put his name to it.56
Medical Tribune debuted in the middle of the Kefauver hearings. The staff had had no opportunity to include it during its investigation. Instead, during the last four months of its public hearings, Kefauver’s subcommittee focused on antibiotics prices. It was a replay of what happened earlier in the hearings when the spotlight was on hormones. Top CEOs were grilled about why they priced their medications as huge markups of their manufacturing costs. They stuck to their script: the government underestimated their research costs and overestimated their profits.57
That was the same excuse the pharma companies put forward when confronted about why their drugs were always significantly more expensive in America than anywhere else. Fifty tablets of a popular American-made tranquilizer cost $3.25 in the U.S. but only $0.75 in Argentina or $1.48 in the U.K. Lilly’s antibiotic, Penicillin 5, was made and shipped from its Indianapolis plant and sold for $18 a lot in the U.S. but in Europe for an average of $7.25. The investigative staff discovered that the same pricing anomaly existed in all commercially successful drugs with a European origin. Swiss-based Ciba sold its hypertension medication, Resperine, at $40 a lot to European pharmacists, but its U.S. subsidiary charged American druggists $91. European pharmacists paid $10 for an allotment of French-based Rhône-Poulenc’s hypnotic sedative, Largactil; when American licensee Smith Kline sold it in America, under the name Thorazine, the same amount cost $60.58.58
When confronted by the evidence that it did not matter whether the research and development was done in the U.S. or abroad, the pharma companies shifted their argument and blamed more expensive domestic labor costs for the higher prices.59 If true, that costlier labor should have translated into smaller profits. Yet the U.S. sector averaged three to four times the average profit margin of other industries.60 Moreover, Kefauver’s staff confirmed that while European wages were lower than those in the U.S., American drug companies had “lower unit costs” than their European rivals because they were more efficient and used less labor because they had more automation.
If high drug prices were not from more expensive research, development, or labor costs, what was the culprit? Kefauver zeroed in on patents. “Unfortunately, monopoly pricing under patents is widespread in the drug industry.”61
Kefauver had dispatched his chief economist, John Blair, to visit other countries to see how they regulated their pharma industries. Blair’s finding was simple: the U.S. was the only nation that did not regulate drug prices or restrict their patents. Only twenty-seven of seventy-seven countries allowed any drug patent, and those that did granted much shorter exclusive periods. Switzerland and Germany did not permit patents on drugs but only on the processes to manufacture them. Blair had learned that the Oxford-based scientists responsible for penicillin had not patented it because they thought it was “too important to public health.” European regulators told Blair they were troubled at how simple it was for pharma companies to get patent protection without having discovered a drug but simply making a few minor laboratory alterations to a rival’s product.62 In testimony before Kefauver’s committee, Merck’s president scorned the knock-off firms for not doing any original research but acting simply as “molecule manipulators” who got their patents by tagging along on the back of hard work and innovation by others.
Kefauver believed the legal threshold for obtaining the near copycat patents was far too low. And he was irked that when the knock-offs went on sale, they were frequently “priced to the last decimal like their predecessors. Thus the public pays for whatever research costs are involved but derives no benefits of price reduction.”63
Blair suggested reducing American patent protection to five years from the current seventeen.64 And any statute should require pharma firms with patents to license those drugs to all comers.65 Kefauver liked both ideas. The information, he told Blair, would be important in drafting a law that might bring real competition to the pharmaceutical industry.
The hearings broke in September for a recess. There were only two months remaining in a tight presidential race between John Kennedy and Richard Nixon. Kefauver himself was in a tough reelection battle with a conservative state judge. The pharmaceutical lobby saw it as an opportunity to finish off the crusading senator. Drug firms poured money into direct mailers and radio ads suggesting that Kefauver’s probe of the American drug industry was the predicate for the government to socialize medicine.66 He was vulnerable in the South to charges that he was a closet liberal. In the past, he had refused to sign the Southern Manifesto against civil rights for blacks; introduced the censure bill for Red Scare senator Joe McCarthy; and cast the single no vote on a bill outlawing the Communist Party.67
Drug companies had good reason to fear Kefauver. His plans for reworking the patent system would end many of the pricing excesses that had become commonplace. That was bad enough, they thought, to make him an implacable foe. They might have been far more alarmed had they known that privately Kefauver shared with his investigative staff that he believed there was a good argument to make that drugs were an “essential commodity.” That ruling would invest in the federal government the authority to regulate prescription prices as local and state governments set the allowable rates for public utilities.IV68
I. Kefauver won an Emmy in 1952 for “outstanding public service on television.” He was a celebrity guest on the highest-rated game show of the era, What’s My Line?, and had a bit part in a Humphrey Bogart film, The Enforcer. He was one of the few Washington politicians recognizable wherever he went and his subsequent book about the hearings, Crime in America, was a New York Times best-seller.
II. Blair’s team did not realize what the author discovered, that the addresses to which they tracked some of the companies—15 East 62nd Street and 139 East 59th Street, New York—were locations used for earlier ventures, including the phantom New York City branch of the Ophuijsen Center from Creedmoor. The Senate investigators did reveal, however, how the Sacklers transferred some entities to trusts created for their minor children, which they then managed on their behalf. And there was evidence the family owned an unnamed “photo-engraving firm which makes plates used in expensive advertisements for medical journals,” a real estate company that owned properties leased to many of the Sackler firms, and “the company that makes Lysol.” That was Lehn & Fink. Lysol was popular for decades with women for feminine hygiene. Some used it as a mostly ineffective postcoital douche for birth control, but the FDA approval of the contraceptive pill in 1960 ended that often dangerous practice.
III. When Sackler bought McAdams in 1947, he made it a member of the American Association of Advertising Agencies (AAAA), which since 1917 had represented about 90 percent of the nation’s ad firms. Arthur ran Medical Tribune from the same office as his McAdams agency. Sometimes, employees did work for both. That violated an AAAA ethics rule that prohibited ad agencies and industry-related publications from sharing the same office or workers for fear that conflicts of interest would be unavoidable. About eighteen months after Medical Tribune was created, he withdrew from the AAAA. The only public explanation for the unusual decision to leave the advertising industry’s premier trade group was not given for more than a quarter century; the AAAA’s executive vice president would say only that McAdams had been a member in good standing before it left due to “differences with other members.”
IV. There was even some discussion of federal price controls. They had been implemented on basic food items during World War I to prevent price gouging. In World War II they were again imposed on food and expanded to gasoline. The idea of mandatory price caps has been revived in Florida senator Rick Scott’s Transparent Drug Pricing Act of 2019. It would set the list price of U.S. drugs at the lowest retail list price in the U.K., France, Germany, Canada, and Japan. The Trump administration has proposed linking American drug prices to an index of fourteen nations. The pharmaceutical industry contends price caps would disincentivize innovation and result in Americans getting less access to cutting-edge drugs. In July 2019, Maryland became the first state to attempt to treat drug firms as public utilities, a move that pharma is contesting in the courts.
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“BE HAPPY” PILLS
The scare campaign against Kefauver failed and he won in a landslide. It was bad news for pharma since he turned to preparing a final subcommittee report and also drafting legislation. While Kefauver had been fighting for his political survival, and the focus on pharma was on the fallout from the Welch/FDA scandal, a watershed moment had passed for the industry. The FDA approved Chicago’s G. D. Searle’s Enovid—put on sale three years earlier for “menstrual disorders”—to be dispensed as the first ever oral contraceptive.1 Women could now control when and if they got pregnant. Objections from social conservatives and religious groups had delayed the FDA’s decision for nearly two years. Some commissioners were uncomfortable with a medication for long-term daily use to otherwise healthy people. When the FDA finally said yes in 1960, they avoided any long-term safety questions by approving it for a maximum of twenty-four months. No one followed that directive once Enovid went on sale.2 It was wrapped in such controversy, that the lay public and much of the press referred to Enovid and later me-too competitors as the Pill. Doctors and patients thought it was simple, safe, and reliable (it was three years before a Senate investigation revealed that the FDA made its momentous decision based on clinical studies of only 132 women who had taken the Pill for a year, sometimes a little longer).3 I 4
It was impossible at the time to fully appreciate how great an impact the Pill would have. It debuted only a few years before the 1960s sexual revolution and women’s liberation movement (NOW, the National Organization for Women, was founded in 1966). Some saw in it a social tool to break the housewife-at-home-raising-a-family stereotype. As the first pharmaceutical reversible contraceptive, it introduced a newly minted term, “reproductive rights.”
Searle took advantage of the Pill’s sweeping promise in its advertising campaign. It featured Andromeda, a goddess of Greek mythology, breaking free of the chains around her wrists, symbolizing women breaking free of their worries of unwanted pregnancies.5
Many greeted the Pill enthusiastically. That was matched by the fervor of those opposing it on religious grounds. Sackler had intently followed the controversy. Bill Frohlich represented Ortho Pharmaceutical, one of the companies with its own oral contraceptive. Ortho was the first to offer the pills in a circular plastic container with a movable dial that made it much easier for women to remember when to take them (start on the fifth day of menstruation, then take one a day for twenty days, and then take a five-day break before restarting the cycle).6 Arthur’s idea about how to refine the promotion strategy seemed radical: do not directly mention the Pill or birth control. Frohlich thought at first it was counterintuitive to sell a product without talking about it, but Sackler won him over. Arthur thought that protestations about the Pill might taper off if the ads pitched the idea that it empowered families to choose how much time they wanted between children. Frohlich’s full-page color ads ran in Family Circle and True Story. They featured a young woman talking to an older woman over a picket fence. “Don’t plan your family over the back fence,” was the headline at the top. At the bottom, it suggested that women talk to their doctors about ways to space pregnancies. “He can recommend a method that is dependable, simple, inexpensive, and best suited to the needs of you and your husband.” The last line, in small print, read: “This message is sponsored by Ortho Pharmaceutical Corp., to whom medical methods of family planning are a particular concern.”7 The Sackler-inspired, Frohlich-designed campaign to soft-pedal the Pill as good family planning ran into fierce opposition from the Catholic Church, which called it “immorality in advertising.”8 Priests used their pulpits across the country to urge parishioners to inundate the magazines with protests. In under a month, Family Circle, with a circulation of seven million, issued a statement from its advertising director: “The objections from readers was ferocious. We no longer are carrying the ads.”9 The magazine returned the $120,000 Ortho had paid for what was scheduled as a series of six ads. Other women’s magazines followed.
Pharma companies and Medicine Avenue had underestimated the pent-up demand among women for something that at last gave them control over if and when to have children. They also misjudged the extent to which many social commentators and the mainstream press viewed the Pill as the progenitor of grand societal change. “If the Pill can defuse the population explosion,” wrote Time in an article titled “Freedom from Fear,” “it will go far for eliminating hunger, want and ignorance.”10 “It was the twentieth century’s greatest technological advance,” The Economist later concluded.11 The Pill was groundbreaking for the reason that it had first stumped the FDA: it established the precedent that a drug need not address an infection or chronic condition. It was enough to help fulfill a personal lifestyle choice. That concept had been the pharmaceutical industry’s Holy Grail, a medication separate from sickness.12
Even without ads in most major women’s publications, the Pill was instantly a top seller. Searle’s stock doubled in the year after it went on sale.13 Ortho, with its clever packaging, sold more pills by 1962 than any other company. Its profits surged.
Sackler thought that if the Pill succeeded despite the fierce resistance, another lifestyle medication free of any moral controversy could be an even bigger blockbuster. His psychiatric training led him to conclude the next great challenge was developing a lifestyle medication for so-called mind drugs. It was possible, he speculated, that a hybrid, some type of “be happy” pill, might one day replace antibiotics as the industry sales leader. He focused on two broad classes of mind drugs: stimulants (uppers) that enhanced a patient’s mood, and sedatives (downers) that targeted anxiety and mental illness.
Amphetamines, the stimulant gold standard, had long been promoted as a cure for all types of depression. The surging demand for amphetamines doubled after World War II following the AMA’s approval to advertise them for weight loss.14 Burroughs Wellcome introduced Methedrine to shed extra pounds. Abbott targeted narcolepsy with Desoxyn, its methamphetamine tablet. Ciba’s entry was not an amphetamine, but a new drug that competed for the same market: Ritalin.15 In 1950 Ciba had released Dexamyl, a combination of Dexedrine and Lilly’s Amytal barbiturate that some doctors dubbed “among psychiatry’s greatest hits.”16 Ads featuring all-American housewives touting it for treating “nervous tension, anxiety and agitation” had helped make it one of the most widely dispensed by general practitioners.17 Rivals tried copying that success with their own amphetamine-sedative combinations, helping to expand the market throughout the 1950s.18
By the 1960s, the American amphetamine market hit a record eight billion pills annually. That output was constant for the rest of the decade. Authorities later discovered that about half that production was diverted illegally to street dealers or unscrupulous diet doctors. Some popular weight loss clinics were unmasked as virtual subsidiaries of generic amphetamine manufacturers. Their profits were enormous; 100,000 10 mg amphetamine pills cost the diet center $71 and were resold on average for $12,000. Its broad popularity had resulted in a spike in recreational abuse and adverse reactions.19 That finally caught the media’s attention. A series of national stories about former users recounting “amphetamine induced psychosis,” antisocial behavior, and crippling paranoia added to the drug’s darker narrative. The FDA had been slow to recognize the problems. It had such a benign view of stimulants that as late as 1963 it weighed approving Ciba’s Dexamyl for over-the-counter sales.20
Sackler knew there had been little innovation in amphetamines in the thirty years since their discovery. And he had never found it useful during his Creedmoor research. He admired amphetamine’s commercial success but he was skeptical about its long-term prospects and doubted it could be the basis for the hybrid mind/lifestyle drug he envisioned.
What about sedatives? The postwar barbiturate market was huge, second only to antibiotics.21 There were 1,500 competing brands in the U.S. An estimated third of those manufactured were resold on the street—with names such as goofies, yellow jackets, and pink ladies—for recreational highs. They delivered big profits, rivaling the gross margins of the industry-leading antibiotics.22 Barbiturates, as with amphetamines, had become a victim of their success. The federal Narcotics Bureau in 1947 listed them the most abused drug. Overdoses set a grim record in 1950 with one thousand dead.23 The following year, The New York Times concluded that barbiturates “are more a menace to society than heroin or morphine.”24
Congress responded with the Durham-Humphrey Amendment, meant to address the barbiturates problem by fixing vague language in the 1938 Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.25 Before the amendment, prescriptions were required only for narcotics and sulfa drugs.26 Thirty-six states had not waited for federal intervention, instead requiring prescriptions for barbiturates. The state rules were a confusing hodgepodge of regulations. More than half had no restrictions on the number of refills. The Durham-Humphrey Amendment invested the FDA with the power to deem any drug as dangerous “because of toxicity or other potentially harmful effect.” Once the FDA made that threshold decision, the drug would be by prescription only.27
One of the law’s omissions, however, was that it did not require drug companies to include side effect warnings to patients. Pharma firms only had to provide the drug data to pharmacists, who were then supposed to warn patients about potential abuse.
The Durham-Humphrey Amendment did not dent barbiturate sales. Because it did not have the resources, the FDA did not enforce its “prescription only” rule for six years, and then it went only after bromides, a cruder early-generation sedative.28 Even then, requiring a prescription for barbiturates only meant that millions of habitual users began shopping for doctors willing to write prescriptions without asking too many questions.29
Sackler saw a glimmer of promise in the hypnotic qualities of strong barbiturates such as Lilly’s Seconal. It could be useful in controlling seizures and constant agitation, two debilitating physical symptoms of mental illness. They were not optimized for serious mental disorders, however, and did not treat bipolar or schizophrenia. Smith Kline filled that market in 1954 in America when it rolled out Thorazine, a tranquilizer accidentally discovered in the late 1940s by a French surgeon who had been hunting for malaria cures. “Tranquilizer” was the new word in the pharma world, having appeared the first time the previous year in promotion for a hypertension drug from Ciba.II30
Smith Kline marketed Thorazine as an antipsychotic.31 It was so potent that in Europe it was informally dubbed “a medicinal lobotomy” and dispensed only to patients suffering severe psychosis.32 Smith Kline’s first ad featured a close-up of a man’s head, electrodes attached to his forehead, and a large rubber stopper jammed into his mouth. It announced “Thorazine: Reduces Need for Electroshock Therapy.” Psychiatrists, particularly those who worked in public asylums, wrote nearly 80 percent of the three million Thorazine prescriptions in its first year.33 The drug arrived at a time when psychiatric institutions were increasingly vilified in scandalous public reports about cruelty and violence toward patients.34 Thorazine marked the start of a pharmaceutical revolution in the treatment of those with disabling mental illness, moving away from the custodial-institutionalized care that had been the standard since the early nineteenth century. Thorazine’s widespread use spurred a decline in the number of patients committed to New York’s mental institutions—the largest state population—by 19 percent, the first reduction since records were kept.35 Fewer patients meant lower costs, saving state governments $1.5 billion in the decade after Thorazine’s introduction. The director of Washington, D.C.’s, eight-thousand-bed St. Elizabeth’s Hospital heralded Thorazine as marking the end of “bedlamism,” the word used by asylum workers to describe the chaos and disorder that was the hallmark of many insanity wards.36
Smith Kline trumpeted its success at the nation’s mental hospitals, although no one seemed to have figured out the early taxpayer savings might be canceled out later by increased medical costs for the outpatient care of those who relapsed or whose illness worsened.37 III 38
Despite the big sales numbers, Smith Kline worried there was a limit to the size of Thorazine’s market. The better the drug worked, the greater the falloff in sales as patients were discharged from mental institutions. Smith Kline tried expanding the market by targeting doctors who cared for those patients who returned to society. Ads in JAMA featured a man fishing in a stream, personifying the mental calmness that was touted as the drug’s hallmark. “Continuing therapy is almost always well tolerated, and is central to most patients’ continued well-being,” read the copy.39 Smith Kline next tried adding “senile agitation” as a treatable condition. Ads, illustrated with an elderly man wielding his cane in a threatening manner, promised Thorazine would “control the agitated, belligerent senile” and “help the patient to live a composed and useful life.”40 It even tried marketing it for chronic nausea. But that was like using a sledgehammer to put a thumbtack on a corkboard. Few patients were so distressed by even the worst nausea to put up with side effects that could include difficulty breathing, severe fever and muscle pain, trembling, seizures, and even rarely, suicidal depression.41
Sackler was waiting for something more like a Thorazine-lite, a mood-altering medication that could offset anxiety while not being too sedating. He told his pharma clients about the great profit potential in a discovery of “emotional aspirin,” a medication that treated a person’s psychological well-being as well as antibiotics cured serious infections. Sackler knew from his tenure at Creedmoor that any drug that addressed anxiety or depression would have a greater side effect profile than aspirin. He hoped that by putting the concept of “emotional aspirin” into the research and development milieu, it might spark pharma firms to make it a laboratory priority.
Drug companies undoubtedly had the incentive for such a project. There was an enormous market for relieving the stress and anxiety that many Americans perceived as an unfortunate but integral part of twentieth-century life.42 Magazines and newspapers ran stories about stress from the Cold War and how the fast pace of technology added to daily pressure. Composer Leonard Bernstein had in 1950 named his Second Symphony “The Age of Anxiety,” after W. H. Auden’s Pulitzer Prize–winning poem of the same title. The government provided significant financial incentive for discovering a drug as Sackler envisioned. When the Mental Health Study Act was passed in 1955, it established a Psychopharmacology Research Center at the NIH. That new government division focused on biological psychiatry and had a multimillion-dollar research budget, which it shared with interested pharma firms.43 Some drugs under review were still experimental although they showed promise in the lab. Lithium had been discovered in the early nineteenth century but clinical studies for treating mania had only begun in Denmark in the mid-1950s (the FDA did not approve it until 1970). The same was true for LSD-25, a synthetic compound discovered by a Swiss scientist in 1951, but only subjected to therapeutic testing for mental illnesses in the mid-1950s at the Rockefeller Institute for Medical Research.IV44
The most advanced new class of drugs were the so-called minor tranquilizers. As had happened with Thorazine, it was another accidental discovery. Frank Berger, a Jewish Czech scientist who had emigrated to England when Hitler annexed Czechoslovakia, had chemically modified a disinfectant in the hope of finding a better preservative for penicillin. When he injected his altered compound into mice he noticed they remained awake and responsive at the same time that their muscles relaxed and they became passive.45 When Berger moved to America in 1947, he took a job as a research professor at the University of Rochester Medical School. Two years later the patent drug and toiletries company Carter Products—whose most famous product was Carter’s Little Liver Pills, a laxative with annual sales topping $450 million—hired him. They upped his university salary from $5,400 to $12,000 and gave him a 1 percent royalty on meds he discovered, up to a maximum of $75,000.46 Carter’s prescription drug sales were only $500,000 and it had only twenty employees in that department. Berger knew that two of Carter’s other consumer products, Nair hair removal and Arrid deodorant, sold more in a week than the drug division did in a year.47 After hiring Berger, Carter formed an alliance with Wallace Laboratories, a New Jersey–based medical research company. It also hired Bernie Ludwig, a respected organic chemist, as its medical director.
Berger and Ludwig tested hundreds of synthetic compounds before they found a promising one, meprobamate, in May 1950. In subsequent animal testing it was tranquilizing without being too much of a sedative. The two scientists thought they had found the right balance between the therapeutic qualities of Thorazine and its oppressive side effect profile. Two months later they submitted their drug for a patent. Carter’s management was far less enthusiastic than its researchers since it was uncertain if there was sufficient demand for such a drug.Wallace Labs had conducted a study with two hundred doctors that showed most thought there was no use for such a medication. Three quarters said they could not think of any reason to prescribe it.48
Carter put the project on hold and delayed going to the FDA for approval. It took four years before Berger, armed with a battery of new clinical tests, convinced management that the drug was ready. It went to the FDA in December 1954. Faced with what category to apply for in its application, Carter feared “sedatives,” which included barbiturates, carried too many negative connotations. “Tranquilizers” was also troublesome, especially as that category included Thorazine and other powerful hypnotics. Carter proposed a clever solution: the FDA would list the drug under tranquilizers, but Carter would market it as a “minor tranquilizer.” While waiting for approval, Carter rejected a dozen brand names before settling on Miltown, the town where Wallace Labs performed the final testing on the product.V49
Even before the FDA approved Miltown, American Home Products bought a license from Carter to sell Miltown through Wyeth, its pharma subsidiary. Wyeth would sell the drug under the brand name Equanil. In May 1955, Miltown went on sale. Carter touted it as a less dangerous and toxic alternative to barbiturates and major tranquilizers, and emphasized it was effective for everyday “anxiety, tension and mental stress.”50
The first edition of the American Psychiatric Association’s Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) had been published only a few years earlier. It provided diagnostic criteria for identifying and treating many psychiatric illnesses. Instantly the bible for American psychiatrists, DSM had not listed anxiety as a stand-alone disorder (that would not happen until DSM-III in 1980).51 Carter worried that psychiatrists might not think Miltown was necessary and general practitioners might think it addressed a condition too far removed from their own practice.
Carter had underestimated the pent-up demand among millions of Americans looking for a quick fix to anxiety and stress. Few thought of it as an illness but rather shrugged off anxiety as an inevitable by-product of a busy and productive life. Some boasted of it as evidence of hard work, ambition, and achievement.52 The country was filled, concluded some psychiatrists, with “ambulatory psychoneurotics.”53 Miltown seemed ideally timed as an antidote to alleviate the occasional edginess and irritation caused by anxiety. A psychoanalyst welcomed it as the “penicillin of psychiatry.”54
Miltown’s sales took off. Three months after its release, Time noted that it “has become the fastest-selling pacifier for the frustrated and frenetic.” Hollywood was the leading market for “Miltown mania.” Celebrities from Tennessee Williams to Norman Mailer to Tallulah Bankhead created waiting lists at pharmacies for the “don’t-give-a-damn” pills.55 Sunset Boulevard’s famed Schwab’s Pharmacy sold 250,000 pills in four months before running out of stock. The frenzy in Hollywood spread to New York, Washington, and Boston. “It worked wonders for me,” said comedian Milton Berle. “In fact, I’m thinking of changing my name to Miltown Berle.”56
How successful was Miltown? In 1954 and 1955, Thorazine accounted for 99.6 percent of all tranquilizers sold in America. A year later, Miltown and its chemical twin, Equanil, went from less than 1 percent to 70 percent of sales.57 In 1956, Carter and Wallace Labs sponsored a New York City conference on the drug.58 Carter sent bound copies of those proceedings to 153,000 doctors.59 Two years after it went on sale, one in twenty Americans had tried the pill. Doctors had dispensed 36 million prescriptions, a staggering one third of all prescriptions written.60 The drug tripled Carter’s gross revenue. The company felt flush enough to commission the surrealist Salvador Dalí to design its exhibit at the AMA’s annual meeting in San Francisco in 1958. Dalí’s wife and collaborator, Gala, was a Miltown patient. When she earlier had met Frank Berger, she suggested her husband could capture in art how the drug helped transform her anxiety to tranquility. The exhibit cost $100,000, of which $35,000 was Dalí’s fee. Carter got its money’s worth.61 People marveled as they walked through Dalí’s sixty-foot-long, wriggling white caterpillar made of parachute silk. Time concluded that “the monster stole the show” and it “was worth its weight in gold to Miltown.”62
By the time Dalí created his Miltown exhibit, the surging demand for so-called peace of mind or happy pills resulted in a thriving black market for both the Carter and Wyeth brands as well as for counterfeits. In the absence of federal legislation, states began tightening rules for dispensing the drugs.63 In early 1960, the Justice Department filed an antitrust action against Carter and American Home Products for price-fixing and conspiracy to exclude other firms from the market.64 The CEOs of both firms denied gouging the public in testimony before Kefauver’s Senate investigation. It was a mere coincidence, they claimed, that they had submitted identical bids for every government contract, and they protested that higher advertising costs in the U.S. were the reason their drugs cost six times more in America than Europe.65
What Arthur Sackler and other pharma insiders knew was that no matter how much the companies complained about their costs, the minor tranquilizers were profitable. Extremely so. Most prescription drugs in the late 1950s and early 1960s returned on average a very healthy 20 percent net profit. The tranquilizers and barbiturates did better, boasting returns of 35 percent to 55 percent, second only to antibiotics.66 And most important in Sackler’s view was that by 1960 about 75 percent of American physicians had written at least one Miltown prescription. Thorazine, in contrast, was still mostly the province of psychiatrists.67
As Miltown’s success grew it attracted more scrutiny.68 Some doctors questioned its efficacy, contending it was little better than a sugar pill. Other physicians warned it created tolerance since ever-larger doses were required to maintain any benefits. A few thought it might be addictive.69 Previously unreported side effects flooded the FDA, everything from increased anxiety, impaired coordination, and confusion to tremors, muscle spasms, and vertigo.
Miltown was repeating a common pattern for blockbuster drugs, particularly those that created dependency and could be abused recreationally. Doctors and patients enthusiastically welcomed those medications when they first went on sale. Over time their popularity led to abuse, thriving black markets, counterfeits, and a steady upswing in reported side effects, sometimes even overdoses (toxicology reports on drug deaths showed that when Miltown was present, it was usually in tandem with copious amounts of alcohol, amphetamines, and barbiturates).
The FDA considered recalling Miltown. The drug’s emerging darker narrative prompted a couple of dozen states to list Miltown on the same “no-refillable prescriptions” list that covered barbiturates.70
Sackler knew any headwinds Miltown faced opened the door to a competitor drug. In the mid-1950s neurophysiologist Ralph Gerard coined “psychotropic drugs” to refer to medicines developed for mental illness. Many pharma labs were working hard to find one that delivered enhanced therapeutic benefits with fewer side effects.
Swiss-based Hoffmann-La Roche had a secret research project under way at its New Jersey lab hunting for the next enhanced generation of Miltown.71 Martí-Ibáñez had learned about it because he was friends with Leo Sternbach, a pharmacist who led the Roche team. Roche had transferred Sternbach, a Polish Jew, to the U.S. in 1941. (Roche was the only Swiss pharma firm that sent its Jewish researchers and German dissidents—what Sternbach called “all the endangered species”—to safety in jobs in America.)72
Even by Sackler’s standards, Sternbach’s research was ambitious. In the mid-1940s he had synthesized biotin, a water-soluble B vitamin that had resisted all earlier efforts for a commercially viable man-made version. Roche was then the world’s top manufacturer of synthetic vitamins, so the discovery impressed even his more senior science colleagues. Beginning in the mid-1950s, he led a small team tasked with finding a drug that would win “the Great Tranquilizer War.”73 Roche made no pretense it was searching for a medication to eliminate deadly diseases or cure infections. It simply wanted to boost its bottom line by developing a better Miltown.74
The fastest route was to make a near therapeutic clone that had enough molecular changes so it did not violate Miltown’s patent. That is what Roche’s marketing department wanted. Sternbach, however, thought that a me-too drug was “boring.”75
In Roche’s Lab 303, Sternbach performed hundreds of modifications to dye chemicals, searching in vain for any sign of psychopharmacological activity. Biological chemists like Sternbach were called “backbench scientists” because they spent much of their time at benches and tables manipulating molecules (by the mid-1990s, computers generated the molecular changes in a fraction of the time and robots analyzed them for medicinal uses). For over two years Sternbach came up empty while half a dozen rival companies released me-too Miltown knock-offs.
Roche pharmacology chief Lowell Randall ordered Sternbach to end the project and shift to antibiotics.76 Sternbach did start working on antibiotics, but in his off hours he continued researching tranquilizers. Near the end of 1956, Sternbach isolated a chemical compound that “crystallized nicely” and had the biological activity for which he had been searching.77 The problem was how to tell Randall that he had not followed his order and stopped his tranquilizer research. Sternbach concocted a plan that would allow him to present his discovery as serendipity. On his birthday, May 7, 1957, he and his assistant, Earl Reeder, an organic chemist, announced they were setting aside the day for “a major spring cleaning” of their cluttered lab. It was, Sternbach later recalled, “covered with dishes, flasks, and beakers, all containing various samples and the working area had shrunk to almost zero.”78 During their cleanout, Reeder “found” two “discarded beakers” that bore the label “Ro5-0690.” A hardened crystalline powder was on the bottom of each. Sternbach had it planted there. According to the lab notes he made, those beakers were leftovers of the tranquilizer work and had never been tested. That afternoon Sternbach sent them to his boss with his notes and said they had “just been found under all the mess.”79
When Sternbach subsequently administered the compound to mice and cats, they relaxed as they did when fed other tranquilizers. The difference was the animals stayed active and alert. Every other tranquilizer, even Miltown, left them groggy and uncoordinated. Further testing demonstrated that Ro5-0690 “was vastly more potent [and] less toxic and sedating than any on the market.”80 A couple of months later, Sternbach again ignored company policy and tried the compound himself. That was not an unusual practice, many ambitious research scientists called themselves “two-legged rats.”81 His lab notes reveal that a couple of hours after ingesting it, he felt “slightly soft in the knees,” was “cheerful,” and also “pretty sleepy” all afternoon. He felt normal after ten hours.
Sternbach had discovered benzodiazepines, “benzos” for short, a new class of synthetic tranquilizers (it had an extra carbon atom in the inner ring structure as compared to Miltown).82 Benzos would upend the market for happy pills. As another Roche researcher noted at the time, Sternbach’s discovery had made him a “grand master of modern medicinal chemistry.”83 Roche named it Librium, from the last syllables of “equilibrium.”
Roche undertook one of the largest and most diverse human clinical trials ever. Starting in 1958, it had more than two thousand doctors test Librium on some twenty thousand patients, from healthy undergraduate students to infirm elderly, psychiatric patients, premenopausal women, alcoholics, even drug addicts.84 There was no risk in conducting too much testing. The FDA permitted pharma firms to choose which of their trials to submit in support of a drug’s approval. If a study had a poor outcome, the company could withhold the results.85 The onus fell on the FDA; it could order additional testing if it had reason to believe the firm was hiding bad news.86
The following year Roche presented Librium to the FDA. Under the rules then in place, Roche did not have to prove efficacy, only that Librium was safe. It had selected the result of 1,163 of the 20,000 patients to make its case. The handpicked test subjects showed no signs of drug tolerance. Nor were there signs of dependence. High doses caused some motor coordination loss and higher doses induced drowsiness. Still, it was one of the cleanest side effect profiles submitted in a new application. (Although doctors later split about whether benzodiazepines caused tolerance and addiction, there was no doubt they were much safer than barbiturates.)87
Roche went a step further, however. Although it was under no requirement to do so, the company wanted to brag about what the clinical trials demonstrated about efficacy. Librium effectively treated all types of anxiety, from mild and moderate to severe and acute. It also was a good muscle relaxant, anticonvulsive, sedative, and helped alleviate mild depression and eased alcoholism withdrawal.
Roche insisted Librium should be classified as a new class of “antianxiety medication.” No one then understood why the drug had a more potent therapeutic profile (it took until 1977 before a Danish researcher discovered that benzodiazepines bind to brain receptors responsible for sending chemical messages related to anxiety and fear).88
The FDA gave Roche the approval to sell Librium in 1960, the same year that the Pill had become the industry’s first lifestyle drug. That timing was fortuitous since it was when a German-born psychiatrist based in London developed the eponymously named Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (it remains one of the most widely used reference guides). As part of his work he developed an “Anxiety Rating Scale,” a simple fourteen-question survey intended as the first ever medical tool by which to measure a patient’s anxiety.89
Hamilton’s rating scale meant that anxiety was no longer something doctors had to diagnose subjectively as a mere feeling or state of mind described by a patient. Although Hamilton’s test was somewhat rudimentary, it was a major step toward medicalizing anxiety as an accepted psychiatric disorder.90 Roche later distributed the Hamilton tests to tens of thousands of doctors, calculating that physicians would prescribe more Librium if they felt they had a scientific basis for doing so. (Thirty-four years later, the Sackler family’s launch of their timed release opioid product, OxyContin, would similarly benefit from a reanalysis of pain and addiction that included a ten-point system by which doctors could supposedly better measure patient pain.)
For Arthur Sackler, the benzodiazepines were it, the class of medications he thought might one day replace antibiotics as the drug industry’s biggest seller. Roche picked him and his William Douglas McAdams agency to handle Librium’s rollout. Sackler assigned his top account executives to monitor his other big clients—Pfizer, Glaxo, and Hoechst-Roussel—while he turned his full attention to Librium. He hired Irwin “Win” Gerson, a twenty-eight-year-old pharmacist with an MBA, to help with the market research. Gerson, who moved up fast through the executive ranks at McAdams, had been a detail man selling Wyeth’s minor tranquilizer, Equanil.91
The $2 million campaign Sackler developed for Librium was a masterpiece, even by his exacting standards. Arthur kicked off the promotion with free coverage in the national press. He had figured out how to bypass the FDA’s prohibition on advertising to consumers. His workaround was a so-called mat (master of aligned type), a press release disguised as legitimate journalism. It allowed newspaper and magazine editors to run stories about advances in health while the sponsoring pharma firm benefited from the coverage of its drug as “news,” without being handcuffed by the disclaimers and warnings of traditional ads. Those companies distributed copies of the clinical trials to Arthur’s favorite science and medicine writers. Freelancers got detailed story outlines that only needed light editing before publication.
In the promotional packet Sackler had assembled, he highlighted two of Librium’s most extreme clinical tests. The first involved violent prisoners in a Texas state prison. The “patients” in the second were wild animals at the Boston and San Diego zoos. The week Librium went on sale, the lead article in Time focused on those tests. The chief psychiatrist for Texas’s Mental Health Board told Time that Librium had been dispensed to inmates at Huntsville Prison who were “classical psychopathic personalities with lifelong histories of antisocial behavior.” They were regularly “mutilating themselves, setting fires, and starting fights.” What happened after they took Librium? According to the prison psychiatrist, they became “placid and alert, despite their tension-provoking environment.”92 As for the zoo animals, Time reported a “lynx that had bloodied its nose in a savage dash against the side of its cage… was soon gamboling like an alley cat” after it was given Librium. Baboons, macaques, monkeys, a lion and a tiger, and Australian dingoes “calmed down the same way [but] most important, they were not knocked out to the point of being dopey, but remained active, with full muscular coordination, and apparently retained possession of whatever faculties nature gave them.”93
Having established that Librium tamed wild animals and violent convicts, Time repeated much of Sackler’s press release. There was “encouraging evidence that it will have the same effect on 70 percent or more of anxious, tense and hostile humans as it had on dingoes.” Since the drug was new, finding the right dose for patients might be “admittedly tricky,” but once established, “Librium comes close to producing pure relief from strain without drowsiness or dulling of mental processes.” At high doses, while there might be some “impaired coordination,” Librium otherwise demonstrated “unusual freedom from harmful side effects.”94
Many national magazines had just begun regular columns devoted to medicine and health. Pharma companies correctly viewed those as additional outlets to sway public opinion, not just about specific drugs, but also about industry trends. (In 1983, Lilly became the first company to apply Sackler’s prepackaged story concept to television for its new arthritis drug; the elaborate media kit included video interviews with clinical trial patients, scientists in the lab, and rheumatology experts, all ready to be edited and used in a “what’s new in medicine” segment.)95
Sackler had tweaked and refined his promo tactics that he used for antibiotics. A month after Librium went on sale, he ran an eye-catching three-page ad in Life. It featured full-page pictures of the San Diego Zoo lynx before and after receiving Librium. “New Way to Calm a Cat” was the provocative headline.96 After Newsweek, National Geographic, and Esquire lavished praise on the “breakthrough drug,” Sackler sent tens of thousands of those magazines to doctors. He figured most would end up in patient waiting rooms. It was Sackler’s way of circumventing the strict FDA ban on advertising directly to consumers. In another issue of Time, he ran a splashy special advertising insert, implying that Librium could prevent “nervous breakdowns” and “cure peptic ulcers.” (When a Senate investigation later looked into that practice, Sackler and Roche defended the ad by noting the magazine insert had perforated edges so doctors could easily rip it out before placing it in their waiting rooms.)97
Sackler assumed that women would outnumber men as Librium patients, as they had with Miltown. He targeted Cosmopolitan and Family Circle for packaged stories.98 The McAdams agency also offered newspapers Librium-positive short-shorts, small boxes of text that filled the empty space between main stories. Radio and television stations got featurettes, short broadcast segments that filled dead air. Advertising Age heralded the Librium campaign—which touted the drug as “the successor to the tranquilizers”—as “innovative” and “dazzling.”99
Sackler also focused on the Roche detail team. Miltown had unwittingly provided the industry a cautionary tale about the importance of that personalized selling unit. Carter and Wallace Labs did not have a detail team. They relied on direct mailers to physicians, the ad campaign from their agency, Madison Avenue’s Ted Bates, and word of mouth. In contrast, American Brands/Wyeth had 1,500 detail men and they blanketed the country, visiting doctors and pushing their chemically identical brand, Equanil. Despite the tremendous publicity for Miltown, Wyeth’s Equanil surpassed Miltown in sales in 1956, only a year after they went on sale. Some pharma insiders thought that all the celebrity and Hollywood connections for Miltown made the drug less appealing to prescribing physicians. When many doctors went to dispense the latest minor tranquilizer, they increasingly wrote the Equanil prescription. Many traditional practitioners also considered Carter a patent drugmaker and not part of the pharma club. By 1960, Equanil had pulled away, outselling Miltown three to one.100
Sackler coached Roche’s detail team as if he were preparing them for a military operation. They should emphasize Librium’s wide therapeutic benefits, especially its “muscle relaxant” and “anti-anxiety effect,” which had gotten extensive coverage in the normally conservative JAMA.101 What if a doctor was prescribing Miltown or Equanil, what was the best way to distinguish Librium? Sackler had already written the ad copy that proclaimed Librium was “completely unrelated chemically, pharmacologically, and clinically to any other tranquilizer.… [It was] as different from the tranquilizers as they were from the barbiturates.”102 That was similar to how he had distinguished Pfizer’s Terramycin eight years earlier from a rival Lederle medication.103
Although Arthur was confident Librium was an antianxiety drug superior to anything that had preceded it, he recognized that some doctors would feel more comfortable sticking with Miltown since they were familiar with its benefits and risks after its five years on the market. Roche had to overcome that hesitation. In instances in which doctors were reluctant to switch to Librium, Sackler prepared a backup plan for the detail team: disparage Miltown and its me-too rivals. The salesmen were armed with reports of surging Miltown addiction, impairment that included considerable confusion and drowsiness, and even a spike in suicides among daily users.104 They handed out reprints of a harsh review about Miltown that had run in the much respected Medical Letter on Drugs and Therapeutics, a nonprofit, peer-reviewed, bimonthly journal. It reinforced the core message that was part of every Roche product brochure, “benzodiazepines are unlike any other drug.”105
Sackler designed the detail team guidelines with general practitioners in mind. He knew that psychiatrists would be acquainted with tranquilizers. Only a small fraction, however, of the consumers who Sackler and Roche hoped would become Librium patients had ever gone to a psychiatrist. Nathan Kline, who had replaced Sackler at Creedmoor, understood why Arthur saw so much potential in a small pill: “A lot of people shy away from the stigma of going to a psychiatrist. Their friends will say, ‘He—or she—must be crazy.’ But these same people are willing to take their problems to the family doctor. That is socially acceptable.” Sackler was right. Psychiatrists ultimately wrote only 10 percent of Librium’s prescriptions.106
Physicians wrote 1.5 million Librium prescriptions in its first month of sales. It was dispensed for alleviating anxieties and phobias, as well as illnesses then thought to have a link to stress, including high blood pressure, ulcers, acne, muscle pain, and headaches.107 It was not public knowledge then, but even John Kennedy—wracked by lower back pain from his wartime injury—took Librium.108 VI 109 Miltown’s maker, Carter-Wallace, saw its profits tumble nearly 20 percent.110
Roche gave Sternbach the $10,000 prize it offered for the discovery of a successful and profitable drug. The sum didn’t change just because he produced the company’s biggest ever blockbuster. But Sternbach was not disappointed. “I was a very happy scientist [since] I made the compound [but] it also made me.”111
Before Librium, five medications, dominated by Miltown and Thorazine, accounted for 70 percent of the tranquilizer market.112 In just three months, Librium was the best-selling tranquilizer in America. Sternbach’s son, Michael, later recalled that his father was unusually emotional when he learned that his laboratory discovery had “buried Equanil [and] Miltown.”113 It was a spot Librium would not relinquish for eight years—to another Roche drug discovered by Sternbach and promoted by Arthur Sackler.114
I. Margaret Sanger, a nurse who coined the term “birth control,” had opened America’s first birth control clinic in 1916. She later battled religious and socially conservative opposition to the development of a female drug contraceptive. The organizations Sanger founded ultimately morphed into one as Planned Parenthood. Much of the money for the Pill’s research came from Katharine McCormick, an heir to the International Harvester fortune. Sanger and McCormick were convinced that readily accessible and easy-to-use birth control was key to women’s emancipation as housebound spouses. When journalist Clare Boothe Luce learned about the FDA’s approval of Enovid, she summed up the sentiment behind the movement: “Modern woman is at last free as a man is free to dispose of her own body.”
II. In the nineteenth century, “tranquilizer” referred to the invention by a Philadelphia psychiatrist of a restraining chair into which agitated mental asylum patients were strapped.
III. Thorazine and a succession of other tranquilizers were one reason that JFK had the confidence to announce the Mental Retardation Facilities and Community Mental Health Centers Act in 1963, an ambitious plan to release half of the 500,000 committed to state asylums. The savings were supposed to fund 1,500 community health centers to provide ongoing outpatient care to those released. States instead used most of the savings on matters unrelated to mental health. Fewer than half were built, and not one was fully funded. Between 1955 and 1980, “deinstitutionalization” reduced the population of American asylums from 558,922 to 130,000. The New York Times later reported the entire program to be “a vast failure.” That was partly because federal and state governments had subsequently shifted the responsibility for serious mental illness to the prison system or to nursing homes. Medicaid allowed states to move the poor elderly to nursing facilities; by the mid-1980s, more than 600,000 of those two million nationwide residents had been diagnosed with mental illness. Ten times as many people suffering from severe psychotic disorders were in prison by 2018, rather than in psychiatric clinics.
IV. Swiss-based Sandoz had the LSD patent and produced small batches for researchers. It asked the FDA for an “investigational exemption” in 1963. What the FDA should do with LSD was a heated topic, eventually coming under scrutiny by three different congressional committees. The issue was moot after the 1965 Drug Abuse Control Amendments; LSD was outlawed for any use.
V. It took until the mid-1960s before psychotropic drugs were marketed with more specificity as antianxiety agents, antidepressants, or antipsychotics. “Antidepressant” was used in a 1947 ad for Edrisal, a Smith Kline combo drug of amphetamines and painkillers. By 1952, it referred only to tranquilizing drugs, but it did not become widely used by pharma companies until the mid-1960s. “Antipsychotic” was not even used to describe a drug until 1961. Sometimes the pharma marketing departments had more say than the scientists and medical directors.
VI. Kennedy, who also had colitis and Addison’s disease, an adrenal gland insufficiency, was on eight daily medications and hormones. Max Jacobson, JFK’s German-trained physician—nicknamed later by the press as “Dr. Feelgood”—also was the personal doctor of, among others, Tennessee Williams, Truman Capote, the Rolling Stones, and a who’s who of Hollywood. In addition to Librium, JFK took barbiturates for sleep, and both codeine and Demerol for pain relief. Jacobson countered the sedative effects of those drugs by regularly administering 15 mg of methamphetamine to the president.
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“THE THERAPEUTIC JUNGLE”
In April 1961, Kefauver’s subcommittee introduced Senate Resolution 1552, a sweeping bill that proposed landmark changes to the patent, trademark, antitrust, and regulatory laws that applied to the pharmaceutical industry.1 Its title was evidence of its ambition: the Drug Industry Antitrust Act.2
While pharma firms disliked the entire bill, they were most alarmed by a few provisions that promised to upend the way the industry priced its drugs. The seventeen-year exclusive selling monopoly granted by drug patents would be cut to five. Worse yet, after three years the patent holder would be required to license its drug to all comers for a royalty capped at 8 percent. Cross-licensing of patent rights, as the tetracycline manufacturers had done to fix prices, would be illegal. Companies that tried obtaining a patent by slightly modifying the chemical structure of an existing drug, a me-too drug, would have to prove that the alteration resulted in a “significant therapeutic benefit.”3 And that would also be the standard to extend patents on existing drugs. It would end abuses such as Lilly’s use of minor alterations to dominate the insulin market for more than fifty years after the drug’s 1920s release.4
As for trademarks, in addition to listing the brand name on all drug labels, the generic name—which the FDA would select—would be required in an equal-size font.5I And, to the particular consternation of Arthur Sackler and his Medicine Avenue syndicate, the bill required that drug ads include full and accurate information about all reported side effects.6 No other industry, claimed Dr. Hugh Hussey, the chairman of the AMA’s Board of Trustees, required advertisers to tell “the whole truth.”7
The proposed legislation provoked a massive pharma industry lobbying campaign. The drug companies condemned it as anti-American and unconstitutional since it limited patent rights for only one industry. If enacted it would harm science and innovation and slow the development of lifesaving medications. Sackler suggested a clever line of counterattack relevant to the ongoing Cold War (somewhat ironic given his leftist politics). If government regulators dampened the pharmaceutical industry’s pioneering spirit, the Soviet Union would be the greatest beneficiary from any loss of American scientific leadership.
The Senate bill was not pharma’s only problem. The FTC had opened a new investigation into the pricing and advertising practices of thirty-seven manufacturers and distributors. And a New York federal grand jury had returned indictments against Pfizer, Lederle’s parent, American Cyanamid, and Bristol-Myers, as well as their CEOs, charging criminal antitrust violations in the marketing of antibiotics.8 The only good news was that an FTC examiner dismissed the charges the FTC had brought three years earlier against Pfizer, Lederle, Bristol-Myers, Squibb, and Upjohn for conspiring to fix tetracycline prices.9 Few involved on either side of that litigation could have then imagined that the criminal and civil questions of whether those five drug companies had engaged in a highly profitable criminal conspiracy would not be resolved for another twenty-seven years.II
In June 1961, Kefauver’s subcommittee released a damning 384-page final report, based on its public hearings of the previous year and tens of thousands of subpoenaed internal company documents.10 It presented the case for why Congress should pass his proposed statute. Many of the entrenched problems about the pharmaceutical industry highlighted in the report would vex regulators and consumers for decades to come.11
Its conclusions were straightforward. “Drug prices are unreasonable” and resulted in “extraordinary margins and profits.” The industry’s “monopoly power” kept prices artificially inflated. The leading companies “abused patents” and deployed misleading and “exceptionally large advertising and sales promotion.”12
Pharma was different from any other industry Kefauver had investigated: “He who orders does not buy; and he who buys does not order.”13 Doctors acted essentially as “purchasing agents” for consumers, who cannot price shop for a similar product since the physician’s prescription locks them into buying a specific drug. “The consumer is ‘captive’ to a degree not present in any other industry.”14 Price increases do not affect the prescribing habits of doctors. Schering’s president, Francis Brown, had illustrated the point during his testimony: “Unlike consumer marketing, Schering cannot expand its markets by lowering prices, Cortisone proved this. After all we cannot put two bottles of Schering medicine in every medicine chest where only one is needed, or two people in every hospital bed, where only one is sick. Marketing medicine is a far cry from marketing soft drinks or automobiles.”15
The problem was amplified since the demand for medications was not responsive to price changes. Consumers bought drugs only when they were ill or had a chronic condition requiring treatment. Slashing the price of a hormone or antibiotic did not generate extra sales. Only the sick benefited while corporate bottom lines took a beating. The report noted the firms’ internal files “left no room for doubt” that the industry exercised unparalleled pricing power over its products.16 Although there were thousands of drugs on the market, just a few dozen were responsible for three quarters of all sales.17 The top fifteen companies had gross margins approaching 80 percent and net profits that were double the average of nonpharma industries.III18 The report blamed this outsized pricing power on the “private monopoly” that patents provided.19
Pharma executives had argued that drug innovation was possible because companies spent lavishly on R&D. The exclusive selling period afforded by a patent allowed them to recoup their costs and earn a profit. The Senate report countered that by listing important medications discovered at universities, foundations, nonprofit institutions, and clinics, all places where profits did not figure into the decision of whether or not to conduct new drug research.20 Moreover, it emphasized that patents were originally introduced as a reward for the solo inventor but the drug industry had converted it into a search for products that held the greatest potential profit. The inventors for drugs were employees working in corporate laboratories and they had assigned all their rights to their employers. 21
Kefauver’s report sent shivers through the drug business. It raised the spectre the U.S. might adopt the European model of public health, one in which governments regulated prices.22
The report underscored an inherent shortcoming in the way drugs were developed, as relevant today as it was fifty-seven years ago: “The problem is with companies whose sole concern is business… the richest earning[s] occur when a new variety or variant of a drug is marketed before competing drugs can be discovered, improvised, named, and released.” Secrecy before the rollout of a new medication was instrumental to its success and to ensure rivals did not get an early start on developing a competitive product. The result was that most drugs were marketed after a “minimum of clinical trials” intended to do the very least required to demonstrate there were not any “potential dangers from toxicity.”23 The public, buying drugs prescribed by doctors, were effectively guinea pigs on whether the medications had long-term safety issues.
Kefauver’s investigative staff had also focused on Medicine Avenue. “Abuses and corruption” were problematic in the visits to physicians by the detail men (20 million annually), direct mailers to doctors (750 million a year), free journals supported only by pharma advertising, and ever-grander exhibits at medical conventions.24 Pharma companies had become addicted to the hard sell; the largest firms spent a robust quarter of all income on promotion (which the companies labeled “physician education”). One out of every six employees at the largest firms was a detail man. The promo and ad budgets were the fastest-growing expense for every firm, mushrooming from less than $100 million to $750 million over a decade.25
Arthur Sackler and his colleagues had taken advantage of an FTC loophole that exempted all ads directed to physicians from any oversight. Congress had created that exception believing that since doctors were knowledgeable they would not fall prey to misinformation or slick promotion. The Senate probe demonstrated that physicians were as susceptible to bad information as the general public. According to a three-year study of thousands of direct-to-doctor ads, more than half contained unreliable or misleading statements.26 Some were not truthful, others deceptively ambiguous. Although every pharma firm had a physician as medical director, the ad departments frequently bypassed or overruled them when it came to more questionable promotions.27
In two thousand pages of ads run in leading medical journals, 40 percent “ignored side effects entirely” while the rest “dismissed the subject with some sort of reassuring phrase.” The McAdams agency had introduced some of the most commonly used taglines: “virtually free of side effects,” “with no irreversible side effects,” “without clinically significant side effects,” “relatively nontoxic,” “few side effects to worry about,” and “absence of serious side effects specifically noted.”28 The one that Arthur Sackler used the most was “side effects are generally of a transient and non-serious nature.”29
Kefauver’s subcommittee had found that doctors were overwhelmed by all the ads for the spiraling number of new medications, upward of five hundred a year. Many were slight chemical alterations of an existing drug and marketed with similar and easily confusable names. A busy physician had to sort through competing brand names and generics from foreign companies. The plethora of promotional materials was dubbed “the therapeutic jungle.”30
That was no mistake by the drug companies. Internal marketing files from top firms boasted about how their products benefited from “the confusion technique,” the perplexity caused by hundreds of ever-changing products. Sometimes the information overload caused physicians to keep prescribing the same pill with which they had been comfortable for years. That was especially true of those who had practiced for a long time. They had difficulty running their practices and keeping up with the flood of new information. Drug companies knew that was a reason to lock a doctor early on into a patented brand. Yet, in other cases, the new drugs served as “built in obsolescence.” It forced physicians unable to keep abreast of all the latest developments to adopt whatever the detail men promoted as the latest and greatest.31
Few doctors thought they were to blame. Half of physicians polled reported that their earliest source of information about a new drug was not from ads but from the detail men.32 Those pitches were always given in the privacy of the doctor’s office and never put to paper. Often mixed into the presentation extolling the benefits of the new drug, the detail men raised fears about the safety and efficacy of competitors, particularly generics.33 The government was so obsessed about lower prices, they claimed, that it had allowed generics without adequate safeguards for quality and safety.34, 35
It was difficult for physicians to determine if everything the detail man said was accurate science or mixed in with some hyperbole. The Kefauver panel had asked early on: “How often is the misrepresentation a matter of individual overzealousness and how often does it reflect deliberate company policy, codified into specific instructions to the detail man?”36
The internal files of Parke-Davis provided at least one answer to that question. It had marketed its successful antibiotic Chloromycetin for nearly a year when the first reports trickled in about some patients developing aplastic anemia, a rare and sometimes fatal condition affecting the bone marrow. The National Research Council had reported as early as 1952 that Chloromycetin was linked to nearly half the cases. It recommended a warning be sent to all prescribing physicians and hospitals that because of the potential severe adverse effects, “it is essential that adequate blood studies be made when prolonged or intermittent administration of this drug is required.”37
What did Parke-Davis, and Bill Frohlich, whose ad firm was responsible for this account, send to doctors? They changed “essential” to “should” and suggested that Chloromycetin was “no more dangerous” than other strong antibiotics.38
The FDA intervened and ordered Parke-Davis to “revise labeling that would caution physicians explicitly against its indiscriminate use.”39 The detail men told doctors to ignore the substance of the FDA warnings. They turned the setback into a victory, boasting that the FDA’s failure to ban the drug was “the highest compliment ever tendered the medical staff of our company” (emphasis in original).40 That spin on the FDA’s action undercut the prominent warning on the label and doctors’ prescriptions for Chloromycetin remained the same.
Adding to all the discouraging revelations, the Senate report noted that even when doctors stayed up to date of the scientific press, many published papers “are written within the confines of the pharmaceutical houses concerned.”41 Upon closer inspection, the “allegedly scientific studies by doctors… amount in many cases to no more than testimonials of no scientific validity.”42 Arthur Sackler and Félix Martí-Ibáñez had refined the mixture of promotion and medical science into a veritable art.
Kefauver announced that beginning in January 1962, there would be a new round of public hearings on his proposed legislation. The first phase would focus on medical advertisements and promotion.
“The subcommittee has issued subpoenas to officials of two agencies that handle the bulk of the industry’s advertising,” reported The New York Times. “They are the William Douglas McAdams Agency and L. W. Frohlich Company [sic].”43
The first witness scheduled to testify was Arthur Sackler.44
I. At that time, pharma firms picked both the generic and brand names of any drugs they discovered. The Senate report concluded “they coined generic names so complex and unpronounceable as to virtually prohibit their use in the writing of prescriptions.” A good example was Lederle’s Kynex, an antibacterial to which Lederle gave the generic name sulfamethoxypyridazine. Once having created a long and difficult-to-remember generic name, pharma cited that complexity as a reason physicians should simply use their simpler brand names.
II. As for the tetracycline price-fixing case, it took another two years, until 1963, before the full five-member commission reversed the examiner’s dismissal. They ruled that the five companies had conspired to fix prices and that Pfizer and Lederle had also perpetrated a fraud on the Patent Office. Pfizer was ordered to license tetracycline at a discounted rate to any company that requested it. In 1967, a differently constituted five-member FTC commission reversed the finding of price-fixing but upheld the fraud count on the Patent Office. The Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed that ruling the following year. By then, there were more than 150 civil lawsuits; the plaintiffs included hospitals, union health funds, and government agencies seeking to recover what they had overpaid as a result of the price-fixing. The pharma firms collectively spent $250 million to settle all but fifty-eight cases prior to trial. The remaining lawsuits were consolidated into a class action that dragged through a byzantine course of discovery, procedural delays, and a seemingly endless battery of motions and appeals. In 1976, a Federal Appeals Court reversed the remaining FTC findings against the drug firms. State of North Carolina v. Chas Pfizer & Co Inc. 537 F. 2d 67 (4th Cir. 1976). That was four years after the tetracycline patent had expired and generic competitors had entered the market. That did not stop the litigation, however. In 1980, a different federal judge ruled against the Justice Department’s effort to invalidate the Pfizer patent. That judge held the core of the government’s case—the chief patent examiner’s testimony that he would not have granted the patent in 1954 if he had known the information that Pfizer withheld, which was not reliable because so many years had passed since the events charged in the original complaint. And, even if Pfizer did give misleading data to the Patent Office, he ruled the government had failed to prove that Pfizer had acted with fraudulent intent. The Justice Department lost its final appeal in 1982. U.S. v. Pfizer, 676 F.2d 51 (1982). When all the civil cases were finished in 1986, the total payouts by the five tetracycline firms were a small fraction of what they had earned by fixing the price artificially high for so many years.
III. About six months before the report, Lederle, Bristol, and Parke-Davis reduced the price on their branded tetracycline by 15 percent, the drug’s first ever discount. It was a preemptive move intended to demonstrate the willingness of companies to voluntarily cut prices even without any competitive impetus to do so. Kefauver and most of his Senate colleagues were not impressed and noted it in the report.
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“PAINT THE WORST POSSIBLE PICTURE”
On Tuesday, January 30, 1962, Arthur Sackler, responsible for devising the best strategies for many of the corporate executives who had previously testified, was himself in the spotlight. He was joined by McAdams president Dr. DeForest Ely, a Johns Hopkins–trained physician who had joined the agency in 1947, and Robert Barnard, a patent and trademark litigator and longtime friend.1 I 2
Arthur seemed confident as he settled in front of the subcommittee. The senators might have been more impressed with his demeanor had they known that the previous month, as revealed in documents obtained by the author, two special agents from the New York FBI field office had visited Sackler unexpectedly at the McAdams agency. They questioned him about his friendship with the fugitive Soviet spies Alfred Stern and Martha Dodd.3 Sackler had nearly four years to prepare his answers since the couple had fled to Prague.4
He downplayed to the agents his relationship with the Sterns. As for business, he changed the story and cast Alfred Stern as the one who had first reached out to him. He claimed that Stern had initiated the discussion about buying Schering before the Alien Property Custodian confiscated it. The agents wondered why Stern called Sackler instead of getting in touch with one of Schering’s directors or senior executives. In their memo to headquarters, they noted: “Sackler mentioned that as an expert in the pharmaceutical field he is frequently consulted regarding the mark[et]ing, financing and promotion of pharmaceutical firms.”5 They somehow failed to realize that the Sackler and Stern meeting about putting together an investor group to buy Schering took place in 1941. It was twenty-seven-year-old Sackler’s first job after completing his medical residency. He was an assistant to the chief of a four-person ad department. The agents, though, accepted his version.
Having convinced them that Stern sought his counsel in acquiring Schering, Sackler explained away their subsequent socializing—at their Central Park West co-op, summer home in Connecticut, and “a last minute” invitation to the Toscanini premiere—as all about business. When he spoke to Stern about buying another small pharma company in 1948, he insisted it was a brief conversation and only by telephone. What about the Sterns’ political leanings? Arthur professed to be clueless. To clinch how casually he knew the Americans now wanted as spies, when shown a photo of Martha Dodd, he hesitated before claiming he could not positively identify her. This virtuoso performance left the agents persuaded that Arthur’s connection to the Sterns was largely accidental and most likely innocent.II
Sackler was now prepared to repeat a convincing performance before Kefauver. He had carefully mapped out a strategy, first wanting to establish his own medical credentials and reputation. In documents he had provided to the subcommittee, there was a typed seven-page, single-spaced “bibliography.” It listed fifty-nine scholarly articles he had written, one under way, and a copy of his 1956 book, The Great Physiodynamic Therapies in Psychiatry, done with his brothers and Martí-Ibáñez.6 “A Brief Summary of Research Findings” was an attached sixty-page, two-part report extolling what he claimed he had anticipated and predicted before anyone else in “biologic psychiatry” and “physiology.”7 Sackler also attached letters from some medical luminaries who praised his work.8
His prepared statement emphasized his work as a “research psychiatrist” who “has never had anything to do with testing or marketing of any drugs for clients of McAdams or for any pharmaceutical company.”9 He downplayed the influence of the McAdams agency. It handled, he claimed, only $15 million annually in “good ethical pharmaceutical advertising [that] plays a positive role in advancing the health of the community.”10 That was less than 2 percent of the $750 million pharma spent annually on promotion. “The cost of advertising material which we handle for our clients comes to less than 5 cents per prescription dollar for the drugs.”11
Sackler emphasized that “no amount of money or promotional ingenuity can match demonstrated benefits for patients from good prescription drugs.” The free market would dispose of drugs that failed to deliver what they promised. He reminded the senators that “the American people are healthier, not sicker; our children have less disease, not more, our lifespan has increased, not decreased.”12
As for the subcommittee’s focus on drug prices, Sackler contended that the type of promotion he did—informing doctors about new drugs from his pharma clients—“reduce[s] the cost of medical care even as it helps save lives and prevent suffering.” Since the discovery of psychopharmaceutic drugs, he said, New York State spent $2.2 million on tranquilizers annually, while saving about $10 million in patient care and $170 million in new hospital construction. And just $16,000 in drugs to fight tuberculosis had saved New York City $16 million by converting sanitoriums to other uses.13 Sackler wrapped up by addressing Kefauver’s pending legislation. He believed it was unnecessary since the drug companies and ad agencies such as his had already voluntarily instituted everything the law proposed.14
Kefauver led off the questioning: what possible objection could there be to including a drug’s side effects in any printed ads? Sackler said it would “impose an undue economic hardship upon the little manufacturer who cannot afford the necessary space.”15
Herman Schwartz, the committee’s staff counsel, tried rattling Sackler’s cool demeanor. He brought up Upjohn’s corticosteroid, Medrol, on which Sackler had done a nationwide ad campaign. Arthur was responsible for reporting, producing, and distributing Scope Weekly, Upjohn’s in-house drug promotional that went to 175,000 physicians and all medical schools. Sackler earned $1.5 million annually just from Scope Weekly.16
The heart of the Medrol campaign was two side-by-side X-rays, the first labeled “Ulcerative Colitis” and the second “Ulcerative Colitis Following Treatment.” One California radiologist, on close inspection, suspected that the X-rays were of two different people. When he wrote to Upjohn he discovered that not only were the X-rays of different patients, but he learned that neither had taken Medrol.
What followed was a combative half hour. The more Arthur was pressed, the more obstinate he became.
The ad was not misleading, insisted Sackler. The first X-ray was of “an irreversible condition” so the second X-ray could not be the same person since “you cannot reverse an irreversible condition.”
That is why it is so misleading, countered Schwartz. The ad made it appear that Medrol cured the condition in six weeks.
Nowhere, Sackler argued, did the caption for the second X-ray claim, “Same patient as x-ray No. 1.” At no time did the ad say “before” and “after.” As for neither patient taking Medrol, Sackler said “It never said they did.” Any doctor would know they were different people, he claimed, and the doctor who complained was the only one who did so out of 140,000 physicians.17 The X-rays were only put into the ad as a “constructive service” to help inform physicians “of the total disease.… We were not with those x-rays trying to sell any medicine.”18
“You were trying to get the doctors to prescribe the medicine?” asked Kefauver.
“We are trying to get the doctors to have available additional basic material.”19
Sackler seemed irritated by and contemptuous of the questioning. He resented that the subcommittee did not have a single physician on staff. He told his attorneys that laymen could not understand the complexity of medical science and the finesse necessary to promote it.20 The often sharp back-and-forth was as much an exposé about Sackler’s “never admit a mistake” mind-set as it was about the flaws of what then passed as acceptable medical advertising practices.
Medrol had only been a warm-up for chief counsel Herman Schwartz. Next was MER/29, a cholesterol-lowering medication developed and patented by William S. Merrell, a small Cincinnati drug company and another McAdams client. Sackler and his team rolled out MER/29 with a million-dollar budget in March 1960.21 McAdams sent 100,000 copies of a booklet extolling MER/29 to doctors nationwide. An eight-page color ad ran in prominent medical journals, followed by a deluge of full-page ads and more direct mail. The message: MER/29 was the “first safe” and “nontoxic” drug that lowered cholesterol.22 Merrell’s detail men gave doctors a free 8mm movie that repeated the theme about MER/29’s innovative status. It was a hit, with more than 300,000 users in a year. In October 1961, the Mayo Clinic sent Merrell a report that two patients using the drug had developed cataracts.23 By December, eighteen months after the launch, the FDA required Merrell to send a “Dear Doctor” letter listing a page and a half of possible MER/29 side effects not previously reported; in addition to cataracts there were changes to reproductive organs, reduced adrenal gland function, severe dermatitis, and baldness, among others.24
As the number of adverse reactions piled up, the FDA subpoenaed Merrell’s internal files. It discovered the company had lied about MER/29’s success in animal testing. It had disposed of monkeys who died during the tests but listed them in the final report as having done well. Records of frequent incidents of gall bladder and liver damage, as well as dangerous weight loss, were either destroyed or omitted from the results submitted to the FDA for the drug’s approval. Merrell had also somehow persuaded a group of Cleveland Clinic physicians to postpone their scientific paper disclosing the drug’s “toxic side effects.”25 A week after the FDA had uncovered the evidence of Merrell’s fraud, the company withdrew the drug from the market.26 III 27
The committee now wanted to know when Sackler had learned about MER/29’s side effects. The McAdams promotional campaign had emphasized that “few toxic or serious side effects have been reported” in a prominent ad in the November 4, 1961, JAMA. Merrell knew by then that the FDA had ordered it to send a warning letter to doctors.
Sackler claimed that Merrell had not informed him until late October, and it was then too late to cancel or modify the JAMA ad. In any case, he said, he did not know what the big fuss was about.
That surprised the panel. Chief counsel Schwartz picked up the questioning. What about suppression of the adrenal gland function?
“A good jigger or a few jiggers of whisky may also reduce adrenocortical output,” Sackler replied.
What about the other side effects in the Merrell letter it was ordered to send to physicians?
“I do not believe that thinning of the hair is a toxic side effect,” he quipped. “I’d prefer thin hair to thick coronaries.”28 It was vintage Sackler, a bombastic demeanor mixed in with a dash of condescension (there was no clinical evidence the drug prevented thickening arteries).
“Cataracts are certainly a serious side effect,” Kefauver interrupted.
“There were four [cataract] cases in 300,000 patients,” countered Sackler. Three of those were because the dosage was too high, he claimed. It was possible that the other patient who developed cataracts was simply “a chance finding.”29
He reminded the subcommittee that he and his McAdams team did not write Merrell’s warning letter to doctors. If they had asked for his opinion, he would have told them to fight the FDA directive since it was unnecessary. “There is no therapy which is totally without side effects,” he said. Moreover, all the MER/29 ads he created had in small print: “Complete bibliography and prescription information available on request.”30
No matter what the committee threw at him, Sackler was unfazed. If he was unable to deflect an issue he stonewalled or grew ever more combative. He chided the Senate’s probe, “the whole thing isn’t relevant.”31 When confronted with some of his own memos the investigative staff had obtained, but that he had failed to produce in response to a subpoena, he complained that the committee was trying to trap him instead of getting to the truth. Still, he offered to “testify on this blindfolded, so to speak” while complaining he had not been shown “this material until this morning.”
What about the many documented instances the committee had compiled of misrepresentations and material omissions in the sales pitches by detail men? Sackler was adamant that “we cannot be responsible” for promotion “material which we do not prepare.… We act as agents. I could not in any way testify as to what a drug company does with its detail men unless I was preparing their material.”32 He assured the subcommittee he had nothing to do with any improper strategies for the detail squads.
It seemed the chief counsel might have a “gotcha-moment” when he produced a seventeen-page memo of opposition research prepared by Pfizer, one of Sackler’s main clients. The document, filled with negative data about a competitor’s drug, was distributed to the detail men to use as needed to push doctors away from the rival medication and to instead prescribe the Pfizer brand. The subcommittee had uncovered letters from Sackler to Bill Frohlich discussing the memo in detail.33 The American Medical Association and JAMA, among others, had strict prohibitions against using derogatory information about one drug to promote another. Arthur did not miss a beat.
“Someone sent this material to me, and I simply sent it back with a comment. We have nothing to do with it,” he insisted.34
At another point, asked whether McAdams had suppressed the generic drug names by listing them in small fonts, he said, “Personally, I don’t have any objection to 8 point type.”35 Shown ads in which McAdams had omitted the generic names, he claimed those were “mechanical” errors by a low-level employee. “We had the fewest [errors] of all agencies.”36 Confronted with letters from eight doctors who said that McAdams had used their names as endorsements in ads although they had expressly refused permission, Sackler blamed an employee who “is no longer with William Douglas McAdams.”37
Only during the last hour of his testimony did Sackler lose his defiant stance. It involved questioning about whether he had violated the FDA’s ironclad ban on “direct to consumers” ads. The subcommittee did not know about how Arthur circumvented the FDA prohibition in his celebrated Librium campaign. They did, however, have incriminating evidence about two other promotions they suspected were Sackler’s handiwork. The first was Gray’s Compound, the streamlined name Arthur had picked for Purdue Frederick’s top selling Gray’s Glycerine Tonic Compound. Health Horizons, a general circulation consumer health magazine, had run 178 clippings promoting Gray’s Compound.
“Is Health Horizons an operation of McAdams?” asked Kefauver.
Sackler picked his words with the precision of an attorney. “Not to my knowledge, sir. I do not believe so.”38
The chief counsel said the committee had determined that Health Horizons was owned by Medical and Science Communication Associates. That company had placed prepackaged ads disguised to look as if they were editorial stories into 171 newspapers and magazines about another Purdue product, the laxative Senokot. It seemed suspicious that its office was at the same midtown Manhattan address as the McAdams agency.39 Kefauver pulled a file folder overflowing with documents from his briefcase. He flipped through some pages before holding one near the microphone.
“Is that company yours?” Kefauver asked.
Sackler said, “We used their services,” but dodged a direct answer:
“Senator, I have never had any stock in Medical Science Communications Associates.”
“Was it a department [of yours]?” Kefauver asked.
“No sir, it was not.… And I was never an officer.”
They were an independent company that paid for their own office space, Sackler averred, and whatever they did for drug ads or promotion, he played no role in it.
“Was this done for you?”
“No sir.… I would never approve the utilization of mats such as these in respect to the dissemination of prescription product information.… They were not clients of William Douglas McAdams, to the best of my knowledge.”40 Sackler became agitated when pressed. His voice rose.
“I would like to make it very clear.… Everything I have ever heard is that it is a violation of all the codes, it is unethical and everything else to advertise to the lay public, the idea being that the doctor ought to make the decision and that the patient should not be getting information so that he goes to the doctor and insist on getting the drug. And furthermore, these things don’t set out the side effects, and the paper that takes it usually doesn’t know that it is really advertising, it thinks it is just from a news service. And then the editors who might print an article of that sort of thing is just coming from some foundation or some organization of that sort, too.”41
So, if that was true, why had Sackler incorporated in 1949 another company, Medical Pharmaceutical Information Bureau? It was dedicated to presenting drug research and information to journalists and editors.
“In the late 1940s we believed that a good information service would be valuable.”
He claimed that when he realized the company sent out mats, he told the firm’s president that “I personally felt the practice should stop.” Sackler said he sold his interest in 1951 and declared since then he had “held no stock of any kind, directly or indirectly.”
Kefauver again tried pinning him down about whether he had approved mats for his pharma clients.
“To the best of my knowledge, Senator, I cannot recall.”
That was uncharacteristically vague for a man who prided himself on blunt and direct answers.
The Senate staff knew that Medical Science Communications Associates was owned by Arthur’s ex-wife, Else, and Helen Haberman, the highest-ranking female executive at McAdams (the duo later merged it into Medical and Science Communications Development).42 The obfuscation was vintage Sackler. He hid his own role and equity stake under different names, as he had done time and again in ventures with Bill Frohlich, Félix Martí-Ibáñez, and his brothers.43
In wrapping up his testimony, Sackler told the senators that the proposed legislation was not necessary. The government should instead stop overregulating the pharmaceutical industry and allow it to police itself. As Sackler prepared to leave, Nebraska’s outspoken Roman Hruska apologized for the accusatory questioning. It was a shame, he said, that his colleagues had tried “to paint the worst possible picture” of drug advertising.44
Arthur was confident he had done a great job. Some of his friends were not as convinced. Bill Frohlich, who was scheduled to testify the following day, changed his mind after he learned about the aggressive questioning. He got a doctor to send the committee a letter by messenger that he had “an eye disorder which might be aggravated by his appearance, and that he is somewhere in Germany.”
I. Preparation for his Senate testimony had not prevented Sackler from indulging new time-consuming pharma-related opportunities. He encouraged another of his attorneys, Stanley Wolder, to form a journal about the crossroads of medical science and law. The author discovered that five months after Sackler’s Senate appearance, the International Academy of Law & Science was incorporated in New York. Wolder was a director, and the editor of its journal, Lex et Scientia. Arthur convinced a number of his own pharma clients to hire Wolder as a consultant.
II. The agents were also initially concerned that Sackler had hired a former State Department employee, Mary Jane Keeney, dismissed as a security risk during the McCarthy hearings. The FBI had opened an espionage investigation into her husband but never built a case strong enough to arrest him.
III. Injured patients filed more than 1,500 civil suits against Merrell. Many were consolidated into a class action, one of the largest ever at that time against a drug company. While Merrell is estimated to have earned slightly more than $1 million in profits in the two years preceding the drug’s recall, the civil settlements eventually cost much more, some $200 million. Compounding Merrell’s problems, the Justice Department brought criminal charges against a vice president and three managers. They pled no contest to the charges.
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THALIDOMIDE TO THE RESCUE
Kefauver soon had more on his mind than Sackler. After the last witness testified in February 1962, the proposed legislation went to the Judiciary Committee for review. According to Kefauver, at “a secret meeting” with some other senators, the pharma industry “just about knocked the bill right out of the ring.”1
The drug industry’s lobbying was effective because few politicians feared voter backlash if they failed to control drug prices. The lack of public outcry over the hearings had emboldened the industry. The revised bill that emerged from the Judiciary Committee was “a mere shadow of” the original, Kefauver lamented.2 Gone were key revisions of the patent law. Kefauver’s two-and-a-half-year quest to change the way the pharmaceutical industry priced its drugs was on the verge of being scuttled.
Everything abruptly changed in mid-July. “ ‘Heroine’ of FDA Keeps Bad Drug off Market,” ran the front-page headline in The Washington Post.3 It was the story of “how [the] skepticism and stubbornness of a government physician… a bureaucratic nitpicker… prevented what could have been an appalling American tragedy.” The doctor was Frances Oldham Kelsey, an FDA approval officer. Merrell, the same firm that had faked studies for its MER/29 cholesterol drug, pressured Kelsey to approve thalidomide, a sedative sold over the counter throughout Europe as a nonaddictive sleep aid and a morning sickness treatment for expectant mothers.4 At that time, a drug was automatically approved if the FDA took no action within sixty days of an application. Kelsey, however, had delayed the process by peppering Merrell with many requests for more information.5 Despite the company’s arguments, she was not convinced of the drug’s safety.6
By the time of the Washington Post story, there was evidence of its dangers with some reports of horrible birth deformities in mothers who had taken the drug. (Eventually, thalidomide was blamed for more than ten thousand infants worldwide born with extreme underdevelopment of the arms or feet. Two thousand died of complications.)7 I 8
The tremendous fright caused by the thalidomide disaster revived overnight Kefauver’s moribund legislation. The outcry sparked a bipartisan rush by politicians all wanting to take some credit for drug reform. A nationwide poll showed that 76 percent of those queried about “government control over drugs” thought it should be “more strict.”9 Kefauver embraced the newfound support even though he realized it meant abandoning his campaign to foster more competition and control pricing in favor of crafting a bill that focused on consumer safety.
Pharma was now on the defensive. It did not want to be cast as the villain by opposing a bill now framed as providing necessary safeguards to prevent the next thalidomide tragedy. The industry’s main lobbying group, the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association, begrudgingly embraced some provisions that enhanced drug safety while resisting efforts to revive any of the antitrust and patent revisions.10
Adding to pharma’s problems was a book published during the Senate hearings. Biologist Rachel Carson’s Silent Spring indicted the dangers of unfettered pesticides in the environment and food chain. She warned about many health dangers, including possibly cancer.II 11 Carson’s revelations about how American chemical companies often put profits ahead of people and the planet amplified similar concerns around thalidomide.12 Polls showed it shook confidence in the post–World War II faith in science and medicine. Many Americans had faith in DuPont’s slogan, “Better Living Through Chemistry.” And an equal number had clung to a good opinion of pharmaceutical companies, believing that their mission of discovering cures somehow made them more altruistic.13
The public’s anger emboldened the FDA’s Young Turks, junior grade officials who believed the agency was hobbled by its insufficient powers. They lobbied Kefauver to include in his bill sufficient regulatory tools for the FDA to better keep tabs on the drug industry and its products. Kefauver offered to abandon his efforts to limit patents in order to get a few wavering senators to commit to giving the FDA significantly more authority.14
The legislation that had seemed dead only a few months earlier was passed unanimously by the Senate and House. President Kennedy signed it into law on October 10. It was the first major reform of the nation’s drug laws since the 1938 Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act and it marked the end to the hundred-year experiment in which the industry had policed itself and the public self-medicated. Consumer advocates hailed the law’s safeguards.
The Kefauver Amendments marked the first time that all drug manufacturers had to register with the FDA, satisfy quality control standards, and agree to regular on-site inspections. The sixty-day time limit for an FDA examiner to respond to a new drug application was abolished. The FDA got the power to recall drugs it judged “an imminent hazard to the public health” or that failed to deliver their therapeutic claims.15 The agency no longer had to wait until there was a trail of injured or dead patients for proof of a drug’s danger. The statute also empowered the FDA, much to the consternation of Medicine Avenue, to ensure that advertisements to doctors struck a “fair balance” between promotional hyperbole and scientific accuracy.16 The law did not define “fair balance,” but left it to the FDA to figure out.17
While those changes were important, they paled in comparison to a few key provisions that made the Kefauver Amendments landmark legislation. Before the law, in order for a pharma firm to get its drug approved by the FDA, it only had to show the medication was reasonably safe. The FDA had no authority to consider whether the drug worked for what it was intended.18 The focus only on safety resulted in therapeutically useless medications hitting the market. The technical distinction about the FDA’s power was never clear to the public, which assumed that government approval meant a drug was safe and effective. All drugs now had to establish “substantial evidence” of efficacy based on “adequate and well-controlled studies.” Each pharma firm had the burden of proof to demonstrate its drug “will have the effect it purports or is represented to have.” The law did not define “adequate and well-controlled studies,” again leaving the specifics to the FDA.19
If the intent of the Kefauver Amendments was to ensure that all future drugs actually worked, what about the more than nine thousand medications the FDA had approved between 1938 and 1962 when efficacy was not considered?20 Some four thousand were still on the market, including a couple of hundred me-too drugs that had been approved with only an FDA advisory letter.21 The Kefauver Amendments required that those pre-1962 medications had to also be examined for effectiveness. It gave two years for the pharma companies to assemble the evidence for the effectiveness of their early drugs.
Meeting the goals of the new law meant substantially more work for the FDA. That was not easy given its limited resources: the agency’s budget allowed it to inspect drug factories on average only every five and a half years.22 As an initial step, the FDA split its Division of New Drugs into five separate departments: the Investigational Drug Branch (evaluating the clinical studies pharma submitted); Controls Evaluation (reviewing product controls at research labs and manufacturing plants); Medical Evaluation (judging the safety and efficacy data in the New Drug Application forms); New Drug Status (working with manufacturers on the correct dosing levels); and New Drug Surveillance (compiling side effect reports).
Pharma companies feared that the law would make the drug approval process much longer, costlier, and more complex.23 Pharma’s apprehension soon turned to alarm. Frances Kelsey, the FDA medical officer who had refused to approve the sale of thalidomide in the U.S., was appointed the chief of the new Investigational Drug Branch.24 Kelsey was a certified national hero. President Kennedy had awarded her the Distinguished Civilian Service Award, the highest honor for a government employee. Dozens of newspapers and half a dozen national magazines had published glowing profiles that made her the most recognizable face in FDA history.25
In January 1963, to eliminate ambiguity over the law’s undefined “adequate and well-controlled studies,” Kelsey announced a detailed protocol that every pharma company had to follow to demonstrate the efficacy of their proposed new drugs. Under Kelsey’s rules, firms could not start human trials until they first convinced the Investigational Drug Branch that the proposed medication had no serious adverse effects and demonstrated therapeutic effectiveness in animal testing. Only then could they start the first of three phases for the human trials. The Kefauver Amendments gave the FDA the final say over the qualifications of the researchers and facilities chosen for those trials. The first phase, composed of several dozen volunteers, focused on safety. The second phase tested for therapeutic effectiveness on a minimum of several hundred patients. Kelsey’s final stage was a backbreaker for pharma. It required randomized comparative testing against a similar drug or a placebo, using thousands of patients in many different locations. Kelsey made it evident that the FDA would give the most credence to double-blind trials, those in which neither the investigator nor the volunteer knew who received the drug and who got the placebo.26 The 1963 rules would remain virtually intact for more than fifty years.
Pharma firms immediately withdrew about a quarter of the pending drug applications at the FDA, those that had not been approved before the Kefauver Amendments became law. They were medications judged to have a “low commercial priority” because they addressed rare illnesses and small numbers of patients. They did not seem profitable given the expense and time of the new clinical study requirements. Harry Shirkey, a leading pediatrician and chairman of the AMA’s Council on Drugs, dubbed those medications “pharmaceutical orphans.”27 (Decades later the government would create a statute to revive them, turning the orphaned drugs from an abandoned category into the highest-priced sliver of the industry.)
The rigorous testing also had an unintended consequence that only became evident years later. It marked the beginning of the end for the era where individual researchers filtered tens of thousands of soil samples searching for antibacterial microbes or screening hundreds of compounds for signs of psychopharmacological activity. It was, of course, still possible for a lone scientist in a small lab to get lucky and discover an unknown and promising drug. And that did occasionally happen. But completing the FDA’s three stages of clinical trials was incredibly more complex and took several years on average. Every company knew that no matter how promising a compound looked in a lab, it might be quite different when administered to patients. The high failure rate for innovative drugs was a reason why many pharma firms turned out me-too drugs.28 Since 1960, the average pharma company put about 25 percent of its R&D budget into research for an entirely new class of drugs and 75 percent into developing me-too drugs.29 Risk taking—starting—became an ever-rarer commodity in American pharma in the coming decades.30
It was not feasible to apply Kelsey’s strict benchmarks for new drug approval to the four thousand pre-1962 medications still on the market. Research scientists estimated that reviewing all the published clinical information for those drugs would take between twenty-five and fifty years. Minnesota senator Hubert Humphrey, himself a pharmacist by trade, held hearings that summer about how federal agencies could better cooperate in regulating drugs.31 One of the committee’s final recommendations was that the AMA’s Council on Drugs should take a more proactive role in providing unbiased drug information to doctors.32 The Council on Drugs was game, but it had trouble keeping up even with just those drugs recently approved by the FDA. It managed on average to analyze only one of every three new medications fully. By the time doctors got the AMA information, it was often so late that newer drugs had replaced the ones the AMA had studied.33 No matter how strong an exhortation the AMA received from Congress, it was evident the country’s largest medical association could not keep up with the flood of drugs coming out of pharma labs.
The same was true at the FDA where the agency lacked the skilled staff and know-how to fully carry out its expanded powers.34 Its annual budget was less than what some companies spent on introducing a single major drug.35
Pharma, meanwhile, complained publicly that the onerous regulations would stifle innovation. Privately they carped about how clinical testing would slow their products getting to the market and increase their costs. Pharma encouraged its allies to rally against the Kefauver Amendments in the hope that a future Congress might rein in some of the broader powers it granted to the FDA. At a midsummer 1963 international symposium in Chicago, many prestigious academicians, pharmacologists, and scientists expressed serious concerns about whether the new regulations would “snuff out the life of clinical pharmacology.” A survey of medical school researchers that year revealed that 75 percent said the law had made them disinclined to finish their current projects and less likely to start new ones.
The International Business and Financial Weekly and other conservative financial publications ran editorials condemning the FDA’s expansive new powers and urged Congress to “clip their wings.”36 The era’s two leading libertarian economists, George Stigler and Milton Friedman, were adamant that only the free market should determine whether or not a product was effective. Drugs that did not work or were too expensive for the benefit they provided would lose out to more effective and lower-priced medications. The only role for the government, they declared, was to ensure that drugs were safe before they were sold to the public.37
Pharma had a superb confederate in the American Medical Association, which condemned the Kefauver Amendments for usurping the judgment of physicians. Just as Stigler and Friedman argued, the AMA contended the FDA’s only focus in approving drugs was safety. Questions of efficacy should be the exclusive province of dispensing doctors who had firsthand experience with patients. The Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association added to the firestorm by denigrating the qualifications of some of the FDA’s newly hired medical officers when compared to renowned doctors. It was intended to raise doubts about the ability of the young government regulators, some just fresh from school, to pass judgment on drug effectiveness.38
Over time, pharma would point to a falloff in the number of annual drug approvals as evidence that the Kefauver Amendments had crimped innovation (the FDA’s counterargument was that the lower number of approvals simply represented “a more measured scientific pace”). The slower approval process was dubbed “drug lag,” and later kicked off a debate about whether the U.S. rules had allowed European pharma firms to surpass their American rivals.39
Drug industry executives shared a like-minded strategy, their belief that if the new regulations were onerous for pharma, they were crushing for the FDA. Their plan was simple. On every new drug application, they would bury the agency in dozens of three-ring binders crammed with information about clinical trials and laboratory minutiae.40 Records from Parke-Davis show that its application for an epinephrine product in 1938 totaled twenty-seven pages. A decade later, it submitted seventy-three pages when applying for approval on a new expectorant. Its largest submission to the FDA before the Kefauver Amendments had been 430 pages in 1958. After the law, its 1962 application for a contraceptive was 8,500 pages. For a new anesthetic in a few years, Parke-Davis sent to the FDA a backbreaking 167 volumes, consisting of 12,370 pages.41
Pharma planned to appeal FDA decisions they did not like. Hiring more lawyers and outside medical experts would be part of the price of doing business in the post-Kefauver world. The FDA, however, was not naive about pharma’s entrenched resistance. George Larrick, its commissioner, was a former senior federal food and drug inspector. Dwight Eisenhower had appointed him to run the FDA in 1954. He avoided the media and instead worked quietly during his tenure to build bipartisan support in Congress. Larrick’s discreet lobbying was one of the chief reasons that Congress felt comfortable putting the enhanced drug enforcement powers of the Kefauver Amendments under the FDA. In 1954, when he took charge, there were 950 employees and the agency had a $6 million annual budget. Before Larrick left the FDA in 1965, its budget had increased tenfold to $50 million, and it had more than four thousand employees. Many of the new hires had medical degrees or doctorates in pharmacology.42
Larrick’s problem, however, was his poor public image. His quiet, behind-the-scenes arm-twisting may have benefited his agency, but it did not lend itself to good press coverage. To the extent the public knew him, it was as the man who had been duped for several years by Henry Welch, the disgraced chief of the antibiotics division who had been business partners with Martí-Ibáñez. And even though the FDA had prevented a disaster with thalidomide, that credit went to Frances Kelsey. Consumer advocates criticized Larrick for an open-door policy that allowed pharma to have considerable access to and influence over FDA regulators, including the examiners responsible for approving drugs. He was, according to a lead editorial in The Washington Post, “an indifferent steward of an important post.”43
Maybe the dismissive coverage was one of the reasons that Larrick decided to flex the FDA’s new powers. He did not go out of his way to pick a fight. Nor did he, however, shy away from one. Larrick settled on a class of medications he considered an easy target: drugs containing an antibiotic in combination with antihistamines, decongestants, or analgesics, marketed “for the relief of symptoms and prevention of complications of the common cold.”44
Medical studies in academic journals had overwhelmingly concluded those drugs were virtually worthless in fighting the viruses that caused colds. Arthur Sackler, however, had demonstrated that good promotion trumped the scholars when it came to sales. In 1955 he joined with his friend Bill Frohlich and took control of the campaign for Lederle’s Achrocidin, a combination of tetracycline, antihistamine, and an analgesic. Its sales were then an anemic seven thousand annual prescriptions. The duo devised a typically aggressive direct-to-physician mailer. Their ads featured a picture of an obviously ill patient under the words “It Started With A Cold,” noting that colds occasionally turned into upper respiratory infections. They cited a study that the odds were one in eight of developing a much more serious condition, such as pneumonia, bronchitis, sinusitis, and tonsillitis. They created the tagline “To protect and relieve the ‘cold’ patient: Achrocidin.”45
The advertisements did not disclose that the cited study was from 1933. Nor did it make any reference to the twenty far more up-to-date scholarly articles concluding the drug was useless for treating a cold. Lederle’s medical director was concerned the ads were misleading. Sackler and Frohlich had played with words and symptoms so that at a quick glance the product seemed a worthwhile remedy. Lederle’s medical director formally objected but was overridden. The company mailed the ads to 140,000 physicians. They also ran them extensively in medical journals. For physicians without the time or inclination to do their own research, those pitches—combined with free samples and visits by the Lederle detail men—proved persuasive.
The new promotion made sales pop from the minuscule seven thousand prescriptions to over four million in 1962. Lederle’s cold medication accounted for a remarkable 5 percent of all antibiotic sales in America.46 Sackler’s Medical Tribune later published the results of its own informal survey of doctors that supposedly ran ten to one in favor of prescribing antibiotics for the common cold.47
Larrick had watched intently when the Kefauver subcommittee investigated the Achrocidin ad campaign. The Senate panel had been frustrated since under the existing law, Sackler’s ad did not violate rules for how drug companies sold their products. That ad was no longer being run. So Larrick decided that under the new law, the FDA should go after the drug itself.
In August 1963, the FDA announced its intent to “decertify” Achrocidin and other prescription cold remedies. Simultaneously, the agency challenged the efficacy of thirty less frequently used antibiotics, some of which were sold in over-the-counter mouthwashes, throat lozenges, and nose sprays. Larrick relied on the recommendation of a group of leading science advisors the FDA had appointed in conjunction with the National Academy of Sciences. Their conclusion was that all the antibiotic drugs targeted for removal were of “no value in preventing or treating colds.”48 The New York Times listed another reason for the FDA’s move: “Frequent use can cause patients to develop resistance to the drugs, sometimes making them useless when the patient really needs them.”49 Those who opposed the move had thirty days to respond. The first battle in the post-Kefauver drug world had begun.
I. Although Kelsey had prevented thalidomide from going on sale in America, Merrell had distributed the drug for clinical safety trials to some twenty thousand patients in the United States. No one is certain how many of those patients were pregnant, but the FDA later concluded that seventeen babies with thalidomide deformities were born in the U.S. In South America and some Asian countries it continued to be sold by foreign drug companies for another decade under different product names that never disclosed any thalidomide content.
II. Carson’s main culprit was DuPont’s DDT, an insecticide often deployed by aerial spraying. It took activists a decade battling the chemical industry before the Environmental Protection Agency banned DDT in the U.S. The activist network spawned by Silent Spring was the driving force behind the 1970 creation of the Environmental Protection Agency.
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THE $100 MILLION DRUG
Sackler and his Medicine Avenue colleagues had their own concerns about the Kefauver Amendments. The law threatened to turn medical advertising into one of the most regulated fields of commercial promotion.1 Labels and ads had to list all active ingredients and the drug’s generic name. (The Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association and thirty-seven drug companies sued the following year to invalidate the requirement for listing the generic name every time the brand name was mentioned; the FDA agreed to withdraw that provision after the case reached the Supreme Court in 1967.)2 Even more irritating to Medicine Avenue was that the FDA would be the final arbiter of whether their promotions were “scientifically accurate.” Ads also had to include a “brief summary” of the warnings and side effects from the package insert. No one knew what a “brief summary” meant in practice.
Sackler urged restraint to both rivals and friends. The agency could now recall any drug if its advertisements violated the new standards. Sackler reasoned that if Medicine Avenue did not unnecessarily provoke the government’s only drug regulatory agency, it might not make advertising enforcement a top priority. There was little doubt the FDA had its hands full with approving new drugs and the fight to decertify fixed-dose cold remedies. The ad men hoped that all the new regulations would only affect future promotional campaigns, for drugs that were under development in laboratories.
To Medicine Avenue’s relief, there were few changes initially. In the meantime, ad campaigns for antibiotics continued to be the most lucrative moneymakers for the agencies. No one then knew that the golden age of antibiotic discovery was coming to an end. Half of all the ones used today had already been discovered.3
Arthur Sackler had made his reputation in medical advertising a decade earlier with his aggressive rollout for Pfizer’s Terramycin. Librium revealed what he would do next. Librium had become popular so fast that Hubert Humphrey’s 1963 Senate investigation had made it a stand-alone part of their review of federal drug oversight. The disclosures about Librium were largely lost in the nearly one-thousand-page final report. The report noted that Roche’s claims about Librium’s “remarkable effectiveness and versatility” were from “completely uncontrolled studies” where no effort was made “to observe any of the established disciplines” for reliable trials. And a slow but steadily growing list of side effects—vertigo, drowsiness, impaired thinking, slurred speech, confusion, and sometimes hallucinations—were documented.4 A study of thirty-six patients on high doses of Librium was the first to suggest it might cause dependence.5 Another reported that the car accident rate of daily Librium users was ten times greater than average.6
Few physicians kept abreast of ever-changing drug updates much less had incentive to tackle a six-inch-thick government report. Despite Librium’s spiking adverse effect profile, most doctors continued ranking it as one of the safest drugs on the market.7 A nationwide poll of physicians provided the best evidence of the impact of Sackler’s marketing: Librium was ranked as “one of the most significant advances in medical therapy.” It was the top physicians’ choice when asked “What drug is most useful in your own practice?” Librium also was the number one pick by doctors asked to select a drug that “was not used as primary therapy” but that “made the biggest contribution to easing the course of illness from the patient’s perspective.”8
Competitors worked furiously to create a rival drug. The results were more than a dozen me-too applications to the FDA, all chemical derivatives of Miltown.9 Unlocking the chemistry of benzodiazepines and creating a serious Librium competitor proved far more challenging. Even before the FDA’s 1960 approval of Librium, Roche had decided to protect its giant research lead in the new category by developing its own contender to its wonder drug. Leo Sternbach, the Roche scientist who discovered Librium, set about developing a successor. Sackler encouraged that strategy. He knew that every drug, no matter how indomitable it seemed when introduced, eventually lost market share to newer meds.10
This time, Sternbach’s laboratory quest was simpler. Instead of testing hundreds of compounds in the improbable hunt for a new class of therapeutic treatments, he focused on “changing the molecule without losing the tranquilizing activity.”11 Roche wanted a better me-too Librium.12
Only a small team at Roche knew that on October 26, 1959, three months before the FDA had given Librium its final approval, Sternbach had found his improved benzo. Never before had a pharmaceutical firm devoted so many resources to developing a competing drug to one of its own brands, before that first one was even on the market. Sternbach gave his new drug the generic name diazepam. Roche finally settled on Valium for the brand, from the Latin valere, “to be strong and powerful.”
Once again, Roche awarded Sternbach its $10,000 prize for an important discovery. He was only midway through a career that eventually garnered 241 drug patents (at one point, his discoveries accounted for a remarkable 40 percent of Roche’s international sales). “After I won that award three or four times,” Roche stopped giving it out every year.13 I 14
In its 1960 FDA submission, Roche claimed Valium to be more potent than Librium and with fewer side effects. Clinical testing confirmed that claim, demonstrating it was ten times stronger than Librium as an anticonvulsant and five times more powerful as a muscle relaxant and tranquilizer.15 Valium had an additional marketing advantage since it did not have Librium’s bitter aftertaste. Roche did not include that on its application since it was not required.
As opposed to Librium, which had been approved by the FDA before the 1962 Kefauver Amendments, Roche had to demonstrate “substantial evidence” of Valium’s efficacy. The FDA was inundated with voluminous pending me-too variations of Miltown, and it was handicapped in reviewing mind drugs, as it had only two psychiatrists in its drug division.16 It took three years before Valium was approved on November 15, 1963, ironically while the Senate hearings were under way about the undisclosed dangers of its chemical cousin, Librium.
The Senate scolding on Librium did not change Sackler’s grandiose plans for Valium’s rollout.17 “Without question, Valium was the biggest,” recalled Win Gerson, who had joined McAdams for the Librium campaign. “One of the great attributes of Valium was that it could be used by almost every specialty. There’s an anxiety component in literally every phase of medicine.”18
Roche had committed a record-setting $10 million for the drug’s promotion. “That was unheard of,” said Gerson. “Valium changed the way we communicated with physicians.” Four-page pullout ads became eight pages, direct mail to physicians included three-dimensional inserts, video specials ran on the closed-circuit TV systems at hospitals.19
Librium had featured the San Diego Zoo lynx and many of the ads were an emotional pitch about the need for a medication to keep at bay modern life’s insidious anxiety. For Valium, Sackler ditched the theatrics and concentrated on the drug’s robust therapeutic profile. “Stronger is better” was the core message. And he emphasized the science behind the new pill.20
Roche’s desire for an aggressive rollout aligned ideally with Sackler’s style. In the summer of 1963, six months before the drug went on sale, the FDA had summoned Roche’s chief of research, requesting that he bring the evidence to support its request to advertise Valium as a treatment for “nervousness.”21 Valium’s clinical trials were conducted before the Kefauver Amendments required much stricter standards for testing. Matthew Ellenhorn, the FDA chief for the Division of New Drugs, was not impressed with Roche’s trials. He suggested the company conduct more testing. Roche and Sackler ignored that advice. The first ad in JAMA that December touted Valium’s effectiveness in treating “incapacitating symptoms of insomnia, nervousness, agitation, tension, irritability, and associated physical symptoms.”22
The FDA called another meeting in which the New Drug Surveillance Branch asked Roche to remove one of Sackler’s most prominent ad lines, “No serious side effects.” The agency had received early reports that some patients developed ataxia, a loss of bodily functions. Roche said it would take the advice under consideration. Nothing changed in Sackler’s ads.
Roche was determined to make Valium a bigger success than its record-setting Librium. It spent lavishly on the detail team, dispatching them not just to pitch individual doctors, but to sell to medical institutions, hospitals, mental clinics, government health care facilities, and the military. It also increased the budget for free samples, something Sackler thought particularly useful for introducing a lifestyle drug. Roche distributed so many free samples—in one year in Canada it gave away 82 million pills just to hospitals—that health advocates complained the drug was dispensed to many people who did not need it. (It took a decade before Roche responded to the criticism and announced it would distribute free samples only if doctors requested them by returning a prepaid postcard the company provided. After that change, it still gave away on average about 15 million tablets every year.)23
Sackler personalized the promotion for Valium based on information from Bill Frohlich and his data collection firm, IMS. It cross-referenced the doctors who subscribed to medical journals with their prescribing habits. Sackler convinced Roche to organize physician focus groups to gauge their responses to different ads.24 The company also created a Sackler-inspired program explaining why benzodiazepines were the most effective drugs to counter the dangerous effects of too much stress. And it embraced Arthur’s then radical idea to use emerging video technology to promote the benzos as part of an accredited program by which physicians could earn continuing education credits. Roche created a three-hour closed-circuit television course and spent more than a million dollars on financing the Network for Continuing Medical Education (Sackler had by then started his own CME courses). There was also a consumer version for journalists specializing in health and medicine.25 Emphasizing Valium’s benefits for countering the bad effects of stress allowed Roche to suggest its wonder pill should be dispensed for everything from migraines to ulcers to diabetes to obesity.
The ads in journals for gynecologists, for instance, targeted menopause; obstetricians, controlling muscle contractions in early labor; orthopedists, muscle spasms; neurologists, how it helped with epilepsy and cerebral palsy; cardiologists, control of hypertension and as an aid in regulating arrhythmia; surgeons, its use as a preanesthetic; and substance abuse specialists, how it reduced the severity of withdrawal symptoms for alcoholics.26
Sackler had opted to skip most journals directed to psychiatrics since he assumed they were aware of the benefits of benzos.27 It worked. Although psychiatrists wrote large numbers of Valium and Librium prescriptions, most of Roche’s success was through an astonishing 97 percent of general practitioners who dispensed them.28
Valium set a new standard for what a scientist later called “choose your mood medications.”29 Doctors had written more than 50 million prescriptions in the peak year for the minor tranquilizers Miltown and Equanil. That was far more than all antipsychotics and antidepressants, only behind barbiturates and antibiotics.30 Librium’s sales left Miltown in the dust. It had topped 70 million prescriptions annually. And Valium was in a class of its own, with more than 100 million per year to American consumers.31
“Miltown and Librium had created the right atmosphere,” noted Gilbert Cant, Time magazine’s medical editor. “In the crassest of clichés, Valium represented an idea whose time had come.”32 Fortunately for Roche, Sackler had helped to make Valium fashionable.
“Executive Excedrin” or “Psychic Aspirin” were its Wall Street nicknames. The Rolling Stones sang about it in their 1966 hit “Mother’s Little Helper.” “Mother needs something today to calm her down. And though she’s not really ill, there’s a little yellow pill…”33 That same year novelist Jacqueline Susann called Valium “dolls” in her best-selling Valley of the Dolls.
Sackler’s campaign made Valium the pharmaceutical industry’s first $100 million drug.34 “Astronomical at the time, particularly in those days when prices were not increased as often as they are today,” said McAdams’s Gerson.35 Its success was so pervasive that for years its brand name was used in a broad sense to mean tranquilizer (the same as Xerox had in the 1950s and 1960s been used to mean photocopy).36
At Roche’s New Jersey manufacturing plant, three enormous pill-stamping machines churned out 30 million pills every fifteen hours.37 For what would become a record-setting stretch of thirteen years, as The New York Times noted, the world’s top selling drug “is not, as might be expected, a hopeful remedy for some life-threatening or fatal condition like cancer or heart disease or a crippler like arthritis. Instead, it is a white or pastel-colored tablet generally prescribed for an emotional state vaguely described as anxiety.”38 II 39
Roche had worried that every Valium prescription might replace one that would have been dispensed for Librium. Instead, Valium expanded the market for tranquilizers by adding upward of a million new patients. When Valium became the country’s top selling drug, Librium was still number three (the contraceptive pill was second). It had surpassed six billion total tablets in sales.40 The two blockbuster benzos averaged about 80 percent of the tranquilizer market and made Roche the most profitable drug firm on the planet.41
“Every publicly traded drug company worried about a huge spike in revenues and profits from a blockbuster,” recalls marketing executive Richard Sperber. “We all liked the success but not too much at once, it could not stay at that level forever. At some point, the year-over-year drop would look bad.” Sometimes companies diverted sales income into so-called opportunity spending, a catchall for ambitious future projects. Accountants worked magic to keep some of it off the revenue ledger.42
There were not enough accounting tricks or phantom programs to hide the flood of money that poured into Roche from benzos. The company’s stock peaked at a high of $73,000 a share, earning it the distinction as the most expensive publicly traded stock at that time. Fortune dubbed Valium “the greatest commercial success ever.”43
I. Several of Sternbach’s subsequent benzo derivative discoveries became major sellers, including the tranquilizer Rohypnol, later notorious as a date rape drug; the sedative/hypnotic Alodorm; and the anti-insomnia Mogadon. As for two others, the long-acting sleep sedative Dalmane, and the antianxiety Klonopin, Roche patented them in 1963 and 1964, respectively. However, Dalmane was not marketed until 1970 and Klonopin did not go on sale until 1975. Roche did not want to introduce them in the mid-1960s as additional rivals to the market that Librium and Valium then dominated.
II. For a decade after its introduction in 1963, Valium’s new prescriptions outnumbered refills. That was the best evidence of an expanding market. In 1974, refills held a three-to-two advantage over new scrips. The silver lining was that the overall number of Valium prescriptions had not decreased, only more were going to existing patients. Roche knew that patients were loyal and felt the drug worked; studies reported that 95 percent of patients reported Valium helped them, an astonishing result for any drug, much less one that had been on the market for ten years at that stage.
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LEGAL BUT SOMEHOW “SHIFTY”
Lost in the flood of good news about Valium and Librium were the first warning signs of problems with the drugs. It came in a final report in late 1963 from the President’s Advisory Commission on Narcotic and Drug Abuse.1 It seemed an unlikely forum to address the benzos since JFK had created the seven-person panel in January to study ways “to prevent abuse of narcotic and non-narcotic drugs.” Its focus was amphetamine and barbiturate abuse, both of which had been the subject of alarming FDA warnings. Half the enormous annual pharmaceutical amphetamine production found its way to the illegal market.2 News accounts demonized amphetamine “thrill pills” as the culprit for everything from increased road accidents for long-haul truckers to broken homes, porn and prostitution, and juvenile crime.3 A sharp spike in overdose deaths was blamed on barbiturates (Marilyn Monroe’s accidental overdose the previous year had made the topic a front-page story).
As part of its mandate, the Advisory Commission tackled the complicated issue of addiction. Scientists could not agree in the early 1960s about what qualified as drug addiction. There was a debate about differences between habituation, psychological, physiological, and physical dependence.4 Adding to the challenge, only three of the prominent and well-connected directors had medical backgrounds.I5
The commission’s report was due sometime in November. Arthur Sackler and Roche knew it had gathered anecdotal information that Miltown and Librium might cause dependence. Few thought it had compiled enough evidence to make any firm conclusions about the so-called minor tranquilizers. Still, Sackler was on call in case the report included anything that needed to be rebutted about Roche’s benzo.
Arthur hoped that the commission report might not be released until December, as he wanted to tend first to a personal matter. Sackler had devised a deal he wanted to make with New York’s premier museum, the Metropolitan Museum of Art. It was common knowledge among New York art collectors and philanthropists that following the 1960–61 recession, the Metropolitan had a tough time raising money for a major renovation of its outdated galleries. Arthur had set a meeting with James Rorimer, the museum’s director.
Sackler was not the type of mega-collector the Met usually courted. It concentrated on master Renaissance and Postimpressionist paintings and sculptures. The only museum to which Sackler had then given any of his artifacts was Phoenix’s Art Museum a few months after it opened in 1959. His partial underwriting of a Laboratory of Art History and Archaeology at Columbia got him an appointment to an advisory panel in the art department. Sackler was conspicuously absent for any major grant to the nation’s top museums, the Met, as well as its rivals, the Museum of Fine Arts in Boston, the Philadelphia Museum of Art, Chicago’s Art Institute, and the Smithsonian and National Gallery in D.C.
The New York art world—dominated then by WASPs with patrician family ties that often traced their wealth to the Industrial Revolution—sneered at Sackler as a nouveau riche wannabe-patron. Robert Lehman, the banker who ran Lehman Brothers and himself a major art collector and contributor to the Metropolitan, considered the Met Trustees “an anti-Semitic club.”6 They noted Sackler had started assembling his Chinese antiquities in the late 1940s, when Asian art was out of style. The hard-line communist crackdown on arts and culture had tempered enthusiasm for the entire field.7 A major reason the market for Chinese collectibles was depressed was not only that it was illegal for Americans to do business with the mainland, but the communist leadership had banned all sales and exports to the West.8 Sackler used middlemen to acquire the artifacts he secretly purchased in communist China and stored them at the German factory of Dr. Kade Pharmaceutical, the company Marietta had inherited.9 II 10
“To those who respected him, he was shrewd,” said Thomas Hoving, later the director of the Met. “To those who detested him and his practices, he was slippery. And slippery was how he was regarded at the Met.”11 Maybe, some wondered, instead of possessing an intrinsic sense of style and culture, Sackler had chosen Asian art because he was a bargain hunter simply looking for the cheapest collectibles.12 It was also well known among New York collectors that Arthur relied often on the advice of Dr. Paul Singer, a Hungarian-born, Vienna-schooled psychiatrist and self-taught Asian art authority.13 He was the perfect complement to Arthur’s focus on grand and much sought-after collectibles. Singer focused instead on rare, small archaeological objects found in digs throughout Asia and bypassed by dealers. He called them “the things that looters left behind.”14
The two had psychiatric backgrounds and Judaism in common, and while neither had been to China nor spoke the language, they shared a passion for Chinese art.15 Since 1957, when they first met, Sackler paid for the rent on Singer’s Summit, New Jersey, apartment, a two-bedroom that was crammed floor to ceiling with antiques. Arthur also agreed to a monthly consulting fee as well as to secure off-site storage if Singer needed space for new acquisitions, all of which Sackler underwrote. The agreement allowed Singer to concentrate on hunting for artifacts without the pressures of fretting about how he might pay his monthly bills. Singer had no desire to display his collection in a museum, get a tax deduction, or see his name on a gallery that housed his collection. He agreed, meanwhile, that whatever he accumulated during his lifetime would pass to Sackler upon his death (when Singer died in 1997, his six-thousand-object collection was worth $60 million).16
Wen Fong, the chair of Princeton’s Department of Art and Archaeology, and a consultant later to Sackler, wrote to a fellow art professor at Berkeley that Arthur’s naked ambition meant he spent too little time on research and too much on simply accumulating.17 “There’s the danger of being tabbed as greedy or even vulgar,” said the Met’s Hoving.18
Notwithstanding the elitist snobbery that dismissed him as an unwanted interloper at the Met, Arthur wanted to put his plan into effect before he was consumed by defending Valium and Librium in the pending report from JFK’s Advisory Commission on Narcotic and Drug Abuse. As far as Arthur was concerned, whatever the museum, any proposal from a potential donor was all about business. Did the museum want what he had to offer and what was it willing to give in return? The Met’s financial pinch—the latest fundraising campaign had not even raised enough to complete its much needed air-conditioning—was a rare opportunity for Sackler to move from being a benefactor of second-tier museums like the Phoenix to becoming a patron at the fabled Metropolitan. He also knew that no matter how much the gossip inside the Met disparaged his collection, it was widely acknowledged that Far Eastern art was one of the museum’s weakest holdings. “The Met sank enormous sums of money into Chinese paintings,” said Professor Roy Andrew Miller, “that would have disgraced the collection of a chop suey shop.”19
Earlier in the year the Sacklers had begun making contributions to the Met (1963 would be the first year they were listed in the museum’s year-end published tribute titled “Donors and Lenders”).III Sackler assured the Metropolitan’s director, James Rorimer, that he was successfully encouraging unnamed professionals he knew to become Met donors for the first time. By reviewing the museum’s annual published lists of “Donors and Lenders” since 1960, and then comparing the names to the corporate legal filings for the companies in which the Sacklers held overt or hidden interests, the author identified Sackler’s “professionals.” In 1963, the first time the Sacklers were listed, others in “Donors of Money & Securities” were Martin Greene, Myron J. Greene, and Louis Goldburt. Myron Greene was also a “Fellow for Life” (minimum contribution of $5,000). All three were also on the 1964 compilation for gifts of “money and securities” and the Greenes were “Fellows in Perpetuity” (minimum of $20,000 each). Joining them was Lawrence Effman, an accountant who worked for Goldburt.20
The Brooklyn-born Greenes were brothers and attorneys who had represented the three Sackler brothers since 1947 when they incorporated the Sackler Foundation. They were listed as shareholders and directors of some early Sackler companies. Louis Goldburt, a Brooklyn-born accountant, together with Effman, did the payroll. Goldburt was also listed sometimes as a shareholder and he had helped conceal the Sacklers’ ownership in the Washington Institute, the company to which Martí-Ibáñez and MD Publications paid $420,000 in annual consulting fees.21 As for Effman, he was later listed on private ventures with Bill Frohlich and also served as a director for Frohlich’s advertising agency.
It appears the Greenes, Goldburt, and Effman qualified for the Met’s top-tier list by donating shares of privately held, Sackler-controlled companies. The Greenes, as attorneys, vouched for the legitimacy of the companies, and Goldburt and Effman, as the accountants, for the value of any gifted shares.22 (The author was unable to determine whether the contributions were at inflated values—something that would have offset income for the Sackler companies while enhancing the family name at the Met—since the museum repeatedly refused the author’s requests for details about the gifts).
Arthur knew, however, that money alone was not enough to get what he wanted from the Met. In his meeting with Rorimer, he spoke at length about his collection and how he envisioned it would be grander over time. They talked about a New York Times clipping from when Sackler had loaned some of his artifacts for the Columbia University exhibit.23
Having whet Rorimer’s appetite, he moved to a new topic. Sackler surprised him by offering $150,000.24 The money was for a complete renovation of a grand gallery on the second floor, just north of the Great Hall. The refurbished hall would house Chinese antiquities and be named the Arthur Sackler Gallery (in fifteen years it would be part of nine adjoining galleries under the Sackler Wing). Rorimer realized that Sackler had done his homework. The space he had selected had no formal name but was unofficially called the Rogers Hall. That was because most of the collectibles on display there had been acquired by the Met as a result of one of its largest ever death bequests, $5 million in 1901 from railroad tycoon Jacob Rogers ($152 million in 2019). Rogers had directed the money be used for the “purchase of rare and desirable art objects and books for the library.”25 When banker J. P. Morgan became the Met’s president three years later, he used the Rogers Fund to acquire a superb and diverse collection of Greek, Roman, and Egyptian antiquities; some Far Eastern objects; illuminated manuscripts; and seventeenth-century paintings by Dutch masters.26
Agreeing to naming rights for the $150,000 was the easy part. Sackler then raised another condition, one he considered creative and that struck Rorimer as unorthodox at best. Arthur had identified the Met’s best Chinese sculptures and also a superb early wall painting. The museum had used the Rogers Fund to acquire them in the 1920s. Sackler insisted his entire gift depended on the Met selling him that art at the prices it had originally paid decades earlier. He would then “gift them back” to the museum. They would not even leave the Met. They would be displayed with the credit “Gifts of Arthur Sackler” instead of the existing “The Rogers Fund.”27 Rorimer did not take long to agree. He assured Arthur the museum would prepare quickly the paperwork for the “Dr. Arthur Sackler Gallery.”28 (Arthur later changed the credit on the great wall painting at the entrance to his gallery as a gift to the museum from his parents.)
It is not clear whether Rorimer knew that Sackler intended to take charitable tax deductions based on the current value of the fine artworks he bought from the Met. Thomas Hoving, the Met’s future director, believed that Sackler “had figured that he would actually make money on the tax loophole he discovered—his deduction would be far more than the costs of the works and his donation.”29 Rorimer was desperate for the money and later complained to some colleagues the deal was “the biggest giveaway scandal in the history of the museum.”30
Sackler came back later with a new request.31 He let Rorimer know that in addition to the $150,000 bequest, the family was increasing its donations to the Met. Arthur and Marietta, as well as Sackler’s first wife, Else, would qualify for inclusion as significant donors of “money and securities.” “The Sackler Collection” would be listed as a “Lender of Objects of Art.” And Arthur was on his way to be one of twenty-two “Benefactors,” while Marietta and Else were separately listed as “Fellows in Perpetuity.” Having laid the groundwork for the largesse, Arthur then presented his unusual idea. “He asked for a storeroom inside the museum to house his private collections, a rent-free space to which only he and his personal curator would have access,” said Joseph Noble, the museum’s administrative director.32 In that enclave Sackler’s curators would undertake the enormous task of cataloging the thousands of pieces in his collection.
Rorimer was initially hesitant but after a few days had decided it might benefit the Met as well as Sackler. The unprecedented arrangement might encourage Arthur to donate his Chinese collection one day to the Met. If Sackler’s collection was stored at the museum, it would not be a great stretch to move it from that storeroom to permanent display in a Met gallery.33 Arthur was noncommittal. He was smart enough, however, to say that if he could have the storeroom, everything was open to discussion.
The final deal involved a bit more than “a storeroom.” It was about six hundred square feet of storage space that belonged to the Far East Department. The Met provided security and covered insurance and utilities expenses. At Sackler’s request, the museum installed a telephone line that bypassed the main switchboard and rang only in that room. Remarkably, most of the museum’s staff were unaware of the room’s existence. It was not identified on charts or floorplans.34
The unusual concessions Sackler had won were legal, but somehow “shifty,” according to Joseph Noble.35 The general opinion of Sackler did not improve when he selected Lois Katz as his curator for his collection stored at the Met. Katz was an associate curator at the Brooklyn Museum’s Department of Asian Art, having started there as an instructor in the Education Division.36 Although she was well versed in Chinese bronzes, she was not a widely published Ivy League PhD, the background the Met relished. The Met directors were also not pleased when Sackler insisted that Paul Singer be the collection’s “research fellow-consultant.”37
Arthur Sackler wanted approval from institutions and businesses he respected. For the time being, however, he ignored the backbiting and chalked it up to jealousy. He had barely wrapped up the handshake agreement for the naming of the second-floor Sackler Gallery when the President’s Advisory Commission released its final report on November 15, 1963. It contained an exhibit listing drugs “associated with physical dependence.”38 There was no surprise it included opiates, morphine, and barbiturates. The shocker was the inclusion of Miltown and Librium. The commission was so concerned about Librium and Miltown that it urged the creation of a special federal unit “to regulate… [such] dangerous drugs.”39 Adding to the confusion, the report classified amphetamines, cocaine, and marijuana as nonaddictive.40
Roche and Sackler feared that listing Librium—the number one selling drug in America that year—as addictive and dangerous and riskier than cocaine and amphetamines was something that would receive widespread press coverage and spark considerable patient angst. A week after the report had been released, and while Roche and Sackler were finalizing a strategy for a public rebuttal, Lee Harvey Oswald assassinated President John Kennedy in Dallas. While the country reeled in shock and grief, there was a sliver of good news for Roche and Sackler: the report’s damning conclusions about Librium got lost in the wake of JFK’s murder.
I. The commission’s makeup demonstrated that political connections trumped the need for specialized scientific or medical knowledge. Elijah Barrett Prettyman, the chairman, was a respected federal judge. The other lay members were Henry Kimball, a powerful Michigan congressman; James Dumpson, New York City’s first African American commissioner of welfare; and Austin MacCormick, a criminology professor. As for the three doctors, Rafael Sanchez-Ubeda was a general surgeon; James Dixon, the president of the liberal arts Antioch College; and Roger Egeberg, a public health advocate and educator, was most famous for being General Douglas MacArthur’s World War II doctor.
II. Some Sino experts, such as the University of Washington’s Roy Andrew Miller, thought “the highly questionable nature” of Sackler’s acquisitions cast a pall over all of Sackler’s Asian collectibles. Miller believed that if Sackler had tried to obtain “anything worth having” from the communist government, “they would never have allowed it to leave the country in the first place.”
III. The 1963 report for “Donors and Lenders” had “Dr. and Mrs. Arthur M. Sackler” and “Raymond Sackler” listed as having contributed an unspecified amount of “money and securities.” Raymond was also under “Fellows in Perpetuity,” which meant he had made a cash contribution of at least $5,000 to be included in an elite group of thirty-six donors.
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TARGETING WOMEN
While Roche was relieved that few paid attention to the conclusions about Librium, internal memos reveal the company’s senior executives correctly predicted that it was only the first volley in what would become a war between pharma and federal regulatory and narcotics agencies. The Advisory Commission Report kicked off a multiyear battle during which the federal government tried to rein in illicit drug use and prescription drug abuse. The following year, 1964, Connecticut senator Thomas Dodd introduced the Psychotoxic Drug Control Act, a sweeping bill aimed at beefing up the antidrug laws, the first such effort since the 1914 Harrison Act had banned opium imports.1 To control the supply of barbiturates and amphetamines siphoned to the black market, Dodd’s bill made it a crime if pharma firms, drug wholesalers, and pharmacists failed to maintain meticulous records of manufacturing, distribution, and sales. That was no small task given that the FDA estimated that the drug industry had churned out eight billion pills the previous year.2 Dodd’s bill would add law enforcement to the FDA’s mission, with armed inspectors seizing illegal drugs and making arrests. (The Drug Enforcement Administration was created nine years later.)
Doctors and pharmacists opposed Dodd’s bill, citing the onerous paperwork and raising concerns about the privacy of patient records. When a last-minute addition broadened the definition of drugs, pharma unleashed its full lobby.3 Dodd’s bill stalled. Congress did, nevertheless, pass the Drug Abuse Control Amendments the following year, expanding government authority to regulate barbiturates and amphetamines.4 Although it gave the FDA the power to regulate any drug that had “a potential for abuse,” the intensive pharmaceutical arm-twisting had succeeded in omitting any express mention of benzodiazepines.5
Advocates for the new law were concerned whether the FDA, which was already operating at full capacity, was capable of enforcing its new powers. In many instances, the agency seemed mostly reactive. Morale was low. The HEW secretary appointed an advisory committee tasked to make recommendations to reenergize the FDA. Named as chairman was James Goddard, a forty-two-year-old doctor with a master’s in public health. Having joined the Public Health Service in 1951, Goddard had spearheaded federal research on the benefits of mandatory seat belts in autos. In 1962 he became the youngest chief ever of the Communicable Disease Center (the predecessor to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). He made no secret that he wanted to be surgeon general, so he accepted the role with the FDA advisory board on the understanding that it was temporary.6
Goddard thought that pharma had interpreted Commissioner Larrick’s low-key regulatory approach as a sign of weakness. Drug companies made everything a battle on the assumption that Larrick would rather compromise than get into a nasty fight. That had happened with Larrick’s much heralded August 1963 decertification of Achrocidin and other antibiotic combo cold remedy rivals. It faced vociferous opposition from pharma and the AMA’s Council on Drugs. Larrick decided the battle was not worth the effort and withdrew the order.7
Incredibly, the FDA had not even begun the review required by the Kefauver Amendments of the efficacy of the four thousand pre-1962 medications still on sale to the public. The law had created a two-year waiting period between its enactment and when the FDA could start the review. That waiting period was intended to give the pharma firms the opportunity to do some testing and gather the data to convince the FDA that their early drugs were effective. No one in Congress had thought that the FDA would be too overwhelmed to fulfill its mandate under the Kefauver Amendments. Goddard was not sure how it could ever be taken seriously by the industry it was supposed to watch over. Instead of focusing, as Larrick had, on cooperating with other agencies on matters of public education and science, Goddard thought the FDA’s top priority should be regulation.
As 1965 ended, Goddard’s commission had assembled a long list of recommended reforms. Lyndon Johnson and the HEW secretary decided the most important change was who ran the FDA. George Larrick was out after eleven years and James Goddard was in, the first doctor in a generation and the first commissioner selected from outside the FDA.
Goddard decided to send a strong signal to the pharmaceutical industry that the change at the top of the FDA was substantive. The day after he took office, the agency announced formal hearings into whether Miltown and Equanil as well as Librium and Valium had a “potential for abuse.” If they did, it would subject them to the strict controls in place on barbiturates and amphetamines.8 Soon after Goddard’s lightning directive, the contested administrative hearings got under way. Dozens of expert witnesses lined up by the government and the industry battled over what qualified as addiction. The lesson for Goddard was that few things were fast in the FDA bureaucracy. The hearings would drag on for years (Miltown and Equanil continued losing market share all that time to Roche’s Librium and Valium).9
As part of his overall plan to recast the FDA as a more robust guardian of public health, Goddard also focused during his first weeks on the industry’s runaway drug promotion. He was concerned that drug companies “trumpeted results of favorable research and have not mentioned unfavorable research; they have puffed up what was insignificant clinical evidence: they have substituted emotional appeals for scientific ones.”10 The FTC regulated medical ads before the Kefauver Amendments transferred this responsibility to the FDA. There were more than four million pages of ads annually just in medical journals.11 Goddard knew the FDA did not have the resources to keep abreast of all of them. Still, he wanted to take early actions to at least emphasize to pharma that it was one of his priorities.
By the end of his first month he had gotten a “no contest” plea from Carter-Wallace in the FDA’s first prosecution under the Kefauver provisions. It had advertised a combination drug, Pree MT, a mixture of Miltown and hydrochlorothiazide, a strong diuretic. In JAMA advertisements, the ad copy read, “Contraindications: None Known.” In fact, the company knew its drug caused a sometimes fatal blood disease in addition to other side effects from gout to blood vessel constrictions. Carter-Wallace paid the maximum fine set by the new law, only $2,000.12
Encouraged by the Carter-Wallace plea, Goddard commenced other “false advertising” cases. Merck and Wyeth had failed to report adverse effects causing temporary blindness in its animal testing of an experimental drug, DMSO, used as a preservative for transplants. Ciba was accused of having kept secret reports that demonstrated Elipten, its epilepsy drug, was responsible for masculinization of young girls. Merck, which had merged with Philadelphia-based Sharp & Dohme, hid “alarming” findings of breast cancer in four of six dogs on which it had experimented with a combination oral contraceptive.13
Another priority Goddard wanted to address was restricting how pharma targeted women for drugs that they often did not need.14 It was an issue he became aware of a few years earlier when he ran the Communicable Disease Center. In 1963 he read Betty Friedan’s The Feminine Mystique, a book credited as launching the second-wave feminist movement.15 “Feminine mystique” was the notion—reinforced by everyone from Freudian psychoanalysts to Madison Avenue advertisers to women’s magazines where the top editors were men—that women were fulfilled only as loving mothers and loyal, supportive housewives.16 Friedan’s best-selling book—it sold over a million copies—made a powerful case against the ingrained stereotype that those who wanted careers were neurotic and unhappy. What caught Goddard’s attention was Friedan’s conclusion that tens of millions of women were the ideal pharmaceutical customers because of boredom and lack of personal fulfillment.
“You wake up in the morning,” Friedan wrote, “and feel as if there’s no point in going on another day like this. So you take a tranquilizer because it makes you not care so much.”17
Other feminist writers followed Friedan, furiously working to undo what they saw as centuries of societal distortion of female identity and diminution of self-worth.18 American psychiatry, then dominated by Freudian-based psychoanalysts, got much of the blame. The writers condemned Sigmund Freud’s theories as misogynistic, particularly his view that male was the norm and that fundamental differences with women were biological—“penis envy”—not the by-products of culture and environment.19
Goddard had studied the grim American medical history that had treated women differently than men when it came to ailments and care. Doctors in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries believed women alone suffered from “treatable illnesses” of hysteria, nervousness, and excessive emotion.20I Physicians dispensed powerful sedatives. If those did not work, over twenty states allowed a husband to commit his wife to a mental asylum without a hearing.21 A step beyond institutionalization was lobotomy. Nearly two thirds of all lobotomies in the U.S. were performed on women.22 In the late 1940s and early 1950s, when lobotomies reached their zenith, the vast majority of patients were former housewives or living-at-home unmarried daughters.23
Goddard’s interest in whether modern pharma had targeted and typecast women was perfectly timed. His arrival at the FDA coincided with Valium becoming America’s top selling drug. Most of the customers for the hit tranquilizers were women.24 That was no mistake. In the case of Valium and Librium, it was the strategy and skilled handiwork of Arthur Sackler. Arthur, as were his two brothers, was a Freudian-based psychiatrist.25 Roche recognized that Sackler had an advantage over his lay Medicine Avenue competitors. As a doctor who had stayed active in laboratory trials and writing for scientific journals, he provided a unique perspective on how to best market drugs to other physicians.
How and why doctors should prescribe tranquilizers differently to men and women is laid out in an extraordinary eighty-page hardcover book, Aspects of Anxiety, that Roche sent to nearly ten thousand of the top prescribing physicians in the U.S. in 1965.26 Aspects of Anxiety was Arthur’s brainchild. No drug company had ever produced anything like it. There were twelve short chapters that laid out the different causes of anxiety and its physical and psychological toll. Produced on fine paper and with eye-catching charts and graphs, it was not only intended as a quick reference for doctors, but as a collectible to display in their offices.
Sackler had the idea when Librium was the only Roche benzo on the market. Roche had released Valium by the time it was published. It was too late to change the thrust of its focus on Librium, but Sackler thought it still a valuable doctor’s guide for understanding anxiety and especially for directing them to Roche’s benzodiazepines as the best treatment for most patients. A clever marketing ploy disguised as an “informational tool,” it sidestepped all FDA and FTC regulations.27 Sackler convinced Professor Charles Henry Hardin Branch, the president of the American Psychiatric Association, to write the preface (they had met in 1953 while separately researching endocrine psychiatry and possible treatments for depression; both published medical journal articles about their parallel research the following year).28
Roche did not identify the author of Aspects of Anxiety but Sackler’s handiwork is evident throughout.29 The book was a combination of detailed medical and psychological jargon mixed with breezy passages that today seem a rudimentary Men Are from Mars, Women Are from Venus worldview.
Both sexes shared plenty of common worries and stress from major life events. However, the pressure on men—dubbed “executive neurosis”—was caused by the expectation that they had to be breadwinners for their families without showing any of the stress that led to ulcers and high blood pressure. Similar intense pressure on women did not morph into any organic illness but instead produced behavioral disorders such as neurosis, hysteria, anxiety, and depression.30 II 31
In a chapter titled “Anxiety and the Female Psyche,” Aspects of Anxiety presented why women are prone to an “unstable emotional equilibrium” uniquely female. “In its most severe form, premenstrual tension may be characterized by panic states, suicidal tendencies and psychotic decisional episodes.” Those who suffered from menstrual cramps often had “a low pain threshold… [and] this hypersensitivity increases their anxious anticipation.” As women age, “menopause does represent deep psychological trauma, for the badge of femininity—menstruation—is now irretrievably lost.” The feminist encouragement for women to get jobs outside their homes would “bring about an even greater denial of her biologic female role (childbearing and child-care contributions to society).” In fact, “numerous studies discuss the higher incidence of disorders in women who repudiate their roles as wives [and] mothers.”32
Sackler and Roche cited eighty controlled studies and 162 clinical trials to encourage physicians to dispense Librium liberally for their patients reporting “anxiety and tension” as well as those complaining of everything from tension headaches, acne (evidence, said Roche, of a hormonal response to stress), gastrointestinal and cardiac problems, “behavior disorders in children,” and “gynecologic, including premenstrual disorders.”33 Aspects of Anxiety made a shameless pitch toward male doctors—who then composed 95 percent of all American physicians—when it addressed premenstrual tension. “It has been said it is a condition known to many women but perhaps even better known to their husbands and children—victims of monthly personality change.”34
Sackler and Roche were not the first pharma/advertiser combination to play on female typecasting in marketing a drug. Ads for phenobarbital, the 1960s best-selling generic barbiturate, featured always some slight variation of a harried housewife. One featured a woman screaming at her daughter, another was exhausted from mopping the floor, and still another at her breaking point toiling over a stove.35 Amphetamine ads, meanwhile, emphasized that since women had to raise the couple’s children, keep the house tidy, and cook dinner for their hardworking spouse, they might need a pharmaceutical jolt of energy to do all that and still be attentive to their husband’s needs (sex was always implied, never directly addressed). Moreover, pharma added an inducement: speed might help keep them thin.
What differentiated Sackler’s promotion of Librium, and especially of Valium, was it repackaged the same sexual stereotypes but in a sleeker and ostensibly smarter pitch. Flipping through medical journals in the 1960s, it seemed that for any man who was a driven overachiever, an ulcer was a casualty of success. Roche’s benzos could tame the stress that was the culprit. Valium ads featured men from the worlds of business, sports, and entertainment, all telling their success stories. A typical one: “Have you heard the one about the traveling salesman? The strain of tracking down customers and living out of a suitcase—the family matters left unsolved at home—no joking matter to a man emotionally overreactive to stress and vulnerable to duodenitis [ulcers].” In this way Sackler pitched Valium as simply another indispensable tool for savvy businessmen on the way up.36
As for women, they were cast as responding to stress with emotional outbursts that took a gloomy toll on their own mental health as well as that of their husbands and children. Sackler therefore promoted Valium as pretty much an all-around female “fix.” Roche ads encouraged doctors to prescribe Valium for exhausted moms, bored housewives, still-hoping-to-be-married single women over thirty, those moody and irritable during their menstrual cycle, and any depressed or anxious during menopause. Valium could tame the “unpredictable grouch,” said one Sackler ad. For a “35, single and psychoneurotic” fictional spinster Sackler created, Valium alleviated her “alienation and hostility” and “neurotic sense of failure.” It would also treat the depair of a “childless widow.”37
Sackler’s Valium campaign worked at every level. Through the 1960s, as sales boomed annually and set industry records, the drug was twice as likely to be dispensed to women than men.38 Women got 63 percent of barbiturates, 68 percent of all antianxiety meds, 71 percent of the first generation of antidepressants, and 80 percent of all amphetamines.39
At that same time Roche and other pharma companies targeted women with psychotropics, Robert Wilson, a gynecologist colleague of the three Sackler brothers, was about to help make a hormone drug a blockbuster. Instead of playing to the subconscious biases of male physicians by emphasizing the emotional and fragile psyche of women, Wilson exploited their fears about losing their femininity and sexuality as they aged. Like the Sacklers, Wilson was born in Brooklyn and later moved his family and practice to Manhattan. The product he was tapped to sell was Premarin, made from the estrogen-loaded urine of pregnant horses (the brand name, approved by the FDA in 1942 to treat menopausal symptoms, is short for PREgnant MARes’ urINe). Premarin was developed by a Canadian pharmaceutical firm, Ayerst, McKenna & Harrison. American Home Products (AHP) bought the company in 1943 and changed its name to Ayerst Laboratories.40 In addition to his gynecological practice, Wilson got $1.3 million in the 1960s from Ayerst and other drug companies to conduct clinical studies on hormones and contraceptives.41
Bill Frohlich, Sackler’s Medicine Avenue colleague and sometimes silent business partner, promoted many of the drugs for AHP’s two drug subsidiaries, Ayerst and Wyeth. The company had much bigger plans for Wilson than having him offer a rave testimonial about Premarin in one of Frohlich’s ads. Ayerst and Wilson had concocted a secret plan that Arthur Sackler would later acknowledge was an inspired way of circumventing the FDA’s prohibition on direct-to-consumer advertising. Wilson had written several articles for medical journals extolling estrogen to offset bone loss and protect the heart during menopause.42 In an expansive piece in 1962 in the Journal of the American Medical Association, his opening line read, “There is no convincing proof that estrogen has ever induced cancer in the human being.” In that same article he became the first doctor to contend that estrogen actually reduced the incidence of cervical and breast cancers.43
In 1966, the same year that Goddard became FDA commissioner, Wilson published a book, Feminine Forever. Its cover proclaimed it as “one of medicine’s most revolutionary breakthroughs”: that “menopause is a hormone deficiency disease, curable and totally preventable.… And every woman, no matter what her age, can safely live a fully-sexed life for her entire life.”44
No one knew that Ayerst had subsidized Feminine Forever, paid all Wilson’s expenses, and even underwrote his national publicity tour.45 It was decades before one of Wilson’s sons disclosed the full extent to which pharma firms bought his father’s endorsement. They paid for his Park Avenue office and eponymously named research foundation, as well as subsidizing his lectures to doctors’ and women’s groups.46 Searle and Upjohn, both of which had their own hormone brands, paid him “consultation fees” so he would plug their products.
Sackler had already medicalized the best-known symptoms of menopause. Millions of women popped lots of Librium and Valium to keep hot flashes at bay, combat the blues, and fix disturbed sleep patterns. Roche’s book, Aspects of Anxiety, sent the previous year to ten thousand doctors, had become the bible for physicians looking for any of a dozen reasons to dispense benzos. Those drugs, however, could not address some of the purely physical changes that many women experienced during menopause, including vaginal dryness, thinning hair, decreased muscle tone, dry skin, and loss of sexual desire.
Wilson zeroed in on a passage in every woman’s life that he warned would turn them into nothing more than “the equivalent of a eunuch.” He eschewed subtlety for dramatic overstatement. Menopause was a “living decay,” he wrote, in which women were “desexed” and “dull-minded.”47 It was “a galloping catastrophe” for women fifty and older. Not only were women the “only mammal who cannot reproduce after middle age,” Wilson ticked off a depressing list of twenty-six “debilitating symptoms” that left unmedicated menopausal women as “docile creatures missing life’s values,” allowing them only to “exist rather than live.”
Wilson wrote that he had witnessed his own mother change through menopause from “a vital, wonderful woman who had been the focal point of our family into a pain-racked petulant invalid.” He was not, however, all doom and gloom. He reported that one of his patients, a fifty-two-year-old unnamed woman, had started taking a “precious gift,” Premarin. When he examined her two months later, she appeared much younger and more vibrant.
As presented in Feminine Forever, Wilson medicalized not only menopause but female aging as well. Premarin was a fountain of youth in a one-a-day pill. “Breasts and genital organs will not shrivel. Such women will be much more pleasant to live with and will not become dull and unattractive.… What is really at stake is a subtle and almost metaphysical factor—a woman’s total femininity.” As Wilson repeatedly emphasized, women were not introducing a new medication to their body but rather replacing a hormone that evolution had somehow forgotten to make last longer.48 Wilson’s pitch, as The New York Times described it, was that “women would be replacing a hormone they had lost at menopause just as diabetics replace the insulin their pancreas fails to make.”49
Look and Vogue serialized Feminine Forever. It sold 100,000 copies in the first three months.50 Other women’s lifestyle magazines, some of which now dubbed estrogen the “Youth Pill,” wrote glowingly about it.51 Feminine Forever went from simply another “medical book about menopause” to a runaway best-seller in seventeen countries.52
Wilson’s Feminine Forever created a huge demand for Premarin because women asked their doctors for it. That demand was fed by subsequent publications. One, After Forty, was an ode to estrogen written by Sondra Gorney, an actress and public relations executive. As it did for Wilson, Ayerst paid for her services, employing Gorney through a New York City front organization, the Information Center on the Mature Woman.53
The same year Feminine Forever was published, Goddard labeled Wilson an “unacceptable investigator” and took the rare step of barring him from undertaking any subsequent hormonal research.54 That prompted his New York publisher to get in touch with the FDA to determine if Feminine Forever violated any federal regulations. Since the book recommended specific drugs for conditions for which they were not approved, the FDA said, the only limitation was that if the book was sold in drugstores, it could not be tied in to a promotion or made part of a sale of any prescription medication.55 Goddard’s frustration was that the FDA did not have any other way to curtail how Wilson marketed his book.
The problem with the entire estrogen revolution kicked off by Feminine Forever was that Wilson was wrong. Few suspected it, however. A New York cancer researcher, Saul Gusberg, sounded an early warning: “A human experiment has been set up in recent years by the widespread administration of estrogens to postmenopausal women.”56 When he was at Columbia in the late 1940s, Gusberg was alarmed to discover twenty-nine women taking estrogen pills had uterine cellular overgrowth and nine subsequently developed cancer. He suspected that estrogen might have been the culprit.
Gusberg’s warnings were never covered in the mainstream press. In the meantime, Wyeth and Robert Wilson helped the market for menopausal hormones take off. In the decade after the publication of Feminine Forever, estrogen prescriptions tripled to over 30 million annually and the average brand name price doubled.57 Premarin set company sales records. It accounted for 75–80 percent of the prescription estrogen market.58 It was by far the firm’s biggest profit maker. As Ayerst celebrated, Gusberg warned colleagues all the dosing could cause an explosive growth in cancer. Premarin and other estrogen drugs were a ticking time bomb, he predicted.59 Few were listening.
I. The word “hysteria” is from hysterika, Greek for “uterus.” Ancient Greeks believed that an unhappy and “wandering uterus” led to uniquely female afflictions, and that concept persisted through the centuries and had become an accepted tenet of Western medicine.
II. Sackler thought a series of Army experiments provided evidence to not only back his theory that untreated stress and anxiety caused organic diseases, but the resulting illnesses were different for each sex. The Walter Reed Army Institute of Research had conducted two years of experiments in the mid-1950s with hundreds of monkeys. In one series dubbed the “executive monkey trial,” two monkeys were strapped into adjacent “restraining chairs,” metal and glass contraptions that allowed limited movement only of their heads and arms. Electrodes attached to their feet delivered sharp electric jolts every twenty seconds. A lever situated next to one of the monkeys shielded both from the shocks when pressed. The “executive monkey” was the one with the responsibility to operate the lever in order to forestall the electric shocks. Every time the experiment was run, autopsies later revealed the executive monkeys developed acute intestinal and stomach ulcers while the control monkeys did not. The executive monkeys demonstrated what stress could do to men, Sackler and his colleagues concluded.
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DEATH WITH DIGNITY
While Goddard looked for ways the FDA could better regulate the approval and marketing of medications, a public debate played out in the United Kingdom about whether terminally ill cancer patients should have a say about their end-of-life care. Should they have a right to doctor-assisted suicide? Euthanasia was illegal in all European countries (the Netherlands was the first to legalize it in 2000).1 A national reassessment would not get under way in the U.S. until the 1969 publication of Dr. Elisabeth Kübler-Ross’s seminal book On Death and Dying.2
The policy debate in Britain, however, would change the way the Western world approached care for the dying. Cicely Saunders, an Oxford-educated nurse turned physician, spearheaded the drive for humane treatment of patients with end-stage cancer. She chanced upon a British drug company that had recently been acquired by the Sackler brothers. The ensuing debate sparked a partial reassessment about the use of opioids in controlling pain and the rights of the terminally ill to insist on treatment. What emerged was a concept of “death with dignity,” leading to the birth of the modern hospice movement.
Saunders is justifiably credited as almost single-handedly introducing the rights of the dying. As a London nurse during the 1940s she became convinced there had to be a better way than the “wretched habits of big, busy hospitals where everyone tiptoes past the bed and the dying soon learn to pretend to be asleep.” There she witnessed the prevailing medical ethos that focused only on healing patients. Those who were terminally ill and could not be cured were considered a sign of failure. Saunders was stunned when doctors repeatedly lied to terminally ill patients, withholding any information about their grim prognoses. Few questioned their physicians.3
In 1948, when she was thirty, Saunders had qualified as a medical social worker. Shortly after that she met a forty-year-old Polish-Jewish refugee who had escaped from the Warsaw Ghetto. He was dying of cancer.4 In the terrible final weeks of his life in Whittington Hospital’s cancer ward, the two formed a bond, something she described to friends as a deep, spiritual love. His death sent her spiraling into a “pathological grief.” She found solace in a newfound belief that God had called her to care for the dying.
Over the next few years, Saunders tended to the dying at a north London hospital. One night she told a surgeon about her dream to open a home for the terminally ill, a place where medical knowledge would combine with compassion and love. He told her that neither patients nor doctors would listen to her. As a mere nurse she had no status in the rigid, hierarchical British medical community.
“Very well then,” she told him, “I will become a doctor.”5
Saunders worked her way through medical school over five years and earned her degree in 1957. She accepted a scholarship to study pain management in the pharmacology department at London’s St. Mary’s Medical School.6 She also volunteered as an almoner at St. Joseph’s, a Catholic-run clinic where forty-five beds were set aside for cancer patients whose prognoses were less than three months to live.7 Saunders kept a journal of her observations. All the patients were in severe pain and she thought they were unnecessarily suffering. In conversations with them she discovered that the vicious cycle of such agony was debilitating fear, anxiety, and hopelessness. Untreated pain, she concluded, was the cause of all chronic end-of-life symptoms, including deep depression.
Fears about opioid addiction meant that her colleagues sparingly dispensed painkillers.8 They provided at the most only four hours of relief. Instead of giving an additional dose when a patient complained about returning pain, doctors invariably wrote “p.r.n.” on the charts, for the Latin pro re nata, “as required.” Second doses the same day were rare.
She told the nurses in her ward that “constant pain calls for constant control… and the regular giving of drugs.” According to Saunders, if a patient cried out from discomfort because the last painkiller had worn off, the nurses had failed in their treatment.9
She met stiff resistance from doctors at St. Mary’s, leading her to conclude there was no intractable pain, only intractable physicians. She did, however, make headway at St. Joseph’s by emphasizing how her concept of aggressively treating patients’ pain might be complementary with steadfast Catholic opposition to euthanasia. Saunders contended that “requests to end life are nearly always requests to end pain” and by relieving their physical discomfort and mental stress, patients would stop thinking about ending their own lives.10 Another side benefit, she said, was that if patients no longer had to ask constantly for more medication, they were less dependent on the staff and that freed the nurses to attend to other care.11 The St. Joseph’s administration quietly approved her approach to see whether it worked as she expected.12
The narcotic most effective at alleviating severe pain was Heroin (diamorphine). She discovered that accidentally. Among the first five hundred patients she treated with her protocols at St. Joseph’s, forty-two reacted badly to morphine.13 They received heroin instead. “No other drug makes these patients look and feel so comfortable,” she wrote. “In the doses we use, it does not cause changes in personality, frank euphoria or a ‘could not care less’ attitude, but it helps greatly towards our aim of keeping the patients feeling as well as possible for as long as possible.”14
Saunders concluded that opioids were not nearly as addictive as doctors feared.15 “Patients may indeed be physically dependent on the drugs but tolerance and addiction are not problems to us, even with those who stay longest.” And she startled many physicians with the finding: “We have not found that diamorphine [heroin] has a greater tendency to cause addiction than any other similar drug.… We have several patients in the wards at the moment who have come off completely without any withdrawal symptoms.”16
Saunders reported that for some patients the quality of life improved immeasurably. Several at St. Joseph’s had demonstrated such “startling improvements,” she wrote to the Royal Society, that they were “able to return for further palliative treatment or go home for a while.”17
Heroin’s major “drawback,” in her view, was that “it may be rather short in action.” She tried correcting that by increasing the doses. Instead of providing longer pain relief the higher doses only created more side effects. By trial and error, she learned it was better to add sedatives and tranquilizers. She also sometimes used a so-called Brompton cocktail, a mix of cocaine, gin, and Thorazine.18
Some physicians feared that her heavy narcotic regimen would turn her terminally ill patients into sedated zombies. Instead, it allowed some to briefly “come alive.” The renewed vigor and mental clarity lasted from a few hours to several days or even weeks.
By 1959 she had completed a ten-page proposal for a sixty-bed hospice. It was a cloistral institution that she initially considered restricting to only Anglican patients. Although her concept was different from anything else that existed, it also adhered to the traditional British medical view that even end-of-life patients required treatments proven best by scientific researchers.
Saunders registered a charity in 1961 and began raising money the following year. She proved to be an indefatigable fundraiser, flying to America to lobby humanist organizations and the Ford Foundation, as well as crisscrossing England in search of contributions. At times she seemed a one-person movement for the incipient hospice crusade. She had by then written half a dozen articles on pain management in Nursing Times. It made her the national face for compassionate end-of-life care. By 1965, she had raised a remarkable £380,000 ($868,000 in 1965). It was enough to break ground on a South London location.19 That was the same year Queen Elizabeth awarded her the honor of an OBE (Officer of the Most Excellent Order of the British Empire).20
St. Christopher’s, the world’s first modern hospice, opened with fifty-four beds in 1967. It did not look like a last stop for terminally ill patients. Its airy and open design instead resembled a quiet home in the countryside. It featured a large gathering room for families, a communal dining hall, and even a nursery for the children of staff members.
As its medical director, Cicely Saunders had total control over her palliative care research with patients. The hospice presented her an opportunity to test her observation about heroin’s superiority as a pain reliever.21 She invited another physician and researcher, Robert Twycross, to conduct a clinical study. Half the St. Christopher’s patients got heroin while the others received morphine. Because of the high turnover rate in the hospice, in just over two years the study included seven hundred patients. The results demonstrated no significant difference between the painkillers.22 The findings put Saunders on a mission to find a better painkiller than heroin or morphine. She wanted an analgesic that alleviated pain for a long period on a single dose with few side effects.
The year before St. Christopher’s had opened, Arthur, Mortimer, and Raymond Sackler bought Cambridge-based H. R. Napp Pharmaceuticals. Napp, founded in 1923 by a Swiss chemist and pharmacist, had suffered several years of heavy losses from a slowing British economy and its own lackluster product line.23 Napp’s poor finances allowed the Sacklers to gain control at what Mortimer later bragged was a bargain.24 The Sacklers had created Mundipharma in London eleven years earlier but had operated it only as a drug distributor with a sister Mundipharma in Switzerland. With the purchase of Napp, the brothers hoped to develop their foreign business in earnest. Mortimer soon bought a grand apartment in one of London’s most fashionable neighborhoods in order to spend more time overseeing the turnaround they planned.25
They renamed the company Napp Pharmaceutical Group Limited. A couple of months later the brothers bought Scottish-based Bard Pharmaceuticals Co. (the same name as the drug company they had created in New York in 1955). They reconfigured Bard to serve as Napp’s “Production and Supply Chain and Quality Division.” Considering how little Napp had to sell, it was a sign of the ambitious plans the Sacklers had for their United Kingdom operations.26I
A small British drug company, Smith & Nephew Pharmaceuticals, had provided the morphine and heroin for the St. Christopher’s trials. Original correspondence located in the archives of King’s College, London, sets forth the efforts of Saunders and Smith & Nephew to find a better narcotic analgesic.27 They collaborated with Saunders on developing questionnaires to distribute to hospice patients to judge the effect of different pain meds.28 Smith & Nephew also prepared a more extensive survey for physicians. It sought their input about how they diagnosed and treated pain.29 Saunders pressed for questions that went beyond asking whether specific medications relieved a patient’s physical pain. She wanted to know if the treatments affected the “mental stress and emotional problems of patients and relatives.”30 In the final questionnaire sent to 26,000 U.K. doctors, the survey included some rudimentary questions about the “morale” of both patients and their relatives.31
One of the major obstacles any company then faced in developing a more effective narcotic analgesic was the ignorance about how opioids relieved pain. It would be another six years (1973) before researchers discovered that opioids attached to several brain receptors.32 It took until 1975 before scientists learned that some brain receptors produced natural opioids (endorphin and enkephalin) that blocked pain, slowed breathing, and had a calming effect. Their production was so limited, however, they were incapable of providing relief for moderate to severe chronic pain.33 Synthetic opiates are initially effective because they fool the brain to recognize them as natural neurotransmitters. They attach to nerve cells and flood the brain with dopamine, producing the euphoria some patients describe. There is often nearly complete pain relief. At least until the pain receptors get accustomed to opioid and dopamine saturation. Continued exposure to opiates causes the receptors to start misfiring; the only way to make up for that is increasing the dose. When the drug therapy stops, the receptors are incapable of producing natural painkillers. Pain becomes intense. And patients crave that pleasurable zone opioids create. That was why, researchers speculated, it was addictive (the same sensations and cycle of abuse as with nicotine, alcohol, and cocaine).34
How and why opioids worked inside the body, however, were of less concern to Smith & Nephew than what the effect was on terminally ill patients in severe pain. Their focus was on providing enough narcotic in a single dose to alleviate the intensity of pain without causing sleepiness, motor coordination problems, and memory lapses. As important as getting the strength right, they hoped to be able to make each dose last longer.
Correspondence shows the company tried but failed to develop an analgesic that accomplished what Saunders wanted for her hospice patients. Instead of admitting outright failure, they dusted off a drug they had developed in 1960, Narphen. Smith & Nephew claimed it was three to ten times more powerful than morphine.II35 When they had originally marketed it, the sales pitch was not only that it was powerful, but that it “has fewer and less serious side-effects than morphine… quicker acting and longer lasting… [and] less physical dependence.”36 Narphen’s active ingredient was phenazocine, a synthetic opioid licensed from Sterling Drugs in the U.S. (the FDA did not approve it for sale in America until 1967).37
The year that Cicely Saunders opened St. Christopher’s, the reports of a double-blind hospital study of Narphen showed it did provide fast and adequate mild to moderate pain relief with no reports of nausea or vomiting (one of the most persistent problems with morphine). It did, unfortunately, equal or surpass morphine’s dangerous suppression of a patient’s respiratory system.38 There were also soon reports rebutting Narphen’s claim it was not addictive.39
Smith & Nephew might have failed to develop a better end-of-life painkiller but that did not stop them from using the information they gleaned from their postal surveys to create a clever marketing campaign for Narphen. The company ran full-page ads with the trademarked tagline “Powerful Analgesic Without Sedative Effect” in The British Medical Journal, the Lancet, and other premier U.K. medical publications. The ads were tweaked to reach different markets of prescribing doctors by addressing the top concerns the physicians had listed in the pain surveys.40
Saunders thought Narphen was a decent enough painkiller, but it was certainly not the end-of-life pain treatment breakthrough for which she had hoped. That became ever more evident as Smith & Nephew promoted their drug for use “in emergencies, after accidents, and in orthopaedic and cardiac emergencies”; “as an adjunct to anaesthetics”; for “post-operative pain and restlessness”; and even for “obstetrics… reduces pain and apprehension during labor without interfering with uterine contraction.”41
Inside the small world of independent British pharmaceutical companies, news spread that Saunders wanted a new medication that revolutionized pain control. It was the only way her patients might have a decent chance of spending their final days at home. When Mortimer Sackler learned about her quest, he assured Saunders that Napp had the scientific capability and know-how to develop the narcotic analgesic she wanted.42 Mortimer and Napp’s top executives did not know whether they could deliver on that bold promise. Still, they wanted to at least have a chance to do so; Smith & Nephew’s stumble handed the Sacklers an opportunity they did not want to pass up. It was not long before Saunders and scientists at the newly configured Napp were exchanging ideas by mail and over the phone. The breakthrough at Napp, and its subsidiary Bard, was several years away. When it happened, however, it not only fulfilled the Sacklers’ promise to revolutionize pain care for the terminally ill, but unwittingly provided the technology that would later fuel America’s opioid crisis.
I. In the U.K., the Sacklers created the same complex business network as they had in the U.S. The author relied on public documents to unravel their labyrinth. They formed similar-sounding companies, often at the same addresses, and used them in related pharmaceutical endeavors. In the case of Napp, for example, some of the firms the Sacklers opened with only a slight modification of the original name include Napp Research Center Limited, Napp Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited, Napp Pharmaceuticals Ltd., and Napp Laboratories Ltd. (U.K.); Napp Chemicals Inc., and Napp Technologies (U.S.); and Napp Limited and Napp Company Ltd. (Thailand). As for Bard, future iterations included Bard Pharmaceuticals Ltd. (U.K.); Bard Pharmaceuticals Ltd. and Bard Pharmaceuticals Inc. (Canada); Bard Pharmaceuticals LLC and Bard Pharmaceuticals Inc, succeeded by Ikuwa Holdings Inc (U.S.). The Sacklers at times created new corporations with different names, passing the shares in a manner that made it difficult to follow the line of ownership. Napp Chemicals Inc., a Delaware corporation formed in 1970, for instance, did business in New Jersey as 195-203 Pine Products, then Lemke Chemicals, next it was Napp-Lodi Inc., then, finally, Napp Chemicals before subsequently changing to Napp Technologies Inc. In New York, Napp Chemicals instead became Purdue Pharma Technologies Inc.
II. Pharmaceutical companies and government agencies (the CDC and FDA) often use morphine as the base drug by which to measure the strength of other narcotic painkillers. The comparisons are difficult since the therapeutic effects of the drugs vary widely depending on how quickly individuals metabolize them. Some are available only as pills while others are by injection, intravenous, or transdermal patch. Codeine is universally ranked as weaker than morphine; however, it can vary between one tenth to one third the strength for an equivalent dose. Hydrocodone is roughly the equivalent of morphine, but it is seldom as effective at pain relief. It is almost always prescribed as a pill with a nonopioid like acetaminophen. Limits on the amount of the nonopioid (no more than 3,000 mg daily for acetaminophen) restrict the amount of hydrocodone that can be prescribed. Oxycodone is one and a half to two times stronger than morphine, while heroin is three to five times more powerful.
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“GO-GO GODDARD”
While the debate in Britain was about end-of-life care, in the U.S., FDA commissioner James Goddard caused angst among the nation’s big tobacco companies as he tried expanding his agency’s authority to regulate their product. The surgeon general’s report warning that smoking caused lung cancer had been released only eighteen months earlier (January 1964). In a country where 40 percent of adults were regular smokers, Congress had responded only by requiring that all cigarette packs include a generic warning label.1 As with alcohol before Prohibition, lawmakers were reticent to do anything that might too severely crimp the huge tobacco tax revenues. They added more than $8 billion annually to the federal government, about 6 percent of its entire budget (another $3 billion went to states and cities with their own cigarette taxes).2 Goddard contended the FDA should have jurisdiction over cigarettes since they had become a health issue. But without the science that unequivocally established nicotine’s addictiveness, he could not make a winning case (it took forty-four years before the FDA got the authority to regulate tobacco).3
Although he failed to get control of tobacco, he cited it in staff meetings as proof of his intent to put an end to what he called the FDA’s era of subservience. The agency had all the legal powers it needed, he said, but time and again had failed to use them. FDA general counsel William Goodrich thought Goddard was dramatically different from his predecessors. He was “very gung-ho,” inspired by “the public interest movement,” and “prepared to beat on the [pharma] industry.”4
Word soon spread in Washington about the fiery new commissioner. The New York Times described him as “a wild-eyed crusader with a battle-ax flailing boldly.”5 Inside the agency his staff dubbed him “Go-Go Goddard.”6
Goddard was not satisfied merely with picking a fight with the tobacco industry or with Roche and its blockbuster benzos. A few months into his tenure he delivered an unprecedented broadside to the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association, the industry’s leading trade group, at its annual convention.
“Too many drug manufacturers,” he said, “have obscured the prime mission of their industry: to help people get well.”7 While he was not against profits, he warned that the companies should stop trying “to slip something by us” in new drug filings. During his brief FDA tenure, he had been “shocked” at how many drug applications were shoddy and unprofessional. He promised to personally ensure that “amateur and unprofessional” submissions would be rejected. The FDA would no longer tolerate the “constant, direct, [and] personal pressure” the firms had long exerted on the review division.8
Goddard’s frank and adversarial tone stunned those at the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association. He had cherry-picked a few bad examples, they contended, in order to smear the entire industry. Most left the convention convinced that Goddard was bad for business. They were abuzz about his final warning: if the industry did not try to resolve the problems he raised, pharma would be “altered beyond your present fear.”9
Goddard turned out to be as much action as he was talk. Upon returning to Washington, he restarted his predecessor’s recall of antibiotic combination cold remedies. Soon, the FDA expanded the number of drugs it wanted off the market from several dozen to 300.10 Pharma got another jolt when Goddard created the Scientific Investigations Staff to examine “the work of clinical investigators suspected of performing improper research.”11 Adding to the industry’s angst, he promoted Frances Kelsey, whom he considered “a sacred cow” for her role in preventing the sale of thalidomide in the U.S., to become the division’s first director. And Goddard put a fright into pharma when he proposed that new drugs should be tested in clinical trials against meds in the same category that were already on the market. He contended that could ensure new medications were better than what was available already.
He did not get everything on his wish list. Drug companies quickly blocked his idea of testing new versus old drugs. Proving efficacy was enough of a hurdle for them to satisfy.12 He was also frustrated he could not hold medical journals legally responsible if they ran drug ads that later turned out to be misleading.13 JAMA had published an article citing thirty-five cases of birth defects from a Parke-Davis drug, and subsequently ran three months of advertisements that did not mention that (the ads were the handiwork of Bill Frohlich).14
And he failed to require clinical researchers to obtain detailed signed consent forms from all drug trial participants. It had been included in a draft of the Kefauver Amendments but deleted before it became law. Pharma had protested that full disclosure of all risks in experimental trials would frighten volunteers. Goddard’s interest was because of a scandal eighteen months earlier. It concerned whether full disclosure had been made to hundreds of patients, most with cancer, who had been injected with live cancer cells to check immune response to new tumors.15 The research was no secret. A team of cancer specialists, led by a leading authority, Dr. Chester Southam, had conducted the work for a decade at New York’s prestigious Sloan Kettering. Many researchers on the team had given lectures or led symposiums about their work, and their results had been published over the years in eighteen peer-reviewed medical journals.16 Beyond those patients at Sloan Kettering, the team had injected live cancer cells into patients at New York’s Memorial Hospital, Brooklyn’s Jewish Chronic Disease Hospital, and inmates who had apparently volunteered at Ohio State Penitentiary. What put the research on the front pages of the New York papers was that three doctors at the Jewish Chronic Disease Hospital refused to participate when they discovered that the informed consent form signed by the patients did not disclose that the injections contained live malignant cancer cells. Nor did it include anything about the risks. The three dissenting physicians, along with a hospital board director, resigned in protest when Southam went ahead anyway. “I don’t want Nazi practices of using human beings as experimental guinea pigs,” one said on departing. New York tabloids covered the story as if it was an American remake of the Nuremberg trials.17
An investigation by the New York State attorney general led to the state’s Board of Regents finding Southam guilty of deceit, fraud, and unprofessional conduct. His license was suspended for a year.18 Many of his colleagues thought he had been unfairly pilloried for the reason that the drug lobby fought Goddard’s attempt at full disclosure: patients might have been scared away at words like “living malignant cells” or told about every risk, even the ones that were possible but unlikely. The best evidence that most in the medical establishment did not consider Southam’s ethical violations egregious is that when he was again permitted to practice medicine in 1964, the American Cancer Society elected him their executive vice president.19
In the final regulations issued by the FDA the following year the agency made no mention of Goddard’s desire for stricter and more transparent guidelines to protect research volunteers.20 (It took the disclosure six years later of the shocking 1930s Tuskegee syphilis experiments on poor African Americans to force a meaningful revision of the informed consent rules.)
Although Goddard had an ambitious to-do list, he recognized that one matter took precedence: starting the ambitious review mandated by the Kefauver Amendments of the effectiveness of thousands of drugs approved between 1938 and 1962. The endeavor was beyond the FDA’s capability, especially since he wanted the agency to devote more resources to expanded enforcement of existing regulations. Only a couple of months after becoming commissioner, he reached out for help to the National Academy of Sciences (NAS) and National Research Council (NRC). They struck an agreement, dubbed the Drug Efficacy Study, in June 1966. In exchange for $834,000 from the FDA, the NAS/NRC assigned their Division of Medical Sciences to undertake a broad evaluation of all the pre-1962 drugs. They divided the drugs into categories such as antibiotics, hormones, sulfas, and tranquilizers. Thirty panels composed of 185 scientific and medical experts would judge the drugs’ efficacy.21
Harvard’s Max Finland estimated that if the experts used Kefauver’s standard of “substantial evidence,” the panels would take twenty-five to fifty years to finish their work.22 Goddard was a realist. He agreed to a more lenient standard of “the informed judgment and experience” of the medical experts.23 Instead of requiring new and independent research, the panels would analyze every drug’s published studies and data. Two hundred and forty pharma firms sent truckloads of information on over four thousand drugs to the reviewers.24 The panels ranked each—effective, probably effective, possibly effective, and clearly ineffective—as to how it delivered on its therapeutic claims. Drugs deemed ineffective would be banned from the market unless the pharma company reformulated it and proved anew its efficacy.25
Fixed-dose combination antibiotics, introduced by the Pfizer-made/Sackler-promoted Sigmamycin, were the most controversial. Twenty percent of all medications under review were combinations.26 In the ensuing debate the review panels added an additional finding: “ineffective as a fixed combination.” That meant there was no evidence that the combined drugs were any more effective than each of the meds on their own.27
As Goddard waited for the Drug Efficacy Study to return with its final recommendations, the FDA’s examiners in the administrative hearings on the mild tranquilizers returned in April 1967 with a partial judgment.28 Relying on the 1965 Drug Abuse Control Amendments, both Miltown and Equanil met the definition of “potential for abuse” and should be subject to controls similar to those on amphetamines and barbiturates.29 Drugmakers Carter and Wyeth had been prepared for an adverse ruling and immediately sued the FDA in federal court.
The FDA’s hearings on Librium and Valium, meanwhile, were far from over. Roche was only halfway through presenting its defense. It had a long list of expert witnesses, mostly prominent researchers and noted psychopharmacologists. They testified that if the two benzos were used as intended, they did not produce debilitating or life-threatening side effects, were not addictive, and did not lead to an increase in suicide. Roche’s attorneys dismissed the FDA’s patient accounts of painful withdrawals from the drug as rare and not evidence of an underlying problem.30
The following month Goddard refocused on medical advertising. He had failed to interest a single pharma company with a proposal to replace all medical advertising with an annual FDA-produced compendium that included full labeling information.31 Goddard wanted pharma to subsidize the cost. Drug executives thought it preposterous that they pay for a government-sponsored encyclopedia at the expense of abandoning their own advertisements.32
On May 17, the FDA issued a new set of regulations under the “fair balance” requirement for promotion. No drug could be advertised as superior to another unless the FDA approved the claim after the presentation of “substantial evidence.” That rule was sparked by two instances in which companies advertised their birth control pills as safer (Mead Johnson) or that they caused less weight gain (Lilly), when neither was true.33 The FDA also instituted a tougher requirement for listing side effects in an ad. They would have to be displayed in the promotional copy itself, not buried in a barely discernible font at the bottom.34
Finally, Goddard introduced measures to prevent a redux of what Sackler and Frohlich had done with Achrocidin, Lederle’s fixed-dose antibiotic cold drug. In promoting that drug, Sackler and Frohlich had cited a 1933 clinical study to puff up the medication’s supposed benefits, while ignoring twenty newer, more comprehensive studies indicating the exact opposite. Among a rash of new “dos and don’ts,” obsolete data could no longer be used in promotion, published reports of side effects could not be ignored, and animal studies could not be cited as having any clinical significance.35
Pharma forcefully opposed the new rules. The president of Sackler’s McAdams ad agency spoke for many on Medicine Avenue when he said the proposals “jeopardized freedom of the press.”36 Goddard did not budge. The FDA instead seized shipments of some medications in which it judged the ads misleading. Warner-Lambert’s Peritrate, used for chest pain relief, was the first. The company had incorrectly relied on studies to boast about efficacy beyond what it had proved to the FDA.37 The use of seizures was controversial and brought a howl of protest from drug companies who charged that under Goddard, the FDA’s role had crossed from protecting the public to an abusive use of power.
Goddard created problems for pharma beyond simply the scope of FDA authority. He persuaded Lyndon Johnson that a stronger federal role was needed in keeping tabs on the drug industry. In 1967 LBJ endorsed legislation to restrict the $100 million that pharma spent on free samples to doctors annually. The final version of the Food and Drugs Safety Act passed that year was not as expansive, however, as Goddard had hoped. While the new law barred pharma from sending unsolicited drug samples through the mail, there was no limit on how many detail teams could distribute.38 And to make up for losing the right to mail unsolicited samples, drug firms began adopting a wide range of new ways to provide doctors with perks, everything from weekend trips to the Bahamas to golf tournaments and cocktail parties.39
Not even the president could get all the legislation he wanted when it came to pharma. Two years earlier, Congress had passed the first ever government-sponsored health care programs, Medicare and Medicaid.40 Both were part of LBJ’s Great Society reforms. Medicare removed everyone over sixty-five from the individual health care insurance market. It focused on covering the costs of hospitalization. A prescription drug benefit was included in an early draft bill but dropped before the final vote “on the grounds of unpredictable and potentially high costs.”41 Eligibility for Medicaid, on the other hand, was not dependent on age. It was intended for Americans with limited incomes, defined as those living at or below the federal poverty line. Medicaid did cover prescription drugs.42
The Johnson administration was alarmed by the rapid increase in drug costs and how much pharmaceuticals exceeded what the government had budgeted. To control runaway prices, one LBJ-backed bill would have instituted “reasonable costs” as a pricing standard. Another would have mandated the government only buy generic medications.43
Those proposals set the drug industry on fire. The AMA joined in, arguing they would infringe on physician autonomy to decide which medication was best for a patient.44 The Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association flooded congressional offices with booklets warning generics were not safe.45 Both bills died before making it out of their committees. In response, Lyndon Johnson appointed a Task Force on Prescription Drugs to determine whether drug coverage should be added to Medicare.I
Goddard, meanwhile, had the ear of some prescription-reform-minded Democratic senators, Wisconsin’s Gaylord Nelson, Louisiana’s Russell Long, and New Mexico’s Joseph Montoya. Nelson had succeeded Estes Kefauver as the chairman of the Antitrust and Monopoly Subcommittee. Goddard repeatedly urged him to pick up where Kefauver stopped. Beginning in May 1967, Nelson opened an investigation—Competitive Problems in the Drug Industry—that focused on “the health and pocketbook of American citizens.”46 It was the first of what would be a record-setting thirty-four hearings over twelve years (generating seventeen thousand pages of final reports).47 Nelson tried half a dozen times in the coming decade to enact some variation of compulsory generic drug legislation; pharma defeated it every time.
In January 1968, the Drug Efficacy Study panels finally reported their conclusions to the FDA. They had reviewed over 16,500 therapeutic claims for 4,000 pre-1962 drugs. Only 434, about 12 percent of those examined, delivered on all their promised claims.48 Seven hundred and sixty-nine were marked as “ineffective”; that included most of the fixed-dose combination antibiotics.49 Psychotropics were hit hard, with more than half marked as not working for the condition for which they were dispensed.50 The biggest drug companies—Upjohn, Pfizer, Lederle, Lilly, Wyeth, and Merck—had the highest number of products judged “ineffective.”51
The information in the final reports was so voluminous that Goddard established a Drug Efficacy Study Implementation (DESI) task force inside his Bureau of Drugs.52 Its task was to recommend which drugs the FDA should decertify. It was also responsible for reviewing additional evidence drugmakers submitted to appeal the ratings, particularly the nearly 1,800 drugs marked as “possibly ineffective.” Ultimately, the DESI task force upgraded to “effective” only an eighth of those.53
The failure of so many drugs to get passing marks from the scientific review panels was bad news for tens of millions of the drug-taking public. While many people had come to believe that pharma put profits above public health, a further shadow was cast over the industry’s vaunted reputation for excellent research. Some national newspapers printed full-page summaries of the “ineffective” drugs.54 How good was it if over half of all the therapeutic claims made for all pre-1962 drugs were not supportable? Few had known until those rankings that the “scientific evidence” many drug companies touted in ads were simply paid testimonials.
While the DESI was under way, Goddard was antagonizing pharma on new fronts. That February, during Senate hearings about the booming diet pill industry, he testified “there are no drugs which can safely control the problem of obesity.”55 That was a direct challenge to some five thousand physicians who specialized in treating obesity with diet pills. By the time of the Senate probe, Americans were spending $250 million annually on those doctors and another $120 million on so-called rainbow pills, named after the brightly colored tablets that had become a hallmark of weight loss clinics.56 Goddard announced during his testimony that he had ordered the FDA to seize 43 million tablets from a dozen manufacturers.57 The rainbow pill he targeted was a wildly popular combination of a desiccated form of the thyroid hormone mixed with the heart drug digitalis.
The drug in Goddard’s crosshairs had been on the market for decades, but the FDA had only recently linked several deaths to it. “It is incomprehensible,” said the president of Texas-based Lanpar, a manufacturer from whom federal agents seized $500,000 in pills, “that a product that has been marketed successfully for 30 years overnight becomes the target of the FDA.”58 Those drugs were lethal hazards, the commissioner told the Senate panel. And he cited the rainbow medications as a key reason why the FDA’s review of which pre-1962 combination drugs should be recalled was vitally important.59
Goddard’s rainbow pills seizures were front-page news. Many in the industry thought he was grandstanding. Life sent a thin reporter undercover to ten weight loss clinics, and while a couple told her she did not need to lose weight, the rest prescribed 1,500 amphetamine-based pills in two weeks.60 While the manufacturers of rainbow pills were a handful of smaller firms that had been founded just for that purpose (New Jersey’s Clark & Clark, Dallas’s Lanpar Company, Denver’s Western Research Laboratories, and St. Louis’s Mills Pharmaceuticals), the seizures tarnished the entire industry.61 News that March of the deaths of twelve Maryland women from rainbow pills prompted Senator Gaylord Nelson to add diet pills to his ongoing pharmaceutical inquiry.62
All of pharma agreed on one matter: they had to get rid of Goddard. For more than a year they had engaged in a whisper campaign designed to disparage him and undermine his support in Congress. They characterized him as driven by insatiable ambition, only interested in accumulating power as opposed to doing what was best for the public and drug industry. Business-friendly Barron’s warned that the “FDA Has Become a Threat to U.S. Health and Welfare.” The problem, according to Barron’s, was that the agency was in “the doctrinaire hands of its Commissioner, James L. Goddard.” His policies had so suppressed the development of lifesaving drugs in the country’s pharmaceutical research labs, that “the medicine men of FDA, all unwittingly perhaps, are angels of death.”63
Goddard unintentionally helped his enemies by saying things that weakened the support he had inside the Johnson administration. He irritated law enforcement officials in his 1968 testimony before a House subcommittee that was weighing whether to criminalize LSD. Goddard was the only administration voice to oppose the law, preferring instead to fund public education about the perils of drugs and treatments for addicts. His contention that local drugstores were not competitive and would one day be extinct irked one of his most ardent supporters, former pharmacist Vice President Hubert Humphrey.64
In May 1968, the embattled Goddard submitted his resignation. According to The New York Times, his departure was “because of differences with the Administration over his policing of the purity of foods and the safety and efficacy of drugs.… He antagonized pharmaceutical manufacturers and many physicians.”65 Pharma was jubilant. Goddard’s replacement, Dr. Herbert Ley Jr., the chairman of the Harvard School of Public Health’s Epidemiology and Microbiology Department, started in July.II66 But the celebration over Goddard’s departure was short-lived as Ley disabused the industry that he would return to the less aggressive Larrick-era approach. He made it clear inside the agency as well that he was determined to follow through with most of Goddard’s ambitious agenda, including the DESI recommendations regarding the pre-1962 drugs.
Thirty members of the National Academy of Sciences, all of whom had served on the drug panels, shared with Ley a draft of a scholarly article they wrote concluding that the FDA should decertify all fixed-dose combination antibiotic medications. They were almost never better than each of the constituent drugs alone, and in some cases demonstrably worse.67 Drug companies used the combination meds to extend patents on expiring medications, or sometimes to develop combo products for which they charged considerably more than each drug on its own.68 JAMA refused to publish the article, believing that removing the drugs cut the power of physicians. (The NEJM published it but not until the following year.)69
The chief target of the academic experts was Upjohn’s Panalba, a patented combination of two generic antibiotics, tetracycline and novobiocin.70 It had been a major success for Upjohn. With more than 750 million prescriptions in the decade since its release, it provided 20 percent of the company’s American gross income.71 The Drug Efficacy Study had concluded that Panalba was actually less effective than either stand-alone antibiotic because the duo often counteracted each other. As for side effects, Panalba was more toxic than just tetracycline, and one in five patients were allergic to novobiocin.72 A dozen patients had died of Panalba complications.73 And it had cost consumers at least $12 million more than if they simply had used just-as-effective tetracycline. What few knew was that Upjohn’s internal testing had revealed the drug was dangerous, capable of causing blood disorders and even liver damage.74
The reason for Panalba’s success? Since its inception its promotion had been the brainchild of Arthur Sackler and his McAdams agency. Sackler had already gotten in trouble before the Kefauver subcommittee for his misleading campaign on Upjohn’s corticosteroid.
With Panalba, Sackler developed something he dubbed the “rational approach to prescribing antibiotics.” It was, as medical historian Scott Podolsky says, a “shoot first and ask questions later” philosophy. The ads urged doctors to use “Panalba promptly to gain precious therapeutic hours.” Since taking a tissue culture to confirm whether an infection was bacterial was not always practical, “a rational clinical alternative is to launch therapy at once with Panalba, the antibiotic that provides the best odds for success.” Sackler coined the description that Panalba was an “antibiotic-reinforced antibiotic” (the addition of novobiocin helped “protect against resistant staph”).75
On Christmas Eve 1968, Commissioner Ley relied on the recommendation of his DESI task force and announced the FDA’s intention to decertify Panalba. Ley knew if the agency was successful stopping the sale of the most successful fixed-dose combo antibiotic, it could move against the hundreds of others on the market. Ley provided thirty days for comments or input. Upjohn requested a full hearing to contest the decision, the same as Carter and Wyeth had done when they fought the Miltown/Equanil controls a few years earlier.
Ley said no. If every pharmaceutical company got a hearing to relitigate the merits of the DESI decisions, the agency would be bogged down for years. He was certain that the Kefauver Amendments’ grant of power for reviewing the pre-1962 drugs was so broad that pharma would have to abide by whatever decision the agency reached. That proved a miscalculation. Panalba became the test case for the entire industry and turned into a much bigger fight than Ley had imagined. It sparked a Senate investigation (that ultimately judged fixed-dose antibiotics as useless and sometimes dangerous).76 Upjohn filed a federal lawsuit contending the FDA ruling violated the doctors’ constitutional free speech and exceeded its statutory authority. Upjohn insisted that the courts should in fairness order the FDA to hold administrative hearings for every drug it wanted to withdraw from public sale. Meanwhile, Panalba stayed on the market as the litigation wound its way to the Supreme Court. Some of Upjohn’s rivals had by then filed their own lawsuits or briefs in support of the effort to quash the FDA’s ability to demand effectiveness evidence for the pre-1962 drugs.
The battle over whether Congress intended the FDA to have such broad administrative powers in recalling drugs worked its way through the federal courts. The Supreme Court did not settle the matter for four years in a quartet of decisions. Justice William Douglas delivered the unanimous opinion in the main Panalba case.77 It was a milestone for the FDA, a full-throated endorsement of the agency’s powers. The court concluded that Congress meant exactly what it said in the 1962 law: it intended to give the FDA broad authority to remove drugs it considered ineffective, not just those deemed unsafe. When any drug is recalled, the court ruled it applied automatically to all the me-too versions. As for the question of whether the agency could use “administrative summary judgment” to withdraw drugs “for the protection of the public,” the court ruled it did. All the FDA had to do was to “provide a formal hearing” in those instances when the company’s newly submitted evidence met the agency’s standard of “rigorous proof.”78 The Supreme Court’s ruling in favor of the FDA’s expansive power set the foundation for the FDA’s gigantic second phase of the Drug Efficacy Study for 300,000 over-the-counter medications (which took twenty years to complete).79 It also, concluded Edward Shorter, a social historian of medicine, transformed the FDA “from a sleepy little cop agency into a bureaucratic powerhouse.”80
Many in the pharmaceutical industry, as had happened after the passage of every major previous drug law, warned that the court decision would cripple research and innovation. The problem for the drug companies was that they had lost their credibility on the “sky-is-falling” complaint. For every drug removed from the market in the U.S., manufacturers continued selling them for years in Latin America, Asia, Europe, and Africa.81
I. That LBJ commission did not deliver its report for almost two years, during the first months of the Nixon administration. It recommended that Medicare should include a drug benefit program; Nixon relegated the idea to death by neglect. Adding drug coverage to Medicare would not be seriously considered again for thirty years.
II. Goddard had enough of government service. After leaving the FDA he initially took a job in Atlanta-based EOP Technology, a private data processing firm. He later moved to the Ford Foundation, and even did some consulting work for drug companies.
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“HERE, EAT THIS ROOT”
The battle to remove Panalba and the other fixed-dose antibiotics had taken eleven years since the Kefauver subcommittee had zeroed in on the shortcomings of Pfizer’s Sigmamycin, the drug that Arthur Sackler had advertised with testimonials from eight phantom physicians. Much of the media coverage about the FDA’s victory was about the public savings of millions it would have otherwise spent on unnecessary and worthless drugs. The Supreme Court ruling meant the FDA did not have to ask for updated safety profiles before decertifying a drug. The agency was relieved because it thought it unnecessary and too time-consuming. The unintended consequences, however, of not requiring those safety profiles of the pre-1962 drugs was that the agency missed a chance to address the early stages of antibiotic drug resistance.
The FDA’s miscalculation, reinforced by the widespread belief in the biomedical community, was to dismiss reports of drug resistance as anomalies that affected few patients. Laboratory tests in the late 1940s and through the 1950s predicted antibiotic resistance would rarely develop.1 The tests showed that for bacteria to acquire resistance, they expended so much energy that it resulted in their self-destruction. And in the few instances in which bacteria did show evidence of resistance, its culture growth was slow. That reassured researchers, who cited it as evidence that even if antibiotic resistance developed in humans, “it would be unstable and short-lived.”2
Two of the pioneers who developed penicillin were not as convinced. In his 1945 acceptance speech for the Nobel in Medicine, Alexander Fleming warned that if penicillin was dispensed too liberally it would be less capable of killing bacteria over time.
“There is the danger that the ignorant man may easily under dose himself and by exposing his microbes to non-lethal quantities of the drug make them resistant.”3
Ernst Chain had an even more ominous warning. He feared bacterial pathogens were so adaptable that once they began evolving to resist antibiotics, it was only a matter of time until no drug could stop them.
Most researchers and academicians rejected those dire forecasts as overdramatic and unproven.4 A mid-1950s report about a cluster of Japanese patients who did not respond to antibiotics because of resistant pathogens did not cause much concern among scientists. They dismissed it as an unexplainable anomaly. Doctors did not have the technology to diagnose why those patients had not responded to drug treatment.5
The early scientists worked from two incorrect assumptions. First, they thought that for there to be antibiotic resistance, some of the body’s bacteria would have to develop that resistance. And they assumed the results they obtained in their controlled lab settings predicted what would happen when antibiotics were widely and repeatedly dispensed to millions of people.
It was several decades before researchers proved that by “random chance” some people’s cells have genes capable of natural resistance to an administered antibiotic. The odds of resistant bacteria also increase when patients don’t finish the full course of prescribed treatment. And the same is true when an antibiotic is dispensed for viral infections such as the common cold. Although useless against viruses, introducing the drug into the body activates so-called resistance genes (R genes). Biologists now estimate that humans have about twenty thousand potential R genes. 6 I 7
Beginning in the mid-1950s, doctors liberally dispensed powerful broad-spectrum antibiotics. Their shotgun disbursement in the body meant they killed off good microbes in addition to any pathogenic bacteria. The germs left were those with natural resistance R genes, and they became more potent from having battled and survived the drug. The introduction of fixed-dose combination antibiotics in 1956 added to the overprescribing epidemic. Physicians dispensed those for common colds, sinus infections, sore throats, and runny noses. Every one of those needless prescriptions increased the odds for more resistant bacteria. Until the FDA removed them from the market in 1973, billions of doses of the combination antibiotics had been sold. Americans took more antibiotics every year in the 1950s and 1960s than all other prescription medications combined.8
Many also got extra antibiotics from the 30 million pounds of antibiotics used annually since the 1950s to fatten chickens, cattle, turkeys, and other animals used for meat, as well as protecting farmed fish from contracting diseases common in the overcrowded environments in which they were bred. They also became prevalent in plant agriculture, sprayed every spring for a week on fruit and vegetable crops to suppress the proliferation of otherwise destructive pathogens.9 The constant exposure to antibiotics from different sources boosts the number and speed at which resistant genes proliferate.10 II 11
What was the result of the overprescription frenzy of the postwar decades? Researchers have now determined that ground zero for antibiotic drug resistance was during the early 1960s in America. A “core” population of resistant strains developed and took hold in susceptible patients. Scientists now realize that in some people, molecules of independently replicating DNA called plasmids (plasmid-mediated antibiotic resistance) develop. Those morphed into supercharged biological carriers capable of spreading resistant bacteria. Those plasmids, scientists believe, are how antibiotic resistance spread from America to every continent, including locations where antibiotics were used rarely.12 III 13
The grim ramifications of the FDA’s decision not to update the safety profiles of the pre-1962 antibiotics only became apparent a decade later. The first indications of a problem were news reports of epidemic infection rates in developing countries of a common form of pneumonia and a sexually transmitted disease, neither of which responded to drugs.14 During the mid- to late 1960s about 35,000 American troops in Vietnam got infected with a resistant strain of malaria that Army doctors said was a “recent mutant of more common types.” It sparked a crash program by the National Institute of Science, the Walter Reed Army Research Institute, and leading tropical medicine physicians that failed to develop treatment (today, that mutant strain—falciparum malaria—is still the world’s deadliest.)15
It would take thirty years before leading microbiologists had concluded that “The use of antibiotics by humans can be seen as an evolutionary experiment of enormous magnitude.”16 As is now evident, it was an experiment in which the odds—beginning in the 1960s in America—were unwittingly stacked in favor of the pathogens.
I. In the late 1990s, the World Health Organization published an anonymous doggerel, titled “The History of Medicine,” that summarized the evolutionary view that germs will always prevail: “2000 B.C.: – Here, eat this root; A.D. 1000 – That root is heathen. Here, say this prayer; A.D. 1850 – That prayer is superstition. Here, drink this potion; A.D. 1920 – That potion is snake oil. Here, swallow this pill; A.D. 1945 – That pill is ineffective. Here, take this penicillin; A.D. 1955 – Oops… bugs mutated. Here, take this tetracycline; 1960–1999 – 39 more “oops.” Here, take this more powerful antibiotic; A.D. 2000 – The bugs have won! Here, eat this root.”
II. The CDC and WHO have over the decades repeatedly warned doctors they should be judicious by limiting their antibiotic dispensing. Still, the CDC estimates that about 30 percent of the quarter billion antibiotics prescriptions written annually in the U.S. are unnecessary. An additional $50 billion of antibiotics are improperly administered in nursing home and hospitals.
III. It was 2010 before British scientists concluded that MRSA, an opportunistic superbug infection caused by a resistant bacterial strain, also developed in the early 1960s.
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“THEY CLEAN THEIR OWN CAGES”
There were early warning signs that could not be ignored, however, for another blockbuster hormone drug created and marketed only to women: the contraceptive pill. In under a decade since the FDA approved it, Searle’s Enovid had become an enormous success. Ten million women were regular users in the U.S. and another four million in another twenty countries. Searle liked to crow that one of every four married women in America was on the Pill.1
The Pill was undoubtedly a medical breakthrough that had empowered women to take charge of their reproductive options through a simple once-a-day tablet. In its first couple of years, physicians dispensed it as if there were no more side effects than aspirin. Searle’s advertisements boasted, “It has been studied more thoroughly and for a longer continuous time in the same persons and in more women than any other drug.”2
When patient complaints started trickling in of headaches, bloating, nausea, and breast tenderness, doctors were mostly dismissive, believing that women’s bodies had to adjust to the pseudopregnancy stage the Pill induced. Through the mid-1960s, however, the number of reported side effects grew. It prompted the FDA to appoint an all-male panel of nine physicians to study whether the Pill made blood clots more likely, the adverse effect that raised the most concern, since it was potentially fatal. They found 272 reports of Enovid users who developed blood clots; thirty patients had died. The panel recommended that Searle add a warning to its label about the possibility of blood clots for those most at risk, women over thirty-five. Under intense pushback from Searle, the FDA overruled its committee, claiming the doctors had made a mathematical error in calculating the death rate from blood clots and the real risk for those on the Pill was “not statistically significant.”3 In 1966, in another concession to Searle’s lobbying, the FDA lifted its forty-eight-month limit for how long a woman should stay on the Pill; there was now no time limit.4
From 1966 through 1969, the FDA documented another 1,034 instances of serious adverse effects, including 118 deaths, mostly from blood clots, but also a few from strokes and complications from hepatitis.5 The FDA could not determine if the fatal illnesses resulted from the contraceptive or were merely a coincidence. By the late 1960s, the prescription package insert sent to pharmacists was a tiny booklet of three thousand words and five complex scientific tables that listed more than fifty side effects, including some potentially fatal ones.
Questions about the Pill’s safety did not affect its commercial success. A five-year study concluded that 80 percent of women who stopped taking it did so because they were bothered by side effects such as bloating, cramping, and water retention, not because of fears about whether it might make them seriously ill. The market for the contraceptive kept expanding because so many more new patients between the ages of fifteen and forty-four replaced those who had discontinued it.6 The number taking the Pill grew on average about half a million annually.
Patients never saw the prescription package inserts. Those only went to druggists and physicians who requested them. Most doctors dispensed the Pill with a generic “call me if something unusual occurs” assurance. There was a widespread sentiment among physicians that if patients received too much information about possible side effects, many “wouldn’t understand it” or “it would scare the hell out of them.”7 In subsequent Senate hearings, Kansas senator Bob Dole questioned if telling women about the health risks might cause such anxiety they might end up “taking two pills… a tranquilizer and then the regular Pill.”8
The University of Kentucky’s Dr. David Clark believed the reason most of his colleagues were hesitant to criticize the Pill was that it had “diplomatic immunity.” Its backers considered it as critical in everything from controlling overpopulation to ending poverty to reducing the divorce rate to improving sex lives by eliminating the fear of unwanted pregnancies, and emancipating women by giving them full and simplified control of their reproductive rights.9 Peter Wyden, the editor of Ladies’ Home Journal, rejected any critical stories about the oral contraceptive since he did not believe the magazine’s readers wanted bad news.10 Medical researchers at a 1965 World Health Organization conference were so worried about overpopulation that in the final report they omitted mentioning any of the Pill’s side effects.11
The only information most women got was what they picked up in the “About the Pill” booklets that pharma companies printed by the tens of thousands. Those were distributed at Planned Parenthood, women’s health clinics, hospitals, and private medical practices. No more than a few dozen pages each, they were reassuring in emphasizing that side effects were almost always minor and temporary. Searle ignored several FDA warnings and kept crossing the line between physician education and overzealous promotion. In its most widely distributed booklet, “A Prescription for Family Planning—The Story of Enovid,” Searle totally ignored the most recent and disturbing adverse effects among its millions of consumers.12 I 13
The first cracks in the benign view of the Pill appeared slowly. “The Terrible Trouble with the Birth-Control Pill: Should You Stop Taking Them Immediately?” in the July 1967 Ladies’ Home Journal was the first time millions read about the accumulating questions concerning long-term safety. It focused on new evidence of blood clot risks and a possible cervical cancer connection. Prominent medical journal editorials slammed the article for “sensationalism… half-truths… and quoting authorities out of context.”14
A 1968 British study concluded that women on the Pill had a ninefold chance of developing blood clots, and they were seven times more likely to be fatal. The results received only passing coverage in the mainstream media.15 The Pill’s advocates dismissed the findings, contending that the risk, three deaths per 100,000 patients, was small when compared to the chances of death from other serious illnesses that women sometimes got during pregnancy.16
“A woman who takes oral contraceptives,” said Dr. Malcolm Potts, Planned Parenthood’s first medical director, “has more chance of being alive one year later than her sisters who choose to have a baby.” The risk of death during childbirth was fifteen times greater than the risk of dying from the blood clots identified in the British study.17
The tide of public opinion, especially for those on the Pill, turned in 1969. Since the contraceptive was considered such an emancipating scientific advance for women, it seemed only fair that female critics expose the dangers to a wide audience. Barbara Seaman, a respected medical writer, published The Doctors’ Case Against the Pill.18 The bold tagline on the jacket gave all the preview necessary of the contents: “More than 100 medical specialists report how love with the pill can cripple and kill.”19 Her interviews with doctors and researchers resulted in some extraordinary warnings that the “public… and scientific scandal” of “pretending the Pill is safe” was at the precipice of a tsunami of cancer in those who had been using it for several years.20
Jane Brody, the New York Times medicine and biology reporter, followed Seaman the following year with an extensive front-page story that set the tone for much of the subsequent national press. In addition to accumulating accounts of patients with depression or loss of libido, Brody noted the Pill had been linked to “a long list of serious illnesses, among them blood clots, strokes, sight-threatening eye disease, sterility, seizures, diabetes-like upsets in sugar tolerance and even cancer.” Most alarming was her inclusion of “two unpublished, highly controversial studies” by a New York gynecologist and researchers from Sloan Kettering Institute and the University of Chicago. In reviewing the records of 35,000 Planned Parenthood clients, the New York duo concluded that women on the Pill were twice as likely as diaphragm users to develop cancerlike changes in the cervix (carcinoma in situ). The Chicago researcher found the same risk was six times more likely for women over thirty-five.21
The question Brody posed is what millions of women in America were soon asking: “Is the woman who takes the Pill risking her life for the surety and convenience of this method of contraception?”22
In the spring and summer of 1969, on the heels of Brody’s piece, the media was consumed with the dangers posed by the Pill. Dr. Roy Hertz, the chief of the National Institutes of Health’s endocrine cancer research, predicted in a Newsweek cover story titled “The Pill and Cancer” that the Pill would cause a breast cancer crisis in a few years.23 The warning from the National Conference on Breast Cancer that May was that if studies showed the Pill caused cancer in animals, then those studies applied to women: “The world stands on the threshold of a pill-caused cancer epidemic that will dwarf the thalidomide birth-deformity tragedy.”24 A leading Stanford pharmacologist, Sumner Kalman, said that “eight million women in this country alone now serve as guinea pigs.”25 Endocrinologists told reporters that since the Pill worked through the pituitary gland, it was “unrealistic to think that long-range effects will not be inevitable.”26 A New York gynecologist who treated more than fifty wives of physicians told the Ladies’ Home Journal in another cover story that “not one of them is still on the Pill.”27 II 28
All the doomsday coverage set off warning lights for government regulators. Louis Hellman, the chair of the FDA’s Obstetrics and Gynecology Advisory Panel, had by 1969 changed from an avid proponent to publicly advising caution about the unknown effects of long-term use of “powerful synthetic hormones.” Philip Corfman, the doctor in charge of the NIH’s contraceptive research, admitted he would not prescribe the Pill in private practice unless a woman had no other option.29 By June 1969, a medical malpractice insurance company in California was the first to require its sixteen thousand doctors to obtain signed disclosure forms from patients before prescribing the Pill.30
Not everyone was upset with the growing litany of side effects and serious illnesses. The author has learned that at least one pharmaceutical firm that did not have a contraceptive product in the market considered the Pill a “gateway drug” by which they could sell half a dozen of their own brands to mitigate the Pill’s side effects. There were diuretics for bloating, antinausea and indigestion remedies, blood thinners to counter clotting, tranquilizers and benzos to reduce agitation or irritability, thyroid supplements or amphetamines to overcome fatigue, and antibiotics to treat the increased number of yeast infections. One Medicine Avenue antibiotic ad run made a direct pitch for the business of treating the contraceptive’s side effects: “If she’s on the Pill, she may need this tablet.”31
The media and public focus, however, was not concerned about whether some drug firms had a mercenary strategy to take advantage of the Pill’s woes. Instead, by the fall of 1969 the spotlight was on the FDA and questions about why it had not done a better job of alerting the public to the accumulating dangers. The British government had instituted stronger label warnings the previous year. When the FDA issued its second report on the Pill that September, it proved tone-deaf. Despite admitting a “small number” of women died annually from the medication, the benefits-to-risk ratio was high enough to keep its classification as a safe drug.32
The pressure was on the FDA to do something dramatic to make up for what seemed its laissez-faire oversight. Congressional and consumer advocacy critics agreed that Commissioner Herbert Ley bore the responsibility for the agency’s failure to be more proactive. The last straw turned out not to be about the Pill but rather an announcement by the agency on November 10 that it had failed in two years to recall any of the two hundred fixed-dose antibiotics and cold remedies it had targeted for removal. Pharma firms had tied up the FDA in litigation, but that was lost mostly in news coverage that added to the agency’s seeming incompetence under Ley.33
In early December, Ley was ousted, along with the agency’s next two ranking officials, the deputy commissioner and the chief of compliance. The Nixon administration, less than a year in power, decided to change more than just the top few jobs. The secretary of HEW announced an overhaul of the 4,200-person agency. The FDA’s Bureau of Science, Medicine and Compliance, which consumer advocates like Ralph Nader had excoriated for being too chummy with pharma, was disbanded and replaced with two streamlined departments. The entire agency was moved up in the HEW hierarchy, giving it expanded federal powers. Finally, a new commissioner was selected: Charles Edwards, a general surgeon who balanced a leadership role at the AMA with a part-time teaching post at Georgetown University Hospital. Edwards was also a vice president at the management consulting firm Booz Allen Hamilton.
With a reputation as a “hard-nosed, no nonsense decision-maker,” Edwards viewed the disarray as an opportunity.34 He knew that as the FDA’s powers got redefined, it would sometimes gain new authority and occasionally lose it. The previous year the FDA had lost its jurisdiction over illegal drugs to the Justice Department’s newly formed Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs. But it had also received expanded control over medicated feeds and animal drugs. The FDA had just gotten the green light from the Public Health Service to administer sanitation programs for shellfish, milk, and food services, and to the extent necessary for preventing poisoning or accidents at interstate travel facilities. The FDA also was in charge of antibiotic levels in milk, eggs, and food plants. However, Food Safety and Inspection Service was tasked with testing for antibiotic levels in poultry and meat.35 The Environmental Protection Agency was given the oversight of antibiotic residues left on the outside of food plants, including fruits and vegetables.36
Edwards turned out to be good at bureaucratic chess. He got the right for the FDA to regulate biologics—serums, seasonal (antigenic) vaccines, and some blood products—taking them away from the NIH. After successfully getting Congress to double the FDA budget, Edwards established the National Center for Toxicological Research, dedicated to examining the biological effects of chemicals in the environment. The most important new power in a few years would be the Medical Device Amendments, by which the FDA got oversight of both the safety and efficacy of medical instruments and diagnostic products.37
On the other hand, Edwards could not prevail in every skirmish. The FDA lost to the Environmental Protection Agency the right to set tolerance limits for pesticides. The NIH’s Division of Biologics Standards took the authority over the importation and distribution of foreign blood products. Nonmedical consumer goods such as home appliances and toys, as well as household chemicals, went to the newly created Consumer Product Safety Commission. Microwaves, however, went to the FDA because they emitted low levels of radiation. The biggest blow would be when HEW and Congress blocked the agency from setting standards and regulating vitamins, minerals, and supplements.38
As the power tug-of-war played out, Edwards knew that he had assumed control at a time when Congress intended to take the agency to task for the uproar over the Pill. Senator Gaylord Nelson—who had succeeded Kefauver as the Senate’s crusader fighting abuses by big business—had pharma in his sights since 1967 with his Competitive Problems in the Drug Industry probe. Nelson thought that the FDA should be held responsible for their “abject failure” to protect American women from the health dangers of the Pill.39 That was the focus of his investigation in January 1970. The following two months of public hearings riveted much of the country. Nearly 90 percent of all women between the ages of twenty-one and forty-five followed the hearings.
Nelson began with eight doctors and researchers (all men) specializing in birth control.40 The first witness on January 14 was Hugh Davis, a Johns Hopkins professor of gynecology and the chief of its Contraceptive Clinic. Not only might the Pill cause breast cancer, he testified, but by the time a woman or her physician discovered a lump, it would have been there for many years.
The FDA’s chief of the cell biology division, Dr. Marvin Legator, followed Davis by warning the subcommittee that the Pill made cellular and genetic changes that could lead to cancers or even inheritable mutations. It was difficult to identify those changes as they were indistinguishable from the ones caused by some other illnesses. As a result, Legator concluded, the Pill posed a more dangerous crisis than thalidomide.41
Dr. Herbert Ratner, a leading physician and author, was not able to hide his disdain for the extent to which women were at risk for unknown perils from the Pill. “The scientist in the laboratory has never had it so good.… [w]omen make superb guinea pigs—they don’t cost anything. They clean their own ‘cages,’ feed themselves, pay for their own Pills and remunerate the clinical observer.” 42
The disclosures about blood clots and possible breast cancer and heart disease were not news to medical researchers. The Senate hearings were, however, the first time most women heard about them. All the facts and figures about risk versus benefits paled in insignificance when NIH scientist Roy Hertz testified to the committee that “estrogen is to cancer what fertilizer is to the wheat crop.”43 Women were stunned and infuriated. Two thirds of women in a Gallup poll said their physicians had never given them a single warning about any possible dangers.44 Why had their doctors been silent?
Commissioner Edwards knew the FDA had to do something fast. Four days after the hearings got under way the agency sent a letter to the country’s 381,000 doctors, urging them to advise their patients of the Pill’s potential serious side effects.45 Critics thought it too little too late. Edwards stumbled a couple of weeks later when he told a reporter that subject to different advice from their doctors, women “should continue to take” the Pill. At a contentious meeting with an activist group, D.C. Women’s Liberation, members shouted questions at him about why there were not more women in authority at the FDA and why the agency had not pushed pharma to develop a male pill. Edwards stormed out before it finished.46 III 47
The pharma industry tried reversing the damning Senate narrative. It spread a rumor that Nelson’s hearings were a prelude to the government banning the Pill and turning back the clock on women’s reproductive rights.48 A series of rebuttal witnesses went on the offensive before Nelson’s subcommittee, accusing the investigation of creating “unwarranted and dangerous alarm… [and] panic.”49 They repeated a few key themes: the Pill was more effective than IUDs and diaphragms; no other form of birth control fully gave women the ability to plan their lives free of unwanted pregnancies; and the risks of death from blood clots caused by the Pill were statistically less than the number of women who died during childbirth or car accidents.50 Other witnesses did not address whether the Pill was safe but instead emphasized its overriding social benefit.
Most women who followed the hearings were not interested in broad policy issues about curbing overpopulation. They were concerned about the degree to which pharma had put millions of them at risk by downplaying side effect reports for a decade. Was the Pill unsafe? A poll taken just two weeks after the Nelson inquiry had gotten under way showed that a sizable number of women answered yes: 18 percent with prescriptions had stopped taking it and another 23 percent were giving it “serious consideration.”51 At family planning clinics where it was dispensed to women too poor to otherwise afford it, upward of 30 percent stopped. After a month of public testimony, obstetricians and family clinics noted “a run on diaphragms.”52 Jane Brody reported in The New York Times that a check of pharmacies around New York confirmed a “significant increase in the sales of contraceptive foams, jellies and creams and condoms, and a definite falling off in sales of oral contraceptives.”53
When a New York obstetrician later testified before the subcommittee, he castigated the panel for creating “dozens of unwanted pregnancies.”54 By March, the hearings’ two-month point, Dr. Phyllis Piotrow, the director for the Population Crisis Committee, scolded the senators for “scaring [women] to death.” Because so many were abandoning oral contraceptives, Piotrow predicted 100,000 unwanted “Nelson babies” by the end of the year.55
The warning of 100,000 unwanted “Nelson babies” proved wildly off target. A year later, even large, inner-city family clinics reported unwanted births in the hundreds, not in the tens of thousands. A lot of women had switched to different methods but they had not abandoned contraceptives. The biggest beneficiary of the fright over the Pill was not another drug, but rather a medical device, a uniquely designed IUD called the Dalkon Shield. Johns Hopkins’s Hugh Davis had introduced it in 1969. By the time of the Nelson hearings it had sold 600,000 units.56 That was the year A. H. Robins—the maker of ChapStick, Robitussin, and Dimetapp—bought the rights from Davis and marketed it as a “safe alternative” to the Pill. (Davis, who had excoriated the Pill when he was the leadoff witness before the Senate, was later condemned by colleagues for not disclosing his financial conflict of interest.)57 IV 58
In the wake of Nelson’s hearings there was a sharp drop in public confidence for the FDA, particularly among women. Eight years earlier with the thalidomide disaster, the FDA had been hailed for not approving a drug that left a trail of horrible birth defects in Europe.59 The FDA emerged as the culprit from the Nelson hearings. Not only had it approved Enovid in 1960, the first of a radically new class of medications, but it had done so without any data about its long-term safety. Worse was its repeated failure to do anything as adverse effect reports poured in. While many expected the drug companies to bury bad news about their products, it was disturbing to see that pharma had so thoroughly outwitted and outmaneuvered the FDA regulators.
Many women wondered that if the government watchdog had failed them on something as fundamental as birth control, what else might it have missed about the many other drugs on the market? One not very good answer came a few months after the Nelson hearings. Researchers linked diethylstilbestrol (DES), the first synthetic estrogen that had been dispensed since 1940 to women to prevent pregnancy complications, to a forty times greater risk of developing a rare vaginal cancer (clear-cell adenocarcinoma). Upward of 10 million women had used the more than one hundred DES-based drugs while pregnant. The FDA hurriedly sent letters to the nation’s doctors directing they stop prescribing them. Researchers later concluded that DES was also responsible for birth deformities and even reproductive problems and increased instances of cancer in the daughters of women who had used it.60 V 61
Commissioner Edwards decided bold action was needed to restore public confidence. Citing a 1966 law requiring accurate labeling, he ordered that a message highlighting the Pill’s major health risks be added to prescription inserts and distributed to patients. Edwards faced a torrent of opposition from physicians who thought that infringed on their autonomy to advise patients. Planned Parenthood rallied against it claiming that the Pill’s dangers were greatly outweighed by its benefits and the insert might scare away patients. The pro-Pill lobby, led by the American Medical Association and the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association, got Edwards to slash his warning from six hundred words to one hundred. Still, the final version cautioned about possible blood clots. Pharma and the AMA were relentless, however, and forced another last-minute compromise. Instead of mandating the insert be in every package of oral contraceptives, the FDA allowed doctors to merely tell their patients about it.62 Edwards, and activists like author Barbara Seaman, were justifiably concerned that many of the inserts to doctors would “land in ‘circular files’ (wastebaskets).” They were right. Physicians distributed only four million FDA warning inserts to ten million patients between 1970 and 1975.63
Edwards was so incensed at the labeling fiasco that he ordered two birth control pills off the market for safety and quality concerns. Intended to show pharma that he would not be bullied, it was not very effective. Both companies were bit players with tiny sales.64 A backup plan for showcasing the FDA’s new aggressiveness had nothing to do with oral contraceptives. Edwards recalled nine of the country’s best-selling mouthwashes, all of which had been advertised to “combat cold symptoms [and] destroy bacteria.” The FDA announced they “were ineffective for preventative or therapeutic claims.” Two of the nine, Betadine Mouthwash Gargle and Isodine, were Purdue Frederick products.65 Large pharma firms, with fat profit margins earned from their top selling prescription drugs, paid little attention to the removal of the mouthwashes from the nation’s drugstores.66 Edwards followed up in November with a broader recall of several hundred prescription and over-the-counter drugs that the FDA judged “either ineffective or hazardous.”67
Small drug firms with limited product lines, such as the Sackler-owned Purdue, took a short-term revenue hit from the FDA enforcement (one of Purdue’s antiseptic solutions was also included in the November recall).68 The overall industry, though, was unfazed by the FDA’s actions. The sheer number of recalled drugs, reprinted in their entirety on full pages of the country’s leading newspapers, seemed impressive to the lay public. Pharma, however, knew the medications were mostly unimportant. There was not a blockbuster on the list, not a single one in the top one hundred best-selling prescription drugs.69
As far as the industry was concerned, it had won the key battle, keeping most of the health risks about their oral contraceptives away from the women who took them. The next few years, however, showed that it was a Pyrrhic victory. There was a far more important battleground for the bottom line of the companies. Sales of birth control pills plummeted for five years before stabilizing. And the FDA responded with more stringent animal toxicology trials for oral contraceptives. The troubles over the Pill attracted attorneys specializing in consumer class action litigation (aggregated suits consolidating the claims of thousands of plaintiffs were only possible after a 1966 change in Federal Civil Procedure rules).70
The regulators, lawyers, and sinking sales meant that drug companies had little incentive to spend money for research and development for innovative new methods of birth control. The entire field went into hiatus at most pharmaceutical laboratories for the next two decades. Schering, for instance, had invested substantially during the 1960s into an injectable drug designed to provide three months of contraceptive protection. It shelved that work after the firestorm produced by the Nelson hearings. The same happened with collaborative 1960s research between Wyeth and the nonprofit Population Council on subdermal implants. That would have been useful for women who did not always remember to take a daily pill. That research was also halted after the Senate inquiry.VI71
Eventually, the NIH prevailed on pharma to stop manufacturing any Pill that had more than 50 micrograms of estrogen. By then, clinicians estimated that 80 percent of all American women born after 1945 had at least tried the Pill. Pharma companies started searching for a “new generation pill” that might work with even less estrogen. Fifteen years later, following studies that showed adding low levels of progesterone reduced the odds for ovarian cancer, drug companies started mixing the two hormones.
“Only after millions of women had taken Enovid,” Barbara Seaman later wrote, “and thousands had died or had been disabled by blood clots, was it discovered that the amount of hormones in the Pill was 10 times what was needed.”72 VII 73
I. Gynecologists, the same specialty responsible for dispensing most estrogen medications, wrote many of the oral contraceptive prescriptions. Menopause and birth control drugs consisted of different amounts of the same hormones. For contraception, it was estrogen and progesterone, while it was estrogen alone for the early menopause drugs. The “change of life” meds later added progesterone. They were designed so the Pill’s estrogen suppressed a woman’s natural production of hormones, while those aimed at menopause added to the body’s declining levels. In terms of risk, however, there was no difference.
II. To Arthur Sackler’s credit, his Medical Tribune was one of the first to report in 1966 that clinical testing of a new contraceptive pill on 340 women “had been halted because of evidence of cancer in test animals (dogs) receiving the product.” At the time, many doctors summarily dismissed results in animal studies by contending they did not apply to women. It took another three years before the alarm about whether the Pill caused cancer became mainstream. Sackler, of course, was always more than willing to undermine the business of pharmaceutical firms that were not his clients. McAdams had no drug firm selling an oral contraceptive.
III. Alice Wolfson, a Barnard graduate, founded D.C. Women’s Liberation. Five years later, she was one of the cofounders of the nonprofit National Women’s Health Network. By then, 1975, there were some 1,200 women’s advocacy groups focused on women’s health care rights.
IV. At its peak, 3.5 million women in eighty countries, most formerly on oral contraceptives, relied on the Dalkon Shield. The first reports of blood poisoning, pelvic infections, and gynecological complications came to the FDA at the end of 1970. After four deaths were linked to the Dalkon Shield in 1974, Robins suspended sales. Two hundred thousand women eventually sued, forcing Robins into bankruptcy (American Home Products bought the company for a fraction of its pre-Dalkon value). Searle recalled its popular copper-7 IUD. An unintended benefit from the Dalkon Shield disaster was that, as it had in the past, it forced bipartisan Congressional action. The Medical Device Amendments to the 1938 Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act gave the FDA authority over the approval and safety of medical devices.
V. The perception that male-dominated medical and pharmaceutical industries shortchanged women was one of the reasons for the enormous success of a 1967 book, Our Bodies, Ourselves. Published by the Boston Women’s Health Book Collective, organized the previous year by a dozen young feminists, it helped women become educated consumers about their own health. The book sold more than four million copies.
VI. Pharma took more than twenty years to restart its work on the suspended 1960s research. Wyeth got FDA approval for Norplant, the first subdermal implant, in 1990. The FDA approved Schering’s injectable contraceptive, Depostat, in 1992. The 1990s also marked the introduction of hormonal skin patch and vaginal ring. In some instances, the new ways of delivering hormones did not come without risks for the patients’ health and the drug firms’ bottom line. Fifty thousand women sued Wyeth over Norplant, contending the implant resulted in infections and debilitating fatigue; they settled for $100 million.
VII. On the fortieth anniversary of the sale of Searle’s first Pill, Enovid, Barbara Seaman wrote in The New York Times: “I still frequently think about those women of an earlier generation who took the first Pill—unaware of their part in a still unfolding experiment—and died for love. I also think about the Tuskegee experiment on black men with syphilis, for which President Clinton apologized. Perhaps the families of those who died from Enovid deserve the same.”
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“SPLASHDOWN!”
Senator Gaylord Nelson’s 1970 hearings about the dangers of the Pill had attracted the most intensive press coverage for a pharmaceutical story since the thalidomide scare eight years earlier. At the same time as the hearings, however, there was scant media interest in the Nixon administration’s promise to introduce sweeping legislation to eliminate the duplication and confusion that hampered federal agencies tasked with enforcing the nation’s drug laws. Nixon, who said that “America’s Public Enemy No. 1 is drug abuse,” had converted his battle on illegal drugs into a larger one about law and order. Some political analysts thought it was “arguably the decisive factor in his narrow triumph.”1
The issue resonated with voters. Law and order had been the top worry in most preelection polls. The national violent crime rate doubled since 1960 and many middle-class voters were uneasy about increasing political and social unrest.2 Nixon attacked the counterculture for embracing illegal drugs. He contended that antiwar activists, the Weather Underground radicals, hippies, and those who championed mind expansion with LSD or dropping out with marijuana, were behind the surge in crime as well as a spike in lethal overdoses. Heroin overdoses in New York City had quintupled over a decade to a record one thousand. Almost a quarter of arrests in big cities were drug-related. And as GIs returned from Vietnam, thousands were addicted to China White, a heroin so pure it was smokable. A year into his presidency (1971), Nixon called for a “war on drugs.”3 (Nixon was big on “wars” to fight public health issues; in 1971 he also declared a “war on cancer” and signed the National Cancer Act into law.)4
The idea that the existing hodgepodge of federal laws and regulations of drugs were ineffective and fragmented was not new. Lyndon Johnson had concluded during his last year as president that the “growing problem of narcotics and dangerous drugs… threaten[s] our Nation’s health, vitality and self-respect.” He urged Congress to reform federal drug laws that were “a crazy quilt of inconsistent approaches and widely disparate criminal sanctions.”5 Congress responded by folding the Treasury’s Federal Bureau of Narcotics and HEW’s Bureau of Drug Abuse Control into a newly created Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (BNDD) at the Justice Department. While that consolidated some enforcement duties in the federal bureaucracy, it fell far short of what Nixon envisioned.6
Not only did Nixon want to curb the importation and use of illegal drugs—he also wanted to strengthen the regulations over widely abused prescription medications. Previous crackdowns had focused on amphetamines and barbiturates and a rash of tough state laws had limited refills and dosing. Yet both classes of drugs remained popular. Their recreational availability seemed as widespread as ever. Stimulants and downers would undoubtedly get another review. The unanswered question when Nixon took office in January 1969 was whether his administration would take on mild tranquilizers, including the country’s runaway best-selling drug, Valium. Arthur Sackler and Roche’s top executives were disturbed at that possibility and held strategy meetings through the spring of 1969 to discuss how to prevent that from happening.7
Roche was Sackler’s most important client and he made certain he was available whenever needed. That commitment put him under considerable stress because at the same time he was developing one of his greatest marketing ideas, one that could be transformative for his brothers and their drug company, Purdue Frederick. It revolved around Betadine, a distinctive orange-brownish liquid that combined a synthetic polymer (povidone) with iodine and killed bacteria on contact. The Sacklers had added Betadine to Purdue’s offerings in 1966 when they bought Pittsburgh’s Physician Products, a family-run drug company that held patents on several antiseptic products.8 Arthur then had the clever idea of marketing Betadine to hospitals as an inexpensive disinfectant that doctors and nurses could use to clean their hands before all surgical procedures or contact with patients in intensive care, emergency, and recovery rooms. In 1968, the Sacklers won a lucrative Army contract to supply Betadine in bulk for wounded troops in Vietnam.9
Even Arthur, however, realized that his new idea was a long shot. He had learned a month after Nixon’s election that NASA had an unusual concern about its planned summer space flight. If successful, two of the astronauts, Neil Armstrong and Buzz Aldrin, would become the first humans on the moon. The scientist worried that they might carry back to earth an extraterrestrial pathogen that could unleash an end-of-days pandemic. NASA planned to decontaminate the returning spaceship and all gear with a super bleach, as well as quarantining the astronauts for three weeks.10 In a sealed room adjacent to the isolated astronauts, a group of germ-free mice would be exposed to moon soil. If the mice got ill or died, NASA expected the same would probably happen to the astronauts.11
Were those precautions enough? The answer to that might have been influenced by a book published only a few months before the Apollo 11 mission. It was the first best-seller by a doctor who had started writing fiction. Michael Crichton’s Andromeda Strain was a terrifying tale of a deadly microorganism unwittingly brought back to earth by a military satellite. NASA decided it needed additional safeguards. Arthur Sackler managed to get Betadine before the space agency’s senior scientists. They thought it was the ideal disinfectant.
When the astronauts splashed down in the Pacific on July 24, 1969, they put on biological isolation suits constructed from an innovative new nylon designed to prevent foreign microorganisms from attaching to their skin or hair. The history-making Apollo 11 team sprayed Purdue’s Betadine on their space suits, the module’s hatch, and their inflated rubber raft. NASA was confident that Betadine would kill alien microbes that hitched a ride to earth on any thin layer of moon dust that clung to the spacecraft or the men.
Anyone remotely familiar with Arthur Sackler’s genius at promoting and selling drugs could have predicted what was next. Purdue ran dramatic full-age ads in the country’s leading medical journals. “Apollo 11 Splashdown!” was the bold headline. “NASA Selects Betadine Antiseptic to Help Guard Against Possible Moon Germ Contamination.”12
NASA had given Purdue a priceless sales pitch. Following the Apollo moon mission, the government increased its bulk purchases for the medical corps deployed in Vietnam.13 The number of American hospitals relying on Betadine tripled, making it the country’s most commonly used disinfectant. Better yet for the Sacklers, Betadine was cheap to make, pennies a gallon. Although the price to doctors and hospitals seemed reasonable, no one realized its enormous profit margins. Betadine was instantly Purdue’s most lucrative product.
Mortimer and Raymond were ecstatic over Betadine’s success, although they knew that since it had been Arthur’s idea, they would have to endure him reminding them of why it was such a big hit. Seventeen years after they had bought Purdue, Mortimer and Raymond still worked under their brother’s shadow. Marietta had observed that Arthur enjoyed turning everything into a competition, especially when it came to family.14 He pushed himself, always taking on more work than anyone else, then insisting he did so because he did it better than anyone else. Once it was over, he goaded others by what he had achieved.
Mortimer and Raymond, for instance, had stopped conducting research studies and writing articles for medical journals (they had published almost all theirs with Arthur, between 1949 to 1959). Arthur, on the other hand, had continued his laboratory research and writing.15 He never knew, he told them, when it might lead to a new Purdue product. And, in any case, it kept him grounded in the science he loved. Arthur had created the Laboratories for Therapeutic Research in 1957, and as its director pursued private and government research grants.16 He had later hired Dr. A. Stanley Weltman as his senior research investigator.17 Throughout the 1960s they not only got funding for ambitious clinical trials but the duo published their results in prominent medical journals. Many followed up on Sackler’s earlier studies of how alterations in behavioral and endocrine levels affected mental illness.18 Before the Betadine-moon project, Arthur became chairman of the International Task Force on World Health Manpower for the World Health Organization. The WHO expected he would concentrate on “advances in the drug therapy of mental illness.” The author discovered that the WHO badly underestimated how broadly Arthur interpreted his mandate. He conducted studies to determine which workplace disturbances might negatively affect a worker’s psyche and therefore their productivity. Sackler got funding from the Environmental Protection Agency to study the effect of loud noises in the workplace.19 His conclusion in another study, delivered to the United Nations, was that a shortage of trained medical personnel led to the death or disability of 100 million people annually. It put Arthur back in The New York Times.20 And he regaled in great detail to Mortimer and Raymond his annual keynote addresses in Geneva at the World Health Organization’s World Workplace Health Day.21
The Laboratories for Therapeutic Research received about $800,000 in government or private foundation grants for clinical trials. There are no records available for how Sackler used the funding. Arthur did not get everything he applied for, however (he was particularly irked later by a failure to get a generous grant in 1971 from the Association for the Aid of Crippled Children).22
There was a certain prestige attached to a research scientist, especially one who chaired an international task force for the WHO. And Arthur never let Mortimer and Raymond forget it. He often needled them by recounting the details of what project was under way at the lab. On a later study, he told his brothers and Marietta about how he had chosen fifty rats, a “special breed that spontaneously develops high blood pressure.” Then, twice a day, Arthur and Weltman strapped half the rats into a breadbox-sized plastic cage, attached them to a motorized shaker, and jolted them side to side 150 times a minute for half an hour. All the while, the rats were bombarded with sounds recorded from the New York subway system. After four months, four of those subjected to the shaking were dead. Autopsies revealed they had enlarged adrenals, the body’s glands for generating hormones in response to stress.23
The results did not surprise Mortimer or Raymond, who thought it a waste of time. But Arthur had a knack of knowing when and how to promote something that seemed ordinary to others. He had gotten a grant from the Office of Noise Abatement and Control of the Environmental Protection Agency to study “transportation (rail and other), Urban Noise Problems and Social Behavior—Physiological and Psychological Effects.”24 Eventually, Weltman present their findings to the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. The New York Times ran a prominent article because Arthur had figured out how to make the results interesting to the public. The Times headline was: “Scientists Advising Rats to Avoid Subway Rides.”25 It led with “Rats with high blood pressure should not ride the subways too often or too long. The stress of noise, vibration and crowding may kill some of them before their time. And, according to the scientists who tested the rats, similar studies should be conducted on human beings with high blood pressure to see whether they face the same hazard.” Sackler was quoted, including his observation that “I don’t think man was constructed to ride subway trains.”26
Arthur did not need to say “I told you so” when he gave copies of the Times article to Mortimer and Raymond. It was not just about continuing clinical research that he kept haranguing them. He even prodded the two about why they were not filing more drug patents. He had several approved, all related to innovative and improved anatomical models for the brain and central nervous system, inventions that would be useful for medical students and researchers. Mortimer and Raymond did file for a series of patents, all related to Purdue products. Even then, Arthur lectured one or both about how they could have done it better. When Raymond had filed in 1966 for a chemical base that allowed for a considerably faster absorption rate for suppositories, Arthur lectured him about why it was smart to assign those rights to a Sackler company abroad. It might afford more legal protections and even a better tax rate should that patent become valuable. Raymond did assign “Novel Hydrogen Bonded Compounds and Pharmaceutical Compositions” to Mundipharma AG, the Swiss company the brothers had created in 1957.27 Although Raymond made the transfer mostly to stop Arthur explaining why he should do so, it would turn out to have significant consequences when it later played a role in the development of Purdue’s extended release coating for its narcotic painkiller, OxyContin. Putting trademarks, patents, designs, and copyrights—so-called IP, intangible or intellectual property—in a tax haven was an idea that not only became widespread in the pharmaceutical industry, but later allowed the Sacklers to save hundreds of millions in taxes when OxyContin became a blockbuster success.28
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“TELL HIM HIS LAWYER IS CALLING”
In November 1969, Arthur’s attention was abruptly brought back to Valium and Roche. The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, in Richmond, Virginia, ruled against drugmaker Carter-Wallace in its two-year-old lawsuit to overturn the FDA’s decision that Miltown had the “potential for abuse.”1 The Fourth Circuit noted, “The evidence on this issue is in sharp conflict. It ranges from testimony of Carter-Wallace’s experts that the potential for abuse of candy or aspirin is greater than for meprobamate to testimony from a government witness that he became so uneasy about alcoholics’ affinity for the drug he stopped prescribing it for them.”2 Although the court acknowledged that the FDA’s administrative judgment was “not supported by direct evidence,” it was satistied there was sufficient “circumstantial evidence, or indirect proof” of “future or potential abuse.”3 The unanimous verdict was bad news for Carter. Its broad language also did not bode well for Roche, whose appeal of the FDA’s similar ruling against Librium and Valium was working its way through the courts.
Could the Nixon administration regulate the benzos while Roche’s judicial appeal was pending? Roche and Sackler were not certain. They were not aware that a thirty-year-old Justice Department attorney, Michael Sonnenreich, was working on doing just that. He was drafting a law that would turn out to be Roche’s feared worst-case scenario. Sonnenreich and Sackler did not know each other. In a few years, however, the young lawyer would play as important a role in Sackler’s life as anyone, even becoming a closer confidant to Arthur than his own brothers.
Sonnenreich, born in 1938, was the second son in a middle-class Jewish family in the mostly Italian neighborhood of Marble Hill, in the northernmost tip of Manhattan. His mother, Fay, who had graduated college with honors at only seventeen, was a former teacher. She was the first female administrator and executive secretary for Manhattan’s Temple Israel.4 Emmanuel (Manny), Sonnenreich’s father, had a doctorate in ancient languages and had studied to be a rabbi before working at several New York social agencies. He became the membership director of B’nai B’rith, the world’s oldest Jewish service organization. While the family was steeped in Judaism, Sonnenreich went to a public school.
A self-described “great test taker,” he graduated near the top of his Bronx High School of Science class. Although he got a New York Regents “scholarship for academic excellence” to Cornell, he chose the University of Wisconsin (“I didn’t want to stay in New York, and I liked Bob La Follette a lot).”5 I
Without a scholarship Sonnenreich worked a series of odd jobs. Later his talent at duplicate bridge and billiards provided “just enough to pay” his bills. With majors in Applied Engineering, Mathematics, and History, he was the first American to spend a year abroad at the University of Spain.6 There, he became a habitué of the Prado Museum’s archives, indulging interests in art history and Thomistic philosophy. When he returned to Wisconsin for his senior year, he married a childhood friend four years his junior.7
Sonnenreich wanted a history doctorate but when he graduated from Wisconsin, he agreed to take the law boards to satisfy his father. “I bought a textbook about the law tests and that was all I needed,” he recounted.8 His aced the exams and was accepted at three schools to which he applied, Harvard, Yale, and Columbia. He selected Harvard. After graduating near the top of his law school class in 1963, he was drafted. His Harvard law degree meant the Army dispatched him to the Judge Advocate General’s School in Charlottesville.9 Two years later he was a civilian again and applied to some large New York firms.
“There was a long list of white-shoe law firms then that didn’t hire Jews,” he recalls, “so my choices were limited.”10 A traditionally WASPish breed, Abbott and Morgan made him an offer but he was not very interested in the bankruptcy, mergers, and business litigation that had become the mainstay for many large law firms in the 1960s. Sonnenreich accepted an offer in the Criminal Division of the Justice Department. As he had been in school, he proved a fast study. It was not long before his colleagues took notice of the young attorney with the eidetic memory capable of synthesizing complex issues into simple-to-understand talking points. Fred Vinson Jr., the Criminal Division’s assistant attorney general, made him part of a team handling civil rights cases.
Sonnenreich’s colleagues were by now accustomed to how he tackled assignments. Few could keep up when it came to working through a roomful of documents. He could read more than a thousand words a minute and retain them. By then he had gotten the attention of William Bittman, best known for his successful 1965 prosecution of Teamster boss Jimmy Hoffa.11
Sonnenreich would quickly be front and center in the debate over reforming the nation’s drug laws. It was about a month later that John Dean, then an associate deputy under Nixon’s attorney general, John Mitchell, walked into Sonnenreich’s office. The two had met the previous year when Dean was the associate staff director to LBJ’s National Commission on Reform of Federal Criminal Laws.
“I hear you rewrote the drug laws,” Dean said to him.
“Yes.”
It was not an empty boast. Later that year, the Government Printing Office would publish Sonnenreich’s Handbook of Federal Narcotic and Dangerous Drug Laws.12
“Would you be willing to meet with the attorney general?”
“Yes.”13
When Sonnenreich and Mitchell met, he told the attorney general that the “drug laws are archaic” and the enforcement and regulatory framework was a confusing and sometimes contradictory hodgepodge of laws and amendments that had been cobbled together over the decades. In 1951 Congress instituted the first mandatory minimum sentences for drug convictions and barred probation for first offenses.14 Five years later a different Congress increased the minimum jail terms.15 In 1965, faced with a wave of unknown psychedelic drugs, it criminalized manufacturing or possessing those hallucinogens and gave HEW enforcement responsibility.16
None of the laws addressed treatment, Sonnenreich told Mitchell. He believed it was not enough for reforms to curb supply. They should also cut the demand for drugs.17 Mitchell asked Sonnenreich if he would meet with Nixon.
“Of course, I’d be willing to talk to the president.”
A few days later in the Oval Office, Sonnenreich told Nixon about his idea for a commission to examine existing laws before making any final recommendations. Nixon liked that. Sonnenreich was transferred to the Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs. There, as deputy chief counsel, he began drafting what would become the heart of the Controlled Substances Act. He established “schedules” by which drugs were listed, balancing their medical usefulness, if any, against their potential for abuse.
Sonnenreich was thirty-one years old and liked his work. He expected to to spend his career in government service. “My wife and I were happy; we had no problem in wanting more. We did everything we wanted to do.… One day this guy comes in with some Roche people and he says to me that ‘If you schedule Librium or Valium, we’re gonna challenge this, we’re gonna challenge that.’ ”
It was Arthur Sackler. Sonnenreich had never heard of him.
“I welcome your challenge, it makes my day,” Sonnenreich replied.
Sackler again warned that Roche would battle any effort to restrict the sale of its drugs.
“I’m going to do something better,” said Sonnenreich. “I’m going to file an administrative action to put your drugs under control and put them on the three times prescription rule [a controlled substance limited to a maximum of three refills].”18
When Sonnenreich later held that administrative hearing to determine whether Roche’s benzodiazepines should be covered in one of the Controlled Substances Act schedules, he recalls “they had all the big law firms there, the biggest D.C. powerhouses. They were wrong if they thought that might scare me. They didn’t understand I was having a good time. They had just irritated me so much. I was still getting paid the same $7,900 a year, it didn’t make any difference to me.”
Sonnenreich and the Justice Department won the administrative action. “Arthur was obviously very, very upset,” he recalls.19
Sonnenreich’s draft of the Controlled Substances Act was at the heart of sweeping reorganization legislation—the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act—that the Nixon administration submitted to Congress in early 1970.20
In creating four schedules of “controlled substances,” Sonnenreich had in part relied on extensive research and guidelines set out earlier that year by the World Health Organization.21 The public initially misinterpreted those schedules to think the drugs were listed in order of danger. Sonnenreich had instead balanced the potential for abuse with whether a drug had “any currently accepted medical use.” Although Cicely Saunders was then praising heroin as an effective pain reliever at her London hospice, it was judged to have no medical benefit. There was grim evidence of its abuse between hospital admissions and deaths from overdoses. It, along with LSD and ecstasy, were on Schedule I. So was marijuana, although that was a political compromise. The assistant secretary of health had suggested it be placed there temporarily until Nixon appointed a commission to recommend a final status.
Cocaine, methamphetamine, oxycodone, and fentanyl at least had demonstrated medical uses—cocaine in dental surgery as a topical anesthetic—and were listed on Schedule II, although they had a risk of “severe psychological or physical dependence.” Drugs on Schedule III were those with recognized therapeutic benefits but with a moderate risk of “physical or high psychological dependence.” That is where Miltown, along with amphetamines and barbiturates, was put. Schedule IV was designed to include combination drugs that had a “low potential for abuse.”
What was notably missing from the statute sent to Congress was any mention of Librium and Valium. Sonnenreich had expected they would later be added to the same category as Miltown, the industry’s original mild tranquilizer. Roche, however, argued that could not happen while its judicial appeal of the FDA’s effort to regulate more strictly the benzos was still pending.22
A new round of administrative hearings attempted to settle the matter once and for all. Neil Chayet, the founder of the Law-Medicine Institute at Boston University and a member of the National Institute of Mental Health’s Narcotic Addiction and Drug Abuse Committee, appeared in hearings as “an expert in legal medicine.” He set forth Roche’s position: Valium and Librium were not “drugs of abuse in the usual sense.” Roche even presented eleven letters from police departments that stated that none had seen criminal problems associated with either Valium or Librium.23
Roche’s lobbying worked. When Congress passed the law in the fall of 1970 it had a fifth grouping, what some called “the Roche schedule.”24 It covered drugs with the lowest potential for abuse, and it included Valium, Librium, and a few codeine-cased cough syrups that contained codeine.II
As Congress debated the bill, Neil Chayet called Sonnenreich. The two had been Harvard law school classmates. Chayet said he did legal work for Arthur Sackler and suggested the next time Sonnenreich was in New York, Sackler would like to meet him “to discuss Roche’s drugs and federal oversight.”25
“Why should I meet with that idiot?” Sonnenreich replied. (“Those are the types of things you say when you’re very young,” Sonnenreich told the author).26
Shortly after that conversation, Sonnenreich visited New York. Chayet arranged a dinner at Sackler’s sprawling apartment at United Nations Plaza. The twin thirty-eight-story towers had opened only a couple of years earlier and had been designed by the same architects who did the United Nations. Sonnenreich knew it was home to some of New York’s most prominent families.
“We had dinner,” recalls Sonnenreich, “and during the discussion Arthur got frustrated and started yelling at me. Well, I don’t respond well to being yelled at and I yelled back. Marietta was there and she got up from the table and left the room. Neil sat there quietly. And Arthur and I went on arguing for several hours. I had all the confidence and cockiness of a young guy and I kept telling him he was an ‘old dog who didn’t know the new things that had to be done.’ He was trying hard to persuade me that I was wrong on the regulations. Neither of us convinced the other.”27
The next day, when Sonnenreich was back at the Department of Justice, Sackler’s secretary called.
“I got on the phone.”
“You know I like you,” Sackler started. “I would like you one day, if you leave the government, to do some work for me. Think about it.”
“I am going to stay in the government,” Sonnenreich told him. “This is what I’m happy doing, this is where I’m staying.”28
Sonnenreich’s career was moving fast. Nixon had embraced Sonnenreich’s idea of a national commission to study and recommend how the government should address marijuana.29 Going into private practice did not entice him.
The president appointed nine of the thirteen members on the National Commission on Marihuana and Drug Abuse. They included doctors, academics, psychiatrists, and attorneys. The congressional leadership appointed two U.S. senators, and two congressmen. Former Republican governor of Pennsylvania Raymond Shafer was its chairman (it was mostly referred to later as the Shafer Commission). Nixon tapped Sonnenreich to become the executive director, in charge of a staff of seventy-six.30
Nixon expected that the conservative Republican majority with which he had stacked the Shafer Commission would return with an uncompromising finding about the dangers of marijuana. Instead, after eighteen months of testimony from dozens of experts, Sonnenreich and Shafer knew they had reached a conclusion that Nixon was not likely to embrace: they had not found evidence that marijuana was physically addictive, nor was it a gateway drug.
“When I told them at the White House what we were planning to say,” Sonnenreich told the author, “they thought I was crazy. They could not understand that we were going to recommend decriminalization.”
“You need to take marijuana out of the criminal justice system,” Sonnenreich argued in vain. “These young people are not criminals. You are degrading the criminal system. It can’t handle all of them.”31
Sonnenreich was not a proponent of the drug but thought criminalizing it was the wrong solution. He pointed out when Nixon had come into office, the government “spent a total of $66.4 million for the entire federal effort in the drug abuse area.” That had ballooned to $796.3 million by 1972, and for the next budget it would exceed $1 billion.32
The administration hard-liners were furious with the interim report. They feared the public would interpret decriminalization as an endorsement for using marijuana. “From that moment on,” Sonnenreich told the author, “I was cut off from the White House.”33
The Shafer Commission did not finish its final report, with 3,700 pages of appendices, until 1973.34 Nixon ignored its recommendations.III 35
By that time, a special Senate committee had begun investigating the Watergate scandal. That fall, “Dean told me it was all going south,” recalls Sonnenreich.36
It was evident later that year that the Nixon presidency was in trouble.
“I got a call from Arthur Sackler one day. And he says, ‘Remember when I told you I wanted you to be my lawyer? Are you interested now?’ ”
“And then, in one of the great all-time stupid things I’ve said, I told him, ‘If I was interested, you couldn’t afford me.’ ”
“Try me,” replied Sackler.
“I named a number, which I refuse to disclose,” says Sonnenreich. “The next day, a check was on my desk.”
What Sonnenreich did not know was that Sackler was more anxious than ever to hire him. It was not only because Sonnenreich was exceptionally smart, something Arthur considered an indispensable trait, but also because within eight months of each other the Sacklers had lost two of their most loyal confidants, Bill Frohlich and Félix Martí-Ibáñez. Frohlich was only fifty-eight when he died from a brain tumor on September 28, 1971. Just prior to his death, he had acquired a network of leading underground FM radio stations he christened the National Science Network.37 And over several years, he oversaw IMS International’s growth into one of the largest compilers of private medical and pharmaceutical information, with offices in thirty-two cities. He had expanded his eponymously named medical advertising agency in New York to seven countries. It had 340 employees.38
Martí-Ibáñez had just turned sixty when he died of a heart attack at his Manhattan townhouse only eight months after Frohlich. At the time of his unanticipated death he was the editor of five international medical journals and the chairman of the History of Medicine Department at New York Medical College. Martí-Ibáñez was the author of several dozen illustrated histories of medicine, science, and philosophy, as well as half a dozen novels and several hundred academic articles and commercial short stories and essays (he left behind eleven unfinished manuscripts on varying projects).39
Marietta had hoped that the unexpected deaths of Frohlich and Martí-Ibáñez might serve as warning signal for Arthur. When she raised it, Arthur argued their deaths were unrelated to how hard the two had pushed themselves. Frohlich had the bad luck of developing cancer, he told Marietta. And Martí-Ibáñez was an inveterate smoker, he said, someone whose only exercise was lifting a martini glass every evening. Marietta was not surprised that Arthur tried brushing aside any suggestion that the death of his close friends should be a reason for him to slow down.
Although Arthur may not have seen a lesson in the early deaths of Frohlich and Martí-Ibáñez, he and his brothers mourned their passing. They had been two of their most trusted friends, as close to the brothers as family. The five had secretly owned stakes in each other’s companies and all had more success than they could have imagined when they began. Now, their deaths had created a vacuum.
Having unexpectedly received the check from Sackler, Sonnenreich called Arthur’s office. His secretary answered.
“I’d like to talk to Dr. Sackler.”
“Who should I say is calling?”
“Tell him his lawyer is calling.”40
I. La Follette, nicknamed “Fighting Bob,” was the founder of the Progressive Party under whose banner Teddy Roosevelt made his final run for the presidency in 1912. Under La Follette, a former Wisconsin governor, U.S. congressman, and senator, the progressives and the socialists fought for similar issues. La Follette advocated against the abuse of workers, the corruption of the moneyed industrial class, racial inequality, and suffrage. He ran for president in 1924, garnering 17 percent of the national vote. The Progressive Party dissolved after his death the following year.
II. The Schedules were amended repeatedly even after Nixon signed it into law on October 27, 1970. They were regularly updated with drugs added or removed and others transferred from one schedule to another. Barbiturates, originally on Schedule III, were reassigned to the more stringent Schedule II in 1972. In 1973, when the DEA was created, it upgraded the benzodiazepines to Schedule IV and moved Miltown there.
III. The “temporary” placement of cannabis on Schedule I, along with heroin, LSD, and ecstasy, became permanent once Nixon refused to follow his commission’s decriminalization proposal. As anecdotal accounts accumulated over the decades that marijuana might have some medicinal properties, its advocates abandoned their effort to get it reclassified to a lower Controlled Substances schedule. Instead, starting in the 1990s a movement coalesced around legalizing medicinal marijuana. That opened the door for broader legalization arguments. As of December 2019, thirty-three states have approved medical marijuana and ten of those have legalized recreational use. The opioid crisis has created a possible market for medical cannabis as scientists debate mixed science about its pain-relieving properties.
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A NEW DEFINITION OF BLOCKBUSTER
Long before the word “multitasking” morphed from the world of IBM mainframe computers to human behaviors, Arthur Sackler had an innate ability to juggle multiple projects simultaneously. While engrossed in the New York art world, he remained as busy as ever with Purdue Frederick, medical advertising, and publishing. There was a sea change under way in some key aspects of the pharmaceutical industry. He and his brothers monitored it closely; they did not want to be left behind.
Nixon had declared a “war on cancer” and Congress responded with the National Cancer Act in 1971. Oncology did not exist as a medical specialty and doctors knew remarkably little about the disease they were tasked to cure. Well into the 1970s, most physicians thought cancer was a single disease, defined by the organ in which it was discovered (for instance, breast or brain or lung cancer). No one understood the role gene mutations played. Today, cancer is recognized as approximately two hundred different and distinct diseases, each identified by unique molecular alterations, no matter where in the body it is found.1
The drug industry had been mostly a bystander in cancer treatment. The prevailing medical wisdom was that cancers could not be cured. However, the federal government’s “war on cancer” created a big inducement for pharma: a lot of available research money. A year after Congress passed the act, the National Cancer Institute budget exceeded a billion dollars for the first time (the NCI’s first budget in 1950 was a measly $2.1 million).2
Eighty-five percent of the new funding went to investigator-initiated research, mostly clinical testing for advanced chemotherapy drugs. Some promising earlier studies that had stalled for lack of funding restarted.3 Those trials demonstrated that for early stage breast cancers chemotherapy after surgery was far more effective in eradicating tumors than either chemo or surgery alone.4 Two follow-up studies showed the same was true for colorectal and testicular cancer.5
Some Arthur Sackler–minded promotion executives tried euphemistically calling chemotherapy “anti-tumor antibiotics.” It never stuck. Seven new chemos, however, were developed from the new research, and the first reached the market in 1973.
The federal funding also led to breakthroughs outside of drugs. New diagnostic tools included colonoscopies for the early detection of colorectal cancer and CT scans and improved mammography for more precise tumor images. There was also noticeable progress on less invasive treatments once cancers were diagnosed. Radioactive seeds to treat prostate cancer replaced some surgeries, as did limited mastectomies for early stage breast cancer and targeted radiation for testicular cancer.6
The significance of some of the findings would not be apparent for a decade or more. Monoclonal antibodies, for instance, a technology for identical copies of an immune cell, was discovered in the lab in 1975. (It was not until the 1990s they were proven clinically useful in boosting the body’s immune response to fight some cancers; the two scientists who discovered them won the Nobel in Medicine.)
Although many of the 1970s cancer treatments seem rudimentary in comparison to the targeted gene therapies that arrived decades later, the burst of research on the causes and treatments of cancer laid the foundation for what ultimately became significantly longer survival prognoses and lower death rates.
Not every drug firm was interested in producing a cancer drug. Some had grand ambitions in unrelated fields. Squibb had begun investigating in 1968 whether it was possible to create a synthetic compound that mimicked the peptides found in the venom of a poisonous Brazilian viper. It caused a fatal drop in blood pressure. Researchers discovered that the venom inhibited the production of a kidney chemical that regulated blood pressure. Squibb’s researchers tested hundreds of chemical compounds before making a breakthrough in 1974 when they synthesized a molecule that mimicked the viper venom. They had put it together atom by atom.7 The result was an orally active drug that in clinical trials showed promise at controlling blood pressure and treating congestive heart failure.
When Squibb put Capoten (captopril) on sale, it was the first ever ACE inhibitor.8 Before its introduction, the medical advice for patients with congestive heart failure had been bed rest, diuretics (to help the heart pump fluid from the body), and digoxin (to relieve chest pain). Capoten was not a cure but it reduced the mortality rate and improved the quality of life for most patients.9 Within a decade, half a dozen other pharma companies marketed competitive ACE inhibitors, transforming what had been a nonexistent market to more than 150 million annual prescriptions.10
While ACE inhibitors were big news, they paled in comparison to a new blockbuster class of medications targeting peptic ulcers. Doctors had for years known that ulcers, at times painful and in some cases deadly, were caused by excess acid in the digestive tract. Researchers were stumped, however, in how to treat them. The bland diets advised by most doctors did little to help. Over-the-counter alkalis, like Alka-Seltzer, provided temporary relief.11 In severe cases, surgeons removed part of the stomach in the hope they excised the ulcerated portion.12
Ulcers were one of the conditions for which Sackler and Roche had pushed the limits of what the FDA had approved as the indications for its benzodiazepines. However, since the early 1960s, a growing number of researchers believed that the culprit was organic rather than emotional. They had discovered a single histamine molecule activated the production of acid when it locked on to a receptor in the stomach lining.13 Doctors were familiar for decades with histamines, hormones produced by the immune system. They were mostly protective but sometimes caused inflammation, increased heart rate, allergies and hay fever, even pulmonary complications. A Swiss doctor, Daniel Bovet, had won the Nobel in Physiology and Medicine in 1957 because of his pioneering work in isolating and producing “histamine antagonists” (antihistamines to the lay public).14
A group of Smith Kline researchers knew that nothing stopped the histamine-stimulated acid that caused peptic ulcers. The team was led by Dr. James Black, a Scottish pharmacologist and physician. Black had won fame for developing the first beta blocker in 1962 while he was researching the effects of adrenaline on the heart (his discovery, called propranolol, was the first drug capable of controlling high blood pressure). Smith Kline had asked Black to find a cure for ulcers. That meant discovering, isolating, and then synthesizing an effective histamine antagonist. The problem was that the histamine responsible for ulcers bound itself to a type of receptor (the H2) that did not respond to antihistamines. After five years, in 1968, they had created more than seven hundred chemical composites but had nothing to show for their efforts.15
No one had ever produced a medication with a targeted biological pathway. The project was spared cancellation at the last moment when Black’s team isolated some minor antagonist properties on a retest of one of their early compounds. It took another two years (1971) before the project produced a drug called metiamide. Black marveled as the ulcers on most test patients completely healed over several weeks of clinical trials in 1973. However, a third of those patients developed a serious blood disorder. Their white cells plummeted and made them susceptible to infections.16 Back in the laboratory, Black’s team made molecular alterations that produced a close chemical cousin to their original compound.17
Black and his researchers team gave it the generic name cimetidine. It passed clinical trials as effectively as had its predecessor in healing ulcers. This time there were no adverse effects. With a trouble-free approval process from the FDA, Smith Kline put Tagamet on the market in November 1976 in the U.K. and the following year in America (Smith Kline chose TAG from antagonist and MET from cimetidine). It was a panacea for the millions suffering from peptic ulcers. Tagamet set a new standard by which to define a blockbuster. Black won a Nobel in Medicine. And Smith Kline was rewarded with spectacular profits. Tagamet became the first drug in history to sell a billion dollars in a single year.18
The receptor site medications would in another decade result in a series of other breakthrough drugs, including statins to lower cholesterol, nucleoside reverse inhibitors for HIV-AIDS, proton pump inhibitors for gastrointestinal reflux, and selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors for depression.19 However, before the next wave of receptor site drugs arrived, research under way in northern California was about to open a window into technological and scientific advances that would be much more important for the pharmaceutical industry than any single blockbuster.
Since the discovery of penicillin, drug innovation in the laboratory had been a hit-and-miss process grounded in organic chemistry. Laboratories operated by so-called random drug discovery. Backbench scientists spent months looking for signs of biological activity in plants, soil, or other natural sources. The molecules that showed some possibility were isolated as potential compounds. For every 5,000 of those, 250 on average got to the next stage, testing on lab animals. That eliminated another half. Of the drugs that began human clinical studies, only 20 percent got FDA approval for sale to the public.20
In 1971, a Stanford biochemist, Paul Berg, developed a gene-splicing technique called recombination. Berg created a molecule from two different species (the results were not published until October 1972).21 A year later, another Stanford professor, Stanley Cohen, teamed with Herbert Boyer, a University of California at San Francisco biochemist. They relied on Berg’s gene-splicing method to clone genetically engineered organisms in foreign cells. The modified cells began replicating the new DNA as if it were its own. It was the birth of recombinant DNA (rDNA) technology.22 Scientists mark the Cohen-Boyer discovery as the official beginning of genetic engineering. It kicked off a biotechnology revolution.
Many researchers, though, worried that there were unknown dangers to inserting rDNA from one organism to another. The science was moving fast and there were no restrictions on what could be done in a lab. What if some rDNA molecules later proved biologically hazardous? Much of the early focus was on E. coli, the intestinal bacterium that in one strain causes food poisoning. Its small genomic size, uncomplicated single set of chromosomes, and fast replication rate made it a versatile host for a range of recombinant DNA research. Would E. coli exchange genetic data with pathogenic bacteria, leading to unforeseen results in the gene combinations that might unintentionally unleash a human catastrophe?
The National Academy of Sciences’ newly created Committee on Recombinant DNA Molecules comprised eleven of the world’s leading biotech researchers, including Cohen and Boyer. Paul Berg was its chairman. In the July 1974 issue of Science, they signed a remarkable open letter titled “Potential Biohazards of Recombinant DNA Molecules.” It warned of “emerging capabilities” risked the “creation of novel types of infectious DNA.” One danger was if the rDNA in the lab contained a cancer-causing gene that metamorphosed into a transmissible human bacterium.23
A moratorium on genetic engineering went into effect.24
The Sacklers were convinced that the milestones in genetic research held the promise of big returns for any pharmaceutical company that could master recombinant DNA. They agreed to watch for opportunities so they might participate as investors. Writing a check to back a start-up was the most they could do. The brothers were barely keeping up with their own business demands.
The eldest sons of Arthur and Raymond found a way to have more time with their fathers. They went to work for them. Raymond’s twenty-nine-year-old son, Richard, joined Purdue in 1971. He was also a physician, having graduated from New York School of Medicine and passing the licensing exams in both New York and Connecticut. Just before starting at Purdue with the newly created position “assistant to the president,” he took Harvard Business School’s intensive two-week Management Development Program. It was a crash course in how to hone “the skills to succeed in complex roles and shifting institutional and cultural landscapes.” One of his first assignments was dealing with the FDA’s determination that an antibiotic Purdue had in one of its eardrop products was not potent enough to treat any infection. The FDA recalled those drops. Purdue blamed the manufacturer, Yonkers-based Bard Pharmaceuticals, which was covertly owned by the Sacklers.
As for Arthur, his son, Arthur Jr., had decided after graduating from Wisconsin’s Lawrence College to join the family business. Arthur put his son to work in the McAdams marketing department. As opposed to Richard, who flourished under his father’s guidance at Purdue, young Arthur was not as driven as his father and had difficulty meeting the high expectations set for him. Marietta thought that Arthur was too hard on his son. Soon he left McAdams and joined Medical Tribune. When that did not work out, Marietta arranged for her family firm, Dr. Kade Pharmaceutical, to sponsor Arthur Jr. for a certificate program in business administration at NYU. Following that, he accepted a director’s position at Dr. Kade.25
Both sons knew how hard their fathers worked. There had been long periods growing up when they saw little of them. Still, it was not until they became employees that they realized how much was on the brothers’ to-do list. Along with many other drug companies, the Sacklers were looking into opening a branch in Puerto Rico. A change in the tax code in the early 1970s exempted manufacturing firms from corporate income taxes on profits made in U.S. territories.26 “There was a rush by many drug companies to set up manufacturing plants there,” said Richard Sperber, a former Glaxo and Wyeth marketing director. “They would make the active substance of their drugs in Puerto Rico, then jack up the price and ‘sell’ it to another subsidiary that put it into final dosage form. Because the price on the drug’s active ingredient was so expensive, little if any profit was earned. All the real money was at the untaxed manufacturing source.”27 In a few years the Sacklers opened Purdue Pharma in the capital of San Juan.I
The brothers, however, had bigger ambitions than creating subsidiaries to take advantage of changes in the tax code. They had long been interested in innovative delivery systems for oral and rectal medications. In the 1960s they had started researching technologies that might slow the rate at which a drug dispersed in the body, a rudimentary time release formula.28 The author discovered ten patents Raymond and Mortimer had filed related to sustained release formulas for suppositories and tablets. The Sacklers were not alone. Plenty of pharmaceutical companies were pursuing some type of controlled release for medications.29
In 1969 and 1970, the Sacklers had also put the biochemists and pharmacologists at Mundipharma AG, their Swiss-based company, on a project to develop a time release technology. Mortimer and Raymond assigned all their 1960s patents to Mundipharma in Basel. That was also true of the legal rights for a co-inventor on four of those patents, Dr. Alfred Halpern (Halpern worked at Arthur Sackler’s Pharmaceutical Research Associates, at 17 East 62nd Street, the address listed for half a dozen other Sackler businesses).30
The patents assigned by the Sacklers helped the Mundipharma team make progress in the lab. In 1971, Mundipharma filed for its own patent. The filing attracted little attention, even inside the pharma industry. As with many medical and science-related patents, it had a virtually indecipherable name: “Slow Release Formulation for Pharmaceutical Composition Containing a Fusible Carrier and Method for Producing the Same.” Mundipharma soon filed two related patents for “Composition in Solid Dosage Form.”31
That patent, and the underlying Mundipharma research, was the ideal complement to research then under way at two U.K. Sackler companies, Napp Pharmaceuticals and Bard Laboratories. The following year, Napp developed the first working compounds that the Sacklers believed might be adaptable as a controlled release formulation applied to oral medications.32
The value of those Mundipharma patents, combined with others Napp subsequently filed, would not be evident until 1980 when Napp introduced a drug that had the first-of-its-kind sustained release coating. It was an invisible-to-the-human-eye chemical layer made of a dual-action polymer mix that turned to a gel when exposed to stomach acid. That allowed the drug, MST Continus (continuous), to release pure morphine at a steady rate over twelve hours.33 Napp could adjust the release rate by fine-tuning the density of the coating’s water-based polymer.34
MST Continus was the breakthrough painkiller for which Cicely Saunders had been searching for her end-of-life cancer and hospice patients since the mid-1960s. Its coating was also the technology that in the 1990s would help convert Purdue’s opioid painkiller, OxyContin, into a much more widely prescribed medication. Doctors expected that a sustained release narcotic was less prone to addiction and abuse.
I. Mortimer hoped that his twenty-year-old son, Robert, would also work for the family when he graduated from college. He died in an accident in 1975, at the age of twenty-five.
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“KISS THE RING”
In the early days of his new job as Sackler’s attorney, Michael Sonnenreich worked from an office at 15 East 62nd Street, the address where the Sacklers had listed more than a dozen companies since the 1950s. Sonnenreich used his talent as a fast study to learn everything possible about the brothers and their businesses.1
Before he left the Justice Department, Sonnenreich had met Bill Frohlich (“smart, he wanted me to be his lawyer”) and Félix Martí-Ibáñez (“I found him a waste of time”). The Sacklers realized that if their new in-house attorney was going to be useful, they had to be honest with him. They filled him in on the secret deals that gave Arthur a stake in MD Publications and that he “basically owned the Frohlich Agency.”2
In conversations with the brothers Sonnenreich realized there was an underlying friction between them that would likely worsen over time. Marietta had noticed their bickering for several years. It had started after their mother, Sophie, died from lung cancer at the age of sixty-nine in June 1963. She was the only one from whom, according to Marietta, Arthur “preferred to keep his distance, fearing her control.”3
“The brothers remained close during their mother’s illness,” Marietta later recalled, “but their relationship began to decline after her death. It seemed to me that her strong, matriarchal force had maintained the vision of family togetherness. When she was gone, that vision began to dissolve.”
The reasons behind the family tension seemed evident to Sonnenreich.
“Arthur basically got them through high school, college, medical schools in Edinburgh, and their medical residencies. He was the one that got them where they were, the one who put them into Purdue, the one who set everything up. And as older brothers tend to do, he wanted them to constantly kiss the ring. That’s fine if you’re in your twenties, maybe even if you are in your thirties. Then they reached a point where they didn’t want to kiss the ring and then Arthur began getting very angry. They had big fights sometimes and would stop talking to each other for a while or talk about dividing things up. Then they would cool down and move on.”4
It was not only Mortimer and Raymond with whom Arthur fought. “Arthur saw Else [his divorced first wife] every week, because they had kids, but he also liked her,” recalled Sonnenreich. “That used to really aggravate Marietta.”5
Notwithstanding the bickering, the Sacklers remained a tight-knit group wary of any outsiders. Sonnenreich earned their trust, especially Arthur’s. The two had a special bond and were so similar that they sometimes clashed with each other.6 The make-or-break moment for Sonnenreich with Arthur was not, however, about common traits. It was instead a challenge that Sonnenreich put to Arthur only a few months after becoming his attorney.
“You don’t know how to run your business,” Sonnenreich announced unexpectedly one morning. “You don’t need a lawyer, you need someone to run your businesses.”
“You think you can do it?”
“Arthur, I could lie on the floor and spit into the air and do better than you’re doing.”
“Okay, show me. Do it.”7
Sackler had opened the door to bold proposals in an earlier conversation. “Arthur said to me once that when people look in a mirror they don’t look to see what’s on the other side. They only see their own reflection, they are not open to new ideas.” Sonnenreich thought Sackler was “an advertising genius.” However, he also recognized his limitations. Arthur was industrious at setting up a web of different enterprises but quickly lost interest and moved on to something else before finishing his last project. It was why some companies incorporated decades earlier were still inactive. Sonnenreich saw that the network of businesses Arthur had created was profitable, but he thought it was not realizing its full potential. He had reviewed the Sackler mini-empire and had marked the top targets.
Arthur had hired Sonnenreich with the understanding that he could do other work in the pharma field, so long as he always put the Sacklers first. Sonnenreich had accepted the president’s job at the National Coordinating Council on Drug Education, the nation’s largest nonprofit, private drug education network.8 He testified before congressional committees looking into drug and alcohol abuse.9 And he had some clients besides the Sacklers, most prominently Dr. Sheldon Gilgore, then president of the pharmaceutical division of Sackler’s biggest ad client, Pfizer (Sonnenreich negotiated the lucrative deal a decade later when Gilgore left Pfizer to become Searle’s CEO).10
Sonnenreich assured the Sacklers that their businesses and personal affairs would always be his top priority. Arthur had confidence in the thirty-five-year-old, giving him a green light to first reorganize Medical Tribune. Sonnenreich streamlined some of the operations and impressed the brothers by reducing costs while boosting profits. He had a good eye for identifying unnecessary expenses and was unsentimental about eliminating them. That turned out to be a necessary trait when Arthur later decided to dismantle the union at Medical Tribune. Although Sackler had largely abandoned his youthful left-wing political passions, he had a soft spot for the former blacklisted journalists to whom he had provided safe-haven jobs during the height of the Cold War Red Scare. Because most of them had worked at daily newspapers under the Newspaper Guild of America, they asked Arthur to provide them with the protection of the union. As a result, Medical Tribune was the only unionized medical journal in the U.S. At first, Arthur did not want to do anything to change it, at least not while any of the former Red journalists worked there.11
There was only one left by the time Sonnenreich had started working for Arthur: Melvin Barnet, the copy editor dismissed by The New York Times in the mid-1950s for refusing to testify before Congress about his Communist Party past. He was the Medical Tribune’s associate editor. By then, Barnet was legally blind, but Sackler, “in kindness, kept him on long after he could see well enough to do the work.” When Barnet retired in another year, Arthur allowed the hiring of freelance writers to “bust the union.” Nine employees judged as too strongly aligned with the Newspaper Guild were dismissed. There was even an effort to induce students at the Columbia School of Journalism to submit articles for credit only.12 The Guild called a strike. Sackler did not waver although Sonnenreich admits it “was a very difficult time” for Arthur. The union was finally broken at all the Sackler publications.13
While the shakeup at Medical Tribune was under way, Sonnenreich focused on unresolved matters left over from Frohlich’s death. To ensure that Sackler’s investments in Frohlich’s advertising agency were protected, Louis Goldburt, Arthur’s longtime accountant became one of the company’s three directors. He brought with him another accountant from his firm, Lawrence Effman. Sackler had utilized both a decade earlier as donors at the Metropolitan Museum of Art and Effman had been selected to help Frohlich buy some independent radio stations on the West Coast. Shortly after the two accountants took control of the board, Frohlich’s longtime president resigned, complaining the board was engaging in “subterfuge” and “deceit” and that it was “foolhardiness” to appoint an accountant who did not understand the agency’s business. J. Walter Thompson, one of Madison Avenue’s largest advertising agencies, appeared ready to purchase L. W. Frohlich International but client conflicts scuttled the deal.14 It would be hard to hold the ad agency together without Frohlich at the helm. Three top executives had left a year after his death and formed their own ad firm, Lavey/Wolff/Swift.15 A dozen division chiefs defected in 1973 to large agencies, all of which hoped to develop specialized subsidiaries for promoting pharmaceuticals and health care products.16 The roster of Medicine Avenue expanded in the 1970s as L. W. Frohlich disintegrated.17
Sonnenreich at least succeeded in getting some of Frohlich’s larger accounts, including Ciba’s multimillion-dollar Vioform-Hydrocortisone campaign, switched to Sackler’s McAdams.18 Sonnenreich and Sackler not only susequently helped the Frohlich agency merge with a small medical ad firm, Sudler & Hennessey, they were instrumental in its sale to Young & Rubicam.19
Another pressing issue left from Frohlich’s death were questions about a large bequest in his last will and testament. He had directed that Mortimer and Raymond were to get 85 percent of the proceeds from the 1.85 million shares he owned in IMS, whenever that company went public. Sonnenreich had learned that while “there was no paperwork for IMS,” its start-up had been “all Arthur’s money.” To avoid any appearance of a conflict of interest, Arthur had stayed away, “but he put Mortie and Ray into it to watch over their investment.”20 Although Mortimer and Raymond were the only Sacklers named in the will, they intended to cut Arthur in on whatever payout they got.21
IMS began planning for an IPO a year after Frohlich’s death.22 No one could then have imagined that what seemed like a straightforward probate matter would turn into a quarter century of convoluted stock maneuvering, power plays on the IMS board of directors, and ploys that were masked as hostile takeovers.I23 When there was eventually an IPO, the price was set at $25 per share. After deducting the underwriter’s fee, Frohlich’s estate, represented by his sister, Sophie, received $6.25 million. She was not happy that Mortimer and Raymond, with their 85 percent of her brother’s shares, each received $37 million.24II Today IMS is valued at $20 billion, the world’s leading firm in collecting and selling medical data.
It was not just business where Arthur Sackler and Michael Sonnenreich found common interests. The young attorney also had for more than a decade been buying art. Sackler had made it clear that was the one subject on which he did not want any advice. Sonnenreich concentrated on pre-Columbian and African art, staying far away from Sackler’s interests. “I did not want to be told that I was doing something wrong,” he recalled.25
What Sonnenreich had noticed about Arthur’s collecting was that “he had done very little to publicly display his collections.” Arthur was so focused on acquiring new pieces that he had little time to show his collections.
Sonnenreich knew that the Sacklers had given some of their early grants with their names attached to the gifts. Did they want that to continue? They said yes. That was important for Sonnenreich, who believed “strongly that if you put your name on something it is not charity, it’s philanthropy. You get something for it. If you want your name on it, it’s a business deal.”26
The Sacklers wanted Sonnenreich to handle the business side of their art bequests and gifts. When he was not working on their businesses, Sonnenreich urged the brothers to become major donors at the country’s top museums.
“One day Marietta called me,” Sonnenreich recalled. “She began excoriating me. ‘You are worse than a mistress! He spends all his time with you!’ ”
“He’s running a business, Marietta.”
“He should be retiring,” she replied.
When Arthur learned about Marietta’s outburst, he smiled. That his wife was mad at Sonnenreich, he said, was a good sign that his new attorney and advisor was earning his pay.27
I. Sonnenreich had promised Arthur: “You are going to buy back IMS.” The author discovered that Sonnenreich arranged for Arthur to initially buy 10 percent of IMS and then doubled that to 20 percent. “Then I went to Dubow [the IMS president],” Sonnenreich said, “and told him we wanted two directors for our 20 percent share.” One was Bob Begondi, one of Sonnenreich’s Harvard Law School classmates. The other was Robert Louis Dreyfus, heir to the eponymously named merchant banking dynasty. In 1998, Dreyfus oversaw the sale of IMS for $1.7 billion.
II. Arthur was deceased by the time of that IPO, and Mortimer and Raymond had evidently forgotten about their assurances they would take care of their older brother. Arthur’s children challenged the will, contending that “on a handshake with Bill Frohlich… he [Arthur] was entitled to one fourth.” Mortimer and Raymond said they knew nothing about that, and the court rejected the argument put forth by Arthur’s children since there was no written documentation to support the “handshake agreement.”
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THE TEMPLE OF DENDUR
The short article titled “W. T. Grant Estate Sold,” buried deep in the “Real Estate” section of the Sunday New York Times on June 3, 1973, was easy to miss. The $1,325,000 sale of the 12.3-acre Connecticut waterfront estate—built in 1948 for William Grant, the discount department store tycoon—was the most ever paid for a single residence in affluent Greenwich.1 The house, put on the market months earlier at a $1.8 million asking price, had been designed by Edward Durell Stone, a pioneering modern American architect whose iconic New York works included the Museum of Modern Art and Radio City Music Hall. The New York Times described it as “one of the most spectacular private waterfront properties between New York and New Haven.” Grant had died the previous year and bequeathed the estate to a local nonprofit hospital, which promptly put it up for sale.2
There were no buyers, however. The estate had huge upkeep costs. Grant employed nine full-time gardeners just to attend to his award-winning rose garden. And some potential buyers held off on making a bid since weak economic data through the spring of 1973 signaled an imminent downturn. Economists mark the ensuing recession, with high unemployment, runaway inflation, and a 40 percent drop in the stock market over eighteen months as the official end of the tremendous post–World War II expansion.
Who had the money and courage to pay a record price at a time the economy faced strong headwinds? No one knew. The anonymous buyer hid behind a real estate holding company that had created a PO box address for the deal. When a local reporter tracked down the holding company’s Greenwich attorney, he refused to identify his client.3 The lawyer disclosed that a shell corporation had provided $325,000 cash for the purchase. The additional $1 million came from a mortgage issued by a firm called Mundi-Inter. It was listed on the property deed as a New York corporation with a Norwalk, Connecticut, address.4 When a New York Times reporter called the Mundi-Inter telephone number listed on the deed, an operator answered: “Good morning, the Purdue Frederick Company International.”5 When the journalist asked about Mundi-Inter, he was referred to Purdue’s Manhattan headquarters. Upon calling Purdue, he was given the number of a New York lawyer. That attorney “declined to discuss any aspect of the purchase transaction.”6 No journalist followed Purdue Frederick back to the Sacklers. Their name did not appear in any story about the purchase of the Grant estate.
The house was for Raymond. Mortimer was spending much of his time abroad directing their rapidly expanding foreign operations. Arthur split his time between his midtown condominium and a four-story townhouse on East 57th Street in Manhattan’s exclusive Sutton Place. He had bought that “on the spot” in 1960 at an estate sale. (Marietta Sackler later wrote, “Arthur surprised us with a townhouse that’s too small for all of us but just right for him!”)7
The big real estate purchases by the Sacklers were evidence of how well their ambitious business ventures were paying off. They were content as successful capitalists, their communist convictions a distant memory. None felt guilty about their newfound wealth. It was not the result of some clever invention or breakthrough drug. They had worked hard for it. Purdue’s biggest-selling products were the laxative Senokot and antibacterial scrub Betadine.8
Arthur’s McAdams agency had a larger roster of clients than at any other time in its history. In addition to Pfizer and Roche, he had added the Swiss multinational Ciba-Geigy after the two independent companies had merged in 1970. McAdams was approaching 150 employees and its billings were at a record, nearing $50 million annually.9 Arthur’s Medical Tribune was an international success. Bill Frohlich, to whom Arthur had given a small, then secret ownership stake, had used his excellent contacts in Germany to open the first foreign edition of Medical Tribune in 1967.10 Seven other countries soon followed. Sackler’s physician mailing list was unmatched.11 Twice a week it reached more than a million doctors worldwide. In the U.S., ad pages cost $7,000, and annual profits were estimated at a million dollars.12
Arthur had also spun off a series of special supplements about psychiatry, cardiology, allergies, obstetrics and gynecology, pediatrics, and sexual medicine into six stand-alone magazines. To handle all his publications, he had created World Wide Medical Press and World Wide Medical News Service and Medical Tribune International (it later became Excalibur International Inc. and then Excalibur International Group).13 The most successful of the new launches was Sexual Medicine Today. Arthur was listed as the publisher; his son, Arthur M., was the managing editor on later issues. Targeted toward psychiatrists, it straddled a precarious line between recent medical developments and quasi-tabloid coverage of then risqué subjects, including “Nazi Sexual Practices,” “Do Sore Nipples Inhibit Sexual Foreplay?,” “Medical Story of the Castrati,” “Homosexual Prostitute: A Boy Prostitute,” “Aphrodisiacs and Drugs,” “Sex Change Surgery,” and “Quest for the Ultimate Orgasm.”14
Purdue Frederick had relocated its headquarters from New York City to Norwalk, Connecticut. In Connecticut, whose population had doubled in twenty years, an Economic Development Agency lured out-of-state businesses either to relocate or open branches. The Sacklers liked the state’s lower business income tax rates and their move was sealed by an under-market rent at a new office building. With nearly three times the space as their cramped Greenwich Village headquarters, the brothers went on a hiring spree. For the first time Purdue surpassed two hundred employees.
The record-setting price paid in the late spring of 1973 for the Grant estate was not the only evidence of the family’s financial success. The number and size of the bequests from their charitable foundations was further proof. Although the Sacklers went to considerable lengths to keep their names out of the news as buyers of the Grant estate, as patrons of the arts, education, and medicine starting in the mid-1960s they did so only on the condition their names were attached to major gifts.
It was logical that the brothers, involved as they were in so many aspects of medical publishing and pharmaceutical manufacturing, made their first major donations to medicine and education. In 1964 they underwrote construction of the Sackler School of Medicine in Tel Aviv (its American “admissions office” shared the same address and telephone number at one point as Arthur’s McAdams agency).15 When it opened in 1966, it attracted students who had moved to Israel and had completed at least three years of medical studies in their native countries. They could finish their education at the Sackler school and then do clinical training at other Tel Aviv hospitals (as of 2018, the Sackler School of Medicine in Tel Aviv is Israel’s largest medical research and training facility, and has a unique arrangement with New York State whereby students who study there can be licensed as New York–qualified physicians).16
The Sacklers’ debut in the world of elite philanthropy had been a $150,000 gift in 1963 to New York’s prestigious Metropolitan Museum of Art. Now, a decade after Arthur had struck that deal with James Rorimer, the Met’s director, he learned the museum was having difficulty finding a benefactor to finance the construction of a new wing to house the Egyptian Temple of Dendur. Egypt had given the two-thousand-year-old temple to the United States in gratitude for American assistance in building the Aswan High Dam. If the temple had not been moved piece by piece it would have been lost forever, submerged in the lake created by the dam.
Major American museums and universities wanted it. The National Foundation on the Arts and the Humanities established a commission to review all the applications. The Metropolitan was on a short list from the start.17 The Met did a masterful job of explaining why the best way to preserve the monument was to build from scratch an ambitious new museum wing in which Dendur was reconstructed and displayed permanently.18
By the time the Met was awarded the temple in 1967, it had a new director. James Rorimer had died the previous year from a cerebral hemorrhage and the trustees had tapped Thomas Hoving as his replacement. Hoving, a charismatic art historian and New York’s parks commissioner, learned that not much had happened since Egypt sent the dismantled six-hundred-ton temple by freighter to the U.S. The Met had stored the enormous 647 pieces in crates in an open-air building on its south parking lot.19 The lack of progress was not for lack of desire. Hoving was a regular on New York’s social A list and was tireless in charming the handful of ultra-wealthy philanthropists who might help underwrite the new wing.
He had tried all the usual suspects. Robert Lehman, heir to one of New York’s great banking families, who had agreed to give the Met his 2,600 premier works of American and European art, was not interested. Nor was Michael Rockefeller, who had already made a gift of a major portion of his fine art collection. The same polite rejections came from other major Metropolitan benefactors, including André Meyer (Lazard Frères), investment banker B. Gerald Cantor and his wife, Iris, and private equity titan Henry Kravis.20
At one point, Hoving was tantalizingly close to convincing Lila Acheson Wallace, the Reader’s Digest cofounder, to write a check. She even tentatively said yes but then changed her mind. “It sometimes seemed the Temple of Dendur had fallen under King Tut’s curse,” Hoving later recounted.21 As he went down the list of less likely donors, he stopped when he reached Arthur Sackler. The two had met shortly after Hoving had become the museum’s director. Hoving had liked Arthur, judging him as “touchy, eccentric, arbitrary—and vulnerable, which made the game much more fascinating.” And it had been in that meeting that Arthur surprised Hoving by announcing he was prepared to contribute another $150,000 to an acquisitions fund the director could use at his discretion. Sackler also wanted to underwrite the renovation of a special exhibitions gallery, adjacent to the one on the second floor named after his family. All he asked was that it should be named for his wife, Dr. Marietta Kade Sackler.22
Having run into a dead end on raising money for the Temple of Dendur wing, Hoving now remembered something else that Arthur said during their meeting six years earlier. Sackler “had mentioned his dream of uniting Egypt and Israel.”23 Figuring he had nothing to lose, Hoving called Sackler, who “surprised me by saying he would come to me, and he arrived less than a half hour later.” Hoving told Sackler he was the “only one with the guts and the foresight” to pay for the Temple of Dendur and the Egyptian wing. Arthur knew he was not the museum’s first choice; still he did not say so, instead allowing Hoving to pile on the compliments. After a few minutes, Hoving got to the bottom line. The Met needed $3.5 million ($21.5 million in 2019 dollars).
Hoving had hoped that Sackler might commit to give some of the money and help the museum raise the rest. He was not even certain whether Sackler was wealthy enough to make the bequest even if he wanted to do so.
Twenty seconds of silence elapsed. Hoving thought that Sackler was quiet because he was “embarrassed and was trying to figure out how to say no without making me feel like a fool.”
“I’ll do it,” Arthur announced.
Hoving stared forward, not knowing for a moment what to say. He did not know that Arthur needed help from his brothers. Mortimer and Raymond agreed to join in underwriting the $3.5 million. They agreed it would come from their shares of Purdue Frederick profits.24 So as not to put too much pressure on Purdue, the Sacklers wanted to put up as little cash as possible. Sonnenreich proved a tough and capable negotiator. It took a year of hard-nosed talks before there was a final deal.25 The Met’s biggest concession was allowing the brothers to spread their donation over twenty years, without interest. That translated into two decades of tax write-offs for the family.26 The slow payout, Hoving later recalled, forced the Met “to borrow a few times from the endowment to pay the contractors.”27
The Sacklers had agreed that besides the Dendur Temple they would bankroll new galleries for Egyptian Art, an archaeological and antiquities laboratory, and offices for the museum staff. The Raymond and Beverly Sackler Gallery for Assyrian Art was placed in a prime location, just to the left of the museum’s main entrance.28 The Mortimer and Theresa Sackler (his third wife) Gallery was dominated by three huge Tiepolo canvases and had a coveted location at the top of the Grand Staircase. The Temple of Dendur would be the first-floor portion of the newly named Sackler Wing. Each brother’s name would be listed individually. The Sacklers had final say over press releases. The Met agreed that any further gifts they made would instantly be part of the museum’s permanent collection. All catalogs, shows, photographs, or use of their galleries would feature their names.29 “They insisted on having the M.D.’s on there,” recalled Arthur Rosenblatt, the museum’s vice director, saying later only partially in jest that only their office hours had been omitted.30
Old New York society had always sneered at the Sacklers as nouveau riche bargain hunters who bagged their naming rights from Rorimer at a fire sale price because the Met had then been desperate for money.31 The arrangement for the Egyptian Wing and the Temple of Dendur did not require the Sacklers to donate any significant portion of their own art. Even their contribution—$3.5 million spread over twenty years without interest—seemed paltry compared to that of donors who underwrote their own wings, a low of $7 million from Gerald Cantor to $23 million for Lila Acheson Wallace.32
Arthur Sackler did not get a seat on the Met’s Board of Trustees.33 The sitting directors judged him too pushy. Sackler told his brothers that anti-Semitism kept him off and blamed the museum’s general counsel, Ashton Hawkes.34 Some of the patrician WASPs at the Met undoubtedly had dismissive and stereotypical views of self-made Jews such as the Sacklers. The evidence of that snobbery was that the Met’s first Jewish trustee had decades earlier been George Blumenthal, the head of the U.S. branch of Lazard Frères. The refined German-born Blumenthal had built a mansion in Manhattan that occupied an entire city block. He needed the space to display a stunning art collection (most of which he bequeathed to the museum). He was also a generous philanthropist, writing a check for a million dollars to the Met in 1928 ($15 million in 2019), and equally large bequests to New York’s Public Library and Mount Sinai Hospital.
Arthur would never have the right pedigree. On one occasion, C. Douglas Dillon, the Met’s vice chairman, invited Sackler and Sonnenreich for lunch to his East 80th Street townhouse.35 By then, Dillon was not only the chairman of an eponymously named international banking house, but he had served as Eisenhower’s ambassador to France, treasury secretary for JFK and LBJ, and chairman of the Rockefeller Foundation and Brookings Institute.
“It felt like he [Dillon] was suffering our presence,” Sonnenreich recalled to the author. “I would have left if I was not with Arthur.”36 When it was over and they had left, Sonnenreich told Arthur, “This was ‘take a Jew to lunch day,’ that’s all this was. I’m just telling you bluntly.”37
Arthur had not told Sonnenreich about his desire to become a museum director. Sackler knew he would have told him it was a waste of time. “Arthur had always tried to downplay his Jewish roots,” Sonnenreich told the author. “He had even pretended he was Catholic for a while.” Sonnenreich understood why it was such a sensitive matter; he had been at meetings at drug companies in which there were “all those kike jokes, you’d have to laugh with everyone else or it would have seemed strange you didn’t think it was funny.”38
However, not long after going to work for Sackler, Sonnenreich told him, “Let me explain something to you Arthur. If there is a pogrom, I don’t care what you tell them you are, you are going to be in the same cattle car as I am. Stop the games. Stop them because they are not going to continue to work. You could marry all the Christian girls you want, it ain’t going to work. They are still going to put you on the train and that’s that.”39
That pep talk had an impact on Arthur. Although he did not go out of his way to tell people he was Jewish, he no longer shied away from it whenever it came up.
Arthur Rosenblatt, the Met’s number two, was Jewish. Rosenblatt thought the Met by then needed “every rich Jewish real estate mogul” since they had “run out of WASPs with money.”40 Still, the power brokers at the Met were slow to change.
Although Sackler did not become a trustee, he convinced Hoving to hire Princeton art historian Wen Fong as a special consultant to the Department of Asian Art.I41 It had been Fong who had persuaded Arthur a few years earlier to donate to Princeton the largest collection of paintings by Tao-Chi, an important seventeenth-century artist.42 The million-dollar gift created the Sackler Gallery for Chinese Art at Princeton. Maybe it was time, Sackler decided, to provide some not very subtle reminders to the Met that he had not yet decided where he would give the Chinese art stored in their basement.43 He did little to hide meetings with university and museum directors who courted him. The National Gallery and Harvard’s Fogg Art Museum were the most persistent.
Arthur would later donate $2 million for a therapeutic research lab at Long Island University, another $8 million for the Arthur M. Sackler Sciences Center at Clark University, and millions for the Sackler Institute of Graduate Biomedical Science at New York University and the Arthur M. Sackler Institute for Advanced Studies in Public Health, Medical Research and Communications at Tufts University. During his many travels to China, where he attended to his expanding Medical Tribune, he charmed government officials in the hope of getting permission to build the country’s first post–Mao era museum at Beijing University.
Meanwhile, Mortimer and Raymond were expanding their bequests beyond the United States.44 Mortimer led the way. He had in 1959 divorced his first wife, Dr. Muriel Lazarus Sackler, and married a much younger native Austrian, Gertraud (Gheri) Wimmer. Mortimer oversaw the family’s Napp, Bard, and Mundipharma companies and split his time between homes in London, Gstaad, and the French Riviera. He soon added a ski chalet in the Austrian Alps and Rooksnest, a five-thousand-acre, sixteenth-century estate ninety minutes outside London. The following year he surrendered his American passport and became an Austrian citizen. His brothers were shocked. He chided them for remaining in America where the tax rates were significantly higher.45 Whatever success the brothers had in the future, he would do better than they since he was free of U.S. taxes. At that time the top federal rate was 70 percent for couples earning more than $180,000.II 46
While Arthur focused on China and the U.S., Mortimer and Raymond gave lavishly to London’s Tate Modern, the British Museum, and the Royal Academy of Arts. Raymond, who was knighted by Queen Elizabeth in 1995 for his support of British arts and sciences, was later a major benefactor of an emerging field called convergence science, “the intersection of mathematical, engineering and physical sciences with biomedical science.”47
Not to be outdone by his brothers, Arthur went on a buying binge, as if to further tease the Met and his brothers with notable additions to his collection. Marietta knew there was more behind it than simply taunting the Met and Mortimer and Raymond. “Arthur found safety and comfort in objects,” Marietta later wrote. “They could not hurt him, they could not make demands on him. The irony, of course, was they made him their slave.”48
I. In July 1973, shortly after Sackler committed to donate $3.5 million for the Temple of Dendur, Hoving bought twenty-five tenth-century Chinese paintings and scrolls from C. C. Wang, a Hong Kong artist and dealer. Fong had recommended the purchase, which became embroiled for several years in a public controversy as to whether Fong and Hoving had been duped by high-quality fakes. The authenticity of another painting, Travelers, that Fong acquired for the Met was also disputed by some leading Asian art experts. Fong and the Met acquired it from Chang Dai-chien (Zhang Daqian), widely acknowledged as one of the twentieth century’s most talented fine art forgers.
II. During subsequent divorce proceedings, Gertraud charged that Mortimer had given up his American citizenship because he wanted to avoid double taxation. After the couple reached a settlement and the divorce litigation records were sealed, Gertraud claimed that Mortimer’s decision was not at all about taxes but only his love for Austria.
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“VALIUMANIA”
Thomas Hoving and the Metropolitan’s curator of Egyptian Art had underestimated the final costs for the Dendur design developed by architects Kevin Roche and John Dinkeloo. A reflecting pool offset by a spectacular wall of stippled glass along the north side was meant to evoke the temple’s original location on a hillside near the Nile. It alone broke the budget. There were also big cost overruns for an underground employee parking garage, a reinforced loading dock, a protective environmental room for fragile antiquities, and a hydraulic lift designed to buttress the reassembled temple.
Hoving, however, not wanting to alienate Sackler further, did not ask him or the brothers to speed up their payout. Since the family would not allow any dilution of their extensive naming rights to the new wing, Hoving had to raise several million more from donors who were willing to do so without having their name “on a plaque on the wall.” Almost two years after the Sacklers had agreed to donate $3.5 million, the construction on the new wing was not even at the one-third mark. The Sacklers were in no rush, however. They were busy on many other fronts.I1
While the Sacklers’ increasingly high-profile lifestyle played out in the New York papers and art publications, their pharmaceutical ventures stayed out of public view. Arthur was still immersed in his publishing empire and at McAdams, with its roster of top drug companies. Mortimer’s focus was the trio’s foreign operations while Raymond ran Purdue Frederick as its president.2
Arthur’s cash cow was Roche and the Valium account. He had refined the promotion campaigns over time and had made Valium impervious to all competitors. It was the top-selling medication in the country by a wide margin, a spot it had held since 1968. Valium defied all odds by enlarging its lead over competitors by adding on average more than seven million new customers annually.3 Librium, its chemical cousin, was not far behind, and in a dead heat with Ayerst’s Premarin. Roche’s blockbuster benzodiazepines were prescribed 103 million times in 1975, representing more than two billion pills.4
Sackler’s enhanced marketing strategies that kept the benzos flying off the shelf did not come cheaply. Roche had set a record when it committed $10 million in 1963 for Valium’s rollout. In 1975, it spent a staggering $400 million on Sackler-designed campaigns for its blockbuster benzos, about 40 percent of the industry’s billion dollars allocated to marketing and promotion.
Roche and other companies paid for the enormous expenditures by keeping the prices high on their branded drugs sold in the United States. It was a windfall for Arthur. Michael Sonnenreich told the author that Sackler “made a lot of money in the beginning because he got bonuses based on sales volume. Later it changed to very large flat fees. Very large fees.” The Swiss drugmaker, grateful to Sackler for the drugs’ success, also provided him with millions in interest-free loans as advances against future advertising work, money he invested in the stock market.5
Roche did not mind paying Sackler huge fees because it understood how important he was in making the drug ubiquitous. “It would be very hard to find any group of middle-class women in which some aren’t regularly on Valium,” Vogue quoted a New York psychiatrist in 1975.6 As patients reported to their doctors that the drug helped treat muscle spasms and cramps, inflamed and aching joints, convulsions, sleep, and anxiety, the list of ailments it treated had turned it into “Valium the Versatile.”7 And Sackler’s promotion and Roche’s detail team complemented its many therapeutic uses with the message about its benign side effect profile.
Millions of patients taking Valium were certain it was safe. Their doctors had assured them of that. And that so many friends were using it reinforced that comfort. The 1970s housewives who were Valium’s core customers had heard horror stories about barbiturates from their mothers. Feminist psychologist Phyllis Chesler wrote in her seminal 1972 Women and Madness that Valium was a pharmaceutical straitjacket, a chemical way of making women happy while keeping them locked into a subservient, second-class societal status.8 Although the book was a commercial success and critically acclaimed, it did not hurt Valium’s sales.
As the drug maintained its dominance, medical researchers debated whether patients developed a tolerance to benzos and therefore needed ever-higher doses to achieve the same therapeutic effect. In the early 1970s it seemed as if there was a new study every six months, each contradicting the findings of the preceding one. The scientific back-and-forth played out far away from the attention of the public. As with oral contraceptives, in which it had taken the voices of female activists and reporters to raise credible alarms, eventually women’s publications and female journalists slowed Roche’s juggernaut and began changing the widely held view that Valium and Librium were harmless be-happy pills.
McCall’s raised a few concerns in autumn 1971 with “The Over-Medicated Women,” as did Ladies’ Home Journal with “Women and Drugs.”9 The turning point for the 30 million American women taking Valium did not happen until 1975 when a British clinical trial demonstrated that a significant percentage of long-term patients who abruptly stopped taking it suffered withdrawal symptoms. Millions of Valium patients could no longer ignore the controversy. Roche’s contention that the study was flawed was lost in a deluge of mainstream press coverage that suddenly focused on the drug’s risks.10
Vogue got everybody’s attention with “Danger ahead! Valium—The Pill You Love Can Turn on You,” in which a New York psychiatrist and addiction expert, Marie Nyswander, concluded that Valium could cause “a far worse addiction” than heroin.11 Nyswander, according to Vogue, was in a position to say that since she specialized in using methadone to wean addicts off heroin. Ms Magazine followed with “Do You Take Valium?,” sobering first-person accounts of middle-class suburban women who described debilitating “physical and mental anguish” when they stopped taking the drug.12
Time’s medical editor, Gilbert Cant, addressed the pros and cons in “VALIUMANIA,” a cover story for The New York Times Magazine.13 Valium, he noted, had become the symbol for a broad range of prescription medications charged with “turning America into an overtranquilized society of near zombies seeking peace of mind in a little bottle.” Cant was the first to question whether Roche had “overmarketed” its best-selling drug, especially with its heavy-handed promotion to women.
He also cited Nyswander, the doctor who had raised “worse than heroin addiction” in Vogue. She was, he wrote, “a highly respected Manhattan psychiatrist” and noted that in her opinion “Valium is the most addictive drug in common, legal use.… She stands virtually alone.” Still, Nyswander ramped up her doom-and-gloom forecast, warning there could eventually be two million Americans addicted to Valium, four times more than the number of heroin addicts. And she predicted that Valium would eventually prove lethal.14
That was a startling assertion given that Valium seemed quite tame in comparison to many other prescription and street drugs. Within a month of each other in 1970, Janis Joplin died from heroin and Jimi Hendrix from barbiturates. The following year a Paris medical examiner skipped an autopsy and ruled the cause of death of the Doors’ Jim Morrison at twenty-seven was a heart attack. Rumors Morrison had died of a heroin overdose, though, gained traction within days.15 Meanwhile, adding to the perception that Valium was not too potent, Ronald Reagan’s national security advisor, Robert McFarlane, later tried killing himself with thirty Valium pills. It put him into a deep sleep and he woke up at a local hospital.16
Most physicians thought Nyswander was grandstanding by publicizing her contrarian views on the country’s most popular drug. Some believed she was “riding to fame on the back of Valium,” and dismissed her condemnations as baseless overstatements.II17 Dr. Adam Lewenberg, the medical director for New York’s Addiction Treatment Center, later said, only half in jest, “the definition of a Valium addict is a patient who takes more Valium than his doctor.”18
The small but growing number of patients who had difficulty weaning off Valium pleaded with federal agencies to intervene on the benzos.19 The FDA was on the sidelines but not for lack of will. It was locked in a multiyear legal battle with Roche over its proposal to put prescription limits on Valium and Librium.20 The FDA had sought help from the Justice Department since the Controlled Substances Act had given Justice the power to restrict drugs subject to abuse.21 The FDA passed along the data it had compiled about Valium’s potential for dependence and abuse.22
In late 1975, the Justice Department did what the FDA could not do on its own. Valium and Librium were upgraded to Schedule IV, limiting the number of refills doctors could write. It also applied criminal penalties to diversion and illegal sales.23 Even possessing the drug without a prescription could mean jail time. A visitor to an Illinois prison received a two-to-six-year sentence after guards at a security check found seven Valium pills. An Alabama man got four years after a policeman discovered he had nine Valium pills he had taken from his roommate’s prescription supply.24
The FDA ordered Roche to add the “stress of everyday life does not require treatment with an [antianxiety] drug” on the Valium inserts sent to doctors and pharmacists. The government hoped that might reduce the widespread overprescribing.25 Roche, as it always did, took the FDA to court. It would take five years to settle the standoff, with the agency agreeing to weaker language: “may not require” instead of “does not require.”26 While Roche had kept the FDA tied up in court over a few words on Valium’s insert, it was unable to do much to delay changing public attitudes about its star drug. The drumbeat of news about possible dependence and unreported dangers fanned fears. Physicians became more cautious in dispensing the benzos after the DEA opened investigations into hundreds of so-called permissive prescribers.27 States started removing benzos from formulary lists of drugs covered by Medicaid.28 Restrictions on the number of refills forced devoted users to shop for doctors. As prescriptions got tougher to obtain, some patients found replacement meds, often riskier drugs such as barbiturates.29
The cumulative result was that Roche’s juggernaut had slowed. Valium was still America’s top selling drug, but its market was no longer expanding.
Nineteen seventy-five, when the media assault on Valium peaked, also marked a turning point for another blockbuster, Ayerst’s Premarin. About half of all menopausal women in America were using it (30 million prescriptions).30 On December 4, a report in NEJM made the front page of all major papers and was the lead story on the network evening newscasts.31
Two extensive clinical studies delivered alarming results about estrogen and uterine cancer.32 Women taking estrogen for one to four years were 5.6 times more likely to develop that cancer than those not on the hormone. Women on estrogen for seven years had a fourteen-fold increased risk. In an accompanying editorial, Dr. Kenneth Ryan of the Boston Hospital for Women concluded the studies showed the estrogen risk for endometrial cancer was the same as the risk of lung cancer from smoking twenty or more cigarettes daily.33 Dr. Harry Ziel, who directed one of the studies, told The New York Times, “This is not an innocuous drug that can be used like salt and pepper. Doctors should restrict its use to women with incapacitating symptoms, since it has a life-threatening risk.”34
The FDA called an emergency meeting of its advisory panel on obstetrics and gynecology. It took a year to issue a new labeling requirement, a lengthy insert that pharmacists were supposed to distribute so that patients were aware of the increased risk of endometrial cancer and potential risks of abnormal blood clotting a breast and gallbladder cancers.35
Health activists and writers Barbara Seaman and Gary Null got a rare interview with Robert Wilson, the physician who had been at the forefront of medicalizing menopause and pushing Premarin. Seaman and Null met with Wilson after another article in JAMA had sparked a second round of national speculation about whether Premarin’s undisclosed health risks made it too dangerous for long-term use. They asked Wilson for his thoughts about the latest science, particularly the studies showing a dramatically higher endometrial cancer risk for women on estrogen. Wilson was dismissive. “That’s the worst lie in the world, the worst fallacy. I have over 40 doctors working all over the world, Switzerland, Czechoslovakia, all over the world, and we haven’t seen one case of cancer!” That was not true, no doctors were working with him.
Did he still believe that women should take Premarin and other estrogen medications starting at age fifty?
“They say we should do nothing to retard menopause. Just think of that. Isn’t that dreadful? The estrogen regimen should start at age 9. Nine to 90. It’s necessary to begin then, and to check your estrogen levels all through life, so that it never leaves you. Don’t allow it to.”36
There was no support in the medical community for Wilson’s extreme view that estrogen be dispensed from ages “9 to 90.” The drug that he helped make a blockbuster (more than 35 million prescriptions in 1975) would be at the center of a debate between proponents who thought its benefits—symptomatic relief, stronger bones, and maybe some heart protection—outweighed the risks. Additional studies soon added weight to the risk side of the equation. One raised the specter of a breast cancer link while another pointed to a higher risk for coronary disease.37
In the aftermath of the 1975 cancer studies, Premarin’s sales plummeted by half over five years.38 Women felt vulnerable since there was no screening test that might identify endometrial cancer in its earliest stages.III39 Over time, however, fear faded as the drug companies spent millions to promote successfully a more refined version of Robert Wilson’s “feminine forever” thesis. Paid celebrity endorsements—model Lauren Hutton and singer Patti LaBelle—pushed Premarin as a life-changing medication.40 Popular women’s magazines again ran stories about how hormones helped women over forty stay healthy, look better, and maintain active sex lives.41 Gynecologists, many the recipients of large inducements from Ayerst, reembraced the drug. Premarin would, by 1990, again become the best-selling drug in the U.S. for a decade, exceeding by a third its mid-1970s pre–cancer scare peak.42
It took nearly twenty years for Prempro, a “new and improved” replacement, to reach the market. By then, Wyeth and Ayerst had merged into Wyeth-Ayerst Laboratories. Prempro was the first ever estrogen plus progestin pill. Progestin, a synthetic version of the natural hormone progesterone, had demonstrated its effectiveness in providing protection against uterine cancer. Wyeth-Ayerst was convinced that it needed the combination HRT to reach the market for women who avoided the company’s hit Premarin because of cancer concerns. Prempro won FDA approval even though it had not conducted a randomized clinical trial.43 It also became a best-seller. Between Premarin and Prempro, Wyeth-Ayerst dominated the HRT market; the two drugs accounted for two thirds of the annual 90 million HRT prescriptions.44 Sales stayed strong until Prempo too was unmasked as putting millions of women at risk, the same as had happened with the Pill and with Premarin.45
Robert Wilson did not live to see the final chapters play out in the hormone saga. He died in 1981. And he thought he had taken a family secret to his grave. He would have succeeded if his wife, Thelma, had not confided it after his death to their younger son, Ronald.
Thelma was a registered nurse and had worked with her husband in his gynecological practice. In 1963, the couple had coauthored “The Fate of the Nontreated Postmenopausal Woman: A Plea for the Maintenance of Adequate Estrogen from Puberty to the Grave,” in the Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. The first sentence set the tone: “The unpalatable truth must be faced that all postmenopausal women are castrates.” The solution they suggested was for every woman to start taking estrogen beginning in puberty and continuing to death.46 IV 47
Given their collaboration, it is no surprise that Thelma was on Premarin most of her life. After her husband’s death, she told her son that she was battling breast cancer. He visited her at the family home in Cold Spring Harbor, New York. As he later told author Trisha Posner:
“This isn’t the first cancer I’ve had.”
He thought he had not heard her correctly. She could tell he seemed confused.
“It’s not my first cancer.”
“I heard you,” he said slowly. He had left home to attend college and later had enlisted in the Air Force, spending years in Florida, far away from his family. But he had kept in touch with his mother and couldn’t imagine that she had had cancer before and never told him.
“When?”
“Over ten years ago,” she said, her eyes cast downward. “I had breast cancer. I had a mastectomy then.”
She could see the surprise on his face.
“Your father wanted me, no, needed me, to be a shining example of his work.”
The couple feared that if news of her breast cancers became public, it would have ruined her husband’s reputation.
Which of them had decided not to tell their own children?
“We all decided it.”
“Who is all?”
“Me. Your father. Even the men at Wyeth. They urged us not to tell.”V
I. That same year, 1975, Arthur was again in the news when the New York attorney general sued him and Marietta in their role as trustees of New York’s Museum of the American Indian. They were accused of not paying enough for museum artifacts they took and for a sweetheart deal on free storage at the museum of some of Arthur’s collection. The Sacklers prevailed and the lawsuit was dropped, but the dustup reinforced the feeling in the New York art world that he was driven more by wheeling and dealing than collecting.
II. It took almost two decades for uncontroverted evidence that Nyswander was mostly right: that the benzos were addictive and it was possible to overdose in extremely high doses. Benzodiazepines suppress the respiratory system the same as barbiturates, tranquilizers, sedatives, and opiates. They are most fatal when mixed in large quantities with other drugs that slow respiration (between 1996 and 2013, there was a sharp spike in benzo-related deaths, many times mixed with opioid painkillers).
III. The only screening test then recommended by the American Cancer Society (ACS) was an annual pap smear. The following year, 1976, the ACS added mammography breast exams to its list of recommended screening procedures. In 2013, researchers discovered that pap tests in some instances found cells that were useful in early detection of ovarian and uterine cancers.
IV. Wilson was not the first to use “castrates” in referring to women. The prestigious New England Journal of Medicine published the work of three doctors in 1960 that suggested estrogen might help prevent heart disease in postmenopausal females they described as “castrated women.”
V. Thelma Wilson died in 1988 from complications of her breast cancer.
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SWINE FLU
Before 100 million Americans got the polio vaccine starting in 1962, there were about fifteen thousand annual cases of polio, mostly in children. By the time the vaccination program finished three years later, there were fewer than five hundred new cases annually. That had fallen to only ten a year by the 1970s. Except for a single traveler who arrived in the U.S. in 1993 with polio, there has not been a case of the virus in North America since 1979.1 I 2 The World Health Organization has long had the global eradication of the crippling disease as one of its primary goals. But polio has been difficult to eliminate in some developing countries.3 The disease is endemic in Afghanistan and Pakistan where the Taliban ban aid workers, believing that Western countries conduct espionage under the guise of the health programs and that the vaccines are part of a covert CIA program to sterilize Muslim women.4 In Central African countries, particularly Nigeria, there are fears fed by rumors that the injections caused AIDS and include cancer-inducing agents.5 Health workers who have nevertheless tried administering vaccines have been attacked and killed.
While polio might be a distant memory in America, other contagious, and potentially deadly, diseases—measles, mumps, and rubella—have reappeared after medical science declared them eliminated. Doctors blame a modern-day anti-vaccine movement that was sparked by a 1998 study published in Britain’s prestigious Lancet medical journal. Twelve physician coauthors reviewed the cases of a dozen children hospitalized in London for inflamed digestive tracts and “regressive developmental disorder” (autism). Nine children lost their language skills after getting a combined vaccination for the three diseases. That was enough for the authors to conclude that “possible environmental triggers” (the vaccine) were connected somehow to the “developmental regression.”6
Much of the media reported the results by converting a “possible” trigger into “vaccines cause autism.” The study’s lead author, Dr. Andrew Wakefield, reinforced the most sensational coverage. In public appearances and lectures he was far more provocative and confident about a vaccine-autism link than he and his colleagues were in their peer-reviewed Lancet article. It was not long before some prominent Hollywood celebrities and alternative medicine advocates embraced the anti-vaccine movement.7 Lost in the tsunami of fear-mongering was that a year after the Lancet story, the U.K.’s Committee on Safety of Medicines completed a reappraisal of the evidence and concluded there was no link between the vaccines and autism.8 It took another four years before a different British medical council discovered that the dozen children directed to the study, and some of the funding for it, came from “lawyers acting for parents who were involved in lawsuits against vaccine manufacturers.”9 That prompted ten of Wakefield’s original coauthors to print a retraction in the Lancet, in which they stated, “No causal link was established between MMR vaccine and autism as the data were insufficient.”10 In 2010, the Lancet published a small, anonymous paragraph attributed only “on behalf of the editors.”11 It was extraordinary. The journal retracted the original paper and admitted it contained serious errors. Britain’s General Medical Council concluded that Wakefield was guilty of scientific misrepresentation and ethical violations regarding the study’s dozen children.12
The British Medical Journal delivered the coup de grâce with the disclosure that Wakefield and his coauthors falsified some of the supporting data and selectively chose results that only buttressed their conclusion.13 Since then, dozens of other clinical research studies have failed to demonstrate any causal link between vaccines and autism or other mental disorders. Wakefield was struck off the medical register in the U.K.14 Still, the anti-vaccine movement remains strong, with many parents hesitant to inoculate their children.II15
Although the modern-day anti-vaccine movement might have been sparked by a fraudulent 1998 scientific paper, the beginning of the public’s loss of faith in vaccines happened more than twenty years earlier. It was February 4, 1976, when an eighteen-year-old Army recruit, David Lewis, collapsed unconscious during a five-mile hike with his Fort Dix–based platoon. Lewis and some of his fellow soldiers had been battling respiratory problems. He had gone on the midwinter march against the advice of the platoon’s medical officer. His sergeant revived him with mouth-to-mouth resuscitation, but within a day Lewis was dead of pneumonia.16
An Army doctor sent samples of throat cultures from Lewis and eighteen sick soldiers to New Jersey’s Department of Health. Most turned out to be a common influenza virus.17 They could not, however, identify five cultures (that included the one from Lewis).18 Researchers knew that the influenza virus mutated, and they then believed (incorrectly) that a severe influenza was likely about every decade. More than twenty thousand had died in 1957 in the U.S. from the Asian swine flu. It had been eight years since 1968’s virulent Hong Kong bird flu killed forty thousand Americans.19
Worried that they might have stumbled across a new virulent influenza strain, the New Jersey Department of Health sent the mystery viruses to the Centers for Disease Control in Atlanta. There, alarmed researchers tested the sample positive for swine flu virus. Although swine virus was not isolated in a lab until the 1930s, most researchers thought it was responsible for the infamous Spanish flu that had killed upward of 100 million people in history’s greatest pandemic in 1918.20 The Spanish flu had killed between 500,000 and 700,000 Americans, more than ten times the number who died in World War I.21III
If a close variant of the Spanish flu had returned after such a long absence, it would mean that no one under the age of fifty had any natural antibodies. What was most important was to determine if it was transmissible from person to person. There had been two cases of swine flu in 1974 and 1975 but both patients had worked in farms where they were in close contact with pigs. None of their friends, fellow workers, or family got sick and the two who were ill recovered fully.22 More data was needed. Hospitals were put on notice to test all patients arriving at the emergency rooms for swine flu antibodies.
In several thousand blood tests taken at Fort Dix, close to five hundred tested positive for swine flu antibodies, including the sergeant who had done mouth-to-mouth resuscitation on Private Lewis. None had gotten sick yet. As for the four who had been ill with swine flu at the same time as Lewis, they had recovered. Lewis was so far the only fatality.23 Still, CDC epidemiologists concluded that hundreds of exposures meant the bug they had isolated was almost certainly transmissible between people.
The first the public heard about it was in a February 19 press conference. The CDC’s assistant director, Dr. H. Bruce Dull, read a prepared statement disclosing that the swine virus had been identified in a few patients at Fort Dix. There was little danger the virus would spark a “wildfire” epidemic, he said.24 The statement avoided any reference to the 1918 pandemic. No one wanted to pass along “doom and gloom” and get ahead of the known facts.25 Responding to a reporter’s question, Dull did admit the CDC had confirmed that the Fort Dix cases were quite like the 1918 flu virus.
That opened the media floodgates. The next day’s New York Times front-page headline was “U.S. Calls Flu Alert on Possible Return of Epidemic’s Virus.” The article, by the health and science reporter Harold Schmeck, started, “The possibility was raised today that the virus that caused the greatest world epidemic of influenza in modern history—the pandemic of 1918–19 may have returned.”26
When the CDC’s Advisory Committee on Immunizations met on March 10, there had not been a single case of swine flu reported anywhere in the world outside of Fort Dix. January and February are the peak months for influenza. New cases taper off starting in March. While it appeared there would not be any widespread outbreak for the current season, what about the next one? All agreed it was impossible to calculate precisely the odds for a swine flu pandemic. They decided the only “responsible approach” was to assume that “a pandemic was possible.”
The CDC Advisory Committee concluded that the foolproof way of guarding against a catastrophic epidemic was a mass immunization program. It would take months, however, before such a plan might get the necessary approvals. Completing safety testing and then manufacturing tens of millions of vaccine doses would be a massive undertaking.27 The public would have to be inoculated at the very latest several weeks before flu season kicked into high gear in mid-December (any vaccine needed two to three weeks to activate each person’s immunity against swine flu).28
David Sencer, the CDC director, distributed a memo warning that an untreated national swine pandemic would be devastating. The World Health Organization had adopted a “wait and see” attitude.29 Although a pandemic was certainly not inevitable, Sencer believed the government had to err on the side of public safety.30 His bottom line was a “Combined Approach.” Pharmaceutical companies would manufacture the vaccine from the swine virus isolated by the CDC. The Bureau of Biologics would handle all safety and efficacy testing, and the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Disease would be responsible for oversight of the field trials. When vaccine production finished, the federal government would buy 200 million doses from the drug companies. At least 80 percent of Americans would get vaccinated at a network of assorted federal, state, local, and private medical facilities and clinics. It was an ambitious and complicated plan with an equally grand price estimate, $135 million.31
The HEW secretary forwarded Sencer’s recommendation to the White House where President Gerald Ford hastily convened an advisory panel of esteemed infectious disease experts, including the inventors of the two competing polio vaccines, Jonas Salk and Albert Sabin.32 They agreed that a swine epidemic was “possible” for the next flu season. They could not quantify if the chances were one in five or one in a million. A few suggested to start manufacturing the vaccine but waiting for more data before immunizing Americans. There was no time, unfortunately, for the more cautious approach. To produce the vaccine, pharma firms had to inject the CDC-isolated virus into millions of hen’s eggs, where it was replicated, harvested, and purified. According to the CDC’s Sencer, there were at most a couple of weeks to decide “go or no go.”33
Faced with such a short window, the scientists voted to proceed with mass immunization. They had reached the same conclusion as the politicians: it was better to err on the side of safety given the catastrophic consequences from a pandemic.34 Some of the scientists advising Ford later told the journal Science they felt the president was leaning to say yes before they even offered their advice.35
Ford had some reasons, totally separate from public medical and health considerations, to embrace bold action. The country was only four months from the two hundredth anniversary of the signing of the Declaration of Independence. The administration had planned grand celebrations for the Bicentennial and Ford hoped it might help reverse his abysmal approval ratings. They were the lowest of any president since World War II; he was the only one in Gallup history who did not top their “most admired man” list while in the White House.36 Americans were desperate for some good news. It had been less than a year since the ignominious end to the country’s military intervention in Vietnam. The images of civilians hanging on to the helicopter gunships that took off for the last time from the U.S. embassy, while North Vietnamese troops closed in on the capital, was a humiliating finish to the unpopular nineteen-year war. The previous year Ford had issued a controversial pardon to Richard Nixon for any crimes he may have committed while president. California governor Ronald Reagan thought that Ford was politically vulnerable and had challenged him for the nomination. Ford had started out strong, however, winning the first six primaries.37
On March 23, Reagan beat Ford in North Carolina. That panicked the president’s political team. The following day, Ford addressed the nation from the White House: “I have been advised that there is a very real possibility that unless we take effective counteractions, there could be an epidemic of this dangerous disease [swine flu] next fall and winter here in the United States.” He asked Congress “to appropriate $135 million, prior to the April recess, for the production of sufficient vaccine to inoculate every man, woman, and child in the United States.”38
Ford correctly calculated that Congress would not stand in the bill’s way. Without any dissenting debate, it authorized $135 million for “Preventive Health Services… for a comprehensive influenza immunization program” on April 15. Ford signed it in an Oval Office ceremony that same day.39 Although the money was appropriated, none of the details had been worked out. The CDC submitted an ambitious timetable to start vaccine production by June and average 24 to 30 million doses monthly.40 The FDA’s Bureau of Biologics began selecting thousands of volunteers for what it called the “largest pre-certification field trials ever performed.”41
The drug firms began “cultivating seed stock,” the first step in growing millions of copies of the CDC-supplied virus in hen eggs.42 After a few days, inspectors found that Parke-Davis had incorrectly recombined some of the virus’s genetic elements. The equivalent of 2.6 million doses were useless. That caused a several-week delay as the CDC double-checked the technical procedures in place at each company.43
While that review was under way, an unexpected and more serious challenge came from the four pharmaceutical firms chosen to make the vaccines.44 The executives from Merck’s Sharp & Dohme subdivision, Merrell, Wyeth, and Parke-Davis, and the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association, were concerned about liability for adverse reactions to the swine flu vaccinations. The government had agreed to be fully responsible for a “duty to warn” all those who got the vaccine about its risks. However, eighteen months earlier, a federal appeals court sent chills through the pharma industry when it upheld a $200,000 verdict against Wyeth for partial paralysis in a Texas infant after she received an oral polio vaccine Wyeth had manufactured. The Texas Department of Public Health had bought the vaccine from Wyeth. Texas law required parents to vaccinate their children. A registered nurse at the Hidalgo County Department of Health Clinic had administered the vaccine to the child and the infant’s mother had signed a liability release. When the child later developed poliolike symptoms, the mother sued, claiming that her primary language was Spanish and she had only a seventh-grade education.
Wyeth said it had satisfied its “duty to warn” as a manufacturer by including a large, detailed circular warning of possible side effects with every ten-dose batch. The nurse who administered the vaccine had not warned the plaintiff about the potential risks. Wyeth experts testified at the trial that the odds the infant’s illness was from the vaccine was one in 5.88 million. Still, the court ruled that Wyeth’s “duty to warn” extended past the date it sold the vaccine to any private or government agencies. It did not matter, concluded the court, whether the Texas mother would have changed her mind if she had gotten such a warning. What mattered was that Wyeth had not provided some means for that mother to have had easy access to the side effect printout.45
Little wonder that pharma firms believed that no matter how broadly the government assumed the “duty to warn,” plaintiffs’ lawyers would find a creative way to sue them. Major insurance underwriters agreed. They informed the drug firms they would not issue any liability coverage for the swine flu vaccinations. Given the huge size of the program and the expedited schedule, the insurers did not have time to calculate and price the potential risk.46 Without insurance, the drug companies insisted on full indemnification from the government for defending lawsuits and settling cases that arose from side effects.47
Congress’s $135 million emergency appropriations covered the costs for testing, manufacturing, and administrating the inoculations, but nothing for liability claims. Getting politicians to sign a blank check for the pharmaceutical industry in an election year was not easy. As a sign of good faith, the four pharma firms began producing bulk amounts of the swine flu vaccine. They would not sell any of it to the government, however, until there was an indemnity agreement. Drug company attorneys did not budge in more than thirty summer meetings with federal health officials.48
The government finally capitulated, drafting legislation under which it assumed responsibility for all claims other than those resulting from the negligence of the drug firms. There was little support though for that in Congress, much to the anger of the drug firms.
By July 31, the pharma manufacturers had produced enough vaccine for 100 million doses. They still refused to sell any to the government.49 HEW secretary F. David Mathews wrote to Ford: “Without a resolution of the liability issue, manufacturers are expected to stop vaccine production within a matter of days.” Merrell and Parke-Davis had stopped buying eggs to make more vaccine.50 Merrell announced it would soon withdraw from the program.51
Ford and CDC officials worried that the earlier sense of urgency had faded in Congress as the odds for a pending health crisis seemed more remote. Besides Private Lewis and the four Fort Dix soldiers who had gotten ill six months earlier, there had not been a single case of swine flu reported anywhere. Some health officials thought Congress might use pharma’s indemnification demand as the excuse to scuttle the program. The public mostly blamed the delay on generalized bureaucratic inefficiency. Few realized the drug companies were the obstacle.
But as the thalidomide scare in 1962 had broken the impasse over the Kefauver Amendments, fear over an unrelated infectious outbreak in midsummer changed the dynamics in the swine flu stalemate. On August 2, Pennsylvania health authorities announced that dozens of military veterans who had attended a July American Legion convention in Philadelphia had become ill with high fevers, severe muscle aches, and in many cases pneumonia. The sicknesses were confined to one of the four hotels that hosted thousands of the veterans. Within a week of the convention, 221 veterans were seriously ill and 34 had died.52 The lethal illness stumped state health officials. The press dubbed it “Legionnaire’s Disease.”
The news raised the prospect that the feared swine flu epidemic had started as those in charge were stuck debating who might pay for any injuries from adverse reactions. The CDC dispatched twenty epidemiologists to Philadelphia. The New York Times called it “the largest squad of medical detectives to investigate an outbreak in the federal agency’s history.”53
The news shook Congress from its torpor. No politician wanted to look as if they were risking the lives of Americans because of a money dispute over side effects that might affect a few people. Ford picked up his behind-the-scenes lobbying. In an August 4 letter he urged congressional leaders to “delay no longer,” arguing “there is no excuse now… clinical tests show that the vaccine is safe and effective” and “the lives of many, many Americans” are at stake.54 Only seventy-two hours after the first reports about Legionnaire’s Disease, Congress appeared ready to approve the vaccine liability provisions. Just before the vote, the CDC director tried allaying public fears by announcing preliminary lab tests that showed it was “very unlikely” that swine influenza had caused the Philadelphia deaths. Congress postponed the vote.
Ford’s advisors told him there was only a week left in which it was possible to restart vaccine production.55 On August 6, only a few days before Congress’s summer recess, Ford took his case to the public. He had considered charging that the drug companies were responsible for the impasse. Ford’s advisors felt liability indemnity was too complex an issue to explain to the public. Congress was a much easier culprit. Ford, who had served in the House for twenty-four years before Nixon tapped him to become vice president in 1973, had good political instincts.
“I am frankly dumbfounded that Congress, which took the time and effort to enact ill-advised legislation to exempt its own members from certain State income taxes, has failed to act to protect 215 million Americans from the threat of swine flu.… There is no excuse… for any further delay.”56
Ford’s national address sparked public outrage that Congress had found the time recently to pass preferential tax treatment for its members while doing nothing about protecting citizens from a possible pandemic. The New York Times and a minority of newspaper editorial boards cited some dissident doctors and urged “a real public debate… on the few known facts instead of the bloodcurdling predictions being used to frighten the nation.” It was too late for that. The public outcry meant there was little opposition in Congress.57 The National Swine Influenza Immunization Program Act passed overwhelmingly the evening before the summer recess began and only a day before the Republican presidential convention. Ford signed it on live television.58
The bill put the federal government into the middle of the vaccine business for the first time. It alone assumed responsibility for all damages from personal injuries or deaths caused by the vaccinations. The attorney general was charged with defending any legal claims.
To reduce the likelihood of lawsuits, all patients had to sign informed consent forms that listed in detail the vaccine’s benefits and risks.59 Those forms, devised by the CDC, stated that swine flu had been tested extensively. Only a handful of people knew that the vaccine tested by the Bureau of Biologics and the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases had failed to develop any antibodies that would provide some immunity in children. As a result, the vaccine to be dispensed to the entire country—dubbed the X53a—had been reformulated to nearly twice the strength as the one in the clinical trials. X-53a had never been tested.60
While pharmaceutical companies were pleased that the government assumed all liability responsibility, they were irked by a clause that “eliminated any profit” from their production of the vaccine. What they got in exchange was authorization to earn “a reasonable profit” from the most commonly used version in annual influenza shots (the failure to define “reasonable” later led to considerable bickering between pharma and government officials).61
A Gallup poll showed that while a remarkable 94 percent of adult Americans were familiar with swine flu, only half were likely to be vaccinated.62 Many worried about unknown side effects. Even more feared was the still-mysterious Legionnaire’s. The CDC investigators had followed thousands of leads and conducted every possible test but were still stumped about what had caused it (in another four months, January 1977, the CDC determined the microbial culprit in the veterans’ outbreak was from a bacterium found in dirty or sitting water; it spread through the invisible mist emitted by the hotel’s air-conditioning units).63
The swine flu vaccinations got under way on October 1 even though there still had not been any more cases outside the small Fort Dix cluster.64 Those most at risk, the elderly, children, and anyone with a suppressed immune system, were the priorities. Ten days after it had begun, the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette had a front-page story in its evening edition about three elderly people who had died shortly after getting their swine flu vaccinations at the Allegheny County Health Department. That story line—that the swine flu vaccine might have killed more people than the swine flu virus itself had nine months earlier at Fort Dix—took off.65 Twenty-two additional deaths across the country were soon reported. The CDC’s answer—they were “statistical anomalies” and the average age of “those who died was 72.1, and all but one had a history of heart disease”—was not reassuring to an already skittish public.66 President Ford and his wife, Betty, tried tamping down the anxiety by getting their vaccine shots during a widely publicized photo opportunity.67
Forty million people, just under a fifth of the country, had been vaccinated by mid-October. Although it seemed an impressive number, health officials knew that if a pandemic was coming, it was too few people. They needed to double that and still allow enough time for the antibodies to develop to provide protection against an epidemic.68
Events worked against them. On November 2 Georgia governor Jimmy Carter defeated Ford in the presidential race. Four days later, Albert Sabin, one of Ford’s highest-profile members of his blue-ribbon vaccine panel, wrote an op-ed for The New York Times. He said that “federal health agencies need public trust… but they are destroying it.” According to Sabin, the government was “irresponsible to use scare tactics” by comparing the swine influenza to the Spanish pandemic of 1918. And he questioned the effectiveness of the vaccine with certain age groups. He concluded that it was “now highly probable” that “the epidemic does not come this winter,” meaning that the vaccine would be “largely ineffective” if one should come the following year.69
Cities across the country had reported few cases of any strain of influenza during the first half of November. It was not because of the swine vaccine but because by chance, very few influenza viruses had developed that year in the U.S. Influenza-related deaths and pneumonia were at their lowest in years. Americans were increasingly skeptical as fears about a looming pandemic receded.
Fewer than five million people got the shot after November 1. For those still undecided, something that started during the third week of November helped them make up their minds. A Minnesota man who got the vaccine returned to his doctor complaining of weakness in his legs and arms. Initially, his feet and hands tingled but had since gone numb. His reflexes were poor. The physician recognized the symptoms: Guillain-Barré syndrome, a rare but serious disorder in which the immune system assaults healthy nerve cells. Most people recover but others have permanent nerve damage and paralysis. In some cases it is deadly.70
Although the CDC was aware that a mass immunization would result in adverse reactions for some, the government’s epidemiologists had not expected to see much of Guillain-Barré.71 Even those who suspected a link believed the risk was one or two cases for every million doses. The CDC-designed consent form everyone signed before getting the vaccination did not mention anything about neurological adverse effects. CDC director David Sencer later claimed that the omission was because he had not been told about the risk. A memo in July from Dr. Michael Hattwick, who ran the CDC’s vaccine surveillance team, had raised that “neurological complications” were possible from any influenza vaccine. Somehow it had not been put into the consent form since some officials thought it would scare away too many people.72
Sencer issued an urged order to hospitals, doctors, and clinics to be on the lookout for Guillain-Barré. The problem was that there were no tests to detect the disease and doctors disagreed as to what symptoms confirmed a diagnosis.73 It was not until December 14 that Sencer issued a press release disclosing that fifty-four vaccinated people were ill with Guillain-Barré. There were many calls to halt the program. Sencer suspended it for a month.
The CDC meanwhile kept investigating if there was a link between the vaccine and the unusual neurological disorder.74 Efforts to explain away the infections as an “expected and normal rate” given the millions vaccinated, did little to allay public alarm.75 Four days after the mass vaccinations were suspended, a New York Times editorial titled “Swine Flu Fiasco” concluded the entire effort had been a “sorry debacle” based “on the flimsiest of evidence.” The CDC had exploited “Washington’s panic” to “increase the size of its empire and multiply its budget.”76
On January 20, 1977, Jimmy Carter was inaugurated as the thirty-ninth president of the United States. Guillain-Barré cases topped 1,100, with the swine flu vaccine responsible for most of them. More than one hundred patients were on respirators. Fifty-eight had died.77 Carter wasted no time in selecting his own team to run the country’s medical regulatory agencies. He appointed Joseph A. Califano Jr., Lyndon Johnson’s top domestic advisor, as the HEW secretary. Two weeks later Califano dismissed David Sencer as the CDC’s chief.
The first lawsuits on behalf of people claiming debilitating side effects were filed the same month the Carter administration took charge. There would ultimately be 4,181 claims asking for $3.2 billion in damages. The Justice Department, obligated by the National Swine Influenza Immunization Program Act, put ten lawyers full-time on defending the government. The White House Office of Management and Budget approved a multimillion-dollar emergency appropriation for the legal defense. The shortcomings in the legislation’s indemnity clauses became clear. Liability was to be determined under the law of the state where the vaccine was dispensed, making it impossible to consolidate the cases into a single class action (they were merged for pretrial discovery only).78 Instead, Justice Department attorneys had to juggle fifty different malpractice standards and product liability statutes.
The government paid $38 million to settle several hundred cases. More than 1,600 proceeded. The litigation lasted sixteen years, during which the government lost 109 cases. Taxpayer-funded judgments topped $100 million.79
The swine flu trials cost more than time and money. A lead attorney for the plaintiffs later commented that “permitting the government to step into the private world of the [pharmaceutical] manufacturers and defend the swine flu suits” meant that “the government has become the adversary of the citizens it originally acted to protect.”80 That tsunami of litigation also had a chilling effect on Congress, which steered far away for many years from approving any federal immunization programs. It also opened a Pandora’s box. Some swine flu attorneys subsequently filed complaints for clients for all types of vaccines.81
The scientists involved in developing vaccines in the 1950s had hoped that mass immunization might not only prevent another influenza pandemic like the one that infected one third of the planet in 1918, but also eliminate typhus, polio, diphtheria, and whooping cough. Until swine flu, the U.S. produced about 80 percent of the world’s annual supply of vaccine.82 “Insurance carriers, politicians, drug companies, and the judicial system,” writes science writer Laurie Garrett, “adhered to the basic principle that the rights of an immunized society superseded those of small numbers of individuals.”83
The swine flu litigation, however, ended that cooperation. Federal courts became ground zero in an expanding controversy over individual rights versus the public health. District courts have at times issued orders overruling family objections and mandating vaccines for public school children or elderly relatives in nursing homes. In early 2019, the question of vaccines and immunizations reached a public crisis in several states due to an outbreak of measles. Officials in a hard-hit upstate New York county (Rockland) banned unvaccinated children from public places.84 Washington and Oregon state legislators weighed overturning previous laws that allowed individuals to opt out of vaccines for “personal, religious or philosophical reasons.”85 (As of December 5, 2019, there were 1,276 reported infections in thirty-one states, the second highest on record since 2000, when the CDC had declared it eliminated.)86
The ghost of the swine flu debacle scared pharmaceutical companies and their liability insurers. In the coming years, more than a dozen drug firms that were in vaccine research and production abandoned the field. By 1993, there were only four American pharma companies left. Most are relieved to be out of the business. They were reminded of the perils of producing vaccines recently when major health problems were reported among three million children in the Philippines who had received the first ever vaccine against dengue fever. The three-dose shots made by French-based Sanofi had been under way since 2015. They resulted in adverse effects that often mimicked the disease it was supposed to prevent. For those who eventually contracted dengue, having had the vaccine made it a more virulent infection. The first lawsuits, charging that Sanofi’s vaccine was responsible for a “runaway immune reaction,” were filed in 2019. 87 IV 88
When Califano took charge at HEW, he ordered an outside investigation to determine what had gone wrong. It turned out there was no single error or miscalculation. There was, undoubtedly, a rush to judgment about the likelihood of a pandemic, based on too little data: five infections and a single death. Instead of methodically assessing the worst-case scenario, policymakers focused on the devastating outcome if they underestimated the possibility of a pandemic.
Adding to the sense of urgency was the fear that the time in which to deploy a vaccine was short. When the discussion turned to vaccine production and inoculation scheduling, policymakers had closed the door on debating the odds for a pandemic. Keiji Fukuda, a leading influenza epidemiologist, expressed a widely held consensus that the biggest error was the failure to realize the importance of no swine flu cases after the first ones at Fort Dix.
“If a new virus gets identified or reappears, you don’t want to jump the gun and assume a pandemic is happening.”89 Many infectious disease physicians and researchers echoed that. Government health officials at the CDC acknowledged that swine flu had been a difficult lesson but one from which they learned. Unfortunately, it was a lesson learned at the wrong time. Within a decade, the mantra of “don’t jump the gun and assume a pandemic is happening” would be one of the reasons for the slow and hesitant response to the emergence of a sexually transmitted lethal virus, HIV/AIDS.
I. A poliolike disease, acute flaccid myelitis (AFM), began to break out in 2014. Mostly children under the age of ten were infected. The CDC is still working to discover the cause of the breakout, but suspects three enteroviruses (A-16, A-71, and E-68) typically responsible for hand, foot, and mouth disease. As of December 2019, there is no treatment or vaccine and the CDC has confirmed 601 cases in all fifty states. Ninety percent of the infections have occurred in children.
II. When in March 2019 health officials in northern Kentucky banned unvaccinated students from school after an outbreak of more than thirty cases of chicken pox, one family sued on behalf of their son who refused the vaccine on religious grounds. The family, devout Catholics, said the vaccine “is derived from aborted fetuses and it goes against our Catholic faith.” In fact, the chicken pox vaccine relies on cell lines from two fetuses aborted in 1964 and 1970, and no further abortions were done to keep those cell lines intact. The Vatican has grudgingly given its approval to the rubella vaccine, saying that the most important consideration of parents should be “to put the health of their children and of the population as a whole at risk.” Still, legal experts believe the case is potentially precedent-setting since a religious exemption to vaccines could be claimed by many people without the ability of local governments or school districts to verify the truthfulness of such claims.
III. The most deadly influenza year in the U.S. since the 1918 pandemic was 2018. An estimated eighty thousand Americans died, most of them elderly and with compromised immune systems. The problem, in part, was that the vaccination was not targeted for the strain that developed that year and provided little protection.
IV. A subsequent example of the effect of litigation on the vaccine industry is Lyme disease, the bacterial infection that can cause debilitating arthritic conditions and was first spotted in 1976 in a cluster of children in Connecticut. Smith Kline got FDA approval for its LYMErix vaccine in 1998. In clinical trials it was 78 percent effective in preventing Lyme transmitted from infected ticks to humans. In the ten states that then accounted for 90 percent of the annual twenty thousand infections, Smith Kline dispensed 1.5 million vaccinations over eighteen months. The follow-up safety reports were good except for several dozen patients reporting either developing arthritis or that their existing arthritic condition worsened. Those claims caught the attention of the media. “Lyme Vaccine May Cause Problems”; “Concerns Grow over Reactions to Lyme Shots”; “Lyme Disease Vaccine’s Safety Is Questioned.” Anti–Lyme vaccine advocacy groups launched. Although no subsequent trial established a direct link from the vaccine to inducing arthritis, a class action lawsuit was filed in 2002. Smith Kline responded by withdrawing the vaccine. There have been 369,000 new infections of Lyme since then. The annual costs of treatment and lost productivity from disability in chronic cases is an estimated $75 billion annually. After Smith Kline canceled its product, Austrian-based Baxter Pharma abandoned its development of a Lyme vaccine that was in a combined Phase I/II trial. A French drug firm, Valneva, announced in 2018 it will start early trials of a vaccine like the one Smith Kline marketed twenty years ago. Until its expected approval in a few years, there is no Lyme vaccine.
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“BLACK RIVER”
The news in the fall of 1976 from a small township in the Democratic Republic of the Congo was that villagers were suffering from high fevers, bone-rattling chills, and agonizing head and chest pains.1 The gruesome details of the death of the town’s headmaster, only a week after he fell ill, had spread fear throughout the remote region. Those tending to him reported how blood had filled the whites of his eyes, disfiguring blisters spread across his face and chest, and that he spasmed between coughing and vomiting. What they did not know was that a pathogen had ravaged his immune system and caused it to turn on him. The microbial invader had liquefied his organs. An autopsy revealed they had turned into a black liquid. No one then knew that the blood that poured from his mouth and nose when he died was packed with the lethal microbe, ready to infect its next victims. Within a month, 280 of the 318 villagers were dead (a nearly 90 percent mortality rate). For a backwater hamlet just across the border in South Sudan, a second outbreak had a 50 percent death rate.2
Blood samples of the dead were sent to Antwerp’s Institute of Tropical Medicine.3 Researchers there identified the microscopic culprit, a long wormlike virus. Its shape resembled the Marburg germ, a hemorrhagic fever virus discovered nine years earlier. Not certain if it was a new strain, the Belgians sent samples to both a British military lab and the American Centers for Disease Control. Epidemiologists at the CDC concluded that what was killing Africans so quickly and savagely was a “new organism… different than anything else we have seen.”4
A team of physicians, epidemiologists, and microbiologists from the CDC, Antwerp, South Africa, and France traveled to the Congo.5 The Congolese government had declared martial law and the military enforced a wide quarantine. Scientists and physicians in hazmat suits were soon the only ones visible in the ghost towns dubbed the “hot zones.” Virologists narrowed the pathogen to a family of six related viruses native to fruit bats but that had spread over time to gorillas, chimpanzees, and monkeys.6 The medical team thought it likely that the microorganism had jumped species from humans eating infected bush meat.7 It was also possible that it passed to people from hunters who handled the raw meat when they had open cuts or scratches.8
An airborne virus would have a much higher infection rate. Their working assumption was that humans passed it by exchanging bodily fluids. That meant everything from sex to infected blood or perspiration penetrating an open wound or entering the mucous membranes in the nose, mouth, or eyes.9 Local burial customs, it turned out, spread the pathogen since it put survivors in close contact with plague-ridden corpses.10 Researchers did not know it then, but later determined that the virus that decimated those two African villages remained active in the blood and semen of survivors for up to forty days.11
The medical sleuths eventually solved how the outbreak had its quite accidental start. Belgian nuns at a local mission had been giving pregnant women vitamin shots. When they ran low on supplies, instead of stopping the injections, the nuns just kept reusing the same set of syringes and needles.12 Once a woman carrying the deadly virus got an injection, every patient who followed got the bug.
One night, over a couple of bottles of Kentucky bourbon, the medical team that had been dispatched to Africa decided they should name the new microbial killer.13 A French microbiologist from the Pasteur Institute suggested the Yambuku Virus, after the Congolese village it had wiped out. Others disagreed, saying that would forever stigmatize that village. That had happened before. In 1969 a virus struck Lassa, Nigeria. Later named the Lassa virus, it caused an exodus by many locals who mistakenly thought it was more likely to break out there than anywhere else.14 A CDC researcher suggested that if they named it after something like a local river, that would make it geographically generic. Everyone liked that. The obvious choice was the continent’s second-biggest river, the Congo, which snaked through the country. The problem was that a few years earlier a tick-borne viral disease had been designated Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever.15 One of the doctors pulled a map from the wall and looked for the river that ran nearest to Yambuku. It was Ebola River, which in the local language meant “Black River.”16
Ebola was not the only new deadly virus passed by sex and blood. A handful of people in Europe who had worked in or visited Central Africa were turning up at hospitals or clinics afflicted with a range of opportunistic infections. A Portuguese man who had returned after several years of managing a restaurant in the small West African nation of Guinea-Bissau was admitted in late 1976 to a London hospital. He was suffering from dehydration caused by chronic diarrhea. Tests revealed an intestinal infection caused by the microscopic Cryptosporidium parasite, common to tourists who drank untreated water or ate contaminated food.17 Traveler’s diarrhea passed, though, in a few days. That none of the antidiarrheal meds worked puzzled doctors.
A few months later, a Lisbon-born cabdriver who had served in the Portuguese navy in Angola and Guinea-Bissau was admitted to a Paris hospital complaining of chest pains and difficulty breathing. The diagnosis? Pneumocystis carinii, a rare but not lethal fungal lung infection that had jumped species in the 1940s from sewer rats to immunocompromised children who were Holocaust survivors at a Polish orphanage.18 Again, physicians were stumped as to why antifungals did not clear it.
At the same time, a Greek fisherman showed up at an Antwerp hospital with Cryptococcal meningitis, caused by fungus found in soil and bird excrement that rarely affects humans. When the doctors learned he had worked at a commercial fishery at the Congo’s Lake Tanganyika, they called Peter Piot, a twenty-seven-year-old microbiologist who had been one of the researchers dispatched to the Congo. He was a co-discoverer of the Ebola virus. The Antwerp physicians hoped that his experience might help diagnose what was wrong. Piot knew the fungus that had infected the patient’s brain and spinal cord only flourished in people with compromised immune systems. Those were usually cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy or transplant surgeries in which doctors had weakened the body’s immune response so it would not reject a donor’s organ. That was not the case with the fisherman; Piot was perplexed that none of the antifungals slowed the infection.19
A few months later, Dr. Margrethe Rask, a Danish surgeon, returned to Copenhagen after five years at two Congolese clinics. She admitted herself to a hospital with trouble breathing and told the physicians she had battled fatigue, chronic diarrhea, and swollen lymph glands for a year. She tested negative for parasites but positive for oral thrush, a yeast contamination of the throat. Staph infections were multiplying in her blood. Tests revealed her body’s natural disease-fighting T cells were almost depleted. The forty-seven-year-old physician was soon fighting the same rare Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia that had infected the Portuguese cabdriver in Paris.20
A German concert violinist checked in to a Cologne medical clinic because he was alarmed by dark purple lesions that had broken out across his chest and arms. It took doctors a week to diagnose Kaposi sarcoma (KS), a cancer so infrequent that one physician had to look it up in a textbook. It was generally benign and affected mostly older Italian and Jewish men. The same disease afflicted the sole survivor of a Canadian transport plane that had crashed in the Congo in 1976. He had required two units of locally sourced blood. A year later he developed some of the same immune problems encountered by the others, including Kaposi sarcoma. It took almost a decade for a husband-and-wife team of virologists at Columbia University to discover that the version of Kaposi affecting younger patients like the concert violinist was a new strain of herpes. As with hepatitis and Ebola, it passed from one person to another through exchanges of semen or blood.21 I 22
It was unfortunate serendipity that a surging demand in the United States and Europe for blood by-products was setting the groundwork for escalating the spread of any infectious agent. The culprit was the industry that had been built around plasma, a pale yellowish liquid that is about half a person’s blood supply. It is packed with vital proteins, has excellent clotting components, and carries blood cells throughout the body. Doctors who understood why plasma was so vital also were aware of the dangers it posed when prepared or distributed improperly.
Plasma had become important during World War II because of the advantages it had over whole blood for emergencies. Not only did it keep longer without refrigeration, but it did not degrade when transported. Most important, it could treat shock and help wounds clot without worrying about matching blood type. There was no time in wartime field hospitals to check blood types and start searching for a match among the whole blood bags. Plasma not only made it much faster but in situations where a standard transfusion could not be administered, it could be injected into muscles or even rubbed into the skin.
Before the war, it was difficult to separate plasma from blood. Charles Richard Drew, a thirty-five-year-old who was the only African American physician with a senior position in the wartime blood program, solved that problem in 1938. (After having earned an MD specializing in transfusion medicine, he was the first African American to earn a medical doctorate at Columbia. The “father of the blood bank,” his doctoral thesis was “Banked Blood: A Study in Blood Preservation,” and after the war he organized America’s first national blood collection centers.)II
Drew’s method for extracting plasma from blood was slow but effective. It involved spinning the blood to separate the sediment and then a series of steps applying ultraviolet light and sterile solutions.23 The government wanted a crash program to use plasma as a blood substitute at the front lines. The Committee on Blood Substitutes was formed under the National Academy of Sciences. Millions of units of liquid plasma were shipped abroad in kits that included everything ready for battlefield infusion. The unintended consequence was that soldiers who got transfusions were fourteen times more likely to return home with hepatitis. In order to manufacture plasma in large enough quantities, it had been pooled from multiple donors.
When the Army realized it had a hepatitis problem, it ordered the pools to be no more than six donors and barred drawing blood from anyone with a history of jaundice. Still, the hepatitis infection rate stayed high. Laboratory efforts to kill the virus by heating or freezing plasma sometimes succeeded but invariably reduced its healing and clotting properties.
As opposed to penicillin, which was the dominant drug in the postwar pharmaceutical industry, plasma emerged from the war as a medical breakthrough that held great promise but had too many risks to justify widespread medical use. By the Korean War in 1950, the government tried again to rid the plasma supplies of hepatitis, this time with a new process that relied on intense ultraviolet light. Its failure was measured in the postwar statistic that one in five soldiers who received plasma during the Korean conflict contracted hepatitis. That was three times the World War II infection rate.24
The civilian population in the U.S. was not faring much better. In the 1950s, almost a third of the blood supply was from prisoners. The rest came from nonprofit blood collection centers around the country. Three pharmaceutical firms had a monopoly on producing plasma from that collected blood (Cutter Laboratories, Hyland Labs, and Merck’s Sharp & Dohme).25 The overall hepatitis infection rate in six major cities grew in proportion to how much pooled plasma was used.26
Technology revolutionized plasma collection in the mid-1960s. The National Cancer Institute adapted the know-how used in dairy creamer separators for a much speedier, mechanized method for obtaining it (called modern plasmapheresis).27 A needle or catheter drew whole blood from donors that was then put into a centrifuge machine that separated the plasma. That plasma was frozen while the red blood cells were reinjected into the donor.28 The entire process took two to three hours, a fraction of the time it had taken to isolate plasma from harvested blood. Before plasmapheresis, men had waited a minimum of twelve weeks between blood draws and women sixteen weeks. Red blood cells needed time to rebuild. Giving blood too frequently raised the risk for anemia, a chronic and potentially debilitating illness. By reinjecting the donors with their own red blood cells, the body regenerated plasma much faster. Donors could give blood twice a week, a rate that resulted in a liter of plasma.29
There were some unexpected consequences from the scientific breakthroughs. Since donors could give blood more frequently there was considerably more money to be made by the faster turnaround. The blood industry was flooded, according to medical historian Douglass Starr, with “new classes of people… shadier buyers, more desperate sellers.”30
European countries mostly banned paying for blood fearing that compensating donors attracted unhealthy ones, including alcoholics and drug addicts. The U.S. allowed the collection of “paid blood.” Hundreds of independently owned plasma centers opened and offered anywhere from $4 to $8 a visit. Those clinics knew that people down on their luck were the ones most likely to be induced to donate blood for a few dollars. As a result, the plasma centers proliferated near big-city skid rows. They distributed tens of thousands of flyers in New York, Los Angeles, and Chicago to drug addicts, alcoholics, the homeless and destitute, telling them about the easy-to-be-had money.31 A few clinics, led by the huge Doctors Blood Bank in Los Angeles, were more blatant in their pitch: donors received coupons redeemable at a local liquor store. The long lines desperate for cash or a drink formed early every day.III
Demand for plasma outstripped the supply. That was a result of scientific advances in the specialized blood products made from plasma. In 1965, for instance, a Stanford professor made a significant discovery about plasma’s clotting components. She had examined the sludge that remained after thawing frozen plasma. That residue, at the bottom of each bag after transfusion, was considered useless waste material and blood banks had always discarded it. The professor found it was a dense, rich concentrate of Factor VIII, the name given to the set of proteins required for blood to clot. That residual slush became the key ingredient in a slew of new products for hemophiliacs who needed emergency or elective surgery.32 It was not long before a concentrated white crystalline powdered form of Factor VIII transformed health care for hemophiliacs.33 It was one hundred times more effective at clotting than regular plasma. In that way, the nation’s ten thousand hemophiliacs no longer had to visit clinics or hospitals to get their plasma transferred from a bag.34 The powdered concentrate in a salt-shaker-sized vial cost 11 cents a unit for a pharma company to produce.35
Beyond blood products for hemophiliacs, doctors and hospitals had begun relying on specialized plasma components to fight autoimmune illnesses, infections, and even as an aid in transplant surgeries. Fractionation, a process for extracting individual proteins such as albumin and gamma globulin from plasma, had been streamlined. Those proteins became concentrated derivatives and were in huge demand. Obtaining enough for therapeutic doses required larger supplies of plasma.36
The plasma centers delivered the raw material for the specialized blood products. As more medical treatments became plasma intensive, demand exploded, requiring millions of liters a year. They could not process it fast enough unless they pooled all the donors. The plasma collection centers now mixed hundreds, even thousands of units from different donors. They sold it at 300 percent to 400 percent profit to hospitals and pharma manufacturers that then created the specialized products of clotting factors, gamma globulin, albumin, and others.
There was concern at the NIH and among some leading hematologists about the risks inherent in failing to screen the blood from “remunerated donors.” Although a rudimentary test to spot hepatitis B antibodies was developed in 1964, the blood lobby had prevailed in stopping the FDA from requiring it. America’s Blood Centers, the American Blood Resources Association, and the American Association of Blood Banks, national organizations that represented the country’s for-profit and nonprofit blood centers, hospitals, and community blood banks, argued that the extra cost of the screening would be burdensome for the mom-and-pop blood collectors.37
The blood lobbyists contended, without any supporting evidence, that an infected single donor would be diluted by all the healthy donors in the pool. With that logic, the larger the pool, the better. It reduced the risk of any transmissible virus. Years later that was proven wrong. Researchers confirmed that a single patient with hepatitis could infect a pool of more than a million donors.38
Hepatitis infection rates across the country spiked starting in the mid-1960s. A 1968 study in JAMA reported that when the donors were “suspected narcotics addicts,” it was seventy times more likely that a single transfusion resulted in a hepatitis infection.39 In 1968 the federal government revoked all licenses for consumer sales of whole plasma from multiple donors (the FDA required hepatitis screening on blood and plasma supplies in 1972, but the test was only 15 percent effective).40 A lot of the independent collection centers closed. Many of the remaining ones were bought by the four pharmaceutical firms that dominated the blood trade.41
It was a mistake to expect that eliminating most of the small operators might tamp the cowboy flavor of the American blood industry. The pharma firms now oversaw the plasma collection as well as processing it into a range of therapeutic products. Their incentive was to keep costs as low as possible. As a result they did not spend anything on making their products safer. Courtland and Hyland continued using skid row donors in large plasma pools. Hyland also set up plasma centers at U.S.-Mexico border towns, hoping to attract poor migrant donors. Cutter got into a fight with some hospitals over the right “to bleed prisoners.”42 A congressional investigation later obtained confidential documents from those companies, and from private blood collectors, that proved that for the next twenty years they often ignored, or at least delayed, readily available safety tests.43 That only changed in the 1990s when AIDS made blood transfusions a matter of life and death.
Consolidating the plasma collection of the American blood industry under a handful of drug companies did not even result in more supply. They had not figured out how to induce more Americans to donate blood so demand continued to significantly outstrip production. The country’s three largest blood organizations—the American Association of Blood Banks, the American Red Cross, and the Council of Community Blood Centers—had launched a promotion campaign to encourage more people to donate. It had a negligible effect.44
The gap in the supply of plasma was met by collection centers that opened in some of the poorest and most downtrodden urban slums in a dozen countries. The owners of the shuttered U.S. clinics ran some of them. By the end of the 1960s, blood centers in Costa Rica, El Salvador, the Dominican Republic, Mexico, Belize, Colombia, Haiti, and Nicaragua fed the American plasma market. The two largest collectors operated from Nicaragua and Haiti: Compañía Centroamericana de Plasmaféresis in Managua and Hemo-Caribbean in Port-au-Prince. They were in a class of their own, far outselling all offshore competitors in how much they sold monthly to the U.S.
There was, however, something unique about the Haiti center. It was the only one of the Third World collection operations with a link to the Democratic Republic of the Congo at a time when HIV was developing there. After the Congo declared independence from Belgium in 1960, a civil war wracked the country for four years. The U.N. secretary-general launched an ambitious project intended to recruit French-speaking engineers, physicians, nurses, teachers, and technicians to help stabilize the fledgling nation.45 Although a lot of Belgian professionals had stayed in the country, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, UNESCO, wanted other nationalities than the one responsible for colonial rule. UNESCO offered housing and generous compensation packages and required a one- to four-year commitment. The largest contingent of French-speaking foreign professionals that arrived were between 4,500 and 6,000 Haitians.46 They stayed on average twenty-four to thirty-six months before returning to Haiti. As they returned home, a few unknowingly were among the first people in the Western Hemisphere to have contracted HIV.47
The Hemo-Caribbean plasmapheresis center had opened in late 1970 in a two-story building in Rue des Remparts, a squalid street on the edge of the capital’s infamous portside slums. An American stockbroker based in Miami, Joseph Gorinsteen, put up $250,000 to build it. An Austrian biochemist was its technical director.48 Luckner Cambronne, the former head of the notorious Tonton Macoute police militia who had become the interior minister, had a secret stake. Aside from the island’s autocratic president, François “Papa Doc” Duvalier, Cambronne was the most powerful man in Haiti.49
With Duvalier’s blessing, Cambronne bypassed the country’s minister of health and personally negotiated the contract that granted Hemo-Caribbean an exclusive ten-year contract for “plasma farming.”50 The center paid impoverished Haitians $3 per liter of plasma (2.1 pints). Those who queued before the doors opened daily at 6:30 were among the island nation’s poorest, overwhelmingly illiterate and mostly unemployed. They could double or triple their average annual income of $75 by regularly giving blood.51
The Rue des Remparts center processed an average of 350 donors daily. There were usually some still waiting at its 8 p.m. closing. So many wanted to give blood that Hemo-Caribbean started building a second collection center in the capital capable of processing an additional five hundred daily.52
Although some hematologists criticized the center’s poor hygiene and haphazard testing, it sold between five thousand to six thousand liters of plasma monthly to the American pharmaceutical companies licensed by the National Institute of Health’s Division of Biologics Standards.53 The frozen plasma, which returned a 500 percent profit, was flown to Miami on Air Haiti transports, an airline partly owned by Cambronne. Hemo-Caribbean’s widespread plasma ventures had earned Cambronne a nickname in Port-au-Prince: “The Vampire of the Caribbean.”54 Once in Miami, the drug companies took the plasma and processed it into a lucrative range of therapeutic blood products.55
Werner Thill, Hemo-Caribbean’s technical director, told a reporter that the blood center rejected 1 to 2 percent of its six thousand donors, judging them too weak or their hemoglobin count too low. What about donors who might be infected with hepatitis, malaria, or venereal diseases? Thill contended that it was foolish to worry about blood they collected since “Haiti has no drug-addict problem.… [and] most active blood sellers in the United States are drug addicts, many of whom have hepatitis.”56 As for anyone in Haiti “who may slip through the screening process,” Thill claimed that Hemo-Caribbean had a unique freezing technique that “kills those bacteria” (that was wrong).57IV
Even if the plasma it sold was contaminated, Thill asserted, “the companies that buy the plasma… are ultimately responsible for the product.” The U.S. pharma and biologic companies were instead depending on the NIH’s Division of Biologics Standards to randomly inspect blood products collected from paid donors in poor offshore countries with few stringent medical standards. When a Los Angeles Times investigation in 1972 raised troubling concerns about the safety procedures at Hemo-Caribbean, a California congressman, Victor Veysey, queried the Biologics Division. Federal regulators told him that “no imported plasma is being transfused directly into human beings.” When pressed, they admitted that no one in the Biologics Division had verified that.58 Instead, they relied on the assurances of the pharma companies distributing the Haitian plasma. Biologics also initially claimed there was no danger of the plasma transmitting hepatitis (HIV/AIDS was not yet identified) since it was broken into “its component fractions” for specialized treatments. When pushed by Veysey, the oversight agency admitted that the risk of passing on hepatitis or other infectious diseases “is not completely eliminated by this procedure.”59
The author uncovered that one of Hemo-Caribbean’s most dangerous cost-cutting measures was to reuse unsterile needles and sometimes catheters.60 That is almost certainly why the clinic’s donors had a high rate of injection site infections. In at least one instance, a worker became infected with hepatitis from handling the blood.61 A former Hemo-Caribbean lab technician (there were twenty-two at the company’s peak of two hundred employees) later recounted there were some instances in which a donor’s artery was mistakenly punctured instead of a vein, and others in which patients became sick to their stomach or short of breath. None of those was reported to the Ministry of Health.62 Other times, in the lab, there were worries at the end of a second shift that the technicians and nurses were so tired that red blood cells taken from one donor had been “returned” to the wrong person. That could cause serious kidney and breathing problems as the body attacked the foreign cells as if they were invaders.
A sizable percentage of Hemo-Caribbean’s weekly donors were sex workers, including men who regularly had sex with male tourists for pay, and ex-prisoners who had moved back to the neighborhood after their release from jail.63 WHO and epidemiological studies later demonstrated that nearly three quarters of all sexually transmitted diseases in Haiti were then concentrated in those same demographic groups.64
By coincidence, eighteen months before Hemo-Caribbean opened its doors in Port-au-Prince there had been a medical breakthrough in the production of a highly concentrated form of Factor VIII. When the federal government had banned consumer sales of pooled plasma in 1968 over hepatitis fears, it exempted Factor VIII since there was no alternative for the nation’s hemophiliacs. The thousands of monthly liters of pooled plasma that Hemo-Caribbean sold in the U.S. were distributed widely from California to New York to Indiana as finished Factor VIII.
In 1979 and 1980, a dozen men in Haiti were the first to be diagnosed with Kaposi sarcoma. The author was unable to confirm a report that ten of them had been Hemo-Caribbean donors.65 A French geologist had his arm amputated after a car accident in 1979 while working in Port-au-Prince. He received eight pints of blood during surgery and eighteen months later developed Kaposi sarcoma (the first case of the new virus passing through a blood transfusion in the U.S. was that same year, 1979, to an eighteen-year-old hemophiliac in Pittsburgh).66
Expectant mothers started turning up with another herpes-related virus, cytomegalovirus (CMV). The symptoms—fatigue, fever, swollen lymph glands, and vision loss—created serious pregnancy complications. A thirty-four-year-old secretary for Air Zaïre checked in to a health clinic in Louvain, Belgium. She was ill with a severe CMV infection and toxoplasmosis, a parasitic disease normally found only in cats. Two of her daughters had died at six months of age from respiratory infections, and her three-month-old surviving daughter had oral candida, an opportunistic yeast throat infection. No medications helped. Against her doctors’ advice, the secretary traveled to Zaire to visit her family. The doctors intended to perform additional testing when she returned to Belgium; she never did. There was no urgency or any follow-up; they considered her a puzzling medical anomaly.
No one could yet be expected to connect all the inexplicable reports in obscure journals about the cluster of young patients who had turned up at doctor’s offices or emergency rooms with rare illnesses resistant to all traditional treatments. No one could imagine they were the harbinger of AIDS, the most lethal modern-day epidemic.V67
I. In all the early instances that baffled doctors, the patients had died by 1979. In most cases, tissue samples were preserved for later study. In the 1980s, all were confirmed as positive for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV).
II. Although Drew’s work was instrumental in establishing the technology that made the American Red Cross flourish, he was barred as a black man from giving blood. That had been the segregated blood policy that Arthur Sackler railed against in the late 1940s.
III. Eventually, the FDA required blood centers to label their supplies as “volunteer” or “paid.” That 1978 change eliminated the market for “paid blood” since American hospitals and clinics wanted only “volunteer” blood. They feared the consequences of buying riskier remunerated blood. However, the author learned that there was suspicion at some hospitals that what happened was that many of the less reputable blood clinics had merely marked all collected blood as “volunteer.” That meant that some hospitals were still buying “paid” blood but paying the higher “volunteer” prices.
IV. In fact, the only way to possibly kill such infectious viruses was the opposite, concentrated dry heat combined with solvent-detergents. After an advanced technology to heat plasma became available in the 1980s, the FDA pulled earlier versions from the U.S. market. Baxter International and Bayer continued to sell the recalled plasma to Asian, Latin American, and some European countries, despite an explicit FDA warning that those blood products might be contaminated with HIV.
V. Efforts to wean plasmapheresis centers off paying the poorest people for donating blood have failed repeatedly. The current demand for plasma, for which there is no synthetic substitute, is several times greater than it was in 1970. An investigation in 2018 in The Atlantic reported, “Americans are flooding into the country’s blood-plasma donation centers in greater numbers than ever before, seeking to make up for low wages or small benefits checks, or even as their only source of cash income during a spell of extreme poverty. Their blood plasma—which historically has been collected disproportionately in the country’s poorest communities—is fueling a multibillion-dollar worldwide industry.”
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“EVERYTHING CAN BE ABUSED”
The Sacklers paid little attention to the developments about Ebola or the scattered accounts of unexplained illnesses afflicting visitors to Africa. As doctors, they were naturally interested in the emergence of any new pathogen, but that was tempered by the knowledge that it did not present them any business opportunity. Purdue never had a product targeting infectious diseases. The immense research costs had made that field the province of much larger drug firms. Even Arthur’s big pharma clients had shifted their scientists away from antibiotics and to new, more profitable classes of medications that targeted chronic diseases.
In 1978, the Sacklers rolled out Napp Chemicals in the U.S. and Pharma Technologies in the U.K. (no family member was listed as an owner on the incorporation papers).1 The following year, they opened Mundipharma in Germany, the tenth country for the Mundi brand since its launch in Switzerland in 1957.I2
While Mortimer and Raymond worked on the family’s pharma components, Arthur was busy helping Roche scramble to figure out how to reverse the first ever drop in Valium sales.3 Arthur was, as his brothers and colleagues knew, a blunt realist when it came to business. He did not sugarcoat Valium’s prospects to Roche. Its past success was now part of its problem. An estimated 20 percent of all American adult women were regular users. Although revenue had declined in 1976, almost two billion pills had been prescribed.4 Even without the Controlled Substances Act restrictions and the FDA limits, he contended, Valium had so saturated the market that it might be nearing its natural maximum penetration.5
Since there were still eight years left on Valium’s patent, Sackler said, it would be foolish not to make every effort to stop it from slipping further. The upside to the aura around Valium meant it had crossed into popular culture and had a hold on the American psyche. It was, according to one medical writer, “one of the most praised drugs in history and one of the most maligned.”6 A decade after the Rolling Stones had sung about it, there were references to the drug in Neil Simon plays and Woody Allen films. A group of Upper East Side New Yorkers dubbed themselves the Valium Girls Club. Comedian Rodney Dangerfield boasted it was part of his daily regimen.
Valium’s high profile also worked to its detriment whenever it figured in any much publicized story of celebrity addiction or overdose. Elizabeth Taylor admitted she was addicted to Valium and Jack Daniel’s. Tammy Faye Bakker, half of an evangelical empire, claimed her reckless financial decisions were the result of her daily affection for a customized Valium nasal spray. Television producer Barbara Gordon’s harrowing story of how she landed in a mental asylum after quitting Valium cold turkey became a best-selling book.7
When forty-two-year-old Elvis Presley died in August 1977, his autopsy was a toxicological snapshot of the era’s most abused drugs: Valium was mixed with “significant” quantities of codeine, Quaaludes, Ethinamate, a popular sedative-hypnotic, and a barbiturate never confirmed but reportedly phenobarbital. He also had painkillers Demerol and morphine, another tranquilizer, Placidyl, and the antihistamine Chlorpheniramine.8II
Valium’s sales stumbled. It was an opportunity for competitors to introduce new benzodiazepines they claimed had all of its benefits without the downsides. Arthur knew that Roche had a “better and improved” product, Klonopin (clonazepam). It was one of the “backup benzos” developed by Leo Sternbach, the scientist who had discovered Librium and Valium. Roche had patented it in 1964 and put it on the shelf. After Roche had both Librium and Valium on the market within three years of each other, it held back on releasing Klonopin for fear of cannibalizing the big sales of its first two benzos. With Valium under increasing attack, however, Roche agreed with Sackler. Thirteen years after the drug’s discovery, Roche set aside $20 million for a national rollout of Klonopin in the U.S.9
Its release made other drug companies rush their competing benzos to market. Wyeth released Ativan in September 1977. It was a versatile benzo that was effective for insomnia, anxiety, and seizures. One dosing advantage it touted over Valium was a much shorter half-life, reducing the hangover effect about which some patients complained.10 Warner Lambert followed in a month with Prazepam, another short-acting, antianxiety benzo.
Sackler adjusted Valium’s advertising strategy. Data gathered by IMS showed that doctors were more inclined to write prescriptions for a premium pharmaceutical firm they judged to be at the forefront of research and development of a drug category.11 As a result, Roche emphasized Valium’s long history and the millions of case studies that demonstrated how safe and effective it was when used correctly. Did physicians want to gamble with their patients’ health by dispensing newcomers that looked good in clinical trials but had little real-world experience?12
Valium sold a record 2.3 billion tablets the following year, 1978.13 It became the first drug in the history of the pharmaceutical industry to surpass a billion dollars in accumulated sales.14 That was the same year former first lady Betty Ford checked herself into rehab for an alcohol and Valium addiction.15 Senator Ted Kennedy announced hearings before his Health Subcommittee to address the “nightmare of dependence” Valium had created for millions of Americans.16 III 17
Sackler, however, could not rescue Valium. It was not ultimately possible to reverse the “health risk” story line that had reshaped the public’s perception. He managed to delay its final reckoning, though. By 1980, Valium’s annual prescriptions had fallen in half to 30 million. That was still enough to keep it in the top ten selling prescription drugs in America. Arthur had told Roche executives that if they wanted to revive the glory days when their benzos dominated the mild tranquilizers, the answer was to be found in their own labs.18 Roche had hoped Klonopin might be the replacement but it did not have Valium’s blockbuster appeal.
There were a couple of benzos in the FDA pipeline that Sackler thought were commercially very promising, but neither was a Roche product. Both were from Upjohn Laboratories in Kalamazoo, Michigan. Upjohn thought it had developed a Valium killer in a benzo it named Halcion.19 It was fast acting and left no hangover. In small doses it was a good sedative and in higher strengths acted as a hypnotic tranquilizer. Upjohn submitted it to the FDA for approval in May 1976, as the tide against Valium was under way. The FDA review office had concerns about some efficacy claims but mostly about some adverse effects, including mental confusion, amnesia, and rebound insomnia in which abrupt discontinuation of a drug worsens a patient’s sleeping problems.20 Although the FDA’s Psychopharmacologic Agents Advisory Committee recommended in 1977 that it be approved for sale, the FDA decided to order additional clinical testing. Halcion would not get approved for another five years (November 1982).
Upjohn had another drug, alprazolam, on which it had obtained a patent in 1971. It had intended to market it originally as a sleep aid. Additional clinical trials showed it was also effective in reducing anxiety, had promise as an antidepressant, and reduced panic attacks. Upjohn submitted the drug to the FDA only after Halcion’s delay. And to Upjohn’s surprise, in November 1981, alprazolam got approved while Halcion was still undergoing more testing. Upjohn put alprazolam on the market under the brand name Xanax.21
Arthur Sackler had been right. Valium’s final denouement would not be because its large base of loyal patients became skittish about it; he had predicted they would leave for a medication they perceived as better. Xanax was a hit. As with Halcion, Xanax also metabolized in the body in about half the time required of Valium. Upjohn promoted it as the benzo that would not leave patients drowsy the next day. They also got lucky on another front. A year before the FDA gave Xanax a green light, the third edition of the DSM (Diagnostic and Statistical Manual)—the bible for diagnosing and treating psychiatric disorders—added “panic disorder” for the first time.22 It was the first update of the DSM since 1968.
Although most researchers assumed that the other benzos—Librium, Valium, Klonopin—would probably be just as good in treating panic disorders, Upjohn was the only firm that had tested their drug for that condition and demonstrated its effectiveness.23 When the FDA approved Xanax as the first ever drug to treat the disorder, some competitors sarcastically dubbed it “the Upjohn illness.” No pharma rival underestimated the achievement in formally medicalizing panic disorder.24 Xanax sales skyrocketed.25 Into the mid-1990s, Xanax alone provided about a quarter of Upjohn’s worldwide sales; that was no small feat considering it also had three other commercially successful drugs in unrelated categories.26 IV 27
Upjohn had done more than create the drug that knocked Valium off its pedestal; by converting a DSM anxiety diagnosis and getting FDA approval for a biological solution on which it had a patent, it set the template rivals would follow. The 1980 edition of the DSM, which some Freudian psychiatrists criticized as “capitulation to computers and insurance company requirements,” increased the number of recognized mental illnesses from 182 to 265.28 A much wider range of emotional complaints suddenly seemed to have a DSM listing, making them subject to insurance coverage. Harvard psychiatric professor Arthur Kleinman thought the new DSM belittled the misery of people with serious mental illnesses at the cost of “medicalizing ordinary unhappiness.”29 Author and psychiatrist Peter Kramer dubbed it “diagnostic bracket creep.”30
The DSM III separated depression from anxiety. It then provided a list of separate stand-alone mental illnesses under anxiety. It put Upjohn’s panic disorder alongside generalized anxiety disorder (GAD), obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), social phobias (SAD), and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD).
Vietnam vets and their advocates had lobbied hard for the inclusion of PTSD. A leading mental health journal estimated that upward of 700,000 of the three million who served in Vietnam had the disorder.31 A later federal study thought the real number of vets suffering from PTSD was closer to 1.5 million, 85 percent of whom had been in combat. In a couple of years, PTSD was an increasingly common diagnosis for victims of domestic violence, rape, and child abuse.
Several pharmaceutical firms launched research to develop drugs that treated the new mental disorders in the DSM. By the end of the decade, some of the most dramatic results would be evident with the introduction of Prozac, a new class of antianxiety and antidepressant medications called serotonin reuptake inhibitors.
America’s love-hate relationship with Valium was never more evident than in two quite different events in 1982. The inventor of the benzodiazepine class, Leo Sternbach, won the John Scott Legacy Medal for his pioneering work. That prestigious award, presented annually since 1816, is for an invention that “enhanced the comfort, welfare, and happiness of humankind.” Previous winners included Marie Curie, Jonas Salk, Thomas Edison, and Nikola Tesla. At the same time Sternbach got that accolade, Ralph Nader’s Health Research Group published Stopping Valium, a searing indictment that claimed Valium and its chemical cousins in the benzo class were responsible for an “unparalleled addiction and health crisis.”32
Arthur Sackler found nothing incongruous about the Sternbach award and the Nader broadside. Nader focused on the worst statistics and assigned blame widely, all part of expanding his influence as a consummate consumer advocate. Nader and others blamed the pharmaceutical companies for discovering and then aggressively marketing their drugs. The more successful a drug, the more blame it got. In Sackler’s view that was too simplistic. He agreed with Sternbach, who was asked by a reporter if he would have changed the drug were it possible to go back in time? “I can’t get the feeling to be responsible for the drug’s use. I’m responsible for the class of compounds.… But for its use, I mean, everything can be abused. So you cannot create things that will be abuse proof.”33
Arthur clipped Gilbert Cant’s famous New York Times Magazine 1976 cover story titled “Valiumania” The final paragraph read, “If Valium is a major reliance in what moralists and some sociologists complain is a hedonistic, sybaritic culture, losing its git-up-’n’-git-drive and seeking nirvana in a little bottle of tablets, its use is a symptom rather than a cause of this condition. Properly used by the medical profession, it has only medicinal properties. A drug has no moral or immoral qualities. These are the monopoly of the user or abuser.” Arthur underlined the last two sentences. It not only applied to Valium, Sackler thought, but was true about drugs in general.34
I. In 1978 one of the family’s longest-serving attorneys, Martin Greene, opened a solo practice. The New York State Bar Association listed his address as 15 East 62nd Street in Manhattan and his telephone number as (212) 832 7900. That was the same address and number as a number of new Sackler-owned companies, including Terramar Research, Angiology Research Foundation, and the Raymond and Beverly Sackler Foundation. Listed next door at 17 East 62nd Street was the Mortimer D. Sackler Foundation, the Sackler Lefcourt Center for Child Development, the Sackler Family Foundation, and the U.S. office for the Sackler School of Medicine in Tel Aviv. Although some of the companies had changed over time, 15 and 17 East 62nd Street were the same addresses highlighted by the Kefauver subcommittee investigators in 1960 as “components of the Sackler empire… cloaked in secrecy.”
II. Years later, Valium lost some of its notoriety when much more powerful street drugs made a resurgence. In 1993, River Phoenix, the twenty-three-year-old actor that Hollywood had dubbed “the next James Dean,” went into convulsions outside a West Hollywood nightclub. When his brother made a panicked call to 911, he said, “I’m thinking he had Valium.” He died at the hospital of a heroin and cocaine overdose.
III. Valium earned a dubious footnote in American history in March 1980 when a psychiatric outpatient tried assassinating Ronald Reagan. John Hinckley had been on a 15 mg daily dose of Valium. He took an additional 20 milligrams only hours before he shot Reagan. One of Hinckley’s lawyers charged that giving more Valium to Hinckley was like “throwing gasoline on a lighted fire.”
IV. Not even adding Xanax to Schedule IV of the Controlled Substances Act slowed its sales. In 1988 it was the world’s top selling pharmacological drug. It dominated the more than one hundred benzodiazepine drugs on the market in the 1990s.
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THE AGE OF BIOTECH
Valium was the subject of thousands of stories in newspapers, magazines, and on television over a five-year period starting in 1975.1 There were specials about the litigation between Roche and the federal government, the boom in illegal street use, and advance looks at how rivals were planning to dethrone Valium. A pharma story unrelated to the benzodiazepines received little coverage in comparison because most news editors considered it too technical for a lay audience. The embryonic biotech industry was laying the groundwork for technology that would have far greater long-term consequences for the pharmaceutical industry than which mild tranquilizer was American’s best-selling drug.
A year into the voluntary moratorium on rDNA research, the fears had started receding about the likelihood that genetic testing might unleash an end-of-the-world virus. What was missing were guidelines for lab safety and containment. The National Institutes of Health finally stepped into the void. It took until July 1976, almost two years after the lockdown on genetic testing, before it released “Guidelines for Research Involving Recombinant DNA Molecules.”2 That detailed parameters for genetic laboratory testing and research. Since the NIH had no authority to regulate the industry, its guidelines were voluntary. When the National Academy of Sciences’ Committee on Recombinant DNA Molecules endorsed the NIH guidelines, however, it was enough to lift the research and testing moratorium.
Some in Congress thought that no matter how small the odds that the new technology might produce something catastrophic, regulations should be mandatory. There were soon sixteen competing bills, most offering variations on creating a new biotech czar and department inside Health, Education, and Welfare. Dr. Donald Fredrickson, who had become the head of the NIH in 1975, lobbied the Carter White House to oppose any legislation. “Let’s try to do it through a voluntary system,” he pleaded. A committee appointed by the White House agreed. Fredrickson was relieved: “They recognized that you cannot regulate science by statute.”3
Prior to the mid-1970s, only nonprofits were eligible for NIH research grants. Even then they came with a string attached: the NIH micromanaged the laboratory research it funded. It assumed that oversight was the best way assure that taxpayer money was well spent. By 1975, a new NIH administration was convinced that such tight control was detrimental to creative scientists.4 Soon, the rules changed and allowed a “light touch” for research oversight. For the first time it also allowed private, for-profit companies to apply for research subsidies.5 The changes were perfectly timed for the advent of biotechnology.
While the NIH played as significant a role in kick-starting the industry as did venture capitalists and academic research centers, the new science also remade the NIH into a powerhouse federal agency. Nixon’s “war on cancer” in the early 1970s had bumped up its budget by a third but biotechnology helped it morph into the world’s largest biomedical/genetic engineering lab. Within a decade of lifting the moratorium, the NIH comprised three thousand scientists overseeing biotech research in more than a thousand labs. And it still managed to give away most of its money to university and hospital research. Its budget had ballooned from $1 billion in the mid-1970s to $37 billion in 2019, a growth rate ten times faster than the budget-bloated Defense Department.6
The NIH even added an incentive to grants made to universities in biotech and genetic research. The schools would have the first option to patent any discoveries that had commercial potential. They could then license the patents to pharmaceutical firms and the earned royalties went to the schools.7
Some early biotech start-ups did not depend on federal funding. Just before rDNA research had restarted in 1976, a twenty-nine-year-old Silicon Valley venture capitalist, Robert Swanson, called Herbert Boyer, a biochemistry professor at the University of California at San Francisco.8 Swanson was a partner in a Silicon Valley venture capital firm that had been cofounded only four years earlier by former executives from Hewlett-Packard and Fairchild Semiconductor.9 Swanson hoped Boyer might have some ideas about how to commercially exploit the rDNA research he had co-discovered with Stanley Cohen. Boyer and Cohen had applied for a patent on their rDNA work.10 That was controversial since some universities and scientists contended that the results of academic research should be available to all. To deflect the criticism, the two scientists assigned their rights to their respective schools, Stanford and the University of California at San Francisco (UCSF). The patent was pending when Swanson called.
Boyer’s medium-sized lab at UCSF was one of the world’s most advanced in researching rDNA. He had little interest then in the commercial challenge of figuring out how to get biotech advances from the lab to the marketplace. Swanson, however, implored Boyer to meet for ten minutes and discuss it. When they got together, they talked for three hours, sharing ideas about how ongoing biotech research could transform the pharmaceutical industry. By the time they finished, the duo had decided to form the first biotechnology company. It would exploit the rDNA technology in the Boyer-Cohen pending patent.11 Each invested $500 to “formalize” their agreement. Boyer even had an idea of what to name it: he took the first three syllables of GENetic ENgineering TECHnology to form Genentech.I12
Genentech did not seem formidable when it opened for business that April. Although Swanson’s venture capital firm had contributed $100,000, the company had no lab equipment or assets, not even a secretary.13 It had big ideas, though. A few months earlier, MIT biochemist Har Gobind Khorana, a Nobel Laureate in 1968 for his research on the genetic code, had synthesized the first artificial gene.14 Boyer knew that a different UCSF lab than the one he worked in, as well as Harvard’s Biology Laboratory, were using rodent insulin as a hormone in advancing their own gene sequencing research. Was it possible that one of those projects might find a way to create synthetic human insulin? An article in Science that fall suggested that genetically engineered insulin was possible by splicing an insulin gene into a self-replicating bacterium. Although it sounded simple, Boyer knew it was extremely ambitious.
Three research teams were in a race to be the first to develop a marketable synthetic insulin. Genentech was the underdog. Harvard’s Biology Lab was run by Walter Gilbert, an eminent physicist who was one of the pioneers in DNA sequencing. The UCSF team was directed by Howard Goodman and William Rutter, both noted biochemists. Rutter was the department’s chairman.
Although Genentech had to play catch-up with its rivals, Boyer knew the field was so new that their lead could not be too great. Boyer and Swanson tapped their $100,000 reserve. They reached out to two organic chemists at Southern California’s City of Hope National Medical Center. The duo, Japanese-native Keiichi Itakura and Arthur Riggs, had been working on rDNA technology since its inception. They were immersed in a difficult project to synthesize somatostatin, a peptide hormone that was less complicated to modify than was insulin.
Boyer did not know that Itakura and Riggs had applied for an NIH grant for their gene research. When the NIH passed on their proposal they signed a contract with Genentech so they could continue their work. They convinced Boyer and Swanson that while there was no commercial market for somatostatin, their research could provide the technical road map for successfully synthesizing insulin. Instead of moving to Genentech’s bare-bones headquarters, the duo stayed at their Los Angeles–area lab.
Boyer had not picked the duo by chance. He was well aware of the status of genetic research projects under way at major universities. He was confident that Itakura and Riggs were further along than the competition at Harvard or UCSF. Still, Boyer and Swanson did not want to take any chances. Genentech made its first full-time hires in late 1976 (it had a dozen employees by year end). David Goeddel, a twenty-five-year-old biochemist, had just earned his PhD in biochemistry when he became the company’s third employee. Dennis Kleid, a twenty-nine-year-old organic chemist who had been working on DNA cloning at Stanford, became employee number five. They were both assigned to be the hands-on Genentech component of the Itakura and Riggs team. That meant commuting from their homes in the Bay Area to Los Angeles, at the cost of sleep, regular meals, or time with their families.
In the spring of 1977, the Itakura team produced purified synthetic somatostatin DNA. It took another couple of months for them to refine a year-old technique and slash the time needed to synthesize the hormone from years to weeks.15 By midsummer, they inserted their synthetic human protein into E. coli bacteria. It was a first. Boyer understood its importance. The process was completely synthetic and did not rely on any human genetic material. That meant it was exempt from the incredibly burdensome safety regulations established by the NIH for experiments involving human genetic cloning. The precautions covering containment and disposal were so strict that such experimentation had been almost exclusively the province of the Defense Department’s biowarfare labs.16 The costs for adhering to those guidelines was prohibitive for Genentech and would have spelled an abortive end to their insulin project.
Instead, by early 1978 Boyer was ready for Genentech to move to the next stages of research and testing. The breakthrough on synthetic somatostatin had the added benefit of bringing in a fresh wave of venture capital.
Genentech’s rivals were not sitting idly by. Walter Gilbert, the physicist who ran Harvard’s insulin rDNA project, had become one of the founding partners of Biogen, a Swiss-based firm that described itself as a “pharmaceutical company with an emphasis on breakthroughs in biology.” Biogen had deep pockets from three venture capital firms and almost immediately signed an agreement to underwrite the Harvard research.17II
The University of California at San Francisco lab signed an ambitious funding agreement with Eli Lilly, the patent holder on human insulin since the 1920s. Not only was Lilly interested in synthetic insulin, but the contract also paid for parallel UCSF research into human growth hormone.18 Lilly sent some of the University of California team to one of its labs in France where human genetic testing was permitted. The experiments failed due to accidental contamination.
In August 1978, Genentech’s Dennis Kleid visited one of Lilly’s insulin manufacturing plants on the outskirts of Indianapolis.
“There was a line of train cars filled with frozen pancreases,” he recalled later.19 The stockpile of cattle and pig pancreases was not surprising. Eight thousand pounds of pancreatic glands were necessary to produce a pound of insulin. The plant manager told Kleid that translated into about 23,500 animals. Lilly, which required about 56 million animals annually, was desperate for a synthetic insulin. Although they had signed a deal with the University of California, Boyer was confident that if Genentech made the breakthrough, Lilly would jump to license it.
Boyer was right. The Genentech team overcame a series of seemingly intractable laboratory hurdles and finally, on August 28, inserted the human insulin gene into E. coli bacteria. They synthesized enough for testing and sent it to Lilly. The report that returned was cause for celebration: Genentech’s artificially created insulin was the identical twin of human insulin. Even better, it produced fewer allergic reactions than the animal-based product. Lily agreed to fund further Genentech research.
Still, it was not clear whether the Genentech insulin would become a usable drug or if it was just a scientific milestone with no practical use. No one had figured out how to manipulate the bacteria so it could yield fifty to sixty times what it ordinarily produced. That was required to convert it into an affordable, commercial product. After having seen firsthand the amount of animal pancreases used to manufacture insulin, Kleid was downcast. He told Swanson he did not think it was possible to get the required yields.
That became Genentech’s priority for 1979. The breakthrough came with the development of a potent “control gene.” That gene sent a signal to the intestinal bacteria and made it replicate rDNA insulin at record levels. Lilly was so confident in Genentech’s synthetic insulin that it agreed to shepherd the drug through FDA approval and also began building two pilot manufacturing plants to prepare for what was certain to be a green light from the FDA.
The deal between Lilly and Genentech marked a turning point in the pharmaceutical industry. Lilly’s licensing agreement permitted it to manufacture and market the recombinant insulin. It paid all the enormous costs to bring it to the market. Genentech had no financial risk. It only collected royalties on whatever sales Lilly made.
In 1980, Genentech had its IPO. At that point it still did not have FDA approval for its star discovery and had no income. What it did have, however, as internet companies would a decade later, were incredibly high investor expectations for a product they understood almost nothing about. Its offering was the most successful and frenzied IPO in a decade. It took only twenty minutes to sell out the million shares offered on its first trading day. The share price hit $88 during the day’s trading before closing at $56, double its offering price of $35.
The Genentech-Lilly licensing contract served as a road map for other biotech firms that wanted to get a foothold in the pharmaceutical industry. The chief barrier to entry into the drug business had always been the huge start-up costs, a minimum on average of half a billion dollars.
In 1982, the FDA approved Genentech’s synthetic insulin and Lilly began selling it the following year. It was an instant blockbuster.
Genentech was only the first of what would become a tsunami of biotechnology firms. More than 180 biotech start-ups opened in the year after the Genentech IPO, all hoping to produce a product that became a winning rDNA lottery ticket.20 Scientists from top universities led the way with many of the start-ups that promised they would be “molecule to market” companies. Venture capital money flooded the sector. At a meeting of investors who were stumbling over one another to write checks to biotech start-ups, Paul Berg, who got a Nobel for his rDNA studies, asked, “Where were you guys in the ’50s and ’60s when all the funding had to be done in the basic science?”21
The early successes convinced many venture capitalists that investing in biotech was an easy way of making enormous profits. Wall Street underwriters lined up to bring biotech companies public. A leading broker at Goldman Sachs told The New York Times, “There’s not enough to go around.”22 Next was Cetus, with its promise of an interleukin-2 inhibitor to reduce the chance of the body rejecting an organ transplant. Its IPO brought in $120 million, valuing the no-product start-up as a half-billion-dollar firm. At the time it was the “biggest industrial IPO in US corporate history.”23 Several dozen other biotech firms went public through the remainder of the decade, raising on average $20 to $30 million each.24
The companies invariably promised complex science innovations that sounded exciting on paper but which no one, not even the firms themselves, could be certain were possible. Few on Wall Street who bought biotech shares as fast as they were offered understood what was meant by “antibody-based formats,” “cytotoxic potential of T-cells,” or “connective tissue mesenchymal precursor cells.” So-called momentum investors did not have to comprehend how it all worked, they just needed to have a market that traded up in a straight line. Many investors made so much early money that they dismissed the possibility the industry might ever have a correction, much less a bear market. Investors were buying companies that had no revenues based on a shared belief that in the future they might earn immense profits in a pharmaceutical industry and scientific medical world that most people were incapable of imagining (like the internet boom the next decade). The bull run in biotech was not slowed when Jack Bogle, the father of index investing, warned, “The first rule investors should understand is that what goes up must come down.”25
Even some venture capitalists, without the sophistication of Swanson at Genentech, had little idea of the value of the company into which they were making substantial investments. What they did know, and what encouraged them to write checks, was that over the next decade half of the Nobel Prizes in Medicine went to researchers on the frontier of genetic engineering and biotechnology. In addition to Paul Berg’s award for his genetic engineering research, scientists at Basel’s Werner Arber University and Johns Hopkins later shared the Nobel for creating the first genetic map and Stanley Cohen got it for his discoveries of nerve and epidermal growth factors. Genentech, meanwhile, had projects under way on growth hormones, hepatitis vaccines, interferon, and a hormone that stimulated the body’s disease-fighting cells. Advances in biotechnology demonstrated the importance of monoclonal antibodies, discovered in 1975, in enhancing the immune response to some cancers. That research opened a window to a new class of targeted drugs that held the promise of having as big an impact in the future as penicillin and lifesaving antibiotics had in the last century.
It is impossible to predict the specific trip wire that will send investors fleeing from a hot sector in panic. In 1987, when the FDA initially refused to approve Genentech’s Activase designed to dissolve blood clots, the stock lost a billion dollars, a quarter of its value, the next trading day (Activase won FDA approval in 1996).26 Investors lost faith in the many promises of a biotech miracle as the group fell into a crushing three-year bear market during a bull market for other American business sectors.27 III 28
In 1990, Genentech set a then record when it sold a 56 percent stake to Roche for $2.1 billion. Nineteen years later, the remaining 44 percent of Genentech cost Roche $47 billion. By then, a remarkable two thirds of Roche’s revenues came from biologic cancer drugs developed by Genentech. Only twenty years earlier, Roche’s benzodiazepines had accounted for the same oversized share of the company’s revenues. The difference in Roche’s best-selling drugs in those two decades made evident the transformative impact of biotechnology.
I. The Boyer-Cohen patent was issued in 1980, after six years of contentious debate. That was the year the Supreme Court ruled on the case of a patent application for a genetically modified organism that absorbed crude oil cleanups. The Patent Office had rejected the application, but the Supreme Court overturned that, ruling that since the organism was “man-made,” it could be patented. It was reminiscent of the 1940s battle by Merck for a patent on streptomycin, which the Patent Office had first denied as a “product of nature.” The Boyer-Cohen patent became the most successful in pharmaceutical history. During its seventeen-year life span it was licensed to 468 companies, including premier drug firms such as Lilly, Merck, and Amgen. It was the basis for groundbreaking drugs in treating heart disease, cancer, diabetes, and HIV/AIDS. Stanford, which managed the patent and the University of California, has earned $320 million in licensing fees as of 2019.
II. Biogen became one of the most successful biotech firms. A year after its creation, its researchers cloned the first biologically active human interferon, and the company made a lucrative licensing deal for worldwide rights with Schering-Plough. That same year it was the first to synthesize hepatitis B antigens that would later be critical in developing a screening test for blood and plasma. And in 1980, Walter Gilbert won the Nobel Prize for his pioneering research in DNA sequencing.
III. The biotech industry is littered with instances in which investment banks issued buy recommendations and days later the bottom fell out of the share price because of some bad news about the company’s drug. Even some of the savviest biotech venture capital investors can become infatuated with a product that sounds dazzling. A recent high-profile example is Theranos, a start-up built around a patented blood-testing device that was touted as the heart of “the laboratory of the future.” The media cast its founder, Elizabeth Holmes, as the biomedical industry’s equivalent of Apple’s visionary Steve Jobs. Theranos attracted $700 million from some of the biggest private investors, all of whom were advised by industry specialists. Walgreens’s pharmaceutical division was a major investor, as was a Stanford biotech dean. Only after Theranos, valued at $9 billion at its peak, crashed, was it disclosed that not one of the investors had asked for audited financial statements from an independent public accounting firm. In June 2018, the U.S. Attorney for the Northern District of California indicted Holmes and the company’s president on multiple counts of wire fraud. Their trial is scheduled for August 2020.
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A “GAY CANCER”
In June 1980, a few months before Genentech set Wall Street on fire, the Sackler-owned Napp Pharmaceuticals released in the United Kingdom the first extended relief oral, narcotic painkiller, MST Continus. It was the breakthrough palliative drug for which Cicely Saunders had searched since the mid-1960s. It had taken Napp several years of trial-and-error laboratory work, and dozens of tweaks to the underlying patent technology for the pill’s delayed delivery system, to get it right. The result was an invisible dual-action polymer chemical coating that released pure morphine steadily over twelve hours. The speed at which the morphine was dispensed inside the body depended on how long it took stomach acid to penetrate the tablet, a feature Napp could fine-tune.
MST Continus meant that cancer patients who were not terminal could be discharged from the hospital and sent home to manage their pain with only two pills daily. Medical journals judged the drug as a significant advance in treating end-of-life pain. Oncologists and hospices did not seem concerned about a small-print warning Napp put on the package insert: “MST Continus tablets must be swallowed whole and not chewed.” What that did not spell out was that if the pills were chewed, the entire dose of morphine—up to 100 mg per pill—would immediately be released. It was a precaution that the Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency—Britain’s equivalent of the FDA—thought wise but probably unnecessary. Few expected many seriously ill cancer patients would tamper with Napp’s delayed release coating.
The same month, June 1980, that Napp put MST Continus on sale, five thousand miles away, San Francisco State University hosted a conference of gay physicians. It was timed to coincide with the city’s Gay Freedom Day Parade.1 That was an annual event to commemorate three days of spontaneous demonstrations that had erupted after a June 1969 police raid on the Stonewall Inn, a Greenwich Village gay bar. Most social historians mark the Stonewall raid and public backlash as the catalyst for the 1970s Gay Liberation movement.
San Francisco may have only had 700,000 residents but its Gay Freedom Day Parade was the nation’s largest, with a quarter million attending between spectators and marchers. By 1980, an estimated two of every five adult men in the city were openly gay, by far the highest number per capita in America.2 Randy Shilts, then a reporter for the local public television station, KQED, noted in a report about the Stonewall commemoration that “after 10 years of gay freedom, the city that has come to represent that freedom is San Francisco.”3
Many expressed their newfound freedom sexually, an indulgent celebration of liberties that had been illegal until 1975 when California excluded “private consensual activity” from statutes against sodomy and oral sex.4 There was a crackdown in the early 1970s by the city’s Italian American mayor. He had eyes on the governor’s mansion and played to his morally conservative Catholic base. Police arrested some three thousand gay men for public sex felonies. Many convictions required registration as a sex offender.5
For many men who were for the first time publicly proud to be gay, promiscuous sex seemed an excusable element of social and political liberation. By 1980, it was also a $100-million-a-year business in thriving clubs and bathhouses that served as venues for anonymous sex.6
Many of the doctors at the June conference had come to San Francisco to join the two-mile Gay Freedom Day Parade celebration through the city’s downtown. Their priority, however, was sharing information about a veritable explosion in sexually transmitted diseases that had become by-products of the sexual revolution that had remade gay life in some American cities. Bathhouses were breeding grounds for infections. Adding to the health risks for promiscuous gay men was the widespread use of recreational drugs, in particular, amyl and butyl nitrate. They were liquids legally dispensed to alleviate heart pain, but their street popularity was because of the short euphoric rush that increased the intensity of sex. Nicknamed poppers, they were inexpensive and available at head shops in many cities. No one then knew that their regular use suppressed the immune system and that they dilated the body’s blood vessels, allowing viruses to enter more easily.7
Gay men accounted for more than half of all reported cases in 1980 in the U.S. of gonorrhea and syphilis.8 Two thirds of the gay men at San Francisco’s popular general clinic tested positive for hepatitis B, a liver infection spread sexually or through blood. Twenty percent of the sexually active gay men moving to San Francisco contracted hepatitis in their first twelve months. Within four years, the infection rate was virtually 100 percent.9 No one yet realized it was a problem beyond those who got infected with hepatitis; blood bank officials estimated that in 1980 San Francisco gay men donated 5 percent to 7 percent of the city’s blood. There was no test to screen for hepatitis.10
A Seattle study showed that an unusually large number of gay men had contracted shigellosis, a bacterial infection spread through contaminated food, water, or feces. Seventy percent of those infected had found their sex partners at bathhouses. A study in Denver found that gay men had on average three sexual encounters every time they went to a bathhouse. There was a one in three chance they left a bathhouse with gonorrhea or syphilis.11 Chicago’s Howard Brown Memorial Clinic recorded an epidemic infection rate of hepatitis B, about half of its gay patients. At the New York Gay Men’s Health Project, a third had gastrointestinal parasites. In San Francisco, local clinics reported a stunning 8,000 percent increase in intestinal parasites over seven years, mostly young men in their thirties. It was so common by 1980 that medical journals dubbed it “Gay Bowel Syndrome.”12
The doctors who gathered for the 1980 San Francisco conference knew that parasitic diseases like shigellosis, amebiasis, and giardiasis thrived in the feces of infected patients. Unprotected anal intercourse was one way the intestinal bugs spread. The other high-risk, yet popular, sex practice was rimming. The medical journals referred to that as “oral-anal intercourse.”13
As Randy Shilts later wrote in And the Band Played On, his seminal book about AIDS and the deadly failure of the federal government to respond, “the success of the Gay Liberation movement which had started in the late-1960s, had by 1980, however… become a victim of its own success.”14
By that summer, doctors started seeing an uptick in gay patients with multiple immune-related illnesses. In New York, Los Angeles, and San Francisco, clinics noticed young and seemingly fit gay men who were inexplicably ill with tuberculosis and rare atypical interstitial pneumonias (chronic swelling of the lungs’ tiny air sacs).15
Gaëtan Dugas, a twenty-eight-year-old flight attendant for Air Canada, saw a Toronto specialist about purple lesions that had broken out on his back and face. His lymph nodes had been swollen for a year. A biopsy confirmed Kaposi sarcoma. Dugas kept working as an air steward, traveling thousands of miles annually to more than a dozen cities across the U.S., Canada, and Haiti. He later estimated to medical researchers that he had about 2,500 sex partners during the 1970s.I
A month later, a San Francisco resident, Ken Horne, was also diagnosed with Kaposi. Blood tests revealed his white blood cell count was extremely low and something undetermined was suppressing his immune system.
In July, a thirty-three-year-old German chef, who had worked in Haiti for three years, was admitted to the emergency room of Manhattan’s Beth Israel Hospital. “He came to New York after he’d gotten sick in Haiti with weight loss and uncontrollable bloody diarrhea,” recalled Dr. Donna Mildvan, then a thirty-five-year-old infectious disease specialist. A stool test revealed he had amoebic parasites, the type of intestinal bug common to travelers.
“He didn’t get better. That was extraordinary,” she recalled.
The chef kept going in and out of the hospital for the next six months.
“We’d get him a little more stabilized,” Mildvan said, “he’d go home for a while, and then he’d be back.” He kept losing weight, developed sores, and lost sight in one eye.16
Mildvan and her team were detectives hunting for the mystery of what their patient was so sick with. They ran dozens of tests and researched rare illnesses. They debated a wide range of treatments, including a massive dose of antibiotics, but feared if it was an immune disease, the antibiotics would hasten the disintegration.17
By the fall, Mildvan suspected a virus was the culprit. Beth Israel had no virology lab. She and a colleague withdrew fluid from their patient’s eye and rectal lesions and sent those to the lab at Montefiore Medical Center in the Bronx. Their report concluded that sexually transmitted herpes had caused the rectal lesions and herpes-related cytomegalovirus (CMV) was present in the eye fluid. Those viruses were not unusual. What astonished Mildvan was that they almost never caused illnesses as serious as the ones in her patient. Over the coming months, he continued deteriorating. He became blind when the CMV spread to the other eye. A CT scan showed his brain had shrunk like that of an elderly man with dementia.
“He curled up in a ball,” recalled Mildvan, “staring blindly into the distance. He was incontinent. And he died.”
Two weeks later she treated another gay male patient, a nurse with no foreign travel. He had the same CMV infection in an eye, but was deathly ill with Pneumocystis carinii. Mildvan knew that it was a rare pneumonia, only affecting those with compromised immune systems. He died after ten days at the hospital.
Across town, at New York University Medical Center, a leading dermatologist had begun seeing young men in otherwise good health who had the purple Kaposi sarcoma lesions. Dr. Alvin Friedman-Klein had been practicing for twenty-five years and the NYU skin clinic was America’s largest. Still, he had only seen fifteen cases of Kaposi in his career. Now he had two dozen young patients in less than a month, none of them fitting the cancer’s target demographic of older Jewish or Italian men.
“That’s when it clicked,” Mildvan recalls. “It’s a new disease. Something’s going on.”
That same month, Ronald Reagan was inaugurated as the fortieth president of the United States. His successful campaign for the White House was in part based on a pledge to reduce the size and role of government. He delivered on that in January, proposing deep spending cuts. The proposed budget for the Centers for Disease Control was slashed in half.
It was not a good time to cut funding for the only government agency responsible for collating data and planning how to respond to any deadly transmissible new illness. For the next four years the medical community could agree on little, not even on whether the culprit was viral or bacterial. It is not always easy to tell. Infections that cause meningitis, pneumonia, and chronic diarrhea can be caused by either. Chicken pox is a virus. Smallpox was a virus (past tense because it was the first deadly disease to be eradicated by a widespread twentieth-century vaccination program).
If the “new disease” that puzzled Mildvan and other doctors turned out to be from a bacterium, it would mean that some single cell microorganism that had coexisted with humans peacefully for thousands of years had somehow mutated into a virulent pathogen. That is what happened in the fourteenth century when bubonic plague killed 50 million people, 60 percent of Europe’s population. Antibiotics are effective against bacteria because they interfere with their cell walls and either stop them from replicating or force them to self-destruct. The drugs accomplish that without inhibiting or damaging human cells.18 Epidemiologists estimate that if antibiotics had existed during the bubonic plague, the death toll would have been cut by 90 percent.19
Antibiotics are useless, however, against viral invaders. Viruses do not have internal growth mechanisms that antibiotics destroy. They cannot survive alone but instead live inside human cells and hijack the reproductive mechanism of those cells. The 1918 Spanish influenza pandemic killed nearly 100 million people.20 Pharmaceutical companies have discovered and marketed a series of antiviral medications since 1972, but they were effective only if dispensed early during an infection, and even then, only lessened the severity of symptoms and reduced the infection’s duration.
Another weapon, vaccines, tricks the immune system into recognizing a virus and providing some “acquired immunity.” Even if the new disease was a virus, Mildvan and her colleagues were familiar with the limitations of antivirals and knew that vaccines took many years to develop. Sometimes, a vaccine might not even be possible if the proteins on the surface of the virus mutate regularly. Slight modification in the proteins of the flu virus, for instance, means that last year’s vaccine might not be effective against this year’s influenza strain.
Whatever the cause, there was no disagreement that gay men were the first victims. In early 1981 there were stories about a “gay cancer” or “gay pneumonia,” reported only in gay newspapers, the New York Native, San Francisco Sentinel, and Australia’s Sydney Star Observer. Lawrence Altman, the New York Times medical correspondent, wrote his first article about it that July. Titled “Rare Cancer Seen in 41 Homosexuals,” Altman began: “The rare and often rapidly fatal form of cancer… diagnosed among homosexual men.” He quoted a CDC spokesman, Dr. James Curran, who added to the speculation that it might be a gay-only disease. “The best evidence against contagion,” Curran told him, ‘is that no cases have been reported to date outside the homosexual community or in women.’ ”21 (The Village Voice condemned Altman’s piece as a “despicable attempt of The New York Times to wreck the July 4 holiday break for every homosexual in the Northeast.”)22
People began talking and writing more about the mystery symptoms. In Uganda, dubbed “Slim Disease,” it left its victims terribly emaciated. Doctors treating men imprisoned at New York’s Rikers Island named it after that prison, Rikers Island adenopathy (swollen lymph glands).23 Most of the media stayed focused, however, on the gay nexus. Some wrote about the Gay Plague.24
When the doctors at the National Institutes of Health treated their first AIDS patient in June 1981, they named his condition as GRID, gay-related immune deficiency. Before that patient died in four months, seven different NIH divisions tried solving the mystery as to what had savaged his immune system. After his October death, the three departments with the most expertise in immunodeficiency disorders launched a joint project. It was directed by Samuel Broder, the chief of NIH’s Clinical Oncology Division, Vincent DeVita, the head of the National Cancer Institute and the National Cancer Program, and Tony Fauci, chief of the Laboratory of Immunoregulation.25
In July 1982 the disease had a new name, one that would become the accepted medical standard: human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). The most critical, and often lethal stage of HIV infection was named acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS). The CDC used the word AIDS for the first time in a weekly report that September.26
The virus that led to AIDS was sexually transmitted, an equal opportunity infector of men and women. In Africa, where it had its genesis, and where scientists later discovered an almost exact primate strain they named simian immunodeficiency disease, it was overwhelmingly a heterosexual disease.II27 That was the same in the early cases in Europe as well as later for intravenous drug users and hemophiliacs. Gay men were not the reason AIDS started in the U.S. They were simply its first victims. HIV was an opportunistic disease that took advantage of immune systems already under assault from multiple sex partners, recreational drug use, and repeated infections of sexually transmitted diseases.28
Fear in heterosexual America was about whether they might “catch it” from a gay colleague or neighbor. The gay community, particularly men, were cast as scapegoats for the undiagnosed disease. In the coming years, confusion, misinformation, and rumor spread. People’s fears fueled their worst prejudices.
The CDC did not help. In explaining how the disease was transmitted between people, the CDC said it was a result of the “exchange of bodily fluids.” Did that mean vaginal or anal intercourse? Oral sex? Kissing? Perspiration from an infected person? Not even the best journalists were clear what that encompassed. The New York Times’s Lawrence Altman told The Atlantic in 2014: “The journalism community was behind for quite a while in not being more specific about what ‘bodily fluids’ meant. But also, public-health officials weren’t explicit in what they meant by bodily fluids. It was a time when the words ‘penis,’ ‘vagina,’ ‘sperm,’ ‘intercourse,’ ‘rectal intercourse’—those terms weren’t part of the everyday public vocabulary. They may have been in private, but it wasn’t as it is today.”29
At the NIH, Broder, DeVita, and Fauci had assembled a public health emergency team.30 Although that effort drew little public attention, according to Broder “much of the critical work for perhaps the first three to four years of the AIDS epidemic originated with the NIH.” In a later oral history, he expressed frustration that “some scientists and organizations that might have made a contribution, did not respond to the AIDS emergency.”31
A few did not believe the virus would become widely transmitted. That view was reinforced when the CDC confirmed it was possible to get the disease through intravenous drug use.32 Those new patients were overwhelmingly heterosexual. Since they were drug addicts, however, it only added to the perception that AIDS was a disease that affected the fringes of society. “People always ask when AIDS is going to spread to the general population, as they call it,” asked Dr. Sheldon Landesman, an infectious disease expert. “That’s absurd. It implies that those who have AIDS aren’t part of the general population. It implies that they are giving it to us” (emphasis in original).33 III 34
Broder recalled that from 1982 to 1984 while the NIH researchers chased many theories, “there was an enormous sense of pressure and urgency, because there was so little known and so little we could do. As additional cases became known, there was a substantial level of stress and a certain public distrust and confusion, all of which made everyone’s life more difficult.”35 Adding to the anxiety at the NIH, says Broder, was that there were “all sorts of crazy people, who in the Andy Warhol sense of the term, could obtain not only 15 minutes’ worth of fame but possibly build a career [by] promoting ideas without a scientific foundation. This greatly confused the public and to some extent damaged science.”36
The NIH researchers had developed tests to spot drugs that might suppress the AIDS virus in tissue cultures. They found none despite testing hundreds.
By 1984, Broder’s team had focused on antiretroviral drugs, hoping they might hinder the virus from replicating in humans. Burroughs Wellcome, Pfizer, and Merck and Roche worked with those products in their labs. He did not have a receptive audience when he met with top management at the drug firms. “I went to one prestigious company, hat in hand,” he later recounted. “I got about one minute and thirty seconds of a high-ranking officer’s time. It was very disappointing for me. It was emblematic of the issue. There was no real interest in it.”37
Dani Bolognesi, a Duke surgeon, arranged a meeting between Broder and scientists at Burroughs. Broder was interested in a twenty-two-year-old chemotherapy, Zidovudine, also known as azidothymidine (AZT). An academic with NIH funding had developed AZT in the mid-1960s but Burroughs later bought the rights to it. It had never been put on sale because it proved both toxic and ineffective.
There was some resistance in Burroughs to helping the NIH. AIDS was a terrible disease, Burroughs executives acknowledged to Broder, but it was too small a market.
“They made it clear that on the basis of 3,000 patients, there was no way they could practically get involved,” Broder recalls. “As I left, I said, ‘You know, we’re going to have more than 3,000 cases. It is going to be commercially viable for you.’ ”38
They called him back to the conference room where he laid out some of the cataclysmic predictions the CDC had run. Broder said that nothing would get done unless the NIH had a private partner.
Burroughs finally agreed to help. Although the company owned the license to AZT, it had done so little with it that at first it could not even produce samples as it was missing a critical DNA constituent. The NIH sent the missing DNA strand to the company, who finally made enough of the drug for testing at the NIH. The results were good. It was the first drug, according to Broder, that “inhibited HIV viral replication” in the test tube.39
AIDS activists wanted human trials started as quickly as possible. For every day delayed, they contended, someone else died. They protested the failure of Ronald Reagan’s administration to declare AIDS a health emergency capable of infecting anyone.40 In the early years of HIV and AIDS, there were aftershocks from the 1976 swine flu fiasco. Dr. David Sencer, who had been the much maligned CDC commissioner during the swine flu debacle, had said after resigning his government post that if he was ever faced with scientific uncertainty over a possible infectious epidemic, he would err on the side of caution. Sencer had returned to public service as New York City’s health commissioner. Activists accused him of “dragging his feet” when it came to the city’s response to AIDS. At a time when action and speed were essential, Sencer fell short once again.
While once slow or negligent to cover HIV and AIDS, or to cast it as a fringe epidemic, mainstream media outlets by the mid-1980s raced to report that AIDS infections were about to explode. The front covers of national magazines fed a new fear. “Now No One Is Safe from AIDS” (Life); “AIDS: Fatal, Incurable, and Spreading” (People); “The Most Lethal Disease” (Time).41 An American doctor writing in The Lancet compared its potential “vast scope of death” to the fourteenth-century bubonic plague.42 Oprah Winfrey, in her first show about AIDS, passed along a dire prediction: “Research studies now project that one in five—listen to me, hard to believe—one in five heterosexuals could be dead from AIDS at the end of the next three years.… One in five!”43
Fifty million Americans did not die, of course, in the next three years. In the first fifteen thousand cases of AIDS in New York City, the Health Department listed only eight as having contracted the virus from heterosexual sex.44 Still, the real numbers did not seem to matter. Fear often overruled reason. Mortuaries refused to handle bodies, hospitals turned away patients or put them in isolation. There was talk of whether sanitariums, or modern-day leper colonies, should house the sick. One debated “solution” was tattooing those infected so prospective sex partners had advance warning.45
Nationally syndicated columnist Pat Buchanan wrote in 1984 for The American Spectator that AIDS was “a killer disease… especially in cities like New York and San Francisco, the Sodom and Gomorrah of the Sexual Revolution.” The sexual liberation that was an essential element in the Gay Liberation movement, according to Buchanan, “is ending, and it is revealed for what it always was: an egregious assault upon the ecology of the human body. Call it nature’s retribution, God’s will, the wages of sin, paying the piper, ecological kickback, whatever phraseology you prefer. The facts demonstrate that promiscuous homosexual conduct is utterly destructive of human health.” Buchanan predicted that “short of some dramatic behavioral change, the gay community may self-destruct.” And he warned that he was not spreading “scare talk,” but that the HIV virus might mutate into the “real final epidemic” that would threaten “continuation of human life on this planet.”46
Five months later Reagan appointed Buchanan as the White House director of communications and an assistant to the president.47
The heated rhetoric produced real results. Gay men, even some suspected of being gay, lost their jobs. There were campaigns to ban them as teachers or sports coaches. Some communities petitioned their local hospitals to exclude them from health care jobs.48
In the midst of the hysteria over AIDS, Samuel Broder and his NIH team had begun the human clinical trials on AZT in July 1985. Testing for an antiviral could take eight to ten years. The FDA approved AZT in a speed record of twenty months. For many Americans who had friends or relatives who were sick with HIV/AIDS, and unaccustomed to the snail’s pace of modern drug approval, the twenty months seemed an eternity.49
To avoid any further delay over legal and commercial marketing rights, the government allowed Burroughs Wellcome to claim the patent. The company renamed the drug Retrovir. From its first day of sale, Burroughs marketed AZT as a “breakthrough” and as “finally light at the end of the tunnel.”50 National media covered AZT as effective for anyone who tested positive on the HIV antibody test.51 Burroughs ignored advice from the FDA that because of the drug’s toxicity it should be limited to the sickest patients, only those with full-blown AIDS.
Burroughs stunned AIDS families and activists, the medical community, and the NIH team that had developed the drug when it set the price at $10,000 per patient per year (not including transfusions and blood work). It was the most expensive drug in pharmaceutical history. Under tremendous public blowback, Burroughs cut the price to $8,000, still the highest-priced drug on the planet. Thirty-five percent of AIDS patients had no health insurance or had polices that did not cover the drug.52 When Burroughs stuck with its exorbitant price tag, the federal government stepped in and subsidized the costs for many patients who would have otherwise been refused treatment.
“What makes the cost of AZT hard to swallow,” wrote the New York Times editorial board in 1989, “is that all the invention and much of the risk was undertaken by the Federal Government.”53
When a generic drug company announced it would make an inexpensive, generic copy of AZT, Burroughs sued and prevailed in federal court. During that litigation, which eventually wound its way to the Supreme Court, Burroughs contended that the NIH had no right to the patent. It described Broder’s lab only as “a pair of hands” that had helped the company, nothing more.
Although North Carolina–based Burroughs was savaged in the press for its AZT pricing, and criticized in academic and government circles for its cynical framing of the drug’s discovery, its shareholders were happy. AZT was the only large successful launch for the parent company, British-based Wellcome. It had gone public the year before AZT went on sale. In February 1987, the month Burroughs put AZT on the market, the company’s share price shot up 500 percent. Its list price for AZT was so expensive that investors expected record profits. They were right. The share price doubled again in 1989. By then, AZT brought in a third of the company’s $425 million profit. AZT itself passed $2 billion in sales by 1994.54
In San Francisco, AIDS had ravaged the Castro neighborhood, a vibrant hub of gay life. On January 25, 1988, the thousands who marched through city streets were not celebrating gay pride. They were protesting the exorbitant price of AZT. The handmade signs reflected the mood of the protesters. “Burroughs Wellcome AZT Scandal.” “Greed Kills People.”55
Wellcome met often with AIDS activists and victims’ families. Its press spokesman said all the right things about compassion and mercy. It never discussed pricing or gave in to demands that it disclose its business records that would have shown what it cost the company to manufacture the drug.
Bristol-Myers started clinical trials in 1989 with a second AIDS drug, DDI (dideoxyinosine), which also showed promise in slowing the rate at which the virus replicated. It was evident the NIH and National Cancer Institute had learned their lesson from Burroughs’s price-gouging. Under the terms of a contract with Bristol, the government could force it to license DDI, to generic manufacturers if it did not set a “reasonable price.”
“Hallelujah,” was the reaction from playwright Larry Kramer, the founder that year of the activist organization AIDS Coalition to Unleash Power (ACT UP). “I pray that this magnificent example by Bristol will be duplicated by the manufacturers of numerous other life-saving drugs.”56 Kramer and other activists might not have been happy with any of the drug companies that suddenly seemed eager to develop AIDS drugs if they had known that the pharma firms were earning millions more on every medication because of a little-known 1983 statute, the Orphan Drug Act. It was designed to encourage drug companies to develop medications to treat rare diseases, everything from multiple sclerosis to Huntington’s to muscular dystrophy to ALS.57 Many of the estimated two thousand diseases were genetic conditions but some were infections and autoimmune disorders, as well as rare cancers. They were dubbed orphaned since pharmaceutical companies avoided them because the tiny markets made it difficult to turn a profit. The FDA’s Office of Orphan Products Development proposed that for a drug to qualify under the law, the disease it treated should not affect more than 0.05 percent of the U.S. population, at the time a maximum of 100,000 patients. However, when the FDA realized that excluded multiple sclerosis, Tourette syndrome, and narcolepsy, the agency eliminated measuring by a percentage of the population and instead set the maximum at 200,000. In practice, however, the number affected by an orphan disease frequently proved much smaller, usually under 10,000 and sometimes only a few hundred worldwide.58
The congressional sponsors of the Orphan Drug Act realized the government needed to offer substantial incentives in order to stimulate interest in the pharma industry. The law built financial inducements into every stage of orphan drug discovery and subsequent amendments made the tax credits and research subsidies even more generous. The act included four years of taxpayer grants of up to $500,000 annually to underwrite early research. Companies got a 50 percent tax credit on whatever they spent on R&D. The remaining 50 percent of costs were a deductible business expense. That meant that the federal government paid for about 70 percent of the R&D costs for orphan drug projects.59 The law also simplified applying for academic and NIH co-sponsorship, waived processing fees, and expedited FDA approval. The gauntlet of three ever more rigorous trials was dramatically abbreviated.60 The FDA also provided grants on a competitive basis for clinical trials it deemed important.
The Orphan Drug Act’s final inducement—an exclusive seven-year selling monopoly—was an attempt to ensure the drug company had enough time to earn money without worrying about competitors.61 Although shorter than the seventeen years for mass-market drugs, the orphan patent barred all competition. It not only banned generics but also me-too drugs, unless those meds offered a “major” improvement in safety or efficacy. Some pharmaceutical analysts called it a “platinum mini-me patent.” It was one of the most unique and powerful pricing tools available to drug companies.62 The mistaken assumption by the statute’s drafters was that orphaned drugs would never be very profitable.63 AIDS changed that.
In 1985, Burroughs applied for AZT to be designated an orphan drug for “the treatment of AIDS.” The FDA approved that designation in July. It meant that in addition to all the assistance Burroughs had gotten from the NIH, it was now eligible for substantial additional subsidies and tax credits. Other drug companies realized that to get the same benefits, they had to artificially fragment the AIDS patient population into subgroups smaller than 200,000. In that way they created rare diseases small enough to qualify for orphan status. Within a decade, there were seventeen orphaned variations of antiviral HIV treatments, a dozen for AIDS-related Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia, nine for diarrheal and weight loss illnesses, and five each for Kaposi sarcoma, encephalitis, anemia, and tuberculosis, among others.64
Ellen Cooper, chief of the FDA’s antiviral division, complained that the pharma companies were dividing the “AIDS related complex” population into arbitrary subclasses. There was nothing the FDA could do to stop it. The Orphan Act was clear that only Congress could make changes, and no elected official wanted to sponsor anything that might be interpreted as slowing the search for an AIDS cure.
The drug companies had learned to game the system. A study later determined that they “stack seven-year monopolies for the same drug on top of each other for indications that differ only negligibly.” In other instances they “seek orphan designations for drugs that are barely modified versions of existing orphans and that offer little additional therapeutic improvement.”65 A large loophole the companies exploited was that once they got drugs approved for a small number of patients in the final stages of AIDS, they encouraged doctors to dispense it “off-label” for the much larger market of those infected with HIV. Off-label is when doctors dispense drugs to treat conditions other than the one for which the FDA approved it.66 LyphoMed, for instance, got a 1984 approval for pentamidine to prevent and treat Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia for end-of-life AIDS patients. However, more than 80 percent of its sales was for the off-label treatment of pneumonia in HIV patients. LyphoMed increased its price 400 percent over two years. When its seven-year orphaned monopoly expired, it got another seven years for developing an aerosol version that qualified for new orphan status.
Nearly thirty years later not much has changed. As a new generation of AIDS drugs was introduced from biotech companies, they sought orphan protection. The most notable as of 2019 is Gilead’s Truvada, a breakthrough pre-exposure prophylaxis when combined with safer sex practices (it is referred to widely as PrEP, pre-exposure prophylaxis).67 It is not a new drug. Gilead, a California biotech company, had originally gotten FDA approval for it in 2004 for slowing the progression of HIV in those already infected.
The research that converted it to its current blockbuster status was done through government and private funding. The CDC in 2006 was researching medications to block HIV from infecting healthy people. Gilead sent free doses of Truvada to the CDC, where two years of lab work and tests on primates led to breakthroughs for which the CDC applied for a series of patents. A San Francisco AIDS researcher conducted parallel research with $50 million in federal grants.The NIH sponsored double-blind, placebo-controlled human clinical trials. The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation contributed $17 million toward those trials.68 Gilead again donated the medicine. The 2010 results of the clinical studies—up to a 44 percent reduction in the risk of HIV infections—drew national headlines.69
The U.S. government patented the new prophylactic use for Truvada in 2015. Gilead sued to block that, saying that it had given Truvada free of charge for the testing and its own scientists had created the old drug at the turn of the century.
Courts have so far sided with Gilead. Truvada costs $6 a month to manufacture. Gilead sells it to patients for $1,600 to $2,000 a month (a markup of 25,000 percent).70 It has ranked every year since its release as a prophylactic in the top twenty drug sales in the United States, more than $3 billion annually, some $30 billion since it went on the market. Gilead’s patent does not expire until 2021.
Two AIDS activists and a physician penned a 2018 New York Times op-ed. “The United States is failing miserably in expanding its [Truvada’s] use. Less than 10 percent of the 1.2 million Americans who might benefit from PrEP are actually getting it. The major reason is quite clear: pricing. With a list price over $20,000 a year, Truvada, the only PrEP drug available in the United States, is simply too expensive to become the public health tool it should be.… In under 40 years, we’ve lost more Americans to H.I.V. than to combat in all of our wars combined. Science has delivered answers, but Gilead’s greed and the government’s inaction are keeping it from those who need it most. There’s a pill that stops H.I.V. We can make it possible for everyone who needs that pill to get it.”71
I. Because he had so many sexual contacts and also traveled extensively while infected, Dugas was later referred to extensively as Patient 0 (zero), thought to be the person who almost single-handedly spread AIDS across North America. In fact, the letter assigned to him later by AIDS researchers was not a zero but an alphabetical O, shorthand for “Out of California.” Dugas spent considerable time in San Francisco and Los Angeles, and some early researchers believed the strain of virus he carried was unique to the American West Coast. There was no patient zero, and according to scientists and epidemiologists, while Dugas might have spread the virus faster and farther than if he was not an infected, promiscuous flight attendant, he was not the first person ill with the disease in the U.S.
II. In 1992, a journalist, Tom Curtis, kicked off a firestorm in Rolling Stone with a thesis that HIV in Africa was caused by the 1959 testing of a live polio vaccine on more than a million people in the Belgian Congo. Researchers dismissed it out of hand as a baseless conspiracy theory designed to sell magazines. In 1999, Edward Hooper, a BBC correspondent, wrote a densely sourced 1,000-page book, The River, published by Little, Brown. Hooper reached the same conclusion as Curtis had but had explosive new reporting that a precursor of HIV had been accidentally introduced into the oral polio vaccine that had been administered in the Belgian Congo. Hooper charged the vaccine was grown in African chimpanzee cells, some of which were infected with simian immunodeficiency disease (SIVcpz), an almost identical strain to HIV. The doctors involved with the original research denied using chimpanzee cells in the vaccine. Papers published in Nature and Science examined stored samples of the 1959 vaccine and a molecular analysis revealed no chimpanzee DNA. There were no genetic traces of either HIV or SIV. In 2004, a study in Nature found that even if chimpanzee cells from the Congo had been used in the vaccine, the primates in that area had a virus genetically distinct from human HIV strains. Subsequent epidemiological studies dated the origin of HIV in humans to “at least 30 years prior to OPV (oral polio vaccines) in central Africa.” The new data led Oxford’s Edward Holmes, a preeminent virologist and evolutionary biologist, to conclude: “Scientifically, it is the end of the OPV theory.” In 2019, scientists extracted a nearly complete HIV genetic code from a 1966 sliver of tissue from a deceased patient in the Republic of the Congo. By dating its genetic sequencing, they concluded that the virus that led to HIV emerged in humans a century ago.
III. Infection from blood put the nation’s ten thousand hemophiliacs at risk. Eventually, half would be infected with HIV and four thousand died of AIDS. Blood banks did not then screen donations for transmissible viruses or bacteria, but even if they had, there was no test yet to spot AIDS.
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“NONE OF THE PUBLIC’S DAMNED BUSINESS”
In the early 1980s, Arthur Sackler followed the news about HIV but without much interest. Purdue Frederick had never researched antiviral drugs. It had nothing on the drawing board that might show promise in battling AIDS to submit to the NIH. Moreover, none of Arthur’s pharma clients for the McAdams ad agency seemed to be rushing forward to develop a drug.
Working through the obstacles to a government-pharma-research partnership on AIDS was something that would have seemed to have been a natural for Sackler. When he worked at Schering during World War II he witnessed firsthand the gigantic joint effort by the government and a handful of pharmaceutical firms to convert penicillin from a promising lab compound into a wonder drug. Sackler, who was proud of his social activism that dated back to his efforts to end the Red Cross segregation of black and white blood in the 1940s, might have railed against the Reagan administration’s reticence to make AIDS a public health priority because of its prejudices against the early victims, gay men and intravenous drug users. It was not just the emergence of AIDS and the political controversises around it, however, that failed to grab Arthur’s attention. He was paying little heed to most of his businesses because he was consumed with a long-standing personal obsession: where to bequeath about one thousand of his rarest art objects.
All three Sackler brothers had a lofty view of themselves since the spectacular opening of the Metropolitan Museum’s Sackler Wing, with its restored Temple of Dendur. The first exhibition were the glittering treasures from the tomb of the boy king Tutankhamen. It had been impressive, even by the standards of the Met, New York society, and the art world.1 Arthur thought it an “epic debut.” Mortimer claimed it “gave rise to the term ‘blockbuster’ exhibition.”2
Thomas Hoving, who had been solicitous and amiable in courting Arthur and his brothers, had resigned as the museum’s director. He made the Sacklers feel as if they were every bit as important as the Rockefellers or Lehmans. Hoving’s replacement was the Met’s vice director, Parisian-born Philippe de Montebello, the son of a French count and wartime resistance fighter. His family traced its heritage to Napoleonic aristocracy.3
The urbane Montebello had little patience with the Sacklers. Montebello had started at the Met as an assistant curator in European Paintings before Arthur had struck his first deal in 1966 for his named galleries and the basement storage to house his collection. Montebello was a witness to the many failed attempts of his predecessors to persuade Sackler to commit a significant portion of his superlative Asian collection to the Met. Arthur, whom he considered crass, irritated him and he had decided not to be cowed by Sackler’s implied threat of donating the collection elsewhere. Few institutions rivaled the Met with a gravitas that would be illustrious enough for Arthur.
Montebello thought Arthur had a nonstop litany of “petty grievances” about how the museum used the temple. Sackler found the new director “a fogey, a Europhile, an elitist.”4
Adding to the tension with the Met was a story that broke in ARTnews just before the Dendur inaugural. It exposed the special arrangement of Sackler’s storage room in the Met’s basement.5 When called for a comment, the museum’s general counsel told the reporter that whatever happened at the Metropolitan was “none of the public’s damned business.”6 That was not quite true since the Met was publicly funded. The article piqued the interest of the New York attorney general, who opened an investigation into why the museum had over the years spent nearly a million dollars for storing Sackler’s art.7 Although unsubstantiated, Sackler was convinced the leak to the press was from Montebello.8 I 9
Marietta was convinced that Arthur was also afflicted with a “need for recognition.”10 The two had divorced and Arthur was courting British-born Jillian Lesley Tully, twenty-five years his junior.11 Not long after they married in 1981, Arthur purchased one of New York’s most iconic residences, a twenty-seven-room triplex at 666 Park Avenue. It had originally been commissioned by Mrs. William Vanderbilt in 1927 but she never moved in. The New York Times described it as “the greatest maisonette ever constructed in New York… [though] to call it a maisonette at all is rather like calling a Bugatti a runabout.”12
Sackler now had four full-time curators working on his Asian collection. By 1980, they had compiled ten volumes of photos, descriptions, and provenance of 90 percent of his art. The following year Sackler initiated talks with the Vatican about exhibiting some of its historic collection in the U.S., what Arthur called an “art and faith” tour. The Metropolitan and the National Gallery had initially agreed to underwrite it jointly. Then the Metropolitan changed course and negotiated its own deal for a Vatican show. Sackler was furious.13
Carter Brown, the National Gallery’s curator, saw an opportunity in the growing rift between Sackler and the Met. Washington, D.C.’s, Freer Gallery of Art began wooing Sackler in earnest. The Freer had been created at the start of the twentieth century after industrialist Charles Freer donated his significant collection of American and Asian art.14 The Smithsonian Institution had taken over just before it opened to the public in 1923. As the first American museum funded by taxpayers, it was restricted from raising funds by borrowing money or striking lucrative arrangements with private donors in exchange for naming rights. In the 1960s and 1970s those restrictions made it difficult to compete with private museums in acquiring important private collections. The Freer was also desperate for more exhibition and storage space. Its fifty-year-old design was showing its design limitations.
“In effect, like Miss Havisham’s mansion in Great Expectations, the Freer was frozen in time,” noted Karl Meyer, who wrote a history of one hundred years of American interest in Chinese art.15
Congress approved an extra $500,000 in 1980 for the Smithsonian to start construction on two buildings to house African American and Asian art on the National Mall’s Quadrangle. The Smithsonian put that project on hold the following year because it was short of funds to care for its existing buildings, much less oversee an expansion.
Sackler saw an opportunity in their problems. He asked Michael Sonnenreich to negotiate a deal. In 1982, Sackler stunned Montebello and the Met by announcing a $4 million donation to the Freer and the donation of a thousand of his most prized collectibles, valued at $50 million. In return, the Smithsonian agreed to create the Arthur M. Sackler Gallery directly on the National Mall, adjacent to the Freer. It would be the first modern structure on the Mall to be named after a private person. Congress, with its oversight of the Smithsonian, held hearings on the bequest. Ultimately, no one in government wanted to be responsible for stopping the deal.
A month later, Sackler gave another $7.5 million for the Sackler Museum to be built at Harvard (eventually $10.7 million).16 It was intended to complement Harvard’s existing art museums, the Fogg and the Busch-Reisinger.
I. Author Michael Gross reported in Rogues’ Gallery, his 2009 social history of the Metropolitan Museum, that another factor that aggravated Sackler during this time was that he was “particularly vexed by the preponderance of homosexuals on the museum staff.” A former business colleague of Sackler told the author that “Arthur didn’t care one way or the other. If he liked you, it didn’t matter what you were or did. If he didn’t like someone, everything about that person was subject to criticism.”
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A PAIN MANAGEMENT REVOLUTION
Often in the drug industry, companies search for a discovery to treat a condition they believe can be treated by pharmaceuticals. Diabetes, high blood pressure, infectious diseases, and other illnesses and chronic ailments provided many profitable opportunities. However, there was one common complaint—chronic pain—that affected tens of millions of Americans and had stymied companies searching for an effective treatment.
That failure was not because of any lack of desire on the part of pharma. Instead, the plethora of remedies that started with patent drugs had demonstrated there were no good choices. Many drugs temporarily alleviated pain. Morphine, oxycodone, hydrocodone, and other opiates were effective pain relievers. They were listed, however, on the Controlled Substances Act because they had a notorious reputation for addiction.
A pharmacologist and a chemist at the National Institutes of Health had written in Science an overview about how years of academic and private company lab research had been devoted to finding a nonaddictive painkiller. Each ended in failure. The duo concluded it was unlikely such a medication was possible.
A few physicians, however, were intent on upending the traditional medical views about pain and how to treat it. Their reevaluation would encompass whether opioids had been unfairly judged and should be more widely dispensed. This movement inadvertently laid the groundwork for the Sacklers’ 1996 opioid-based blockbuster painkiller, OxyContin.
Until the early 1980s, medical schools taught physicians that pain was only a symptom of some underlying physical condition. Physicians invariably searched for the cause of the pain rather than treating it as a stand-alone ailment. The specialty of “pain management” did not exist.1 John Bonica, whom Time later dubbed “pain relief’s founding father,” was a leading voice challenging that conventional wisdom. Bonica was an Italian-born former professional wrestler, carnival strongman, and light heavyweight world boxing champion turned anesthesiologist. He suffered chronic shoulder and hip pain from his own sports career. His 1953 The Management of Pain, a 1,500-page monograph, was an unmatched resource.
Bonica believed doctors significantly underdiagnosed pain and, as a result, millions of patients suffered needlessly. In 1973, he organized a seven-day conference attended by 350 researchers from thirteen countries.2 The following year, Bonica cofounded the International Association for the Study of Pain (its journal, Pain, is the field’s leading publication).3 Three years later a multidisciplinary group of doctors and clinical researchers relied on Bonica’s research and created the American Pain Society (APS).4
The effort to prioritize pain was not long under way when a five-sentence “letter to the editor” in the January 10, 1980, New England Journal of Medicine sparked a parallel rethinking about conventional medical views on the risks of opioids. The authors were Dr. Hershel Jick and a graduate student, Jane Porter. They summarized their examination of 39,946 records of Boston University Hospital patients. Jick was a leading physician at the esteemed Boston Collaborative Drug Surveillance Program, financed in part by the NIH and the FDA. It was America’s largest independent effort to determine the risks of adverse reactions and potential abuse in hundreds of widely used medications.5 The duo reported that almost a third (11,882) of the patients had “received at least one narcotic preparation” but found only “four cases of reasonably well-documented addiction in patients who had no history of addiction.” Their conclusion was as unorthodox as it seemed decisive: “Despite widespread use of narcotic drugs in hospitals, the development of addiction is rare.”6
Jick and Porter’s letter cited two previous drug surveillance studies. Both involved only hospitalized patients, all of whom were given small doses of opioids in a controlled setting. Only a handful took opioids for more than five days. None were given painkillers when discharged from the hospital.7
The prestigious New England Journal of Medicine had a deserved reputation for publishing peer-reviewed, pioneering health studies. That ninety-nine-word letter drew attention precisely because it was published in the NEJM. Yet not even its most avid readers could have predicted the impact it would exert in the coming reassessment of using opioids to treat pain. What few knew was that the NEJM almost never had outside experts to review “letters to the editor.”8 If they had subjected the Jick and Porter letter to peer review, the editors would have had a more precise and accurate conclusion by making it clear that “the development of addiction is rare” in the controlled setting of a hospital. Instead, during the next two decades that letter was cited over six hundred times in textbooks, medical journals, and other publications.9 More than 80 percent of those who cited the Jick and Porter letter omitted any mention that it only studied hospitalized patients who took opioids for a few days. Instead it was mostly cited to buttress far broader conclusions about the safety profile of opioids.10 I 11
Whenever the consumer press mentioned the Jick and Porter study, it was invariably misdescribed to confer on it far more authority than it deserved. A Canadian psychologist writing in Scientific American called the 1980 letter “an extensive study” and altered its finding to be that “when patients take morphine to combat pain, it is rare to see addiction.”12 Time wrote that the “fear” of addiction “continues to hold sway over American medicine [and] is basically unwarranted.” It called the Jick-Porter letter “a landmark study” (it is unlikely the Time journalist read the study he cited; he listed its publication as 1982 [it was 1980], said that “it followed almost 12,000 Boston hospital patients [none were followed for observation],” and that the study “had eliminated those with a history of addiction [it had not].”13 A 1986 World Health Organization report, “Cancer Pain Relief,” cited the ninety-nine-word letter as a scientific cornerstone for challenging decades of medical dogma that “the risks of widely prescribing opioids far outweighed any benefits.”14
Six weeks after the WHO publication, the journal Pain published a startling report. The lead author of the “Chronic Use of Opioid Analgesics in Non-Malignant Pain” was Russell Portenoy, a thirty-one-year-old Memorial Sloan Kettering physician specializing in anesthesiology, neurology, pain control, and pharmacology. His coauthor was Kathleen Foley, a leading pain management specialist who was widely considered to be at the vanguard of palliative care.15
As had the WHO report, Portenoy and Foley cited the Jick-Porter letter. However, they did not rely on it. Instead, they presented the results of their own clinical study. It involved thirty-eight patients who had been administered narcotic analgesics—a third took oxycodone—for up to seven years. Sloan Kettering was one of the only American hospitals with a “formalized pain service… within the Department of Neurology.”16 Foley was its chief, and it was there that Portenoy had witnessed what Cicely Saunders had seen in London: opioids improved the quality of life for many terminally ill cancer patients. Two thirds of those studied had significant or total pain relief. There was “no toxicity,” the two doctors reported, and only two patients had a problem with addiction, both of whom had “a history of prior drug abuse.”17
“We conclude that opioid maintenance therapy can be a safe, salutary and more humane alternative to the options of surgery or no treatment in those patients with intractable non-malignant pain and no history of drug abuse.”18
When they had begun their study, Portenoy and Foley expected that they might find the opposite, a higher addiction correlation. The results led them to conclude that the National Cancer Institute and the federal government were not interested in educating doctors about opioids. Instead, as Foley later said, the pharmaceutical companies became “our colleagues in education.… It was the drug company that wanted to improve pain management.”19
The Portenoy-Foley paper helped kick off a contentious and at times acrimonious debate about whether opioids had been unfairly branded and therefore underutilized in pain management.20 While Foley focused on palliative and hospice care, the charismatic Portenoy emerged as the unofficial spokesman for the embryonic movement to reevaluate opioids.21
Portenoy was a smart physician who relished clinical research. He believed he was at the forefront of reassessing antiquated views about opioids, and that by doing so, millions of patients suffering from untreated chronic pain might be helped. Although Portenoy had noted in his 1986 study that opioids should be considered an “alternative therapy” until there was further clinical research, that caution often got lost in his zealous fervor. He at times called opioids a “gift from nature” while occasionally castigating doctors whose “opiophobia” prevented them from dispensing the medications.
An eclectic and informal network of physicians, from New York neurologists to California psychiatrists to North Carolina pain physicians, contributed to the nascent reevaluation effort. The American Academy of Pain Medicine became the first organization for physicians specializing in pain management. It was followed by the American Society of Addiction Medicine (its slogan is “Addiction is a chronic brain disease”). The physicians at the vanguard of the movement encouraged their patients suffering from chronic pain to form advocacy groups and petition the FDA and Congress to loosen the dispensing restrictions on opioids.
In 1990, Dr. Mitchell Max, the president of the American Pain Society, wrote a widely read editorial in the Annals of Internal Medicine in which he bemoaned the lack of medical progress in diagnosing and treating pain. “Unlike ‘vital signs,’ pain isn’t displayed in a prominent place on the chart or at the bedside or nursing station,” he wrote. Doctors were “rarely held accountable” for failing to treat pain. “Pain relief has been nobody’s job.”22
Part of the failure was because patients often did not tell their doctors about their pain. Max thought the easiest fix was to make certain that physicians asked patients on every visit about whether they were in pain. For decades, physicians had kept watch of four vital signs when examining patients: blood pressure, pulse, temperature, and breathing. Dr. James Campbell, the president of the American Pain Society, suggested “Pain as the 5th Vital Sign.”23
One reason doctors shied away from treating pain as a stand-alone condition was that there was no accepted diagnostic test, as there was for blood pressure or cholesterol. It was similar to evaluating psychiatric disorders, a somewhat subjective assessment based on the doctor’s observations and the patient’s descriptions of symptoms. In depression, anxiety, and other mental conditions, some patients were mildly affected in their daily lives whereas others had difficulty in functioning at all. The same was true with pain. What one patient described as moderate pain that restricted mobility might be excruciating to someone else.
As the Hamilton Rating Scales in the 1960s had become popular and simple tests by which to measure anxiety and depression, several “pain assessment” tools came into use in the mid-1980s. The McGill Pain Index had seventy-eight words related to pain divided into twenty sections. Patients picked the words that best described the state of their pain. The Memorial Pain Assessment Card had eight streamlined descriptions and included a single line on which patients marked the degree of pain intensity. A pediatric nurse and child life specialist in Oklahoma developed a chart with ten hand-drawn faces ranging from happy and laughing to angry and crying. The Wong-Baker Pain Rating Scale made it easy for children to pick the face closest to how their pain felt that day. Variations of that scale soon became a one to ten rating for adults, one being “very mild, barely noticeable,” and ten signifying “unspeakable pain.”
Although the pain tools were error prone since they relied on the patient’s subjective assessment, they were hailed as the first rudimentary measurements by which doctors could determine if their patient’s pain was getting better or worse. In that sense, it did not matter if a patient had a low or high pain threshold. What was important was whether their pain improved over time. The Joint Commission, an independent, not-for-profit organization responsible for accrediting 96 percent of all hospitals and clinics in the U.S, gave the first major endorsement for the concept that pain should be the fifth vital sign. When the Veterans Administration later embraced it, the practice did not take very long to move to the private sector.24
Portenoy’s 1986 article that concluded that “opioid maintenance therapy can be a safe, salutary and more humane alternative” was the first of a couple of dozen that physician pain advocates published in medical journals over the next few years. Based always on small trials or anecdotal reports, they bolstered the dual arguments that opioids did not deserve their fearsome reputation and that they were extremely “effective in treating long-term chronic pain.”25 Buried in their scientific footnotes was that “long-term” usually meant twelve to sixteen weeks and “effective in treating” meant “superior to placebo.”26
An anesthesiologist and dentist who specialized in pain management, J. David Haddox, pushed the boundaries of the reevaluation movement with a unique and controversial theory. He reported in Pain about the failure to treat the pain of a seventeen-year-old leukemia patient. According to Haddox, who went on to become the president of the American Academy of Pain Medicine and later worked for Purdue Pharma, the doctor’s botched treatment had “led to changes similar to those seen with idiopathic opioid psychologic dependence (addiction).” Pseudoaddiction was a syndrome, he posited, over which the patient had no control. It was caused inadvertently when doctors failed to prescribe sufficient painkillers. That caused “behavioral changes” in patients that most doctors misinterpreted as signs of addiction. Haddox contended that was only evidence that the patient was desperate to get enough medication for pain relief. The solution to pseudoaddiction was to dispense more narcotic painkillers.27
The nation’s three major pain associations embraced pseudoaddiction. In a joint statement they announced it “can be distinguished from true addiction in that the behaviors resolve when pain is effectively treated.”28 (It took twenty-five years before a comprehensive study revealed that in the 224 scientific articles in which the term was cited, only eighteen provided even the skimpiest anecdotal evidence to support the thesis. The study concluded that it was essentially a “fake addiction” and had “proliferated in the literature as a justification for opioid therapy for non-terminal pain.”)29
The same month that pseudoaddiction entered the vocabulary, a dozen prominent physicians published “The Physician’s Responsibility Toward Hopelessly Ill Patients” in The New England Journal of Medicine. Although it was about the treatment of terminally ill patients, their conclusion became a veritable slogan for the reevaluation movement: “The proper dose of pain medication is the dose that is sufficient to relieve pain and suffering.… To allow a patient to experience unbearable pain or suffering is unethical medical practice.”30
The movement’s progress could be measured by the number of states that adopted “intractable pain treatment” laws. Those statutes acknowledged patients had a right for treatment of their pain, and they shielded physicians from criminal or civil liability if the narcotics prescribed resulted in addiction. New Jersey was the first in 1984 to adopt such an act; eighteen others followed over a few years.31
Portenoy and colleagues contended that opioids should be the first treatment option “for patients with intractable nonmalignant pain and no history of drug abuse.”32 Instead of establishing a maximum dose, they posited that opioids should be dispensed until the patient’s pain was relieved.33
Liberally dispensing opioids was the perfect complement to the emerging field of proactive pain management. Opioids alleviate pain by blocking the brain’s receptors that send and receive pain signals. They do nothing to treat the underlying ailment that causes the pain. The twin themes—that not treating pain was negligent and that opioids were a reliable option for almost everyone—reinforced one another.34
The Sacklers would have been hard pressed to design a better lead-in to their release a decade later of OxyContin, their blockbuster opioid-based painkiller. When the pain reevaluation movement got under way in the mid-1980s, though, OxyContin was not yet on the drawing board. It was in the earliest stages of development by the time pain was on its way to becoming the fifth vital sign. Some suspect collaboration between Purdue and the leading physician advocates because they find it difficult to believe that they all were so utterly wrong about the diminution of the odds of addiction. That they were wrong, however, does not mean they were not sincere. The histories of medicine and the pharmaceutical industry are littered with practices and products that went from exalted pedestals to discarded dustbins.35
In the following decade, Purdue did what every other pharmaceutical company with an opioid-based product did: spent tens of millions in underwriting and subsidizing the physicians, advocacy groups, and pain societies at the forefront of the reevaluation movement.36 Many doctors who were pioneers in the movement reaped big fees as company lecturers. Purdue and other drug firms funded medical school courses, professional conferences and conventions, pain management junkets, and even pain-focused continuing education classes. And, as with every other major drug introduction, some government officials, even a few from the FDA, went through a revolving door to work eventually for Purdue and other firms selling their own branded opioids. Purdue and its rivals spent money on those advocates only because they were already promoting ideas about pain treatment that the firms embraced.37
Whether the flood of pharma money made the early advocates more resistant to admitting their mistake as reports emerged much later that Purdue’s opioid painkillers appeared far more addictive than any had forecast is a difficult assessment. They read the same news reports about the rising numbers of prescription opioid overdoses, illegal diversion, spiraling hospital admissions, and a surge in opioid-related crime. It was not just drug company money that kept them from admitting they had gotten it wrong. The leading pain management contrarians had built their reputations as physicians with the courage to challenge long-established medical dogma as archaic. Acknowledging that opioids were far more addictive than they had originally predicted would have shattered their careers.
At least publicly they clung to their old views even if privately they had second thoughts. The leading pain and opioid reevaluation proponent, Russell Portenoy, seemed never to waver from his early conclusions. By the time he appeared on Good Morning America in 2010, more than 300,000 Americans had died of opioid overdoses in the previous decade. Still, when asked about the risk of getting hooked, he assured ABC’s four million viewers that “Addiction, when treating pain, is distinctly uncommon. If a person does not have a history, a personal history, of substance abuse, and does not have a history in the family of substance abuse, and does not have a very major psychiatric disorder, most doctors can feel very assured that that person is not going to become addicted.”38 Yet, that same year, in a more reflective mood and what he thought was a private setting, Portenoy confided to another doctor, “I gave innumerable lectures in the late 1980s and ’90s about addiction that weren’t true.”39
I. In 2017, six researchers published in the NEJM the results of their review of all subsequent citations to the 1980 letter. “In conclusion, we found that a five-sentence letter published in the Journal in 1980 was heavily and uncritically cited as evidence that addiction was rare with long-term opioid therapy. We believe that this citation pattern contributed to the North American opioid crisis by helping to shape a narrative that allayed prescribers’ concerns about the risk of addiction associated with long-term opioid therapy.” The NEJM subsequently published a rare “Editor’s Note,” adding to its webpage with the original Jick-Porter letter: “For reasons of public health, readers should be aware that this letter has been ‘heavily and uncritically’ cited as evidence that addiction is rare with opioid therapy.” Dr. Jick told the Associated Press in 2017: “I’m essentially mortified that that letter to the editor was used as an excuse to do what these drug companies did.”
39
ENTER GENERICS
In 1986, six years after MST Continus went on sale in the U.K., it was still not available in the United States. Because its active ingredient, morphine, was a Schedule II controlled substance, it got extra attention at the FDA. An even slower than normal approval process occurred. Raymond and Mortimer Sackler privately griped about the snail’s pace. What bothered them was something common to all pharma executives: the time spent getting a drug to the market cut into its exclusive patent protection.1 Before the 1962 Kefauver Amendments had required significantly more rigorous clinical trials, more than 90 percent of all drugs got approved in under a year after submission to the FDA. Since a patent’s monopoly started ticking at the time of the invention, valuable years of sales were sometimes lost in the FDA’s approval bureaucracy.I2
By the 1980s, it took on average between six and eight years for a drug to be approved from its date of invention.3 Research and development cost several hundred million dollars.4 Traditional pharmaceutical firms argued it was counterproductive to spend so much money and sometimes get so little exclusivity for selling new drugs.5 Studies showed that once a drug patent expired, up to 80 percent of the top brand-name sales disappeared within twelve months.6 A decade later, Pfizer’s cholesterol-lowering blockbuster, Lipitor, became the most cited example: it dropped from $5.3 billion in sales in its last year of patent protection to $932 million the year after.7
Pharma companies had tried speeding up the time from the lab to the market. Among the largest dozen drug firms, half had spent billions on new R&D technologies in combinational chemistry and genomics, both of which promised much faster drug discovery.8 Instead of rebuilding their R&D from scratch, the other six companies scooped up biotech start-ups. It was the early days of what would become a decade-long pharmaceutical merger and acquisition boom.9
Spending billions on new research and development or acquiring biotech firms at inflated prices to get drugs out of the lab faster were not options for smaller drug companies such as Purdue. It is not surprising that they found ways—used by Big Pharma also—to extend the patent monopoly on their best-selling drugs. Instead of big expenditures on developing new medications, they simply recycled old ones. They could usually get patent extensions by changing how a drug was administered, the chemical composition of its coating, even its molecular makeup.
The nontherapeutic modifications were eligible for a three- to five-year patent extension, and occasionally pharma companies succeeded in convincing doctors and patients that it was worth paying a premium for those minor changes. However, winning a new patent and resetting the selling monopoly to day one required more than nontherapeutic alterations. It entailed demonstrating a “secondary medical use,” evidence of its efficacy for a different therapy than the one for which it was approved originally.
The research divisions of pharmaceutical companies were always on the lookout for additional therapeutic uses for their existing product line. Surprisingly few, however, were discovered in the laboratory. Instead, most of the breakthroughs were the result of the unregulated power of doctors to dispense a company’s drugs off-label. Physicians are presumed under the law to have enough expertise to use drugs as they deem fit. They can change the approved dosing, prescribe one approved drug to be taken in combination with others, or use it for conditions unrelated to the clinical testing for safety and efficacy conducted by the drug company.10
Estimates are that between a quarter to half of all prescriptions dispensed annually in the U.S. are for off-label use.11 Doctors who prescribe drugs off-label are in effect conducting their own informal clinical trials. There is no requirement that physicians inform their patients that they are using a medication off-label. The AMA and other professional medical associations have made such disclosure discretionary, fearing that requiring it would make many patients skittish.12
At the very least, off-label seems an extraordinary circumvention of the FDA’s power to examine drug safety and efficacy before patients use them.13 Two Harvard Medical School professors who studied off-label dispensing in The New England Journal of Medicine noted that it bypasses all the “arduous testing required of drug companies” and “clinical trials… [to] determine whether a drug is safe and effective for an intended use.”14
When doctors were empowered with off-label dispensing authority in 1938, there were fewer than twenty prescription drugs for sale in America. Entire classes of drugs—antibiotics, tranquilizers, hypertension meds—were yet to be invented. Drugs were not complicated, certainly nothing remotely like the later generations of biotech medications. Since 1938, the FDA has approved some 1,500 drugs.15 In the far more complicated and fast-paced world of today’s medical and pharmaceutical industries, the Harvard researchers warn that without the FDA “manufacturers could potentially bury physicians and patients in an avalanche of ‘information’ to promote drugs.” While no single piece of data might be “technically fraudulent,” the overall presentation might create a false appearance of safety or therapeutic benefit. No practicing physician has the time to independently verify the accuracy and context of the tsunami of information.16
The same unfettered discretion given to physicians, however, is strictly regulated when it comes to drug companies. It is a criminal violation for any pharma company or its employees to suggest any use of a drug that deviates from the strict terms of the FDA approval. Drug firms must submit a Supplemental New Drug Application and provide evidence of efficacy and safety before the FDA approves any changes.
Doctors, meanwhile, do not have to give any reason for their off-label dispensing. Oncologists often use chemotherapies off-label since one approved for a single type of cancer might show promise in treating other types of tumors. Cardiologists sometimes treat congestive heart failure and even anxiety with drugs approved for hypertension. And there is a disproportionate off-label dispensing of antipsychotic drugs to elderly patients, particularly those in long-term-care facilities.17
It does not matter to a firm’s bottom line if a hit drug was prescribed 10 million times annually to treat the condition for which the FDA had originally approved it, or if half the sales were off-label. When the off-label prescribing reaches a tipping point, pharma companies then apply for “another medical use” to the FDA.
Many pharmaceutical companies have stories about how off-label dispensing led to hit drugs. Two hypertension drugs unexpectedly turned into popular “lifestyle” medications after doctors noticed patient side effects. The FDA approved Upjohn’s Loniten (minoxidil) in 1979 to control high blood pressure. At the University of Colorado, a first-year resident asked the chief of dermatology to check on a patient in her forties with an odd skin reaction. Loniten had lowered her high blood pressure, but she had hair growth on her legs, arms, and along the hairline. The dermatology chief, only partly in jest, said, “Boy, this would be great stuff if we could apply it to the top of our heads.”18 Word that a possible hair growth medication was available spread. Balding men began asking their doctors about how they could get it. Starting in the early 1980s, the nation’s dermatologists wrote on average twice as many Loniten prescriptions off-label than did cardiologists for hypertension. Several dozen “hair restoration” clinics sprang up across the country. When Upjohn had trouble keeping up with the demand, American doctors ordered it from foreign distributors.19 It took Upjohn until 1988 before it got FDA approval for a totally reformulated prescription liquid called Rogaine.
A year after Rogaine hit the market, British Pfizer scientists discovered Rivatio (sildenafil citrate), a treatment for pulmonary arterial hypertension, a condition where blood pressure in the lungs is too high and causes shortness of breath, fatigue, and chest pain. It did not take treating physicians long to notice that male patients “did not want to give back the unused medication.” A nurse later recalled that when she went to check on a patient’s blood pressure during a clinical trial, all the men in the clinic were lying on their stomachs. Only then did she discover sildenafil’s side effect was that it caused erections.
Pfizer could not ignore that the off-label prescribing for “enhanced sexual performance” boomed. It took off early on because a rumor went viral in the pre-internet world: many men mistakenly thought it increased penis size.20 It also was in demand from recreational drug users, especially circuit parties where it was mixed with the club drug ecstasy and dubbed “sextasy.” It took Pfizer until 1998 to obtain FDA approval for Viagra to treat the newly minted condition of “erectile dysfunction.”21 II 22
Ortho-McNeil learned its Tri-Cyclen birth control pill had another use when doctors at Stanford reported that female students arrived at the campus clinic asking for “The pills that cure acne.” The FDA allowed Barr Pharma to sell its Seasonale birth control to women who wanted fewer menstrual cycles (“menstrual suppression).” And extensive off-label dispensing allowed Bayer to get FDA approval for its oral contraceptive, Yaz, not only to treat acne but also for a premenstrual dysphoric disorder, a supercharged type of PMS that was identified only in 1987 as a stand-alone condition.
Allergan was mostly an ocular care company when it paid $8 million in 1991 to buy Oculinum, a drug developed by a San Francisco ophthalmologist.23 III 24 The FDA had approved it in 1990 to treat two rare disorders, benign essential blepharospasm (BEB), a progressive neurological disorder that results in eyelid spasms, and strabismus, a misalignment of the eyes that causes them to wander and can lead to vision loss.25 It was not long before doctors noticed that the drug, renamed Botox (short for BOtulinum TOXin), improved the appearance of wrinkles at the injection sites near the eyes. Botox took off. Dermatologists and cosmetic surgeons had trouble keeping up with baby boomers hoping to turn back the aging clock (10 percent of the users were men, leading to the nickname Brotox). Samantha Jones, the self-consumed publicist played by Kim Cattrall in the hit HBO series Sex and the City, helped make it part of the culture: “I don’t really believe in marriage. Now, Botox on the other hand, that works every time.”26
Most of that happened in the first decade while the drug was dispensed only off-label. It is unlikely that the hundreds of thousands of patients who paid $400 to $500 per session to lessen temporarily the appearance of their facial wrinkles were aware that it was not FDA approved for cosmetic treatment. Nor did they probably know that the CDC and military bioterrorism experts listed its active ingredient, botulinum toxin, as one of the world’s deadliest nerve agents. When the San Francisco ophthalmologist had conducted his lab studies in the 1970s, he had to obtain the toxin from the military’s biological warfare facility at Fort Detrick, Maryland. It was the same poisonous toxin that thrives in defectively canned food. When consumed it can cause paralysis and death.27
There was no better test case than Botox to demonstrate the inviolable natural right of U.S. doctors to prescribe drugs off-label. The FDA did not object to injections of the toxin around the eyes and in the forehead. There were no tests then about whether it could migrate into the central nervous system, where it would cause havoc. Was there a possibility the body might produce its own antibodies to a foreign toxin and over time use it to attack other cells spontaneously? Did injections every four to six months weaken the body’s immune system?
Some other popular off-label drugs had proved disastrous.28 Thalidomide had been approved in Europe in the late 1950s as a nonaddictive sleep aid. Doctors prescribed it off-label to control morning sickness for pregnant women. It was that unapproved use that led to the horrible birth deformities that became thalidomide’s legacy.29 Fenfluramine was a drug approved for weight loss for the morbidly obese. For off-label use it was often combined with a related drug, phentermine, and nicknamed fen-phen. It was dispensed not only to the morbidly obese but to two million patients who wanted a simple fix to shedding some extra pounds. It was pulled from the market after two years of accumulating reports that it caused a spike in cardiac valve disease and severe pulmonary hypertension.30 Wyeth had to halt all off-label dispensing of its hormone replacement, Prempro, as “protective against heart disease,” when a massive, multiyear study revealed it resulted in a significantly higher risk of breast cancer.
Allergan, in 2002, would finally get FDA approval for Botox for the “temporary improvement in the appearance of moderate to severe glabellar lines in adults aged 65 or younger.” It was the first drug ever approved for a strictly cosmetic purpose. Botox, which was used in fewer than fifty thousand nonsurgical cosmetic treatments in 2001, broke four million annually in 2010. Its sales did not slow at all when the FDA ordered it to have a black box label warning about rare but potentially life-threatening complications (two children had died during trials for treatment of cerebral palsy). Since Botox was only dispensed at clinics or doctors’ offices, patients never saw the warning on the box in which the vials were shipped. And few if any treating physicians mentioned it. Botox was, by the time of its black box warning, entrenched as Allergan’s best-selling drug, a position it held for fifteen years. It consistently averages about 20 percent of the company’s annual revenues ($3.2 billion in 2018).
Pfizer’s Lyrica was approved originally for epilepsy and severe anxiety but was widely dispensed by doctors to treat spinal cord injury and diabetic nerve pain. Before its patent expired, Pfizer got the FDA’s okay for it to treat those conditions.31 That merely expanded the off-label uses for Lyrica, and its generic Pfizer cousin gabapentin. They are among the most widely used drugs for many types of pain, chronic cough, menopausal hot flashes, and even depression. A March 2019 New England Journal of Medicine review by two University of South Carolina doctors concluded that in “many well-controlled studies” Lyrica was little better than a placebo in treating pain.32
One of the researchers, Christopher Goodman, told The New York Times’s Jane Brody, “Patients and physicians should understand that the drugs have limited evidence to support their use for many conditions, and there can be some harmful side effects, like somnolence, dizziness and difficulty walking.”33
Those caveats did not slow Lyrica’s sales. Since 2011, off-label dispensing has provided about half of its annual revenues. During those eight years, Lyrica was mostly at or near the top ten selling drugs worldwide, and brought in $37.5 billion to Pfizer.34
The Sacklers had no such hopes that some enterprising doctors might find off-label uses for MST Continus and turn it into a blockbuster. The single restriction for off-label prescribing is that it is banned for all controlled substances.35 Purdue had to concentrate on less ambitious ways of extending its patent. Together with Mundipharma, Napp, Bard, and other Sackler companies, Purdue researched how to alter MST Continus just enough to qualify for an extension. Lab technicians tested dozens of different sustained release coatings in the hope of converting dosing from twice to once daily. Researchers examined dispersion methods to better control the drug’s peak plasma level. That would allow custom-tuning of the pill to the patient’s physical ailments. Suspension technology, the ability to dissolve the drug in a powdered form, was another line of research.
A ten-year study found that 80 percent of the top one hundred best-selling drugs had gotten at least one patent extension by using a “new and improved” application. More than half had multiple extensions.36 (Purdue ultimately received thirteen new patents for its best-selling opioid painkiller OxyContin, released in 1996 and its exclusive sales rights extended through 2030).
Purdue and the Sacklers had backed the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association’s efforts to get Congress to pass a seven-year extension for all patents. At twenty-four years it would have provided the world’s longest patent protection and would save small drug companies like Purdue all the hard work and cost of developing “new and improved” versions. The PMA’s thirty-five directors had lobbied for the longer patent at every legislative session since 1980. Congress nearly passed a PMA-drafted bill in 1982 but objections from generic drug manufacturers led to the vote’s postponement. They contended that any agreement extending the exclusive time to sell a drug for traditional pharma firms should be part of more sweeping legislation that made generics more readily available.37 Just as mainstream drug firms griped about how the Kefauver Amendments had made the FDA approval process torturous, generic drug companies grumbled about how that same law made it difficult for them to get their medications to market.38
After the thalidomide disaster, the Kefauver Amendments had concentrated on safety. That was the reason for the much more intensive clinical testing requirements for new drugs. All the safety and efficacy data were treated as if they were the proprietary information of the drug company that submitted it. Some shared it by publishing articles in scientific journals, but others kept it private. Except for antibiotics, which were exempted, that created a problem for generic manufacturers. The Kefauver statute required generic makers to submit a voluminous application with enough scientific literature to demonstrate convincingly that their copy was safe and effective. If they could not do that, their remaining option was to conduct their own costly clinical trials. Adding to the problems for generic manufacturers was that the FDA was so swamped with branded-name drug applications that it often pushed generic ones to the bottom of the pile.39 The FDA, described by The New York Times as “the Federal Government’s most criticized, demoralized and fractionalized agency,” could not keep pace with the expanded powers it had gotten in the 1970s.40
Senator Ted Kennedy spearheaded an effort under the Carter administration to address shortcomings in the drug approval process. The result was the Drug Regulation Reform Act of 1978, which among other provisions gave the FDA more discretion to quickly approve a lifesaving breakthrough drug before the clinical trials were completed. It also expanded the agency’s power to regulate pharma manufacturing processes as well as to require firms to conduct post-marketing studies of how their drugs were performing. And, spurred by a patient advocacy group for Huntington’s disease, a fatal genetic brain disorder, Kennedy included in the new statute the creation of a National Center for Clinical Pharmacology. One of its missions was to address the dearth of research and development for so-called orphaned drugs.
The new law did not address how to speed up approvals for drug applications at the FDA.IV41 Most generics remained stuck in the slow lane. And there was not much the FDA could do to process drugs faster. Ronald Reagan had followed through on his campaign promise to cut the size of government agencies. During his first term, the FDA’s budget was slashed, and it cut six hundred employees.42 Drug approvals were not the only important understaffed division. Patient advocacy groups, backed by the Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration and the Department of Health and Human Services, had implored the FDA for several years to take action against Quaaludes (methaqualone), a barbiturate-type sleep aid. Rorer, the company whose most famous pre-Quaaludes product was the over-the-counter antacid Maalox, had started selling them in 1972. Before the end of the decade, the little white pills were one of the most popular and widely abused recreational club drugs. Pill mills that passed themselves off as “stress clinics” diverted tens of millions of tablets. By 1980, fewer than a dozen pill mills accounted for more than three fourths of all annually prescribed Quaaludes.43 Ludes, disco biscuits, or quads, as they were called, led to an explosion in hospital admissions, date rapes, even lethal overdoses. The FDA never managed to put in place the dispensing restrictions that might have made a difference, instead only ordering some changes to the label that had little impact.
The Drug Enforcement Administration pushed the Food and Drug Administration out of the equation in 1984 by listing Quaaludes on Schedule I of the Controlled Substances Act, making their sale illegal in the U.S.44
That same year California congressman Henry Waxman and Utah senator Orrin Hatch brought the Generic Trade Association and the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association to the negotiating table. By the time they met, many generic manufacturers had given up on trying to make copies, even of a successful drug whose patent had expired. By 1984, there were nearly 150 brand-name medications that had come off patent and for which no generic version had FDA approval.45 The few generic makers that tried going against the grain ran into the obstacles posed by Big Pharma legal departments. In 1984, Hoffmann-La Roche prevailed in a high-profile patent infringement suit against a generic firm, Bolar. The D.C. Circuit Court enjoined Bolar from even conducting its bioequivalence testing before Roche’s patents expired. The court expressed sympathy for Bolar’s contention that there should be an “experimental use” exemption to allow it and other generic companies to develop drugs that were ready for submission to the FDA the moment the patent expired on the brand-name medication. That was, the court ruled, a “legislative activity proper only for the Congress.”46
The cost of such restricted generic competition was that patients paid anywhere from double to ten times more for brand-name drugs.47 Waxman and Hatch hoped they could find common ground so a deal might benefit patients with more drug choices and competition.
In early talks, the standoff between the pharma companies and the generic makers seemed unbreakable. The momentum shifted to the generics after the FDA issued a report that estimated that more generics would save consumers about $1 billion over a decade.48 Waxman and Hatch used the study to offer a compromise. Generics would only have to demonstrate to the FDA that they were the bioequivalent of the brand-name drug, meaning their copies offered the same strength, concentration, release pattern, and purity. They no longer would have to demonstrate efficacy but instead could rely on the studies provided in the original application for the brand they were copying. The Generic Trade Association enthusiastically endorsed the proposal. A lot of major drug companies thought it woefully insufficient.49
To appease the traditional drugmakers, the lawmakers offered extensions for drug patents, up to five years depending on a somewhat abstruse formula. The statute calls it “patent term restoration,” and it can add a maximum of five years to make up for the time in regulatory review and half the period used for clinical trials. (In 1997, the FDA initiated a rule that allowed a six-month extension to any patent on which the drug company tested its product for pediatric use; two hundred companies have gotten that credit.)
Over a series of rancorous board meetings, the thirty-five directors of the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association debated an issue they knew was fundamental to the industry’s future. The winning argument was that there was a real risk that Congress might pass the legislation even if the industry group presented a unified opposition. The groundswell of public support, combined with the lobbying by many “rare disease” patient groups, had brought the generics bill close to cracking the bipartisan support levels it needed to pass. If the drug industry was seen as only obstructive, protecting its own interests rather than focusing on what was best for patients, it might result in an even more punishing bill.
The vote by the drug reps was 22–12 in favor of the Hatch-Waxman compromise. Those voting against it included some of pharma’s biggest names, including Hoffmann-La Roche, Merck, Schering-Plough, Johnson & Johnson, Squibb, Ciba-Geigy, Bristol-Myers, A. H. Robins, American Cyanamid, and American Home Products.50 They were not standing on principle for the industry but focused on the impact the proposed law would have on their bottom lines. Ayerst Laboratories, a division of American Home Products, had a $300-million-a-year heart drug, Inderal, that was set to come off patent at the end of 1984. Roche’s patent on Valium, still selling more than $250 million annually, was set to expire in 1985 (Roche offset the impact of losing Valium’s patent by making a deal with Britain’s Glaxo to help market the ulcer treatment Zantac. It became the world’s biggest-selling drug.)51 More than half of the country’s top fifty selling drugs were set to come off patent in the coming decade.52
Upjohn thought that discounting a hit drug might scare away generic competitors. Its Motrin (ibuprofen) was the world’s top selling nonaspirin and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory and was scheduled to come off patent the following spring.V Motrin was responsible for ten percent of Upjohn’s $2 billion in annual revenue and 40 percent of its profits. In July, Upjohn tried preempting any discounters by cutting its wholesale price for Motrin by 35 percent. The results were not good. In the short term, the stock market pummeled Upjohn’s shares.53
A last-ditch lobbying effort by those opposed to the law failed. In September 1984, Congress passed comprehensive legislation that “created the modern US generic drug industry.” That law, The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act, was informally known as the Hatch-Waxman Act.54 The companies that had opposed the statute watched to see if the maneuvering by Upjohn in decreasing the price of Motrin, and directing its sales force to redouble its efforts to have pharmacies keep it as their first nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug, paid off. It did not. Rivals were prepared. The FDA had increased its Generic Division from thirty-two to fifty-four employees. It quickly approved several lower-strength over-the-counter versions. The shelves at local drugstores were soon stocked with Advil from American Home Products, Nuprin by Bristol-Myers, Thompson’s Ibuprin, and Johnson & Johnson’s Medipren. Motrin’s sales plummeted 40 percent.
As for Inderal, Ayerst Labs’ hypertension drug, within a year of it coming off patent in 1984, twenty generic versions had FDA approval. Some sold at half of Inderal’s list price. Ayerst waged an aggressive multipronged campaign against the FDA-licensed copiers. It concentrated on doctors, since polls indicated that 80 percent thought that generics would fall short on delivering the same quality and efficacy as the brand-name medication.55
Ayerst paid for a dozen academic researchers to write articles for medical journals emphasizing the potential health risks of generics (only one disclosed Ayerst’s backing). The company also sponsored a study in JAMA that picked a few outlying examples to conclude that the cost savings were negligible. It sent out “Dear Pharmacist” letters warning that if there were any quality problems with the copies of Inderal, druggists might be responsible for lawsuits by patients who had heart attacks as a result of switching medications.56 And it offered free airline tickets anywhere in the U.S. for physicians who switched full-time to prescribing only Inderal Long-Acting, a less popular extended release formula on which it still had a patent for another two years. Finally, Ayerst disseminated information that the FDA standards under Waxman-Hatch only required that the statistical variation between the efficacy of the brand-name drug and the generic be no more than 30 percent. Was it worth possibly saving a few dollars on a prescription to run the risk that the bargain medication could be close to one-third less effective? (The FDA tightened its standard to a 20 percent deviation in early 1987, although in practice the variation is often closer to 5 percent.)57
Despite Ayerst’s campaign, in the two years following its patent expiration, Inderal sales were slashed by a third.58
The Waxman-Hatch Act had made generic manufacturers a force. The failure of Ayerst and other traditional companies to defend their off-patent best-selling brand drugs was evident in the industry’s sales numbers. Before Waxman-Hatch, generics accounted for $1.5 billion of the $21 billion in annual drug sales. Two years after the legislation, generics had more than tripled to $5.1 billion, capturing 23 percent of the market.59 That success was despite the lobbying efforts of the Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association to enlist allies to raise questions about their safety and efficacy.60
Arthur Sackler thought Hatch-Waxman was a terrible development. Of course he had a personal stake in the outcome, since his McAdams advertising agency made its money from hundreds of millions spent on promotional campaigns for brand-name drugs, and generic manufacturers then did little advertising. Sackler tried to help his Big Pharma clients by publishing a series of articles in several of his most widely circulated medical journals, all passing along some supposedly terrible incidents about generics. One that received wide attention was “Schizophrenics ‘Wild’ on Weak Generic.” It ran in the September 25, 1985, edition of Medical Tribune, distributed free to the nation’s physicians. According to the article, when the psychiatric intensive care unit of the Charlie Norwood Veterans Administration hospital in Athens, Georgia, switched from the brand-name tranquilizer Thorazine to a generic, “11 previously stabilized patients ran amok and needed increased dosages until the hospital went back to Thorazine” a month later.61 At that point, the patients returned to their previous calm states “as if a switch had been flipped.”
When the FDA investigated, it discovered that half the patients had not received either tranquilizer. The other half did exhibit some behavioral problems, but not nearly as dramatic as the retelling in Medical Tribune. Moreover, those patients were on the generic for six months before there were any adverse indications, not the one month “as if a switch had been flipped” in the version Sackler published.
In that sensational article, the only person quoted about what supposedly had happened at the VA was the clinic’s chief psychiatrist, Dr. Richard Borison. The FDA concluded in its probe that Borison had acted in good faith but the study lacked “the rigor of a truly scientific investigation.” No one at the FDA put together that Borison and Arthur Sackler had long had professional ties. Not even Sackler could have imagined that a decade later a Georgia grand jury would issue a 172-count indictment against Borison and a colleague for having “developed and executed a scheme through which they systematically stole in excess of $10 million” and that they “routinely lied to conceal their crimes and endangered the safety of the patients and study participants they were employed to serve, protect and heal.”62 A CBS 48 Hours report said the pair had “turned human drug trials into their personal money machine.” One of the biggest scams, according to the indictment, involved AstraZeneca’s antipsychotic Seroquel. They certified it as an effective pharmaceutical fix for post-traumatic stress disorder, although their clinical studies had demonstrated nothing of the kind.63 Borison was ultimately convicted, sentenced to fifteen years in prison, fined $4.2 million, and stripped of his medical license.64
Long before Borison was brought to justice, Sackler cut back on publishing the “generics are dangerous” stories. It was tilting at windmills, he told a colleague. “Generics are here to stay.” (Today they account for 80 percent of all prescription drugs dispensed.)65
I. The United States was the last country that used the FTI (first to invent) standard for a patent. It was measured usually when the inventor filed a patent/trademark or copyright or sometimes by other evidence of when the invention was created. It did not matter if someone else filed for the patent. So long as an inventor could demonstrate they had the idea first, they would get the patent rights. In 2011, President Obama signed the America Invents Act, which converted the U.S. to the international standard of FTF (first to file). For patents filed prior to June 8, 1995, the term of the patent is twenty years from the first filing date or seventeen years from the issue date, whichever is longer. There are also different patent periods for biologics (twelve years) and small molecule drugs (usually pills with a simple organic composition, five to seven years).
II. Rogaine’s sales never lived up to the pre-release expectations; widespread media stories had touted it as a cure for baldness but its sales disappointed Upjohn after patients reported the results were slow and less dramatic. It was responsible only for $11 million of Upjohn’s $776 million in revenues in the first six months it was on the market. Viagra, on the other hand, was an instant hit. On the first day of sales, March 27, 1998, pharmacists ran out of stock across the nation. Rivals called it the “Pfizer Riser.” It went on to become a $2 billion drug for Pfizer over a decade and created a new drug category. Eli Lilly’s erectile dysfunction drug, Cialis, shot right to the top after its 2003 release.
III. Dr. Alan Scott, the ophthalmologist, had been searching for a cure for crossed eyes. He noticed that injections of the drug near the eyes of experiment monkeys had a side effect: it reduced forehead wrinkles. Decades later Scott told a reporter, “I really wasn’t tuned into the practical, and valuable, aspect of that.… I was a pretty good doctor and not a bad lab worker, but I was not a great businessperson.”
IV. What did help beginning in 1992 was that drug companies agreed to pay the FDA special fees for “Accelerated Approval” or “Priority Review.”
V. Motrin holds the title as the biggest-selling nonnarcotic prescription painkiller brand name in pharma history. More than half its sales were in the decade before the FDA approved an over-the-counter version at a lower strength.
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SELLING HEARTS AND MINDS
The executives who ran the largest pharmaceutical companies believed the best way to push back against generics was to develop and patent groundbreaking drugs that gave them years of a selling monopoly. Competing against generics on price only meant lower profit margins. Firms redoubled their research efforts searching for new medications. Ever since the mega-success of Smith Kline’s Tagamet, the focus had been on products that would similarly target specific cell receptors. The difference to a company’s bottom line between a commercially successful drug and an epic seller was enormous. Merck had developed a series of hit drugs starting with Clinoril to treat arthritis in 1978. It had pushed sales up by 15 percent. The following year Merck released Mefoxin for bacterial infections. It too was a hit and sales growth went up by another 20 percent. And in 1980, a glaucoma treatment, Timoptic, went on sale and Merck got another 15 percent sales bump.
“But successful as they were,” said Roy Vagelos, then the chief of Merck’s research labs, “these drugs were not the kind of blockbusters that can change the sales and profit curves of a large corporation for a full decade.”1 The jump in sales was gone a year after the release of the third medication. And the increase in net income was only half the sales increase.
Tagamet’s development highlighted the importance of technological and scientific breakthroughs in the laboratory. Advances in molecular modeling allowed Sandoz researchers to create 3D models that were indispensable in developing cyclosporine, an interleukin-2 inhibitor that reduced the chances of an organ transplant rejection. X-ray crystallography provided precise structural parameters for receptor inhibitor drug design. Parke-Davis developed the first robotic means of speeding the discovery of potential drug compounds (parallel synthesis). Glaxo made the automated techniques that got the most from combinational chemistry, enabling scientists to quickly make millions of structurally similar molecules that were then screened to isolate good drug candidates. Nuclear resonance imaging produced such detailed scans that scientists used them to study how their drugs encountered tissue and cells.
The new technology was not cheap. Only the largest companies could afford the hundreds of millions of dollars required to update their labs. Some swooped up tiny biotech firms to get a leg up on rivals. Eli Lilly acquired Agouron, at the forefront of 3D computer drug design, while Bristol-Myers bought Oncogen and Genetic Systems, both with patents on new techniques for analyzing nerve and brain cell therapies.
Pharma companies were aware, however, that it took more than buying the latest technology or purchasing some promising biotech. The key remained the quality of the researchers in the lab who used the new technology to discover and develop drugs. The richest firms competed to hire the best and brightest scientists. Merck, Squibb, and Glaxo raided university and government labs and offered huge salaries. Smith Kline, to protect its position at the top, joined in the frenetic hiring binge.
The top ten drug companies gambled an inordinate amount of their research budgets on trying to “hit the lottery” with one or two blockbusters. It occasionally worked. Smith Kline’s H2 antagonist anti-ulcer drug, Tagamet, had no direct competition for six years after its 1977 introduction. Its sales accounted for a quarter of the company’s revenue and an extraordinary 40 percent of profits.2 But Smith Kline soon turned into a cautionary tale for the rest of the industry. It did not reinvest its profits into its research division. The company’s researchers produced only a fraction of the scientific papers that came from Merck and Lilly. It had only twenty-eight drugs under development, less than a quarter of what some rivals had under way.
Glaxo introduced Tagamet’s first direct challenge in 1983 with its anti-ulcer drug named Zantac. It had the advantage of twice-a-day dosing as compared to Tagamet’s four times a day. Glaxo launched an Arthur Sackler–styled promotional campaign, emphasizing the results of clinical trials that demonstrated it had fewer side effects than Tagamet.3 Tagamet’s sales fell by nearly 20 percent in the first year after Zantac was released.
Smith Kline made developing a new and improved Tagamet its top priority. But the lab failed repeatedly. Three years after its release, Zantac climbed past Tagamet in sales. Smith Kline’s profits were soon slashed in half.4 Zantac not only became the second drug in history after Tagamet to earn $1 billion in annual sales, it did it twice as quickly as Tagamet. By the start of the 1990s, Zantac outsold Tagamet three to one.5 Smith Kline’s financial troubles were made worse since it did not have another lucrative product in its drug pipeline. In the wake of Tagamet’s demise, the company was forced by the end of the decade into a merger with British-based Beecham by 1989 (the same year that Bristol-Myers and Squibb had a mega-merger).6 I 7
If Smith Kline in the 1980s exemplified the perils of overrelying on a blockbuster and failing to put enough money and guidance into science and research, Dr. Roy Vagelos, Merck’s CEO, was shaping a company that was its antithesis. Vagelos believed that Merck’s reputation for excellence in bringing new drugs to market should not be diminished by chasing only medications that the marketing department thought might be commercial hits.8 Merck was then the only big pharma company that had never had a drug recalled. It was evidence, Vagelos contended, that its unmatched quality and standards were because of the people who chose to work there.
Vagelos was a bit of an anachronism. The New Jersey–born son of Greek immigrants who had lost their small candy store during the Great Depression, he was the only major drug CEO whose roots were as a research scientist. As somebody who preferred test tubes to spreadsheets, he had a different long-term view of the industry than many of his rivals. The self-effacing physician who considered it a compliment that he was called “a researcher’s researcher” had become enamored with working in the laboratory after he got his medical degree in 1954 from Columbia and interned at Harvard’s premier teaching hospital, Massachusetts General. From there he went to the NIH, where he worked with some leading biochemists.9 Vagelos left the NIH in the mid-1960s to transform Washington University’s biochemistry department into one of the country’s premier research centers. In the early 1970s he accepted a consulting offer from Merck’s chief of research to help “their scientists better understand what was going on at the cutting edge of biochemistry and enzymology.”10
Vagelos liked what he saw at Merck’s labs and was intrigued that they had independently found a possible drug compound that lowered blood cholesterol, although he noted “they didn’t know the mechanisms of action at the molecular level.”
Merck’s organic drug research was the ideal complement to the intricate science background that Vagelos had developed over years of his own intense research on lipids. In 1974, Merck asked him to become president of all its laboratories and direct all new pharmaceutical projects.
Vagelos went into Merck with statins as his top priority. He knew that a couple of years earlier, a biochemist, Akira Endo, had assembled a small team at Tokyo’s Sankyo Pharmaceuticals. Its mission was to develop a cholesterol-lowering drug. Since the 1960s, researchers knew that cholesterol was mostly manufactured by a single liver enzyme (HMG-CoA). What had stumped everyone, however, was that no one could locate a compound that inhibited that enzyme and thus caused it to produce less cholesterol.11
At the beginning of 1975, Endo’s team, which had tested more than six thousand microbes, found one, compactin. It produced the long-sought enzyme inhibitor as part of its own natural defense against other germs in the body. Rumor of the breakthrough raced through biomedical and pharma labs worldwide. Tempering the enthusiasm, though, were reports that it caused debilitating muscle and tumor growth. Rumors were widespread that Endo had stopped his experiments since so many test dogs had died. Although those later turned out to be inflated accounts, they were serious enough to prevent Endo from conducting human testing. It also scared away several pharmaceutical firms from licensing deals with Endo.
Vagelos redoubled the effort at Merck. Three years passed before his team developed a high-speed process for screening thousands of soil microbes. In a common soil microorganism, they found biological activity that inhibited their target liver enzyme.12 After the chemists isolated the active substance, lovastatin, Vagelos and his team realized their discovery was chemically quite similar to Endo’s compactin. It took repeated testing before the Merck team was confident that lovastatin was a separate, stand-alone product.
It took another three years before the compound met Vagelos’s exacting standards. Human clinical trials began in 1980. The cholesterol-lowering results bested the most optimistic calculations. “In the laboratories we were ecstatic,” recalled Vagelos, and even the marketing group began expressing some excitement. Lovastatin had a brand name by then: Mevacor.
Overcoming all the FDA hurdles for the first drug of its type in an entirely new class of treatment was painfully slow. While it was tied up at the FDA, Vagelos became Merck’s president.
He was in a unique position. Merck was about to release a series of important drugs. As the former chief of research, Vagelos had a familiarity with those drugs that no other pharma CEO had with their products. Anyone who thought that he was a science nerd who did not have the stomach for the hypercompetitive world of selling drugs was disabused of that notion when he oversaw the product launches. First up was Pepcid, Merck’s entry into to the antacid and ulcer competition. Its campaign for Pepcid had been designed before Vagelos took charge. Tagamet and Zantac had a head start that Pepcid did not make up for, but it ended up with revenues exceeding a billion dollars a year.13
Vasotec, an ACE inhibitor that was the first rival to Squibb’s big hit, Capoten, had been designed in Vagelos’s lab and this was his first chance to influence how it was marketed. Merck settled on an understated pitch to cardiologists about clinical test results that demonstrated it was far superior to Squibb’s drug. Vasotec took off after its 1986 release. It not only surpassed Capoten in sales within two years but became Merck’s first ever drug to have revenues of a billion dollars in a single year. It had gotten to that watermark in half the time it had taken Squibb’s drug.14 When Vasotec made the billion-dollar club, Merck was the only pharmaceutical firm that had fourteen other drugs with annual sales of at least $100 million.15
Mevacor was in the final stages of FDA review as 1987 got under way. When it did get an okay later that year, its ten months from the submission of the application to the final approval was an FDA speed record. Merck had a specialized department consisting of 120 employees dedicated only to organizing all the data from clinical trials and preparing and stewarding the applications through the FDA.16
Before Mevacor was ready to release, Vagelos had to make a tough decision about another drug developed in the company’s laboratory. What he decided would help to define his tenure, and Merck itself, as much as sales figures and profit margins. The drug was Mectizan, effective against river blindness and filariasis, parasites that were a scourge in the developing world. Since most of the sales would be to poor countries that had trouble affording it, Merck tried and failed to get the U.S. government and the WHO to subsidize its production and distribution costs.
When Vagelos raised the possibility of giving Mectizan free to any country that asked for it, and absorbing potentially tens of millions in costs, many executives objected. As a public company Merck had a duty to its shareholders. Launching a program that would cut into profits was not good business. Moreover, some contended, if Merck gave away Mectizan, it could set a dangerous precedent in which groups affected by virulent diseases, from malaria to HIV, might demand free drugs for those who could not afford them. All that would do, said the naysayers, was to end research on any medicines for such illnesses. Vagelos too worried about doing something with Mectizan that forced the company to do it time and again on future drugs. However, he concluded, “If we decided to sell Mectizan, it wouldn’t reach those who needed it most regardless of how low we set the price.”17
In the fall of 1987 Vagelos announced Merck would donate Mectizan free of charge to any country that asked for it. The WHO pitched in to help on the distribution. It marked the only instance in modern pharma history in which a leading firm gave away a drug they discovered and patented in order to eradicate a disease. It matched the spirit, he thought, when George Merck told the 1950 graduating class of the Medical College of Virginia that “medicine is for the patient… not [just] for the profits.”18 “(By the time the scientists who discovered Mectizan won the Nobel in Medicine in 2015, Merck had distributed over a billion doses in thirty-three countries.)19 II 20
When Mevacor launched that fall, it set its own sales record, the fastest drug in history to reach the $150 million to $200 million category.21 That was just one record it notched on the way to becoming Merck’s second billion-dollar-a-year drug.
While those medications went on sale, Merck’s research and development teams were preparing their replacements. One of Vagelos’s principles was that any successful drug should be replaced by a better and improved one by the time the first one lost its patent. Zocor, a second generation of Mevacor, was far along by the late 1980s. Prinivil would be version 2.0 of Vasotec. When Losec replaced Pepcid, Vagelos struck a partnership with consumer giant Johnson & Johnson, and the duo made Pepcid the most successful ever OTC acid-reducer. Besides the next generation of each star drug, the company had almost one hundred other medications in its pipeline it expected to dominate different categories.
Merck’s remarkable success through the 1980s made Vagelos something of a legend. His peers thought of him as a throwback to the days when the focus was as much on cures as it was on profits. He somehow managed to do both better than his rivals.
Vagelos reinvested a large percentage of profits back into Merck’s research labs, more than a billion dollars a year. It was far more than any of his predecessors. It helped generate the creative freedom he felt was the hallmark of his early years at the National Institutes of Health. Some competitors thought he was wasting Merck’s profits. They spent their own money buying biotech firms or each other. Roche took Genentech, American Home Products bought American Cyanamid, and Pfizer spent $115 billion to acquire Warner-Lambert and $60 billion to get Pharmacia, which by then had merged with Upjohn.22 Glaxo purchased Burroughs Wellcome and Smith Kline bought Beecham, Bristol-Myers. It was not long before Glaxo and SmithKline Beecham merged into the new Glaxo SmithKline.23
Some of Merck’s top executives urged Vagelos to consider a merger with a rival. As the industry consolidated, the size and scope of the new firms might afford them significant advantages. The strengths of one would complement the weaknesses of the other so the combined company would be a more formidable competitor. Vagelos’s contrarian approach, however, paid off. He had predicted that the merger of different cultures would prove more difficult a challenge than the companies expected. Some wasted hundreds of millions on research projects that did not produce any new drugs. Others botched licensing and expansion opportunities, endured internal upheavals, defections of their best researchers, and clashes between the marketing departments of one firm with the research labs of another.
Pharmaceutical mergers and acquisitions were not the only industry trend that Vagelos monitored from a distance. American pharmaceutical companies had for decades benefited from unrestricted power in setting their drug prices. Employer-provided health insurance paid for 90 percent of brand-name prescriptions at their full list price. What caught Vagelos’s attention was that an emerging group of new insurance providers, offering lower-cost options and more restrictive coverage, were challenging the generous private policies that had been a mainstay of American corporate benefits since World War II.
“Managed care was one of the domestic areas in which I thought Merck was responding too slowly,” Vagelos later noted. “In 1988, about 30 million people were already enrolled in managed care, and our studies indicated that many more Americans would soon join them.”24
“Managed care” had been virtually nonexistent before the Nixon administration marshaled the Health Maintenance Organization Act through Congress in 1973. It was a trial program to support the development of HMOs, independent networks of doctors and hospitals that provided services for a fixed annual fee paid up front. Medical costs were covered only if a patient stayed with health care providers in that network.
Nixon garnered bipartisan support from a Democratic-controlled Congress by pressing the case that managed plans like HMOs might slow the nation’s accelerating health care costs. It was an opportune time to make that argument since rising drug prices had busted the Veterans Administration and Medicaid budgets for four consecutive years. As the country entered a recession in 1973, the economy was marked by stagflation, a term coined for the rare combination of a sluggish economy and high unemployment buffeted by escalating prices. Inflation jumped dramatically in 1973 from 3.4 percent to 9.6 percent, putting further pressure on finding a way to slow the upward pressure on drug prices.
Before the HMO Act, managed care insurers were a negligible part of the health care market. The first one, Kaiser Permanente Medical Care Program, had opened after World War II in San Francisco and most of its enrollees were unionized shipyard workers who were required to join.25 Although Nixon made a good case for the lower fixed costs of managed care, no one then put together that Kaiser was founded by Henry Kaiser, the CEO of eponymously named industrial conglomerates in construction, shipbuilding, steel, and aluminum. Kaiser’s son, Edgar, ran the HMO. The family backed Nixon in his unsuccessful runs for president in 1960 and California governor in 1962, and again in his successful races for the presidency in 1968 and 1972.III26
The 1973 statute directed millions of dollars in federal subsidies, loans, and grants to HMOs. The Nixon administration forecast that HMOs could cover as many as 50 million Americans in a decade. To achieve that goal it required that any employer who already offered medical insurance and had twenty-five or more employees had to present an HMO as a choice. Managed care policies had been off the radar for the country’s employers. Once the law required it to be considered as an option, HMOs seemed attractive because they were priced at substantial discounts to the individual policies that had dominated the medical insurance marketplace. The early HMOs did not include prescription drug coverage. After a few years some covered a limited list of approved medications.27
The pharmaceutical industry was slow to respond to the ramifications HMOs might have on drug pricing. Even some of the smartest CEOs underestimated their impact. The greatest beneficiary was Kaiser Permanente, which had nearly 50 percent of all new enrollees in the first decade. The New York Times later dubbed Kaiser “The King of the HMO mountain.”28 (It is still one of the nation’s largest as of 2019, with nine million members and $22.5 billion in revenues.)29
An unintended consequence of the momentum toward managed health care was that it opened the door to a new service-oriented segment of the prescription drug industry. Just four years before Congress had passed the HMO Act, a small company called Pharmaceutical Card System (PCS) opened in Scottsdale, Arizona. It was not a health insurer but had adapted to prescription drugs the concept developed by payroll companies that processed employee wages, taxes, and withholding for corporations. PCS was the first firm to process prescriptions for medical insurance companies, maintain formulary lists, and reimburse pharmacies. It removed the burden of voluminous bureaucratic paperwork associated with drug benefits programs. PCS got paid by collecting a small fee for every claim it processed. It might have remained a mostly unknown company that had carved out a small niche of the medical insurance market had it not been for McKesson, the country’s largest drug distributor. McKesson saw in the PCS business model an opportunity to create a new sector of the American pharmaceutical industry. In 1970, less than a year after PCS had opened, McKesson bought it.
McKesson used that acquisition to create pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs). The McKesson model was not simply a data processor that saved insurance companies time and paperwork. The PBMs McKesson envisioned would assemble vast patient networks and exert independent power as middlemen in the drug distribution network. Their profits would be the difference in discount prices they negotiated from manufacturers and lower reimbursement rates they paid to pharmacies. Pharmacy benefit managers emerged by serendipity when many of America’s Fortune 500 companies were struggling to control soaring drug costs for their employees and retirees. Benefit programs for federal and state workers faced the same cost crunch.
More than a million customers came to PBMs from General Electric, IBM, and General Motors. Tens of millions more would become part of PBM patient lists in the coming decade. PBMs not only relieved the HMOs and other private medical insurance companies of the bureaucracy of processing their own benefit programs, they took over the responsibility for creating and maintaining the all-important drug formulary lists.
Over time they introduced mail order drug delivery programs that put pressure on the corner drugstores that had been the mainstay of how Americans had long filled their prescriptions. PBMs also developed computer software that increased the speed and accuracy of processing prescriptions. That forced national retail pharmacy chains to hire them as their own in-house service providers. All their different roles as middlemen meant that pharmacy benefit managers became repositories of the drug history for tens of millions of patients, able to provide potential side effect or contraindication data to pharmacists when patients switched doctors, went to work at a new company, or moved to another state.
Merck’s Vagelos watched the power of PBMs increase through the 1980s. They were, he said, “revolutionizing the way many Americans purchased our medicines.” By 1990, for instance, the largest PBM was seven-year-old Medco. It serviced 38 million patients, “an astonishing number for such a young enterprise,” marveled Vagelos.30 PBMs like Medco did much more than drive a hard bargain for the best prices from pharmaceutical companies. They could make or break a drug’s commercial prospects by deciding whether it got listed on their formularies. Each PBM had a slightly different list of approved medications. Low prices were initially the most important factor in deciding whether a drug got on the list. When Congress passed the Hatch-Waxman Act in 1984 and opened the door to generic competition, the PBMs were situated to give patients the lower-cost copies on the formularies. If there was no generic in a category, the PBMs negotiated to find which pharma company was willing to discount its branded drug most heavily.
The largest drug companies slowly realized the PBMs were threats to their unrestricted pricing power.31 That concerned Vagelos and other pharma CEOs. They worried about spending many years and hundreds of millions of dollars to develop a drug and then running into an obstacle with pharmacy benefit managers about whether it would be placed on a formulary for insurance coverage. Discounting list prices from the first day of sales to get on the formulary was anathema to the large pharma companies.
While Vagelos kept a wary eye on the growth of PBMs, it was not yet worrisome enough to mar what had become a golden era at Merck. Starting with Mevacor’s release in 1987, Fortune ranked Merck as America’s most admired company for a record seven consecutive years (“a stunning demonstration of managerial excellence”).32 Fortune concluded Merck was a “pioneer in discovering lifesaving drugs” and noted that Vagelos “has personally recruited some of the brightest academic researchers to work in his labs.”33
Vagelos and Merck’s executives relished the company’s sterling reputation. It served as a magnet for recruiting the top scientists to its research labs at the same time as it encouraged doctors to dispense more Merck-branded drugs. At the halfway mark of what would be Vagelos’s six-year tenure, the company’s stock had risen 500 percent.34IV Vagelos’s decision to give Mectizan free to the developing world to eradicate river blindness, while at the same time turning out record profits, is why author Barry Werth said, “Merck was both the Arnold Schwarzenegger and Mother Teresa of American businesses.”35
I. There were smaller “one-drug” companies that ran into problems. Robins was bought by American Home Products after it was decimated by lawsuits over its Dalkon Shield contraceptive. Rorer fell back on Maalox after its hit Quaalude was banned as a Schedule I controlled substance. French-based Rhône-Poulenc bought Rorer at a discount in 1990. And Mexico’s Syntex had a big hit with Naprosyn, its nonsteroid anti-inflammatory, which it produced from its Palo Alto subsidiary. It went from $800 million annual sales in the second half of the 1980s to less than 20 percent of that once its patent expired. Roche bought Syntex in 1995 and immediately laid off one third of the U.S. workforce.
II. Some critics claim that Merck got tax credits for the value of the Mectizan it donated. Moreover, the company took advantage of the considerable good press it received as a result of Vagelos’s altruism. Still, Merck has continued the good work to the current day, and as a result the WHO has forecast that by 2021 river blindness might be eliminated completely.
III. The idea for HMO legislation was something Nixon discussed with his domestic affairs assistant, John Ehrlichman, during his first term. In 1971, the two talked about what Ehrlichman called “these health maintenance organizations like Edgar Kaiser’s Permanente thing.”
IV. While Vagelos had turned Merck into the industry’s top profit earner, he was personally rewarded very well. Evidence is that since his retirement, he and his wife, Diana, have donated $450 million to his alma mater, Columbia University. A third of that is to pay for loans that students would otherwise have had to take.
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“NO ONE LIKES AIRING DIRTY LAUNDRY IN PUBLIC”
The Hatch-Waxman Act that opened the door to robust generic competition caused considerable anxiety at Purdue. The FDA had not approved MST Continus for sale in the U.S. until 1987, seven years after it had gone on sale in the U.K. For the American market, Arthur thought MS Contin was a more commercial name than the Latin-based Continus. Purdue did not have the luxury of a pipeline of drugs ready for release every couple of years. The Sacklers would not mind Purdue Frederick being dubbed a one-drug company if its solo product was a smash hit.
Under FDA rules that the time for a drug patent ran from the date of discovery, Purdue had as little as five years before generics undercut MS Contin profits.1 Such competition was not much of a concern before Hatch-Waxman.2 The Sacklers had been in the industry long enough to know that any regulatory statute, no matter how well intentioned by those who crafted it, had loopholes. It did not take long to find one in Hatch-Waxman. That law required the FDA to freeze the approval process for any generic drug if the brand-name patent holder challenged it in court. The lawsuits quickly became a kitchen sink of allegations, everything from questioning the safety of the generic’s manufacturing facilities to accusations of corporate espionage to claims of patent infringement. The legal costs were usually a fraction of what a drug company might earn by keeping the patent intact on its blockbuster medication. Bristol-Myers Squibb later lost its litigation but not before it blocked for two years any generic competition to its hit Taxol cancer drug. Bristol had earned hundreds of millions from Taxol while it kept the copycat drugs tied up in the courts for an estimated $20 to $25 million in legal costs.3 In other cases, parties avoided litigation with what the industry dubbed “pay for delay.” Brand manufacturers paid generic companies to delay their drugs. Bayer paid $398 million to a competitor to postpone its generic rival to Bayer’s Cipro antibiotic. Bayer earned nearly twice that by keeping Cipro unchallenged.4
MS Contin was profitable but not such a success that Purdue could afford to tie up would-be generic competitors in litigation. Richard Sackler—with the blessing of his father, Raymond—spearheaded a project that he hoped would protect Purdue from generic headwinds. Richard wanted an improved painkiller, one that might have much broader commercial appeal than MS Contin.5
Dr. Robert Kaiko, Purdue’s vice president of clinical research, had been a key researcher on MS Contin. He agreed Purdue should concentrate on producing new “controlled-release opioids.”6 The company knew the field of narcotic painkillers well, said Kaiko, so there was no reason to take too far a detour for its next-generation product.
Both Sackler and Kaiko believed that MS Contin’s active ingredient, morphine, was problematic if they hoped to reach a larger market. Morphine had too notorious a reputation. Purdue’s own data showed that doctors dispensed MS Contin mostly to terminal cancer patients.7 “It was an inhibition to the use of a product in every application,” Richard Sackler later testified. “I believe the stigma… [was] that morphine was an end-of-life drug, if it was to be used at all.”8
It did not take long before Purdue’s science team settled on a different opioid, oxycodone, a chemical cousin of heroin. Two other drug companies were researching extended release narcotic painkillers but neither had focused on oxycodone.9 While there were some oxycodone-based painkillers on the market—Percodan (oxycodone and aspirin) and Percocet (oxycodone and acetaminophen)—they were immediate release pills. If Purdue could master an extended release oxycodone-only pill, it would be the first of its kind.
This was the period during which the Sacklers filed several patents that provided a chemical roadmap for such a drug. To prevent competitors from easily finding out what they were up to, they assigned some of the patents to Mundipharma. Most, however, went to a company called Euro-Celtique. The author tracked Euro-Celtique to Luxembourg, where it was incorporated. It was an affiliate of Purdue Biopharma LP, a now defunct New Jersey–based subsidiary of Purdue Pharma LP.10 Napp in the U.K. was working in tandem with American Purdue. Napp had 30 percent of its Cambridge staff dedicated to research. After its success with MST Continus, that focus helped Napp obtain approval for additional narcotic painkillers, from Sevredol, an immediate release morphine tablet, to Palladone, a synthetic opioid several times stronger than heroin (pulled from the U.S. market in 2005 because of “serious and potentially adverse reactions can occur… [when] taken together with alcohol.”).11
The good news for the Sacklers in the U.S. was that they knew any narcotic painkiller they developed would be well received by doctors. Oncologists liked MS Contin and had judged it a solid advance in palliative care. Purdue’s medical department had sponsored nine multidose studies in Canada and Europe. The results were published in Cancer shortly after it went on sale in the U.S. Ninety-three percent of patients with “moderate to severe cancer related pain… achieved satisfactory to excellent analgesia on a twelve-hour regimen.” The remaining 7 percent got “good results with eight-hour dosing.” The bottom line was that MS Contin “was judged to be significantly more effective, and with significantly fewer side effects than both the pre-study opioid analgesics.”12
There had been few options before MS Contin for treating the pain of terminally ill patients. Most short-acting opioid-based painkillers were mixed with aspirin or acetaminophen. Since the immune systems of cancer patients were compromised from chemotherapy or radiation, the mixed analgesics could result in life-threatening liver damage.
Besides lobbying his father and uncles for prioritizing an MS Contin successor, Richard Sackler also raised a more fundamental issue. The younger Sackler thought it was time to create a new company.13 Most of Purdue Frederick’s product line, he told them, was outdated and it did not have a reputation inside the industry for dramatic lab discoveries. Betadine and Senokot might be well known but they garnered little to no respect from rivals.
The elder Sacklers had a sentimental attachment to Purdue Frederick and liked it as it was. They were satisfied with the solid profits from a product line that did not depend on the fate of a single hit drug. The company they had bought in 1952 had never lost money. Sales had increased annually. Their international operations through Napp and the Mundipharma network were expanding rapidly.
Richard was not the only member of the next generation of Sacklers, however, who had grander plans.I The younger Sacklers felt burdened to live up to the expectations of their demanding, rags-to-riches parents. And it was tiring, the author learned, when at industry events someone looked at one of their business cards and said something to the effect of “Oh, the Betadine company.”14 They wanted to build a new Purdue beyond the imagination and vision of their fathers and none thought that was possible by relying on products such as laxatives, disinfectants, and MS Contin.
Arthur, Mortimer, and Raymond cautioned patience. Wait for the next painkiller from the labs, they suggested, before deciding. Maybe it was time instead to introduce Napp Pharmaceuticals to the United States? Since its 1966 founding, it had carved out a solid reputation in Britain and Europe for innovative laboratory research and quality products.
All the Sacklers agreed that the pharmaceutical industry in which Arthur, Mortimer, and Raymond had created their empire was undergoing rapid change. AIDS activists had shamed the FDA into putting a few experimental drugs on a faster approval track. Some pharma executives hoped quicker approvals might filter down to less important drugs.15 That seemed unlikely, however, since the FDA’s budget had been slashed even before it had the added responsibility for AIDS. That put the agency under great stress in the second half of the decade as it tried playing catch-up for its failure to respond aggressively earlier. The FDA’s smaller size and added duties would lead over several years to what its commissioner, Dr. Frank Young, called a “partnership” with the drug industry. It no longer had the staff or budget to be as adversarial, even if it wanted to do so.
Some of its failures played out publicly. A blood screening test to detect HIV antibodies was not available until 1985, when the Reagan downsizing had decimated its ranks of blood supply inspectors. Plans for the blood industry to police itself proved unrealistic. Blood banks, including the Red Cross, repeatedly labeled and sold as safe blood products that had tested positive for HIV or hepatitis.16 Pharmaceutical firms were not much better. Armour ignored the advice of one of its scientists and for two years sold infected blood that caused infections and deaths in the U.S., Canada, the Netherlands, and the U.K.17
Richard Sackler contended that if the FDA did not have the resources to regulate something as critical as the nation’s blood supply during an era of AIDS, it meant that the approval bottleneck for non-lifesaving drugs would only worsen. Even if Purdue researchers developed a good MS Contin successor, it might get bogged down in the FDA’s cumbersome bureaucracy.
Arthur was the only senior Sackler who did not totally dismiss the ideas of his nephews and nieces. He suggested the family should consider renaming Purdue Frederick as Sackler Pharma and spin it off. Then he proposed creating a new Purdue Pharma to assume the risks and rewards of future drug launches.18 Arthur thought his solution was simple and ideal. Raymond and Mortimer were not enthusiastic. It had been many years since Arthur was able to dictate what they should do and when it came to Purdue, which was their fiefdom, they seemed almost instinctively to reject whatever he suggested.
While the Sacklers debated Purdue’s future, Arthur had a couple of moments about which to brag to his brothers. Scientific American asked him in 1985 to join its board of directors, stocked with medical and pharmaceutical luminaries. Linus Pauling, the American biochemist who had won the Nobel in Medicine as well as the Nobel Peace Prize, dedicated his 1986 book, How to Live Longer and Feel Better, to him.19 Mortimer and Raymond knew their brother and Pauling had been friends since the early 1960s when Pauling’s political activism had gotten him branded a peace activist with communist sympathies (Pauling unsuccessfully sued the National Review and its editor, William Buckley, in 1965 for writing that he was a “fellow traveler” with the Soviets). Pauling and Sackler shared political passions in opposition to the Vietnam War and the growth of the American military.
The family discussions sparked by Richard Sackler’s ambitious idea for a different kind of drug company were cut short the day after Memorial Day, May 25, 1987. A panicked telephone call came into the family before dawn. Arthur had fallen unconscious at his Manhattan home and was rushed to Columbia-Presbyterian Medical Center. The grim word came that afternoon from the treating physicians: seventy-three-year-old Arthur had died of a heart attack.20
It happened so quickly that no one in the family had a chance to prepare for his death and say, as one friend later said, “a proper goodbye.” Mortimer, then seventy, and Raymond, sixty-seven, may have often bristled at Arthur’s dismissive, know-it-all attitude, but they had not known a world without him.II21
Arthur’s will was submitted for probate the following month. All his property and art was in two eponymously named trusts. Michael Sonnenreich, Arthur’s friend, lawyer, and occasional business partner, was the executor. The probate court also appointed him in the important fiduciary role of independent trustee, whose responsibility was to ensure that the trust was administered as Arthur wanted.22 The other trustees were Arthur’s first wife, Else; his then wife, Jillian; and his four children from two marriages (Carol Master, Elizabeth Sackler, Arthur Jr., and Denise Marika). Marietta was conspicuous by her absence. Arthur was insistent she be excluded from any role overseeing the estate and she got no bequests.
The estate was very conservatively valued for tax purposes at $140 million. Mortimer, the author learned, laughed when he heard that valuation. He considered it at least twice that and said, “They must have divided by two.”23 German-based Springer, Europe’s largest newspaper publisher, paid $75 million just for Arthur’s Medical Tribune.24 III 25
Arthur directed that all the income produced from the trust be paid annually to Jillian, who had only married Arthur six years earlier. That bequest infuriated his children, who split a single payment of $600,000. Sackler’s will kicked off two decades of often nasty litigation between family members. They spent millions in legal fees over battles that left enmity between some of them to this day. Sonnenreich and Arthur’s children brought Jillian to court in an unsuccessful suit to invalidate the trust.26 She later sued the trust when it denied her request to loan some of Arthur’s art collection for an exhibition she planned and also to use a sixteenth-century Chinese bed and several other collectible pieces of furniture on display at her home.27 She prevailed initially but the judgment was overturned on appeal.28 Jillian also failed later to stop the sale of some of Arthur’s collection, including his Renaissance ceramics (majolica), and some terra-cottas and bronzes.29 She later refused to pay $2 million of a $3.5 million bill from her original lawyers, Breed, Abbott and Morgan. They sued for their fee and she counterclaimed for malpractice.30 At another point, Else Sackler had to sue to get $2 million from the trust over a contested promissory note Arthur had created before he died.31 Even a dispute over $54,000 in a bill submitted by a previous guardian ad litem (appointed for any interest Arthur’s grandchildren might have had in the estate) ended up in court (the judge awarded half the amount).32 The squabbling did not stop even after Else’s death in 2000. Arthur’s children from their marriage, Carol and Elizabeth, were appointed as the trustees for their mother’s estate. They were soon part of a bitter lawsuit, a 2007 action in which they all had different takes on the executor’s commission.33
While most of the estate litigation pitted Arthur’s children against his third wife, Jillian, they also sometimes joined forces against Mortimer and Raymond. Sonnenreich told the author that the first problem arose from Bill Frohlich’s IMS. “It was Arthur’s creation,” Sonnenreich says. “Arthur had removed himself so there was no appearance of any conflict of interest between his advertising agency and IMS. He put Mortie and Ray into it. And they had all agreed that if Frohlich ever sold it, his share would be split four ways.”34 Instead, Mortimer and Raymond got $37 million each when Dun & Bradstreet acquired IMS in 1988, a year after Arthur’s death. There were heated meetings about whether Arthur’s family would receive anything from the IMS sale.
“Mortie and Ray knew about the Frohlich agreement, but they pretended they didn’t,” Sonnenreich recalled.35 Raymond relied in part on advice from the New York law firm of Chadbourne & Parke. A partner there, Stuart Baker, had been the chief outside counsel for Purdue Frederick since the late 1970s. Mortimer had also retained an American law firm in case the Frohlich dispute went to court. (Since he lived abroad, Mortimer relied on a British solicitor, Christopher Benbow, who represented the family’s U.K. pharma firms.)IV
Ultimately, it was not possible to challenge Mortimer and Raymond since both Frohlich and Arthur were dead. There was no documentation to support the “handshake agreement.”36 Arthur’s children were not the only ones furious at their uncles. Jillian complained that the duo had taken millions in outsized profits from Purdue Frederick, money that should have been split with Arthur. “There was supposed to be a three-way agreement with Purdue Frederick, and they have taken gigantic sums out of that,” Jillian complained to Sonnenreich.37 The final, bitterly contested buyout of Arthur’s one-third share in Purdue Frederick was $22,353,750 (when OxyContin became a blockbuster after its 1996 release, that would be less than a week of its sales). Following the family tradition of insisting on long payment schedules for their philanthropic gifts, Mortimer and Raymond demanded and got one: the last installment to Arthur’s estate was November 1997, more than a decade after he had died.38
All the family battles that followed Arthur’s unexpected death stayed out of the press. The Sacklers were not yet famous enough to attract lurid coverage from New York’s tabloids. That was good news for the family, says Sonnenreich. “No one likes airing dirty laundry in public.”
I. The “next generation of Sacklers,” in this instance, refers to Raymond’s sons Richard and Jonathan and three of Mortimer’s children, Mortimer A., Kathe, and Ilene. None of Arthur’s four children ever had anything to do with Purdue Pharma. “The Sacklers,” when used in reference to Purdue Pharma, covers all the Sackler family directors, including first-generation members Mortimer, Raymond, and his wife, Beverly. All declined through their attorneys or representatives to be interviewed for this book. Other Sacklers, including Arthur’s children and some of the grandchildren of Mortimer and Raymond, did not answer interview inquiries. Beverly Sackler, Raymond’s first wife and a Purdue director, died in October 2019, while my interview request was pending with her New York publicist. A different New York publicist representing Arthur’s third wife, Jillian, asked for more information about my project, but this did not lead to an interview.
II. By the end of 1987, Mortimer and Raymond told friends it was a pity Arthur had not lived to see Eli Lilly release the world’s first selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI), Prozac. It kicked off a mental health revolution. Prozac—and the chemical copycats that followed—Zoloft, Celexa, Lexapro, among others—was as much a cultural watershed for the way people viewed clinical depression and its treatment as the contraceptive pill had been in 1960 for women to control reproductive rights. Prozac was the first SSRI to reach a billion dollars in annual sales. It and the SSRIs that followed were the fulfillment—in an updated and more sophisticated chemical composition—of the Holy Grail: a lifestyle mind drug that Arthur Sackler had searched for in the late 1950s. SSRIs replaced Valium, Xanax, and the benzodiazepines as the world’s best-selling psychopharmacologic drugs.
III. In 2006, the estate’s value was reduced by $21 million from an original estimate in the value of Sackler’s art collection. It made that adjustment based on a 1998 appraisal from Sotheby’s. A smaller appraisal translated into lower estate taxes.
IV. Both Baker and Benbow were directors of Sackler companies before Arthur’s death (Baker incorporated Mundipharma Inc. in New York in 1979 and Benbow had been a director of Napp in the U.K. since the mid-1970s). Benbow resigned nearly fifteen of his director’s positions on different Sackler-owned foreign corporations in 2016 and 2017. As of 2019, the author confirmed that Stuart Baker was inactive as a director on some twenty companies, but was an active director on more than a dozen, including Britain’s two Napp companies, five Mundipharma firms in the U.K., and others in India, Denmark, and Myanmar (files in collection of author). Neither attorney has ever been named in any complaint filed against a Sackler company nor ever accused of any wrongdoing by plaintiffs who subsequently sued Purdue over its aggressive marketing of OxyContin, its blockbuster narcotic painkiller.
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“THE SALES DEPARTMENT ON STEROIDS”
Richard Sackler got his wish, a new company to “take on the risk of new products.”1 Purdue Pharma Inc. incorporated in 1991, five years before it launched the successor to MS Contin. Raymond Sackler’s sons, Richard and Jonathan, as well as two of Mortimer’s daughters, Kathe and Ilene, became Purdue Pharma directors. Raymond’s wife, Beverly, and Mortimer’s third wife, Theresa, as well as another of Mortimer’s seven children, Mortimer Jr., joined the board a year before the company’s new drug went on sale.2
That oxycodone-based drug was still an unnamed product. Its first clinical trial had only been completed in 1989.3 Purdue would not even apply for a patent until 1992. The drug’s development was under the aegis of Purdue Frederick but only until it went on sale; it would then become a holding company.4 The marketing and sales meanwhile were split between Purdue Pharma Inc. and Purdue Pharma LP, another company the Sacklers created in 1990.5 They also incorporated PF Laboratories as the manufacturer. As for asset protection and tax mitigation, the family stuck to what the senior Sacklers had done since the 1960s and assigned key patents on the pills’ enhanced extended release coating to their Swiss-based Mundipharma AG.
Richard Sackler later admitted that while the corporate structure was indecipherable to outsiders, at times even he found it “confusing and complex.” Years later, in a deposition, he could not recall whether the directors of the many companies were the same or different.6 Nor was he certain whether sales representatives were employed by Purdue Frederick or Purdue Pharma.7 When asked, “How many Purdue entities are there?” he replied, “I don’t know.” He could not even provide a guess as to how many Sackler-owned companies existed.8 I 9
What was not in doubt was that a privately held and family-controlled drug company of Purdue’s size was increasingly rare.10 The pharmaceutical industry had been swept up in a mania of mergers and acquisitions that started the previous decade. There were $500 billion in deals over ten years. The Sacklers had watched with some envy as biotechnology companies only a fraction of Purdue’s size had successful public offerings on not much more than a dream encapsulated in a single product that existed only on paper. By the mid-1990s the largest ten firms accounted for half of all drug sales versus only 20 percent at the start of the consolidation.11
Only the large pharma conglomerates could afford research and development costs that had multiplied more than sixfold since the 1970s.12 Despite all the significant progress in chemistry and biology, it was still virtually impossible for scientists to be certain how a drug synthesized in the laboratory would react in people. Only about fifteen of every thousand lab compounds made it to clinical trials.13 After a GAO report found that nearly half the 209 drugs the FDA approved between 1976 and 1985 had caused serious and unexpected side effects, the agency set stricter guidelines.14 That meant human studies were more complex and expensive than ever. By the 1990s, each clinical trial for a mass-market drug included about five thousand subjects, more than double what had been required in the 1970s.15 Yet the success rate for the drugs that began those trials remained the same dismal 10 to 20 percent.16
Purdue had spent $40 million in developing and testing its MS Contin successor, which it had named OxyContin.17 While that was a fraction of what Big Pharma paid on major drugs, it was almost ten times more than the Sacklers had ever committed to a product.18 Richard Sackler kept assuring them it was a worthwhile investment.
OxyContin held the promise for all their dreams. In its November 1992 patent application, Purdue presented its drug as a breakthrough because a single dose lasted twelve hours to “control pain in approximately 90 percent of patients.”19 The emphasis on its twelve-hour duration was at the heart of Purdue’s strategy to set OxyContin apart from rivals. In pre-sales surveys, Purdue learned that patients with chronic pain rated as “very important” whether a treatment might require less frequent dosing. Its twelve-hour effectiveness was also the drug’s only tangible benefit on which Purdue could focus. Clinical trials had demonstrated that OxyContin did not have any therapeutic advantage over other opioid-based painkillers. The FDA later concluded in its review that OxyContin provided no better relief than immediate release generic oxycodone dispensed four times daily.20
Few outside of Purdue and the FDA knew that even the claim of twelve-hour pain relief had been cast into doubt in half a dozen clinical trials the company had sponsored. A third of the subjects needed another dose to offset pain before twelve hours expired.21 Under FDA regulations, however, only half of those in a trial had to get twelve hours of relief for the company to make the claim. About 55 percent of the trial subjects got the full relief Purdue promised.
In 1995, as the OxyContin application was pending at the FDA, Purdue geared up for what the Drug Enforcement Administration would later describe as “the most aggressive campaign for an opioid in U.S. history.”22 The Sacklers had opened up their checkbooks even before FDA approval to exert influence in the opioid and pain reevaluation movement. Purdue created a speakers bureau that attracted some of the leading pain management advocates, including two of the pioneers, Drs. Portenoy and Haddox.23 That speakers bureau was only a warm-up. Before and immediately after OxyContin’s 1996 release, Purdue spent millions on grants to patient/pain advocacy groups and sponsored over twenty thousand pain management educational programs. It subsidized dozens of conferences at which some five thousand doctors and pharmacists got all-expense-paid trips to listen to company representatives praise OxyContin as a “breakthrough painkiller.”24
One of Purdue’s most innovative ventures was creating special pain management curriculums at leading universities. It trained a future generation of physicians in the philosophy of “pain as the fifth vital sign” and that “not all opioids are bad.”25 At Tufts University, Purdue funded a master’s program titled “Pain, Research, Education and Policy” and was one of the biggest donors to the Tufts School of Medicine.26 An annual “Sackler Lecture” featured internationally renowned pain specialists. Tufts later appointed Richard Sackler a director of its medical school and when it gave his father, Raymond, an honorary degree, its president said, “It would be impossible to calculate how many lives you have saved.”27 At Massachusetts General, Harvard Medical School’s largest teaching hospital, the company spent millions on the Purdue Pharma Pain Program. It rolled out similar initiatives at Northeastern, Boston Universities, and the Massachusetts College of Pharmacy.
Purdue also spent money on medical associations that advocated for more liberalized dispensing of opioids.28 It provided 80 percent of the funding for the American Pain Foundation, a pain management organization of which Portenoy was a director.29 The University of Wisconsin’s Pain and Policies Studies Group depended on Purdue’s largesse.30 The company also wrote big checks to the American Pain Society and the American Academy of Pain Medicine. (A year after OxyContin’s release Purdue gave them $400,000, and through 2017 contributed an additional $2.1 million).31 II 32
Purdue, of course, was not the only pharmaceutical company with an opioid drug that dispensed money to the professional pain societies, as well as doctors and patient advocacy groups. Knoll Pharma (Vicodin), Ortho-McNeil (Tramadol), and Janssen Pharmaceuticals (Duragesic) provided about 40 percent of the associations’ annual budgets in the 1990s and more than a million dollars through promotions often disguised as public service education about pain.33
Beefing up the detail team was another pre-sales priority. Purdue doubled its sales force to six hundred before the drug launch.34 A good sales rep’s one-on-one pitch to a doctor was an unmatched way of creating a best-selling drug. The senior Sacklers knew firsthand that a detail team was indispensable. They recalled how in the 1950s, American Brands/Wyeth had knocked off Carter-Wallace’s number one selling tranquilizer, Miltown.35 The two companies marketed chemically identical drugs under different brand names. Although Miltown had the advantage of being first on the market, Carter-Wallace could not maintain the sales momentum since it had no detail team. American Brands, on the other hand, had its 1,500 salesmen saturate the country.36 The success of American Brands sparked a boom in detail teams. Into the 1970s the drug industry spent twice as much on promotion and marketing as it did on research and development.37
There was another benefit to one-on-one pitches. Since there was no record of what was said in the doctor’s office it was impossible for competitors or government regulators to determine if the salesmen adhered to the efficacy limits the FDA had set for the drug or provided adequate warning about side effects. Sales representatives were careful not to leave notes at the doctor’s office. Purdue’s internal documents reveal that management constantly reinforced to the detail squad that they “commit nothing to a permanent record.” Anyone making such a mistake would be subject to “immediate dismissal.”38
In March 1995, the sales and marketing divisions gathered at the company’s Norwalk headquarters to strategize about how to best promote OxyContin.39 First, they were told, it was not simply MS Contin version 2.0. “We do not want to niche OxyContin for cancer pain,” a marketing executive said in leading off the presentation.40 They had to generate enthusiasm about the drug. That required marketing it as the industry’s long-awaited miracle pain reliever, a narcotic analgesic with longer-lasting benefits and fewer risks than any predecessor.
Purdue had discovered in focus groups that general practitioners still balked at dispensing opioids for anything other than end-of-life pain. An independent study showed many were reluctant even then. Half the patients who died in hospitals received no pain medication during their final week. Another report showed that only a quarter of elderly cancer patients in nursing homes were given any medication.41 That opioid-based painkillers were not being used even in hospitals and nursing homes served as a sharp reminder to the sales team of the challenge they faced. It was disappointing that despite a decade of the pain and drug reevaluation movement many doctors stubbornly clung to what the Sacklers thought were outdated views of pain and the risks of addiction from opioids.
Since it was not possible to dodge the issue, Purdue reps were instructed to raise “concerns about addiction” before the physician did.42 Patients developed “a normal physiologic response [but] tolerance and physical dependence [were] not the same as addiction.”43 That only happened, they said, when “a susceptible individual” got the drug and ignored the doctor’s dosing instructions.44 It was understandable that no matter how wonderful a drug, “a small minority” of patients “may not be reliable or trustworthy” for narcotic painkillers.45 If the doctors remained skeptical, the detail team was to show them the drug’s FDA-approved label that stated if OxyContin was used as prescribed for treating moderate to serious pain, addiction was “very rare.”46
To emphasize the point, flashy charts prepared for the sales team illustrated how each pill released oxycodone into the bloodstream at a steady rate over twelve hours. That gave the sales reps a chance to tout OxyContin’s patented, controlled release coating, an improved version of the one that worked so well with MS Contin. That coating, Purdue claimed, made it impossible for addicts to get the rush they chased. Without a high, patients would not want more of the drug as it wore off. Those charts would prove to be powerful aids that bolstered the company’s claim that there was little chance of OxyContin abuse.47 The odds of addiction were “much less than one percent,” the detail squad hammered, so long as the “pain patients are treated by doctors.”48 III 49 One of Purdue’s cleverest marketing lines was that OxyContin provided “relief—not a ‘high’… [when] taken as directed.”50
There was a problem with those charts, however, that would remain a Purdue secret for nearly a decade: the data downplaying the odds of addiction had been skewed.51 Worse, the company approved it although its own clinical trials demonstrated that for some patients up to 40 percent of oxycodone was released into the bloodstream in the first hour or two.52 That was fast enough to cause a high, and for some resulted in a crash that required another pill to feel better.
To tilt the odds in favor of its “low risk of addiction” sales strategy, Purdue later underwrote several studies that reported addiction rates from long-term opioid treatment between only 0.2 percent and 3.27 percent. Rigorous independent studies never confirmed them. It was not rare in the drug industry for a company-sponsored study to return a result that echoed the marketing. A review of a thousand clinical trials over ten years among many different classes of drugs reveals that pharma-funded studies produced favorable results far more often than government-sponsored trials. Depending on the drugs and years, the pharma-subsidized trials produced positive results about a minimum of 50 percent more frequently and for some drugs an eye-popping twenty times more often.53 Those results explain why clinical studies paid for by drug companies, which were only a quarter of all trials in the 1980s, were more than half by the late 1990s.54 And it explains why Purdue financed its own to obtain the right “risk of addiction” numbers so the sales team could tell doctors that “Oxy was non-habit forming.”55 Even as late as 2019, a former Purdue director, Richard’s son, David, when asked in an interview about OxyContin’s addiction rate, cited a 2018 study in the British Journal of Anaesthesia that put it at 4.7 percent. “I think a fair number is somewhere between 2 and 3 percent.”56
The author learned there was at least one later instance in which a Purdue employee at the Stamford headquarters asked whether it was possible the studies had a flawed methodology that led to the underestimating the real-world opioid addiction rate. A division manager closed off any discussion; that question reflected a defeatist attitude, he said, and would not be tolerated.57 IV 58
After OxyContin’s release, Purdue got help in promoting the “low risk of addiction” from the American Academy of Pain Medicine and the American Pain Society.59 Both were beneficiaries of generous funding and subsidies from Purdue and other opioid drug manufacturers.60 They issued a consensus statement emphasizing that opioids were effective for treating nonmalignant chronic pain and reiterating that it was “established” that there was “less than 1 percent” probability of addiction.”61 Purdue had developed its own simplified pain rating scale, a sheet of facial expressions ranging from smiling and happy to frowning and sad. It distributed tens of thousands to physicians.62 Allowing a patient to leave a medical appointment with untreated pain, Purdue sales representatives told doctors, bordered on negligence.
In order for the detail team to concentrate on those physicians likely to write the most prescriptions, Purdue went to IMS (International Marketing Service). Advances in computers and software had changed medical data collection in the near forty years since Bill Frohlich and Arthur Sackler had founded IMS.63 Instead of manually entering data obtained from those pharmacists willing to share it for a small fee, “information technology” allowed IMS and its rivals to collect virtually all prescription information from pharmacies and hospitals. The American Medical Association, representing more than half the nation’s physicians, cooperated by licensing the dispensing information in its “Physician Masterfile.”64
Initially Purdue only bought lists of doctors, sorted by zip code, who were heavy prescribers of existing painkillers such as Vicodin, Percocet, Lortab, and Percodan.65 Those records covered about 5,000 of the country’s 800,000 active physicians.66 According to the charges set forth later in a complaint by the Massachusetts attorney general, that was enough for the sales squad to focus on what Purdue internally dubbed the “core dispensers,” the physicians it believed “could be influenced to increase opioid prescriptions the most.”67 The author discovered that Purdue later spent more than a million dollars to buy IMS’s Cornerstone 3.0 software. It was the only system then capable of providing the sales team real-time updates on prescriptions written by doctors in their sales territory.68 That software “put the sales department on steroids,” recalled an assistant marketing manager.69
Purdue did not expect its detail team to make a generic pitch to doctors for more liberal dispensing. The marketing team had targeted specific patient groups in the hope of tapping into a much wider market than the one for MS Contin. Geriatrics topped the list. Sales reps told doctors that OxyContin improved “the quality of life” for seniors. They played off the phrase “performance enhancing drugs” that described anabolic steroids used by athletes, to suggest that Oxy could “enhance personal performance.”70 There were no studies that supported their “quality of life” or “personal performance” claims. And they did not mention those studies that showed patients older than sixty-five on opioid painkillers had increased risks for falls and bone fractures.71
A second part of the geriatric strategy was pushing Oxy for an indication not approved by the FDA, osteoarthritis. Purdue had tested OxyContin for it and failed to find any benefit. Why misrepresent it as effective in relieving arthritic pain? It is the most common age-related disease, affecting more than 80 percent of those older than fifty-five. And the last element in the geriatric sales strategy was to focus on nursing homes and long-term-care facilities. Purdue thought it possible to “maximize demand” there since they were essentially “open formularies” (they have few limitations on access to medicines).72
Veterans were the next priority. Purdue had accumulated a file of anecdotal evidence that chronic pain was one of the most common complaints at VA hospitals. The Department of Veterans Affairs later released figures that confirmed that 60 percent of vets returning from Afghanistan and Iraq suffered from chronic pain. Fifty percent of veterans from previous deployments had the same complaint. Purdue created separate publications and pamphlets for vets and later contracted with a decorated combat veteran for a book that urged veterans returning from combat zones to ask their physicians for opioids and lobby hesitant prescribers. Opioids were not addictive, claimed the book, unless someone was “predisposed” because substance abuse ran in their family.73
The author learned that there was some discussion inside Purdue that the high rate among returning veterans of substance abuse (estimated at 20 percent) might make them more vulnerable to OxyContin addiction.74 While the focus on veterans later paid off financially for Purdue, it did translate into an addiction rate for veterans much higher than other OxyContin patients. And ultimately, they were twice as likely as the national average to die of a drug overdose.
Aside from geriatrics and veterans, Purdue had a catchall category, those who had never tried opioids. Marketing dubbed them “opioid naive.” The detail team called them OVS (opioid virgins). It was a huge market. Purdue was prepared to distribute hundreds of thousands of brochures that suggested OxyContin could treat many different conditions (none of them expressly approved by the FDA). One of its most popular was “How You Can Be a Partner Against Pain and Gain Control Over Your Own Pain.” It suggested that patients discuss with their physicians if OxyContin was the right remedy for backaches, migraines, sore knees, even tooth extractions.
The second-generation Sackler directors knew that the detail team’s success could make or break the drug. That did not mean, however, that they planned to rely only on direct sales. Purdue authorized the development of modern promotion strategies to coincide with the launch. OxyContin Physicians Television Network was an online video service in which paid medical consultants hyped the drug.75 Purdue set aside a budget large enough for dispatching hundreds of physicians across the country encouraging their medical colleagues to learn about the advantages of dispensing OxyContin for chronic pain. It also funded half-day courses aimed at general practitioners. Purdue needed them to write a lot of OxyContin prescriptions if the drug was to become a blockbuster.76
Online promotion was also a priority. One website, In the Face of Pain, targeted health care professionals looking for information about pain treatment. The content was presented as unbiased professional testimonials, but Purdue did not disclose that it had paid $250,000 to the eleven featured “advocates.”77 Another website, Partners Against Pain, conducted a poll of a thousand chronic pain sufferers. A third of the respondents ranked their pain as “debilitating” while 15 percent said it was so unbearable that they had contemplated suicide.78 Partners Against Pain was where Purdue mastered the art of disguising straightforward public relations as a public service about pain management. The company’s Pain Assessment Scale was the site’s most visited page. Another page claimed that pure opioid agonists such as oxycodone, morphine, heroin, or fentanyl had “no ceiling dose.”79 That meant that a patient in severe pain will always get additional relief from higher doses of opioid painkillers; there is no analgesic ceiling.80 The downside at those high doses is an increased possibility of death since the opioids suppress the respiratory system.81 Purdue did not list that on Partners Against Pain and internal company files reveal it realized consumers were likely to misinterpret “no ceiling dose” to mean that opioids were safe at high doses.82 (It eventually spent $8 million subsidizing Partners Against Pain.)V83
As the date approached for OxyContin to go on sale, Purdue moved its promotion campaign into high gear. Some of the strategies were old-school ones developed by Arthur decades earlier and that had since become standard for drug companies rolling out highly anticipated medications. They included slick brochures, newsletters, magazine inserts, flashy mailings to doctors, big ad spreads in medical journals, and sponsored programs at medical schools. The detail team got ready to distribute millions of dollars in Oxy-branded swag to doctors, pain clinics, hospitals, and nursing homes in their sales territories. There was everything from luggage tags to baseball caps and sweatshirts, notepads, binders and pens, coffee mugs with heat-activated sensors, even stuffed toys for children. Two favorites, for which Purdue had to place reorders repeatedly, was a pedometer stamped: “OxyContin—A Step in the Right Direction,” and a CD, “Swing in the Right Direction with OxyContin,” in which a couple danced over a giant Oxy logo.84 VI 85
All that money was well spent. A later study in New York State demonstrated that for every dollar in promotional goods, entertainment, or travel that a doctor received “he or she prescribes at least $10 of additional opioids.” Purdue expected that the more they spent and lavished on high-prescribing doctors, the greater the return on their money. That proved to be right beyond the most optimistic internal forecasts. The New York study showed that the “top 1 percent of Oxy prescribing doctors got 80 percent of the money paid by Purdue.”86 A study published in JAMA later showed that even something as simple as buying a meal for a doctor resulted in increased opioid prescribing.87
A week before OxyContin went on sale, Russell Portenoy and Dr. Ronald Kanner published a 357-page book titled Pain Management: Theory and Practice.88 Purdue had been expecting it. A dozen well-known physicians, in specialties from rheumatology, anesthesia, behavioral medicine, surgery, psychiatry, and rehabilitation, contributed to what became recognized as the definitive guide to the latest research about diagnosing pain and how to treat it. Opioids, they concluded, were unfairly pilloried because of their “association with drug abuse.”89 Citing 176 studies and journal articles to support their thesis, Portenoy and Kanner methodically dismissed concerns about long-term opioid use. “Misconceptions about tolerance and dependence are common and reflect the stigma associated with opioid drugs.”90
While Portenoy and Kanner admitted there were “unfortunately, no systematic studies of the addiction liability associated with the long-term medical use of opioid drugs,” they were confident their review of “the evidence suggests that the risk of addiction is extremely low in the typical patient with no prior history of drug abuse who is prescribed an opioid for a painful medical condition.”91 VII 92
The American Pain Society followed the Portenoy and Kanner book with a pamphlet, “Treatment of Pain at the End of Life.” It drew the startling conclusion that distressed patients would not turn as frequently to suicide if opioid painkillers were dispensed more freely.93
I. Mortimer and Raymond followed Arthur’s playbook and incorporated multiple Purdue-named entities during several years before and after OxyContin’s release. The author located nearly seventy post-1990 “Purdue Pharma” companies, most concentrated in the Northeast. In Delaware, there were twenty-six Purdue-named companies, sixteen in Connecticut, and another five in New York. An additional Arthur-inspired strategy was using similar company names. In half a dozen instances, the only difference were the letters at the end of the name indicating its legal status, as with three separate Purdue Neuroscience companies, one a Corp., another an Inc., and the third an LP. The same business addresses often overlapped for some, including Purdue AO Pharmaceuticals Inc., Purdue Biopharma, Purdue Healthcare Tech, Purdue Pharma Manufacturing Inc., Purdue Associates, Purdue Land, and Purdue Products.
II. The heavy spending not only continued but increased until 2016 when it dropped for the first time. From 2013 through 2017, Purdue spent $49 million on doctors and a broadly defined category “Research Payments,” the latter comprising mostly grants to teaching hospitals. The author calculated that about 70 percent of those funds were directly for promoting OxyContin, and more than 95 percent for Purdue’s stable of opioid-based drugs. The payments to doctors were primarily consulting fees, but also included approximately $3 million for “food and beverage,” another $900,000 for speaking fees, and $750,000 for “travel and lodging.”
Purdue’s $49 million was a small part of the industry’s overall $9 billion spent on 900,000 doctors over the same time. Details on the the promotion money paid by pharmaceutical companies, broken down by specific drugs, became public in August 2013, as required by the Affordable Care Act (it was included in a provision of the statute aptly titled “Physician Payments Sunshine Act”). The federal government’s Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services has compiled huge raw data information files for public review (https://openpaymentsdata.cms.gov), and ProPublica has entered it into a single searchable database. Also, there is public information about payments from 2009 to 2013 for seventeen drug companies that were required to disclose it as a result of litigation settlements. Those companies represented about half the drug sales in the U.S. Purdue was not one of them.
III. No one was aware that Arthur had drawn the opposite conclusion about the addictiveness of narcotic painkillers. The author discovered 1966’s The Anatomy of Sleep, a 135-page book about the physiology and pharmacology of sleep. Arthur helped Roche Laboratories prepare the book. It was designed to subtly promote Librium and Valium as useful sleep aids, although the FDA had not approved them for that purpose. In discussing other pharmaceutical aids, it stated: “If sleeplessness is pain-related… primarily, narcotics are prescribed for relief of pain.… The addiction potential of narcotics is well recognized in our century, as it was not always in the past.”
IV. That concern later turned out to be right. All the studies had excluded patients with preexisting mental health disorders or previous substance abuse. Those were the very patients who were far more likely to develop addiction problems. Later studies that included those patients also followed them over a year or more of outpatient treatment. The reported addiction rates in those studies ranged from a low of 32 percent to as high as 80 percent.
V. Software programmers added a feature to Partners Against Pain that made it easier for patients to find a local “pain specialist.” Referrals were provided based on the patient’s address. What the patients did not know was that the website was coded to display the contact information only for doctors who were heavy prescribers of narcotic painkillers (information Purdue knew from its IMS data files). Before OxyContin’s release, Purdue had compiled a database of tens of thousands of patients who were searching for pain specialists. That became part of a special promotion file Purdue aggressively utilized once the pill was on sale.
VI. Some gifts by sales reps in other drug companies became the examples of what not to do. A Pfizer detail man once paid a doctor an “unrestricted educational grant” of $35,000. Both knew it was so the doctor, a top prescriber, could build a swimming pool in his backyard. The larger debate was whether doctors were unduly influenced by modest drug company gifts. Studies reveal that physicians who accept perks and gifts are more likely to write prescriptions for that company. That is a statistical coincidence, claim defenders of the gifts policy. Bert Spilker, a senior VP of the drug industry trade group PhRMA, wrote in an editorial in Health Affairs, “I find it hard to imagine that any of my colleagues would compromise professional concern for their patients… [by] ‘selling their souls’ for a pack of M&M candies and a few sandwiches and doughnuts.” Social scientists who have studied drug detail teams believe that even when the gifts are modest, they create a subconscious sense of debt for the physician, one they repay by writing more prescriptions for the sales rep’s drug.
VII. Portenoy and Kanner explained away one study that reported a high addiction rate of 19 percent. They contended it was from a pain management program in which many patients had “a prior history of drug abuse, personality disorder, younger age, and chaotic family life.”
43
“$$$$$$$$$$$$$ IT’S BONUS TIME IN THE NEIGHBORHOOD!”
“New Hope for Millions of Americans Suffering from Persistent Pain” was the headline on the May 31, 1996, press release from Purdue that announced the on-sale date of OxyContin.1 “The first and only 12-hour oxycodone” was heralded as “a significant advance in the treatment of persistent pain.” OxyContin was, according to the release, the end of patients enduring “anxious ‘clock-watching’ when pain must be controlled over long periods.” (No regulations required that Purdue disclose that a third of patients in clinical trials did not get twelve hours of pain relief.)2 Pushing the limits of the conditions for which the FDA had approved the drug, Purdue claimed Oxy was for “moderate to severe pain lasting more than a few days… such as the pain associated with arthritis, cancer, injuries, lower back problems, and other musculoskeletal problems.”3 According to the press release, “drug dependence is treatable… and ‘addiction’ to opioids legitimately used in the management of pain is very rare.”
The detail team fanned out across the country for its sales blitzkrieg. The Sacklers knew that money was the best motivator for sales representatives. Purdue made it simple. Most drug companies paid their reps based on how many prescriptions the physicians they had visited later wrote. For OxyContin the sales force’s compensation was based on the dollar amount of the prescriptions dispensed by the doctors each had visited. The IMS Cornerstone 3.0 software Purdue bought eliminated the difficulty of figuring out if a sales rep had influenced a doctor to write more scrips. Through the 1980s, a physician’s dispensing data were a quarterly snapshot. By the time of OxyContin’s release, drug companies tracked the exact number of scrips written daily.
In high-volume states, salesmen visited each “core dispenser” a minimum of two hundred times annually.4 Some called daily. Each one-on-one visit cost Purdue about $200.5 That translated into $40,000 for each top-tier doctor, an amount that added into the millions. The Massachusetts attorney general in a complaint filed in 2019 against Purdue and the Sackler-family directors noted that “Purdue did not spend $40,000 per doctor so sales reps could watch doctors write prescriptions that they were already going to write anyway. Instead, Purdue paid to lobby these doctors because Purdue knew its reps would convince them to put more patients on opioids, at higher doses, for longer periods. Those extra prescriptions paid back Purdue’s investment many times over.”6
Carl Elliott, a doctor and professor of bioethics, has reviewed decades of the changing relationships between drug reps and physicians. He noted that over a five-year period starting in 1996, the year OxyContin went on sale, the number of industry detail reps doubled to ninety thousand. This era introduced what old-timers disparaged as Pharma Ken and Pharma Barbie, attractive young reps whose pharmaceutical know-how was not as important as their ability to sell. For drugs exceeding $200 million annually in sales, which OxyContin achieved, the average return was tenfold for every dollar spent on the detail team.7
Purdue’s revised compensation meant that the sales team, especially top performers, were among the highest paid in the pharmaceutical industry. Large bonuses sometimes doubled a sales rep’s annual salary and became a much sought-after incentive for generating the largest OxyContin sales.8 Purdue had fulfilled a promise set out in an internal memo to the “Entire Field Force” just after the drug went on sale. Employing an analogy from The Wizard of Oz, it assured the detail team that for those reps who sold the most, “A pot of gold awaits you ‘Over the Rainbow.’ ”9 Two months later, a memo that reminded sales reps to encourage the more profitable, higher-dose pills was titled: “$$$$$$$$$$$$$ It’s Bonus Time in the Neighborhood!”10
Purdue was not alone in empowering its sales force. Many of the biggest companies had long capped how much reps could earn. When Anthony Wild, a former Sandoz chemist, became Parke-Davis president in 1995, one of his first directives was to remove the limits on detail team bonuses. “Why not let them get rich?” he answered to some long-serving executives who questioned the decision. Wild’s view was that the more the sales team made, the more Parke-Davis earned. When he announced the decision at a San Francisco company conference, “the sales force went nuts!” he later recounted.11
It took little time before the sales team realized there was more profit for Purdue and more money for them by pushing higher doses of OxyContin. When it first went on sale, there were three strengths: 10, 20, and 40 milligrams. An 80 mg tablet was released a month later (15, 30, 60, and 160 mg would arrive in a few years).12 Purdue’s production costs across the board were virtually the same since oxycodone, the active ingredient, was cheap to manufacture. However, it charged more for each higher strength.13 On average, a bottle of 20 mg pills cost twice as much as the 10 mg variety. Eighty milligrams were about seven times more expensive than the low-dose. If a patient took 20 mg pills twice a week, internal documents put Purdue’s profit at less than $40. The same patient prescribed 80 mg pills twice a week returned over $200 to the company, a 450 percent increase (that profit exceeded $600 a bottle in another five years).14 Prescribing physicians typically had no idea what Oxy cost, nor did most care. Since they did not pay for the drugs, they passed the worry to patients and their medical insurance companies.15 I 16
Purdue created a campaign it called “Individualize the Dose” to help the detail team push the strongest doses. Sales reps told doctors that the company’s own studies showed that instead of starting patients on low strengths to see if that worked, it was best to start on a medium to higher dose. That way the drug would relieve pain faster and allow the patient to stop using it quicker. Moreover, in any instances in which doctors reported that they were dispensing OxyContin three or even four times daily because their patients were not getting the promised twelve hours of pain relief, sales representatives assured doctors that higher doses would make the drug last longer.17 The detail team had been instructed not to ever suggest more than twice-a-day dosing. Purdue feared that would be the fastest way for the company to run afoul of the FDA. And insurance companies and hospitals that had agreed to cover OxyContin had done so on the basis it was a twelve-hour drug. If it proved otherwise, insurance companies might stop paying for it.18 II 19 The higher doses, Purdue representatives assured physicians, could be dispensed even to people who had never used opioids, all without adverse effects. The field reps contended that the higher-dose pills were no more likely to cause addiction.20
That was not true. Internal documents later revealed that Purdue’s detail team knew that stronger doses carried a much higher likelihood of dependence, addiction, even respiratory suppression that could be lethal. While the company’s press releases claimed that “dose was not a risk factor for opioid overdose,” internal communications are replete with references to the dangers of “dose-related overdose.”21
Besides encouraging physicians to dispense higher doses, Purdue ran a parallel campaign to extend OxyContin’s treatment period for as long as possible. Sales reps told doctors that a common error was putting patients on the drug for too short a period since that resulted in a rebound in pain.22 Longer treatment was a gold mine for Purdue and the sales reps. A patient given 80 mg pills twice a day brought Purdue $200 profit. The company earned $11,000 if that patient stayed on the drug for a year. Internal correspondence reveals that patients were 30 times more likely to die of an overdose if they took OxyContin for three months, 46 times more likely after six to eleven months, and 51 times more likely to die if they remained on OxyContin more than a year.23
All the aggressive promotion took place without any public objection from the FDA. Although the FDA does not have to preapprove ads, pharmaceutical companies are required to submit all promotional material to the agency before using it. At the time, the office assigned that responsibility was understaffed and overwhelmed. Thirty-nine employees oversaw some 35,000 promotional items annually.24 In the case of OxyContin, the FDA would not complain to Purdue for two years, and when it finally did so, it was about a video distributed to doctors that had not been sent first to the agency. Purdue claimed it was an oversight and submitted it. The FDA did not review that video for another four years, at which time it ordered it withdrawn for minimizing the risks of OxyContin and overstating its benefits. There was no penalty for Purdue having made the false claims, just a promise not to do it again.
As the sales team encouraged doctors to extend their prescriptions of OxyContin, the company introduced a savings card that encouraged chronic pain patients to at least try the drug. It offered a substantial discount on their first prescription (later it offered one free refill).25 A long-term Purdue planning document concluded that “more patients remain on OxyContin after 90 days.” The card got them started. It worked better than even the company’s most optimistic forecast for its return on investment. For each million dollars Purdue spent on the freebies, the patients who tried the drug and stayed with it brought in $4.28 million in additional sales.26
The same year OxyContin went on sale, Purdue hired Dr. J. David Haddox. As the company’s medical director, Haddox became the public face for Oxy at physicians’ conferences and training courses. He reassured his colleagues that the risk of addiction was only “one-half of one percent,” something that was “exquisitely rare.”27 Many who heard Haddox make the case for OxyContin were not pain specialists but general practitioners who had not paid close attention to the opioid reevaluation movement. For them, his presentation was new and persuasive.
Haddox also developed a separate strategy that would have made Arthur Sackler proud. Some in the detail team were not sure how to handle instances in which physicians raised the possibility that one or more of their patients on OxyContin might be addicted. Most doctors, Haddox told them, misinterpreted pseudoaddiction as true addiction.28 Those doctors were likely just observing their patients’ reaction to severe pain and the stress of failed treatments. The only way to eliminate pseudoaddiction was to eliminate the underlying pain. That meant whenever physicians thought patients showed signs of addiction, the sales representatives recommended they stay with the drug and increase the dose.29 That persuaded a surprising number of doctors. For physicians who were reluctant to sometimes double the dose, some dispensed the same strength but increased the frequency.
One topic forbidden in Purdue was what might happen if someone scraped off Oxy’s patented coating or crushed the pill. Purdue had conducted its own tests before OxyContin’s release and knew what would happen. When someone bypassed the extended release shell, about 70 percent of the oxycodone, as opposed to the time released 10 percent, went straight to the brain. That produced a euphoric high that rivaled heroin.30 The FDA thought it had addressed the matter by requiring that Purdue put an all-caps warning on the prescription insert: “TABLETS ARE TO BE SWALLOWED WHOLE, AND ARE NOT TO BE BROKEN, CHEWED OR CRUSHED. TAKING BROKEN, CHEWED OR CRUSHED TABLETS COULD LEAD TO THE RAPID RELEASE AND ABSORPTION OF A POTENTIALLY TOXIC DOSE OF OXYCODONE.”31 It took the Centers for Disease Control twenty years to determine that was a deadly flaw in the pill’s design.32
Although there were no supporting studies or empirical evidence, the FDA also had allowed Purdue to claim on the drug’s insert that OxyContin’s delayed absorption was “believed to reduce the abuse liability.”33 It was the first time the FDA had approved such an assertion. It accepted Purdue’s theory that since drug addicts needed a narcotics rush, they would always want fast-acting painkillers such as Vicodin and Percocet. “That contention proved disastrously wrong,” later wrote Barry Meier, the New York Times reporter who covered Purdue and OxyContin.34
Purdue realized that the FDA language was invaluable and a pre-sales marketing memo said it might serve as the drug’s “principal selling tool.”35 No wonder Richard Sackler was so confident that he promised his family directors and Purdue executives that “the launch of OxyContin Tablets will be followed by a blizzard of prescriptions that will bury the competition. The prescription blizzard will be so deep, dense, and white.”36 An initial marketing plan set forth a goal that seemed like hyperbole but demonstrated how ambitious the plans were for Oxy: “Purdue Pharma’s corporate goal is to be one of the Top 10 pharmaceutical companies by 2010.”
Richard Sackler was right. OxyContin was a big hit.37 Doctors wrote more than half a million prescriptions for non-cancer-related pain in its first year. Dr. Curtis Wright, the FDA official who had approved OxyContin for sale, left his government post and joined Purdue the year after it was on sale. His hire likely added to the perception that OxyContin was on its way to changing how physicians treated pain. Two years after it went on sale Oxy returned a remarkable 80 percent of Purdue’s profits and was double MS Contin’s top revenue year.38 Sales soared from $48 million in 1996 to $1.1 billion in 2000, the first drug in Purdue’s history to join the pharmaceutical industry’s small billion-dollar-in-sales club.39 By then, Purdue’s detail team was earning over $40 million in year-end bonuses.40
I. Twenty years later, when the CDC pressed for explicit warnings and voluntary prescription limits on the highest doses, Purdue calculated how much money it would lose if physicians followed the recommendations.
II. In 2004, Purdue paid $10 million to settle a lawsuit filed by the West Virginia attorney general. The suit demanded reimbursement for the extra costs incurred by the state on its prescription benefit programs for the elderly and poor. Purdue’s twelve-hour dosing claim, contended the attorney general, was deceptive marketing. In the settlement, Purdue admitted no wrongdoing.
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TALKING STOMACHS AND DEAD PRESIDENTS
A watershed moment in the pharmaceutical industry came in 1997 when the FDA made a controversial decision to lift restrictions on direct-to-consumer advertising (DTCA) by drug companies.1 (The U.S. and New Zealand are the only countries that allow it.)2 Arthur Sackler had not lived to see it become a reality. He had found loopholes, mostly prepackaged promotional write-ups placed into the health sections of papers and magazines as if they were news. Sackler had also refined the art of running eye-catching, foldout inserts in national magazines that were likely to end up in the waiting rooms of physicians nationwide. That ad was intended for the doctor, he said when challenged once by a Senate panel. If the physician put the magazine into the patient waiting room, the inserts always had perforated edges, so the doctor could tear it from the magazine. Sackler knew, of course, that no physician could be bothered ripping out drug ads from Time, Newsweek, Family Circle, National Geographic, and Life.3
Until 1962, the Federal Trade Commission had power over drug ads.4 That year, the Kefauver Amendments passed to the FDA the jurisdiction over pharma advertising.5 Direct-to-consumer ads were not an issue to which the FDA paid attention. The concept seemed far-fetched and dangerous. Policymakers believed that consumers did not have the medical expertise to make informed decisions about prescription drugs. Ads would cause confusion and might persuade many to ask for a drug based simply on clever promotion. Only doctors, it was thought, were smart enough to evaluate and cut through overhyped advertisements. When some studies during the 1970s revealed that physicians were not much better than patients at making sense of pharmaceutical advertising, it oddly bolstered the case against allowing the industry to advertise to consumers.6
It took until 1969 for the FDA to issue its first comprehensive advertisement regulations. All prescription ads had to be a “true statement of information” that summarized a “fair balance” of the drug’s effectiveness versus risk.7 The FDA checked all ads, 90 percent of which were run in medical journals, to make certain they were not misleading or unbalanced.8 There was no mention of advertisements to the public.9 There were, however, a couple of small paragraphs that attracted little attention but became important years later. According to the 1969 regs, all ads by phone, radio, or television (there were no TV ads then for drugs) had to include the medication’s side effects “in the audio and visual parts of the presentation.” However, if the drug company could make an “adequate provision” to somehow pass along the side effect information separate from the ad, that was allowed. “Adequate provision” was not defined.10 The second part that seemed unimportant but later proved key were so-called “reminder advertisements,” in which a drug company did not have to mention side effects if it omitted the brand name or did not make claims about safety or efficacy.
Beginning in June 1970, the door to DTCA opened a little with efforts by consumer advocacy groups. The four-year-old National Welfare Rights Organization, an activist group dedicated to expanding government support for the poor, issued the first ever list of “patients’ rights.” Most of the twenty-six “rights” focused on privacy and confidentiality, nondiscrimination for medical services, and community representation on the governing boards of hospitals. Its core message was that patients should be fully informed about their diagnoses and treatment options.11 Two years later the American Hospital Association, representing most of the nation’s hospitals, relied on the language that came from the National Welfare group and adopted the first Patient Bill of Rights. That kicked off a wave of patients’ rights statutes at the state level.12
Several consumer groups, led by Ralph Nader’s Public Citizen and the Health Research Group, petitioned the FDA in 1975 and urged that the agency order that drug labels and inserts be included in all prescriptions dispensed to patients.13 Those package inserts, over which the FDA and drug firms often battled, were only included by pharma companies to pharmacists. Just as it was theoretically the obligation of a physician to know all the risks and benefits before writing a prescription, pharmacists were supposed to summarize verbally all the warning labels and inserts for the patient.
The same year that consumer groups asked the FDA for the right to the drug’s inserts, the nation had its first major “right to die” case. Twenty-one-year-old Karen Ann Quinlan had lapsed into a coma after mixing Valium, Quaaludes, and alcohol. The family sued after doctors refused to turn off her respirator at her father’s request. The often heated ensuing public debate was resolved when the New Jersey Supreme Court ruled for the family and the hospital removed the life support the following year. The debate over Quinlan fueled the growth of patients’ rights movements (she lived another ten years in a vegetative state).
As the Quinlan case had wound through the courts, the FDA held the first of three public hearings about “patient-packet inserts” (PPI). After three years of study, it issued a regulation requiring inserts in every dispensed prescription. Pharma companies expected that ruling since the public testimony and the questions and comments by FDA officials made it clear the government watchdog was in favor of “patients’ rights.” The Pharmaceutical Manufacturers Association immediately filed an administrative appeal and contended that the requirement was costly and an unfair burden since drug companies already provided that identical information to pharmacists. That prompted a one-year delay, until 1979, after which the FDA modified its regulation and limited it only to ten classes of prescription drugs.14
Ronald Reagan had only been president for four months when he appointed a new FDA director, Dr. Arthur Hayes Jr., in April 1981. Hayes took another look at the patients’ package insert rules. Drug firms opposed it. Besides the costs, they argued it was an unnecessary government interference. Physicians were also against it, contending it interfered with the “sanctity of the doctor-patient relationship.”15 Doctors wanted the discretion to decide which adverse effects to disclose, contending that as medical professionals they knew their patients best and that not all side effects were likely. (The FDA later determined that doctors reported only the most serious side effects, sometimes as few as one percent of what they observed.)
Hayes canceled the patients’ package insert program in 1982. The FDA replaced it with a pharma-recommended plan by which the companies voluntarily distributed all required information to patients.16 A British drug company, Boots, had a short run of TV spots in 1981 for its generic competitor to Upjohn’s Motrin. It was the first drug ad on American television. Merck entered the new marketing arena the following year, running a series of “are you aware of the pneumonia vaccine?” ads. Aftermarket research showed that only a small percentage of adults over sixty-five who should get the vaccine even knew about it.
FDA officials were split about television drug ads. One contingent thought that the more information the consumer had, the less likelihood they could be easily misled. Others countered that the 1969 rules had not seriously weighed the benefits and downsides of allowing drug companies to promote their products directly to consumers over TV. Twenty professional medical associations opposed direct television ads. In a poll taken by the AMA, 84 percent of physicians thought it was a bad idea.17
Commissioner Hayes leaned toward okaying DTCA. His only hesitation was whether adding oversight of direct-to-consumer ads to the long list of FDA responsibilities might be too much for the agency to handle. Its 1982 budget was $329 million, while prescription drug sales in America topped $15 billion annually. That did not include the approximately 300,000 heavily promoted over-the-counter products under FDA jurisdiction. A quarter of all FDA employees were in nondrug oversight such as cosmetics, food, medical devices, diagnostic products, and veterinary remedies.18 Ronald Reagan’s 1981 budget cuts had hit the FDA hard.19
Democrats had picked up twenty-six seats in the House in the 1980 election and had a solid majority. Michigan congressman John Dingell, chairman of the House Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations, set public hearings to examine DTCA.20 Hayes ordered a moratorium on any direct-to-consumer advertising until the subcommittee issued recommendations.
When the hearings got under way, few seemed enthusiastic about DTCA. While there was no surprise that doctors overwhelmingly opposed it, what raised eyebrows were FDA-sponsored studies demonstrating most consumers wanted more drug data but did not think that drug advertisements were the best way to get it. Almost two thirds believed it would be difficult to near impossible to evaluate the risks of a drug in a thirty-second television spot.21 When asked if they felt confident to make an informed decision about whether to take a prescription medication, three quarters said no. Two thirds said they doubted they could tell whether a drug ad was misleading.22 The underlying loss of faith in the drug industry made many Americans skeptical about how pharma might package drugs in advertisements. In a 1966 poll, three quarters of Americans had a “great deal of confidence” in both medicine and pharmaceuticals. That had fallen by half as the DTCA hearings got underway (it bottomed out at less than a quarter of the public by 1990).23
Leading consumer groups, from the American Association for Retired Persons (AARP) to the Health Research Group, asked for a permanent ban on all direct drug advertising in print, radio, and television. Consumers, they contended, deserved more information about the medications they used, but not filtered through a Madison Avenue sales pitch. Spending money on consumer ads could raise drug prices, warned the AARP, and the public would be susceptible to thinking minor drug changes were important ones.
The pharmaceutical industry surprised the subcommittee. Its executives were unified in opposition. Schering’s senior vice president thought it “is not in the public interest”; Upjohn’s chairman said “it would be detrimental to the pharmaceutical industry and, more importantly, a potentially disruptive element in our medical delivery system”; Eli Lilly’s executive vice president said that “drugs embody a complex set of factors,” and direct advertising was “both unwise and inappropriate.”24 The only industry in favor, of course, was the advertising industry. Ad execs tried turning the “lack of sophistication” consensus about the public into a reason for DTCA. It would give the public much more exposure to drug information, they contended. The most creative argument pushed by Medicine Avenue was that a more informed consumer might even help spot diseases earlier.
Dingell’s committee took more than two years to complete its final report, “Prescription Drug Advertising to Consumers.” By the time it was published in September 1984, Arthur Hayes had been replaced at the FDA with a less industry-friendly commissioner, Dr. Frank Young, the dean of the University of Rochester’s medical school.
The subcommittee’s report concluded that “the perils of popularizing prescriptions” and “creating new consumer demand” would lead to “unnecessary prescriptions… and the use of potent drugs by those who do not need them.” Its bottom line was that “if the industry wants a better educated public” there were better ways than through product advertising.25 To most industry observers, that seemed the end of drug companies advertising directly to consumers.
In 1985, Commissioner Young startled just about everybody by lifting the moratorium on consumer ads. He thought it was only a symbolic change. Young directed that any ads to consumers had to meet the same legal requirement as when pharma advertised to physicians.26 Over time the “brief summary” of the drug’s label had become anything but brief. Young thought that made television ads impossible. Only in print might it be possible to include required warning information in a tiny font.
Over the next five years, only twenty-four drug products were pitched to consumers. Most, like Merck’s series to inform seniors about the pneumonia vaccine, concentrated on passing along information, not on a hard sell. Young had promised pharma he planned on taking another look at loosening the ad restrictions, so long as it seemed they were helpful for the public. Before he could do that, Young got tied up in a scandal at the FDA. Congress ordered the Department of Health and Human Services inspector general in 1988 to investigate reports of corruption in the generic approval process. It exposed a cabal of approval officers who accepted hundreds of thousands of dollars in gifts and cash in return for faster drug approvals. In some instances the generic makers had falsified the information to demonstrate they were the biological equivalents of the brand name. Others waited until their drugs were approved and then switched to cheaper coloring agents, fillers, and extenders. That altered their chemical stability of other drugs and made them less effective.27 The Justice Department eventually obtained convictions or guilty pleas from five FDA employees—three approval officers and two chemists—and twenty-four generic company executives, on multiple counts of fraud, racketeering, and obstruction of justice. The scandal prompted major changes in the generic review process, including uniform guidelines and a backup system intended to catch wayward approvals. It also cost Young his job.28
In November 1990, President George H. W. Bush picked David Kessler as the new FDA commissioner. He took charge in the wake of the generics corruption scandal. The FDA was in disarray and veteran employees demoralized. The agency was still coping with the aftershocks of the Reagan-era budget cuts and seemed adrift. Kessler, who had a medical degree from Harvard and law degree from the University of Chicago, was a relentless advocate that the FDA should proactively use its expansive powers to protect Americans from dangerous drugs and reckless pharmaceutical and food companies. He was persuasive, likable, and telegenic. Kessler’s frequent appearances on news programs made him for most Americans the face of a previously anonymous bureaucracy. His tenure was, as The New York Times described it, “tumultuous.”29
Kessler was inexhaustible in politicking on behalf of the FDA. And he seemed particularly energized when he was on the attack during a fight with Big Pharma or Big Tobacco. His critics thought he was a power-hungry self-aggrandizer whose naked ambition would be his undoing.30 However, all admitted he was smart. In the six years before his appointment as FDA commissioner, he taught at both New York’s Albert Einstein College of Medicine and Columbia Law School at the same time he ran a 431-bed teaching hospital.
He was in office five months when he showed how serious he was about getting tougher on the accuracy of food labels. Federal agents swooped into a Minnesota warehouse and seized two thousand cases of Procter & Gamble’s “Fresh Choice” orange juice because it “was misleading since it was made from concentrate.” Kessler told a food industry conference, “The time has come to end the din of mixed messages and partial truths on food labels in this country.”31
His FDA predecessors had always amicably resolved such labeling matters by correspondence. They never contemplated going after a $3 billion food and beverage company just to “make a point.” But for Kessler, that was the point—only by going after a giant like P&G would the rest of the industry pay attention.
The moratorium he supervised on silicone breast implants kicked off thousands of lawsuits that ultimately forced Dow Corning to file bankruptcy.I32 The following year he set the supplement and vitamin industry on fire by trying to regulate their products for safety and efficacy (Congress put an end to any possible meddling by the FDA by passing the Dietary Health and Education Act of 1994; it explicitly separated supplements from drugs and food additives). And he caused a furor when he tried extending the FDA’s jurisdiction to the promotion and labeling of tobacco.33
When it came to the question of direct-to-consumer drug ads, Kessler realized that his predecessors had kicked it down the road. He wanted to update the FDA’s 1969 ad rules. He instinctively tilted toward consumer protection and was skeptical that slickly packaged Madison Avenue ads could ever be genuinely informative. Kessler believed they were just another tool in pharma’s promotional arsenal to make Americans buy more medications.
He did not favor an outright ban without studying it more. Kessler was sensitive that patients wanted more transparent medical data. He did not want the FDA to appear out of step with the changing times by denying information to consumers. A couple of thousand patient advocacy groups, most of them disease-specific, lobbied Congress for everything from rights to privacy over medical records to increased research funding for diseases to easier-to-understand consent forms for surgery.34 And being a more informed patient was undoubtedly getting easier. America Online, Microsoft Network, and CompuServe were all fairly rudimentary online services when they got under way in the 1980s, but by the mid-1990s, surveys showed that consumers were searching for medical information online and visiting their doctors armed with a list of questions.35
Kessler increased the budget of the department that regulated drug advertising. In November 1994, any reform strategy he had envisioned was derailed. The Republicans swept to power in Congress. The new Speaker of the House, Newt Gingrich, attacked Kessler and the FDA and charged that it deliberately failed to approve good drugs and promising medical devices. That discouraged innovation, charged Gingrich, who called the FDA the “number 1 job killer.” As for Kessler, Gingrich called him “a bully and a thug.”36 Gingrich even floated a plan that would have privatized the drug approval process and taken it away from the FDA.
A growing number of pharmaceutical firms wanted to run more direct-to-consumer ads. They were frustrated by the 1969 rules that had not contemplated television. What had prevented TV ads was the requirement that companies pass along a substantial part of the drug’s warning label. They were so long that it would eat up most of the airtime. Pharma firms thought that fundamental limitation meant any campaign would be ineffective.
In 1996, Schering-Plough developed a groundbreaking television advertisement for Claritin, its just released prescription allergy medication. The thirty-second spot had attractive people skipping through a field of flowers. A man and woman talked over each other to an upbeat soundtrack: “Claritin. It’s time. It’s time. Don’t wait another minute for Claritin. Claritin, I’ll ask my doctor. It’s time to see your doctor. At last, a clear day is here. I want to know more about Claritin. Ask your doctor for a trial of Claritin and for free information and a $5 coupon toward a prescription for Claritin. Call 1-800-CLARITIN.”
Schering-Plough’s ad had everyone asking, “What is Claritin?” A poll by the New York Post showed most people thought it was an antidepressant since everyone seemed so happy. That spot received accolades from Madison Avenue. It also challenged the FDA. Would Kessler shut the door for all direct ads or would Schering’s spot force him to loosen the regulations?
While an FDA special committee considered that, Kessler surprised all of Washington by announcing his resignation in January 1997. He said it was for “family reasons.” That was true. His wife, Paulette, had implored him for months to quit. Watching him get “ripped to shreds for all the negative editorials, it gets wearing,” she told reporters.37
With Kessler gone, drug companies that had opposed direct-to-consumer ads suddenly lobbied the FDA to relax the regulations. Upjohn and Pfizer led the charge. The successful introduction of Rogaine for Upjohn and Viagra for Pfizer had changed their minds about the potential value of advertising to consumers. Several other pharma firms had well-known drugs—Tagamet, Zantac, and Pepcid—that were about to go off patent and then on sale over the counter.38
In the summer of 1997, the FDA made a landmark ruling. Instead of banning direct to consumer ads, the agency relaxed the guidelines and made it easier for television advertisements. There was no longer a requirement to explain the warning label. The ads would have to direct viewers to a toll-free number, a website, even a magazine ad.39 The pent-up demand in the pharmaceutical industry for TV advertising exploded. “Ask your doctor,” one of the lines from the breakthrough Claritin ads, became a widely used tagline in many of the new spots.
Veteran Madison Avenue ad men recall that the drug companies inundated their agencies with demands to get their products on TV. The FDA ruling, however, had caught the advertisers off guard. Even agencies such as Arthur Sackler’s McAdams or William Frohlich’s shop were not sure how to adapt their traditional print and direct mail campaigns to a quite different medium. Since buying ad time was so expensive, no company wanted to pay for agencies to learn on the job. Still, pharma was shelling out a lot of money to pitch its best products on TV. Just before Kessler left the FDA in 1997, there was about $35 million a year in DTCA ads. A year after the rule change, it was $1.17 billion, almost all in television campaigns.40 The evidence that the torrent of money had caught the ad industry unprepared is that in the first few years there were a lot of bad ads.41 There were talking stomachs, Abe Lincoln at a playground with beavers, Andrew Jackson praising a wonder ointment, even eerie animated characters that morphed into toenail fungus.
Consumer activists complained that the ads relied on celebrities and were heavy on imagery and light on information. In the battle over elevated cholesterol, for instance, Bristol-Myers used Kirk Douglas, Sylvester Stallone, and Angela Bassett for Pravachol, Merck relied on Atlanta Falcons head coach Dan Reeves for Zocor, and Pfizer picked Olympic figure skater Peggy Fleming for cholesterol-lowering Lipitor. Football great Joe Montana pitched Novartis’s Lotrel for hypertension against Jack Nicklaus for King’s Altace. Debbie Reynolds had the overactive bladder market to herself as the face of Pfizer’s Detrol.42 In the 2004 Super Bowl, two of the three erectile dysfunction drugs faced off against one another, one with ex–Chicago Bears coach Mike Ditka and the other featuring former senator Bob Dole.
Ad companies realized that sometimes celebrityhood gave the appearance of authority and expertise consumers wanted. Bayer’s sales of branded aspirin increased by 30 percent after it hired America’s most trusted family doctor: television’s Marcus Welby. Robert Young, who had played Welby for seven hit seasons, appeared in his white lab coat and gave the disclaimer, “I’m not a doctor, but I play one on TV.”
Schering-Plough signed Good Morning America’s co-host Joan Lunden, herself an allergy sufferer, for a $40 million Claritin campaign. She appeared in ads reading copy that made it appear as if she were simply the likable morning anchor presenting the news. Claritin’s sales soared 50 percent that first year, to $2.3 billion (it stayed over $2 billion annually until it lost its patent in 2002).43
Pfizer mastered the new medium for Lipitor, its cholesterol-lowering statin that became part of its product lineup after it bought Warner-Lambert in 2001 for $90 billion.44 Although Lipitor was late to the cholesterol-lowering drug market—Merck’s Mevacor and Zocor were billion-dollar drugs for almost a decade by then—Pfizer set aside a stunning $258 million for promotion and hired Robert Jarvik as its spokesman. Time called Jarvik a “national hero” when it put him on its 1982 cover after the first successful transplant into a patient of a self-contained artificial heart. The Lipitor ads portrayed Jarvik as the inventor of the artificial heart and as a busy medical practitioner who dispensed Lipitor to his patients. They ended with him disclosing that he used the drug himself. Lipitor was on its way to being the pharmaceutical industry’s most successful drug ever, with more than $15 billion in sales in a single year. The problem revealed in a later congressional investigation was that Jarvik, it turned out, had graduated from medical school but never got a license to practice. He was not a cardiologist and never prescribed the drug to anyone. He had taken it himself, but only briefly. And in some ads in which he was shown paddling a canoe, it was a body double. He was one of several medical engineers responsible for the artificial heart, not its inventor. By then, Pfizer had run the ads for five years.45
AstraZeneca decided it did not need to pay a celebrity or package someone as an authority. It used the capsule’s color to sell Prilosec, the market’s first proton-pump-inhibitor (PPI) to combat acid reflux. It became a megahit through a campaign that branded it only as “the little purple pill.”46 One of the most popular ads was a swarm of giant purple pills gently falling out of a brilliant blue sky, like a rain of candy from the heavens. The drug’s name was never mentioned. Prilosec was released in 1996. By 2000, AstraZeneca had spent $108 million in direct-to-consumer ads. Prilosec’s sales were $4.1 billion, the company’s biggest ever seller.
What did AstraZeneca do when Prilosec’s patent expired the following year? It sold Prilosec over the counter and rolled out Nexium as its prescription replacement. The FDA had approved Nexium although it was essentially Prilosec. The only chemical alteration was it did not have one of Prilosec’s less important mirror-image isomers. The drugs worked almost identically and clinical tests repeatedly demonstrated that the equivalent dose of each had the same efficacy.47 The only visible difference to the public was that Nexium was a brighter shade of purple than its predecessor.48
AstraZeneca knew, however, that there was an important difference between the two pills. Nexium, at $4 each, cost 600 percent more than the over-the-counter Prilosec.49 Its $200 million ad campaign worked. Consumers moved to Nexium. It became a billion-dollar drug faster than any other medication in the ulcer and acid-reducer class. Nexium stayed on top of that drug category for a decade, puzzling many industry analysts who thought it was “ripe for price competition” since there were so many inexpensive rival generics.50 Consumer groups filed dozens of lawsuits against AstraZeneca, claiming its advertising was false since it marketed essentially the same drug under a different name and color shade. AstraZeneca prevailed on all cases, although it took a decade. The company’s defense rested on the FDA approval of Nexium as a stand-alone drug.51
Who was vetting drug ads for their accuracy? No one, it turned out. The pushback against direct-to-consumer promotion reached a crescendo in 2004 when Merck pulled the ads for Vioxx, its hit painkiller (figure skater Dorothy Hamill, an arthritis sufferer, was the drug’s face on TV). The nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory COX-2 inhibitor was at the center of a scandal about how the company had ignored warnings that its drug increased the risk for heart attacks and strokes. Its aggressive marketing of Vioxx for treating menstrual cramps, osteoarthritis, and muscle pain had turned it into a $2-billion-a-year pill since its 1999 release.52 Merck yanked it from the market just days before the FDA issued a mandatory recall. Vioxx broke Merck’s perfect record of never having had a drug recalled.II53
The Vioxx scandal prompted a concerted pushback against consumer drug ads. Bristol-Myers announced they would voluntarily withhold any direct-to-consumer ads for its new products. David Kessler, now the dean of the Yale School of Medicine, directed his words to the executives who had done their best to undermine him when he was at the FDA: “Your companies likely will face lawsuits eventually about the claims they make for their products in television commercials. One day in a courtroom, I assure you, one of you is going to have your DTC ads played.”54
There were calls from consumer groups that another moratorium be put on all direct drug ads. The FDA considered a one- to two-year freeze while it conducted hearings. Instead, in only two months, the agency bowed to industry pressure. The FDA issued only some minor revisions to its guidelines. The one it touted was that it had protected America’s children by ordering that erectile dysfunction medications only be advertised between 10 p.m. and 6 a.m.55 Activists dismissed that as inconsequential and predicted the FDA’s surrender would reinvigorate pharma’s appetite for TV ads. Not even the consumer activists could have imagined that in a few years there would be $200 million annually in cringe-worthy ads for incontinence and overactive bladders.56
I. Three independent government reviews later concluded that there was no link between silicone breast implants and any autoimmune illness. The moratorium was lifted after sixteen years.
II. As the Vioxx scandal worsened—faked results in some of the clinical trials and senior executives who buried alarming reports about adverse effects—Merck faced hundreds of class action lawsuits. It ultimately settled most of them in 2007 for $4.85 billion, and then paid another $950 million in 2011.
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“WE HAVE TO HAMMER ON THE ABUSERS”
Although the Sacklers and Purdue executives knew about early reports of abuse with OxyContin in late 1997 or early 1998, the first media stories—mostly in rural newspapers—did not appear until 1999. Small-town police forces scattered across six Appalachian states stretching from Kentucky to Maine reported a surge in drug dealers arrested with OxyContin and pharmacies robbed at knife- or gunpoint.1 There was also a spike in Oxy-related hospital admissions.2 The drug had begun showing up in toxicology reports of overdose autopsies (although it varied by year, on average there were twenty-five emergency room visits related to opioids for every lethal overdose).3
Steven Passik was then a clinical psychologist in pain management and palliative care at the University of Kentucky’s School of Medicine. He had written about pain and opioids. Kentucky was one of the states hard hit early on by OxyContin. There would soon be nine counties in America that had an opioid-related overdose death rate greater than 20 per 100,000. Four of those were in eastern Kentucky. Passik described it as a region “marked by poverty and 20 percent unemployment among laborers with lots of chronic pain. This environment was ripe for prescription drug abuse.”4
Passik had no idea then of the extent to which Purdue had targeted poverty-scarred working-class whites in rural America as a prime market. Although a few small towns felt under siege from OxyContin, there was little evidence the problem extended much beyond a dozen counties in a handful of states. Health and Human Services’ “Drug Abuse Warning Network,” which relied on reports from hospital emergency rooms and medical examiners, reported a 93 percent jump in “oxycodone mentions” in 1998. It was written off as a cyclical spike common with illegal drug supply and demand.5 No one could have then imagined they were witnessing the national opioid epidemic in its infancy.
In the fall of 1999, Jay McCloskey, Maine’s U.S. attorney, noticed state police arrests for illegal possession or distribution of prescription narcotics had jumped ninefold in four years. McCloskey was the first public official to realize that OxyContin was behind the surge; it was involved in more than half the arrests. He met that October in Washington with a group of citizen advocates who were trying to raise awareness of what they claimed were OxyContin’s unrecognized dangers.6 They included parents of addicted children and others who themselves had become dependent on the drug. Three months later McCloskey sent a letter to all Maine’s practicing doctors “warning them about the increasing problems with illegal diversion and abuse of OxyContin.”7 That got the attention of the Sacklers and Purdue.
OxyContin had become Purdue’s best-selling drug ever. Just a few months earlier, chief operating officer Michael Friedman had sent Richard Sackler an email with the news that its sales exceeded $20 million weekly. It was well on its way to becoming a billion-dollar drug. Sackler’s semisatirical response? “Blah, humbug. Yawn.”8 In fact, the Sacklers were ecstatic at the numbers. And when they learned of McCloskey’s letter, they wanted to make certain that any bad press was nothing more than a public relations speed bump.9
In a strategy meeting, the Sackler-family directors and their top executives decided to confront the problems in Maine. A few weeks later, J. David Haddox, Purdue’s medical director, called McCloskey. Haddox seemed genuinely interested to learn more about what had prompted the warning letter to the state’s doctors. He asked if he and several Purdue colleagues could meet McCloskey but the U.S. attorney declined. “I found it difficult to envision how the manufacturer could help stop the illegal diversion and abuse of OxyContin,” he later testified before the Senate.10
It took several months before McCloskey concluded that “traditional law enforcement techniques alone would have very little impact.” Counties in northern Maine had reported 2.5 times as many arrests for prescription narcotics as the rest of the state. There were a lot of first-time offenders. Breaking and entering and strong-arm robberies were up 70 percent.11 McCloskey asked Purdue if it would help “reach an audience of health care providers to whom law enforcement generally did not have access.”12 Purdue dispatched Haddox, its chief operating officer, Michael Friedman, and legal counsel Howard Udell to meet with prosecutors, federal and state law enforcement officials, and local police chiefs at a conference McCloskey arranged.
McCloskey thought the trio seemed sincerely surprised at the “extent of the diversion.” They told the conference that during the thirteen years in which Purdue had sold a “similar product,” MS Contin, they “had not experienced any serious diversion problems.”13 That was not true, but no one besides the three Purdue executives knew that. Internal documents that became public years later as part of a 120-page Justice Department report revealed that in the late 1980s Purdue’s management knew there was a diversion and abuse problem with MS Contin. Michael Friedman received a memo that showed a $51 prescription of MS Contin (thirty tablets of 60 mg each) sold on the street for $1,050 (about $35 a pill).14 In 1990, Cincinnati police reported that MS Contin had surpassed heroin as the city’s most abused opioid. Other cities reported addicts either chewing the tablets or liquefying them for injection.15
“They pledged that they would do whatever they could to assist the efforts of law enforcement officials to address the illegal diversion of OxyContin,” McCloskey later recalled. Howard Udell told the conference, “We want to do what is right.”
“I remember these words very distinctly,” McCloskey later recalled, “and although I did not give any special weight to them at the time, I later recalled them on several occasions as I observed all that Purdue Pharma later did, and offered to do, in an effort to reduce OxyContin abuse.”16 Within a month, Purdue hired half a dozen consultants and instructed them to devise better ways for physicians to identify addicts and potential abusers. The detail team was told to end their sales pitches by reminding doctors that opioid-based painkillers such as Oxy were “common targets for both drug abusers and drug addicts.”17
Richard Sackler had become Purdue’s president the previous year, (evidently over the objections of Mortimer Sr.).18 The board promoted Mortimer D., Jonathan, and Kathe to vice presidents. The second generation was in charge. Purdue needed to be publicly as concerned as anyone in America at reports about OxyContin abuse.19 There was no contradiction in assuring public officials that the company would do its best to prevent diversion at the same time it aggressively marketed the drug. Those twin strategies would inevitably collide. The more successful the promotion and sales, the greater the likelihood of abuse and diversion. Yet, in 2000, Purdue believed it could have it both ways.
While the public relations department went into high gear with its “we are all in this together” message, Purdue applied for approval to the FDA for a 160 mg pill, double its then maximum dose.20 The FDA gave its okay that spring, intending it to be dispensed to a small number of patients who had developed tolerance to lower-dose opiates because of long-term treatment. To discourage patients who filled prescriptions and then sold the pills, physicians had to warn that such a mega-dose could prove dangerous, even fatal, for someone unaccustomed to opioids.21
When the 160 mg OxyContin went on sale in July, Purdue launched an ad campaign in medical journals, trade shows, and online videos, promoting it for both cancer and noncancer patients to treat a wide variety of musculoskeletal and postsurgical pain.22 Purdue hoped that it might capture some of the market for pain relief from the 700,000 annual knee replacements, 650,000 tendon repairs, and 500,000 lower back surgeries. (A later study demonstrated that patients who used opioids after surgery were twice as likely as the general population to misuse them eventually.)23
While Purdue saturated its top prescribers with a sales pitch for Oxy’s 160 mg version, it dispatched spokesmen nationwide to reassure local politicians and police that “we strongly support… law enforcement efforts to combat the abuse and misuse of OxyContin and other pain medications.”24 It announced a program to help physicians better identify drug dependence. Television and print ads in some of the hardest-hit markets warned teenagers not to abuse prescription drugs. Purdue also rolled out an outreach program, “Painfully Obvious,” that provided educational materials to parents and teachers.25
The Sackler-family directors hoped the news of OxyContin abuse might stay limited to the dozen small regional newspapers and television stations that had covered it. Although Dr. Robert Kaiko, OxyContin’s co-inventor, had warned only a year after the drug went on sale that it was “highly likely that it will eventually be abused,” Richard Sackler wanted instead to focus on how to “substantially improve your sales.”26 The first notice the Sacklers got of how naive it was to think that news of OxyContin abuse might remain a regional Appalachian story came in November when Michael Friedman, Purdue’s COO, learned a New York Times correspondent was “sniffing about.”27
That the Times was interested made the Sacklers anxious. At their next board meeting they adopted a strategy to “deflect attention away from the company owners.”28 It was a theme, the author learned, inspired by Raymond Sackler. He had urged Richard to emulate the National Rifle Association motto: “Guns don’t kill people, people kill people.”29 J. David Haddox represented the company when reporters called. The board thought as medical director he should concentrate on the pain relief benefits of OxyContin while steering clear of talking about the pill’s incredible commercial success (prescriptions had increased twentyfold in just four years).30
The February 9, 2001, front-page story, titled “Cancer Painkillers Pose New Abuse Threat,” was the first New York Times article to mention OxyContin. The 1,200-word story by Francis X. Clines with Barry Meier included firsthand accounts from law enforcement officials and health care workers at the front lines in seven states. Oxy abuse had “been tracked over the past 18 months” and some of America’s poorest districts had become the equivalent of legally sanctioned dope exchanges. “Addicts have been paying about $1 a milligram for the drug,” reported the Times. The hardest-hit regions were those in which heroin was too expensive or in short supply. Oxy was soon dubbed “hillbilly heroin” in remote areas of Kentucky and West Virginia (in other states it became “OxyCotton” or “OC”).31 I 32
According to the Times, OxyContin had in just a few years come from nowhere to become the favorite drug for addicts who “have learned to circumvent its slow time-released protection and achieve a sudden, powerful morphine-like high.”33 In some cities, Oxy was muscling aside heroin and it was behind a sharp uptick in overdoses, car accidents, workplace injuries, and even suicides. 34
“I personally counted 59 deaths since January of last year that local police attributed to addicts using the drug,” Joseph Famularo, the U.S. attorney in Kentucky, told the Times. “And I suspect that’s pretty conservative.’’ The paper quoted Haddox disputing the number of overdose deaths and warning that “inflammatory statements like that” might cause doctors to withhold the drug from patients suffering from chronic pain.35 Richard Sackler’s reaction to the article was relief. “That is not too bad. It could have been far worse.”36
Still, the Sackler-family directors felt as if the paper had picked on OxyContin because of its great success. According to one assistant marketing manager, they believed the press coverage was “patently unfair.” Law enforcement vilified popular prescription drugs in order to get bigger enforcement budgets.37 Benzodiazepines and amphetamines in the 1970s had given way to Quaaludes, then Adderall. Americans consumed the most opioids by far on the planet (a 2009 study confirmed by how much the U.S. was in the lead: 81 percent of the world’s oxycodone and 99 percent of all hydrocodone).38
Although OxyContin was Purdue’s top seller, it was then less than 10 percent of the opioid market. Johnson & Johnson, Janssen, Cephalon, and Endo Pharmaceuticals had their own narcotic pain relievers and their ads were as “aggressive” as any from Purdue. Their sales teams also pitched them for neck and back pain, and the companies subsidized many of the same nonprofits and patient advocacy groups as did Purdue. Janssen had even managed to get FDA approval in 1990 for the first ever fentanyl patch to treat severe pain. Fentanyl was then the most potent synthetic opioid, one hundred times stronger than morphine and 1.5 times more powerful than oxycodone.39 Two years after the FDA had given a green light to OxyContin, it approved Cephalon’s Actiq, a fentanyl “lollipop,” for cancer patients whose intense pain did not respond to other narcotics.40 Fentanyl patches and Actiq pops had been diverted illicitly for big profits and sometimes had deadly side effects. There were widespread rumors inside the industry that Cephalon’s detail team was pushing its lollipops off-label as “ER on a stick” for generalized chronic pain. It is understandable that the Sacklers wondered why the media was not writing about their rivals.II41
Inside Purdue there was a widespread belief that if OxyContin became the target of a “media frenzy,” sensational coverage itself might become a self-fulfilling prophecy. A media blitz that damned the relatively unknown drug as a modern-day scourge was much more likely to attract the attention of addicts and even casual drug users who wanted to see if it lived up to its notoriety.42
Only a month before the Times story, the Justice Department’s National Drug Intelligence Center had issued its first systemwide Information Bulletin concluding that “diversion and abuse of the prescription pain reliever OxyContin is a major problem, particularly in the eastern United States.” The bulletin warned that addicts were frequently substituting it for heroin and that the problem would worsen.43
In an internal Purdue email distributed the same month as the Times story, Richard Sackler said: “We have to hammer on the abusers in every way possible. They are the culprits and the problem. They are reckless criminals.”44 Sales representatives were instructed again that “patients were to blame for abuse and addiction, not the drug.”45 It was a more aggressive version of a defense that had been used by drug companies since Miltown came under scrutiny in the 1950s.46III
Hope of a respite from mainstream press coverage about OxyContin, however, was dashed a month later. Another front-page Times story, “Sales of Painkiller Grew Rapidly, But Success Brought a High Cost,” marveled at Oxy’s commercial success while extensively reporting more about its emerging dark side.47 “In a little over four years, OxyContin’s sales have hit $1 billion, more than even Viagra’s. Although the drug has helped thousands of people in pain, its success has come at a considerable cost.” A DEA official blamed the drug “in the deaths of at least 120 people, and medical examiners are still counting.”48
The tone of the Times coverage had changed in the month between the two stories. The first quoted police and doctors about OxyContin’s excesses and abuses. The second put the spotlight on Purdue by questioning if its aggressive marketing was partially responsible for the growing problem. A Maine pain treatment physician who threw a Purdue salesman out of his practice told the reporters, “They were pushing it for everything.” A pain specialist at New York’s Mount Sinai Hospital noted that while “all companies market… these people were in your face all the time.” A West Virginia pharmacist said, “The problem with this drug is the company.”49
The Times revealed that Purdue had paid for all-expenses-paid junkets for two to three thousand physicians to Florida, California, and Arizona. Hundreds of others were paid hefty speaker’s fees at some seven thousand Purdue-sponsored “pain management seminars.”50 The article also had the first brief background about the Sacklers, from the founding of Purdue Frederick by Arthur, Mortimer, and Raymond to the family’s “illustrious ties to the arts and sciences.”
The family directors refused interview requests. Haddox stuck to talking points emphasizing that Purdue was “as surprised as anyone” at OxyContin’s abuse. He disclosed that the company was researching how “to reformulate OxyContin” so it was more difficult for patients to abuse. That was true. Purdue was spending a lot of money to develop a way to foil, or at least make it tougher, to tamper with the pill’s time release technology. It tried adding a small amount of a narcotic blocker, naloxone, to counter the effects of the oxycodone. That might turn off users looking for a euphoric rush. The obstacle the researchers ran into was that no matter how they adjusted the dose and release time of the naloxone, it blocked too much of OxyContin’s pain relief.51 Purdue experimented next with converting Oxy from a tablet to a capsule and inserting microscopic beads of a different narcotic blocker, naltrexone. By the time Haddox had his second interview with the Times, that combination showed some promise, but it was in very early research.52
What caused the most anxiety inside Purdue from the March 5 Times story were a few sentences indicating that Oxy had attracted unwanted attention from several critical federal agencies. An unnamed DEA official told the paper that “no other prescription drug in the last 20 years had been illegally abused by so many people so soon after it appeared.” Dr. Cynthia McCormick, director of the FDA’s Anesthetics, Critical Care, and Addiction Drug Products, admitted the FDA had not adequately considered the many ways patients bypassed Oxy’s protective coating. “We’ve learned something from this,” she admitted. And finally, the Times reported, “Last Thursday, officials of five states met in Richmond, Va., to discuss ways to halt illegal traffic in OxyContin.”
The news might have been worse if reporters had followed the Sacklers’ pharmaceutical ownership to the U.K. There, MST Continus, OxyContin’s predecessor, had been on sale since 1980. The British government had charged Napp Pharmaceuticals with exercising monopoly powers in the U.K.’s narcotic painkiller market. Thousands of pages of filings spelled out the details of how Napp executives conspired to use discounts to 90 percent of British hospitals so that the low prices did not attract competitors. Then Napp charged up to ten times the list price when selling to the country’s National Health Service for individual patients. Mortimer Sackler oversaw Napp’s operation. The prosecutor’s case, which resulted in a $7.5 million fine and a strict consent agreement, provided a roadmap for how Napp had cut corners and skirted the law in pursuit of ever-bigger profits.53
The Sacklers soon had their hands full in the U.S. Purdue and its marketing of OxyContin were the subject of two preliminary investigations, one at the DEA and one by the U.S attorney in Virginia. Both would have wide-ranging consequences.
Laura Nagel, a twenty-two-year veteran of the DEA, had been promoted the previous year from the Criminal Division to become the deputy assistant administrator of the Office of Diversion Control. That was government-speak for the agent in charge of investigating the enormous illicit trade in prescription meds. Drugs subject to abuse came in and out of fashion. The DEA intervened when they began showing up in large quantities on the black market. Nagel knew there were plenty of ways that legal drugs got diverted. Doctors sometimes got greedy and operated pill mills; users forged or altered physician prescription pads or robbed drug company warehouses and pharmacies; free samples at doctor’s offices were sold to crooked pharmacists; health care workers stole from supplies at hospitals or nursing homes; and sometimes there was theft at the source, the pharmaceutical company’s manufacturing and distribution centers.
As Nagel settled into the new role, OxyContin was at the top of her list.54 The veteran agents in Diversion Control told Nagel that they believed Purdue was not doing anything to warn physicians and patients that their best-selling drug was far more addictive than what it claimed in its promotion.55
The DEA was aware Purdue had a problem at PF Laboratories, its Totowa, New Jersey, manufacturing plant. Nagel had reports the company could not account for small batches of pills at the end of some manufacturing runs. Were there compliance problems at PF Laboratories? She knew that a chemical explosion at New Jersey–based Napp Technologies in 1995 had killed five and injured forty-eight. Napp made MS Contin there. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration had considered filing criminal charges against the company for willful safety violations but ultimately brought only an administrative proceeding and settled for a $127,000 penalty.56 Except for local papers, the story had gotten lost under saturation coverage of the terror bombing at the Murrah Federal Building in Oklahoma City two days earlier. The Sacklers had authorized general counsel Howard Udell to settle all civil claims from the Napp explosion. OxyContin approval was then pending before the FDA and the family wanted no bad press that might in any way delay its release.57
Nagel had reviewed the OSHA report on the Napp explosion. The company’s fire brigade never had proper emergency training. The guidelines for mixing the volatile chemicals were ignored.58 Nagel wondered if there were similar shortcomings at PF Labs. There were strict protocols under federal law for manufacturing controlled substances.
In April, Nagel and some of her Diversion Control team met with Purdue COO Michael Friedman, the new medical director, Paul Goldenheim, and Howard Udell. Richard Sackler attended for the first half of a two-hour discussion. When Nagel asked about PF Laboratories, Udell said he did not know of any problem. That was a lie, the author learned. The reports of diversion had reached him at the Stamford headquarters.59 Purdue had hoped to keep the diversion at their New Jersey plant an internal matter, since the company was preparing to open a second manufacturing plant in North Carolina to meet the booming Oxy demand.
The DEA next presented evidence that abuse and deaths were up significantly since OxyContin went on sale in 1996. The troubling numbers tracked Oxy’s success from 300,000 prescriptions in its first year to nearly 6,000,000 by 2001.
At one stage, Nagel told Richard Sackler that “People are dying. Do you understand that?”60 All the Purdue executives disagreed that OxyContin was behind the spike in overdose deaths. The meeting ended in a stalemate, neither side able to agree on what measures Purdue should undertake. Nagel offered a final suggestion: Purdue should voluntarily limit Oxy sales to select pharmacies and restrict the detail team to oncologists and certified pain management specialists. The three Purdue executives stared at her blankly. Udell finally gave the noncommittal “We’ll take it under advisement.”61
Purdue knew the only federal agency with the power to regulate how it sold Oxy was the FDA. Still, as a sign of good faith to the DEA, a few weeks after that meeting, Purdue announced its “temporary suspension” of its mega-dose 160 mg pill. A press release said it was because the company was “concerned about the possibility of illicit use of tablets of such high strength.” Much of the evidence the DEA had provided about diversion and abuse involved that dosage. It had gotten the nickname “Oxy-Coffin.”62 Its potency meant it was much sought after by addicts, and drug dealers priced it at a huge premium compared to lower-strength Oxy street pills.63
Nagel wondered whether Purdue’s withdrawal of it was a temporary public relations play and it would reintroduce it when there was not as much scrutiny. To keep up the pressure, Nagel began drafting a “national strategy” to fight OxyContin abuse. She wanted to document the crisis with evidence that Purdue could not ignore or brush aside as “mere anecdotal stories.” She huddled with Frank Sapienza, chief of the Drug & Chemical Evaluation Section, Christine Sannerud, senior scientific advisor in the Diversion Control Division, and David Gauvin, a pharmacologist who was a senior drug science officer. They asked the National Association of Medical Examiners to collect and send to the DEA up to two years of autopsies in which there had been “oxycodone positive toxicologies.”64
While the science team analyzed those autopsies, Nagel kept the pressure on Purdue. In May, she publicly released her proposal asking the company to voluntarily limit its dispensing of Oxy.65 That caused an unexpected, sharp pushback from doctors who thought the idea draconian. There were so few licensed pain management specialists it almost certainly would force patients with chronic pain to go untreated.
The first private lawsuits charging that OxyContin had been overprescribed as a result of Purdue’s deceptive marketing were filed in Ohio, Kentucky, Virginia, and West Virginia. Most of the plaintiffs were outraged families who had relatives die while prescribed OxyContin.66 In early July, two employees at the Sackler-owned PF Laboratories were arrested and charged with theft of two thousand pills, worth an estimated street value of $160,000.67 That came shortly after fourteen arrests in a syndicate that forged prescriptions and got eight thousand pills covered by insurance.68 IV 69
By the time of the July arrests, the Sackler-family directors and top executives were not paying much attention to anything but their negotiations under way at the FDA. Curtis Wright, who had left the agency to work at Purdue as its medical officer for risk assessment, had stayed in touch with his former colleagues and had reported that the FDA was reviewing the OxyContin label it had approved in 1995. Some state prosecutors and victims’ families had petitioned the FDA to reevaluate the wording in light of emerging evidence of abuse and diversion. Purdue grudgingly cooperated in the hope it might influence any revisions to its label.70 There are no records of the private meetings between Purdue executives and FDA regulators. All that is available is the result of those talks. In July the FDA acted.71 It seemed as if the FDA had cracked down on Purdue’s hit drug, because it ordered the addition of a so-called black box warning. The bold font warning was a reminder to doctors that OxyContin was “a Schedule II controlled substance with an abuse liability similar to morphine.” No drug company liked having a black box warning added to its label, but as the author learned, Purdue was not that distressed since it considered the language a good compromise. One marketing executive remarked later, “It is black box lite.”72 It merely reiterated what most physicians knew already about OxyContin.
Many victims groups and prosecutors thought the original 1995 label had helped fuel OxyContin’s big sales. Although Purdue had not conducted any clinical trials to see whether OxyContin was less likely to be addictive or abused than other opioid painkillers, the FDA had approved the wording, “Delayed absorption as provided by OxyContin tablets, is believed to reduce the abuse liability of a drug.”73 The detail team highlighted that extraordinary sentence to persuade doctors it was a safer narcotic than its rivals. The FDA finally deleted that sentence on its 2001 label.74
The 1995 label declared that “iatrogenic addiction [one that resulted from treatment by a physician] is rare.” Purdue had also relied extensively on that in its promotion. The FDA’s 2001 revision was that addiction in “managed patients with pain has been reported to be rare.”75 That was a great disappointment to those who had expected the FDA to rely on recent studies that demonstrated the risk of addiction was “moderate to high.” Finally, on the 1995 label, the FDA had given Purdue a significant victory with the language that OxyContin was for “constant, moderate-to-severe pain that is expected to last a long time.” That was despite the existing science having only studied its active ingredient, oxycodone, for short-term safety and efficacy. Purdue cited that language to encourage doctors to prescribe Oxy for chronic ailments like back pain or arthritis.76 In the FDA’s 2001 revision, the label stated: OxyContin was “for the management of moderate to severe pain when a continuous, around the clock analgesic is needed for an extended period of time.”77
That provoked a furious reaction from victims’ families and patient advocacy groups.
“The label change was a blank check,” according to former FDA commissioner David Kessler, “one the drug industry cashed in for billions and billions of dollars. Now, Big Pharma had a green light to push opioids to tens of millions of new pain patients nationwide.”78
“If you’re taking them around the clock every day,” says Andrew Kolodny, co-director of the Opioid Policy Research Directive at Brandeis University, “you quickly become tolerant to the pain-relieving effect. In order to continue getting pain relief, you’ll need higher and higher doses.”79 That fit with Purdue’s marketing strategy of maximizing profits by getting physicians to dispense OxyContin for longer periods at ever-higher doses.
Ed Thompson, a drug manufacturer who made opioid products for several pharmaceutical companies for over a quarter century, told 60 Minutes in 2019 that changes such as the ones the FDA made on the 2001 OxyContin label “determine whether [a drug] can make $10 million or a billion dollars.… It opened the floodgates. It was the decision of no return for the FDA.”80
Inside Purdue the Sackler-family directors and marketing and sales departments were ecstatic. “The action by the FDA… has created enormous opportunities” was the conclusion of a widely distributed internal memo. Purdue’s advertisements to doctors soon reflected the emphasis on long-term dispensing. Sales tripled over the next two years.81
A month after their victory on the revised OxyContin label, the Sacklers sent COO Michael Friedman, general counsel Howard Udell, and senior physician Paul Goldenheim to testify before the House Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations. Law enforcement officials told the committee that OxyContin was surpassing heroin and cocaine to become the top choice among addicts.82
The Purdue trio stuck to a prepared script, with more than half their time packaged as a veritable infomercial for OxyContin, replete with a tutorial about how pain had been historically undertreated and how Oxy had improved the lives of millions. The executives claimed they had no reason to expect there would be any abuse or diversion because there had been none with Purdue’s predecessor, MS Contin: “We had no reason to expect otherwise with OxyContin.” Friedman, Goldenheim, and Udell were smooth and no matter how hard the subcommittee pressed, they fell back on the theme that Purdue was doing everything possible to fight any abuse, which was, they insisted, exaggerated. They reminded the panel that “While all of the voices in this debate are important, we must be especially careful to listen to the voices of patients who, without drugs like OxyContin, would be left suffering from their untreated or inadequately treated pain.”V
The trio had honed their defense of OxyContin in more than one hundred presentations around the country. The only difference this time was that they were in front of a congressional committee. When they returned to Purdue headquarters, they received a standing ovation for their Capitol Hill performance.
The 9/11 terror attack on the World Trade Center and Pentagon took the focus far off Purdue for several months. By December, however, OxyContin was again in the news, and none of it was good. An $800,000 shipment of Oxy from the factory was stolen while in transport to Cardinal Health.83 An Indiana doctor who was in demand as a member of Purdue’s speakers bureau was arrested for illegally dispensing more than a million dollars in OxyContin to a drug ring and the state’s Medicaid program.84 CBS’s prime-time 48 Hours got its highest ratings for the year with an investigation into “OxyContin, a prescription painkiller that contains a synthetic opium and has become a lethal street drug.” MTV did the same with its True Life reality series and “I’m Hooked on OxyContin.”85 There were calls from state medical association directors in New York, Florida, Nevada, and Kentucky to develop prescription-monitoring programs that could more quickly identify overprescribing physicians and problem patients.86 The president of Odyssey House, a leading drug rehab center in New York City, warned that while it treated more crack cocaine and heroin addicts, “if this drug is not sufficiently controlled, that could change fast.”87
The low point came on December 12 before another congressional subcommittee. Asa Hutchinson, the chief of the DEA, blamed Purdue’s aggressive marketing for making OxyContin a drug of “disproportionate abuse.”88 Two hundred and eighty-two people had died from OxyContin overdoses in a nineteen-month period, charged Hutchinson. Purdue had dispatched the same executives who had testified before the House in August. Paul Goldenheim “vehemently disputed any suggestion that the company had inappropriately marketed” OxyContin.89
Harold Rogers, a congressman from a Kentucky district that was hit hard by OxyContin, pressed Goldenheim about instances in which physicians had greatly overprescribed. Why did Purdue not cut them off from getting the drug? “We don’t control what they prescribe,” said Goldenheim. “We can’t stop them from prescribing our product.”
“We can,” said Rogers.
The Sacklers did not take the threat of government restrictions lightly. They knew that Rogers had taken a hard-line stance since his district had so many OxyContin-related problems. Still, there was the chance that such sentiment could build. That was why Purdue wanted to always give the impression that it was leading the fight against abuse and diversion.90
Although 2001 was a troubled year for Purdue, there was one area that was stellar. OxyContin sales and profits hit a new record. Sales were up 41 percent year over year, bringing in $1.45 billion in revenue. It would break its own record again for the coming year (2002), with $1.59 billion in sales and accounting for 80 percent of Purdue’s business. Although OxyContin was under attack from government agencies and angry patients, it had become the top selling brand-name, controlled substance drug ever (a title it holds still as of 2019).91
The entire pharmaceutical industry was booming that year. It seemed in some ways as if OxyContin was just one of many drugs surging in sales. The top ten drug companies in the Fortune 500 had more combined profits than the other 490 companies.92
The DEA was using every tool not only to track the amount of OxyContin sales, but to know from which doctors and pharmacies it was prescribed and for which ailments. It was, Drug Enforcement claimed, a better indicator of the drug’s effect across the country. Were the number of prescriptions rising in tandem with the jump in revenue or was Purdue just charging more since it had a patent monopoly? In the case of OxyContin, it was both. Not only had the revenues soared, but so had the numbers of prescriptions. In its first full year (1997), doctors had written 920,000 scrips. In 2002 it ballooned to 7.2 million.93 What most alarmed those who believed that OxyContin was prescribed far too easily: only one million were for cancer-related pain. Nearly half the drug’s prescribers were primary care doctors. OxyContin had gone mainstream.94
I. Patients covered under Medicaid and retirees with Medicare soon discovered that the government listed OxyContin as a covered drug. So did private medical insurance for the large number of the miners and construction workers in those early-hit states. In June, Britain’s Guardian reported a Medicaid patient who paid $3 for a prescription of one hundred 80 mg pills could earn $8,000. That was a third of what the average person earned annually in those West Virginia and Kentucky counties.
II. By 2005, oncologists wrote only 1 percent of Actiq’s 187,076 retail pharmacy prescriptions. Eighty percent of the patients given the drug did not have cancer. One of Cephalon’s sales representatives was so concerned about the detail team’s off-label marketing that he contacted the FDA and later wore a surveillance wire to a sales conference to help the U.S. attorney gather evidence. In 2008, Cephalon paid $375 million to settle civil charges of Medicare and Medicaid fraud and a separate $50 million for a single criminal count of illegal off-label marketing. The court awarded Bruce Boise, the detail rep turned whistleblower, $17 million.
III. The blunt language in many of Richard Sackler’s emails and memos became a weak spot for the company as it defended itself in hundreds of lawsuits. Richard’s son, David, himself a Purdue director from 2012 to 2018, tried defending his father in a 2019 Vanity Fair interview: “He just cannot understand how his words are going to land on somebody.… For a person like that, email is about the worst medium possible to communicate in, because there is no other cue. And so he’s saying things that sound incredibly strident and sound incredibly unsympathetic, and that’s not the person that he is.”
IV. Two ex-employees sued Purdue, charging that the manufacturing plant’s supervisors had forced them sometimes to bypass security protocols that required all batches of the drug always be kept on the assembly line, and even had them fake counts of vials and caps to cover up pills missing in the final inventory.
V. Friedman also disclosed that Purdue had discussions with the FDA about developing a version of OxyContin that included an opioid antagonist: “We have developed several technologies that should enable us to achieve the goal of having an opioid medicine that is resistant to abuse by the oral route as well as by injection.”
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“GIVING PURDUE A FREE PASS”
Purdue’s internal files reveal that the Sacklers thought their star drug could transform their company into one of the country’s most profitable pharmaceutical firms. Even if that was just wishful thinking, or mentioned to motivate employees, it explains in part why they were not satisfied when Oxy broke a billion dollars in sales. That was only the first milestone. They wanted much more. Marketing files show that 75 percent of the $400 million Purdue spent promoting OxyContin came after 2000. That is the year that executives from the company later claimed in congressional testimony they first learned of reports about the drug’s abuse.1
A few pharmacists had alerted Purdue nearly two years earlier about a Myrtle Beach pain clinic operating as a pill mill (usually a cash-only doctor or clinic where narcotic prescriptions are dispensed to anyone for any reason).2 Purdue did nothing to investigate those reports although the volume of sales to that clinic was far greater than what it needed for treating the local population. Purdue did not even question why sales in Myrtle Beach had surged by an extra million dollars in the first quarter of 2001, by far the largest increase in OxyContin revenue in the nation.3 As its executives later contended, the company had no legal obligation to alert the FDA or any law enforcement agency.
It was December 2001 before the DEA raided that Myrtle Beach clinic and suspended the license of six doctors who had written thousands of OxyContin prescriptions weekly.4 What no one outside the company then knew was that the three sales representatives responsible for that pill mill continued to collect bonuses based on the sales it had produced. Raymond Sackler and a senior executive made that decision personally. They reasoned that Purdue had earned its profits on pills sold to the shuttered clinic, even if Oxy had been dispensed improperly. It was out of the question that they might return those profits, so withholding the sales reps’ bonuses might demoralize the team.5
The detail team understood the top priority was how many pills they sold. The Sackler-family directors and their top executives supported plans to persuade more doctors to prescribe more OxyContin at ever-higher doses and for longer periods. The stars at Purdue were not the scientists in the research lab looking for new medications. The stars were those detail squad members who managed to crush their quarterly sales quotas.
Going forward, there were very few instances in which the detail squad reported an incident where they thought a doctor or clinic in their sales territory improperly dispensed Oxy. Instead, the detail squad concentrated on the “high value target” prescribers, internally listed as SP (super prescribers). Courting the super prescribers paid off with spectacular results for the company’s bottom line and the detail team’s annual bonuses. In OxyContin’s thirteen top markets a few hundred SPs wrote more prescriptions than there were people.6 Nationally about 55 percent of all opioids were prescribed by 3 percent of all physicians.7
Purdue was not blind to overprescribing. It had identified the sales territories where it suspected that illegal dispensing contributed to the outsized volume of sales in relation to the population. That area was internally dubbed “Region Zero.” Law enforcement would eventually arrest some of the most reckless prescribers and shut down pill mills, but never as a result of a tip from Purdue. The company did not warn any state or federal agency that a West Virginia doctor wrote 335,000 prescriptions over eight years, a rate of 130 daily, seven days a week.8 Purdue was silent about its star prescriber in Massachusetts who penned 347,000 OxyContin prescriptions over five years. He stopped only when the state stripped him of his medical license.9 Purdue instead awarded both those doctors, and others like them, lucrative speaker’s contracts at sponsored symposiums about pain and pharmaceutical treatments.10 Some eventually lost their licenses. Others went to prison.
Employees who reported likely overprescribing met resistance. Purdue executives rejected a plea from one employee that the company do the “right and ethical thing” by providing insurance companies with a list of likely illegal prescribers. “If it reduces abuse and diversion of opioids,” she wrote in an email, “then it seems like something we should be doing.”11 In another instance, a member of the detail team, Mark Ross, alerted his sales manager that one doctor’s office in his territory was packed with drug addicts. The manager’s response was fast and direct: Ross’s job was to sell the company’s drugs, not to play detective to determine if a “doctor was a drug pusher.”12
As if Purdue’s failure to act on the warning signs from the sales data it compiled were not egregious enough, internal files show the detail squad sometimes pressed those suspect doctors to write prescriptions for drug addicts who had been turned away by other physicians.13
In January 2002 the problems posed by OxyContin abuse drew increased attention from the country’s politicians. A government advisory committee concluded that opioid pain medication abuse was on the verge of becoming a public health crisis. In February, the Senate Committee on Health, Education, Labor and Pensions held public hearings on “Balancing Risks and Benefits of OxyContin.” In the coming decades, as OxyContin worsened from a “problem” to an “epidemic,” the Senate and House held more than a dozen hearings into the causes of the crisis and to discuss possible solutions. The Government Accountability Office produced multiple reports that provided detailed snapshots that in retrospect are a sad commentary on the slow bureaucratic response to the most lethal prescription drug scourge in modern American history.14
The DEA’s Laura Nagel, meanwhile, had arranged for an extraordinary summit meeting with representatives from Purdue and the FDA at Drug Enforcement’s Washington headquarters. Nagel was joined on April 12, 2002, by the DEA’s senior science officer, David Gauvin, Frank Sapienza, chief of the Drug & Chemical Evaluation Section, and Christine Sannerud, the senior scientific advisor in the Diversion Control Division. The FDA sent Deborah Leiderman, director for controlled substances in the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. Purdue again dispatched Friedman, Goldenheim, and Udell.
The Purdue executives were unaware that behind the scenes Nagel and Leiderman were at odds about how to best respond to the OxyContin problems. As far as the FDA was concerned, it had approved Oxy as effective and the drug demonstrated real-world usefulness for many patients. Issues of diversion and abuse were the DEA’s job. The problem, though, at Drug Enforcement was that its authority was limited to go after drug dealers and syndicates, pill mills, and doctors who had broken the law. Nagel was convinced that arrests and enforcement alone could not resolve the crisis. Only the FDA had the power to restrict the otherwise legitimate production and distribution of a controlled substance. Nagel wanted the FDA to restrict how OxyContin was dispensed, as it had previously done for barbiturates, amphetamines, and benzodiazepines. Leiderman had shown no interest yet in that.
Unable to reach an understanding on how to proceed before the meeting, Nagel hoped that at least the two government agencies would present a united front to Purdue. If they did that, she hoped, the company might agree to some voluntary restrictions on OxyContin to avoid more stringent federal regulation. Nagel had something she expected would help push the parties toward an agreement: the DEA’s science team had completed its internal review of the autopsy reports and the results showed that previous estimates of nearly three hundred OxyContin overdose deaths nationwide were significantly understated.15
As the meeting got under way, Gauvin distributed a forty-five-page PowerPoint presentation of their findings (the author obtained a printout of that unpublished presentation).16 Medical examiners had sent 1,304 autopsies during the previous two years in which there had been “oxycodone positive toxicologies.”17 Gauvin presented the methodology used by the science team. That was critical since overdose-death autopsies that flagged the presence of OxyContin often included a combination of other legal and illegal drugs as well as alcohol. He and Sapienza had filtered the information to exclude those autopsies not verifiable as being “directly” or “most likely” associated with OxyContin.I18
The DEA’s presentation was a damning overview of the deepening OxyContin crisis. The science team had reevaluated all the laboratory data, toxicology reports, and therapeutic drug profiles to confirm their accuracy. Included in the PowerPoint were five-year charts that tracked the number of emergency room visits that coincided with the increase in OxyContin sales. The DEA had also obtained Veterans Administration data showing that a quarter of all patients treated with Oxy for pain ended up abusing the drug. Primary care doctors said the abuse number was closer to a third of their civilian patients. Police departments provided information demonstrating that OxyContin was among the top ten most popular street drugs in the nation’s fifteen largest cities.
Gauvin told the stone-faced Purdue representatives that he had begun a review of a number of OxyContin deaths across the nation that had been classified as suicides. They could add to the total number of overdose deaths attributed to the drug.
Gauvin finished his presentation with an unexpected finding. Only twelve of the deaths were attributed to injecting, snorting, or chewing Oxycodone. Ninety-eight percent of those who had died had taken it orally, as approved by the FDA and as intended by Purdue.19 That made the point, according to the DEA, that the overdose deaths did not measure the full extent of OxyContin abuse. The chronic opiate abusers would have developed a tolerance to the drug that would make it far less likely for them to die of an oral overdose. That meant the hard-core abusers were still driving the market for Oxy’s diversion and illicit trade.
Goldenheim, as Purdue’s senior medical officer, made an abbreviated rebuttal. He complained that Purdue had not been given full access to all the DEA data. That made it impossible, he said, for Purdue to uncover any errors or misjudgments by the medical examiners. He also contended it was not possible to determine “OxyContin verified” deaths since the toxicology reports usually did not list exact levels of the other drugs at the time of death.20
Drug and Chemical chief Frank Sapienza reminded Goldenheim that the DEA marked a death as “OxyContin verified” only if the level of OxyContin in the bloodstream was high enough to be deadly on its own.21
“Assuming the measurements were accurate, how do we know that?” asked Goldenheim.
Gauvin leaned forward. “Do you think patients have a legal right to opiates? Or an inalienable right to be drug dependent?”
All three Purdue executives agreed with the right to opiates but said the second question was moot since patient dependence was not a widespread problem with Oxy.
Gauvin directed them to a copy of the World Health Organization and U.N. treaty in which “everyone had a right to reduced pain,” but “pain by opiates was not an inalienable right.” Pointing to a several-inch-thick stack of data from the autopsies, Gauvin said, “It is a direct attack on modern pharmacology to promote opioids as you do in the United States.”22
That is when, according to one of the DEA officials in attendance, Deborah Leiderman surprised everyone by declaring she tended to agree with Purdue. The autopsy results were inconclusive, or at least not as definitive as the DEA had presented them. The FDA also, she said, had not received copies of all the data the DEA had analyzed.23 Nagel and Gauvin looked at each other in disbelief. The meeting broke up soon after that.
A retired DEA officer familiar with what transpired next told the author that Nagel and Gauvin were so incensed by Leiderman’s intervention on the side of Purdue that they discussed whether she might have sabotaged their investigation. They had no evidence of any wrongdoing and did not think she was in Purdue’s pocket.24 Instead, they wondered if it was Leiderman’s way of pushing back against the DEA for overreaching its authority by seeking prescription restrictions.
Nagel’s backup plan in case Drug Enforcement did not get the FDA’s backing was to release the science team’s conclusions publicly: “Recent media reports of ‘hundreds of deaths’ attributed to OxyContin can now be substantiated by credible scientific evidence.” Few outlets picked it up. What did make news, however, was when the FDA publicly took issue with the DEA conclusions.
Three days after the failed meeting, a front-page New York Times story was headlined “OxyContin Deaths May Top Early Count.” Barry Meier reported the DEA findings. The paragraph that got attention was: “But an F.D.A. official said that agency had not reviewed the reports underlying the D.E.A. analysis and appeared to express caution about it. That official, who spoke on the condition of anonymity, said the Food and Drug Administration’s own review of data involving OxyContin was continuing but so far had not produced evidence that the drug posed a threat to people who took it as prescribed. ‘We don’t believe there is cause for panic,’ the F.D.A. official said.”25
“We knew where it had come from,” an ex-DEA official told the author. “It was as if they were going out of their way in giving Purdue a free pass. What the hell was going on over there [at the FDA]?”26
The DEA team knew after the Times article that they had to win not only the tug-of-war with the FDA but also the fight for public and professional opinion. For a month they drafted an article setting out their evidence that OxyContin was proving increasingly lethal. They submitted it that summer to The New England Journal of Medicine. One of the DEA officials involved in that article told the author the NEJM rejected it as “too alarmist.” An editor said it “was too early in post marketing surveillance to make claims of risks/hazards.”27
While Nagel, Gauvin, and others huddled to decide their next move, the issue of OxyContin abuse and diversion had finally drawn the interest of the Justice Department. John Brownlee was the recently appointed U. S attorney for the Western District of Virginia. Neighboring West Virginia was one of the hardest-hit OxyContin states. The thirty-six-year-old Brownlee had been an assistant U.S. attorney in Washington, D.C., before George W. Bush had nominated him.
When Brownlee got to the Virginia prosecutor’s office he was at first surprised it was “a pretty small shop.”28 That was true by the standards of Washington where he had been one of 350 attorneys with a support staff of nearly 400.29 The Western District of Virginia had only 23 of the country’s 5,300 federal prosecutors.30 Four worked civil cases and the 22-person support staff included only two investigators. Its size, though, did not dissuade Brownlee from opening two ambitious preliminary investigations a month after taking charge. One was a national security probe into whether the ITT Corporation might have illegally transferred classified technology to other countries. The second was into Purdue and OxyContin. Brownlee wanted to find out whether the drug’s maker had any legal responsibility for the budding epidemic.31 Over the next few years he directed his Oxy task force, eventually composed of nine state and federal agencies, from a strip mall.II32
No one at Purdue’s Stamford headquarters initially paid much attention to the investigation operating from the heart of Appalachia and with a prosecutor who had never directed a major case. Purdue was getting accustomed to aggressively defending itself on simultaneous fronts. It prevailed that year (2002) with dismissals and winning jury verdicts in the first wave of private lawsuits claiming OxyContin made them addicts.33 Howard Udell boasted, “We have not settled one of these cases, not one. Personal injury lawyers who bring them in the hopes of a quick payday will continue to be disappointed.”34III
Raymond Sackler and his son Richard were not so sanguine. The DEA was a problem. However, it could not bring an indictment or cause the type of legal havoc that a U.S. attorney hell-bent on a mission might produce.
“Who better to represent Purdue?” Raymond Sackler asked at an informal meeting at the firm’s Norwalk headquarters.35 Rudy Giuliani was “America’s mayor.” He was riding high after two terms as New York’s mayor and just months after he was widely praised for his calm leadership in the aftermath of the 9/11 terror attacks on the World Trade Center. His 9/11 role had earned Giuliani Time’s Man of the Year and an honorary knighthood from Britain’s Queen Elizabeth. When he returned to private life in January 2002, he opened Giuliani Partners, a consulting firm. Giuliani was selling access and influence. As a former United States attorney for the prestigious Southern District of New York, he was friendly with many top-ranking Justice Department officials. He knew Asa Hutchinson, the Drug Enforcement Administration director, for twenty years. Maybe, thought the Sacklers, Giuliani might find a way to put a check on Brownlee’s Virginia probe.
There was no dissent from Purdue’s directors or the top executives. In May 2002, the company retained Giuliani Partners. It was the ex-mayor’s first major client. While the fee agreement remains a secret since both Purdue and Giuliani Partners refuse to disclose it, documents produced later by Purdue in litigation reveal it was paying about $3 million a month to all its high-powered attorneys.36 It could certainly afford it. Oxy was bringing in $30 million per week, about 90 percent of its profits.37
Purdue was direct with Giuliani: it had hired him to extinguish the brewing firestorm in Washington.38 When Laura Nagel heard the news, “My reaction was that they went around me. They went and got Rudy.… They thought they were buying access and insight into how to manage things politically.”39
Giuliani assigned Bernard Kerik, New York’s former police commissioner who had also joined Giuliani Partners, to oversee a security appraisal of Purdue’s Totowa, New Jersey, manufacturing plant. That was the plant where unaccounted-for Oxy had attracted police attention. And Giuliani set an August meeting with the DEA.
“The mayor and I met with Asa Hutchinson, the director of the DEA; his staff; and people from Purdue [general counsel Udell],” Kerik told New York magazine a few weeks later. Karen Tandy, the associate attorney general responsible for Drug Enforcement oversight, also attended.40 “We don’t want Purdue put in a position where it winds up being taken over by the courts,” said Kerik. “Or they get put out of business. What I’d like to see come out of this is we set model security standards for the industry.”41
A week before the first anniversary of 9/11, Giuliani joined Hutchinson and Attorney General John Ashcroft at the opening of a DEA exhibit on terrorism and drug trafficking. Giuliani gave a speech that raised $20,000 for the Drug Enforcement Museum Foundation. When he finished, Hutchinson asked Laura Nagel to join him with the ex-mayor. A week later they gathered in Giuliani’s twenty-fourth-floor office overlooking Times Square. The OxyContin team that Giuliani had assembled ran through a thirty-minute PowerPoint they had developed “to keep OxyContin out of the wrong hands.” It was built around the concept that Purdue had a good drug and was doing its best to abide by all the necessary rules and regulations. What was needed were better tools to earlier spot abuse and diversion. The DEA pair said little. “We were receivers of the information,” Hutchinson later said.
Nagel was anxious to return to headquarters. When she did, colleagues recall that she railed against that “dog and pony show.”42 She soon took notice that Purdue had adopted another tactic popular with pharmaceutical companies: silencing critics by hiring them. Dr. Louis Sullivan, former chief of Health and Human Services, became a Purdue consultant developing courses for medical schools about pain treatment. Jay McCloskey, the Maine prosecutor who had been the earliest federal critic of Purdue’s promotion and extravagant doctors’ junkets, was a legal consultant. The FDA official who oversaw the OxyContin approval process, Dr. Curtis Wright, had become Purdue’s senior medical director.43
That autumn, Purdue confronted a wide-ranging investigation under way at the Florida attorney general’s office.44 Richard Sackler, Michael Friedman, and J. David Haddox planned a counterstrategy. Mortimer, eighty-five, and Raymond, eighty-one, kept abreast of the developments.45
In November, Purdue made its second “big hire” in its counteroffensive to the ongoing government investigations. Burt Rosen was a familiar and well-connected pharmaceutical lobbyist in the corridors of D.C. power. The Sacklers had lured Rosen from Novartis where he was senior vice president for communications and governmental relations. The amiable, backslapping Rosen had gotten his taste for politics as a law student at the University of South Carolina, where he clerked as an aide to the state’s long-serving senator Fritz Hollings. After getting his law degree, he became Pfizer’s youngest ever director of government relations. Rosen had a talent for the socializing and dealmaking required to navigate Washington agencies and lawmakers. After Pfizer, he ran Government Relations for three years at Bristol-Myers Squibb, then for eight years ran “Government Affairs” at SmithKline Beecham before joining Novartis. Purdue created a new position for him: vice president of federal government affairs.
Rosen joined the company at a time the Sacklers were increasing their own contributions to politicians ($2.3 million since 1996 to over three hundred candidates and political groups; the author discovered even Arthur Sackler is listed on public records as having made contributions after his death, sometimes Marietta Sackler donating in her deceased husband’s name).46 As Purdue and other opioid manufacturers came under increasing scrutiny, the companies opened up their wallets to lobby Congress and statehouses. Over a decade, drug companies selling an opioid product spent $746 million on state and federal lobbying. They spent another $80 million on state and federal candidates; that was split almost equally between Democrats and Republicans.47 Rosen directed Purdue’s lobbying. He oversaw a little-publicized group, the Pain Care Forum, a group of pharma companies that spent more than $700 million in a decade on lobbying for expanded opiate dispensing and for the FDA to loosen dispensing regulations.48
After several months of talks, Giuliani managed to settle the Florida investigation. The Florida attorney general agreed to drop the probe in return for Purdue agreeing to pay up to $2 million to develop a “prescription monitoring program” that allowed the state to maintain digital records of all doctors who dispensed narcotic prescriptions and the patients who filled them.49 Purdue, however, never developed that software. And inexplicably Florida returned the money the company advanced toward the project. Letting Purdue off so lightly turned out to be a great error. Over the next eight years, law enforcement nicknamed the high concentration of pill mills in Florida’s Broward County as the Oxy Express. Over a thousand dispensing clinics sold more OxyContin than any other county in the nation (at its peak, 89 percent of all the OxyContin in America).50 “The illegal sale of prescription drugs, and oxycodone in particular,” concluded the New York Times in 2011, “boomed in Florida because of the absence of a widely used prescription drug monitoring system.” That was the software Purdue had failed to deliver after agreeing to do so in its 2002 deal with the state’s attorney general.51
Giuliani also helped Purdue emerge unscathed from hearings called by Ted Kennedy before his Health, Education, Labor and Pensions Committee. Physicians and patients urged government intervention to stop the “misprescribing and overprescribing of this drug.”52 The committee, though, had no appetite for singling out OxyContin. Christopher Dodd, the senator from corporate Purdue’s home state, Connecticut, seemed to help Purdue whenever the questioning got too heated. He insisted that the counties reporting the highest levels of OxyContin abuse were places that had long-standing prescription drug problems.53
As the Senate probe finished without any breakthroughs, Bernard Kerik announced rigorous changes at Purdue’s New Jersey OxyContin plant. Laura Nagel had built a damning case against the cavalier way the company handled the manufacturing of a controlled substance. It was the only one of the 257 OxyContin abuse and diversion cases she initiated over two years connected directly to Purdue.54 Still, Giuliani had managed to make certain Purdue faced only civil charges. Once the feds signed off, Purdue paid a $2 million civil penalty for its lapses in security and failure to enforce regulations that allowed the drug to be diverted to the black market. By then, OxyContin sales were up twentyfold since its introduction and it was on its way to $2 billion in annual sales. Two million dollars was not an insignificant amount, but it was, as one Purdue executive boasted, “less than a day’s [OxyContin] revenue.”55 IV 56
I. One hundred and thirty-four of the autopsies were deaths from gunshots, traffic accidents, AIDS, and cancer. Although oxycodone was present in each, Gauvin excluded them. He also omitted another 221 in which the “summary statements” from the medical examiner were “incomplete.” As for the remaining 949, Gauvin had “464 deaths linked to single entity oxycodone products.” He split those into “OxyContin verified” and “OxyContin-likely.” The uncategorized remainder all showed medium to high blood levels of oxycodone. Although the science team believed those were also OxyContin-related, the directive from Nagel had been to err on the side of a conservative analysis to make it tougher for Purdue to ignore the data.
II. To learn more about how OxyContin had hit West Virginia like a plague, Brownlee read Barry Meier’s Pain Killer. He later heard that Purdue had complained bitterly to the Times and that resulted in Meier being taken off that story (he was not allowed to cover it for four years). That piqued Brownlee’s interest in what the drug company might have to hide. Purdue’s general counsel, Howard Udell, had convinced the Times public editor that Meier’s reporting cast the company as the villain since it guaranteed more coverage by the newspaper. Meier’s byline had appeared on fourteen stories, many on the front page, since the first ran on February 9, 2001. His 2003 book was evidence, Purdue claimed, that Meier had a financial interest in keeping the story alive by concentrating on the most sensational and damaging news. “Their agenda was to shut me down,” Meier later said.
III. Until 1978, Udell had been the law partner of Myron and Martin Greene, the brothers who were attorneys and proxy owners of companies that formed the basis of the Sackler labyrinth of companies in the 1950s and 1960s. Martin Greene went into a solo legal practice in 1978 after Myron Greene died of a heart attack. The address and telephone number listed in the Manhattan yellow pages for his solo law firm was the same as half a dozen Sackler-owned businesses. Udell went to Purdue Pharmaceutical that same year (1978) and became its general counsel.
IV. Kerik resigned from Giuliani Partners the following year. President George W. Bush had nominated him to become the secretary of homeland security on Giuliani’s recommendation. Kerik later pled guilty in 2010 to eight felonies, including lying to White House officials and tax fraud, and was sentenced to four years in prison.
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“YOU MESSED WITH THE WRONG MOTHER”
The string of victories in deflecting most of the regulatory and legal challenges left the Sacklers overconfident. Purdue seemed invincible. Competing narcotic painkillers from other pharma companies had not dented OxyContin’s record sales. Florida had closed its wide-ranging investigation, the FDA remained almost completely passive, the DEA probe had stalled, and more than half of the one hundred lawsuits filed by victims’ families had been dismissed.1 John Brownlee, the Virginia U.S. attorney, was the last worry. Although a federal criminal probe was cause for concern, the Sacklers doubted that Brownlee could muster much of a case from his tiny Western Virginia district.
The victories would prove short-lived. Everyone at Purdue underestimated the growing fury, determination, and commitment among the families of Oxy victims.
Twenty-nine-year-old Jill Carol Skolek was a single mom in Phillipsburg, New Jersey. April 29, 2002, was the first time her six-year-old son, Brian, had come back from school and not found her waiting for him at the bus stop near their house. When he got home he discovered his mother in bed, in what he thought was a deep sleep. He fixed a snack, spent a few hours watching cartoons and playing with toys, and then crawled beside her and fell asleep. The next morning, when she still seemed asleep, he shook her and kept yelling “Mommy.” Finally, he called 911. “I need your help. I think my mommy’s heart stopped.”2 Only when the EMS arrived did they realize that Jill had been dead since the previous day.
Jill’s mother, Marianne Skolek, a part-time nurse, lived thirty minutes away in Readington. The unexpected death of her daughter left her to care for her grandson.3 Marianne could not understand why her daughter died. Her only physical problem was a herniated disk from lifting furniture the previous year. The funeral three days later was a small gathering of family. The obituary in the Courier-News read in part: “Jill, I love you with all my heart and am truly proud of the way you raised your son. Rest in peace precious daughter until we can be together again. Love Mommy.”
One morning, a week after Jill’s funeral, Brian startled his grandmother.
“Mommy changed.”
“What do you mean?”
“She changed after taking that pill.”4
He had gone with his mother on visits to a family doctor and remembered how her back felt much better after she got something the doctor called “oxy.”
Marianne, who worked weekend shifts at the oncology unit at Somerset Medical Center, was familiar with OxyContin. She dispensed it herself to end-of-life cancer patients.5 “I turned to my grandson and said, ‘Mommy didn’t take OxyContin, honey.’ ”6 Marianne was stunned when the medical examiner’s toxicology report confirmed that Jill had died of respiratory arrest. The cause? Heart failure due to OxyContin. The death was ruled accidental.7
“Anyone who is responsible for this is going to be held accountable,” she vowed.”8
It was time to start digging into what happened to her daughter. She wanted answers as to why the drug she administered to terminally ill cancer patients was prescribed to Jill for back pain. Marianne was no stranger to research. In 1991 she had been the top student and president of her graduating nurse class. She had a paralegal certification and had served on the local Community Service Board for Gannett’s Courier-News. Her articles about the many problems faced by AIDS patients, coupled with her volunteer service at an AIDS support group, earned her a Community Service Award in 1993 from a local HIV/AIDS Task Force.9
She tracked down a couple of other patients familiar with the doctor’s practice where Jill had been a patient. One told her that after the first appointment with the physician, subsequent ones were with the receptionist, who wrote the Oxy refills. That prompted Marianne to write to the New Jersey and Pennsylvania medical boards where the physician was licensed. State investigators interviewed her and opened a case. Meanwhile, she met with lawyers at a Philadelphia-area firm that friends had recommended. They seemed confident there was a wrongful death action for what had happened to Jill. They worked for weeks with Marianne on preparing a complaint.10
A few days before the complaint was scheduled to be filed, one of the attorneys called. They could not proceed. He claimed they did “not have the resources for it.”
It made no sense to her that lawyers who had been so hot to take the case dropped out without a good reason. At home that evening she sat at her dining room table. It doubled as a work desk, half of it filled with a computer, printer, and fax. What could they have meant by “we don’t have the resources”? Then it dawned on her.
“I said aloud, ‘It’s not the doctor—it’s the pharmaceutical company!’ ”11
Her first online search was to learn more about the company that made OxyContin. Every night she explored the web for information about the executives who ran Purdue and the history of OxyContin. “It was becoming more and more evident to me as I dug that it was a web of deceitful marketing.”12
Promising herself that her daughter’s death would not be in vain, Marianne Skolek became a one-person advocate on behalf of Jill and other OxyContin victims. She delved into how the drug was being dispensed nationwide. Her grandson, Brian, sometimes asked, “Did you get the bad guys yet?”13
For six months she peppered the FDA with letters providing examples in which she thought Purdue was mass-merchandising its powerful painkiller. She also called local reporters in New Jersey and Pennsylvania and encouraged them to look into the company and its best-selling painkiller. A few small-town newspapers in areas hard hit by OxyContin reported that “Marianne has launched her own investigation into her daughter’s death.”14 New Jersey’s Courier-News let her write an op-ed in which she listed her phone number and asked others who “are interested in starting a grass-roots campaign” to get in touch.15
She did not then know it, but her letters helped move the FDA to issue a January 2003 “warning letter” to Purdue. It read in part, “Your journal advertisements omit and minimize the serious safety risks associated with OxyContin, and promote it for uses beyond which have been proven safe and effective.”16 In particular, the FDA highlighted osteoarthritis, which Purdue’s detail team pushed as a treatable condition at the same time downplaying the drug’s potential addictiveness. Purdue supervisors had also drafted an article published in a medical journal without any disclosure of the company’s role. It claimed that patients taking less than 60 milligrams per day can stop the drug “abruptly without withdrawal symptoms.” The detail team cited that extensively in sales pitches.
The FDA had enough evidence of misconduct to commence a false advertising hearing. That would allow the agency to punish Purdue with restrictive labeling requirements and restrictions on refills. Giuliani, however, met half a dozen times with FDA officials and again managed to make it go away. Ultimately, Purdue did not make any public admission of wrongdoing or remove OxyContin from pharmacy shelves. It only had to promise not to do it again.17
The month after the FDA letter to Purdue, Skolek drove to New York for a conference at Columbia University’s National Center for Addiction and Substance Abuse.18 She had decided to attend after seeing a notice that Purdue was sending medical director J. David Haddox. “I wanted to see what made this company tick,” she later wrote.19 She read about Haddox before the conference and learned he was the dentist turned doctor who had invented the theory of pseudoaddiction. Besides Haddox, Marianne got a chance to see the DEA’s Laura Nagel, who warned about the abuse potential for “hillbilly heroin.”20 Richard Blumenthal, Connecticut’s attorney general (and now U.S. Senator), was also a panelist. Purdue’s Stamford headquarters were in Blumenthal’s jurisdiction.
Marianne sat in the front row. She had bought off eBay an OxyContin “window shade” pen that had been one of the many small gifts the detail team distributed to doctors by the tens of thousands. She had wanted that pen because the FDA had ordered it pulled from the market since some of the dispensing information on the pullout shade was wrong.
In Haddox’s presentation, he extolled Oxy’s pain relief benefits and glossed over its potential for addiction. Marianne stared at him and played with the pullout shade. “The lies, the lies he was spewing in front of a packed audience grated on me.”21
When the conference ended, Haddox walked through a makeshift aisle between dozens of rows of folding chairs. As they passed one another, Skolek said she “did not hear the word ‘now’ but felt the word ‘now.’ ” The one-hundred-pound Skolek rammed Haddox with her shoulder and sent him crashing into the folding chairs.
“Now you know how the victims of OxyContin feel when they hit the depths of addiction and are on their knees fighting the horrific effects of the withdrawing from the drug,” she said as she walked past.22
After Haddox hurriedly left the hall, the only remaining Purdue executive was Robin Hogen, the company’s soft-spoken press spokesman (his official title was vice president of public affairs). He had witnessed Marianne’s body block of Haddox. Some reporters had gathered around Hogen. He was easy to spot, sporting a different colorful bow tie every day.
The Purdue press office was familiar with Marianne. Initially they had avoided saying anything publicly about her. It was a no win, they concluded, to get into a public fray with a grieving mother. A couple of months before the Columbia conference, however, Hogen’s deputy press director, James Heines, told reporters that Skolek had “raised a lot of fear and concern based on misinformation.… The death of her daughter is tragic, but I don’t know the real circumstances behind it and I haven’t seen the autopsy report.… She [Marianne] might be a well-meaning person, but I don’t believe she is an expert in pain management.”23
As the Columbia conference broke up, Hogen indicated that he had additional information about Skolek’s daughter. “We think she [Jill] abused drugs.”24 Bob Braun, a Courier-News reporter, noted the medical examiner’s report had not mentioned that. “That’s a pretty heavy charge to make against a young woman who died, leaving behind a 6-year-old son… because Jill can’t defend herself.” Hogen shrugged, smiled, and said he “really doesn’t know.”25
But Hogen had done what he wanted to do, planted a seed of doubt. Maybe Jill Skolek was not as often described as an adoring and innocent mother. Purdue had gotten dozens of lawsuits dismissed with its aggressive defense that put the victims on trial. It claimed the plaintiffs were often addicts who had latched on to the painkiller to satisfy their drug habits.
Braun wrote about Hogen’s “disclosure” in his Courier-News column a few days later. What Hogen said was important “because it might lead journalists—like me—to avoid writing about her mother’s efforts to hold a big pharmaceutical house accountable. No one wants to create sympathy for a junkie. But Jill was no junkie.”26 I 27
Hogen and others at Purdue misjudged Marianne Skolek if they thought she would abandon her search for answers if they tarred her daughter’s reputation. “I told Hogen that you messed with the wrong mother.”28 She redoubled her commitment to expose Purdue as “an out of control, greedy pharmaceutical company.”29 Two weeks after Braun’s column, Purdue’s chief operating officer, Michael Friedman, wrote to the newspaper. His statement read in part, “I write on behalf of Purdue Pharma L.P. to repudiate the comment about Jill Skolek made by our employee, Robin Hogen, as reported in Bob Braun’s March 5 column. Hogen regrets having made the remark and has acknowledged in a letter to Jill Skolek’s mother, Marianne, that he was wrong to do so.… Hogen’s inappropriate remark is inconsistent with our values and our commitment, and we sincerely regret that it was made.”30
The diminutive grandmother became a regular at local hearings and she refined her investigation and writing skills. When she learned that Purdue had asked the FDA to approve OxyContin to treat postpartum pain for new mothers who were breastfeeding their infants, Skolek “flooded the country with emails and faxes to Attorneys General and the media reporting.” She told them “we had enough devastation in the country without addicting infants to OxyContin.” Purdue withdrew its request for expanded approval.
At the end of 2002, investigators working for U.S. Attorney John Brownlee got in touch with Marianne. She had written to all fifty state attorneys general and dozens of federal prosecutors beseeching them to investigate Purdue and offering whatever help she could provide.31 The timing was ideal for Brownlee. He had just started his probe.
By telephone and email she remained in daily contact. Skolek gave his investigators some early leads. Marianne had found an employee in Purdue’s legal department when buying some OxyContin promotional items on eBay. Marianne and her son drove to Stamford to meet with her at a Starbucks. There they discovered that a Purdue employee had “become addicted to OxyContin and was fired.… She had worked for Purdue Pharma for close to 25 years.” Although the ex-employee “was petrified of Purdue Pharma and their power, what a story she had to tell.” Skolek put her in touch with “Delta Force,” her nickname for the Brownlee task force.
Marianne seemed to be everywhere. She set up a website, oxydeaths.com, as a resource for those who wanted to share stories about the drug’s dangers.32 In Iowa, she teamed up with Chelly Griffith, an outspoken mother of two who had become an addict after being prescribed OxyContin for a herniated disk. She was furious that the FDA had failed to require Purdue to include the word “addictive” on Oxy’s label instead of the more obtuse notice that it has “an abuse liability similar to morphine.”33 And Skolek got Purdue to remove from their website a press release titled “65–0: OxyContin Cases Against Purdue Pharma Dismissed at a Record Rate.” She “told them it was very bad taste to call them an OxyContin victory and to gloat over it.”34
Skolek was a key source for reporter Doris Bloodsworth’s seminal front-page, five-part Orlando Sentinel series titled “OxyContin Under Fire: Pain Pill Leaves Death Trail.” The first installment appeared on October 19, 2003. The Columbia Journalism Review, in a later analysis of early media coverage about OxyContin, noted that “The Sentinel’s coverage was more ambitious [than earlier reporting]. At its core was a claim that posed a serious threat to Purdue’s business: Taking OxyContin as prescribed could lead to dependence, addiction, and death.”35
Instead of countering with facts, Purdue looked for mistakes in the series. “In retrospect, despite the Sentinel’s prescience, journalistic carelessness caused the project to backfire, and thus miss its target. Within days, serious reporting errors in the series emerged.” Two “innocent victims” were in fact drug addicts.36 Bloodsworth’s conclusions from her analysis of the autopsy reports were overstated; instead of 573 fatal overdoses “solely from OxyContin” in Florida during 2001 and 2002, only 25 percent of those were from Oxy alone. As the Sentinel made a series of corrections, Purdue used the “unforced errors” to “attack the Sentinel in a PR campaign ultimately aimed at avoiding a regulatory crackdown and ensuring a bonanza of profits.”37 Bloodsworth resigned the following February and the city editor was reassigned.II38
In 2004, OxyContin officially earned the dubious distinction as the most abused drug in the United States.39 A former Purdue assistant marketing manager told the author that he never heard anyone mention that dark milestone at its Stamford headquarters. “It was as if we did not talk about it, it hadn’t really happened.” A coworker joked once to him that the news reports made it seem like there was a “paindemic” in the making. “He thought it was funny. If anyone in a supervisory position heard that, he would have been terminated. It was not a joking matter.”40
Meanwhile, the Sacklers kept the Purdue team focused on news that avoided any discussion of the growing OxyContin health crisis. The company championed the “Global Day Against Pain.” That was a World Health Organization–sponsored event to make pain relief a basic human right. Canada and Sweden were the first countries to go along. This emerging view of pain treatment was, as some experts noted, an “inflection point” in which “failure to provide pain management was professional misconduct and… poor medicine.”41
The Sacklers and Purdue, however, could not ignore the accumulating bad news forever. John Brownlee was busy putting the finishing touches on what he was certain was a substantial and damning case. He had focused on a narrow aspect of federal criminal law. Misbranding or fraudulently marketing OxyContin was a felony. The statute did not require proof of intent or any damages. Simply doing it was the crime. Although that was the minimum count Brownlee wanted to file, his task force was confident it had gathered enough evidence for charges against Purdue money-laundering, wire and mail fraud, and defrauding the government.42
Under Justice Department regulations, Brownlee’s superiors in Washington had to sign off on his case. He forwarded it to headquarters in 2006.43 The Criminal Division career prosecutors who reviewed it recommended the most serious charges. One reason for their confidence was a confidential Department of Justice memorandum prepared by Brownlee’s team that determined that senior Purdue executives were aware of OxyContin’s abuse problems within months of its 1996 on-sale date, not five years later as they claimed.44
When Purdue learned that Brownlee was far enough along to send a draft complaint to headquarters, Giuliani called James Comey, the deputy attorney general.45 Purdue’s lawyers had assembled what they claimed was proof that Brownlee’s team had abused its investigatory powers. When Comey called Brownlee to ask whether it was true, Brownlee immediately drove to Washington to make his case in person. Comey was satisfied after they met that there was no wrongdoing. He sent Brownlee back to Virginia and told him, “Do your case.”
Purdue kept scrambling for ways to derail it. Howard Udell, its general counsel, convinced a senior DOJ lawyer to telephone Brownlee at home shortly before he was about to seek a sealed grand jury indictment. He suggested Brownlee wait since Purdue wanted to settle the matter without formal proceedings. Brownlee was certain it was another delay tactic.
Brownlee and his team met with Giuliani and Purdue’s defense lawyers over two days in September. As a former U.S. attorney, Giuliani was intimately familiar with how the process worked. Although he had no intention of bringing the case to trial since public opinion was turning against his client and its product, Purdue’s defense team blustered they would turn the case into a humiliating public defeat for the government. Brownlee was unimpressed.46 A few weeks later, defense attorneys met with senior Justice Department officials in Washington and failed to convince them there was not enough evidence to bring charges against Purdue and some top exeuctives.47
Only years later would internal Purdue documents demonstrate that while its legal team negotiated with federal prosecutors, it continued most of the same bad behavior that had gotten the company into trouble. In the first three months of 2007, during plea bargaining negotiations, the Sackler-family directors learned that more than five thousand “adverse events” had been reported to Purdue. They came from doctors, pharmacists, health clinics, hospitals, and law enforcement. Over one hundred consumers had called Purdue’s compliance hotline reporting everything from suspected illegal sales to overdoses. It was a record number of alerts, more than triple that of any previous quarter.
The FDA defined “adverse events” as “any undesirable experience associated with the use of a medical product in a patient.” Drug companies are required to report “serious” ones to the government, including when a drug is suspected of causing death, hospitalization, disability, and birth defects. The FDA has a catchall category, “Other Serious,” which includes such trigger events as anything “requiring treatment in an emergency room… [and] the development of drug dependence or drug abuse.”48
Purdue’s compliance team only investigated twenty-one cases from the flood of calls and reports. They cherry-picked the ones that appeared less serious. Then, based on those, they concluded there was no widespread diversion or abuse problem with Oxy. They did not report a single call from the hotline or the five thousand adverse events to the FDA, even though those reports indicated that as many as two thirds involved hospitalization or visits to the ER or raised questions about OxyContin dependence or abuse.49 They did not inform the DEA or any other federal, state, or local drug and law enforcement agency.50
In early summer, Brownlee got bad news from headquarters. Top DOJ officials, including Alice Fisher, then the Criminal Division’s chief, decided against filing the expanded charge and instead authorized Brownlee to bring only the less serious misbranding case.51 That was a clean and straightforward prosecution. “They decided at HQ to go for the low-hanging fruit,” a case investigator confided to the author.52 Brownlee later told Joseph Rannazzisi, a DEA official, that the DOJ decision had put him into an untenable position. By eliminating the most serious charges, it forced him to settle the case without going to trial. Otherwise, he told Rannazzisi, Purdue’s large, well-funded legal team might well overwhelm his small group of prosecutors. “He told me he was outgunned,” Rannazzisi told The New York Times.53
On May 10, Purdue’s Michael Friedman (now president), Howard Udell, and its former medical director Paul Goldenheim, and a team of nearly a dozen lawyers, arrived at a federal courthouse in Abingdon, Virginia. Giuliani and Purdue’s lawyers had hashed out a plea agreement with Brownlee.
Brownlee had agreed not to seek jail time for the three executives in exchange for their guilty pleas to the misbranding charges. The Sackler-family directors voted unanimously that Purdue Frederick, the drug firm Arthur, Mortimer, and Raymond had bought in 1952, would plead guilty to a felony for deceptive and fraudulent marketing practices in misbranding OxyContin as less addictive and subject to abuse than immediate release opioids.54 It was a clever strategy. Purdue Frederick’s plea effectively put it out of business while protecting Purdue LP and Purdue Inc., the two entities primarily responsible for OxyContin since its 1996 release. Avoiding a guilty plea also ensured that Purdue Pharma retained its ability to do business with government health care agencies such as Veterans Affairs, Medicaid, and Medicare.55
In the Virginia courthouse, Purdue’s lawyers admitted that starting a year before OxyContin’s release, its “supervisors and employees, with the intent to defraud or mislead, marketed and promoted OxyContin as less addictive, less subject to abuse and diversion, and less likely to cause tolerance and withdrawal than other pain medications.”56 Friedman, Udell, and Goldenheim pled guilty to criminal fraud in marketing OxyContin.57 Purdue was fined $634.5 million. Some legal analysts questioned whether that was a big enough penalty considering that Purdue had $9.6 billion in sales of Oxy in the previous six years. The three executives also got fined: Friedman $19 million, Udell $8 million, and Goldenheim $7.5 million.
In the Consent Agreement, Purdue agreed that going forward it “shall not make any written or oral claim that is false, misleading, or deceptive” in marketing OxyContin. The court ordered the company to give doctors and patients an evenhanded presentation of the dangers and benefits of the drug. It agreed to present the risks of taking OxyContin for longer periods and at higher doses, including the likelihood of addiction and possibly death.
In a separate Corporate Integrity Agreement, Purdue agreed to adhere strictly to rules and regulations that banned the type of deception that had been its trademark OxyContin promotion. The Sacklers and top management committed to a training course to ensure they understood and would comply with all the requirements. The agreement obligated Purdue and its directors and employees to promptly report to the government any signs of deceptive or false marketing.58
The company also agreed to create an “abuse and diversion detection program” designed to identify high-prescribing physicians. When Purdue became suspicious of “potential abuse or diversion,” it was required to stop promoting and selling OxyContin to those doctors and promptly report it “to appropriate medical, regulatory or law enforcement authorities.”59
Although the Sackler family escaped without any personal admission of guilt, the settlement required that Richard, Jonathan, Mortimer, Beverly, Ilene, Kathe, and Theresa Sackler certify in writing that each had read and understood the rules and swore to follow them.60 The Sacklers had reluctantly agreed to a sentence on which Justice Department prosecutors were insistent: “Purdue is pleading guilty as described above because Purdue is in fact guilty.” (In 2019, an ex–family director, David Sackler, played down the extent of the company’s culpability: “It is conduct that the company engaged in, yes. A number of sales reps took the language on the label and overdid the safety. We wish it never happened. For sure the company should have had a more robust compliance framework, and should have weeded out the reps that were misbranding the medication. For sure.”)61
Brownlee had asked Marianne Skolek to present a victims’ impact statement at the sentencing hearing. She was furious that the three defendants would leave the court as free men. “As I walked in front of the defense table Friedman, Udell and Goldenheim, surrounded by their flock of high-profile attorneys glared at me. I stood 3-feet from them and said, ‘You are sheer evil. You are bastards.’ ”
She began to move toward them, thinking about reaching out and slapping one. “They deserved it.” But she did not do it.62 Instead, she gave an impassioned plea during which the courthouse fell silent. She did not convince the judge, however, to change his mind by sending the trio to jail or to issue an order that “they should not be gainfully employed again in the pharmaceutical industry.”63
Federal prosecutors and public health advocates hailed the 2007 judgment as the end of the criminal misconduct at Purdue. Pharmaceutical industry analysts forecast that OxyContin had been stopped in time to avoid a more serious and deadly epidemic.64
The DEA’s Laura Nagel, who had tried building a case against Purdue for five years, was one of those who did not join in the celebration. “I would not have been happy unless we put them in shackles in front of the courthouse.”65 Marianne Skolek was also not pleased. “I knew that the evil I witnessed that day was not going away.… They would continue their need for greed and be successful at it.”66
Brownlee and his fellow prosecutors had been so impressed with Skolek’s impact statement that they asked her to present it again two months later before the Senate’s Judiciary Committee hearings into whether the Purdue plea deal was adequate enough punishment. Skolek appeared with her eleven-year-old grandson. She wanted him to see where the fight to get justice for his mother had brought them. The Senate chamber fell hushed when Marianne settled at the large oak table and pulled out a few sheets of paper with handwritten notes. Before she began, she noticed that only two seats away was Jay McCloskey, who had been the U.S. attorney from Maine from 1993 to 2001. He had been the first federal prosecutor to take notice of problems with OxyContin abuse. “He was relentless in exposing Purdue Pharma,” Marianne thought to herself. “He was not seated at the table with me as an ally though. McCloskey was now a hired consultant for Purdue Pharma and he was defending them.”
She told the senators that “Pain patients from various pain societies will speak of the merits of OxyContin and their quality of life being restored because of the drug. These pain societies throughout the country, are funded by Purdue Pharma.”67
Her voice picked up tempo. “Anything that is imposed against these convicted criminals will not give us back Jill, but I will guarantee that Purdue Pharma will never forget the name Jill Skolek.… I want to know why 12 warning letters were sent by the FDA to Purdue Pharma about their marketing of OxyContin and to this day, they are not required to put ‘highly addictive’ or ‘addictive’ on the label of the drug. I want to know why the FDA deleted without reading so many of my emails about the marketing of OxyContin until this last month. I want to know why Curtis Wright, while employed by the FDA, played an intricate part in the approval of OxyContin and then was hired by Purdue Pharma.… I want to know how Rudy Giuliani could be the ‘big star’ hired by Purdue Pharma to play down the abuse and diversion of OxyContin and also get paid by the DEA for work performed for them. I want to know why the Sackler family has not been held accountable for their involvement with Purdue Pharma and the mass marketing of OxyContin. Eventually Purdue Pharma will introduce another blockbuster drug similar to OxyContin.… My advice to Purdue Pharma is when you are ready to introduce another drug such as OxyContin… look behind you, because I will be right there. I will be working at having Howard Udell disbarred for his criminal activities and Paul Goldenheim’s medical license revoked for what amounts to white collar drug trafficking. I will be actively working at Friedman, Udell and Goldenheim never being able to work in the pharmaceutical industry again because they are convicted criminals who criminally marketed OxyContin. I will accomplish this… do not doubt me at not being successful at achieving this. Her name was Jill Carol Skolek. She did not deserve to be prescribed OxyContin and die because of the criminal activities of individuals of Purdue Pharma. Please give my family justice and investigate the criminal activity of Purdue Pharma.”68
I. After the conference, Braun had also interviewed Connecticut attorney general Richard Blumenthal. During the panel discussion, Blumenthal said his office had “an ongoing inquiry” about Purdue. Braun asked whether that “constituted an investigation.” “Well, yes, you can call it an investigation,” Blumenthal said. “It might not be a criminal investigation, but it’s an investigation.” Purdue’s Hogen had overheard the exchange and left Braun a voicemail a few hours later. “There is no investigation under way.” He claimed Blumenthal had only asked for some Purdue marketing documents, “but that does not constitute an investigation, and that would be inaccurate for you to report tomorrow that the attorney general of Connecticut has launched an investigation of Purdue Pharma.”
II. The Sentinel never retracted the story but did assign two senior reporters who worked for three months before the paper printed a 2,500-word article on what had gone wrong in Bloodsworth’s reporting and the paper’s editorial and fact-checking oversight.
48
PROFITS AND CORPSES
The strict terms of the Consent Agreement signed by the Sackler-family directors should have been the end of OxyContin’s nationwide trail of destruction. The worst was yet to come, however. What seemed like a persistent problem in 2007 would over the coming decade develop into a full-blown national epidemic, a public health crisis that has claimed several hundred thousand American lives. The most lethal years and the greatest abuse would all come after the 2007 guilty plea.
Purdue apparently decided to break most of its promises to the federal government. The company did not report dangerous prescribers. It did not even order that the detail team stop visiting them.1 Instead, it expanded OxyContin’s deceitful promotion and sales campaign for the sole purpose of selling ever-more drugs for the longest possible period and at the highest dosages.
A few months before the plea agreement, the Sackler-family directors received a report that forecast a 2007 profit of $407 million. At a July 15 board meeting, just two months after their legal settlement, they learned that estimate was too low by 50 percent. Net sales in 2007 would top a billion dollars and produce profits of more than $600 million.2 OxyContin was responsible for ninety percent of all revenue.
The main reason for the huge spike in the bottom line? “Sales effort,” according to internal memos. At the time, Purdue had 301 sales representatives (compared to 34 in drug research). The detail team’s focus on getting physicians to write higher-strength prescriptions had paid off. More than half of the 2007 record-setting revenue was from sales of the 80 mg pill, at the time the most powerful OxyContin.3 Over the coming decade, Purdue more than doubled the size of its detail team, hiring hundreds of new reps to keep up with the drug’s surging demand.4
The Sackler-family directors were not remote board members with little idea of what was happening inside the company. Internal documents reveal the extent to which many Purdue executives and managers who reported to them complained about their micromanagement, particularly from Richard Sackler. Once he overruled a recommendation from one of the company’s outside counsel that it keep a wide distance from the three executives who had pled guilty. Why? he asked. They had made a public statement of contrition and paid large personal fines.5 Although Goldenheim had left the company, Friedman visited regularly and Howard Udell had moved back into his corner office and helped sometimes with in-house legal matters. Also, after their guilty plea, the Department of Health and Human Services had banned the trio for twenty years from doing business with any taxpayer-subsidized health care (Medicare, Medicaid, etc.). Richard Sackler had spearheaded the effort to hire a premier law firm that appealed that ruling and got the ban reduced to twelve years. (Their effort to get it lifted entirely was rejected in 2010 by a Washington, D.C., judge.)6
The Sacklers approved several million dollars in payments to the convicted executives (the largest was $3 million to Michael Friedman).7 That money helped offset most of the impact from the fines that had been levied against them. The Massachusetts attorney general later charged that the help to the three men was “to maintain their [the three executives] loyalty and protect the Sackler family.”8
The author uncovered that, in the wake of the bad publicity from the criminal guilty plea, Purdue relied increasingly on influencing the “key physician opinion leaders” as it tried to maintain the momentum of Oxy’s sales. An example was Advances in Pain Management, launched near the time of the plea agreement. It was jointly sponsored by the University of Kentucky Colleges of Pharmacy and Medicine and Remedica Medical Education and Publishing. Purdue had flooded Kentucky medical and pharmaceutical school curriculums with grants and subsidies. The Kentucky Pharmacists Association had opposed stricter dispensing rules for OxyContin in 2001.9 Remedica was a London-based medical publisher that had been founded the same year Purdue released OxyContin.10
It might seem unlikely that a London publisher ended up as a partner with an accredited college of pharmacy located in a ground zero state for OxyContin abuse and diversion.11 Who were its editors? Russell Portenoy, a leading voice for the pain and opioid reevaluation movement, was the journal’s editor-in-chief. In a small-print footnote in the first issue, Portenoy listed forty-two “relevant financial relationships” with pharmaceutical companies, including Purdue.12 The associate editor was Ricardo Cruciani, an Ivy League–trained chair of the neurology department at Philadelphia’s Drexel research university. Portenoy and Cruciani reversed positions on the masthead in late 2008. One of the journal’s featured writers was Lynn Webster, a Utah-based anesthesiologist who was an advocate of pseudoaddiction and had created the Opioid Risk Tool, a bare-bones five-question assessment intended to ferret out patients at risk of abusing opioids.13 For doctors not up-to-date on the latest developments in pain management, that one-minute screening contributed to a false sense that liberalized dispensing of opioids was not risky. Purdue, and other opioid manufacturers, featured it on their websites.14 The CDC ultimately concluded that Webster’s screening test was ineffective; it had “insufficient accuracy” and was “extremely inconsistent.”15
Was it a coincidence that Advances in Pain Management published articles that at times seemed as if they were taken from Purdue’s marketing playbook?16 Portenoy and Cruciani received more than $2 million over time for consulting, lectures, and research from Purdue and other opioid manufacturers.17 Lynn Webster’s Lifetree Pain Clinic in Salt Lake City had also received millions in research; an investigation by The Salt Lake Tribune later reported that Webster ranked “among the top 50 for single largest payments received” from drug companies, “behind marquee hospitals, such as the Mayo Clinic, Cleveland Clinic and Duke and Harvard Universities.”18 Portenoy and Cruciani were not far behind as recipients of drug company largesse (the money spigot to Cruciani was cut off in late 2017 after seventeen of his female patients in three states accused him of sexual assault and rape; he was convicted the following year and is serving a ten-year sentence).19
Webster’s Lifetree Pain Clinic closed after the DEA raided it in 2010 and discovered a file cabinet labeled “deceased patients.” More than twenty of his patients who were prescribed massive doses of OxyContin had died under his care. (The U.S. attorney did not file criminal charges, something a DEA agent described as the “most frustrating event of his career.”)20 Webster’s problems did not mean that Purdue distanced itself from him. It continued paying hundreds of thousands to Webster as he continued echoing the party line for liberalized opioid dispensing. With Purdue’s backing, Webster later became the president of the American Academy of Pain Medicine and a senior editor of Pain Medicine, a journal that relied only on advertising from Purdue and other drug companies with narcotic painkillers.21
Working with key physicians in the reevaluation movement and lobbying for good coverage in pain specialty periodicals was just one strategy that Purdue rolled out to prevent OxyContin’s sales from plateauing after its 2007 federal guilty plea. The following year, it added over one hundred new sales representatives and introduced an opioid savings card that discounted the first five prescriptions (induced by those discounts, 160,000 people tried OxyContin for the first time and 44,000 became repeat patients). The marketing and promotion budget doubled to $160 million.
Still, the Sacklers worried about more than simply a slowing of Oxy’s momentum. Purdue was a one-drug company whose future success lay in selling as much OxyContin as possible for as long as possible. Richard sent a private memo to his relatives on the board in mid-2008 and warned about “a dangerous concentration of risk.” He raised the possibility that they might want to sell Purdue; OxyContin’s success meant they could get a great price. That idea fell flat with other family-directors who instead wanted to “milk the profits.”22
At four board meetings in 2008, the Sackler directors voted to distribute $850 million to themselves from Oxy’s record profits.23 According to “some people close to the family,” the Wall Street Journal later reported, how much and when to take profits was a matter on which the directors did not always agree. The unidentified sources told the Journal that Raymond Sackler and his relatives—Richard, Jonathan, and David—wanted to reinvest the profits into the business while Mortimer and his relatives—particularly Kathe and Mortimer D.—insisted the money be paid to the family.24 At the September 2008 board meeting, the Sackler directors voted themselves $199 million in profits. At the following month’s meeting they got a report that acknowledged OxyContin abuse and diversion was a nationwide problem. One hundred and sixty-three tips about excessive prescribing and diversion had come into Purdue’s hotline the previous month. None were reported to law enforcement or the FDA. With that unpleasant discussion over, the Sacklers focused on a new “Toppers Club Sales Contest.” The five sales representatives who managed the biggest increases in revenues in their territories stood to win the largest bonuses ever paid by the company.25
The competition resulted in another year of record revenues. That translated into huge bonuses more than double the expected quotas for the entire sales force. At the same March 2009 board meeting at which the Sacklers approved the Toppers Club Sales Contest, they voted another $200 million for themselves.26 Two months later they were informed that the company had violated the Corporate Integrity Agreement that had been part of their 2007 guilty plea. Purdue’s managers had ignored their obligations to oversee the detail team and prevent misrepresentations in the pitches to doctors. The Sacklers’ response? They fired three salesmen. They also approved another $162 million in payments to themselves.27 A couple of months later they voted to pay the family $173 million despite a flurry of internal correspondence showing that both Richard and Mortimer were concerned about a sales department prediction that OxyContin’s revenue was flattening and might soon decline. To reinvigorate sales, in 2010 Purdue introduced a “new and improved” tamper-resistant OxyContin. David Sackler later claimed the two-year project cost the company $1 billion. Purdue touted the new version as more difficult to crush, snort, or inject. The company knew its reformulated version helped in only a small minority of instances in which someone did that to get an immediate high.28 Upward of 90 percent of patients misused OxyContin by swallowing the pills.29
The company had conducted two small trials, run by three employees and a paid consultant. In one, recreational drug users thought the tamper-resistant coating made Oxy less desirable. In a second study, twenty-nine subjects, for seven days, snorted crushed tamper-resistant Oxy while others got a placebo. Purdue concluded from the ratings given by the volunteers that the tamper-resistant version had “a reduced abuse potential compared to the original formulation.”30
From years of accumulating data, the FDA knew the two Purdue studies proved little. The agency’s officials informed the company that during its field tests of the new version, there was “no effect” in reducing the addiction and overdose potential. Still, the FDA approved the tamper-resistant OxyContin.
The author learned the reason Purdue wanted the new coating was not about reducing the deadly fallout from its star drug, but to obtain a patent extension to prevent generic competition. Once the FDA approved it, Purdue rolled out a campaign titled Opioids with Abuse Deterrent Properties.31 It spent millions on sponsoring and touting its crush-resistant formulation as the first ever narcotic pain reliever that reduced the chances for abuse and slashed the addiction rate.32
The campaign worked. Many doctors believed it and picked up their prescribing pace. That physicians were susceptible to pseudoscience, of course, was something Mortimer and Raymond had learned decades earlier from Arthur and his major drug launches at the McAdams agency.
In 2010, Purdue spent a record $226 million on marketing and promotion, mostly for its “new and improved” OxyContin. Some of the marketing budget was for the release of a new FDA-approved drug Purdue had worked on for nearly three years. Butrans was a narcotic patch the company claimed delivered a five-day dose of buprenorphine, a synthetic opioid twenty-five to forty times more powerful than morphine. Although its clinical tests demonstrated it was ineffective in treating osteoarthritis, at a board meeting the Sacklers asked if it was possible for the sales reps to omit that failed study. The detail team later mentioned osteoarthritis in over a third of their doctor visits without citing the negative trial results.33
The Sacklers pushed the sales team to its limits. Each rep had to meet escalating target quotas for how often they visited physicians. The average was 7.5 visits daily. In 2010, that translated into more than half a million one-on-one sales pitches. Starting the following year, with yet a larger detail squad, the number of visits hit three quarters of a million.34 Dozens of internal emails and memos reveal that the Sackler-family directors believed the sales team could always do more as well as do it better.35
The one matter on which there were no complaints from the Sacklers was how much money they got from Oxy profits. At four board meetings during 2010, they approved an additional $890 million for themselves ($249 million in February, $141 million in April, $240 million in September, and $260 million in December).36 They also ratified a remarkably ambitious ten-year plan that included doubling the detail team and increasing opioid sales by 20 percent annually. It projected that the profits to the Sackler family from 2010 through 2020 would be “at least $700,000,000 each year.”37
In 2011, four years after the criminal guilty plea by Purdue and three top executives, OxyContin gained the dubious distinction as the country’s most deadly drug, surpassing the combined fatalities from heroin and cocaine overdoses.38 The Sacklers worried about the increasing media coverage that blamed the company for how aggressively it fed the demand and ignored the “danger to public safety.” The family believed it encouraged more legal complaints against Purdue. A few months earlier they had approved $22 million to settle several dozen private lawsuits. While those civil suits were a nuisance, what was more worrying to the Sacklers was renewed interest from law enforcement. Purdue had managed to keep the FDA at bay during its 2007 criminal plea for misbranding Oxy. It might not be so fortunate the next time.
Purdue’s compliance department had informed the Sacklers that the number of complaints about abuse or diversion to the company’s hotline had broken a record in the last quarter of 2010. Purdue again did not report to the FDA any instances in which the sales representatives might have underplayed OxyContin’s addictive power in their pitches to doctors.39 Later, when one of the key elements in the lawsuits brought by dozens of state attorneys general was Purdue’s overzealous marketing of OxyContin, the company’s legal defense was to shift the responsibility for the drug being dispensed and abused so widely to the doctors who wrote the prescriptions.40
The Sacklers turned to legal matters in their first board meeting in January 2011. They authorized Purdue to pay all legal costs for an extended group of Purdue executives and sales managers. The Sacklers wanted to send a signal to employees that the family “had their backs.”
It had been John Crowley, the company’s executive director of Controlled Substances Act compliance, who had brought to the board’s attention that some key producers on the detail team worried about the consequences of getting dragged into legal contests, even if only as witnesses or for depositions. Legal fees could be devastating. Crowley was concerned for good reason. A sales manager, Michele Ringler, had emailed him in 2009 about her suspicions that a Los Angeles pill mill was ordering an inordinate amount of OxyContin from distributors. Lake Medical was a two-room “pain clinic” that an ex-felon and his physician partner had opened the previous year. Most pharmacies in Ringler’s L.A. sales territory ordered an average of 1,500 OxyContin pills monthly. Lake Medical averaged that every week.41 “I feel very certain this is an organized drug ring,” Ringler told Crowley. “Shouldn’t the DEA be contacted about this?”
Crowley did nothing. Ringler’s suspicions were right. By the time the DEA closed down Lake Medical in another year, it had distributed more than a million OxyContin pills to the Crips gang and Armenian traffickers. Only after the clinic was shuttered and its owners indicted did Crowley tell the DEA what Purdue knew.42
“They had an obligation, a legal one and a moral one,” said Joseph Rannazzisi, the DEA agent who had replaced Laura Nagel in 2005 as chief of the agency’s Office of Diversion Control, responsible for oversight of the pharmaceutical industry.43 Inside Purdue, detail team managers mocked the idea they should be bound by some ill-defined and nebulous concept of moral obligations. Apparently, the Sackler-family directors thought it was foolish to expect moral parameters to limit acceptable industry business practices. In the cutthroat world of pharmaceutical sales, any company that enforced “moral obligations” would be pulverized by competitors. The only rules to follow were those few on which they had no discretion. That was not as simple a maxim as it appeared. Virtually every rule that appeared ironclad was subject to legal interpretation. The DEA’s Rannazzisi had both law and pharmacy degrees; he construed the Controlled Substances Act to require pharma companies and drug distributors to reject and report “suspicious orders” if they had reason to believe the drugs might be illegally diverted.44 Purdue’s general counsel, Phil Strassburger, gave legal cover to Crowley and others in the compliance department. “It would be irresponsible to direct every single anecdotal and often unconfirmed claim of potential misprescribing to these organizations,” contended Strassburger.45
While Rannazzisi had expected to get stonewalled by Purdue or Johnson & Johnson, he had hoped he might get some voluntary compliance from the distributors, the big companies in between the pharma firms and the pharmacies, hospitals, and doctors’ clinics. “Cardinal Health, McKesson, and AmerisourceBergen,” he said, “control probably 85 or 90 percent of the drugs going downstream.” The distributors maintained precise data for how many pills go to each pharmacist for whom they fulfilled orders. Rannazzisi knew there were instances in which the distributors had ignored warning signs that were impossible to miss unless they did so intentionally. There was one pharmacy, for instance, in Kermit, West Virginia, a town of 392 people. It ordered over nine million OxyContin in two years. Neither Purdue nor the distributors filed any timely report to authorities about that pill mill.46 “There were just too many bad practitioners, too many bad pharmacies, and too many bad wholesalers and distributors,” concluded Rannazzisi.I47
The legal headaches were the inevitable costs, contended the Sacklers, of being the market leader on a drug that was a controlled substance. What about the fallout from Vioxx a few years earlier? they asked rhetorically. FDA officials had estimated that Merck’s nonnarcotic painkiller had killed sixty thousand Americans, more than had died during the Vietnam War.48 Independent statisticians contended Vioxx might have been responsible for half a million deaths by increasing the risks for a lethal heart attack for those patients who were genetically susceptible.49 Vioxx had indeed caused a national uproar. It tarnished Merck’s sterling reputation. It led to calls to invest the FDA with authority to review the safety of medications it had previously approved. Thousands of lawsuits were filed; Merck settled them in 2007 for $4.85 billion, then a record for pharmaceutical litigation.50
The insulated “circle the wagons” mentality was reinforced by every media story that portrayed Purdue as the villainous face of the opioid industry. There was also a perception, the author has learned, among the Sacklers and top management that plaintiffs’ lawyers and government investigators had focused on Purdue because it was the only privately owned company then selling a successful opioid painkiller. Its competitors were well-known publicly traded firms selling everything from extended release pills mixing opioids and anesthetics to fentanyl patches (among others, Johnson & Johnson had Nucynta, Pfizer made Embeda, Janssen Pharma had Duragesic, Cephalon/Teva had Actiq, and Bio Delivery Sciences had Onsolis). The opioid painkillers sold by large publicly traded companies were a small part of their diversified product lines. While those painkillers were profitable, the companies did not depend on them. Without OxyContin, Purdue would close shop. That made it simpler in a court of public opinion to portray Purdue as nothing more than a legally sanctioned drug dealer.
The DEA’s Joseph Rannazzisi was an eyewitness to better treatment that some enormous public corporations got as compared to small companies. McKesson, AmerisourceBergen, and Cardinal Health were all Fortune 500 companies (ranked 6, 12, and 15, respectively). They had pushed back against Rannazzisi’s aggressive enforcement for hundreds of instances where they failed to report and reject “suspicious orders.” Rannazzisi’s Justice Department superiors grilled him about his tactics against the distributors. That had “infuriated” Rannazzisi, who refused to change his attitude that “this is war. We’re going after these people and we are not going to stop.” The distributors, according to Rannazzisi, lobbied to get the DEA to change course. And it did. It stopped using its strongest remedy, the ability to freeze distributors’ shipments of drugs, against any of the largest companies.
“So the question is,” asked Rannazzisi, “why would it be any different for these companies as compared to the small mom-and-pops that we had done hundreds of times before? The difference is, they have a lot of money, and a lot of influence.”51
“With a privately run company, the owners become the face of the business,” a lawyer friendly with the Sacklers told the author. “What do you think worried the Sacklers? What do you think juries in Appalachia might think if they got the idea that a family of New York Jews made a fortune from a drug that some lawyer tells them was to blame for all the misery in their communities?”52 II 53
What most distressed the Sackler-family directors in 2011, however, was a midyear report that OxyContin sales were hundreds of millions less than had been forecast. All the bad news about opioids was taking its toll on the dispensing habits of doctors, who were writing lower-strength prescriptions. The two strongest Oxy doses, 60 mg and 80 mg, were off by 20 percent. They had Purdue’s biggest profit margins. By the end of the year, the Sacklers had “only” paid themselves $551 million. Although it was an enormous payout, it was a third of a billion dollars less than what they drew the previous year.54 As a result, the Sacklers (with a new family director that July, David Sackler, Richard’s son) exhorted the sales team in 2012 and 2013 to meet ever-higher targets. Richard Sackler blamed a sales dip over Christmas because many reps had taken off for the holidays. The company launched a quantitative research project that focused on patients who were long-term users of prescription opioids. Richard Sackler thought it might help give the detail team some fresh ideas about selling more Oxy at higher doses for longer periods.55 The company also produced and promoted videos encouraging doctors to prescribe liberally, kicked off a new marketing campaign called “Individualize the Dose,” and hired McKinsey consultants to develop innovative ways to generate more sales.56
The detail team reported that their one-on-one pitches were increasingly met with more questions, sometimes skepticism, especially from general practitioners. It had not helped that in May 2012, the Senate Finance Committee had launched an investigation into the degree to which money from Purdue, Johnson & Johnson, and Endo Pharmaceuticals had influenced seven of the country’s leading pain foundations.57 The probe was the idea of the committee’s chair, Montana’s Max Baucus, and the ranking minority member, Iowa’s Chuck Grassley. Both states were hard hit by the opioid epidemic.
The top target was the American Pain Foundation (APF), the country’s largest nonprofit dedicated to pain management. It promoted the idea that opioid painkillers were not the problem and the fault was overprescribing physicians. The APF was an industry mouthpiece that masqueraded as a patient advocacy organization. Over 90 percent of its revenue came from opioid manufacturers, with Purdue giving more than double any of its rivals.58 The day that the Senate Finance Committee announced its probe, the American Pain Foundation closed. In its final public release, it claimed that “due to irreparable economic circumstances” it could not remain “operational.”59 The widespread speculation was that the APF preferred shutting down rather than answer subpoenas for the production of documents that would expose the extent to which Purdue and its rival opioid manufacturers had controlled and manipulated it. The Senate investigation and the APF closure were front-page national news.III60
In March 2013, Purdue circulated an internal report with grim statistics and a frightening prediction. Not only had drug overdose fatalities in the U.S. tripled over a decade, but the tens of thousands who had died were just “the tip of the iceberg.” For everyone who died, there were over a hundred others battling dependence or abuse with prescription opioids.61 Purdue’s executives worried that such figures would prompt doctors to instinctively pull back further on their opioid prescribing.
There was a single bright spot for the company in the otherwise steady stream of negative news. On April 16 a small celebration broke out at its Stamford headquarters. Burt Rosen, Purdue’s Washington-based chief lobbyist, had called Richard Sackler with the news that the FDA had rejected the application of several manufacturers to approve a generic version of OxyContin.62 The patent that had expired on that same day was the one Purdue got in 1995 on the original formulation of OxyContin. Purdue had stopped manufacturing the original and replaced it in 2012 with its “new and improved” version featuring the abuse-deterrent coating.63 That version had a new patent that precluded generic competitors until 2025 (according to David Sackler, all the timing was a coincidence, something that seems very unlikely given that the patent monopoly was worth billions in extra years of profits).64
Purdue had been justifiably worried that a decision to allow generics would slash its selling price. Losing its unchallenged pricing power, the company forecast, would cause the average cost of a bottle of one hundred 40 mg pills to plummet from $450 to less than $100.65 The generic manufacturers had been joined by some pain management experts and patient advocates in arguing unsuccessfully that a denial was rewarding Purdue for having had an unsafe drug on the market for thirteen years before it developed the abuse-deterrent coating.
Not only was the FDA ruling a win for Purdue’s bottom line but it was the first time the drug agency had ever permitted a pharmaceutical company to make the claim on its label that its drug has “tamper-resistant properties.”66 In making that controversial ruling, the FDA said it had reviewed additional data submitted by Purdue that “was enough to show that the new version of OxyContin was safer, in its abuse resistance, than the original version.”67
By midsummer, it was back to disappointing news. Oxy year-over-year sales were almost $100 million less than expected. That was just in time for McKinsey’s finished report in August, Identifying Granular Growth Opportunities for OxyContin: First Board Update. It provided recommendations for how Purdue might “turbocharge the sales engine.” Among the short-term solutions, it suggested an increase in the annual quota for sales reps’ one-on-one doctor visits by 20 percent. The company had lost its laserlike concentration on courting the most “prolific prescribers.” Visits that tried to get low dispensers to write more prescriptions resulted in little increased revenue. According to McKinsey, the “more prolific group ‘write 25 times as many OxyContin scripts’ as the less prolific prescribers.” Moreover, McKinsey determined that after a Purdue sales rep visited one of the high-volume prescribers, they wrote even more scrips for opioids.68 (In 2015, Purdue tightened its compensation rules for the detail team; sales reps who did not visit enough “high value” prescribers lost bonus pay.)69
Finally, McKinsey suggested the detail team push OxyContin’s savings cards in neighborhoods with a high concentration of Walgreens pharmacies. Oxy sales were down 18 percent across all Walgreens pharmacies. The country’s second-largest retail pharmacy chain had two months earlier pled guilty to breaking the law by filling tens of thousands of illegitimate Oxy prescriptions. As part of its plea deal with federal prosecutors, Walgreens agreed to institute a long list of safeguards to ensure it could not happen again. The only way to boost the sales at the chain, said the McKinsey report, was for the Sacklers to lobby the top management at Walgreens to relax some of those new regulations for OxyContin.70
CVS, the nation’s largest retail pharmacy chain, was in the same predicament. The Sacklers discussed what to do at their September board meeting. They first voted another payment to themselves, bringing their 2013 total to $400 million.71 Then all agreed if they were not successful at getting the two retail chains to find a workaround for the government-imposed safeguards, Purdue should look into placing its star drug into mail order pharmacies or even consider selling Oxy directly. The last idea was not realistic. No pharmaceutical firm had ever been allowed to sell a controlled substance straight to consumers.
Before the year ended, Burt Rosen, Purdue’s in-house lobbyist, approached Richard Sackler about a sensitive matter, “concerns over our internal documents.”72 Rosen worried that Purdue’s files might contain incriminating information. The multiplying lawsuits and government probes made it ever more likely those documents might one day be subpoenaed and made public. Richard Sackler did not seem too troubled. Rosen then raised it with Jonathan Sackler, who also seemed unperturbed.
Richard Sackler had had several small strokes by this time and his health was not good. Purdue brought in five outside directors to serve with the nine Sackler directors. The most persistent rumor was that David Sackler, Richard’s son, might replace his father as Purdue’s chief.73 It was evident that whoever took control of the family-run drug empire was going to be safeguarding one of America’s largest personal fortunes. The Sackler family entered the Forbes “Richest Families” list with an estimated net worth of $14 billion in 2014.74 The magazine noted that twenty years of sales of Purdue’s wildly popular opioid product was “why they edged out families like the Busches, Mellons and Rockefellers.”75
Copies of Forbes passed around headquarters. Some of the family thought it was aspirational and might encourage top Purdue executives and the sales team to redouble their efforts. No one at the company mentioned that the same year the Sacklers cracked the elite Forbes list, a record nineteen thousand Americans had died of prescription opioids, mostly OxyContin. David Sackler, a Purdue director for six years starting in 2012, was the only family member who later commented on the drug’s deadly legacy. In a 2019 interview in Vanity Fair in which he tried to do some belated damage control for the much besieged family, he claimed, “We have so much empathy.… We feel absolutely terrible.”76
I. The DEA ultimately fined McKesson and Cardinal Health $341 million for filling millions of OxyContin from “suspicious orders.” After that, the distributors bypassed Rannazzisi and went to his superiors. “They complained to Congress that DEA regulations were vague,” recalled Rannazzisi, “and the agency was treating them like a foreign drug cartel.” By 2013, he recalls, “there was a sea change in the way prosecutions of big distributors were handled. Cases… that once would have easily been approved, now weren’t good enough.” McKesson, Cardinal, and AmerisourceBergen were subsequently named as plaintiffs in the consolidated opioid litigation in federal courts. In April 2019, they reached their first settlement agreement. West Virginia got $37 million from McKesson, $20 million from AmerisourceBergen, and $16 million from Cardinal. The trio only paid the fines, none admitted any wrongdoing. In late October, on the eve of the first opioid trial scheduled in Ohio, McKesson, AmerisourceBergen, and Cardinal agreed to pay $215 million to the two plaintiffs, Cuyahoga and Summit Counties. Another defendant, Israel-based Teva Pharmaceutical Industries, settled at the same time for $20 million cash and $25 million in addiction-treatment medications. None admitted wrongdoing.
II. In dozens of cases filed against Purdue since 2016, state attorneys general included Johnson & Johnson, Ortho-McNeil Janssen, Endo Health, Allergan, and Watson Pharmaceuticals in their complaints. In February 2019, the Oklahoma attorney general filed a suit charging that Johnson & Johnson had acted as “a kingpin behind the public-health emergency, profiting at every stage.” Besides making and selling its own opioid-based products, the Oklahoma AG said the reason J&J had acted like a drug kingpin was that it had used foreign subsidiaries in Tasmania to grow and process raw opium that it then sold to other drugmakers for the ingredients used in two thirds of all painkillers. On August 26, 2019, a judge ruled against Johnson & Johnson. He found the company liable for overhyping the benefits of its opioids and downplaying the risks. It was fined $572 million. That was reduced in November to $465 million. Johnson & Johnson has appealed.
III. It took a year of hearings and document production before its draft conclusions were ready. Those have never been released. In January 2014, Baucus left to become President Obama’s ambassador to China and Grassley switched to the Judiciary Committee. Their replacements, Utah’s Orrin Hatch and Oregon’s Ron Wyden, kept the report sealed. That it is secret years after its completion has spawned dozens of conspiracy theories including one that the U.S. government has covered up a Sackler/OxyContin and Sinaloa Mexican Cartel/heroin alliance. In fact, the progressive Senator Wyden, no friend to the pharmaceutical industry, has explained that the Senate rules “prohibit the release of documents collected in the course of an investigation outside the context of an official report.”
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GAMING THE SYSTEM
OxyContin dominated the sales of narcotic painkillers through 2014 despite competition from opioids released by Johnson & Johnson, Pfizer, Endo, and Janssen. None, however, offered therapeutic or dosing advantages significant enough to induce users to switch. While rivals tried breaking Oxy’s grip on the top selling spot, they did not compete on price. Comparable doses of all extended release prescription opioids were priced within a few cents of one another.1 Discounting would have likely increased a firm’s market share but at the expense of profits.
With the bulk of their sales in the United States, all the narcotic painkillers had robust profit margins. There was no more lucrative market than America, the world’s largest consumer of prescription drugs per capita. In 2013, prescription drugs accounted for 20 percent of American health care spending, about $850 per citizen, more than double the average of nineteen advanced industrialized nations.2 U.S. pharmacies dispensed the equivalent of seventy tons of pure oxycodone. Americans used 83 percent of the world’s supply.3 Most important, pharma companies charged significantly more for their drugs in the U.S. A thirty-day supply of OxyContin cost $265 on average in the U.S. The same prescription averaged $72 in Europe and even less in South America and Asia.4
By pricing its blockbuster at 400 percent more in the U.S. than what it charged elsewhere, Purdue was typical of all American pharma firms. A comparison in 2014 of the twenty top grossing drugs, which accounted for 15 percent of all global prescription spending, revealed U.S. prices were on average three times higher than Europe, six times higher than Brazil, and sixteen times higher than India, the lowest-priced nation.5
Selling drugs at high prices in America has been part of the industry’s DNA since the end of World War II. In 1959, Senator Estes Kefauver began his three-year investigation into why U.S. companies sold their drugs for “much lower prices in foreign countries than in the U.S.”6 The pharmaceutical industry had contended that its more expensive domestic research and development costs explained the pricing disparity. Kefauver’s subcommittee proved that wrong. The reason for the pricing inequality was easy to pinpoint: the U.S. was the only country that allowed pharma companies to set their own prices. Every other industrialized nation used price caps or indirect controls to limit prices.
The effects of the unfettered pricing discretion are magnified in the U.S. since it is also where patents provide the world’s longest sales monopoly. Mylan’s CEO, Heather Bresch, the daughter of West Virginia senator Joe Manchin, was remarkably candid in a 2016 CNBC interview when asked why the company’s best-selling EpiPen product sold for $608 in the U.S. but only $100 to $150 in Europe. “We [the United States] do subsidize the rest of the world, and as a country we’ve made a conscious decision to do that. And I think the world’s a better place for it.”7
Mylan had raised the price of EpiPen, a lifesaving autoinjector to counter severe allergic reactions, fifteen times since it bought the rights to the product in 2007 from a Pfizer subsidiary.8 Revenues over that time had jumped fivefold from $200 million to a billion dollars. EpiPen provided 40 percent of Mylan’s profits and its margins ballooned from 8 percent to 55 percent.9 Bresch’s salary tracked EpiPen’s accelerating price chart; it went from $2.5 million when Mylan bought EpiPen to $19.5 million in five years. Mylan eventually paid $465 million to settle charges it had bilked Medicaid by deliberately misbranding cheaper EpiPen versions as more expensive ones.10
Most Americans blame greedy drug manufacturers for the pricegouging. That is undoubtedly a key factor. In the year in which the Sacklers broke onto the Forbes list of wealthiest American families, pharmaceutical prices increased 12.2 percent, one of the fastest ever year-over-year escalations.11 The problem is more complicated, however, than industry executives setting high prices and counting profits as their products fly off pharmacy shelves. There are unique features of the U.S. drug distribution system that encourage artificially high and uncompetitive drug prices to flourish.
A key element, and one about which the public knows little, is the role of pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs). They had begun as a tiny niche providing processing benefits and paperwork for medical insurance companies. McKesson, the industry’s largest drug distributor, bought the first PBM in 1970 and transformed it from a simple service provider into an independent powerhouse. As the number of PBMs proliferated during the 1970s and 1980s, they came to control drug formularies, negotiate discounts directly with manufacturers, and reimburse pharmacists. Drug companies, which had initially dismissed PBMs as mere paper pushers, came to see them as an emerging threat to their pricing hegemony.12 In the 1980s, Merck’s CEO, Roy Vagelos, noted the largest PBM, Medco, could on its own “shift market share within a class of drugs to their preferred product.”13 Drug manufacturers were forced to deal with the PBMs since they had become the middlemen between pharma and medical insurers. So Vagelos decided it might be better for Merck to own its own PBM. It bought Medco in 1993 for $6.6 billion. That kicked off a rush by rivals to buy their own pharmacy benefit manager. Eli Lilly scooped up the industry founder, PCS, for $4.1 billion. SmithKline Beecham spent $2.3 billion for Diversified Pharmaceutical Services. Bristol-Myers Squibb formed an alliance with Caremark and Pfizer did the same with ValueRx.14 There was a flurry of mergers and acquisitions among the remaining independent PBMs through the 1990s.15 Rite Aid in 1998 decided the fastest way to expand its presence in the HMO and managed care market was to buy its own PBM; it paid Lilly $1.5 billion for PCS.
In 1999, PBMs covered half of all insured Americans. That year, Bill Clinton proposed a prescription drug benefit for Medicare. It had been thirty years since an LBJ-appointed commission had recommended that prescription drug coverage be available to the nation’s seniors. Health care had been a priority in the Clinton administration. An ambitious effort at a quasi-national health insurance plan failed in 1993. Four years later the administration managed to pass the Children’s Health Insurance Program (CHIP) as part of the Balanced Budget Act. It expanded Medicaid assistance to “uninsured children up to age 19 in families with incomes too high to qualify them for Medicaid.”
The 1999 Clinton drug plan would pay half of the first $5,000 in medication costs and 100 percent of everything over that. As opposed to the extensive government control in the administration’s 1993 proposal, PBMs would manage in the new one. But it proved impossible to get any legislative momentum in the last year of Clinton’s presidency. It took another four years, and a dozen variations on a series of bills, before a Republican-led Congress got enough bipartisan support to pass George W. Bush’s Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act.16
When the law went into effect in 2006 it was the first time prescription drug benefits were available to all the country’s 41 million seniors. Unfortunately, as with the Clinton plan, PBMs had a central role. The pharmaceutical industry lobbied to ensure that the legislation explicitly prevented the government from negotiating drug prices.17 I 18
Making drugs available to tens of millions of patients without empowering the government to negotiate or cap prices was a boon for companies that had a role in manufacturing, distributing, and selling prescription medications to Americans. The expanded coverage put the pharmacy benefit managers in a powerful position because they controlled the drug formularies. Only those medications on the lists were eligible for medical insurance reimbursement. What resulted was a complex and obscure scheme of “rebates” by which drug manufacturers paid PBMs to get their drugs on the formularies. The costlier the brand-name medication, the larger the rebate demanded by the PBM.
Rebates are legal but controversial. They ensure that many drugs on the formularies are not chosen for the best interests of the patients or keeping a cap on health care costs. Rebates foster a system riddled with conflicts of interest. The “pay for listing” system serves as an incentive for pharma to raise list prices so it can offer larger rebates to the PBMs.II
PBMs are the only unregulated part of the pharmaceutical supply chain. There are no requirements for public transparency. Nor do they have any legal obligation to disclose to anyone the rebates they received from pharma companies. PBMs do not use those rebates to offset retail drug prices or lower the cost of patient insurance premiums. Studies demonstrate that pharma rebates to PBMs increase the average costs on many popular medications by about one third.19 Yet patients filling prescriptions at retail pharmacies are in the dark. They are clueless that undisclosed rebates are often why PBMs direct them to a costlier brand-name drug instead of one better suited and cheaper. Sometimes, pharmacy benefit managers switch patients to different brands than the ones prescribed by the physician. Other times they make it more difficult to get a drug by requiring a “letter of medical necessity” from the dispensing physician.20 A “gag clause” prevents pharmacists from telling patients if there is a comparable and cheaper drug available (in 2018, President Trump signed two bills passed by Congress that were supposed to eliminate the gag clause. The legislation did not, however, require pharmacists to inform patients about lower-priced drugs. Patients have to ask).21
The Obama administration’s 2010 Affordable Care Act (ACA) was the first time in U.S. history that prescription drug coverage was defined by statute as “an essential health benefit.” All medical insurance companies were required to offer drug coverage in order to be ACA compliant. Before the ACA, Medicaid covered drugs for Americans at or below the federal poverty line ($31,721 for a family of four). The ACA expanded Medicaid eligibility by raising the income level to 133 percent of the poverty line. That translated into another 10 million people eligible for Medicaid (71.2 million total). The ACA also increased the scope of drug coverage for those in the Children’s Health Insurance Program, adding another two million. And the Affordable Care Act reduced the so-called donut hole in Medicare’s prescription drug plan; that is a coverage gap that required seniors to pay some drug costs out of pocket beyond their deductibles or co-insurance.22 It also expanded Medicare’s “Low-Income Subsidy” that offers additional coverage for the thirteen million who barely missed qualifying for Medicaid.23 The federal government is legally required in all its drug benefit programs to cover every FDA-approved drug, whether a prescription was written for an inexpensive generic or an exorbitantly priced biologic.24 III 25
It is unlikely that anyone who drafted the Affordable Care Act intended to help the pharmaceutical industry increase its revenues and profits. That was the result, however, of expanding drug coverage without also establishing more restrictive formularies or empowering the government to somehow control prescription pricing. Little wonder that pharma companies greeted the ACA as an unintended gift.
Prescription drug spending increased dramatically in the wake of the Affordable Care Act. In Medicaid alone it rose over two years by 25 percent to $40 billion. More than 90 percent of Medicaid’s drug expenditures by 2015 were for brand names instead of generics.26 From 2006, when Medicare’s prescription drug plan went into effect, through 2010, Medicare spending on prescription medications ranged between 2 percent and 5 percent of the total U.S. spending on drugs. After the ACA, from 2011 through 2017, Medicare’s share of all national expenditures on prescriptions soared to 30 percent. It is now the second-largest contributor to drug spending after private insurance companies.27 When Medicaid and other government drug benefit programs are included, the federal government pays a remarkable 45 percent annually of all the retail prescription costs in the U.S.28
The combination of high prices and ever-expanding insurance coverage is reflected in the number of billion-dollar-selling drugs. There had been only eight such drugs in the history of the industry before 2000. Since then, there have been more than a hundred, with a handful regularly selling between $10 and $15 billion annually.29
Pharmacy benefit managers have also become more influential, a $250-billion-annually sector of the pharmaceutical industry. PBM drug plans now cover 253 million Americans, 95 percent of the country’s eligible population. The big three—Express Scripts, United Health’s OptumRx, and CVS’s Caremark—are listed in the top twenty of the Fortune 500. Those three alone have about 180 million customers.30
Pharmacy benefit managers are in a powerful position since they are the only segment of the drug distribution system that knows what everyone else is paying and getting paid. They have separate contracts with their own clients—HMOs, large corporations, and government aid programs—as well as with independent drugstores and pharmacy chains. Those contracts are complex and obtuse, making it difficult to know the precise amount of their administrative fees and considerable “incidental costs.” It also has given them an opportunity to squeeze more profits through another legal yet controversial scheme.31 PBMs bill for prescriptions filled by patients. They also control the amount reimbursed to retail pharmacies that dispense the drugs. Advanced software scans millions of prescription orders for so-called spread pricing. That is when PBMs bill the insurers more than they reimburse pharmacists. The PBMs pocket the difference.32 Opportunities for spread pricing are most common with generics sold to government agencies. Bloomberg analyzed the ninety most dispensed generic medications in Medicaid in 2017: PBMs took $1.3 billion in spread pricing out of the $4.2 billion Medicaid insurers spent.33 Spread pricing is possible for the same reason that rebates flourish: there is no federal oversight of pharmacy benefit managers.
The country’s 22,000 community pharmacists, who dispense about 40 percent of America’s retail prescriptions, are the most vocal PBM critics. Pharmacists feel left out of the industry gravy train. PBMs regularly push pharmacy reimbursements as low as possible to increase their own profits. Sometimes PBMs force pharmacies to forgo any reimbursement by threatening abusive audits or penalizing druggists for minor typos on insurance claims. Independent pharmacists have lobbied, without much headway thus far, for legislation requiring that PBMs report all financial data. That would stop spread pricing. It would also either end secret rebates or put pressure on the PBMs to pass them back to health plans, reducing the overall cost of individual medical insurance policies.34
The Pharmaceutical Care Management Association, the leading PBM trade group, claims that in the coming decade PBMs will save Americans half a billion dollars because of streamlined methods for delivering drugs and cutting red tape. Saving patients money was the promise of the pharmacy benefit managers when they entered the industry in 1970. That promise remains unfilled. Prescription drugs are the single fastest rising component of American health care costs. They have soared 1,100 percent during the quarter century starting when PBMs began wielding measurable influence.35
In the last five years, during a period of historically low inflation, drug costs for Medicare and Medicaid rose between 10 percent and 15 percent annually.36 Over that same period, the adjusted profit per prescription for the nation’s largest PBM, Express Scripts, rose by 500 percent ($3.87 to $5.16). Its closest competitors, OptumRx and Caremark, had comparable jumps in per-prescription profits.37 Internal documents from Express Scripts reveal the company was well aware its profit ratios far outstripped those in other industries. The list prices for the nation’s top brand-name medications increased 127 percent over those five years, compared to an 11 percent rise in a basket of common household goods.38
When Mylan’s CEO Heather Bresch was on the defensive in 2016 over her company’s 600 percent price increase on its lifesaving product, EpiPen, the House Oversight and Government Reform Committee grilled her. One important aspect of her testimony was mostly overlooked. A chart presented into evidence broke down EpiPen’s $608 list price. Just over half went to pharmacy benefit managers, insurers, retailers, and other wholesalers. Buddy Carter, the only congressman who was also a pharmacist, asked Bresch if she knew how much the PBM received of the EpiPen list price.
“I don’t specifically know the breakdown,” admitted Bresch.
“Nor do I,” replied Carter. “And I’m the pharmacist.… That’s the problem, nobody knows.”39
Journalist David Dayen, in writing about pharmacy benefit managers, called them “a black box understood by almost no one.” Pharma’s byzantine pricing bureaucracy, with multiple levels of red tape regulated only by PBMs, pharmacies, drug companies, and insurance providers, allows each to blame the other when pressed on why prices are so much higher in America than elsewhere.
Richard Sackler, in a 2015 deposition in the lawsuit filed against Purdue by the Commonwealth of Kentucky, was asked about OxyContin.
“What are the gross sales?” It seemed a straightforward enough query given that Oxy accounted for 90 percent of Purdue’s revenue.
Sackler, however, said “I don’t know.” The reason, he claimed, was that in the drug industry, “a lot of money is inherently rebated back to purchasers, insurance companies, hospitals, et cetera, through wholesalers, in rebate agreements, which are negotiated.”40
Brand-name drugs are not the only ones with upward price pressure. A 2016 Government Accountability Office report revealed that more than three hundred generic drugs had price increases in the previous twenty-four months. More than half had at least doubled. Ten percent had increased more than 1,000 percent. Three widely prescribed hypertension medications on the market for more than fifty years were suddenly 2,500 percent higher.41
The spike in the prices of generics hit the United States harder than other countries since they account for 90 percent of all drugs dispensed in America (versus 70 percent in the U.K. and closer to 60 percent in the rest of Europe).42 It would not be a crisis were generics not on average far more expensive in the U.S.43
Pharmaceutical companies fight every effort to make it simpler for patients to compare prices when they fill prescriptions. A Trump administration regulation that ordered drugmakers to include their list prices in television ads was struck down by a federal judge in July 2019. Pharma firms prevailed on the argument that Health and Human Services did not have the authority to issue a decree and that, in any case, it violated their First Amendment rights.44
When Estes Kefauver had investigated the drug industry seventy years ago, he discovered that five leading firms conspired to keep their tetracycline prices identical even though they all had different manufacturing and distribution costs. In May 2019, history repeated itself. Forty state attorneys general filed a five-hundred-page lawsuit against the largest generic drugmakers, charging a multiyear, systematic conspiracy that resulted in substantially higher drug prices that had cost consumers billions of dollars. The suit listed 1,215 generic drugs whose prices had jumped on average more than 400 percent in the previous year. Included were some lifesaving drugs. One for severe asthma had soared 4,000 percent.45
When the state attorneys general filed their lawsuits, the pharmaceutical companies seemed to pull some stock replies from their archives. There was no truth to the charges. Prices went up because in some cases, like insulin, there were drug shortages. In other instances, market forces were responsible. One of the attorneys general who had filed the price-fixing lawsuit, Connecticut’s William Tong, knew personally about how soaring drug costs made it unaffordable for many patients. He took a medication for a skin condition. It had jumped in a single year over 8,000 percent, from $20 to $1,820 a bottle. When told of how the pharma industry brushed off the charges, Tong became heated in a 60 Minutes interview. “It’s a $100 billion market. We’re talking about the drugs that America takes every day to live. And they’re profiteering off of that in a highly illegal way. They’re just taking advantage.… It wasn’t about product shortages. It was about profit. It was about cold, hard greed.”IV46
I. Federal statute prohibits the secretary of Health and Human Services from negotiating prescription drug prices. Only Congress can change that. However, even if the government had the authority to negotiate prices, it would be unlikely that alone would result in substantial discounts. The pharmaceutical industry would have no incentive to lower prices unless the government also had the power to remove certain drugs from its approved formulary or to cap prices at a certain amount.
II. According to Linda Cahn, an attorney who helps health insurers negotiate with PBMs: “Let’s say there are two drugs in the same therapeutic category—one for $500 and one for $350. Which manufacturer can promise more rebates? Obviously the one with the $500 drug.” A larger rebate from the more expensive drug would get it listed on the formulary at the same time its rival’s cheaper medication was delisted. Medical insurance carriers and patients with copays would pay more based on the artificially high list prices of the rebated drug.
III. For most of its aid programs, the federal government buys drugs at 20 percent to 22 percent off list price. The ACA also established a complicated formula for reducing the share of drug costs the government paid in the future. And it opened the door to states creating and fine-tuning drug formularies.
IV. High drug prices are one of the leading topics in the 2020 presidential race. Every Democratic candidate has a plan. Some want the federal government to manufacture generics and sell them at cost. Others allow Americans to buy cheaper drugs from foreign countries. Elizabeth Warren and Bernie Sanders proposed eliminating all private insurance and making the government subsidize expensive drugs.
In December 2019, the House of Representatives passed a drug plan sponsored by California congresswoman Nancy Pelosi. STAT, the leading medicine and pharmaceutical online journal, described it as “dramatically more aggressive than expected.” Under the Pelosi plan, Medicare would negotiate directly with drug firms on prices for 250 medications that do not have competition from at least two generics or biosimilars. No drug in America could be more than 1.2 times the average price of the same medication in Japan, Germany, France, Canada, Australia, and the U.K. Failure to comply would result in a punitive tax of 75 percent on a company’s gross sales. The provision that was most unsettling for pharma was that the federal government would have the power to claw back profits earned from drug price hikes since 2016 in cases in which those increases were greater than the rate of inflation. That translates into potentially hundreds of billions in profits. It was, according to one commentator, “déjà vu” for what Estes Kefauver had tried to do sixty years ago.
The Pelosi bill is expected to stall in the Republican Senate. There, bipartisan support has built for a bill that caps out-of-pocket drug costs for Medicare at $3,100 annually.
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BILLION-DOLLAR ORPHANS
Pharmacy benefit managers are not, of course, the only reason for exorbitant drug prices in America. Even if PBMs did not exist, there would still be instances of eye-popping price increases by pharma companies. Compared to the largely anonymous and mostly unfathomable world of PBMs, when a drug company sets an outrageous price, there is often an unlikable CEO cast by the media as the face of pharmaceutical greed. That feeds a widespread perception that the main culprits in rising drug costs are pharma companies themselves. Public sentiment has changed dramatically since the early 1960s. Most Americans were then unaffected by overpriced drugs and few paid attention to Estes Kefauver’s Senate investigation. Today, many feel the effects of the rising costs of medication. The drug prescription component of what Americans spend annually on health care passed a milestone of $1,000 per person in 2015. That was by far the highest of any developed nation, with drugs responsible for nearly 20 percent of all costs.1
Separate from the avarice of pharmacy benefit managers, the pharmaceutical industry’s secret is that exorbitant drug prices often result from widespread exploitation of the quarter-century-old Orphan Drug Act. The manipulation that began with AIDS drugs in 1987 has only picked up pace, fed by pharma’s appetite for ever-larger profits. The industry is so skilled at milking every possible advantage from the Orphan Drug Act that publicly traded biotech companies have seen one-day share price spikes of 30 percent simply on the news of obtaining an orphan designation.2
If success is measured by the number of orphans approved by the FDA, the act has been a success. In the decade before the statute, only three companies had released ten medications for orphaned diseases. After the law, two hundred companies have developed nearly five hundred orphans, with half since 2012.3 They are no longer the industry’s poor stepchild. Seventy orphan drugs approved by the FDA in the last decade were for successful, mass-market medications whose patents were about to expire. Pharma companies had found ways to “repurpose” the medications for a rare disease.4 Eight others have been approved for more than one orphaned disease.I Half the FDA approvals in the last five years have been secondary ones, what the FDA’s Office of Orphan Products Development calls “multiple bites of the apple.”5
As of 2018, the median annual cost for an orphan drug treatment per patient is $98,500, compared with $5,000 for nonorphan drugs. The startling price difference has lured many companies to search for orphan drug designations for their products. Since 2015, half of all new medicines approved annually by the FDA are for orphans.6 That same year, orphan drugs broke $100 billion in sales.7 Analysts project $176 billion by 2020, double the growth rate of the worldwide prescription market.8 Orphans will account then for 20 percent of all global prescriptions, up from only 5 percent in 2000.9
“The industry has been gaming the system by slicing and dicing indications so that drugs qualify for lucrative orphan status benefits,” according to Martin Makary, a Johns Hopkins surgery professor who has written about how “unintended and misplaced [Orphan Drug Act] subsidies and tax breaks fuel skyrocketing medication costs.” The misuse of the statute, says Makary, means that “funding support intended for rare disease medicine is diverted to fund the development of blockbuster drugs.”10 “By “slicing and dicing” Makary refers to when drugmakers take a disease and break it into smaller subsets of patients, qualifying each as a stand-alone disorder eligible for orphan drug status. That had begun with AIDS when drug companies, over the protests of the FDA, arbitrarily created subcategories of “rare diseases” related to HIV and AIDS patients. Evidence of “slicing and dicing” is that there were some two thousand orphaned diseases identified by scientists and the FDA in 1983 when the Orphan Drug Act passed. Today there are more than seven thousand.11 Multiple approvals also provide a loophole around the law’s cap on the number of patients per disease. So long as each disease has fewer than 200,000 patients, there is no limit on how many rare diseases a single orphan drug can treat. And if a drug is approved for a rare disease that later affects more than 200,000, it retains its orphan status (that happened with nineteen drugs that got orphan approvals for treating AIDS; when the number of people infected with AIDS passed 200,000 in 1993, they kept their orphan benefits until their individual patents expired).
Pharma companies and biotechs get help navigating the Orphan Drug Act and the FDA’s unique approval process from a couple of consulting firms founded by former FDA officials who ran the orphan drug division and are intimately familiar with its idiosyncrasies. Drug firms pay for what Tim Coté, the ex–FDA orphan drug director, boasted on his company’s website was “the inside track.”12 He told NPR in 2017 that his Coté Orphan sent more orphan submissions to the FDA than anyone else. “We write the entire application.”13 Coté’s competition is Haffner Associates, founded in 2009 by Marlene Haffner, an internist and hematologist who had directed the FDA’s Office of Orphan Products Development for twenty-one years. Haffner is often acknowledged as the “mother of orphan drugs.” When she took charge in 1986 the Orphan Drug Act was only three years old.14 She left the government in 2007 to become Amgen’s executive director of global regulatory policy. After two years there she established her own consulting firm. On her LinkedIn profile, Haffner notes, “Have extensive experience in writing orphan designation requests, Fast Track, pediatric vouchers and basically every enhanced approval product for the development of new products for rare diseases.”15
Coté and Haffner oversaw nearly three hundred orphan drug applications when they were at the FDA. Both know how to expedite the orphan application process. Starting in 2015, every year a remarkable seven to eight of the top ten selling drugs in America are orphans. Genentech and Biogen, for instance, developed rituximab, a monoclonal antibody therapy the FDA approved as an orphan in 1994 to treat follicular B-cell non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma. It was a cancer estimated to affect about fourteen thousand Americans. Since then, rituximab has gotten eight additional orphan approvals. Some are smaller subsets of the original disease.16 Through 2018, it is the sixth best-selling drug of all time, with almost $90 billion in sales.17 II 18
Many of the drugs submitted by large pharmaceutical companies to the FDA are orphans in name only. They were never developed to eradicate a rare disease but are repackaged mass-market medications. The FDA approved Amgen’s Repatha in 2013. Amgen developed it to treat a genetic condition, FH (familial hypercholesterolemia), that resulted in “very high LDL [bad cholesterol]… that can lead to premature cardiovascular disease as well as other complications.” The number of Americans with FH ranges from 600,000 to Amgen’s estimate of 11,000,000.19 Amgen priced Repatha at $14,000 a year per patient. On the same day, the FDA approved Repatha as an orphan drug to treat a much smaller genetic subset, HoFH (homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia). It covered patients who had inherited the faulty gene from both parents, affecting between 900 and 2,200 people in the United States.20
The underlying genetic condition of extremely high LDL cholesterol was the same. The treatment was also the same. The only difference was that the vast majority of patients with FH inherited only a single dominant gene from one parent.21 Their LDL cholesterol levels run two to three times higher than what doctors deem safe. In the small subgroup in which both parents pass on the genes, LDL cholesterol levels are three to six times greater than normal.
If Amgen had not gotten the separate orphan designation, those afflicted with HoFH would have simply taken the regular Repatha prescription. However, by simultaneously processing the drug as an orphan, Amgen got a multimillion-dollar tax credit and additional write-offs for its huge research costs.22
AstraZeneca went one step further when it tried to repurpose Crestor, its successful cholesterol-lowering medication, as an orphan. It was a last-ditch effort to stave off generic competition. In 2016, Crestor was the second most widely prescribed drug in America (Synthroid, a thyroid medicine, was at the top). Crestor was about to come off patent. A slew of generic competitors were prepared with products when AstraZeneca surprised the industry by applying to the FDA for Crestor to treat pediatric HoFH. It was the same genetic disorder that Amgen had relied on a couple of years earlier except that AstraZeneca had “sliced and diced” a pediatric subset that affected anywhere from three hundred to one thousand children.III23
The Orphan Drug Act had special incentives for companies to create drugs for pediatric diseases. The Rare Pediatric Disease Priority Review Voucher Program provides a voucher to any pharmaceutical company “who receives an approval for a drug or biologic for a ‘rare pediatric disease.’ ” The drug company can redeem that voucher “to receive a priority review of a subsequent marketing application for a different product.” It was the equivalent of an expedited pass for the firm’s next drug application, even if that was for a mass-market therapeutic.
Besides the voucher program, the FDA has two others—the Orphan Products Clinical Trials Grants and the Pediatric Device Consortia Grants Program—both of which underwrite most of the research costs for pediatric rare illnesses. A drug that targeted a pediatric disease on the list qualified automatically for a six-month extension to its seven-year exclusive selling period.24 Finally, the 21st Century Cures Act, which President Obama signed into law in 2016 with the intent of encouraging more pharmaceutical lab research, gave an extra six months of protection from generic competition to any existing drug if it got approved for an orphaned disease.25
When the FDA approved Crestor for HoFH it did not initially seem important since it only gave Crestor a seven-year selling monopoly for the several hundred affected children. AstraZeneca, however, cleverly argued to the FDA that its seven-year mini-patent should extend the expiring patent on mass-market Crestor to its 21 million patients. Generic drugmakers and public advocacy groups petitioned the FDA to reject Crestor’s claim. It was, they contended, a flagrant abuse of the Orphan Drug Law.26 In fact, in 2002, Congress had passed a statute prohibiting drug companies from extending their patents on a brand-name drug originally approved for adults by simply reapplying to have it okayed for children.27 That law did not specifically preclude, however, a pharma company from applying for their drug to treat a pediatric orphaned illness.28 As a result, it took a federal court to determine whether the law applied. The court rejected AstraZeneca’s novel argument, but it still pocketed all the financial incentives from the Orphan Drug Act.29
AstraZeneca is not alone. Otsuka Pharmaceuticals avoided the patent expiration on its hit antipsychotic, Abilify, by getting it approved for an orphaned diseased, Tourette syndrome. Genentech got two orphan drug extensions for its cancer blockbuster, Herceptin.30
Not every pharma company is satisfied at getting one orphan designation for their hit mass-market drug. Novartis’s Gleevec was the first targeted cancer biologic approved in 2001 to treat chronic myelogenous leukemia, a blood-cell cancer that starts in the bone marrow and affects nine thousand patients in the U.S. It was priced at a then unprecedented $26,400 per year.31 By the time its patent expired in 2013, Novartis had more than quadrupled the price to $120,000.32 IV 33 Gleevec has gotten eight additional orphan designations for closely related cancers as well as immune disorders, resulting in several billion dollars in revenues.34 All that “repurposing” of a single drug for nine orphan illnesses has little scientific benefit. It flies in the face of the Orphan Drug Act’s original intent of one new drug for one untreated rare disease. The law, contends Johns Hopkins professor Martin Makary, was never intended to allow drugs like Gleevec to be designated for an orphan population. Instead, Gleevec had become a star example of how a drug company returned to the FDA with the same medication again and again, each time testing it against a related but “new” rare disease.
Humira is one of the most profitable prescription drugs ever. Humira (HUman Monoclonal antibody In Rheumatoid Arthritis) was the first monoclonal antibody made from entirely living cells instead of synthetic chemicals. The FDA approved it in 2002 to treat rheumatoid arthritis. Humira was the result of an ambitious multiyear joint venture between a group of British academics, a small U.K. biotech (Cambridge Antibody Technology), and Germany’s largest chemical conglomerate (BASF). Much of the research funding came from the government-funded U.K. Medical Research Council. The pharmaceutical company Abbott spent $6.9 billion to buy all the patents to Humira and then shepherded it through the FDA.35
Humira, as are most biologics, was always expensive. When it went on sale in 2003 it cost $13,200 a year. Abbott forecast $250 million in revenues in its first year and the marketing department predicted sales could build to a peak year of $1 billion annually.36 Humira blew past the most optimistic projections. Its strength was its dosing advantage over two competitive biosimilars. Humira was a “self-injection pen” used at home every two weeks. Johnson & Johnson’s Remicade required a weekly visit to a clinic. Amgen’s Enbrel was an autoinjector, but required twice-a-week dosing. All three drugs are among the top ten selling in pharma history: Enbrel, #7, Remicade, #4, and Humira, #2. The three have more than $300 billion in sales.37
After its 2002 debut for rheumatoid arthritis, Humira got a near-record eight orphan drug approvals. Three of those were for orphaned diseases that were tiny pediatric subcategories of illnesses it had already been approved to treat for adults (rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn’s disease, and ulcerative colitis).38 Humira’s original patent for treating rheumatoid arthritis was set to expire in 2013. An approval for an orphaned illness in 2011, pediatric ulcerative colitis, extended it. That year Humira’s price jumped from $13,200 annually to $19,000. Three additional orphan drug approvals in 2014 and 2015 again added some “pediatric patent extensions.” By 2018, Humira’s price had doubled to $38,000. From the time of its first orphaned approval for pediatric ulcerative colitis in 2011, through 2018, Humira has had $108.5 billion in sales. It holds the record as the drug with the most consecutive years of sales exceeding $10 billion a year (six, from 2013 through 2018).39
Another manipulation of the Orphan Drug Act is when drug companies either use an orphan approval to expand off-label dispensing or use an orphan drug to later get approval for a mass-market therapy. Eighty firms have done so during the last decade. One, Allergan, managed to do both at once. When Botox was developed in 1990 it was submitted and approved for two orphan illnesses related to involuntary eye muscle spasms. Allergan, which had distributed the drug for its ophthalmologist inventor, bought the rights the following year.40 A decade later, Allergan got Botox approved to treat another orphaned diseased, cervical dystonia, a condition marked by neck and shoulder muscle spasms that result in an abnormal head position. Allergan used that orphan approval to grow its off-label sales illegally. It dispatched sales representatives nationwide to convince doctors to dispense more Botox to treat headaches and generalized pain, conditions for which it was not approved. The company disingenuously claimed that cervical dystonia was “greatly underdiagnosed” and that even when physicians “did not see any cervical dystonia” in their patients, Botox was an effective therapy to relieve any “pain in the head, neck, and shoulders.” Allergan’s detail team focused on the most prolific off-label dispensers: physicians. It held workshops demonstrating how to disguise off-label Botox injections when billing insurance companies in order to get reimbursed. Allergan paid for weekend getaways, physician conferences, workshops, and dinners, all concentrating on expanding off-label therapies. It created an online “patient information” organization that tilted its advice to recommending off-label Botox use. Doctors were mostly receptive because Botox was dispensed in their clinics or offices. By cutting out retail pharmacies, there was more money to be made by physicians, who bundled fees for their services into the price they charged patients for the drug.41
In 2010, after a two-year Department of Justice investigation, Allergan pled guilty to a single criminal misdemeanor for “misbranding” Botox with its off-label promotion. It was the same criminal violation that Purdue pled guilty to in 2007 over its misuse of OxyContin. Allergan paid a criminal fine of $375 million, and a separate civil settlement with the federal government and the states cost the company an additional $225 million. The civil settlement was because Allergan had helped doctors file false claims to Medicare, Medicaid, Veterans Affairs, and other government-funded prescription drug programs.
Allergan, as did Purdue with its OxyContin settlement, executed a Corporate Integrity Agreement that instituted a strict compliance program. Any further “material breach” would result in Allergan being excluded from federal health care programs.42 The Corporate Integrity Agreement did not prohibit Allergan from submitting Botox for additional orphaned diseases. Subsequent to its criminal plea, the FDA approved Botox for other orphan diseases, including severe primary axillary hyperhidrosis (excessive sweating in the armpits), Meige syndrome/oral facial dystonia (lip spasticity), urinary incontinence resulting from neurologic conditions such as spinal cord injury and multiple sclerosis, and adult upper and lower limb spasticity.43 V 44
Because of the Orphan Drug Act, taxpayers had offset much of Allergan’s R&D for each of its orphan drugs. Every time the FDA approved Botox for another orphaned disease, Allergan got a new round of government tax credits, subsidies, fee waivers, and extended exclusive selling periods.
Allergan next did something that was a first in the drug industry. It used its orphan drug research to focus on getting mass-market approvals for Botox. It has succeeded over time in getting the FDA to approve Botox for treating overactive bladders, migraines, and its bestknown therapy, cosmetic improvements of facial wrinkles.45 Because of its many financial breaks as an orphan drug, what Allergan paid for its R&D as a cosmetic treatment was a fraction of what a typical drug would have cost.
Allergan has another advantage over rivals in its applications. No competitor has figured out Botox’s complex chemical structure. Instead of protecting its precise formulation with a patent, Allergan holds it as a trade secret. It is as critical to Botox as Coca-Cola’s secret formula is to its soda. Fewer than a dozen Allergan employees know all the reagents utilized and the exact settings of its anaerobic fermentation process. So long as it alone knows that recipe, it will continue to apply for new disease subsets of its existing orphaned drugs, getting the financial benefits of the law as well as additional seven-year selling monopolies on each. After a voluntary hiatus in the wake of two children with cerebral palsy who died in Botox trials in 2008, as of 2019, Allergan is testing Botox for a dozen additional orphaned illnesses.46
The problem under the Orphan Drug Act—even for the best-intentioned biotech companies using gene mapping technology to produce treatments for different cancers, muscular dystrophy, and cystic fibrosis—is the temptation to make outsized profits during its seven-year sales monopoly by setting often a jaw-dropping price.47 The world’s most expensive drug from 2011 until December 2017 was Soliris, developed by Connecticut-based Alexion Pharmaceuticals. The FDA approved Soliris for atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome (aHUS), a genetic illness in which the body’s immune system attacks blood platelets and cells. It affects an estimated six to seven hundred Americans.48 When it went on sale in 2011 it was priced at $18,000 a dose, $500,000 annually.49
Soliris was dethroned as the world’s most expensive drug in December 2017 when the FDA approved Luxturna, a novel gene therapy to treat a genetic eye disease that leads to progressive loss of vision for 1,500 to 2,000 affected patients.50 The price was set at $850,000. Luxturna lost its “most expensive” title in May 2019 when Novartis introduced Zolgensma to treat pediatric spinal muscle atrophy for a one-time treatment cost of $2.1 million (at one stage it had considered setting the price as high as $5 million).51 In defending its pricing, Novartis claimed it had priced its drug at less than half the cost of chronic medical care in the first years of an afflicted child’s life. After discussions with fifteen American insurance companies, Novartis announced the industry’s first ever installment plan by which the insurance firms would pay for it over five years.52
Not every orphan drug that promises an innovative treatment of a rare disease that had previously stumped researchers enters the market at a record-setting price. But when real-world use confirms the drug is in fact a radical breakthrough, companies frequently race to raise their prices. When Genzyme, for instance, introduced Cerezyme in 1991 to treat Gaucher disease, a progressive genetic disorder of the liver and spleen, its annual cost was $150,000 per patient. Its popularity meant that by 2014, Cerezyme’s price had more than doubled to $310,000.53 Similarly, Vertex got approval in 2012 for Kalydeco, a bioengineered drug targeting a genetic mutation carried by 1,200 of the 30,000 with cystic fibrosis. Vertex priced it at $294,000. Six months later it raised Kalydeco to $307,000. In another year it was $373,000.54
Academic researchers and scientists were angered about the Kalydeco price hikes. Twenty-eight scientists and physicians who treated cystic fibrosis signed a letter to Vertex’s CEO condemning its pricing as “unconscionable.”55 They were particularly enraged because significant portions of Kalydeco research funding, as is the case for many novel biosimilar orphans, was possible only because of National Institutes of Health grants. Between 2010 and 2016, every one of the 210 drugs approved by the FDA had early research partly funded by the NIH, more than $100 billion in total.56 (Since the 1930s, the NIH has invested $900 billion into research that drug companies used to patent brand-name medications).57
That taxpayer money was often indispensable for biotechs with an ambitious idea but not the money to develop it. What researchers found particularly distressing was how many ways the companies relied on the federal grants and assistance and then kept all profits. In the case of Vertex, buzz over Kalydeco made its stock pop more than $6 billion in one day. The company’s executives raked in over $100 million when they cashed in stock options. All the time they kept increasing the drug’s price, not lowering it.
Nothing in the Orphan Drug Act requires pharma companies to reimburse the government for research funding or to share any profits with either the National Institutes of Health or the National Cancer Institute. Several legislative efforts to close the loopholes exploited in the Orphan Drug Act have failed.58
Not all extravagantly priced orphan drugs are from biotech labs. Some of the most notorious are decades old, approved by the FDA before the Kefauver Amendments required the agency to rely on clinical trials. These are instances in which companies stopped making the older medications because the market was too small. It took number-crunching Wall Street entrepreneurs to realize that notwithstanding a small market, the way to make an orphaned drug profitable was to set a high enough price.
Acthar was such a drug, approved in 1952 by the FDA primarily to treat West syndrome, an uncommon but often fatal epileptic disorder that strikes infants younger than one. Acthar’s main ingredient was a hormone extracted from the pituitary glands of slaughtered pigs. It was discovered by the drug division of meatpacking giant Armour.59 Sanofi Aventis bought it and through the 1990s unsuccessfully tried expanding the therapies for which it was dispensed.
Acthar was priced at $40 per vial.60 After losing money every year, Sanofi stopped making it. In 2001, Questcor, a small and unprofitable drug company that was looking for new products, bought the rights at a fire sale price of $100,000.61 Over the next few years it raised Acthar from $40 to $1,650 a vial.62 Still, the patient market was so tiny that Questcor lost money and considered abandoning the drug.63 That changed in 2007 when Don Bailey became Questcor’s CEO. He was a business executive with no drug industry experience but a great résumé as a turnaround artist for struggling firms. For Bailey, Acthar was not a difficult problem to solve. He knew the company’s costs and how many patients were in the market. The only calculation Questcor had gotten consistently wrong, he concluded, was the price necessary to turn a good profit. If the price he picked was too high and the drug failed, then at least Questcor would know with certainty that nothing could save its drug.
One of the first things Bailey did was to raise the per-vial price to $23,000. He was unapologetic about the stratospheric increase, telling Wall Street analysts that “We have this drug at a very high price right now because, really, our principal market is infantile spasms. And we only have about 800 patients a year. It’s a very, very small—tiny—market.”64
Bailey got the FDA to give his slightly reformulated Acthar Gel a seven-year orphan drug patent. Under Bailey, Questcor expanded the indications for which Acthar could be dispensed to nineteen autoimmune and inflammatory illnesses. Its biggest promise was possibly treating multiple sclerosis patients who did not respond to more traditional IV steroids.65 It also had tentative FDA approval for nephrotic syndrome (kidney disorder), rheumatoid arthritis, and lupus. In the five years after Bailey had set the $23,000 price, Questcor’s stock went from 60 cents to $50, one of the top ten performing stocks in the entire market. (Insiders sold more than $100 million of stock over two years.)66
Smart CEOs like Bailey knew how to limit or avoid patient protests about high prices. As do many other companies selling exorbitantly priced drugs, Questcor gave some of its drugs free to those in need. It had a separate department devoted to helping patients get assistance with copays. The company’s profit comes from the 70 percent of sales to private insurance companies and to Medicare, Medicaid, the Children’s Health Insurance Program (CHIP), and Veterans Affairs.67
In the case of Acthar, Questcor not only managed to pull off the price increase from $40 to $23,000, but it turned into a profitable company that won accolades in the business world. In 2013 it was ranked as #1 on Forbes’s “Best Small Companies in America.” The company that had been losing money before it bought the rights to Acthar had a market cap of $3.5 billion.
The following year its stock reached $92.35 just as it was acquired for $5.6 billion by Mallinckrodt Pharmaceuticals.68 Mallinckrodt was best known for a complicated tax inversion that left its headquarters in St. Louis but its tax domicile in Ireland. Some of the money saved in taxes went to CEO Mark Trudeau, whose annual salary jumped from $6 million to $14 million. At at the same time Mallinckrodt raised a vial of Acthar to $38,892 and then to $43,000.69
A study in JAMA disclosed that Acthar dispensing in Medicare had increased several hundred percent, driven by a very small number of physicians. Those doctors were prescribing it to more patients and with greater frequency even though there were comparable generics that cost thousands of dollars less per treatment.70 The government paid more than $2 billion from Medicare on over 45,000 Acthar prescriptions from 2011 to 2016.
“I was shocked for my profession,” said Dr. Dennis Bourdette, one of the study’s authors and chairman of neurology at Oregon Health and Science School of Medicine. Since some of Acthar’s competitors cost one fiftieth as much, Bourdette said, “It’s a mystery to me why someone would be prescribing the drug.”71 One reason is that the U.S. rights to an almost identical Canadian drug, Synacthen, which sells for $33 for a comparable dose, were bought by Mallinckrodt and killed.72 About 60 percent of the big spike in Acthar’s sales to seniors in Medicare were for off-label ailments including rheumatoid arthritis. A researcher told 60 Minutes in 2018 there was “no evidence” Acthar helped treat arthritis. Saate Shakil, a UCSF professor, wrote a blistering accompanying editorial to the JAMA study, highlighting the “lack of high-quality evidence” to support Acthar’s supposed benefits and called the price increases “unconscionable.”73
In April 2019, under increasing scrutiny about its Acthar marketing, Mallinckrodt announced it would change its corporate name to Sonorant Therapeutics. Two months later the Justice Department announced an investigation of Mallinckrodt based on two whistleblowers who reported the company bribed doctors to overprescribe Acthar (two months later it settled the matter for $15.4 million).74 Fortunately for Mallinckrodt, not many people outside the drug industry know who CEO Mark Trudeau is or what he looks like. For firms trying to squeeze the last dollar from an old grandfathered drug, the personality of the CEO can affect public perceptions. When Martin Shkreli, a thirty-two-year-old ex–hedge fund manager, raised the price of an inexpensive orphan drug that was long off patent by 5,000 percent in 2015, he became overnight the villainous poster boy for unconscionable drug prices.75 Denounced in both mainstream and social media, Shkreli appeared before Congress where he invoked his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. All the time, he smirked at lawmakers on live television. It was bad enough that Shkreli had paid $55 million for the rights to Daraprim (the FDA approved it in 1953) and raised its price from $13.50 to $750 a pill. What made it somehow worse was that the pill treated a rare parasitic infection that affected immunosuppressed infants and HIV/AIDS patients. Daraprim was indispensable for some two thousand patients: there were no generic competitors.
Shkreli was arrested in December 2015 on securities fraud and conspiracy charges unrelated to the pricing of Daraprim. Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America (PhRMA), the drug trade’s powerful lobbying association, knew the outspoken and unapologetic Shkreli was bad for an industry already held in low esteem by a majority of Americans (a 2019 Gallup poll revealed that Americans had a more negative opinion of the pharmaceutical business than any other industry).76 “I think the image of the sector has been hijacked by some bad actors, and we have to do a better job of telling our story,” said Stephen Ubl, PhRMA’s president, when he announced a $60 million ad campaign that emphasized “more lab coat, less hoodie” (a reference to the gray hoodie Shkreli wore when he was arrested).77
Shkreli, who was convicted in 2017 of two counts of security fraud, is serving a seven-year prison sentence.78 Although he mostly dropped out of the news after his conviction, Turing, the drug company of which he had been CEO, quietly kept Daraprim’s price at $750 a pill. The federal government continued paying $35,556.48 for a month’s supply for Medicaid patients.79 The same prescription had cost $608 before the price increase.
What happened with Daraprim was condemned as heartless. It was not, however, against the law.VI80 Legislators and the FDA have complained about that since Burroughs’s price-gouging thirty-two years ago with AZT, the first drug to combat AIDS. To industry veterans familiar with the Orphan Drug Act, none of the news from AZT to Botox to Shkreli is surprising. Marlene Haffner, who ran the FDA’s Office of Orphan Products Development for twenty-one years before she opened her own successful orphan drug consulting firm, believes it was all to be expected.81
“What we are seeing is a system that was created with good intent being hijacked,” according to Bernard Munos, an ex–corporate strategy consultant at Eli Lilly who reviewed the FDA Orphan Drug databases as part of a 2017 investigation by Kaiser Health News. It is “quite remarkable that it has gone on for so long.”82
I. A half dozen of the most profitable pharmaceutical firms have gotten their drugs designated as treatments for up to nine orphaned diseases. After the drug is developed the first time, research and development costs drop substantially for future approvals. While the companies must conduct clinical trials, because the targeted diseases are so rare the FDA sometimes only requires a single study with as few as a dozen subjects. Despite much lower R&D costs, pharma companies still receive all the monetary benefits of the Orphan Drug Act for every drug they get designated to another rare disease.
II. In 2014, Genentech made its branded version of rituximab available only through specialty distributors instead of the industry’s regular wholesalers. It did the same for two other blockbuster cancer biologics, Avastin and Herceptin, both of which had a slew of orphan drug approvals. Genentech claimed the move was to “improve the efficiency and security of the supply chain.” In fact, its action meant that hospitals and oncology clinics lost out on traditional industry discounts, resulting in an effective overnight price hike of $300 million annually.
III. Crestor is a good example of the often substantial difference between what the FDA requires for clinical testing for a mass-market drug, and what it requires for an orphan drug, even when the drug treats the same condition. Fifteen years earlier, for mass-market Crestor, AstraZeneca conducted the largest ever New Drug Application for a statin. It submitted twenty-seven Phase II/III clinical trials from 12,569 patients. Crestor for those affected by pediatric HoFH was based on a single clinical study of fourteen children, in which Crestor was given to half. Their cholesterol was tested only once, after six weeks of treatment, and those who had taken the pill had a slightly lower bad (LDL) cholesterol level.
IV. When Gleevec’s patent was about to expire, Novartis introduced Tasigna, an almost structurally identical drug, and launched a massive advertising campaign to coax oncologists to prescribe the drug. Tasigna had a list price of $115,000 per patient annually, and is under patent protection until 2026. It became a $2 billion drug within a year of its 2014 release.
V. Allergan has been creative in satisfying the statute’s requirement that an orphaned disease cannot affect more than 200,000 patients. While more than a million people eighteen and older suffer from upper limb spasticity, Allergan only tested Botox for stiffness in seven muscles in the elbow, wrist, and one finger. It later sought and received FDA approval to treat two additional fingers. All the slicing and dicing of symptoms and treatment areas was to satisfy the limitations for the number of patients in an orphan disease.
VI. Some states have tried controlling prices, but most substantive drug regulation is a federal power. Vermont, for instance, in 2016 became the first to require drug manufacturers to demonstrate cause for price hikes. If the pharmaceutical companies do not comply, they can still sell their drugs, but are subject to a $10,000 fine. Also in 2016, California voters defeated a proposition that would have capped drug prices at whatever Veterans Affairs paid. The industry spent $120 million to defeat it.
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THE COMING PANDEMIC
In 2015, there was no mainstream media reporting that seven of the top ten selling medications in America were orphan drugs. Although high prescription prices were frequently discussed, the complex reasons behind the price-gouging were something only covered in industry publications and by patient advocacy groups. One of the pharmaceutical stories that dominated the year’s media coverage was antibiotic resistance. A study commissioned by the U.K. delivered sobering news. At least fifty thousand people died annually in the U.S. and Europe from antimicrobial-resistant infections.1 Upward of 50 percent of bloodstream infections were the result of drug-resistant strains.2 Not only was the use of antibiotics up (rose by 40 percent from 2000 to 2010), but the ease of international travel translated into superbugs spreading to every country. The report predicted that by 2050, 10 million people would die annually from drug-resistant bacteria, more than from cancer.3 If governments did not address it as a major health crisis, modern health care that relied heavily on antibiotics would “be undermined” and could lead to “a return to the dark age of medicine.” The WHO later emphasized that: “A post-antibiotic era [is one] in which common infections and minor injuries… can once again kill.”4
In March, President Obama urged Congress to double the budget to fight antibiotic-resistant bacteria. Doctors write a quarter billion antibiotic prescriptions annually to Americans.5 That is twice the rate of Europeans and the CDC says that a third of those dispensed are “unnecessary.”6 In May, the United Nations and the World Health Organization unanimously adopted plans to develop better tools to spot cases of resistance and to commit enough funding to develop new antibiotics.7
Sally Davies, the U.K.’s chief medical officer, concluded that the threat posed by antibiotic-resistant bacteria was as great as terrorism. She had overseen a government report that concluded superbugs were the top public health emergency. “We may be a bit late,” she told The New York Times. “If you look at the trajectories of rising antimicrobial-resistance, increasing use of antibiotics and a lack of new antibiotics, this could be a catastrophe.”8
Since that warning, a series of sobering reports in medical journals exposed the extent to which antimicrobial-resistant infections have spread and wreaked havoc. In 2017, the same year that the CDC announced the death of the Nevada woman who was a victim of a resistant strain that did not respond to any antibiotics, superbugs infected 3,000,000 Americans and killed more than 24,000. Worldwide, an estimated 700,000 died.9
It took the CDC three years to develop a system to identify superbugs.10 When five hundred CDC workers fanned out across the country in 2018 to collect random samples, the results were not good. There were 221 instances in which so-called nightmare bacteria—germs with already high levels of resistance—had developed “unusual” and “novel” antibiotic-resistant genes. CDC researchers worry that upward of a quarter of those might spread their resistance to other germs. If that happens, antibiotic resistance will not just be an evolutionary question of how long it takes germs to survive when faced with new drugs. Instead, superbugs might convert otherwise vulnerable bacteria into dangerous clones.11
The CDC and FDA are also worried about the widespread use of antibiotics in the food chain.12 A remarkable 80 percent of antibiotics manufactured in the U.S. are not dispensed to patients but used by livestock farmers. The drugs have been used since the 1950s to spur faster growth in cows, pigs, and chickens and are a cheap substitute for hygiene in overcrowded and unsanitary conditions. The Obama administration addressed that in 2015 by having the FDA set stricter reporting requirements from pharma companies that make the drugs for animals. That only clarified the size of the problem. In 2017, farmers gave 141,000 tons of antibiotics to food animals. That was when the U.N. released the first of two studies concluding the widespread use of antibiotics in livestock had created a “rise of AMR [antimicrobial resistance] in zoonotic pathogens, including to last-resort drugs.… [It] is an important challenge for human medicine because it can lead to untreatable infections.”13 The FDA responded finally in 2017 by banning all antibiotics used on livestock for “growth promotion and feed efficiency.”14 Tremendous lobbying by the farming and food industries allowed them to keep using the drugs for “health maintenance.”
An equally worrying development is the agricultural use of antibiotics. Florida’s $7.2 billion citrus industry has been fighting “citrus greening disease,” a bacterial infection that arrived in 2005 and makes fruit too bitter for commercial use. It is spread by a flying insect originally from China. Efforts to control it with pesticides had mixed success. In 2016, the Environmental Protection Agency under the Obama administration approved the limited spraying of two vintage antibiotics, streptomycin and oxytetracycline. The FDA and CDC objected, fearing the widespread use of those antimicrobials could fuel drug resistance. In Europe and Brazil, they are banned for agricultural use.
In May 2019, under the Trump administration, the EPA approved an expansion of the use of those two antibiotics to three quarters of a million acres in Texas, California, and other citrus-producing states. Once again, it was over strenuous protests from the FDA and CDC. Under the current guidelines, while Americans will consume about 15,000 pounds of those drugs annually, some 650,000 pounds will be sprayed on citrus crops.15 The objections from the two regulatory agencies with oversight on health were straightforward. It is not even clear after three years of use in Florida that the drugs stop the citrus greening disease. Studies showed that pathogenic bacteria in soil became resistant to them over time. That is most likely with streptomycin, which stays active in dirt for weeks.16 The drugs spread to people through groundwater and accelerate human resistance.17
The EPA stuck to its position. It cited studies from pesticide manufacturers who claimed the antibiotics would be “quickly dissipated in the environment.”18 While the EPA eventually agreed there was a “medium” risk from the expanded use of the drugs, it did not ban them since it concluded there was no conclusive research on “whether a massive increase in spraying would affect the bacteria that infect humans.”19 In response to the concerns from federal health regulators, the EPA said it would implement additional monitoring of the spraying and also require new approvals every seven years.
The CDC released an alarming report in November 2019 in which it concluded that drug-resistant germs presented a much greater “public health threat” than it had previously forecast. Its latest analysis revealed that, on average, every eleven seconds someone in the U.S. is infected by a superbug, and every fifteen minutes, someone dies.20
“No one knows where it [the next pandemic] will come from,” says Karen Bush, a biology professor who had worked for nearly forty years in antibacterial development at a succession of large pharma companies. “Only when it arrives can we look back and identify what sparked it.” Some of her colleagues worry about avian or swine flu that might morph into more deadly strains in humans. Cross-species transmissions have been the cause of every major epidemic from the bubonic plague (rats and fleas) to the l918 influenza (birds), malaria (mosquitoes), and HIV/AIDS (primates). Scientists have identified eighty-four diseases that pass from animals to humans. The one about which they are most concerned is the one that has not yet jumped species. “We won’t know that until it happens,” says Bush. Reports in 2019 that an African swine fever had killed 150 million of China’s 440 million pigs attracted considerable attention from epidemiologists and infectious disease experts. A story about its devastation in Bloomberg noted, “The good news is it can’t infect humans. The bad news is that nobody knows when it will stop spreading.”21
Exacerbating fears over the growth of supergerms is that few pharmaceutical companies are developing new antibiotics. “In 1980, there were thirty-six U.S. and European companies in the antibiotic business,” notes Bush. “Today there are fewer than six.”22
In 1968, Smith Kline had introduced Proloprim, a combination sulfonamide and synthetic antimicrobial agent. It took thirty-one years before there was a new class of antibiotics, oxazolidinones.23 Every antibiotic used to fight infectious bacteria in the interim was a chemically similar me-too clone of an earlier drug. In the last decade, the FDA approved only nine new antibiotics.24 In contrast, explosive advances in nanotechnology, stem cells, and deciphering the microbiome have led to almost a hundred new anti-cancer drugs over the same period.25 Those are credited with survival rates having doubled since the 1970s.26
“Innovation, especially in the antibacterial area, is certainly not what it used to be,” says Barry Eisenstein, the senior vice president in charge of Scientific Affairs at Cubist.27 “Part of this problem is that anti-infectives can be notoriously difficult to make,” says Mike Skoien, a former marketing executive in charge of Merck’s anti-infective program.
There is less profit too. “The cost of production is much higher and the return almost always lower,” says Skoien.28 Some highly anticipated biotech antibiotic startups filed for bankruptcy in 2019 while others that were in desperate need of cash had difficulty finding investors. “Antibiotic treatment used to be seven days, and is now five or less,” notes Eisenstein. “On the other hand, drugs that treat high cholesterol, hypertension, diabetes, depression, and other chronic conditions yield much bigger profits for the long-term bottom line.”29
“The problem is that we cured most patients and did it too quickly and cheaply,” says Steven Projan, head of infectious diseases at Astra Zeneca’s MedImmune.30
“Without a renaissance in antibiotic development,” says Eisenstein, “the very preservation of society as we know it will be at risk.”31
The prediction of a coming pandemic, unstoppable because the pharmaceutical industry has put profits over its duty to develop drugs for the public good, is no wild-eyed conspiracy theory heavy on drama and light on evidence. “It is not a question of if,” warns Professor Bush, “it is a question of when.”32
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“ESSENTIALLY A CRIME FAMILY”
While antibiotic resistance was a popular story in the media in 2015, it paled in comparison to interest in the opioid epidemic. The federal government released yet another study. The news was grim. Opioid prescription rates were triple the number dispensed in 1999.1 Enough Oxy had been prescribed that year to medicate every American for nearly a month.2 It had killed more people than had fatal car crashes and guns combined (52,000). The lethal overdoses from Purdue’s blockbuster surpassed the peak year of HIV/AIDS deaths (1995). Statisticians blamed OxyContin for the first decline in more than twenty years in the life expectancy of Americans.3 A report from the CDC confirmed what some doctors had suspected: prescription opioid users were forty times more likely to become heroin addicts, making meds like Oxy the most effective gateway drugs into heroin. The Veterans Administration released a report that highlighted the danger of higher dosing. It sampled five years of chronic pain patients on OxyContin and found that those who died of an opioid overdose took on average 60 mg daily. There were few deaths for patients on 30 mg a day.4
The escalating epidemic prompted the CDC to urge doctors either to “carefully justify” or “avoid” prescribing more than 60 mg daily. Still, the guidelines were voluntary. Only seven states had passed legislation to limit the duration and number of prescriptions.5 That was the same year the author learned that a party took place at Purdue’s Stamford headquarters to celebrate a national survey released by Johns Hopkins. It revealed the extent to which Purdue’s different messages had caused confusion among primary care physicians, the country’s top prescribers of opioids. Nearly half erroneously believed that Purdue’s tamper-resistant pill was less likely to cause addiction than standard formulations from its rivals.6
In 2016, OxyContin and the opioid epidemic had become a topic on the presidential campaign. More than 200,000 Americans had died of opioid overdoses since the government began collecting statistics in 1999.7 Purdue felt pressured again. Although OxyContin sales had fallen 40 percent since their 2012 peak, it was the brand name the public associated with the crisis. The Joint Commission, responsible for accrediting hospitals and clinics, reversed its 2001 position and declared that it “does not endorse pain as a vital sign.”8 Purdue thought it was only a matter of time before its painkiller came under stricter FDA regulation. As a result, it executed a contingency plan to expand aggressively overseas. The Sacklers used their Mundipharma network. Arthur, Mortimer, and Raymond had established a single Mundipharma Limited in London in August 1955. By 2016, through licensing agreements, distribution deals, and family ownership stakes sometimes hidden in offshore tax havens, Mundipharma consisted of ninety-seven companies operating in more than one hundred countries. Richard Sackler admitted in a 2015 deposition that the Sackler family owned Mundipharma.
The OxyContin expansion strategy concentrated on countries where opioids were underused. China, Brazil, and India were at the top of Purdue’s list. The plan was to launch a slightly modified version of the same aggressive campaign as the company had in the 1990s in the U.S. The core message again was that the “silent epidemic of pain” was undertreated. As Purdue had done in the U.S., Mundipharma hired leading industry lobbyists in each country. It proved “very good at co-opting regulators,” said Stanford’s Keith Humphreys, who is familiar with Mundipharma’s growth.9 There is evidence of its success. In the past three years, OxyContin sales are higher by up to 700 percent in half a dozen European and South Asian countries. Mundipharma was ranked as one of the fastest-growing pharmaceutical firms in Brazil’s pain market.10
When the Los Angeles Times brought the Mundipharma expansion to the attention of former FDA commissioner David Kessler, he immediately recognized Purdue’s strategy. “It’s right out of the Big Tobacco playbook. As the United States takes steps to limit sales here, the company goes abroad.”11
In 2017, top public health experts at ten universities gave forecasts about opioid deaths in the coming decade. The grim consensus was “it will get worse before it gets better.”12 The most dire scenario was that as many as an additional 650,000 Americans will die by 2027, more than the entire population of Boston and almost as many Americans as would die from prostate and breast cancer over the same time.13
The Sackler-family directors had launched a belated effort to burnish their reputation and that of Purdue. December 2017 marked the start of the company’s national ad campaign in which it endorsed the CDC guidelines for safe opioid prescribing. In January, it announced an initiative to put pill disposal boxes in pharmacies and health clinics, began a radio campaign to warn of the dangers of abusing opioid painkillers, rolled out a training program to provide EMS workers with supplies of an overdose antidote (naloxone), and introduced a new medication to combat the common opioid side effect of constipation.14 In February, not long after forty-one state attorneys general had subpoenaed more internal Purdue marketing and promotion documents, the company announced its intent to slash its sales force by half. And it would no longer directly market Oxy to individual physicians, instead concentrating on hospitals and clinics. Industry analysts noted that Purdue had softened its long-standing message that “we’re not the drivers of the problem, the addicts are the drivers of the problem.”15
The financial press reported Purdue was also attempting to wean itself from its addiction to OxyContin revenues and profits. At its peak in 2012, the drug accounted for 94 percent of the company’s sales. As of 2018, it was still 84 percent. The Sacklers were looking for alliances with drug firms specializing in oncology and sleep meds.16
In March 2018, the national focus returned to the lethal fallout from Purdue’s star drug. President Trump announced the outlines of a new push to resolve the opioid crisis as “a public health emergency.” There were 115 overdose deaths daily.17 Congress had by then passed more than sixty short-term fixes during the past decade. Although throwing more money at the problem has never worked, it evidently allowed politicians to demonstrate that if they were not ending the crisis, they were at least studying and talking about it a lot.
At the same time that American politicians were wondering what to do about its “public health emergency,” British politicians were embarrassed by revelations that the Sacklers had not only run their foreign OxyContin operations from the U.K., but had taken advantage of a loophole to avoid paying $1.4 billion in taxes over twenty-five years (it stopped in 2016 after the law changed). Napp Pharmaceuticals, founded by Arthur, Mortimer, and Raymond in 1966, was the manufacturer for the OxyContin shipped to most countries other than the United States. Together with Mundipharma, Sackler-manufactured OxyContin accounts for 70 percent of the drug used in Britain. Under the scheme, Napp produced the OxyContin and then “sold” it at cost to Mundipharma in Bermuda. Bermuda Mundi then “sold” it for distribution to other Mundipharma companies worldwide. On paper, all the profit was earned in Bermuda and that is where it stayed. Bermuda-based companies do not pay taxes on income from sales.
But Napp never shipped the OxyContin to Bermuda. All the transfers and sales were phantom ones that existed only on paper.18
Adding to the outrage in the U.K., by crafting the elaborate arrangement, Mortimer avoided paying millions in personal income, capital gains, and inheritance taxes on his international holdings. He contended he was not “domiciled in the UK,” despite having been a resident there for thirty-six years before his 2010 death. His British third wife and the couple’s three British-born children were raised in the U.K. (the tax domicile rules were changed as a result of the outrage over how Mortimer had worked the system).I19
A month after those disclosures in Britain, seven members of the Sackler family resigned as Napp Pharmaceuticals directors. None made any public comment. Napp issued a statement that said: “As part of ongoing and regular operational reviews, changes have been made to Napp’s board of directors.”
In 2019, the momentum picked up against the Sacklers in the U.S. Purdue was in the crosshairs of angry patients, dozens of the country’s best class action attorneys, almost all state attorneys general, and Justice Department prosecutors.20 More than two thousand civil lawsuits filed by cities and counties had been consolidated under the jurisdiction of a federal district judge in Ohio.21
In March, the Massachusetts attorney general filed an amended complaint different from all others.22 It was the first to rely on Purdue’s own records to charge that the Sackler-family directors had personally “created the epidemic and profited from it through a web of illegal deceit.”23 The complaint named eight Sacklers who had served on Purdue’s board as defendants. They were the widows of Raymond and Mortimer, along with five of their children and one grandchild.24
“Eight people in a single family made the choices that caused much of the opioid epidemic. The Sackler family owns Purdue, and they always held a majority of the seats on its Board. Because they controlled their own privately held drug company, the Sacklers had the power to decide how addictive narcotics were sold. They hired hundreds of workers to carry out their wishes, and they fired those who didn’t sell enough drugs. They got more patients on opioids, at higher doses, for longer, than ever before. They paid themselves billions of dollars. They are responsible for addiction, overdose, and death that damaged millions of lives. They should be held accountable now.”
A few weeks after the Massachusetts complaint, the New York attorney general not only named the Sackler-family directors as defendants, but she was the first to contend they had transferred hundreds of millions in assets to offshore tax havens (a billion dollars through Swiss bank accounts). New York, according to the complaint, “wants to claw back some of the profits earned by the family over the decades.”25
Through their lawyers, the Sacklers named as defendants vehemently denied the charges and vowed an aggressive defense. They were no longer only battling lawsuits seeking tens of billions in damages. The Sacklers were now trying to salvage the family’s public reputation. Although they had been well known inside the pharmaceutical industry and the worlds of art and philanthropy, it was mostly in the wake of the 2019 lawsuits naming them individually that they became familiar to millions of Americans who had never taken an OxyContin pill and never heard of Purdue. The opening night when New York’s A-list paid tribute to the Sacklers at the Metropolitan Museum’s Temple of Dendur seemed a long-forgotten memory as the family’s role in the opioid epidemic attracted episodes on 60 Minutes and PBS’s Frontline and investigations by The New York Times, Boston Globe, and Los Angeles Times.
Gossip columnists reported that New York society shunned the Sacklers. Purdue’s banker, JPMorgan Chase, declined to do business with the company and some of the family. Hildene Capital Management cut ties with them.
It had seemed hyperbole when an unnamed plaintiff’s lawyer told Britain’s Guardian in December 2018 that the Sacklers were “essentially a crime family… drug dealers in nice suits and dresses.”26 In 2019, however, such a statement was longer mere litigation posturing. John Coffee, Columbia University Law School’s director of its Center on Corporate Governance, had been retained by Utah’s Division of Consumer Protection. It wanted his opinion as to whether Richard Sackler, and his cousin Kathe, could be held civilly or criminally responsible for how they ran Purdue. Coffee’s sixty-one-page report, submitted in July and initially sealed by the court, concluded that “the Sackler-family dominated club… is dysfunctional corporate governance, and there is little to distinguish the control the Sacklers exercised over Purdue from the control that the Godfather held over his Mafia family.”27
Not even the family’s legendary art philanthropy was safe. Some of Arthur’s family tried protecting his legacy from the backlash over OxyContin, a drug that went on sale nine years after his death.“The opioid epidemic is a national crisis and Purdue Pharma’s role in it is morally abhorrent to me,” Elizabeth, his second daughter, said in a statement sent to an art magazine. Herself a noted art and culture philanthropist, she drew distance from her cousins who had served as Purdue directors. “None of his [Arthur’s] descendants have ever owned a share of Purdue stock nor benefitted in any way from it or the sale of OxyContin.”28 Jillian, Arthur’s third wife, wrote an op-ed in the Washington Post, in which she said Arthur had “been found guilty by association—along with the rest of what is referred to by the blanket designation ‘the Sackler family’—because of some family members’ association with Purdue Pharma, the maker of OxyContin.”29 II 30 But the tsunami of anger over the contrast between the accumulating body count and the billions in profits reaped by the Sacklers spared no one.31 Some institutions that had received millions in Sackler bequests distanced themselves from the family. Public petitions with tens of thousands of signatures submitted to Harvard and Tufts asked the schools to remove the Sackler name, which Tufts announced it would do. Oregon’s Senator Jeff Merkley requested their name be eliminated from the Smithsonian, where Arthur’s art collection is on permanent display.
Photographer Nan Goldin, herself in recovery from an OxyContin addiction, organized widely publicized demonstrations to force Sackler-funded institutions to stop accepting any more of their money. Elizabeth Sackler supported her.32 It has worked in some instances. London’s Tate and New York’s Guggenheim announced they would no longer accept Sackler bequests. Britain’s National Portrait Gallery canceled a planned $1.3 million gift from the Sackler Trust. A small museum in South London returned a donation. The biggest blow was when the Metropolitan Museum joined the “no more Sackler money” contingent, although the Met, for the time being, says it has no plans for renaming the Sackler Wing that houses the Temple of Dendur.
In an effort to reverse the bad press, in March 2019, a couple of days after the New York attorney general had filed the complaint seeking to claw back the family’s early profits, Purdue announced it had reached a settlement with the Oklahoma attorney general in a case that had been scheduled to be the first to trial by early summer. Purdue agreed to pay $270 million. Although no Sacklers were named in that case, the family announced it made a $75 million “goodwill” contribution to Oklahoma State University’s Center for Wellness and Recovery.33 III 34
It was a gesture that for most Americans, especially the relatives of those who died from OxyContin, seemed calculated and far too little too late. The Sacklers had bought their way out of the 2007 federal prosecution. The Oklahoma settlement spurred speculation that the family had developed another escape strategy. Some legal experts thought Purdue was preparing to settle a few major lawsuits before declaring bankruptcy. Others said that given the legal hurdles involved in suing corporate directors, the family might be able to protect a significant part of its personal fortune. The idea that the Sacklers were trying to shield their OxyContin wealth got momentum with news that some family members had sold their New York homes for large estates in Florida, a state where homesteading laws protect all residences from creditors.35
Richard Sackler’s son, David, was the president of an LLC that bought a West Palm Beach office building for $6.8 million and was about to spend $7.4 million on a Boca Raton mansion.36 Those Florida purchases were not known when David tried to soften the family’s image in a summer Vanity Fair interview.37 He said his four-year-old had returned from nursery school one day and asked, “Why are my friends telling me that our family’s work is killing people?” According to Sackler, he and his relatives were tired of “vitriolic hyperbole” and “endless castigation.”38 Instead of putting a human face on the Sacklers the interview added to the growing anger against them. The Daily Mail headline was typical: “Heir to $13B OxyContin Fortune Says Son, 4, Asked if Family Kills People, Rejects Blame for Opioid Crisis and Plays Victim in Interview.”39
One of the themes David Sackler pressed was Purdue’s long-standing claim that OxyContin had such a small share of all prescription opioids that it was impossible for it to have been primarily responsible for the opioid crisis. Oxy is, Sackler said, a “tiny, niche little product with tiny market share.” On Purdue’s website, a page titled “Common Myths About OxyContin” listed its “small percentage of the total opioid market.” A DEA report unsealed during the summer seemed to bolster the assertion; Purdue had only 3.3 percent of the prescription opioid market from 2006 to 2012. Those measurements include, however, instant release opioid painkillers, most of which are available as inexpensive generics. The instant release opioids account for 90 percent of all sales. The remaining 10 percent for extended release opiates accounts for 60 percent of all revenues ($25.4 billion in 2018). Oxycodone dominates that segment. Moreover, the studies on market share do not consider potency. A September 2019 ProPublica analysis revealed that based on the amount of oxycodone sold, Purdue had 16 percent of the market, the third-largest opioid seller in the U.S.40
If the Sacklers believed a single interview might help stem the tide of public anger, they misjudged the power of the case presented by dozens of state attorneys general. Those complaints rely on Purdue’s files to persuasively argue that its wrongdoing was not a few isolated instances that could be ascribed to the unauthorized behavior of some errant executives. The 51 million pages of documents Purdue has produced in response to subpoenas detail a course of conduct likely to result in civil racketeering and fraud charges against former executives and possibly even some Sackler-family directors.41
In September 2019, an insider to the negotiations between Purdue and a couple of dozen lead plaintiffs leaked the outline of an offer the Sacklers had made and that they valued between $10 billion and $12 billion.42 In exchange for ending all pending lawsuits, the Sacklers would pay $3 billion in cash and put Purdue into a structured bankruptcy.43 Court-appointed trustees would select a board of directors to run a for-profit Purdue as a public-benefit corporation.44 Overdose and addiction mitigation drugs in Purdue’s pipeline would be distributed free of charge to communities affected by the opioid epidemic.45
The lead plaintiffs were divided. The Massachusetts and New York attorneys general insisted the family pay more cash up front, about $4.5 billion. The Sacklers could manage that if they agreed to immediately sell their interests in Mundipharma.46 But the family resisted, claiming that if buyers knew Mundipharma had to be sold at a fire sale price, it would fetch less than half what it was worth a couple of years earlier.47
Not only did the Sacklers refuse to personally offer more than $3 billion cash, they insisted they pay it over seven years of installments. The largest contributions, more than half, would come in years five through seven.48 They wanted the same seven years to unload their Mundipharma stake.49
One thing evident despite all the argument over how much cash the family should pay was that the Sacklers would be left with upward of $4 billion of their OxyContin profits. That estimate of how much wealth the Sacklers would retain seemed low when, a few weeks later, court documents revealed that Purdue had paid the Sackler-family directors $12 to $13 billion in profits.50 “This apparent settlement is a slap in the face to everyone who has buried a loved one due to this family’s destruction and greed,” said Josh Shapiro, Pennsylvania’s attorney general. “It allows the Sackler family to walk away billionaires and admit no wrongdoing.”51
There was also considerable skepticism about the financial numbers and projections the Sacklers provided. Although the family had shown what auditors said were complete finances, veteran attorneys and investigators have had trouble getting an accurate accounting of the extent of Sackler ownership in Imbrium and Adlon Therapeutics, two limited partnerships launched by Purdue in early 2019. Both share the company’s Connecticut headquarters and are run by former Purdue executives. Adlon recently got FDA approval for an ADHD medication and Imbrium has signed a joint marketing deal with a Japanese drug company for an insomnia pill in the FDA approval pipeline.52 Besides U.S. holdings that are opaque to investigators, there are offshore trusts, holding companies, and limited partnerships in international tax havens. Many of the foreign OxyContin distributorships are wrapped in a series of contracts between shell companies based in Cypress, Bermuda, Switzerland, Singapore, and the Channel Islands. Whatever ownership stake the Sacklers might have is nearly impossible to determine given the corporate secrecy laws of those tax haven jurisdictions. Even the family’s nonpharmaceutical holdings are difficult to assess. Their stake in Cap 1 LLC, a closely held company that owns and manages ski resorts, is estimated to be worth close to $2 billion. Its balance sheets are not public, however.53
When Purdue’s Sackler-family directors had voted themselves four billion dollars in company profits from 2008 to 2016, the money was distributed to a dozen entities and trusts they controlled and then in many cases transferred to Swiss financial institutions.54 One frequently used company, Rosebay Medical, is listed in twenty countries, from Australia to Germany, as owning some Sackler medical firms.55 No one paid much attention to Rosebay’s U.S. address. It is run from an office in Oklahoma City, the same one that Arthur, Mortimer, and Raymond had used decades earlier as a mailing address for some of their drug companies (and the same address listed for David Sackler in 2018 when he spent $22 million to buy a Bel Air mansion).56 IV 57
The complex corporate chess game in which Arthur Sackler excelled has for decades become how the Sacklers arrange their finances. That byzantine structure is the reason for such great distrust among plaintiffs’ attorneys and victims’ relatives. Given how the Sacklers and Purdue lied over the marketing of OxyContin, few believe the figures the family’s lawyers and accountants rely on to account for $4 billion to $5 billion of purported value in the settlement.58 Two overdose and addiction mitigation drugs in Purdue’s pipeline, for instance, are estimated to be worth at least $4.4 billion over a decade.59 Nalmefene is an older drug that Purdue is modifying to a new version that counteracts opioid overdoses. The second drug is an over-the-counter naloxone nasal spray.60 The problem is that the FDA has not approved either. Although they are on a fast track, when they reach the market they will enter a competitive field dominated by Narcan and Teva’s recently approved generic nasal spray.61 The robust sales figures projected by the Purdue attorneys are anything but certain.
Maryland’s attorney general, Brian Frosh, dismisses the billions promised in the sales of drugs not even on the market as “vaporous. I have not seen a deal that would yield anywhere close to those types of returns.”62 Others are irritated that Purdue has crafted a way to use drugs that would mitigate the deadly effects of OxyContin as a way to finance a settlement. “This family started a national fire,” said New York attorney general Letitia James. “An arsonist should never be able to give advice on fire prevention.”63
There was another feature of the proposed settlement that caused significant consternation. Purdue would continue selling OxyContin. Although it would be a fraction of its former sales, and without the promotion that had made it America’s most abused drug, it is a sticking point. Since it is Purdue’s only commercially successful drug, its sales are needed to keep the public trust version of the company afloat until the two treatment drugs get FDA approval.64
The settlement offer from the Sacklers was high-stakes poker. The family’s attorneys had indicated they were likely to file a “free-fall” bankruptcy if the offer was not accepted. Without any agreement about the details of a reorganization, there would be far more extensive litigation as the plaintiffs battled over Purdue’s remnants. Some state attorneys general feared a free-fall filing might ultimately provide $1.2 billion for the states and cities, a tenth of the Sackler offer.65 The clock against which the parties negotiated was an October 21 trial date in an Ohio court for the so-called multidistrict litigation. It had been brought by cities and counties, hospitals, even Indian tribes, against Purdue and other manufacturers, as well as drug distributors and pharmacy chains.
On September 12, 2019, the executive committee representing the two thousand plaintiffs recommended accepting the Sackler offer. In addition to the $3 billion in cash, the Sacklers had agreed to put toward the settlement any amount over $3 billion when they eventually sold Mundipharma.66 Twenty-three states, four U.S. territories, and most of the cities and counties agreed. But the sharp divisions that had split the plaintiffs during the negotiation now came to a public head. California, New York, Pennsylvania, and twenty-four other states opposed the deal.
Purdue filed for bankruptcy protection on Sunday, September 15. It put all litigation against the company on hold. It made it unlikely that Purdue, with a rapidly shrinking balance sheet, will itself ever be on trial. The dissenting state’s attorneys instead will focus on pursuing Sackler-family directors. While the Sacklers had been willing to contribute financially to an overall settlement, they made it clear they would not admit any personal liability. Moreover, they would spend whatever is necessary of their considerable fortune to keep intact their perfect record of never having a civil judgment against any family member who served as a Purdue director. That standoff means those state investigations and resulting private civil lawsuits could take years.67
There is a widespread and understandable sentiment among the victims’ families that the company and the Sacklers must be punished. Purdue and OxyContin have deservedly become the public face for the near–quarter million victims. Still, no matter how severely they are ultimately held to account, few believe it will result in full justice in the opioid crisis. It will not answer questions about all those responsible for the deadly epidemic nor will it hold many of them liable. By putting the responsibility for the crisis so squarely on Purdue and the Sacklers, there is a risk others who played material roles in creating and feeding the epidemic may not pay a price. That is the hope among thousands of others, sales representatives and executives of rival pharma companies with their own opioid products, overprescribing doctors, FDA bureaucrats who did not want to restrict OxyContin, pharmacists who diverted prescriptions to the black market, and pain management experts who preached that opioids were not addictive when prescribed for pain.
A real solution will take much more than money and free treatment drug giveaways. Besides the human toll, cities and states have spent more than a trillion dollars since 2000, everything from the additional cost of health care to criminal justice, social services, and drug treatment, as well as lost productivity and earnings from those who died.68 Litigation alone cannot fix the problem. A multidisciplinary solution that focuses on education for patients and doctors, pain medicine alternatives, and addiction treatment can work but will require patience and commitment from policymakers.
Hopefully, the energy the government and the public have focused on Purdue and the Sacklers will not fade once they are held accountable. The cost has been too high for anyone to walk away unpunished from the trail of destruction left by prescription opioids.
I. In the 1980s, Mortimer had purchased the five-thousand-acre Rooksnest Estate outside London. It is where Theresa, his wife, lives today. The couple also had a grand flat in London. When British tax authorities tried proving that Rooksnest Estate was Mortimer’s main home, there was no evidence that he or any other Sackler owned it. The owners were instead five companies, three based in Bermuda. Some of the estate farming contracts are with a company in the Channel Islands (Beacon Co.). Earls Court Farm Limited, another Bermuda company, managed the property. The author found that a previous director on that board was Christopher Mitchell Benbow, the solicitor who was a director of Napp Pharmaceuticals and represented the Sacklers on most of the U.K. business ventures.
II. Since Arthur’s 1987 death, Jillian Sackler has become a Dame of the British Empire and was awarded the National Academy of Sciences’ “Einstein” Award in 2005. She carried on his philanthropy as the president of the Dame Jillian and Dr. Arthur M. Sackler Foundation for the Arts, Sciences and Humanities. In a February 2018 statement, she said, “Passing judgment on Arthur’s life’s work through the lens of the opioid crisis some 30 years after his death is a gross injustice.”
III. Teva Pharmaceuticals had also settled the Oklahoma suit before the trial. Johnson & Johnson, through its subsidiary Janssen, was the only company to go to trial. On August 26, 2019, when a judge ruled against J&J and ordered it to pay $572 million to the state, he relied on Oklahoma’s century-old public nuisance law. “The harm it [the opioid crisis] has wrought, and the threat it continues to pose to the health, safety and welfare of the State, make it the worst nuisance Oklahoma has ever known.” That law traditionally covered instances in which there was interference with the use of public property. Applying it to commercial activity was a first. Judges in Connecticut and North Dakota had earlier rejected public nuisance claims against opioid manufacturers.
IV. In Purdue’s 2007 $635 million guilty plea and settlement with the federal government, the Consent Agreement required the company to list all companies in which it had any ownership interests. It listed 215 entities. Only later did prosecutors realize that the Sacklers had omitted nearly two dozen firms that oversaw investments and property management for the family. Four months after the plea agreement, Rhodes Pharmaceuticals opened in Coventry, Rhode Island, and began producing painkillers based on oxycodone, morphine, and hydrocodone. It has become one of the largest manufacturers of off-patent, generic opioid painkillers. The Sacklers concealed their ownership stake of Rhodes. It came to light in 2015 when the FDA followed a patent assignment to Rhodes back to Purdue.
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Although I prefer reviewing files at a library or archive, quality online databases are increasingly necessary for a project of this scope. Special thanks to Jennifer Bourque at SAGE Knowledge; and Tara Bauer at Casetext who helped navigate their online database of legal cases, attorneys’ briefs and filings, and statutory and regulatory law. Equally helpful was Lauren Mattiuzzo at William S. Hein, whose digital database included many of the government hearings and legislative histories I required.
Professors Alan Wald and Ben Harris were very helpful in putting into perspective the Sacklers’ communist sympathies against the backdrop of the 1950s Red Scare. The late Roy Andrew Miller, professor of Asian studies and literature at the University of Washington, saved me many hours in assessing the value of Arthur Sackler’s Asian collection that was bequeathed to the Smithsonian.
Paul Rosenblatt was patient with my many attempts to locate his father’s oral history. I could not have gotten the complete story without the assistance of Drs. Leslie Baumann and Steve Mandy, Richard and Judy Wurtman, Dr. Vinay Prasad, Harry Martin, Diane Dimond, Nick Spill, Victoria Narkin, Mark Shapiro, Mark Zaid, Lynne Pauls Baron, Jessica Packer, Chip Fisher, Adam Tanner, and Sean Cassidy. Rick Lippin was tireless in finding relevant stories in often obscure medical journals and blogs.
Three friends, Christopher Petersen, Frank DelVecchio, and Ann Froelich, generously agreed to read early manuscript drafts and their insights made it a better book. Drs. David and Jane Cohen were kind enough to take the time from running their private practices to check that the manuscript was free of medical errors.
I am fortunate to be represented by David Kuhn and Nate Muscato at Aevitas Creative Management. Their sage advice and enthusiasm for the project was always appreciated.
I am lucky to have Simon & Schuster, and its new imprint Avid Reader Press, as my publisher. Simon & Schuster’s president, Jonathan Karp, and Ben Loehnen, Avid Reader’s editor-in-chief, took a risk on Pharma. They realize that the subjects of my book proposals are mostly mysteries to me. What I get from them is the faith that given enough time I will dig up a story worthy of a book. For that I am forever grateful.
I owe thanks at my publisher to Carolyn Kelly, editorial assistant. Fred Chase had the unenviable task of copyediting this book, as he did my last, God’s Bankers. Fred has a great eye for consistency and detail. Jonathan Evans, Associate Director of Copyediting, not only oversaw the editorial production, but served at times as everything from a vital fact checker to a much needed enforcer of consistency and style. His extraordinary efforts and incredibly long hours meant the project met its tight deadline.
Ben Loehnen is a sublime editor. His line editing cleaned and tightened the text without ever stepping on my voice. If he ever expresses doubts or second thoughts when I send a manuscript more than double the size he expected, he is kind enough not to take me to task for it. Most important, his edit and advice helped me stay focused on the story, keeping me from too many detours. This would not be remotely as good a book without him.
Anyone familiar with my work knows that Pharma would not be possible without my wife, the author Trisha Posner. She had completed her own book in 2017, one with a different pharmaceutical theme. The Pharmacist of Auschwitz was the first nonfiction account of the Bayer druggist who ran the dispensary at the largest Nazi death camp. Trisha might have liked a break before going directly from the dark tale of Nazi medicine to the often disturbing history of the American pharmaceutical industry. If that was the case, she never mentioned it. Instead, she once again threw herself enthusiastically into this project, sifting thousands of pages of documents and sharing with me every interview. It was her idea to convert the only blank wall in our home office into a whiteboard. With its dozens of arrows and circles and groupings it looked at times more like the schematic for a complex criminal investigation than the outline for a book about the drug industry.
This was, at times, all-consuming. For days on end, we did not leave our apartment but stayed in our “book cave” to meet a seemingly endless series of self-imposed deadlines. When a friend asked once how long we expected to spend on the story of American pharma, Trisha had a ready answer. “It’s a six-year project, but we are doing it in three.”
Putting Trisha’s name on the front cover as a coauthor would do her justice. Until she agrees to that one day, this public acknowledgment shall have to suffice in showing that Pharma is as much hers as mine.
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NOTES
Preface
Chapter 1: Patient Zero
Chapter 2: The Poison Squad
Chapter 3: Enter the Feds
The caffeine war kicked off by Wiley’s 1906 Pure Food and Drug Act inspired a German merchant, Ludwig Roselius, to patent in 1908 a process for extracting caffeine from coffee beans. He was the first to sell decaffeinated coffee, under different names worldwide. In France, it was Sanka (sans caffeine), while in the United States Merck marketed it as Dekafa. Mark Pendergrast, Uncommon Grounds: The History of Coffee and How It Transformed Our World (Revised Edition, New York: Basic Books, 2010), 104–5.
Chapter 4: The Wonder Drug
Chapter 5: “Could You Patent the Sun?”
Chapter 6: An Unlikely Trio
Chapter 7: A One-Atom Difference
Chapter 8: A “Jewish Kid from Brooklyn”
Chapter 9: Medicine Avenue
Chapter 10: The Hard Sell Blitz
Chapter 11: “A Haven for Communists”
Chapter 12: The Puppet Master
Chapter 13: Fake Doctors
Chapter 14: A “Sackler Empire”
Set 1 of notes consists of four pages titled on page 1 “Arthur Sackler Companies” and is a diagram flowchart of companies, with owners, shares, subsequent transfers, and other relevant ownership information, handwritten inside each company listing. Page 2 is titled “Raymond and Mortimer Sackler” and is a diagram flowchart of companies and ownership interests. Page 3 is untitled; it includes again company flowchart data, with “Marti Ibanez” and “L. W. Frohlich” listed. Page 4 is marked “R&D = Research and Development.” Set 2 of notes consists also of four pages and is a flowchart of Sackler professional and corporate activity and roles in chronological order, listing activity under date headings for 1945, 1947–48, and 1952–59. Collection of author.
Chapter 15: “Be Happy” Pills
The Medical Letter concluded that doctors were probably better off prescribing the barbiturate phenobarbital, which was “much cheaper” than Miltown. Herzberg, Happy Pills, 474, 486 of 3354.
Chapter 16: “The Therapeutic Jungle”
Chapter 17: “Paint the Worst Possible Picture”
Chapter 18: Thalidomide to the Rescue
Chapter 19: The $100 Million Drug
Chapter 20: Legal but Somehow “Shifty”
Chapter 21: Targeting Women
Chapter 22: Death with Dignity
Chapter 23: “Go-Go Goddard”
Chapter 24: “Here, Eat This Root”
Chapter 25: “They Clean Their Own Cages”
Seaman also highlighted that the Pill was not always effective, something that some women only discovered when they got pregnant while on it. If used as directed, only three out of one thousand women became pregnant in the first year on the Pill. For women who occasionally missed a daily dose, a much higher rate of nine out of one hundred became pregnant during the first year (Nelson & Cwiak, 2011). Seaman, The Doctors’ Case Against the Pill. See also David Grimes, “History and Future of Contraception: Developments over Time,” Contraception Report (2000), 10(6), 15–25.
The conclusions of the 1970 study’s researchers were not as downbeat as Brody’s report. Although women on the Pill did have a higher rate of precancerous uterine cell mutations, the study concluded it could not be certain there was a direct cause and effect between the Pill and those results. Other factors might be responsible, including the number of pregnancies and the age of first sexual activity. Subsequent backpedaling from the study’s conclusion drew substantial criticism that “the investigation linking cancer and the pill was being suppressed by the Journal of the American Medical Association, supposedly from the drug companies making oral contraceptives.” “The Pill and Cancer,” Newsweek, August 11, 1969, 59.
Pizza is often cited as a prime example of how the divided authority can be confusing about which agency is in charge. The FDA is responsible for the safety of frozen pizza. If pepperoni is placed on it, it is considered to have “meat for consumption” and becomes the responsibility of Agriculture. See Hawthorne, Inside the FDA, 802, 882, 1320–22, 1324, 1454 of 7181. For examples of how the FDA’s budget is split for its enforcement duties, see Fiscal Year 2018 FDA Budget, Details of Full Time Equivalent Employment, Supplementary Tables, Food and Drug Administration (Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office), 239.
As for the poll reported in Newsweek, it was cited in Jane E. Brody, “Pregnancies Follow Birth Pill Publicity,” New York Times, February 15, 1970, 28.
Chapter 26: “Splashdown!”
Chapter 27: “Tell Him His Lawyer Is Calling”
Not even in death did Frohlich or his sister, Ingrid, acknowledge the family’s Jewish heritage. The standing-room-only crowd of nine hundred at the memorial service was at one of Manhattan’s top Episcopal churches, St. Bartholomew’s. “L. W. Frohlich; Led Ad Agency,” New York Times, September 29, 1971; Tanner, Our Bodies, Our Data, 28; “Frohlich Funeral Service Is Attended by 900 Here,” New York Times, October 2, 1971.
Chapter 28: A New Definition of Blockbuster
Chapter 29: “Kiss the Ring”
Chapter 30: The Temple of Dendur
As for Sexual Medicine Today, its complete but seldom cited title was Sexual Medicine Today and Therapacia. See J. S. Groden, “Do Sore Nipples Inhibit Sexual Foreplay?,” Sexual Medicine Today, July 1976; H. Gillespie and C. LaPointe, “Physicians’ Marriages in Crisis: Sex and Love at Midlife,” Sexual Medicine Today, October 1979; G. Bachman and S. Leiblum, “Sexual Expression During the Climacteric Years,” Sexual Medicine Today, February 1985; J. Griffiths, “Reducing the Medical Risk of Teenage Pregnancy,” Sexual Medicine Today, October 1977. See also the accumulated forty-three issues of Sexual Medicine Today by International Medical News Service, Washington, D.C., 1980.
Chapter 31: “Valiumania”
In 1992, Elizabeth, Arthur’s daughter from his first marriage, incorporated the American Indian Ritual Object Repatriation Fund, a charitable foundation headquartered at the East 57th Street townhouse her father had bought in 1960. Sotheby’s had ignored pleas from the Hopi and Navajo tribes to cancel the auction of three American Indian masks of spiritual importance. In her first ever auction bid, Elizabeth bought the masks for $39,000 and returned them to the tribes. http://sacredland.org/american-indian-ritual-object-repatriation-foundation. See also Ali Maloney, “Art and activism: The compass points of Elizabeth Sackler’s storied career,” Women in the World, January 8, 2016.
Chapter 32: Swine Flu
Chapter 33: “Black River”
Chapter 34: “Everything Can Be Abused”
Eventually there was a scientific pushback against the offensive on Valium. Heinz Lehmann, a psychiatrist considered the “father of modern psychopharmacology,” had predicted in 1960 Senate testimony that the overprescribing of mild tranquilizers would create a dependence crisis. Two decades later he had concluded that “sensational horror stories” had unfairly maligned Valium. A JAMA editorial later asked, “Where are all the tranquilizer junkies?,” questioning whether the great scare about the addictiveness of the benzos was mostly wrong. E. R. González, “Where are all the tranquilizer junkies?,” JAMA, May 20, 1983;249(19):2603–4; Andrea Tone, “Listening to the Past: History, Psychiatry, and Anxiety,” Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, June 2005.
Chapter 35: The Age of Biotech
Chapter 36: A “Gay Cancer”
Chapter 37: “None of the Public’s Damned Business”
Chapter 38: A Pain Management Revolution
Chapter 39: Enter Generics
Chapter 40: Selling Hearts and Minds
Chapter 41: “No One Likes Airing Dirty Laundry in Public”
A footnote on page 9 of a twenty-two page report of the independent auditors, Ernst & Young, dated April 9, 1998, states: “The note payable to the Estate of A.M. Sackler, MD bore interest at approximately 14% per annum, payable quarterly through November 13, 1996, at which time the interest rate decreased to 11.75% per annum through November 13, 1997. The note was secured by 250 shares of PRA Holdings, Inc.’s common stock and Mortimer D Sackler M.D. and Raymond R. Sackler M.D. each guaranteed one-half of all amounts due. The balance of the note was paid off on November 14, 1997.” This footnote refers to a line item below “Number 6, Debt,” showing a debt as of December 31, 1996 to AM Sackler estate of $19,654,000 and then nothing due as of the end of December 31, 1997.
Some opioid case plaintiffs tried bringing Arthur Sackler’s estate into the litigation by contending it profited from some Oxy money since the $22 million installment buyout of his Purdue share extended a year past the drug’s sale date. However, the author has verified there was more than enough profit from other Purdue Frederick products to make the final installments to the estate without the need to rely on any OxyContin profits.
Chapter 42: “The Sales Department on Steroids”
Richard Sperber, himself a marketing executive at publicly traded pharmaceutical companies, did business with many privately held drug and biotech firms. “Purdue was always tightly controlled,” he told the author. “However, almost all those family-held companies were like that, they always thought they knew how to run it better than anyone else.” Sperber says that based on his experience, the most control was usually exerted when the companies were run by doctors, as was the case with the Sackler brothers and Richard Sackler taking the lead for the next generation of the family. “They are the worst because they are obnoxious and think they know how to do marketing,” Sperber says. Colleagues of his at private companies often shared stories about how the founders micromanaged the business. Author interview with Richard Sperber, March 26, 2019.
The date of the rollout, 2001, was early in what would become the dominance of the internet for consumers who wanted to quickly obtain information about health-related matters. There were more than thirty thousand websites devoted to health as of 2000 and by 2002, two thirds of respondents to a nationwide poll reported they went online to get health information. Fox and Fallows, 2003, Internet Health Resources, Pew Internet and American Life Project, Washington DC, July 16, 2004.
Chapter 43: “$$$$$$$$$$$$$ It’s Bonus Time in the Neighborhood!”
Chapter 44: Talking Stomachs and Dead Presidents
Kessler’s desire for the FDA to have jurisdiction over tobacco came to fruition in 2010 when Congress expanded the FDA’s authority in the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act. See FDA v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corp., 529 U.S. 120 (2000).
Chapter 45: “We Have to Hammer on the Abusers”
Chapter 46: “Giving Purdue a Free Pass”
Chapter 47: “You Messed with the Wrong Mother”
Chapter 48: Profits and Corpses
Chapter 50: Billion-Dollar Orphans
Chapter 51: The Coming Pandemic
Chapter 52: “Essentially a Crime Family”
The author found an overlap between the directors of half a dozen Mundipharma companies and some of the firms listed in the Evening Standard exposé, including Merganser Limited and Rooksnest Estate Limited. Documents released as part of the leak of papers from the Bermuda law firm, Appleby, referred to as the Paradise Papers, available as a searchable database maintained by the International Constortium of Investigative Journalists (ICIJ).
The Sackler family’s only statement to the Evening Standard was through a spokesman: “The late Dr Mortimer Sackler paid full UK taxes, including on all UK-sourced income, capital gains and monies remitted to the UK. His heirs also pay the full amount of UK taxes as required by law.” See David Cohen, Special Investigation, “Opioid Timebomb Series”—“Revealed: Tax Secrets of the Opioid Billionaires”; “Revealed: Sackler Family Linked To Worldwide Drugs Crisis Saves Millions Using Offshore Haven And Non-Dom Status”; “Prescriptions Are Double What the Government Told Us”; “Taxman Criticised for Letting Sackler Firms ‘Dodge Corporation Tax’ ”; “How a Painkiller Addiction Cost This Man Everything”; “The Sackler Family And How Their Painkiller Fortune Helps Bankroll London Arts”; “Princes’s Trust Stops Taking Donations from Sackler Family,” May 11, 2018 through September 2019.
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